NONLINEAR PHYSICAL SCIENCE

Albert C.J. Luo

Nonlinear Deformable-body Dynamics





NONLINEAR PHYSICAL SCIENCE

NONLINEAR PHYSICAL SCIENCE

Nonlinear Physical Science focuses on recent advances of fundamental theories and principles, analytical and symbolic approaches, as well as computational techniques in nonlinear physical science and nonlinear mathematics with engineering applications.

Topics of interest in Nonlinear Physical Science include but are not limited to:

- New findings and discoveries in nonlinear physics and mathematics
- Nonlinearity, complexity and mathematical structures in nonlinear physics
- Nonlinear phenomena and observations in nature and engineering
- Computational methods and theories in complex systems
- Lie group analysis, new theories and principles in mathematical modeling
- Stability, bifurcation, chaos and fractals in physical science and engineering
- Nonlinear chemical and biological physics
- Discontinuity, synchronization and natural complexity in the physical sciences

SERIES EDITORS

Albert C.J. Luo Department of Mechanical and Industrial Engineering Southern Illinois University Edwardsville Edwardsville, IL 62026-1805, USA Email: aluo@siue.edu Nail H. Ibragimov

Department of Mathematics and Science Blekinge Institute of Technology S-371 79 Karlskrona, Sweden Email: nib@bth.se

INTERNATIONAL ADVISORY BOARD

Ping Ao, University of Washington, USA; Email: aoping@u.washington.edu Jan Awrejcewicz, The Technical University of Lodz, Poland; Email: awrejcew@p.lodz.pl Eugene Benilov, University of Limerick, Ireland; Email: Eugene.Benilov@ul.ie Eshel Ben-Jacob, Tel Aviv University, Israel; Email: eshel@tamar.tau.ac.il Maurice Courbage, Université Paris 7, France; Email: maurice.courbage@univ-paris-diderot.fr Marian Gidea, Northeastern Illinois University, USA; Email: mgidea@neiu.edu James A. Glazier, Indiana University, USA; Email: glazier@indiana.edu Shijun Liao, Shanghai Jiaotong University, China; Email: sjliao@sjtu.edu.cn Jose Antonio Tenreiro Machado, ISEP-Institute of Engineering of Porto, Portugal; Email: jtm@dee.isep.ipp.pt Nikolai A. Magnitskii, Russian Academy of Sciences, Russia; Email: nmag@isa.ru Josep J. Masdemont, Universitat Politecnica de Catalunya (UPC), Spain; Email: josep@barquins.upc.edu Dmitry E. Pelinovsky, McMaster University, Canada; Email: dmpeli@math.mcmaster.ca Sergey Prants, V.I.II'ichev Pacific Oceanological Institute of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Russia; Email: prants@poi.dvo.ru Victor I. Shrira, Keele University, UK; Email: v.i.shrira@keele.ac.uk Jian Qiao Sun, University of California, USA; Email: jqsun@ucmerced.edu Abdul-Majid Wazwaz, Saint Xavier University, USA; Email: wazwaz@sxu.edu Pei Yu, The University of Western Ontario, Canada; Email: pyu@uwo.ca

Albert C.J. Luo

Nonlinear Deformable-body Dynamics

With 63 figures, 4 of them in color





Author

Albert C.J. Luo Department of Mechanical and Industrial Engineering Southern Illinois University Edwardsuille Edwardsville, IL 62026-1805, USA E-mail: aluo@siue.edu

ISSN 1867-8440 Nonlinear Physical Science e-ISSN 1867-8459

ISBN 978-7-04-028882-7 Higher Education Press, Beijing

ISBN 978-3-642-12135-7

e-ISBN 978-3-642-12136-4

Springer Heidelberg Dordrecht London New York

Library of Congress Control Number: 2010922334

© Higher Education Press, Beijing and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2010

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilm or in any other way, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Violations are liable to prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Cover design: Frido Steinen-Broo, EStudio Calamar, Spain

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Preface

Deformable-body dynamics is a subject to investigate the states of strains and internal relative motions in deformable solids subject to the action of external forces. This is an old and interesting topic, and many problems still are unsolved or solved incompletely. Rethinking such problems in this topic may bring new vitality to the modern science and technology. The first consideration of the nature of the resistance of deformable-bodies to rupture was given by Galileo in 1638. The theory of deformable-bodies, started from Galileo's problem, is based on the discovery of Hooke's Law in 1660 and the general differential equations of elasticity by Navier in 1821. The Hooke's law is an experimental discovery about the stress and strain relation. This law provides the basis to develop the mathematical theory of deformable bodies. In 1821, Navier was the first to investigate the general equations of equilibrium and vibration of elastic solids. In 1850, Kirchhoff proposed two assumptions: (i) that linear filaments of the plate initially normal to the middle-surface remain straight and normal to the middle-surface after deformed, and (ii) that all fibers in middle surface remain unstretched. Based on the Kirchhoff assumptions, the approximate theories for beams, rods, plates and shells have been developed for recent 150 years. From the theory of 3-dimensional deformable body, with certain assumptions, this book will present a mathematical treatise of such approximate theories for thin deformable-bodies including cables, beams, rods, webs, membranes, plates and shells. The nonlinear theory for deformable body based on the Kirchhoff assumptions is a special case to be discussed. This book consists of eight chapters. Chapter 1 discusses the history of the deformable body dynamics. Chapter 2 presents the mathematical tool for the deformation and kinematics of deformable-bodies. Chapter 3 addresses the deformation geometry, kinematics and dynamics of deformable body. Chapter 4 discusses constitutive laws and damage theory for deformable-bodies. In Chapter 5, nonlinear dynamics of cables is addressed. Chapter 6 discusses nonlinear plates and waves, and the nonlinear theories for webs, membranes and shells are presented in Chapter 7. Finally, Chapter 8 presents the nonlinear theory for thin beams and rods.

The purpose to write this book is to answer a question from Professor Huancun Sun (my thesis advisor) during my master thesis defense in 1990. In my master thesis, I considered the higher order terms to correct the strains in the von Karman plate theory. However, such a correction did not consider curvature effects on the balance equations. Professor Sun asked me what is the error compared to the exact theory of the 3-dimensional deformable bodies. After about 20 years, I believe that I can give an appropriate answer to his question. In fact, after my thesis defense, I almost place such a question away. However, in 1996, I worked with Professor C.D. Mote, Jr. at UC Berkeley on nonlinear dynamical behaviors of high speed rotating disks in disk drives. Such a problem drove me to rethink about the accurate plate theory. To express my indebtedness to both of them for their guidance and advice, this book is my gift for the 80th birthday of Professor Sun and the 70th birthday of Professor Mote, Jr.. This book is also dedicated to my friend and colleague, Professor Zhongheng Guo. His book on Nonlinear Elasticity stimulated my research interest in nonlinear deformable solids 25 years ago. His book was an excellent book for graduate students. Some inspirations of this book originated from the book of Nonlinear Elasticity. In addition, I would like to thank Professor Youjin Che for lending his books "Tensor Analysis" and "Variational Principles" to me during my sophomore year in 1981. After almost 30 years, I cannot find both of books to return to him. I sincerely hope this book can bring my apology and appreciation to him.

Herein, I would like to thank my wife (Sherry X. Huang) and my children (Yanyi Luo, Robin Ruo-Bing Luo, and Robert Zong-Yuan Luo) for their tolerance, patience, understanding and support.

> Albert C.J. Luo Edwardsville, Illinois

Contents

Chapter 1 Introduction
1.1. Deformable-body dynamics ······1
1.1.1. Cable dynamics ······2
1.1.2. Beams and rods
1.1.3. Plates and shells
1.1.4. Soft webs
1.2. Book layout
References 12
Chapter 2 Tensor Analysis19
2.1. Vectors and tensors
2.1.1. Vector algebra
2.1.2. Base vectors and metric tensors
2.1.3. Local base vector transformation27
2.1.4. Tensor algebra ······31
2.2. Second-order tensors41
2.2.1. Second-order tensor algebra 42
2.2.2. Basic properties46
2.2.3. Tensor decompositions48
2.2.4. Tensor functions50
2.3. Tensor calculus51
2.3.1. Differentiation
2.3.2. Invariant differential operators and integral theorems
2.3.3. Riemann-Christoffel curvature tensors
2.4. Two-point tensor fields
2.4.1. Two-point tensors ······63
2.4.2. Independent coordinates
2.4.3. Correlated coordinates
2.4.4. Shifter tensor fields 68
References ······73

Chapter 3 Deformation, Kinematics and Dynamics	75
3.1. Deformation geometry	75
3.1.1. Curvilinear coordinates	76
3.1.2. Deformation gradient and tensors	80
3.1.3. Green-Cauchy strain tensors and engineering strain	
3.1.4. Principal strains and directions	95
3.2. Kinematics	101
3.2.1. Material derivatives	101
3.2.2. Strain rates	113
3.3. Dynamics	116
3.3.1. Forces and stresses ······	116
3.3.2. Transport theorem	117
3.3.3. Cauchy stress and couple-stress tensors	120
3.4. Energy conservation	130
References	133
Chapter 4 Constitutive Laws and Damage Theory	135
4.1. Constitutive equations	135
4.2. Material damage and effective stress	144
4.3. Equivalence principles	146
4.4. An anisotropic damage theory	153
4.5. Applications	156
4.5.1. Uniaxial tensional models	156
4.5.2. Pure torsion	157
4.5.3. Elastic perfectly-plastic materials	159
References ·····	160
Chapter 5 Nonlinear Cables	
5.1. A nonlinear theory of cables	
5.2. Traveling and rotating cables	
5.3. Equilibrium of traveling elastic cables	
5.3.1. Existence conditions	
5.3.2. Displacements	
5.3.3. Applications	178
5.4. Nonlinear dynamics of cables	
5.4.1. Equations of motion	190
5.4.2. Motions of inextensible cables	
5.4.3. Motions of deformable cables	
References	198
Chanter 6 Nonlinear Plates and Wayos	
6.1 A nonlinear theory of nlates	
6.1.1 Deformation of a 3-D body	
6.1.2 Strains in thin plates	
6.1.2. Strains in time places	
0.1.5. Equations of motion	207

6.1.4. Reduction to established theories	210
6.2. Waves in traveling plates	213
6.2.1. An approximate theory	213
6.2.2. Perturbation analysis	217
6.2.3. Static waves	
6.2.4. Nonlinear waves	
6.2.5 Chaotic waves	232
6.3. Waves in rotating disks	239
6.3.1. Equations of motions	239
6.3.2. Nonlinear waves	247
6.3.3. Resonant and stationary waves	
6.4. Conclusions	
References ·····	
Chapter 7 Nonlinear Webs, Membranes and Shells	265
7.1. Nonlinear webs ······	
7.1.1. Cable-network webs ·····	
7.1.2. Cable-fabric webs	
7.1.3. Continuum webs	
7.2. Nonlinear membranes ······	
7.2.1. A membrane theory based on the Cartesian coordinates	
7.2.2. A membrane theory based on the curvilinear coordinates	
7.3. Nonlinear shells	
7.3.1. A shell theory based on the Cartesian coordinates	
7.3.2. A shell theory based on the curvilinear coordinates	
References	
Chapter 8 Nonlinear Beams and Rods	317
8.1. Differential geometry of curves	
8.2. A nonlinear theory of straight beams	
8.3. Nonlinear curved beams	
8.3.1. A nonlinear theory based on the Cartesian coordinates	
8.3.2. A nonlinear theory based on the curvilinear coordinates	
8.4. A nonlinear theory of straight rods	
8.5. Nonlinear curved rods	
8.5.1. A curved rod theory based on the Cartesian coordinates	
8.5.2. A curved rod theory based on the curvilinear coordinates	
References	
	200
Subject Index	

Chapter 1 Introduction

To investigate deformable-body dynamics, it is very important to learn a development history of the mathematical theory of deformable solids. From such a development history, one can find how the deformable-body dynamics to stimulate the development of modern physical science, which will give people a kind of indication for new discoveries. In this chapter, a brief history for establishing the approximate theories of deformable solids will be given. Especially, the cable dynamics will be discussed first, and a mathematical treatise of nonlinear beams and rods will be presented. In addition, the past and current status of plates and shell theory will be discussed, and the current status of soft web theory and applications will be presented. Finally, the book layout will be presented, and a brief summarization for each chapter will be given.

1.1. Deformable-body dynamics

Deformable-body dynamics is a subject to investigate the states of strain and internal relative motions in deformable solids subject to the action of the external forces. The first consideration of the nature of the resistance of solids to rupture was given by Galileo (1638). He treated the deformable body as inelastic without any laws and hypotheses between the displacement and forces. Galileo studied the resistance of a beam clamped at one end into the wall under its own weight or applied weight. He concluded that the beam rotates about the axis perpendicular to its length and in the plane of the wall. The determination of this axis is known as the Galileo's problem. The theory of deformable-bodies started from the Galileo's problem is based on the discovery of Hooke's Law in 1660 and the general differential equations of elasticity by Navier in 1821. The Hooke's law (Hooke, 1678) is an experimental discovery about the stress and strain relation. This law provides the basis to develop the mathematical theory of deformable-bodies. In 1821, Navier was the first to investigate the general equations of equilibrium and vibration of elastic solids, as presented in Love (1944). Although equilibrium and vibrations of plates and shells were treated before the general theory of elasticity was developed, one was interested in reduction of the general theory of elasticity to the theory of plates and shells by the power series of the distance from the middle surface. The problem is that the resultant forces and moments at the edge must be equal to the internal forces and moments generated by the strain. However, too many unknowns cannot be solved. Kirchhoff (1850a,b) proposed two assumptions: (i) that linear filaments of the plate initially normal to the middle-surface remain straight and normal to the middle-surface after deformed, and (ii) that all fibers in middle surface remain unstretched. Independent of the general equation of elasticity, the theory of the bending and twisting of thin rods and wires was developed by methods akin to those employed by Euler. One thought how to connect the general theory of elasticity to the theory of thin rods. Kirchhoff (1859) pointed out that the general equations of elasticity are strictly applicable to any small portion of a thin rod if all the linear dimensions of the portion are of the same order of magnitude as the diameters of the cross section. The equation of motion for such a portion of the rod could be simplified from the first approximation of deformation and kinematics. Based on the Kirchhoff assumptions, the approximate theories for beams, rods, plates and shells have been developed for recent 150 years. From 3dimensional deformable body theory, with certain assumptions, this book will present a mathematic frame to develop such approximate theories for thin deformable-bodies including cables, beams, rods, webs, membranes, plates and shells. The theory for deformable body based on the Kirchhoff assumptions is a special case to be discussed. In this chapter, the development history for the theory of nonlinear cable dynamics will be discussed first.

1.1.1. Cable dynamics

Cables are used as one of the simplest structures for human being at least thousands of years. The cable configuration attracted scientists to investigate since it was used for the suspension bridge in the early human-being history. Based on the historical record, the sophisticated suspension bridges in China appeared before the start of the Christian era. The iron chain suspension bridge was built in Yunnan, China in A.D. 65 in Needham (1954). In 1586, Stevin established the triangle forces experimentally with loaded string to understand the catenary and the collapse mechanism in a voussoir arch, as reported in Hopkins (1970). From Truesdell (1960), Beeckman, in 1615, for the first time solved the suspension bridge problem that the configuration of hanged cables with the in-plane, uniformly distributed loading is a parabolic arc. Galileo mused on the shape of a hanging chain and concluded that it is parabolic primarily by analogy to the flight of a projectile, which was published in *Discourse on Two New Sciences* in 1638. However, it was proved that this view was incorrect as Bernoullis (James and John), Leibnitz and Huygens jointly discovered the catenary in Truesdell (1960). To solve the cate-

3

nary, Huygens relied on the geometrical principle, and Leibnitz and Bernoullis used the calculus and Hooke's law to develop the general differential equations of equilibrium of a chain element under various loading. In addition, Bernoullis provided the basic fundamental of the calculus of variations to keep the center of gravity of the chain as low as possible. Furthermore, the principle of virtual work was developed. In the early 18th century, the vibration of taut string was extensively investigated to get the nature of the solution of partial differential equations. In 1738, Daniel Bernoulli (son of John Bernoulli) published a solution for natural frequencies of a chain that hangs from one end, and the solution was in the form of an infinite series (Watson, 1966). In 1764, Euler obtained the equation of motion for the vibrating taut membrane and obtained the infinite series solution through the variable separation. The partial solution was given by Poisson in 1829 and Clebsch in 1862. In addition, Lagrange in 1760 used the discretized string of beads model of the taut string as an illustration of the application of his equations of motion in Whittacker (1970). This work was done for the first time on the solution of vibration problems by the difference equations.

The equilibrium configuration, tension and displacement of elastic cables under arbitrary loading are needed in the design of cable structures. Rohrs (1851) first modeled the vibration of a uniform, inextensible suspended chain hanging freely under its own weight and obtained the approximate natural frequencies and responses of the cable. Routh (1884) considered the symmetric transverse vibration of a heterogeneous chain hanging in the form of a cycloid, and application of this chain model to the uniform chain yielded the Rohrs' model when the sag ratio is small. The chain was still modeled as inextensible. Pugsley (1949) developed a semi-empirical theory for the in-plane natural frequencies of the first three modes of a uniform, inextensible suspended chain. Saxon and Cahn (1953) developed an asymptotic method for the natural frequencies of the chain for large sag to span ratios. Simpson (1966) investigated the in-plane vibration of a stretched cable through its equilibrium and also determined the natural frequencies of multispan, sagged transmission lines using the transfer matrix method. Irvine and Caughey (1974) used a similar approach to investigate the free vibrations of a sagged, stretched cable hanging under its own weight. Hagedorn and Schafer (1980) showed that geometrical nonlinearity is significant in the computation of natural frequencies of in-plane vibration of an elastic cable. Luongo et al. (1984) analyzed the planar, non-linear, free vibrations of sagged cables through a perturbation method. Perkins (1992) considered the nonlinear vibrations of 3-dimensional, elastic, sagged cables analytically and experimentally, and gave a brief review of recent developments in cable dynamics. For translating cables, Simpson (1972) investigated planar oscillations by the linearized equations of motion around the equilibrium. Triantafyllou (1985) used an alternative approach to derive the linearized equations of motion at the equilibrium. Perkins and Mote (1987, 1989) developed a 3-dimensional cable theory for traveling elastic cables. The natural modes for the vibration and stability of translating cable at equilibria were obtained from the eigensolutions of discretized continuum models, and also some experimental results were reported. Luo et al (1996) presented the analytical solution and resonant motion for a stretched, spinning, nonlinear tether.

The non-straight equilibria of the cable have been determined by approximate means. For the stationary cables or strings, Dickey (1969) investigated the nonlinear string under a vertical force and gave tensile and compressive equilibrium solutions. Antman (1979) extended the Dickey investigation and investigated comprehensively the existence, multiplicity and qualitative behaviors of equilibrium for nonlinear elastic strings under different loads. The translating, sagged string possesses two non-trivial equilibrium states because of centrifugal loading. O'Reilly and Varadi (1995) investigated the equilibria of translating elastic cables. O'Reilly (1996) showed that if one used an observation due to Routh (1884) for inextensible strings, then the work of Antman (1979) and Dickey (1969) on static equilibria for strings can be extended to examine the steady motions of these strings. Healey and Papadopoulos (1990) extended the inextensible cable results to all the elastic strings. O'Reilly (1996) obtained the steady motion and stability of elastic and inextensible strings, and it was also shown that multiple steady motions were possible. In the quantitative investigation of elastic cables, Irvine (1981) used the method of Dickey (1969) to determine the exact equilibrium configuration and the approximate displacements of 2-dimensional cables under positive tension. For a single concentrated vertical load, the predicted displacement is constrained by the assumption that the equilibrium configuration is parabolic and that the ends of the cable are fixed. For multiple concentrated masses, the solutions given by Irvine (1981) require specificity of the initial configuration. To overcome these limitations, Yu et al. (1995) followed Irvine's procedure and computed the tension and equilibrium configuration of a 3-dimensional cable under uniform and concentrated transverse loading. The aforementioned exact solutions describe the equilibrium but not the deformation displacement because the initial configuration is not known. Luo and Mote (2000a) developed a nonlinear theory for traveling, arbitrarily sagged, elastic cables, and the closed-form equilibrium solution and existence were developed analytically. To investigate dynamics of nonlinear sagged, elastic cable, the dynamics of the inextensible cables should be investigated. Luo and Wang (2002) gave a series solution for the oscillation of the traveling, inextensible cable. Wang and Luo (2004) presented an alternative analytic solution for the motion of the in-plane, traveling inextensible cable. This analytical solution is also valid for the traveling speed over the critical speed. Based on dynamics of the inextensible cables, the dynamics of the sagged cables can be determined.

1.1.2. Beams and rods

Galileo (1638) studied the resistance of a beam clamped at one end into the wall under its own weight or applied weight, which caused modern science to develop. Through waves and vibrations in deformable-bodies, one understood the light and sound propagations. Before the theory of elasticity based on the Hooke's law and Navier's general differential equations for deformable-bodies, one investigated the theory of the bending and twisting of thin rods and wires. To obtain the solutions and extension of the Galileo's problems, the related, approximate theories for the vibration of bars and plates and the stability of columns were developed between 1638 and 1821. The 1-dimensional rod theory from 3-dimensional models by averaging the stress on the cross section was introduced by Leibniz in 1684. Since then, the first investigation of the elastic line or elastica was presented by James Bernoulli in 1705. In that research, the resistance of the bent rod is assumed to arise from the extension and contraction of its longitudinal fibers in the elastica, and the equation of the curve assumed by the axis is given, in which the resistance to bending is a bending moment proportional to curvature of the rod as bent. Once the concept about the bending moment perpendicular to curvature was established, the work done in bending a rod is proportional to the square of its curvature. Danial Bernoulli suggested to Euler that the differential equation of the bent rod can be obtained by minimizing the integral of the square of the curvature along the rod. From that suggestion, in 1744, Euler obtained the differential equation of the bent rod and classified the various form for such a problem. From this problem, Euler worked on what is the least length of elastica to bend under its own weight or applied weight (distributed force). Following the Euler theory, Lagrange determined the strongest form of column. Such an idea is a base for the variational principle, and such research is the earliest research on elastic stability. In the Euler's investigation, the rod was assumed as a line of particles to resist bending. In 1776, Coulomb considered the cross section of rod to present the flexure theory of beams and investigated the torsion of the thin rods. The theory improved the rod theory presented by Daniel Bernoulli and Euler. The concept of shear was proposed for the first time. From variation of energy function, the differential equations for the transverse vibration of bars were obtained by Euler and Daniel Bernoulli, and the vibration of rods with different boundary conditions was discussed. In 1802, Chldni presented an investigation of those modes of vibrations, and discussed the longitudinal and torsional vibrations of the bar. Based on the Hooke's law, in 1821, Navier developed the general differential equation for the theory of elasticity. Since the theory of rods was independently developed, one thought how to connect the general theory of elasticity to the theory of thin rods. Kirchhoff (1859) pointed out that the general equations of elasticity are strictly applicable to any small portion of a thin rod if all the linear dimensions of the portion are of the same order of magnitude as the diameters of the cross section. The equation of motions for such a portion of the rod could be simplified from the first approximation of deformation and kinematics. The earlier beam theories were developed by Kirchhoff (1859) and Clebsch (1862), as also presented in Love (1944). The comprehensive history of elasticity can be found in Todhunter and Pearson (1960) and Truesdell (1960).

Since 1940's, one has been interested in the systematic development of rod theories from 3-dimensional continuum mechanics. Hay (1942) obtained the strain from the power series in a thickness parameter. Novozhilov (1948) developed nonlinear theory for a rod with a large deformation. The other approximate theories for 1-dimensional rods or bars were presented by Midlin and Herrmann

(1952), Volterra (1955, 1956, 1961), Midlin and McNiven (1960) and Medick (1966). The theories were used to investigate the wave propagation and vibrations. On the other hand, to develop a theory of rod based on a 1-dimensional continuum model, E. and F. Cosserat (1909) introduced a concept of four vector fields to describe deformable vectors (directors) at a point of the directed and oriented curve. Ericksen and Truesdell (1958) used the Cosserat approach to develop a nonlinear theory of stress and strain in rods and shells through the oriented bodies. Cohn (1966) developed a static, isothermal theory of elastic curves. Whitman and De-Silva (1969) followed the Cohn's work to obtain the dynamical case and gave an explicit expression for the director inertia terms, and DeSilva and Whitman (1971) presented a thermo-dynamical theory for the directed curves with constitutive equations of materials. Such a theory can reduce to classic elastica and the linear theory of the Timoshenko beam when the assumptions were introduced to the corresponding theories, and an exact solution for such a nonlinear theory rods was presented (e.g., Whitman and DeSilva, 1970, 1972, 1974). On the other hand, Green (1959) presented the exact equilibrium equations for resultant force and moments by integration of the 3-dimensional equations over the cross section. Green and Laws (1966) extended this concept and developed a general theory of rods through two directors at each point in rods which requires specification of three vector fields. Antman and Warner (1966) used the polynomials in transverse coordinates to express the location of particle in rods and obtained the equation of motion with powers of the transverse coordinates for hyperelastic rods. Green, Laws and Naghdi (1967) used the idea of Green and Laws (1966) to present a linear theory of straight elastic rods, and Green, Knops and Laws (1968) used the same treatment for small deformation superimposed on finite deformation of elastic rods. A more detailed discussion of rod theories with directors can be referred to Antman (1972). Reissner (1972, 1973) developed a 1-dimensional finite-strain, static beam theory but how to treat the moment was not given. Wempner (1973) presented mechanics of curved rods, but the strain is the Almansi-Hamel strain. The strain energy of nonlinear rods was presented in Berdichevsky (1982). Maewal (1983) gave strain-displacement relations in nonlinear rods and shells. Danielson and Hodges (1987) discussed nonlinear beam kinematics through the deposition of the rotation tensor, and a mixed variational formulation for dynamics of moving beams was presented in Hodges (1990). Simo and Vu-Quoc (1987, 1991) used the exact strain to develop a theory for geometrically-nonlinear, planar rods, and several higher-order approximate theories were also given. Recently, this approach was used for development of the 3-D composite beam theory and numerical approaches were developed for prediction of dynamic responses in Vu-Quoc and Ebcioglu (1995, 1996) and Vu-Quoc and Deng (1995, 1997). The other derivation of equations of motion for geometrically-nonlinear rods can be referred to Crespo da Silva and Glynn (1978a), Crespo da Silva (1991), Pai and Nayfeh (1990, 1992, 1994).

The vibration of nonlinear, planar rods based on an accurate beam theory was investigated through a perturbation approach in Verma (1972). The free, nonlinear transverse vibration of beams was investigated in Nayfeh (1973) when the beam

properties varied along with length. Ho et al. (1975, 1976) discussed the nonlinear vibration of rods through a single mode model and a perturbation approach. The forced vibration of nonlinear, torsional, inextensional beams was investigated in Crespo da Silva and Glynn (1978b). The planar, forced oscillations of shear in deformable beams were investigated through a specific, single-mode response and perturbation method in Luongo et al. (1986) and the planar motion of an elastic rod under a compressive force was analyzed in Atanackovic and Cveticanin (1996). Holmes and Marsden (1981) used the Melnikov method to investigate the chaotic oscillation of a forced beam. Maewal (1986) investigated chaotic motion in a harmonically excited elastic beam through the perturbation approach and Lyapunov exponent method. The dynamical potential for the nonlinear vibration of cantilevered beams was discussed in Berdichevsky et al. (1995), and the numerical simulations of chaotic motions in non-dampened nonlinear rods were also presented. Luo and Han (1999) presented the nonlinear equations of an in-plane rod to investigate its chaos. In practical applications, one often used the approximate theories to discuss the deformations and vibration of nonlinear rods and beams. In recent decades, in order to more accurately describe DNA structures and micro-electromechanical-systems (MEMS), one tried to revisit the theory of rods. The nonlinear theory of rods in Kirchhoff (1859) was revisited. Tsuru (1987) discussed equilibrium shape and vibrations of thin elastic rods. Coleman and Dill (1992) discussed the flexure waves in elastic rods (also see, Coleman et al., 1993). Tobias and Olson (1993) used a homogeneous inextensible elastic rod with a uniform cross section to describe a segment of DNA (also see, Coleman et al., 1995, 1996; Swigon et al., 1998). Lembo (2001) discussed the free shapes of elastic rods, and Colemen and Swigon (2004) presented the theory of self-contact in Kirchhoff rods with applications in supercoiling of knotted and unknotted DNA plasmids. Recently, the Cosserat theory of elastic rods was used to model MEMS (e.g., Cao et al., 2005; 2006), and the systematic description of elastic rod based on the Cosserat theory was presented in Cao and Tucker (2008). From the aforementioned survey, it is very important to develop an accurate theory for beams and rods. This book will present a theoretic frame for one to develop accurate theories for beams and rods.

1.1.3. Plates and shells

In the 17th century, based on special hypotheses, the theories of thin rods were developed. In the same fashion, the theory for plates and shells could be developed. Euler was the first to consider the plate consisting of annuli bars. In fact, the linear bending theory of plates was really developed by Kirchhoff (1850a,b) from his assumptions for the theory of thin rods. Love (1888) developed the linear theory of shells from the 3-dimensional equation of linear elasticity, as also presented in Love (1944). The nonlinear strains were determined by the first-order approximation of the extension. Such a theory originated from the small free vibration of a

thin elastic shell in Love (1888). Such a work drew the criticism from Rayleigh (1888) because such an extensional deformation theory of shells is against the inextensional deformation theory. Lamb (1890) used the alternative way to derive the same equations as in Love (1888) and Basset (1890) considered the higherorder terms of the extension for thin cylindrical and spherical shells. To solve this argument, around 1940, with the framework of the Kirchhoff-Love assumption, Chien (1944 a,b) presented an intrinsic theory of plates and shells. Gol'denveizer (1944) discussed the applicability of the general theorems of the theory of elasticity to the thin shells. Reissner (1944) introduced the deformation caused by shear strain into the bending of elastic plates through an assumed displacement field. Discussion on the developments of the linear theory can be referred to Naghdi (1972), and other books.

The 3-dimensional thin continuous medium can be described by a 2dimensional surface with a director. Such a concept of the continuous and oriented media was initialed by Duhem (1906). E. and F. Cosserat (1909) extended such concepts to develop the theory for shells and rods. Such a concept provides a base for development of the field theory for plates and shells. In addition, the existing approximate nonlinear theories for plates and shells have been derived from the 3dimensional equations. In the early stage, it was assumed that the strain is very small but the rotation is large or moderately large, and the linear constitutive equations are assumed to be valid. von Karman (1910) extended the Love's strain based on the first order approximation of extension and developed an approximate theory for plates, and von Karman and Tsien (1939, 1941) used such approximate theory to investigate the buckling of thin spherical and cylindrical shells by external pressure. However, Galerkin (1915) discussed series solutions of some problems of elastic equilibrium of rods and plates. Novozhilov (1941) presented a general theory for stability of thin shells, and followed Galerkin's idea systematically presented the nonlinear theory for elasticity in Nolvozhilov (1948) or Nolvozhilov (1953) (English version). Following the von Karman theory, Reissner (1957) presented his nonlinear plate theory including shear deformation. Herrmann (1955) derived a plate theory governing dynamic motion with small elongation and shear deformation but moderately large rotation. Wang (1990) developed the 2dimensional theory reduced from the 3-dimensional theory for transversely isotropic plates. Hodges et al. (1993) developed the geometrically nonlinear plate theory through the warping displacement. Since von Karman (1910) developed a nonlinear theory for thin plates with large deflection, ones used that nonlinear theory to investigate the buckling stability (e.g., Levy, 1942) and the nonlinear vibration of a spinning disk (e.g., Nowinski, 1964, 1981).

Based on the concept of continuous and oriented media, Ericksen and Truesdell (1958) presented a general development of the kinematics of the oriented media through *n*-stretchable directors in the *n*-dimensional space. The concept of directors was introduced. Truesdell and Toupin (1960) gave an exposition of the kinematics of the theory of oriented bodies. The 3-dimensional theory of an oriented medium with a single deformable director at all points of the body was developed in Green, Naghdi and Rivlin (1965). Cohen and DeSilva (1966) used the kinemat-

ics of Ericksen and Truesdell (1958) to introduce a triad of deformable directors to every point on the Cosserat surface. Toupin (1964) remarked only one single director should be enough to develop the nonlinear theory for plates and shells. Based on such development of the kinematics, the linearized kinematical measures were obtained by Green, Naghdi and Wainwright (1965). In fact, such kinematics of the plates and shells were completed by computation of the Lagrangian strains based on the Cosserat surface with directors. The general formulas presented in Naghdi (1972) are the first order approximation of extensions and shear deformation angles from the 3-dimensional deformable bodies. The equation of motions for plates and shells are based on the Cosserat surface. In fact, the deformation of the cross section of the deformed plates and shells may not be in the director. Luo (2000) developed a general frame for the approximate theories of plates. From the Kichhoff-assumptions, an approximate nonlinear theory of plates was presented, which can easily reduce to the existing theories. Luo and Mote (2000b) used the more accurate approximate plate theory in Luo (2000) to investigate the nonlinear vibration of rotating disks and presented an analytical solution for the nonlinear vibration of thin rotating disks. Luo and Tan (2001) investigated the resonant and stationary waves in rotating disks. Luo and Hamidzadeh (2004) used such an approximate theory to investigate the steady-state motion and buckling stability of the axially moving plates, and Luo (2003, 2005) investigated the resonant and stationary waves and chaos in axially traveling plates. In this book, the author will present a mathematical treatise for the approximate theories of plates and shells from a different aspect.

1.1.4. Soft webs

Generally speaking, the deformable soft web structures are extensible thin surfaces which can resist the tension only. Such deformable webs exist extensively in civil, textile and space engineering and bio-tissues, such as textile and paper materials (e.g., flag, clothes, balloons and papers) and bio-membranes (e.g., cell membranes). So far, one did not find an appropriate way to exactly describe the deformable webs in textile materials and bio-membranes. The problem on the inextensible soft webs rather than the elastic soft webs was investigated in the 19th century, which was induced by the inextensible chains and nets. The difficulty for elastic webs is where the initial configurations of the elastic webs are. Even for the inextensible cables and nets, one has a difficulty to find the exact equilibrium configuration. To obtain exact equilibrium configuration, the knowledge of differential geometry is required and the wrinkling instability of the web structure blocks one to further think about such a problem. For simplicity, a pre-tensioned state for cables and nets was considered to obtain the corresponding equilibrium. To avoid such a difficulty, one adopted the membrane or plate and shell theory to apply such problems because the membrane or plate and shell theory assumed the corresponding initial configuration exists. In this book, from the differential geometry

of deformable body, the theory for the deformable webs will be presented, which include non-continuous, deformable network webs, non-continuous fabric, deformable webs and continuous deformable webs.

In practical engineering, one is used to adopt the existing membrane or plate and shell theory to investigate the web dynamics. Lin and Mote (1995) investigated the axially moving rectangular webs to determine equilibrium solutions through the von Karman theory. The eigenvalue solutions predicting the wrinkling of rectangular webs under nonlinearly distributed edge loading were presented in Lin and Mote (1996). The elastic wrinkling of a tensioned circular plate was investigated using von Karman plate theory in Adams (1993). For an further extension of such an investigation, Luo and Hamidzadeh (2004) used the new plate theory of Luo (2000) to investigate the stability of traveling webs (exactly speaking, traveling thin plates), and Luo (2003, 2005) investigated resonant and chaotic waves motion in the traveling plates. In addition, Marynowksi (2004) investigated bifurcations and chaos of the axially moving viscoelastic webs through the beam model (also see, Marynowski and Kapitaniak, 2007). Recently, Marynowski (2009) summarized the recent results of the axially moving orthotropic webs in a lecture note. However, such results based on the traditional plate and beam theory cannot be applied to the nonlinear dynamics of deformable soft webs. The deformable soft webs cannot support any negative forces and bending moments.

The early work is about the net webs presented by Tchebychew (1878), and such a net web consists of inextensible fibers. The further development for the inextensible cable-net webs was presented by Pipkin (1981,1984). To avoid nontension in the nets, Pipkin (1986) considered the relaxed energy density rather than the tension-field theory for isotropic elastic membranes. Steigmann and Pipkin (1989) discussed the wrinkling of pressurized membranes through the relaxed energy density. Steigemann and Pipkin (1991) presented the theory for equilibrium of elastic nets through the theory of relaxed energy density and discussed the wrinkling problem of the elastic nets. Based on such relaxed energy density, the shear on the webs or surfaces of elastic networks can be discussed. In 1996, the small oscillations of discrete elastic networks near the equilibrium were discussed in Wang and Steigmann (1996). The necessary and sufficient conditions for minimum-energy configuration were developed for numerical computation of the soft elastic networks in Atai and Steigman (1997). Recently, Nadler et al. (2006) discussed the convexity of the strain energy-function in the two-scale model of ideal fabrics. Nadler (2008) considered the relative stiffness of elastic nets with Cartesian and polar underlying structure. The aforementioned developments of the theory of the elastic network (or webs) were based on the finite deformation and relaxed strain-energy. All the discussion are about the initial pre-stressed nets. In this book, the direct derivation will be presented to obtain the equation of motion rather than the relaxed-strain energy with the deformed configuration of webs. This idea originated from the traveling cable dynamics in Luo and Mote (2000). In that paper, the exact equations of motion for traveling cables were developed and the closed-form solution for steady-state equilibrium was obtained. Based on such equilibrium, the vibration of the traveling inextensible cables were presented (e.g., Luo and Wang, 2001; Wang and Luo, 2004). For the cable structure, the wrinkling and swaying phenomena were observed. The author believes that the soft web

structures will possess the similar phenomena. Soft deformable webs do not have any "snap-through" phenomena, but both the wrinkling behavior and swaying phenomenon exist. However, membrane structures can resist the negative membrane forces, thus the "snap-through" can be observed.

1.2. Book layout

This book consists of eight chapters. Chapter 1 discusses the history of the deformable body dynamics. In Chapter 2, the mathematical tool for the deformation and kinematics of the deformable bodies will be presented. Chapter 3 will address the deformation geometry, kinematics and dynamics of deformable bodies. Chapter 4 will present constitutive laws and damage theory for deformable bodies. In Chapter 5, nonlinear cable dynamics will be presented. Chapter 6 will discuss the nonlinear theory and vibration waves of plates. In Chapter 7, the nonlinear theory for webs, membranes and shells will be presented. Finally, Chapter 8 will present the nonlinear theory for beams and rods. The main contents in this book are summarized as follows.

Chapter 2 will review the basic vector algebra first. The base vectors and metric tensors will be introduced, and the local base vectors in curvilinear coordinates and tensor algebra will be presented. The second-order tensors will be discussed in detail. The differentiation and derivatives of tensor fields will be presented, and the gradient, invariant differential operators and integral theorems for tensors are presented. The Riemann-Christoffel curvature tensor will also be discussed. Finally, two-point tensor fields will be presented.

Chapter 3 will present the deformation geometry, kinematics and dynamics of continuous media. To discuss deformation geometry, the deformation gradients will be introduced in the local curvilinear coordinate systems, and the Green and Cauchy strain tensors will be presented. The stretch and angle changes for line elements will be discussed through Green and Cauchy strain tensors. The velocity gradient will be introduced for kinematics, and the material derivatives of deformation gradient, infinitesimal line element, area and volume in the deformed configuration will be presented. The Cauchy stress and couple stress tensors will be defined to discuss the dynamics of continuous media, and the local balances for the Cauchy momentum and angular momentum will be discussed. The Piola-Kirchhoff stress tensors will be introduced and the Boussinesq and Kirchhoff local balance of momentum will be discussed by the virtual work principle.

Chapter 4 will discuss the constitutive laws and basic invariant requirements in continuous media. To develop a continuum damage theory, the concepts of damage variables will be introduced. The equivalent principles in continuum damage mechanics will be presented to obtain effective material properties, which include the *strain equivalence principle*, the *complementary energy equivalence principle* and the *incremental complementary energy equivalence principle*. A large damage

theory for anisotropic damaged materials will be discussed from the incremental complementary energy equivalence principle, and three examples will be illustrated for application.

Chapter 5 will discuss the nonlinear dynamics of traveling and rotating cables. A general nonlinear theory of cables will be presented. The basic equations of motion for rotating and longitudinally traveling cables will be derived. The closedform solutions for equilibriums of elastic cables will be developed. To investigate the cable dynamics, the rigid body dynamics of cables will be discussed. The equation of motion for the deformation displacements of deformable cables will be addressed.

Chapter 6 will present a nonlinear plate theory from the 3-dimensional theory of deformable-bodies, and the approximate theories of thin plates will be discussed. From such a theory, approximate solutions for nonlinear waves in axially traveling plates and rotating disks will be presented. Stationary and resonant waves in the traveling plates and rotating disks will be discussed. Finally, chaotic waves in axially traveling plates under a periodic excitation will be presented.

Chapter 7 will present the nonlinear theories for webs, membranes and shells. The theory for network, fabric non-continuum and continuum webs will be presented first from the nonlinear theory of cables, and the theory for the continuous web will be discussed as well. Further, the nonlinear theory of membranes will be developed in an analogy way. The nonlinear theory of shells will be developed from the general theory of the 3-dimensional deformable body, and such a theory of shells can easily reduce to the existing linear and nonlinear theories.

Chapter 8 will present the nonlinear theories for rods and beams in the Cartesian coordinate frame and the curvilinear frame of the initial configuration. Without torsion, the nonlinear theory for in-plane beams will be developed first under certain assumptions, and the nonlinear theory of rods will be presented systematically from the general theory of the 3-dimensional deformable body.

References

- Adams, G.G., 1993, Elastic wrinkling of a tensioned circular plate using von Karman plate theory, *ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics*, **60**, 520-525.
- Antman, S.S., 1972, The theory of rods, Handbuch der Physik, Vol. VIa/2, Springer, Berlin.
- Antman, S.S., 1979, Multiple equilibrium states of nonlinear elastic strings, *SIAM Journal of Applied Mathematics*, **37**, 588-604.
- Antman, S.S. and Warner, W.H., 1966, Dynamic theory of hyperelastic rods, Archives for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 40, 329-372.
- Atai, A.A. and Steigmann, D.J., 1997, On the nonlinear mechanics of discrete networks, *Archive of Applied Mechanics*, 67, 303-319.
- Atanackovic, T.M. and Cveticanin, L.J., 1996, Dynamics of plane motion of an elastic rod, *ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics*, **63**, 392-398.
- Basset, A.B., 1890, On the extension and flexure of cylindrical and spherical thin elastic shells, *Philosophical Transaction of Royal Society of London*, **181A**, 433-480.

Berdichevsky, V.L., 1982, On the energy of an elastic rod, PMM, 45, 518-529.

- Berdichevsky, V.L., Kim, W.W. and Ozbek, A., 1995, Dynamics potential for nonlinear vibrations of cantilevered beams, *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 179, 151-164.
- Cao, D.Q., Liu, D. and Wang, C.H.-T., 2005, Nonlinear dynamic modeling for MEMS components with the Cosserat rod element approach, *Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering*, 15, 1334-1343.
- Cao, D.Q., Liu, D. and Wang, C.H.-T., 2006, Three-dimensional nonlinear dynamics of slender structure: Cosserat rod element approach, *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, 43, 760-783.
- Cao, D.Q., Tucker, R.W., 2008, Nonlinear dynamics of elastic rods using the Cosserat theory: Modelling and simulations, *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, 45, 460-477.
- Chien, W.Z., 1944a, The intrinsic theory of thin shells and plates I: General theory, *Quarterly of Applied Mathematics*, 1, 297-327.
- Chien, W.Z.,1944b, The intrinsic theory of thin shells and plates II: Application to thin plates, *Quarterly of Applied Mathematics*, **2**, 43-59.
- Clebsch, A., 1862, Theories der Elasticität fester Körper, Teubner, Leipzig.
- Cohn, H., 1966, A non-linear theory of elastic directed curves, *International Journal of Engineering Science*, **40**, 511-524.
- Cohn, H. and DeSilva, C.N., 1966, Nonlinear theory of elastic surfaces, *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 7, 246-253.
- Coleman, B.D. and Dill, E.H.,1992, Flexure waves in elastic rods, *Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, **91**, 2663-2673.
- Coleman, B.D., Dill, E.H., Lembo, M., Lu, Z. and Tobias, I., 1993, On the dynamics of rods in the theory of Kirchhoff and Clebsch, *Archives for Rational Mechanics and Analysis*, 121, 339-359.
- Coleman, B.D., Lembo, M., Tobias, I., 1996, A new class of flexure-free torsional vibration of annular rods, *Meccanica*, 31, 565-575.
- Colemen, B.D. and Swigon, D., 2004, Theory of self-contact in Kirchhoff rods with applications in supercoiling of knotted and unknotted DNA plasmids, *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society London A*, 362, 1281-1299.
- Coleman, B.D., Tobias, I., Swigon, D, 1995, Theory of the influence of end conditions on selfcontact in DNA loops, *Journal of Chemical Physics*, 103, 9101-9109.
- Cosserat, E. and Cosserat, F., 1896, *Sur la thérorie de l'élasticité, premier Mémiore*, Annales de la Faculté des Sciences de Toulouse, **10**, 1-116.
- Cosserat, E. and Cosserat, F., 1909, Theorie des Corps Deformables, 953-1173, Hermann, Paris.
- Crespo da Silva, M.R.M. 1991, Equations for nonlinear analysis of 3D motions of beams, *Applied Mechanics Review*, **44**, 51-59.
- Crespo da Silva, M.R.M. and Glynn, C.C., 1978a, Nonlinear flexural-flexural-torsional dynamics of inextensional beams-I: equations of motion, *Journal of Structural Mechanics*, **6**, 437-448.
- Crespo da Silva, M.R.M. and Glynn, C.C., 1978b, Nonlinear flexural-flexural-torsional dynamics of inextensional beams-II: forced motion, *Journal of Structural Mechanics*, 6, 449-461.
- Danielson, D.A. and Hodge, D.H., 1987, Nonlinear beam kinematics by decomposition of the rotation tensor, ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics, 54, 258-262.
- DeSilva, C.N. and Whitman, A.B., 1971, A thermo-dynamical theory of directed curves, *Journal* of *Mathematical Physics*, **12**, 1603-1609.
- Dickey, R.W., 1969, The nonlinear string under a vertical force, *SIAM Journal of Applied Mathematics*, **17**, 172-178.
- Duhem, P., 1906, Researches sur l' élasticité, Cauthier-Villars, Paris.
- Ericksen J.L. and Truesdell, C., 1958, Exact theory of stress and strain in rods and shells, *Archives for Rational Mechanics and Analysis*, 1, 295-323.
- Galileo, G., 1638, Discorsi e Dimostrasioni Matematiche, Leiden.
- Galerkin, B.G., 1915, Series solutions of elastic equilibrium of rods and plates, *VestnikInzhenerov*, **1**, 187-208.
- Gol'denveizer, 1944, Applicability of the general theorems of the theory of elasticity to the thin

shells, Journal of Applied Mathematics and Mechanics (Akad. Nauk SSSR Prikl. Mat. Mekh.), 8, 3-14.

- Green, A.E., 1959, The equilibrium of rods, Archives for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 3, 417-421.
- Green, A.E., Knops, R.J. and Laws, N., 1968, Large deformations, superposed small deformation and stability of elastic rods, *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, 4, 555-577.
- Green, A.E. and Laws, N., 1966, A general theory of rods, *Proceedings of Royal Society of Lon*don, 293 A, 145-155.
- Green, A.E., Laws, N. and Naghdi, P.M., 1967, A linear theory of straight elastic rods, *Archives for Rational Mechanics and Analysis*, 25, 285-298.
- Green, A.E., Naghdi, P.M. and Rivlin, R.S., 1965, Directors and multipolar displacements in continuum mechanics, *International Journal of Engineering Science*, **2**, 611-620.
- Green, A.E., Naghdi, P.M. and Wainwright, W.L., 1965, A general theory of a Cosserat surface, *Archives for Rational Mechanics and Analysis*, **20**, 287-308.
- Hagedorn, P. and Schafer, B., 1980, On nonlinear free vibrations of an elastic cable, *Interna*tional Journal of Nonlinear Mechanics, 15, 333-340.
- Hay, G.E., 1942, The finite displacement of thin rods, *Transactions of American Mathematical Society*, **51**, 65-102.
- Healey, T.J. and Papadopoulos, J.N., 1990, Steady axial motions of strings, ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics, 57, 785-787.
- Herrmann, G., 1955, Influence of large amplitudes on flexural motions of elastic plates, NACA Technical Note 3578.
- Ho, C.H., Scott, R.A. and Eisley, J.G., 1975, Non-planar, nonlinear oscillations of beams-I: forced motions, *International Journal of Nonlinear Mechanics*, 10, 113-127.
- Ho, C.H., Scott, R.A. and Eisley, J.G., 1976, Non-planar, nonlinear oscillations of beams-II: free motions, *International Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 47, 333-339.
- Hodges, D.H., 1990, A mixed variational formulation based on exact intrinsic equations for dynamics of moving beams, *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, 26, 1253-1273.
- Hodges, D.H., Atilgan, A.R. and Danielson, D.A., 1993, A geometrically nonlinear theory of elastic plates, *ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics*, **60**, 109-116.
- Holmes, P.J. and Marsden, J., 1981, A partial differential equation with infinitely many periodic orbits: chaotic oscillations of a forced beam, *Archives for Rational Mechanics and Analysis*, 76, 135-166.
- Hooke, R., 1678, De Potentia Restitutiva, London.
- Hopkins, H.J., 1970, A Span of Bridge, Newton Abbot, David and Charles, England.
- Irvine, H.M., 1981, Cable Structures, The MIT Press, Cambridge.
- Irvine, H.M. and Caughey, T.K., 1974, The linear theory of free vibrations of a suspended cable, *Proceedings of the Royal Society London*, 341A, 299-315.
- Kirchhoff, G., 1850a, Über das Gleichgewicht und die Bewegung einer elastischen Scheibe, Journal für die reins und angewandte Mathematik, 40, 51-88.
- Kirchhoff, G., 1850b, Ueber die Schwingungen einer kreisformigen elastischen Scheibe, Poggendorffs Annal, 81, 258-264.
- Kirchhoff, G., 1859, Ueberdas Gleichgewicht und die Bewegung eines unendlich d
 ünnen elastischen Stabes, Journal f
 ür die reine und angewandte Mathematik, 56, 285-313.
- Lamb, H., 1890, On the deformation of an elastic shell, *Proceedings on London Mathematics Society*, 21, 119-146.
- Lembo, M., 2001, On the free shape of elastic rods, *European Journal of Mechanics A/ Solids*, **20**, 469-483.
- Levy, S. 1942, Large deflection theory for rectangular plate, *Proceedings of the first Symposium* on Applied Mathematics, 1, 197-210.
- Lin, C.C. and Mote, Jr., C.D., 1995, Equilibrium displacement and stress distribution in a two dimensional, axially moving web under transverse loading, ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics, 62, 772-779.

- Lin, C.C. and Mote, C.D. Jr., 1996, Eigenvalue solutions predicting the wrinkling of rectangle webs under non-linearly distributed edge loading. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 197, 179-189.
- Love, A.E.H., 1944, *A Treatise on the Mathematical Theory of Elasticity*, (4th ed.), Dover Publications, New York.
- Love, A.E.H., 1888, The small free vibrations and deformation of a thin elastic shell, *Philosophical Transaction of Royal Society of London*, **179** A, 491-456.
- Luo, A.C.J., 2000, An approximate theory for geometrically nonlinear thin plates, *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, 37, 7655-7670.
- Luo, A.C.J., 2003, Resonant and stationary waves in axially traveling thin plates, *IMeChE Part K, Journal of Multibody Dynamics*, 217, 187-199.
- Luo, A.C.J., 2005, Chaotic motion in resonant separatrix zones of periodically forced, axially traveling, thin plates, *IMeChE Part K: Journal of Multi-body Dynamics*, **219**, 237-247.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Hamidzadeh, H. R., 2004, Equilibrium and buckling stability for axially traveling plates, *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation*, **9**, 343-360.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Han, R.P.S., 1999, Analytical predictions of chaos in a nonlinear rod, *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 227, 523-544.
- Luo, A.C.J., Han, R.P.S., Tyc, G., Modi, V.J. and Misra, A.K., 1996, Analytical vibration and resonant motion of a stretched, spinning, nonlinear tether, *AIAA Journal of Guidance, Control and Dynamics*, **19**, 1162-1171.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Mote, C.D. Jr., 2000a, Analytical solutions of equilibrium and existence for traveling, arbitrarily sagged, elastic cables, ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics, 67, 148-154.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Mote, C.D. Jr., 2000b, Nonlinear vibration of rotating thin disks, *ASME Journal* of Vibration and Acoustics, **122**, 376-383.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Tan, C.A., 2001, Resonant and stationary waves in rotational disks, *Nonlinear Dynamics*, 24, 357-372.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Wang, Y.F., 2002, On the rigid-body motion of traveling, sagged cables, Symposium on Dynamics, Acoustics and Simulations in 2002 ASME International Mechanical Engineering Congress and Exposition, New Orleans, Louisiana, November 17-22, 2002.
- Luongo, A., Rega, G. and Vestroni, F., 1984, Planar non-linear free vibrations of an elastic cable, International Journal of Nonlinear Mechanics, 19, 39-52.
- Luongo, A., Rega, G. and Vestroni, F., 1986, On nonlinear dynamics of planar shear indeformable beams, *ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics*, **53**, 619-624.
- Maewal, A., 1986, Chaos in a harmonically excited elastic beam, ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics, 53, 625-631.
- Marynowski, K., 2004, Nonlinear vibrations of an axially moving viscoelastic web with timedependent tension, *Chaos, Solitons and Fractals*, **21**, 481-490.
- Marynowski, K., 2009, Dynamics of the Axially Moving Orthotropic Webs, Springer, Berlin.
- Marynowski, K. and Kapitaniak, T., 2007, Zener internal damping in modeling of axially moving viscoelastic beam with time-dependent tension, *International Journal of Nonlinear Mechanics*, 42, 118-131.
- Medick, M.A., 1966, One dimensional theories of wave propagation and vibrations in elastic bars with rectangular cross-section, *ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics*, **33**, 489-495.
- Midlin, R.D. and Herrmann, G., 1952, A one-dimensional theory of compressional waves in an elastic rod, *Proceedings of First U.S. National Congress of Applied Mechanics*, 187-191, ASME, New York.
- Midlin, R.D. and McNiven, H.D., 1960, Axially symmetric waves in elastic rods, *ASME Journal* of *Applied Mechanics*, **27**, 145-151.
- Nadler, B., 2008, Relative stiffness of elastic nets with Cartesian and polar underlying structure, *International Journal of Engineering*, **4**, 1-9.

- Nadler, B., Papadopoulos, P. and Steigmann, D.J., 2006, Convexity of the strain-energy function in a two-scale model of ideal fabrics, *Journal of Elasticity*, **84**, 223-244.
- Naghdi, P.E., 1972, *The Theory of Shells and Plates*, Hundbuch der Physik, Vol. VIa/2, Springer, Berlin.
- Nayfeh, A.H., 1973, Nonlinear transverse vibration of beams with properties that vary along the length, *Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, **53**, 766-770.
- Needham, J. 1954, *Science and Civilisation in China*, Vol. 8 (to date), Cambridge University Press, London.
- Novozhilov, V.V., 1941, General theory of stability of thin shells (Russian), *Competes Rendus* (Doklady) de l'Academie des Science de l'URSS, **32**, 316-319.
- Novozhilov, V.V., 1948, *Foundation of the Nonlinear Theory of Elasticity*, Gostekhizdat: Moscow (Russian) (English translation by F. Bagemihl, H. Komm and W. Seidel, 1953, Graylock: Rochester).
- Nowinski, J.L.,1964, Nonlinear transverse vibrations of a spinning disk, *ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics*, **31**, 72-78.
- Nowinski, J.L.,1981, Stability of nonlinear thermoelastic waves in membrane-like spinning disk, *Journal of Thermal Science*, 4, 1-11.
- O'Reilly, O.M., 1996, Steady motions of a drawn cable, *ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics*, **63**, 180-189.
- O'Reilly, O.M. and Varadi, P., 1995, Elastic equilibria of translating cables, *Acta Mechanica*, **108**, 189-206.
- Pai, P.F. and Nayfeh, A.H., 1990, Three-dimensional nonlinear vibrations of composite beams-I: equation of motion, *Nonlinear Dynamics*, 1, 477-502.
- Pai, P.F. and Nayfeh, A.H., 1992, A nonlinear composite beam theory, *Nonlinear Dynamics*, **3**, 273-303.
- Pai, P.F. and Nayfeh, A.H., 1994, A fully nonlinear theory of curved and twisted composite rotor blades accounting for warping and three-dimensional stress effects, *International Journal* of Solids and Structures, **31**, 1309-1340.
- Perkins, N.C., 1992, Modal interactions in the nonlinear response of elastic cables under parametric/external excitation, *International Journal of Nonlinear Mechanics*, 27, 233-250.
- Perkins, N.C. and Mote, C.D., Jr., 1987, Three-dimensional vibration of traveling elastic cables, Journal of Sound and Vibration, 114, 325-340.
- Perkins, N.C. and Mote, C.D., Jr., 1989, Theoretical and experimental stability of two translating cable equilibria, *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, **128**, 397-410.
- Pipkin, A.C., 1981, Plan traction problems for inextensible networks, *Quarterly Journal of Mechanics and Applied Mathematics*, 34, 415-429.
- Pipkin, A.C., 1984, Equilibrium of Tchebychev nets, Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 85, 81-97.
- Pipkin, A.C., 1986, The relaxed energy density for isotropic elastic membranes, *IMA Journal of Applied Mathematics*, **36**, 85-99.
- Pugsley, A.G., 1949, On natural frequencies of suspension chain, *Quarterly Journal of Mechan*ics and Applied Mathematics, 2, 412-418.
- Rayleigh, (Lord), 1888, On the bending and vibration of thin elastic shells, especially of cylindrical shells, *Proceedings on Royal Society of London A*, 45, 105-123.
- Reissner, E., 1944, On the theory of bending of elastic plates, *Journal of Mathematics and Physics*, **23**, 184-191.
- Reissner, E., 1957, Finite twisting and bending of thin rectangular elastic plates, *ASME Journal* of *Applied Mechanics*, **24**, 391-396.
- Reissner, E., 1972, On one-dimensional finite-strain beam theory: the plane problem, *Journal of Applied Mathematics and Physics* (ZAMP), **23**, 759-804.
- Reissner, E., 1973, On one-dimensional large-displacement finite-strain beam theory: the plane problem, *Studies in Applied Mathematics*, **52**, 87-95.

References

- Rohrs, J.H., 1851, On the oscillations of a suspension cable, Transactions of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, 9, 379-398.
- Routh, E.J., 1884, *The Advanced Part of a Treatise on the Dynamics of a System of Rigid Bodies*, (4th ed.), MacMillan and Co, London.
- Saxon, D.S. and Cahn, A.S., 1953, Modes of vibration of a suspended chain, *Quarterly Journal of Mechanics and Applied Mathematics*, 6, 273-285.
- Simo, J.C. and Vu-Quoc, L., 1987, The role of nonlinear theories in transient dynamics analysis of flexible structures, *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, **119**, 487-508.
- Simo, J.C. and Vu-Quoc, L., 1991, A geometrically-exact rod model incorporating shear and torsion-warping deformation, *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, 27, 371-393.
- Simpson, A., 1966, Determination of the inplane natural frequencies of multispan transmission lines by a transfer matrix method, *Proceeding of the Institution of Electrical Engineers*, 113, 870-878.
- Simpson, A., 1972, On the oscillatory motions of translating elastic cables, *Journal of Sound Vibration*, 20, 177-189.
- Steigenman, D.J. and Pipkin, A.C., 1989, Wrinkling of pressurized membranes, ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics, 56, 624-628.
- Steigmann, D.J. and Pipkin, A.C., 1991, Equilibrium of elastic nets, *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society of London, A335, 419-454.
- Swigon, D., Coleman, B.D. and Tobias, I., 1998, The elastic rod model for DNA and its applications to the tertiary structure of DNA minicircles in mononucleosomes, *Journal of Biophysics*, 74, 251-2530.
- Tchebychev, P.L., 1878, Sur la coupe des vetements, Assoc. Franc. Pour. L'avancement des sci. Congres des Paris, 154-155.
- Tobias, I. and Olson, W.K., 1993, The effect of intrinsic curvature on supercoilingPrediction of elasticity theory, Biopolymers, **33**, 639-646.
- Todhunter, I. and Pearson, K., 1960, A History of the Theory of Elasticity and of the Strength of Materials, (Cambridge University press, 1886, 1893), (Reprinted), Dover, New York.
- Toupin, R.A., 1964, Theories of elasticity with couple-stress, Archives for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 17, 85-112.
- Triantafyllou, M.S., 1985, The dynamics of translating cables, *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, **103**,171-182.
- Truesdell, C, 1960, *The Rational Mechanics of Flexible or Elastic Bodies*, 1638-1788. L. Euleri Opera Omnia 11, Füssli, Zürich.
- Truesdell, C. and Toupin, R., 1960, *The Classic Field Theories*, Handbuch de Physik, Vol.3/1 (edited by Flügge), Springer, Berlin.
- Tsuru, H., 1987, Equilibrium shape and vibrations of thin elastic rods, *Journal of Physical Society of Japan*, **56**, 230-2324.
- Verma, G.R., 1972, Nonlinear vibrations of beams and membranes, *Studies in Applied Mathe-matics*, LII, 805-814.
- Volterra, E., 1955, Equations of motion for curved elastic bars by the use of the "method of internal constraints", *Ingeniear-Archiv*, 23, 402-409.
- Volterra, E., 1956, Equations of motion for curved and twisted elastic bars deduced by the use of the "method of internal constraints", *Ingeniear-Archiv*, **24**, 392-400.
- Volterra, E., 1961, Second approximation of the method of internal constraints and its applications, *International Journal of Mechanical Science*, 3, 47-67.
- von Karman, Th., 1910, Festigkeitsprobleme im mashinenbau, *Encyklopadie der Mathematischen Wissenschaften*, Teubner, Leipzig, **4**, 348-352.
- von Karman, Th. and Tsien, H.S., 1939, Buckling of spherical shells by external pressure, *Journal of the Aeronautical Sciences*, 7, 43-50
- von Karman, Th. and Tsien, H.S., 1941, The buckling of thin cylindrical shells under axial compression, *Journal of the Aeronautical Sciences*, **8**, 303-312.

- Vu-Quoc, L. and Deng, H., 1995, Galerkin projection for geometrically-exact sandwich beams allows for ply drop-off, *ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics*, **62**, 479-488.
- Vu-Quoc, L. and Deng, H., 1997, Dynamics of geometrically-exact sandwich beams: computational aspects, *Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering*, 146, 135-172.
- Vu-Quoc, L. Deng, H. and Ebcioglu, I.K., 1996, Sandwich beams: A geometrically-exact formulation, *Journal of Nonlinear Science*, 6, 239-270.
- Vu-Quoc, L. and Ebcioglu, I.K., 1995, Dynamics formulation for geometrically-exact sandwich beams and 1-D plates, ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics, 62, 756-763.
- Vu-Quoc, L. and Ebcioglu, I.K., 1996, General multilayer geometrically-exact beams/1-D plate with piecewise linear section deformation, *Zeitschrift fur Angewandte Mathematik und Mechanik* (ZAMM), 76, 756-763.
- Waewal A., 1983, A set of strain-displacement relations in nonlinear rods and shells, *Journal of Structural Mechanics*, **10**, 393-401.
- Wang, F.Y., 1990, Two-dimensional theories deduced from three-dimensional theory for a transversely isotropic body-I: plate problems, *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, 26, 455-470.
- Wang, M.-P. and Steigmann, D.J., 1997, Small oscillations of finitely deformed elastic networks, *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 202, 619-631.
- Wang, Y.F. and Luo, A.C.J., 2004, Dynamics of traveling, inextensible cables, *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation*, 9, 531-542.
- Watson, G.N., 1966, *Theory of Bessel Function* (2nd ed.), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Wempner, G., 1973, *Mechanics of Solids with Application to Thin Body*, McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Whitman, A.B. and DeSilva, C.N., 1969, A dynamical theory of elastic directed curves, *Journal* of *Applied Mathematics and Physics* (ZAMP), **20**, 200-212.
- Whitman, A.B. and DeSilva, C.N., 1970, Dynamics and stability of elastic Cosserat curves, *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, **6**, 411-422.
- Whitman, A.B. and DeSilva, C.N., 1972, Stability in a linear theory of elastic rods, *Acta Mechanica*, **15**, 295-308.
- Whitman, A.B. and DeSilva, C.N., 1974, An exact solution in a nonlinear theory of rods, *Journal* of *Elasticity*, **4**, 265-280.
- Whittacker, E.T., 1970, Analytical Dynamics (4th ed.), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Yu, P., Wong, P.S. and Kaempffer, F., 1995, Tension of conductor under concentrated loads, ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics, 62, 802-809.

Chapter 2 Tensor Analysis

This chapter will prepare basic knowledge about the tensor analysis in \mathbb{R}^3 . The base vectors and metric tensors will be introduced, and the local base vectors in curvilinear coordinates and tensor algebra will be presented. The second-order tensors will be discussed in detail. The differentiation and derivatives of tensor fields will be presented, and the gradient, invariant differential operators and integral theorems for tensors will be presented. The Riemann-Christoffel curvature tensor will also be discussed. Finally, two-point tensor fields will be presented. This chapter will provide mathematical tools for nonlinear continuous media. In this chapter, the notations will be adopted from Guo (1980) and Marsden and Hughes (1983).

2.1. Vectors and tensors

In this section, vectors and vector analysis will be introduced first. From vector analysis, the base vectors in curvilinear coordinate systems will be presented, and the metric tensors will be introduced. The transformation between the base vectors of two curvilinear coordinate systems will be presented. The concept of tensors is introduced. The tensor algebra will be discussed through the dyadic expression.

2.1.1. Vector algebra

In a vector space \mathcal{E} , there are three vectors (i.e., **u**, **v** and **w**). These vectors satisfy the following rules:

(i) Vector addition

$$\mathbf{u} + \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v} + \mathbf{u},$$

$$\mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{v} + \mathbf{w}) = (\mathbf{v} + \mathbf{u}) + \mathbf{w},$$
 (2.1)

2 Tensor Analysis

$$u + 0 = u,$$
 (2.2)
 $u + (-u) = 0.$

(ii) Vector scalar multiplication

$$k(\mathbf{u}) = k\mathbf{u},$$

$$a(b\mathbf{u}) = (ab)\mathbf{u},$$

$$(a+b)\mathbf{u} = a\mathbf{u} + b\mathbf{u},$$

$$a(\mathbf{u} + \mathbf{v}) = a\mathbf{u} + a\mathbf{v}.$$

(2.3)

Definition 2.1. A set of *n*-vectors $\mathbf{v}_1, \mathbf{v}_2, \dots, \mathbf{v}_N$ is *linearly dependent* if

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} k_i \mathbf{v}_i = 0 \tag{2.4}$$

with at least one of $k_i \neq 0$ for i = 1, 2, ..., N. Otherwise, such a set of *N*-vectors is *linearly independent*, i.e.,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} k_i \mathbf{v}_i \neq 0.$$
(2.5)

Definition 2.2. A vector space \mathscr{C}_N is *N*-dimensional if a set of *N*-vectors \mathbf{v}_1 , \mathbf{v}_2 , ..., \mathbf{v}_N is *linearly independent*, an $(N+1)^{\text{th}}$ -vector \mathbf{v}_{N+1} with $k_{N+1} \neq 0$ satisfies

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N+1} k_i \mathbf{v}_i = 0.$$
 (2.6)

For Eq.(2.6), consider $k_{N+1} = -1$ and $\mathbf{v}_{N+1} = \mathbf{v}$, one obtains a new vector as

$$\mathbf{v} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} k_i \mathbf{v}_i. \tag{2.7}$$

Therefore, a new vector \mathbf{v} can be expressed by the a set of *N*-linearly independent vectors (i.e., $\mathbf{v}_1, \mathbf{v}_2, \dots, \mathbf{v}_N$). In other words, such a set of *N*-linearly independent vectors is said a basis of the *N*-dimensional vector space.

If the angle between vectors \mathbf{u} and \mathbf{v} is θ , the vector dot product (or vector scalar product) of the vectors \mathbf{u} and \mathbf{v} are computed by

$$\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{v} = |\mathbf{u}| |\mathbf{v}| \cos \theta \tag{2.8}$$

where $|\cdot|$ is the magnitude of the vector. If $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{v}$, $\theta = 0$, then we have $\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v} = |\mathbf{v}|^2$. Therefore, the *magnitude of a vector* \mathbf{v} is computed as

$$|\mathbf{v}| = \sqrt{\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v}}.\tag{2.9}$$

The vector \mathbf{v} is a *unit vector* if

2.1. Vectors and tensors

$$|\mathbf{v}| = 1. \tag{2.10}$$

Definition 2.3. In a Euclidean vector space, the vectors \mathbf{u} and \mathbf{v} are *perpendicular* if

$$\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{0}. \tag{2.11}$$

Definition 2.4. A set of *N*-linearly independent vectors \mathbf{v}_i (i = 1, 2, ..., N) is *orthogonal* if

$$\mathbf{v}_i \cdot \mathbf{v}_j = 0 \quad \text{if } i \neq j,$$

$$\mathbf{v}_i \cdot \mathbf{v}_j \neq 0 \quad \text{if } i = j.$$

$$(2.12)$$

Furthermore, such a set of *N*-linear independent vectors is termed an orthogonal base.

If the angle between vectors \mathbf{u} and \mathbf{v} is θ , the vector cross product (or vector product) of the vectors \mathbf{u} and \mathbf{v} defines a new vector \mathbf{w} , computed by

$$\mathbf{w} = \mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{v}$$
 and $|\mathbf{w}| = |\mathbf{u}| |\mathbf{v}| \sin \theta$. (2.13)

Such a new vector is perpendicular to both vectors \mathbf{u} and \mathbf{v} ; and the corresponding *unit vector* is defined as

$$\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{w}} = \frac{\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{v}}{|\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{v}|}.$$
(2.14)

The direction of the vector \mathbf{w} is based on the right-handed system of \mathbf{u} , \mathbf{v} and \mathbf{w} . In other words,

$$\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{v} = -\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{u}. \tag{2.15}$$

2.1.2. Base vectors and metric tensors

Definition 2.5. Consider three Cartesian coordinates z^i (i = 1, 2, 3) of a point $P(\mathbf{z})$ with $\mathbf{z} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} z^i \mathbf{i}_i$ in \mathbb{R}^3 . Three functions in a neighborhood of \mathbf{z}

$$x^{i} = x^{i}(z^{1}, z^{2}, z^{3}) \quad (i = 1, 2, 3)$$
 (2.16)

are called *curvilinear coordinates* of point $P(\mathbf{z})$ if there is a unique one-to-one inverse

2 Tensor Analysis

$$z^{i} = z^{i}(x^{1}, x^{2}, x^{3}) \quad (i = 1, 2, 3).$$
 (2.17)

From differential geometry, the condition for the unique one-to-one inverse maps of $x^i = x^i(z^1, z^2, z^3)$ (*i* = 1, 2, 3) requires that the first-order derivatives of z^i are continuous and the determinant of the corresponding *Jacobian matrix* is non-zero, i.e.,

$$J = \left| \frac{\partial z^{i}}{\partial x^{j}} \right| = \left| \begin{array}{ccc} \partial z^{1} / \partial x^{1} & \partial z^{1} / \partial x^{2} & \partial z^{1} / \partial x^{3} \\ \partial z^{2} / \partial x^{1} & \partial z^{2} / \partial x^{2} & \partial z^{2} / \partial x^{3} \\ \partial z^{3} / \partial x^{1} & \partial z^{3} / \partial x^{2} & \partial z^{3} / \partial x^{3} \end{array} \right| \neq 0.$$
(2.18)

From the above definition, the curvilinear coordinates are shown in Fig.2.1. The Cartesian coordinate system is defined by $\{z^i\}$ (i = 1, 2, 3) and the corresponding unit vectors are $\{\mathbf{i}_i\}$ (i = 1, 2, 3). The point *P* is described by

$$\mathbf{p} = \sum_{j=1}^{3} z^{j} \mathbf{i}_{j} = \sum_{j=1}^{3} z^{j} (x^{1}, x^{2}, x^{3}) \mathbf{i}_{j}$$

= $z^{j} \mathbf{i}_{j} = z^{j} (x^{1}, x^{2}, x^{3}) \mathbf{i}_{j}.$ (2.19)

The Einstein summation convention is adopted. The summation convention states that summation (i = 1, 2, 3) is only implied by repeated indices when one of the repeated indices appears as a superscript and one as a subscript. Such repeated indices are termed the *blind index*, which can be replaced arbitrarily. For instance, $\mathbf{p} = z^i \mathbf{i}_i = z^j \mathbf{i}_i$.

The base vectors $\mathbf{g}_i(x^1, x^2, x^3)$ tangential to the curves x^i (*i* = 1, 2, 3) are defined as

$$\mathbf{g}_{i} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial x^{i}} = \frac{\partial z^{j}}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{i}_{j}.$$
(2.20)

On the other hand, the point P can be expressed by

$$\mathbf{p} = x^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} = x^{i} (z^{1}, z^{2}, z^{3}) \mathbf{g}_{i}.$$
(2.21)

The corresponding base vector \mathbf{i}_{i} (j = 1, 2, 3) is determined by

$$\mathbf{i}_{j} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial z^{j}} = \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial z^{j}} \mathbf{g}_{i}.$$
(2.22)

From any three linearly independent vectors \mathbf{g}_i (i = 1, 2, 3) in 3-dimensional vector space, any vector can be expressed by a combination of the three vectors

2.1. Vectors and tensors



Fig. 2.1 Curvilinear coordinates.

$$\mathbf{v} = v^i \mathbf{g}_i, \tag{2.23}$$

where v^i is the component of vector **v** in the direction of \mathbf{g}_i .

Definition 2.6. The base vectors \mathbf{g}_i (i = 1, 2, 3) of a vector $\mathbf{v} = v^i \mathbf{g}_i$ are called the *covariant base vectors* of the vector \mathbf{v} ; and the corresponding components v^i (i = 1, 2, 3) are the *contravariant* components of the vector \mathbf{v} .

Since the base vectors \mathbf{g}_i (*i* = 1, 2, 3) are not necessary to be orthogonal and unit vectors, a quantity to measure the dot product of two non-orthogonal \mathbf{g}_i and \mathbf{g}_i is introduced as

$$g_{ij} \equiv \mathbf{g}_i \cdot \mathbf{g}_j, \qquad (2.24)$$

from which one obtains $g_{ij} = g_{ji}$. Once the vector **v** and three base vectors \mathbf{g}_i (i = 1, 2, 3) are given, the component v^i of the vector **v** in the direction of \mathbf{g}_i is determined by

$$g_{ii}v^{j} = \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{i} \quad (i = 1, 2, 3) \tag{2.25}$$

because of $\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{g}_i = v^j \mathbf{g}_j \cdot \mathbf{g}_i = g_{ij}v^j$. The foregoing equation gives a unique solution of v^i (*i* = 1, 2, 3) because the determinant of coefficients of linear algebraic equations is non-zero:

$$g \equiv |g_{ij}| = |\mathbf{g}_i \cdot \mathbf{g}_j| = [\mathbf{g}_1 \cdot (\mathbf{g}_2 \times \mathbf{g}_3)]^2 \equiv [\mathbf{g}_1 \mathbf{g}_2 \mathbf{g}_3]^2 \neq 0,$$
(2.26)

where $|\cdot|$ is matrix determinant. To prove the foregoing equation, three base vec-

-

(a. a. =)

tors \mathbf{g}_i (*i* = 1, 2, 3) expressed by three orthogonal unit vectors (\mathbf{i}_r , *r* = 1, 2, 3) on three axes in \mathbb{R}^3 are considered for an example, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{g}_{i} = g_{i}^{r} \mathbf{i}_{r} \ (i = 1, 2, 3), \tag{2.27}$$

where $g_i^r = \partial z^r / \partial x^i$ and $|g_i^r| = |\partial z^r / \partial x^i|$. The cross product of the two base vectors \mathbf{g}_i and \mathbf{g}_j are

$$\mathbf{g}_{i} \times \mathbf{g}_{j} = \begin{vmatrix} \mathbf{i}_{1} & \mathbf{i}_{2} & \mathbf{i}_{3} \\ g_{i}^{1} & g_{i}^{2} & g_{i}^{3} \\ g_{j}^{1} & g_{j}^{2} & g_{j}^{3} \end{vmatrix}$$
(2.28)

and

$$[\mathbf{g}_{1}\mathbf{g}_{2}\mathbf{g}_{3}] = \mathbf{g}_{1} \cdot (\mathbf{g}_{2} \times \mathbf{g}_{3}) = \begin{vmatrix} g_{1}^{1} & g_{1}^{2} & g_{1}^{3} \\ g_{2}^{1} & g_{2}^{2} & g_{2}^{3} \\ g_{3}^{1} & g_{3}^{2} & g_{3}^{3} \end{vmatrix} = \begin{vmatrix} g_{1}^{1} & g_{2}^{1} & g_{3}^{1} \\ g_{1}^{2} & g_{2}^{2} & g_{3}^{2} \\ g_{1}^{3} & g_{2}^{3} & g_{3}^{3} \end{vmatrix} = |g_{r}^{i}|.$$
(2.28)

On the other hand,

$$g_{ij} = \mathbf{g}_i \cdot \mathbf{g}_j = g_i^r g_j^r, \tag{2.29}$$

$$|g_{ij}| = |g_i^r g_j^r| = |g_i^r| \cdot |g_i^r| = |g_i^r|^2 = [\mathbf{g}_1 \mathbf{g}_2 \mathbf{g}_3]^2.$$
(2.30)

Therefore, equation (2.26) can be obtained.

For simplicity, another set of base vectors is also introduced to measure the vector ${\bf v}\,.$

Definition 2.7. A set of three base vectors \mathbf{g}^i (i = 1, 2, 3) is *contravariant* if the following equation holds for the covariant base vectors of \mathbf{g}_i (j = 1, 2, 3),

$$\mathbf{g}^i \cdot \mathbf{g}_j = \boldsymbol{\delta}^i_j, \tag{2.31}$$

where the *Kronecker delta* δ_i^j is defined as

$$\delta_i^j = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } i = j, \\ 0 & \text{for } i \neq j. \end{cases}$$
(2.32)

From the foregoing definition, the contravariant base vector \mathbf{g}^i is perpendicular to the covariant base vector \mathbf{g}_j ($j \neq i$). The two sets of base vectors \mathbf{g}^i (i = 1, 2, 3) and \mathbf{g}_j (j = 1, 2, 3) are of dual basis (or reciprocal basis) in a Euclidean vector space. As in Eq.(2.24), a new quantity of the base vector \mathbf{g}^i (i = 1, 2, 3) is introduced as

2.1. Vectors and tensors

$$g^{ij} = \mathbf{g}^i \cdot \mathbf{g}^j \text{ and } g^{ij} = g^{ji}.$$
(2.33)

With Eq.(2.31), equation (2.33) gives the base vector \mathbf{g}^{i} as

$$\mathbf{g}^{i} = g^{ij}\mathbf{g}_{j}.\tag{2.34}$$

If the matrix $(g^{ij})_{3\times 3}$ is uniquely given, then the base vector \mathbf{g}^i is determined uniquely. Multiplying \mathbf{g}_k at both sides of Eq.(2.34) and using Eq.(2.31) gives

$$\delta_k^i = g^{ij} \mathbf{g}_j \cdot \mathbf{g}_k = g^{ij} g_{jk} \quad (i, j, k = 1, 2, 3).$$
(2.35)

The determinant of the foregoing equation gives $1 = |g^{ij}g_{jk}|$. With Eq.(2.26), one obtains

$$|g^{ij}| = \frac{1}{g} \neq 0.$$
 (2.36)

Thus the three base vectors \mathbf{g}^{i} (*i* = 1, 2, 3) are not in the same plane. For k = i, (g^{ij}) is the inverse matrix of (g_{ij}) , i.e.,

$$(g^{ij}) = (g_{ji})^{-1} = \frac{1}{g} \operatorname{cofactor}(g_{ji})$$
 (2.37)

due to $g = det(g_{ii}) \neq 0$. Thus, the *contravariant base vector* is given by

$$\mathbf{g}^{i} = (g_{ji})^{-1} \mathbf{g}_{j} = \frac{1}{g} \operatorname{cofactor}(g_{ji}) \mathbf{g}_{j}.$$
 (2.38)

On the other hand, because \mathbf{g}^i is normal to the basic vectors \mathbf{g}_j and \mathbf{g}_k ($i \neq j \neq k$). If $i \rightarrow j \rightarrow k \rightarrow i$ rotates clockwise, then the two vectors \mathbf{g}^i and $\mathbf{g}_j \times \mathbf{g}_k$ are collinear, but their magnitudes are different. So we have

$$\alpha \mathbf{g}^i = \mathbf{g}_i \times \mathbf{g}_k. \tag{2.39}$$

Left multiplication of \mathbf{g}_i in Eq.(2.39) and using Eq.(2.31) gives

$$\alpha \mathbf{g}_i \cdot \mathbf{g}^i = \mathbf{g}_i \cdot (\mathbf{g}_j \times \mathbf{g}_k) \implies \alpha = [\mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}_k].$$
(2.40)

Thus,

$$\mathbf{g}^{i} = \frac{\mathbf{g}_{j} \times \mathbf{g}_{k}}{[\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{g}_{j}\mathbf{g}_{k}]} \quad (i \to j \to k \to i).$$
(2.41)

Similarly, the covariant base vectors \mathbf{g}_i can be determined by the contravariant base vectors, i.e.,

2 Tensor Analysis

$$\mathbf{g}_{i} = \frac{\mathbf{g}^{j} \times \mathbf{g}^{k}}{[\mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{k}]} \quad (i \to j \to k \to i).$$
(2.42)

Once the covariant base vectors are given, the contravariant component of v^i in the vector $\mathbf{v} = v^i \mathbf{g}_i$ in Eq.(2.23) is determined by

$$v^j = \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{g}^j \tag{2.43}$$

because of $\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{j} = v^{j} \mathbf{g}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{j} = v^{i} \delta_{i}^{j} = v^{j}$. In addition, the vector \mathbf{v} can be expressed by the contravariant base vector \mathbf{g}^{j} , i.e.,

$$\mathbf{v} = v_i \mathbf{g}^i$$
 and $v_i = \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{g}_i$. (2.44)

Definition 2.8. The base vector \mathbf{g}^i (*i* = 1, 2, 3) of a vector $\mathbf{v} = v_i \mathbf{g}^i$ is called the *contravariant base vector* of the vector \mathbf{v} ; and the corresponding component $v_i = \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{g}_i$ (*i* = 1, 2, 3) is the *covariant* component of the vector \mathbf{v} .

Definition 2.9. Two quantities $g_{ij} = \mathbf{g}_i \cdot \mathbf{g}_j$ and $g^{ij} = \mathbf{g}^i \cdot \mathbf{g}^j$ are termed the *covariant and contravariant metric tensors*, respectively.

From the previous discussion, once the covariant base vectors \mathbf{g}_i are given, the two metric tensors g_{ij} and g^{ij} , contravariant base vector \mathbf{g}^i and vector \mathbf{v} can be determined. Once the vector can be expressed through two covariant and contravariant base vectors, the dot and cross products of two vectors can be discussed. For instance, from Eq.(2.34), the dot product of the base vectors is

$$\mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{j} = g^{ik} \mathbf{g}_{k} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{j} = g^{ik} \delta_{k}^{j} = g^{ij}, \qquad (2.45)$$

but from Eq.(2.35),

$$g_{ki}\mathbf{g}^{i} = g_{ki}g^{ij}\mathbf{g}_{j} = \delta_{k}^{j}\mathbf{g}_{j} = \mathbf{g}_{k}.$$
(2.46)

From Eqs.(2.43) and (2.44),

$$v_i = \mathbf{g}_i \cdot \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{g}_i \cdot \mathbf{g}_k v^k = g_{ik} v^k,$$

$$v^i = \mathbf{g}^i \cdot \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{g}^i \cdot \mathbf{g}^k v_k = g^{ik} v_k.$$
(2.47)

Consider any two vectors $\mathbf{u} = u^i \mathbf{g}_i = u_i \mathbf{g}^i$ and $\mathbf{v} = v^i \mathbf{g}_i = v_i \mathbf{g}^i$. The corresponding dot product is given by

$$\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{g}_i \cdot \mathbf{g}_j u' v^j = g_{ij} u' v^j$$
$$= \mathbf{g}_i \cdot \mathbf{g}^j u' v_j = \delta_i^j u' v_j = u' v$$

26
2.1. Vectors and tensors

$$\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{j} u_{i} v_{j} = g^{ij} u_{i} v_{j}$$
$$= \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{j} u_{i} v^{j} = \delta^{i}_{j} u_{i} v^{j} = u_{i} v^{i}.$$
(2.48)

If $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{v}$, then

$$|\mathbf{v}|^{2} = \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v} = g_{ij} v^{i} v^{j} = v^{i} v_{i} = g^{ij} v_{i} v_{j} = v_{i} v^{i}.$$
(2.49)

In conclusion, g_{ij} and g^{ij} are key quantities to determine the magnitude of the vector **v**, which are often called *the metric tensors*.

Definition 2.10. Eddington tensor is defined as

$$\varepsilon_{ijk} = [\mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}_k] \text{ and } \varepsilon^{ijk} = [\mathbf{g}^i \mathbf{g}^j \mathbf{g}^k].$$
 (2.50)

The covariant and contravariant components of the cross product of two vectors ($\mathbf{w} = \mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{v}$) are computed by

$$w_{i} = \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{i} = (\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{v}) \cdot \mathbf{g}_{i} = (u^{j} \mathbf{g}_{j} \times v^{k} \mathbf{g}_{k}) \cdot \mathbf{g}_{i}$$

$$= u^{j} v^{k} (\mathbf{g}_{j} \times \mathbf{g}_{k}) \cdot \mathbf{g}_{i} = u^{j} v^{k} [\mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}_{k}] = \varepsilon_{ijk} u^{j} v^{k}, \qquad (2.51)$$

$$w^{i} = \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{i} = (\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{v}) \cdot \mathbf{g}^{i} = (u_{j} \mathbf{g}^{j} \times v_{k} \mathbf{g}^{k}) \cdot \mathbf{g}^{i}$$

$$= u_{i} v_{k} (\mathbf{g}^{j} \times \mathbf{g}^{k}) \cdot \mathbf{g}^{i} = u_{i} v_{k} [\mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{k}] = \varepsilon^{ijk} u_{i} v_{k}. \qquad (2.52)$$

From the foregoing equations, the *Eddington tensor* is a kind of the metric tensor as the metric tensors
$$g^{ij}$$
 and g_{ij} in the dot product of vectors.

The cosine of the angle between two vectors \mathbf{u} and \mathbf{v} is computed by

$$\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v})} = \frac{\mathbf{u}\cdot\mathbf{v}}{|\mathbf{u}|\cdot|\mathbf{v}|} = \frac{u^{i}v_{i}}{\sqrt{u^{j}u_{j}}\sqrt{v^{k}v_{k}}}$$
(2.53)

and the volume of three vectors \mathbf{u} , \mathbf{v} and \mathbf{w} is determined by

$$[\mathbf{uvw}] = [\mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}_k] u^i v^j w^k = \varepsilon_{ijk} u^i v^j w^k$$
$$= [\mathbf{g}^i \mathbf{g}^j \mathbf{g}^k] u_i v_j w_k = \varepsilon^{ijk} u_i v_j w_k.$$
(2.54)

2.1.3. Local base vector transformation

As in the previous section, in a coordinate system of $\{x^i\}$ (i = 1, 2, 3), any vector to a point p can be expressed by $\mathbf{p} = x^i \mathbf{g}_i$. However, in practical computation, a convenient coordinate system is needed. For example, there is a coordinate system of $x^{i'}$ (i = 1, 2, 3) with the corresponding base vector $\mathbf{g}_{i'} = (\partial z^{i'} / \partial x^{i'})\mathbf{i}_{j}$. Such a system is sketched through the dashed curves in Fig.2.2. Under a certain condition, the two coordinate systems can be transformed.

If the three functions $\{x^{i'}\}$ (i = 1, 2, 3) in $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$,

$$x^{i'} = x^{i'}(x^1, x^2, x^3)$$
(2.55)

are unique, continuous and differentiable with respect to $\{x^i\}$ (i = 1, 2, 3), then, in the domain Ω of $\{x^{i'}\}$, there are three corresponding unique, continuous and differentiable, inverse functions, i.e.,

$$x^{i} = x^{i} (x^{1'}, x^{2'}, x^{3'}).$$
(2.56)

Therefore, the two coordinate systems $\{x^{i'}\}$ and $\{x^i\}$ can be transformed each other.

From the aforementioned conditions, the Jacobian matrices of the two transformations are non-zero, and the continuity requires that the determinants of the two Jacobian matrices do not change sign. Because

$$1 = \left| \delta_{i'}^{i'} \right| = \left| \frac{\partial x^{i'}}{\partial x^r} \cdot \frac{\partial x^r}{\partial x^{i'}} \right| = \left| \frac{\partial x^{i'}}{\partial x^r} \right| \cdot \left| \frac{\partial x^r}{\partial x^{i'}} \right|, \qquad (2.57)$$

and if

$$\left|\frac{\partial x^{i'}}{\partial x^{i}}\right| > 0 \text{ (or } \left|\frac{\partial x^{i'}}{\partial x^{i}}\right| < 0 \text{)}, \tag{2.58}$$

equation (2.57) gives

$$\left|\frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial x^{i'}}\right| > 0 \text{ (or } \left|\frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial x^{i'}}\right| < 0 \text{)}$$
(2.59)

and vice versa. Therefore, the vector **p** for a point *P* in Fig. 2.2 can be expressed through two coordinate systems $\{x^{i'}\}$ and $\{x^{i'}\}$. The corresponding geometry properties can be discussed as follows.

To determine the tangential vector of $\{x^{i'}\}$ (*i* = 1, 2, 3), consider the vector $\mathbf{p} = x^i (x^1, x^2, x^3) \mathbf{g}_i$. The definition of the base vector gives

$$\mathbf{g}_{i'} \equiv \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial x^{i'}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i'}} (x^i \mathbf{g}_i) = \frac{\partial x^i}{\partial x^{i'}} \mathbf{g}_i.$$
(2.60)

The base vectors for $\{x^{i'}\}$ are local, and at the different point, they are different. From the properties of $\{x^i\}$, the base vector $\mathbf{g}_{i'}$ is continuous and differentiable. Due to the linear independence of \mathbf{g}_i {*i* = 1, 2, 3}, $[\mathbf{g}_1\mathbf{g}_2\mathbf{g}_3] > 0$ for the right-handed coordinate system. So

2.1. Vectors and tensors



Fig. 2.2 Curvilinear coordinates.

$$[\mathbf{g}_{1'}\mathbf{g}_{2'}\mathbf{g}_{3'}] = \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial x^{1'}} \frac{\partial x^{j}}{\partial x^{2'}} \frac{\partial x^{k}}{\partial x^{3'}} [\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{g}_{j}\mathbf{g}_{k}] = \left|\frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial x^{i'}}\right| [\mathbf{g}_{1}\mathbf{g}_{2}\mathbf{g}_{3}] > 0, \qquad (2.61)$$

which implies that three base vectors of $\mathbf{g}_{i'}$ (i = 1, 2, 3) are linearly independent. Similarly, if there is another curvilinear coordinate system of $\{x^{i'}\}$ (i = 1, 2, 3) which is transformed from the curvilinear coordinate system of $\{x^{i'}\}$ (i = 1, 2, 3), the corresponding local base vector is defined by

$$\mathbf{g}_{i'} \equiv \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial x^{i'}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i'}} (x^{i'} \mathbf{g}_{i'}) = \frac{\partial x^{i'}}{\partial x^{i'}} \mathbf{g}_{i'}.$$
 (2.62)

At any point in \mathbb{R}^3 , the matrices $(\partial x^i / \partial x^{i'})$ is the inverse of $(\partial x^{i'} / \partial x^i)$, vice versa. The elements of the two transformation matrices are defined as

$$A_{i'}^{i} = \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial x^{i'}} \text{ and } A_{i}^{i'} = \frac{\partial x^{i'}}{\partial x^{i}}.$$
 (2.63)

For any vector \mathbf{v} , one can use different points to describe the vector. For a point p, suppose the vector \mathbf{v} is expressed by

$$\mathbf{v} = v^i(p)\mathbf{g}_i(p). \tag{2.64}$$

Similarly, at another point q, the vector v is expressed as

$$\mathbf{v} = v^i(q)\mathbf{g}_i(q). \tag{2.65}$$

If two points *p* and *q* are different, then $v^i(p) \neq v^i(q)$ and $\mathbf{g}_i(p) \neq \mathbf{g}_i(q)$. But both of them describe the same vector. Similarly, such a concept will be used in tensor analysis. Consider the two vectors to describe by the local base vectors of different

points. The two vector addition is

$$\mathbf{u} + \mathbf{v} = u^{i}(p)\mathbf{g}_{i}(p) + v^{i}(q)\mathbf{g}_{i}(q).$$
(2.66)

From Eqs.(2.60) and (2.63), a new set of covariant base vectors $\mathbf{g}_{i'}$ is expressed by

$$\mathbf{g}_{i'} = A^i_{i'} \mathbf{g}_i. \tag{2.67}$$

The new contravariant base vector is defined by

$$\mathbf{g}^{i'} = g^{ij'} \mathbf{g}_{j'}.$$
 (2.68)

Similarly,

$$\mathbf{g}^{j'} = A_j^{j'} \mathbf{g}^j. \tag{2.69}$$

From Eqs.(2.67) and (2.69),

$$\boldsymbol{\delta}_{j'}^{i'} = \mathbf{g}^{i'} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{j'} = A_i^{i'} \mathbf{g}^i \cdot A_{j'}^{j} \mathbf{g}_j = A_i^{i'} A_{j'}^{j} \boldsymbol{\delta}_j^{i} = A_k^{i'} A_{j'}^{k}.$$
(2.70)

Thus the matrix $(A_i^{i'})_{3\times 3}$ is full, which is an inverse of the matrix $(A_{i'}^{i})_{3\times 3}$.

$$g_{ij'} = \mathbf{g}_{i'} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{j'} = A_{i'}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \cdot A_{j'}^{j} \mathbf{g}_{j} = A_{i'}^{i} A_{j'}^{j} g_{ij},$$

$$g^{ij'} = \mathbf{g}^{i'} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{j'} = A_{i}^{i'} \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot A_{j}^{j'} \mathbf{g}^{j} = A_{i}^{i'} A_{j'}^{j'} g^{ij};$$

$$\varepsilon_{ij'k'} = [\mathbf{g}_{i'} \mathbf{g}_{j'} \mathbf{g}_{k'}] = A_{i'}^{i} A_{j'}^{j} A_{k'}^{k} [\mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}_{k}] = A_{i'}^{i} A_{j'}^{j} A_{k'}^{k} \varepsilon_{ijk},$$

$$\varepsilon^{i'j'k'} = [\mathbf{g}^{i'} \mathbf{g}^{j'} \mathbf{g}^{k'}] = A_{i}^{i'} A_{j'}^{j'} A_{k'}^{k'} [\mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{k'}] = A_{i}^{i'} A_{j'}^{j'} A_{k'}^{k} \varepsilon_{ijk},$$

$$\sqrt{g'} = |A_{i'}^{i'}| \sqrt{g}.$$

$$(2.71)$$

Although the components of a vector \mathbf{v} vary with different coordinates, the vector \mathbf{v} is independent of such coordinates. For different coordinate systems, the vector \mathbf{v} is expressed by

$$\mathbf{v} = v^{i'} \mathbf{g}_{i'} = v^{i'} A^{i'}_{i'} \mathbf{g}_{i} = v^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} = v^{i} A^{i'}_{i'} \mathbf{g}_{i'}$$

= $v_{i'} \mathbf{g}^{i'} = v_{i'} A^{i'}_{i'} \mathbf{g}^{i} = v_{i} \mathbf{g}^{i} = v_{i} A^{i'}_{i'} \mathbf{g}^{i'}.$ (2.72)

The foregoing equation yields

$$v^{i'} = v^{i} A^{i'}_{i}, v^{i} = v^{i'} A^{i}_{i'},$$

$$v_{i'} = v_{i} A^{i'}_{i'}, v_{i} = v_{i'} A^{i'}_{i'}.$$
(2.73)

For a given coordinate system $\{x^i\}$, the corresponding covariant vector bases can be determined (i.e., $\mathbf{g}_i = \partial \mathbf{p} / \partial x^i$). Such a coordinate system is called a complete coordinate frame. Consider any three linearly-independent base vectors $\mathbf{g}_{(i)} = A^i_{(i)}\mathbf{g}_i (A^i_{(i)})$ is differentiable). If one can find a coordinate system $\{x^{(i)}\}$ to make $\mathbf{g}_{(i)} = \partial \mathbf{p} / \partial x^{(i)}$ exist, then this coordinate system is complete. Otherwise, this coordinate system is incomplete. From $\mathbf{g}_{(i)} = A^i_{(i)}\mathbf{g}_i$, tensor components in a complete coordinate system can be converted in the incomplete coordinate system.

2.1.4. Tensor algebra

As in vectors, any mixed tensor can be expressed in a dyadic form of

$$\boldsymbol{\psi} = \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_1 \cdots i_m} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_m} \mathbf{g}^{j_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_n}, \qquad (2.74)$$

where $\psi^{i_1 \cdots i_m}_{j_1 \cdots j_n}$ is the component of the tensor. The number of total indices is *the order of tensor. W* is the weight of the tensor. If W = 0, the tensor ψ is called *the absolute tensor*. Otherwise, the tensor ψ is called the relative tensor or the tensor density. If W = 1, the tensor possesses *the zero-order density*. If $\psi^{i_1 \cdots i_m}_{j_1 \cdots j_n} = 0$, the tensor is called the *zero tensor*. If two tensors have the same weight and the same order, the two tensors are of the same type. Any vector is a tensor of the first-order. Any scalar is a tensor of the zero-order. Because a tensor is the same as a vector in different coordinate systems, any tensor is independent of coordinate systems. Any tensor can be expressed through the base vectors of different coordinate systems. Thus, the tensor in Eq.(2.74) is expressed as

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{\psi} &= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}^{i}\cdots i_{m}^{i}} \sqrt{g'}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}^{i}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}^{i}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}^{i}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}^{i}} \\ &= (|A_{p}^{p'}|^{-W} A_{i_{1}^{i}}^{i_{1}}\cdots A_{i_{m}^{i_{m}}}^{i_{m}} A_{j_{1}}^{j_{1}^{i}}\cdots A_{j_{n}^{j_{n}}}^{j_{n}^{i}} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{j_{1}^{i}\cdots j_{m}^{i}}) \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} \\ &= (|A_{p'}^{p}|^{W} A_{i_{1}^{i}}^{i_{1}}\cdots A_{i_{m}^{i_{m}}}^{i_{m}} A_{j_{1}}^{j_{1}}\cdots A_{j_{n}^{j_{n}}} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}^{i}\cdots i_{m}^{i}})\sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} \\ &= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} = \cdots \\ &= \boldsymbol{\psi}_{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}^{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}_{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{j_{n}} . \end{split}$$
(2.75)

The dyadic expressions of the metric tensors and Eddington tensors are given as

$$\mathbf{I} = g_{ij}g^{i}g^{j} = \mathbf{g}_{i}g^{j} = \delta^{j}_{j}\mathbf{g}_{i}g^{j} = g^{ij}g_{i}g_{j},$$

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon_{ijk}\mathbf{g}^{i}\mathbf{g}^{j}\mathbf{g}^{k} = \varepsilon^{i}_{,jk}\mathbf{g}_{i}g^{j}\mathbf{g}^{k} = \dots = \varepsilon^{ijk}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{g}_{j}g_{k}.$$
(2.76)

From the foregoing equation, the metric tensor and Kronecker-delta are the same geometric characteristic quantities.

Definition 2.11. For a transformation of two coordinates $x^i = x^i(x^{i'}, x^{2'}, ..., x^{N'})$ (*i* = 1, 2, ..., *N*), (i) a function \$\phi(x^1, x^2, \ldots, x^N\$)\$ is termed an absolute scalar if it does not change its original values, i.e.,

$$\phi(x^1, x^2, \dots, x^N) = \phi'(x^{1'}, x^{2'}, \dots, x^{N'}).$$
(2.77)

(ii) quantities v^i and v_i (i = 1, 2, ..., N) are called the *absolute contravariant, and covariant components* of a vector (or simply called, *contravariant and covariant vectors*), respectively if

$$v^{i'} = A^{j}_{j} v^{j}$$
 (contravariant vector),
 $v_{i'} = A^{j}_{i'} v_{j}$ (covariant vector). (2.78)

(iii) quantities $v^{i_1 \cdots i_m j_1 \cdots j_n}$, $v_{i_1 \cdots i_m j_1 \cdots j_n}$ and $v^{i_1 \cdots i_m}_{j_1 \cdots j_n}$ ($i_1, \dots, i_m, j_1, \dots, j_n = 1, 2, \dots, N$) are respectively called the *absolute* contravariant, covariant and mixed components of a tensor (or simply called, *contravariant, covariant, and mixed*

$$v^{i_{1}^{i}\cdots i_{m}^{i}j_{1}^{i}\cdots j_{n}^{i}} = A^{i_{1}^{i}}_{i_{1}^{i}}\cdots A^{i_{m}^{i}}_{i_{m}}A^{j_{1}}_{j_{1}^{i}}\cdots A^{j_{n}^{i}}_{j_{n}^{i}}v^{i_{1}^{i}\cdots i_{m}j_{1}^{i}\cdots j_{n}^{i}} \text{ (contravariant tensor),}$$

$$v^{i_{1}^{i}\cdots i_{m}^{i}j_{1}^{i}\cdots j_{n}^{i}} = A^{i_{1}^{i}}_{i_{1}^{i}}\cdots A^{i_{m}}_{i_{m}}A^{j_{1}}_{j_{1}^{i}}\cdots A^{j_{n}^{i}}_{j_{n}^{i}}v_{i_{1}^{i}\cdots i_{m}j_{1}^{i}\cdots j_{n}^{i}} \text{ (covariant tensor),}$$

$$v^{i_{1}^{i}\cdots j_{m}^{i}}_{i_{1}^{i}\cdots j_{m}^{i}} = A^{i_{1}^{i}}_{i_{1}^{i}}\cdots A^{i_{m}^{i}}_{i_{m}^{j}}A^{j_{1}^{i}}_{j_{1}^{i}}\cdots A^{j_{n}^{i}}v^{i_{1}^{i}\cdots i_{m}^{i}}_{i_{m}^{i}\cdots i_{m}^{i}} \text{ (mixed tensor).}$$
(2.79)

Definition 2.12. For a transformation of two coordinates $x^i = x^i (x^{i'}, x^{2'}, ..., x^{N'})$ (*i* = 1, 2, ..., *N*),

(i) a function $\phi(x^1, x^2, ..., x^N)$ is termed *a relative scalar of weight W* if it does not change its original values, i.e.,

$$\phi(x^{1}, x^{2}, ..., x^{N}) = |A_{p'}^{p}|^{W} \phi'(x^{1'}, x^{2'}, ..., x^{N'}), \qquad (2.80)$$

(ii) quantities v^i and v_i (i = 1, 2, ..., N) are called the relative *contravariant and covariant components of a vector of weight W* (or simply called, *relative contravariant* and *covariant vectors of weight W*), respectively if

$$v^{i'} = |A_p^{p'}|^W A_j^{i'} v^j \quad (\text{ relative contravariant vector}),$$

$$v_{i'} = |A_{p'}^{p}|^W A_j^{i'} v_j \quad (\text{relative covariant vector}).$$
(2.81)

(iii) quantities $v^{i_1 \cdots i_m j_1 \cdots j_n}$, $v_{i_1 \cdots i_m j_1 \cdots j_n}$ and $v^{i_1 \cdots i_m}_{j_1 \cdots j_n}$ $(i_1, \dots, i_m, j_1, \dots, j_n = 1, 2, \dots, N)$

are respectively called the *relative contravariant, covariant and mixed components* of a tensor of weight W (or simply called, *contravariant, covariant* and *mixed tensors of weight W*), respectively if

tensors), respectively if

2.1. Vectors and tensors

$$v_{i_{1}^{i}\cdots i_{m}^{i}j_{1}^{i}\cdots j_{n}^{i}}^{i_{n}^{i}\cdots j_{n}^{i}} = |A_{p'}^{p}|^{W} A_{i_{1}}^{i_{1}^{i}}\cdots A_{i_{m}}^{i_{m}^{i}} A_{j_{1}}^{j_{1}^{i}}\cdots A_{j_{n}}^{j_{n}^{i}} v_{i_{1}^{i}\cdots i_{m}^{i_{1}^{i}\cdots j_{n}^{i_{n}^{i}}} (\text{contravariant tensor}),$$

$$v_{i_{1}^{i}\cdots i_{m}^{i}j_{1}^{i}\cdots j_{n}^{i_{n}^{i}}} = |A_{p'}^{p}|^{W} A_{i_{1}^{i}}^{i_{1}}\cdots A_{i_{m}^{i_{m}^{i}}} A_{j_{1}^{i_{1}}}^{j_{1}}\cdots A_{j_{n}^{i_{n}^{i}}} v_{i_{1}^{i}\cdots i_{m}^{i_{1}^{i}\cdots j_{n}^{i_{n}^{i}}} (\text{covariant tensor}),$$

$$v_{i_{1}^{i}\cdots i_{m}^{i_{1}^{i}\cdots j_{n}^{i_{n}^{i}}} = |A_{p'}^{p}|^{W} A_{i_{1}}^{i_{1}^{i}}\cdots A_{i_{m}^{i_{m}^{i}}} A_{j_{1}}^{j_{1}^{i_{1}}}\cdots A_{j_{n}^{i_{n}^{i_{n}^{i_{1}^{i_{1}}\cdots i_{m}^{i_{n}^{i_{n}^{i_{1}^$$

In a tensor space \mathscr{E} , there are three tensors of the same type (i.e., φ , ψ and η). These tensors satisfy the following rules. (i) *Tensor addition*

$$\varphi + \psi = \psi + \varphi,$$

$$\varphi + (\psi + \eta) = (\psi + \varphi) + \eta,$$

$$\varphi + 0 = \varphi,$$

$$\varphi + (-\varphi) = 0.$$

(2.83)

(ii) Tensor scalar multiplication

$$k(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = k\boldsymbol{\varphi},$$

$$a(b\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = (ab)\boldsymbol{\varphi},$$

$$(a+b)\boldsymbol{\varphi} = a\boldsymbol{\varphi} + b\boldsymbol{\varphi},$$

$$a(\boldsymbol{\varphi} + \boldsymbol{\psi}) = a\boldsymbol{\varphi} + a\boldsymbol{\psi}.$$

(2.84)

(A) *Tensor addition* Two tensors of the *same* order and type can be added to form a new tensor.

$$\boldsymbol{\psi} + \boldsymbol{\varphi} = \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}$$

$$+ \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}$$

$$= (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} + \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}$$

$$\equiv \boldsymbol{\eta}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\eta}, \qquad (2.85)$$

$$\eta^{i_1\cdots i_m}_{j_1\cdots j_n} = \psi^{i_1\cdots i_m}_{j_1\cdots j_n} + \varphi^{i_1\cdots i_m}_{j_1\cdots j_n}.$$
(2.86)

When the components of two tensors of the same type are different expressions, before addition, the component expressions should be changed to be same via the coordinate transformation tensor and the metric tensor. For a tensor, a new tensor obtained by lowering and/or raising indices is called the *associated tensor* of the given tensor.

(B) *Tensor multiplication* The *outer product* of *two tensors* is carried out by simply multiplying their components. This operation gives a new tensor and the tensor order is the sum of those of multipliers. The base vectors will follow the dyadic rules to express a new tensor.

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}\boldsymbol{\varphi} = (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{l_{1}\cdots l_{m}} \int_{l_{1}\cdots l_{n}} \sqrt{\boldsymbol{g}}^{-W_{1}} \mathbf{g}_{l_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{l_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{l_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{l_{n}})$$

$$\cdot (\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{k_{1}\cdots k_{r}} \int_{l_{1}\cdots l_{s}} \sqrt{\boldsymbol{g}}^{-W_{2}} \mathbf{g}_{k_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{k_{r}} \mathbf{g}^{l_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{l_{s}})$$

$$= (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{l_{1}\cdots l_{m}} \int_{l_{1}\cdots l_{n}} \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{k_{1}\cdots k_{r}} \int_{l_{1}\cdots l_{s}})\sqrt{\boldsymbol{g}}^{-(W_{1}+W_{2})}$$

$$\cdot \mathbf{g}_{l_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{l_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{l_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{l_{n}} \mathbf{g}_{k_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{k_{r}} \mathbf{g}^{l_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{l_{s}}$$

$$\equiv \boldsymbol{\eta}^{l_{1}\cdots l_{m}} \int_{l_{1}\cdots l_{n}} \int_{l_{1}\cdots l_{s}} \sqrt{\boldsymbol{g}}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{l_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{l_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{l_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{l_{n}} \mathbf{g}_{k_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{l_{s}}$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\eta}, \qquad (2.87)$$

$$\eta^{i_1\cdots i_n}{}^{k_1\cdots k_r}{}_{l_1\cdots l_n} = \psi^{i_1\cdots i_n}{}_{j_1\cdots j_n} \varphi^{k_1\cdots k_r}{}_{l_1\cdots l_n}.$$
(2.88)

(C) *Tensor contraction* Contraction is the dot product of any two base vectors in the tensor. In a mixed tensor the operation of equating a superscript index to a subscript index. *A contraction operation decreases the order a tensor by two*.

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{\psi}^{\bullet} &= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{k}\cdots i_{l}} \int_{j_{1}\cdots j_{m}\cdots j_{n}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{k}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{l}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{m}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} \\ &= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{k}\cdots i_{l}} \int_{j_{1}\cdots j_{m}} \int_{n} \delta_{i_{k}}^{j_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{k-1}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{k+1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{l}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{m+1}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{m+1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} \\ &= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{k-1}i_{k}i_{k+1}\cdots i_{l}} \int_{j_{1}\cdots j_{m-1}i_{k}j_{m+1}\cdots j_{n}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{k-1}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{k+1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{l}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{m-1}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{m+1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} \\ &\equiv \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{k-1}i_{k+1}\cdots i_{l}} \int_{j_{1}\cdots j_{m-1}j_{m+1}\cdots j_{n}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{k-1}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{k+1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{l}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{m-1}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{m+1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} \\ &= \boldsymbol{\varphi}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.89)$$

After contraction, a new quantity still is a tensor, and the tensor character can be verified by the *quotient rule*. That is,

$$\boldsymbol{\varphi} = \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{i_{1}^{\prime}\cdots i_{k-1}^{\prime}i_{k+1}^{\prime}\cdots i_{l}^{\prime}}_{j_{1}^{\prime}\cdots j_{m-1}^{\prime}j_{m+1}^{\prime}\cdots j_{n}^{\prime}} \sqrt{\boldsymbol{g}'}^{-W}$$

$$\cdot \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}^{\prime}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{k-1}^{\prime}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{k+1}^{\prime}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{l}^{\prime}}^{\prime} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}^{\prime}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{m+1}^{\prime}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{m+1}^{\prime}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}^{\prime}}_{n}$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{i_{1}^{\prime}\cdots i_{k-1}^{\prime}i_{k+1}^{\prime}\cdots i_{l}^{\prime}}_{j_{1}^{\prime}\cdots j_{m-1}^{\prime}j_{m}^{\prime}j_{m+1}^{\prime}\cdots j_{n}^{\prime}} \delta_{j_{m}^{\prime}}^{i_{k}^{\prime}} \sqrt{\boldsymbol{g}'}^{-W}$$

$$\cdot \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}^{\prime}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{k-1}^{\prime}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{k}^{\prime}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{k+1}^{\prime}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{l}^{\prime}}^{\prime} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}^{\prime}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{m-1}^{\prime}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{m+1}^{\prime}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{m}}^{\prime},$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{i_{1}^{\prime}\cdots i_{k-1}^{\prime}i_{k}^{\prime}i_{k+1}^{\prime}\cdots i_{l}^{\prime}}_{j_{1}^{\prime}\cdots j_{m-1}^{\prime}j_{m+1}^{\prime}\cdots j_{n}^{\prime}} \delta_{j_{m}^{\prime}}^{\prime k} \sqrt{\boldsymbol{g}'}^{-W} A_{i_{1}^{\prime}}^{i_{1}^{\prime}}\cdots A_{i_{k}^{\prime}}^{i_{1}^{\prime}} A_{j_{1}^{\prime}}^{j_{1}^{\prime}}\cdots A_{j_{m}^{\prime}}^{j_{m}^{\prime}}\cdots A_{j_{n}^{\prime}}^{j_{n}^{\prime}}$$

$$\cdot \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{k-1}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{k}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{k+1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{l}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{1}^{\prime}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{m-1}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{m}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{m+1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}^{\prime}\cdots i_{k-1}^{\prime}i_{k+1}\cdots i_{l}}_{j_{1}^{\prime}\cdots j_{m-1}^{\prime}j_{m+1}^{\prime}\cdots j_{n}^{\prime}} \sqrt{\boldsymbol{g}}^{-W}$$

$$\cdot \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{k-1}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{k+1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{l}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{m-1}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{m+1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} .$$

$$(2.90)$$

The contraction can be operated continuously. For instance, two continuous contractions are given as follows.

2.1. Vectors and tensors

$$\psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{k-1}i_{k}i_{k+1}\cdots i_{l}} \int_{j_{1}\cdots j_{m-1}j_{m}j_{m+1}\cdots j_{n}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{k-1}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{k}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{k+1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{l}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{m-1}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{m+1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}$$

$$= \psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{k-1}i_{k}i_{k+1}\cdots i_{l}} \int_{j_{1}\cdots j_{m-1}j_{m}j_{m+1}\cdots j_{n}} \delta^{j_{m}}_{i_{k-1}} \delta^{j_{m+1}}_{i_{k+1}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{k-2}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{k}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{k+2}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{l}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{m-1}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{m+2}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{m+2}}$$

$$= \varphi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{k-2}i_{k}i_{k+2}\cdots i_{l}} \int_{j_{1}\cdots j_{m-1}j_{m+2}\cdots j_{n}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{k-2}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{k}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{k+2}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{l}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{m-1}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{m+2}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}. \quad (2.91)$$

$$\begin{split} \psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{k-1}i_{k}i_{k+1}\cdots i_{l}} & \int g^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{k-1}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{k}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{k+1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{l}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{m-1}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{m}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{m+1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} \\ &= \psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{k-1}i_{k}i_{k+1}\cdots i_{l}} & \int g^{j_{m-1}j_{m+1}j_{m+1}\cdots j_{n}} \delta^{j_{m+1}}_{i_{k+1}} \delta^{j_{m}}_{i_{k+1}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \\ &\cdot \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{k-2}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{k}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{k+2}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{l}} \quad \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{m-1}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{m+2}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} \\ &\equiv \eta^{i_{1}\cdots i_{k-2}i_{k}i_{k+2}\cdots i_{l}} & \int g^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{k-2}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{k}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{k+2}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{l}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{m-1}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{m+2}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} \\ \end{split}$$
(2.92)

Note that the contraction symbols represent the following meaning.



(D) *Tensor dot product* The tensor dot product is a simple multiplication of tensors with the prescribed base vector contraction.

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}^{\bullet} \boldsymbol{\phi} = (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}{}_{kl} \sqrt{g}^{-W_1} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}^k \mathbf{g}^l) (\boldsymbol{\phi}^{pq}{}_{sl} \sqrt{g}^{-W_2} \mathbf{g}_p \mathbf{g}_q \mathbf{g}^s \mathbf{g}^l)$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}{}_{kl} \boldsymbol{\phi}^{pk}{}_{sl} \sqrt{g}^{-(W_1+W_2)} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}^l \mathbf{g}_p \mathbf{g}^s \mathbf{g}^l$$

$$\equiv \boldsymbol{\eta}^{ij \cdot p}{}_{l \cdot sl} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}^l \mathbf{g}_p \mathbf{g}^s \mathbf{g}^l. \qquad (2.93)$$

If the tensor dot product is based on the two adjacent base vector contraction, then the above expression becomes

$$\boldsymbol{\psi} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi} = (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}{}_{kl} \sqrt{g}^{-W_1} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}^k \mathbf{g}^l) \cdot (\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{pq}{}_{sl} \sqrt{g}^{-W_2} \mathbf{g}_p \mathbf{g}_q \mathbf{g}^s \mathbf{g}^l)$$

$$= (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}{}_{kl} \sqrt{g}^{-W_1} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}^k \mathbf{g}^l) (\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{pq}{}_{sl} \sqrt{g}^{-W_2} \mathbf{g}_p \mathbf{g}_q \mathbf{g}^s \mathbf{g}^l)$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}{}_{kl} \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{lq}{}_{sl} \sqrt{g}^{-(W_1+W_2)} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}^k \mathbf{g}_q \mathbf{g}^s \mathbf{g}^l$$

$$\equiv \eta^{ij_{rq}}_{k,sl} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}^l \mathbf{g}_p \mathbf{g}^s \mathbf{g}^l. \qquad (2.94)$$

If the tensor dot product is based on the contraction of two pairs of the adjacent base vectors, then

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}: \boldsymbol{\varphi} = (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}{}_{kl}\sqrt{g}^{-W_{1}}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{g}_{j}\mathbf{g}^{k}\mathbf{g}^{l}): (\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{pq}{}_{st}\sqrt{g}^{-W_{2}}\mathbf{g}_{p}\mathbf{g}_{q}\mathbf{g}^{s}\mathbf{g}^{t})$$

$$= (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}{}_{kl}\sqrt{g}^{-W_{1}}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{g}_{j}\mathbf{g}^{k}\mathbf{g}^{l})(\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{pq}{}_{st}\sqrt{g}^{-W_{2}}\mathbf{g}_{p}\mathbf{g}_{q}\mathbf{g}^{s}\mathbf{g}^{t})$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}{}_{kl}\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{pq}{}_{st}\delta^{k}_{p}\delta^{l}_{q}\sqrt{g}^{-(W_{1}+W_{2})}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{g}_{j}\mathbf{g}^{s}\mathbf{g}^{s}\mathbf{g}^{t}$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}{}_{kl}\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{kl}{}_{st}\sqrt{g}^{-(W_{1}+W_{2})}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{g}_{j}\mathbf{g}^{s}\mathbf{g}^{t}$$

$$\equiv \eta^{ij}{}_{st}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{g}_{j}\mathbf{g}^{s}\mathbf{g}^{t}.$$
(2.95)

$$\boldsymbol{\psi} \bullet \boldsymbol{\varphi} = (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}{}_{kl} \sqrt{g}^{-W_{l}} \mathbf{g}_{l} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}^{k} \mathbf{g}^{l}) \bullet (\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{pq}{}_{st} \sqrt{g}^{-W_{2}} \mathbf{g}_{p} \mathbf{g}_{q} \mathbf{g}^{s} \mathbf{g}^{t})$$

$$= (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}{}_{kl} \sqrt{g}^{-W_{l}} \mathbf{g}_{l} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}^{k} \mathbf{g}^{l}) (\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{pq}{}_{st} \sqrt{g}^{-W_{2}} \mathbf{g}_{p} \mathbf{g}_{q} \mathbf{g}^{s} \mathbf{g}^{t})$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}{}_{kl} \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{pq}{}_{st} \delta^{k}_{q} \delta^{l}_{p} \sqrt{g}^{-(W_{1}+W_{2})} \mathbf{g}_{l} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}^{s} \mathbf{g}^{t}$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}{}_{kl} \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{lk}{}_{st} \sqrt{g}^{-(W_{1}+W_{2})} \mathbf{g}_{l} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}^{s} \mathbf{g}^{t} \equiv \boldsymbol{\xi}^{ij}{}_{st} \mathbf{g}_{l} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}^{s} \mathbf{g}^{t}. \qquad (2.96)$$

(E) *Tensor cross product* The cross product is based on the cross product of the adjacent base vectors of the same type.

$$\boldsymbol{\psi} \times \boldsymbol{\varphi} = (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}_{kl} \sqrt{g}^{-W_1} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}^k \mathbf{g}^l) \times (\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{st}_{pq} \sqrt{g}^{-W_2} \mathbf{g}^p \mathbf{g}^q \mathbf{g}_s \mathbf{g}_t)$$

$$= (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}_{kl} \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{st}_{pq} \sqrt{g}^{-(W_1+W_2)} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}^k (\mathbf{g}^l \times \mathbf{g}^p) \mathbf{g}^q \mathbf{g}_s \mathbf{g}_t)$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{ij}_{kl} \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{st}_{pq} \varepsilon^{tpm} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}^k \mathbf{g}_m \mathbf{g}^q \mathbf{g}_s \mathbf{g}_t$$

$$\equiv \boldsymbol{\eta}^{ij,m;st}_{k;q} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}^k \mathbf{g}_m \mathbf{g}^q \mathbf{g}_s \mathbf{g}_t.$$
(2.97)

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}_{\times}^{\times}\boldsymbol{\varphi} = (\boldsymbol{\psi}_{kl}^{ij}\sqrt{g}^{-W_{1}}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{g}_{j}\mathbf{g}_{j}\mathbf{g}_{k}^{k}\mathbf{g}^{l})(\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{pq}^{rs}\frac{\times}{\sqrt{g}}\sqrt{g}^{-W_{2}}\mathbf{g}_{p}^{p}\mathbf{g}^{q}\mathbf{g}_{r}\mathbf{g}_{s})$$

$$= (\boldsymbol{\psi}_{kl}^{ij}\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{pq}^{rs}\sqrt{g}^{-(W_{1}+W_{2})}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{g}_{j}(\mathbf{g}^{k}\times\mathbf{g}^{p})(\mathbf{g}^{l}\times\mathbf{g}^{q})\mathbf{g}_{r}\mathbf{g}_{s}$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\psi}_{kl}^{ij}\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{pq}^{rs}\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{kpm}\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{lqn}\sqrt{g}^{-W}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{g}_{j}\mathbf{g}_{m}\mathbf{g}_{n}\mathbf{g}_{r}\mathbf{g}_{s}$$

$$\equiv \boldsymbol{\xi}^{ijmnrs}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{g}_{j}\mathbf{g}_{m}\mathbf{g}_{n}\mathbf{g}_{r}\mathbf{g}_{s}.$$
(2.98)

(F) *Tensor index permutation* Permutation of superscript indices i, ..., j, ..., k (or subscript indices r, ..., s, ..., t) of a tensor gives a new tensor with the same type. For instance,

$$\boldsymbol{\psi} = \boldsymbol{\psi}^{k \cdots i \cdots j}_{r \cdots s \cdots t} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{j} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{k} \mathbf{g}^{r} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{s} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{t}$$
$$= \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{i \cdots j \cdots k}_{r \cdots s \cdots t} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{j} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{k} \mathbf{g}^{r} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{s} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{t} = \boldsymbol{\varphi}.$$
(2.99)

From the foregoing equation, the locations of subscript (or superscript) indices are

2.1. Vectors and tensors

very important.

(G) *Tensor symmetry* If two-index permutation of superscript indices i, ..., j, ..., k (or subscript indices r, ..., s, ..., t) of a tensor generates a new tensor that is the same as the old tensor, such a tensor is symmetric for two indices.

$$\boldsymbol{\psi} = \boldsymbol{\psi}^{k \cdots j \cdots i}_{r \cdots s \cdots t} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{j} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{k} \mathbf{g}^{r} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{s} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{t}$$
$$= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i \cdots j \cdots k}_{r \cdots s \cdots t} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{j} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{k} \mathbf{g}^{r} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{s} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{t}.$$
(2.100)

(H) *Tensor asymmetry* If two-index permutation of superscript indices i, ..., j, ..., k (or subscript indices r, ..., s, ..., t) of a tensor gives a new tensor, its sign with the old tensor is opposite. Such a tensor is asymmetric for such two indices.

$$\boldsymbol{\psi} = \boldsymbol{\psi}^{k \cdots j \cdots i}_{r \cdots s \cdots t} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{j} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{k} \mathbf{g}^{r} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{s} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{t}$$
$$= -\boldsymbol{\psi}^{i \cdots j \cdots k}_{r \cdots s \cdots t} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{j} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{k} \mathbf{g}^{r} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{s} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{t}.$$
(2.101)

For a given tensor with *M*-indices on the same level (subscript or superscript), M! times index exchange form M! new tensors, and the average of M! tensors is to form *a symmetric tensor*. Such a symmetric tensor of the original tensor is expressed by the subscript or subscript with parenthesis (\cdot). For instance,

$$\varphi_{(ij)} = \frac{1}{2!} (\varphi_{ij} + \varphi_{ji}),$$

$$\varphi_{(ijk)} = \frac{1}{3!} (\varphi_{ijk} + \varphi_{jki} + \varphi_{kji} + \varphi_{kji} + \varphi_{ikj} + \varphi_{jik}).$$
(2.102)

For a given tensor with N-indices on the same level (subscript or superscript), N! times index-permutation forms N! new tensors. Among the N! tensors, after the N!/2 new tensors with odd permutation of index multiply negative one (-1), with the other new tensors, the average of the new tensors is to form an asymmetric tensor. Such an asymmetric tensor is expressed by the subscript or subscript with bracket [·]. For instance,

$$\varphi_{[ij]} = \frac{1}{2!} (\varphi_{ij} - \varphi_{ji}),$$

$$\varphi_{[ijk]} = \frac{1}{3!} (\varphi_{ijk} + \varphi_{jki} + \varphi_{kij} - \varphi_{kji} - \varphi_{ikj} - \varphi_{jik}).$$
(2.103)

(I) Tensor quotient rule

Theorem 2.1. If A_i is an arbitrary covariant vector and $A_i X^i$ is invariant, i.e.,

$$A_{i}X^{i} = A_{i'}X^{i'}, (2.104)$$

then X^i is a contravariant vector.

Proof: Because of

$$A_{i'}X^{i'} = A_iX^i = A_i^{i'}A_{i'}X^i$$

one obtains

$$A_{i'}(X^{i'} - A_i^{i'}X^i) = 0.$$

Because $A_{i'}$ is selected arbitrarily, the foregoing equation gives

$$X^{i'} = A^{i'}_i X^i.$$

It implies that X^{i} is a contravariant vector. This theorem is proved.

Theorem 2.2. If $A^{i_1\cdots i_m}_{j_1\cdots j_n}$ is an arbitrary n-order covariant and m-order contravariant tensor and $B^{j_{n+1}\cdots j_p}_{i_{m+1}\cdots i_q} = X^{j_1\cdots j_n j_{n+1}\cdots j_p}_{j_1\cdots j_m j_{m+1}\cdots j_q} A^{i_1\cdots i_m}_{j_1\cdots j_n j_{n+1}\cdots j_p}$ is an (q-m)order covariant and (p-n)-contravariant tensor, then $X^{j_1\cdots j_n j_{n+1}\cdots j_p}_{i_1\cdots i_m j_{m+1}\cdots j_q}$ is a q-order covariant and p-order contravariant tensor.

Proof: Because $B^{j_{n+1}\cdots j_p}_{i_{m+1}\cdots i_q}$ is a tensor,

For a new coordinate, $B^{j'_{n+1}\cdots j'_{p_{i_{m+1}}\cdots i'_{q}}} = X^{j'_{1}\cdots j'_{n}\cdots j'_{p_{i_{1}}\cdots i'_{m}}} A^{i'_{1}\cdots i'_{m_{j_{1}}}} A^{i'_{1}\cdots i'_{m_{j_{1}}}}$. The foregoing two equations yield

$$(A_{j_{1}}^{j_{1}'}\cdots A_{j_{n}}^{j_{n}'}A_{j_{n+1}}^{j_{n+1}'}\cdots A_{j_{p}}^{j_{p}'}A_{i_{1}'}^{i_{1}}\cdots A_{i_{m}'}^{i_{m}}A_{i_{m+1}'}^{i_{m+1}}\cdots A_{i_{q}'}^{i_{q}'}X^{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}j_{n+1}\cdots j_{p}'}$$
$$-X^{j_{1}'\cdots j_{n}'\cdots j_{p}'}_{i_{1}'\cdots i_{m}'\cdots i_{m}'}A^{i_{1}'\cdots i_{m}'}_{j_{1}'\cdots j_{n}'}=0.$$

Because $A^{i'_1 \cdots i'_m}_{i'_1 \cdots i'_n}$ is selected arbitrarily, the following equation is obtained.

$$X^{j'_{1}\cdots j'_{n}\cdots j'_{p}}_{j_{1}}\cdots A^{j'_{n}}_{j_{n}}A^{j'_{n+1}}_{j_{n+1}}\cdots A^{j'_{p}}_{j_{p}}A^{i_{1}}_{i_{1}}\cdots A^{i_{m}}_{i_{m}}A^{i_{m+1}}_{i_{m+1}}\cdots A^{i_{q}}_{i_{q}'}X^{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}j_{n+1}\cdots j_{p}}_{i_{1}}\cdots i_{n}i_{m+1}\cdots i_{q}$$

Therefore, $X^{j_1 \cdots j_n j_{n+1} \cdots j_p}_{i_1 \cdots i_n i_{m+1} \cdots i_n}$ is a q-order covariant and p-order contravariant

tensor. This theorem is proved.

(J) *Ricci symbol* For simplicity, the Ricci symbol (or permutation symbol) $e^{i\cdots j\cdots k}$ or $e_{i\cdots j\cdots k}$ are introduced as

$$e^{i_{1}i_{2}\cdots i_{N}} (\text{or } e_{i_{1}i_{2}\cdots i_{N}}) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{when any two indices are equal,} \\ +1 & \text{when } (i_{1}, i_{2}, \dots, i_{N}) \text{ are } (1, 2, \dots, N) \text{ or} \\ & \text{an even permutation of } (1, 2, \dots, N), \\ -1 & \text{when } (i_{1}, i_{2}, \dots, i_{N}) \text{ are an odd} \\ & \text{permutation of } (1, 2, \dots, N). \end{cases}$$
(2.105)

Generalized Kronecker-delta:

$$\delta_{j_{1}j_{2}\cdots j_{N}}^{i_{1}i_{2}\cdots i_{N}} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{when any two or more upper} \\ (\text{or lower}) & \text{indices are equal,} \\ +1 & \text{for even permutation between} \\ & \text{the upper index and lower index,} \\ -1 & \text{for odd permutation between} \\ & \text{the upper index and lower index,} \end{cases}$$
(2.106)

where

$$\delta_{j_1 j_2 \cdots j_N}^{i_1 i_2 \cdots i_N} = e^{i_1 i_2 \cdots i_N} e_{j_1 j_2 \cdots j_N}, \qquad (2.107)$$

$$\delta_{j_1 j_2 \cdots j_{N-1}}^{i_1 j_2 \cdots i_{N-1}} = \delta_{j_1 j_2 \cdots j_{N-1} i_N}^{i_1 j_2 \cdots i_{N-1} i_N}.$$
(2.108)

From the Ricci symbol, the determinant of a matrix $(a_{\cdot n}^m)_{q \times q}$ can be expressed by

$$|a_{\cdot_{n}}^{m}| = e_{i_{1i_{2}\cdots i_{q}}}a_{\cdot_{1}}^{i_{1}}a_{\cdot_{2}}^{i_{2}}\cdots a_{\cdot_{q}}^{i_{q}} = e^{i_{1i_{2}\cdots i_{q}}}a_{\cdot_{i_{1}}}^{1}a_{\cdot_{i_{2}}}^{2}\cdots a_{\cdot_{i_{q}}}^{q}.$$
(2.109)

Theorem 2.3. For a matrix $(a_n^m)_{3\times 3}$, the following relations hold

$$\begin{aligned} e_{ijk} a_{.r}^{i} a_{.s}^{.j} a_{.t}^{k} &= |a_{.n}^{m}| e_{rst} \text{ and } e^{ijk} a_{.i}^{r} a_{.s}^{s} a_{.k}^{t} &= |a_{.n}^{m}| e^{rst}, \\ e^{ijk} a_{ir} a_{.s} a_{kt} &= e^{ijk} a_{ri} a_{sj} a_{tk} &= |a_{nn}| e^{rst}, \\ e_{ijk} a^{ir} a^{js} a^{kt} &= e_{ijk} a^{ri} a^{sj} a^{tk} &= |a^{mm}| e_{rst}. \end{aligned}$$
(2.110)

Proof: The asymmetry of Ricci symbol gives

$$e_{ijk}a^i_{\cdot r}a^j_{\cdot s}a^k_{\cdot r} = e_{kji}a^k_{\cdot r}a^j_{\cdot s}a^j_{\cdot r} = e_{kji}a^i_{\cdot r}a^j_{\cdot s}a^k_{\cdot r} = -e_{ijk}a^i_{\cdot r}a^j_{\cdot s}a^k_{\cdot r}.$$

For index (i, j, k), $e_{ijk}a_r^i a_s^j a_r^k$ are asymmetric. In addition, if (r, s, t) is (1, 2, 3), then $e_{ijk}a_r^i a_s^j a_r^k = |a_n^m|$. Thus,

$$e_{ijk}a_{\cdot r}^{i}a_{\cdot s}^{j}a_{\cdot t}^{k} = \mid a_{\cdot n}^{m} \mid e_{rst}.$$

Similarly, the following formula can be proved.

$$e^{ijk}a_{i}^{r}a_{j}^{s}a_{k}^{t} = |a_{m}^{m}|e^{rst},$$

$$e^{ijk}a_{ir}a_{js}a_{kt} = e^{ijk}a_{ri}a_{sj}a_{tk} = |a_{mn}|e^{rst},$$

$$e_{ijk}a^{ir}a^{js}a^{kt} = e_{ijk}a^{ri}a^{sj}a^{tk} = |a^{mn}|e_{rst}.$$

Therefore, this theorem is proved.

Theorem 2.4. Two Ricci symbols (e_{iik} and e^{ijk}) are two tensors.

Proof : Because

$$\begin{split} e_{ijk}A_{i'}^{i}A_{j'}^{j}A_{k'}^{k} &= e_{ij'k'} \mid A_{p'}^{p} \mid \implies e_{ij'k'} = \mid A_{p'}^{p} \mid^{-1} A_{i'}^{i}A_{j'}^{j}A_{k'}^{k} e_{ijk}, \\ e^{ijk}A_{i'}^{i}A_{j'}^{j}A_{k}^{k'} &= e^{ij'k'} \mid A_{p}^{p'} \mid \implies e^{ij'k'} = \mid A_{p'}^{p} \mid A_{i'}^{j}A_{k'}^{k} e^{ijk}. \end{split}$$

It implies that two Ricci symbols (e_{ijk} and e^{ijk}) are two tensors. This theorem is proved.

Because $e_{ijk}g^{ir}g^{js}g^{kt} \neq e^{rst}$, e_{ijk} and e^{ijk} are two different tensors. However, Eddington tensors (ε_{ijk} and ε^{ijk}) are asymmetric because

$$\begin{aligned} \varepsilon_{i_{1}\cdots i_{q}} &= e_{i_{1}\cdots i_{q}} \left[\mathbf{g}_{1}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{q} \right] = e_{i_{1}\cdots i_{q}} \sqrt{g}, \\ \varepsilon^{i_{1}\cdots i_{q}} &= e^{i_{1}\cdots i_{q}} \left[\mathbf{g}_{1}^{1}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{q}^{q} \right] = e^{i_{1}\cdots i_{q}} / \sqrt{g}; \\ \varepsilon_{ijk} &= e_{ijk} \left[\mathbf{g}_{1} \mathbf{g}_{2} \mathbf{g}_{3} \right] = e_{ijk} \sqrt{g}, \\ \varepsilon^{ijk} &= e^{ijk} \left[\mathbf{g}_{1}^{1} \mathbf{g}_{2}^{2} \mathbf{g}_{3}^{2} \right] = e^{ijk} / \sqrt{g}; \end{aligned}$$

$$\delta^{ijk}_{rst} &= e^{ijk} \varepsilon_{rst} = \varepsilon^{ijk} \varepsilon_{rst} = \left[\mathbf{g}_{1}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{2}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{3}^{k} \right] \left[\mathbf{g}_{r} \mathbf{g}_{s} \mathbf{g}_{t} \right] \\ &= \left| \mathbf{g}_{1}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{r} - \mathbf{g}_{1}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{s} - \mathbf{g}_{1}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{s} - \mathbf{g}_{1}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{s} \right| = \left| \begin{array}{l} \delta^{i}_{r} - \delta^{i}_{s} & \delta^{i}_{t} \\ \delta^{j}_{r} - \delta^{j}_{s} & \delta^{j}_{t} \\ \delta^{j}_{r} & \delta^{j}_{s} - \delta^{j}_{t} \\ \delta^{j}_{r} & \delta^{j}_{s} & \delta^{j}_{t} \\ \delta^{jit}_{rst} &= \delta^{i}_{r} \delta^{j}_{s} - \delta^{i}_{s} \delta^{j}_{r}, \\ \delta^{jit}_{rst} &= \delta^{i}_{r} \delta^{j}_{s} - \delta^{i}_{s} \delta^{j}_{r} \\ \delta^{jit}_{rst} &= \delta^{i}_{r} \delta^{j}_{s} - \delta^{i}_{s} \delta^{j}_{r} \\ \delta^{jit}_{rst} &= \delta^{i}_{r} \delta^{s}_{s} - \delta^{j}_{s} \delta^{s}_{r} \\ \delta^{j}_{r} - \delta^{j}_{r} \\ \delta^{jit}_{rst} &= 2\delta^{i}_{r} \\ \delta^{rst}_{rst} &= 2\delta^{r}_{r} \\ \delta^{rst}_{rst} \\ \delta^{rst}_{rst} &= 2\delta^{r}_{r} \\ \delta^{rst}_{rst} \\ \delta^{rst$$

The generalized Kronecker-delta can be determined by

40

2.2. Second-order tensors

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{\delta}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{q}}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{q}} &= \boldsymbol{e}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{q}} \boldsymbol{e}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{q}} = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{q}} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{q}} = [\mathbf{g}^{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{i_{q}}][\mathbf{g}_{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{j_{q}}] \\ &= \begin{vmatrix} \mathbf{g}^{i_{1}}\cdot\mathbf{g}_{j_{1}}&\cdots&\mathbf{g}^{i_{1}}\cdot\mathbf{g}_{j_{q}}\\ \vdots&\vdots\\ \mathbf{g}^{i_{q}}\cdot\mathbf{g}_{j_{1}}&\cdots&\mathbf{g}^{i_{q}}\cdot\mathbf{g}_{j_{q}} \end{vmatrix} = \begin{vmatrix} \boldsymbol{\delta}^{i_{1}}&\cdots&\boldsymbol{\delta}^{i_{1}}\\ \vdots&\vdots\\ \boldsymbol{\delta}^{i_{1}}&\cdots&\boldsymbol{\delta}^{i_{1}}\\ j_{i_{1}}&\cdots&\boldsymbol{\delta}^{i_{q}}\\ j_{i_{1}}&\cdots&\boldsymbol{\delta}^{j_{q}}\\ j_{j_{1}\cdots j_{p}} = (q-p)!\boldsymbol{\delta}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{p}}, \\ &\qquad \boldsymbol{\delta}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{q}}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{q}} = q!. \end{split}$$

$$(2.113)$$

From Eq.(2.110), the determinant of a matrix (a_n^m) or (a_{mn}) is given by

$$|a_{.n}^{m}| = \frac{1}{3!} \delta_{ijk}^{rst} a_{.r}^{i} a_{.s}^{j} a_{.t}^{k}, \text{ and } |a_{nm}| = \frac{1}{3!} e^{ijk} e^{rst} a_{ir} a_{js} a_{kt}.$$
(2.114)

This is because $e^{rst}e_{ijk}a_{,r}^{i}a_{,s}^{j}a_{,t}^{k} = |a_{,n}^{m}|e_{rst}e^{rst}$ and $\delta_{ijk}^{rst}a_{,r}^{i}a_{,s}^{j}a_{,t}^{k} = |a_{,n}^{m}|\delta_{rst}^{rst}$ for the first equation. Similarly, the second equation can be obtained. From the foregoing equation, the cofactors of element $a_{,q}^{p}$ in determinant $|a_{,n}^{m}|$ and element $a_{,pq}$ in determinant $|a_{,n}^{m}|$ and element $a_{,pq}$ in determinant $|a_{,n}^{m}|$

$$\frac{\partial |a_{\cdot n}^{m}|}{\partial a_{\cdot q}^{p}} = \frac{1}{3!} \delta_{ijk}^{rst} \left(\delta_{p}^{i} \delta_{r}^{q} a_{\cdot s}^{j} a_{\cdot t}^{k} + \delta_{p}^{j} \delta_{s}^{q} a_{\cdot r}^{i} a_{\cdot t}^{k} + \delta_{p}^{k} \delta_{t}^{q} a_{\cdot r}^{i} a_{\cdot s}^{j} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{3!} \left(\delta_{pjk}^{qst} a_{\cdot s}^{j} a_{\cdot t}^{k} + \delta_{ipk}^{rqt} a_{\cdot r}^{i} a_{\cdot t}^{k} + \delta_{ipp}^{rsq} a_{\cdot r}^{i} a_{\cdot s}^{j} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{3!} \left(\delta_{pjk}^{qst} a_{\cdot s}^{j} a_{\cdot t}^{k} + \delta_{jpk}^{sqt} a_{\cdot s}^{j} a_{\cdot t}^{k} + \delta_{ipp}^{sqt} a_{\cdot r}^{k} a_{\cdot s}^{k} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{3!} \left(\delta_{pjk}^{qst} a_{\cdot s}^{j} a_{\cdot t}^{k} + \delta_{jpk}^{sqt} a_{\cdot s}^{j} a_{\cdot t}^{k} + \delta_{ipp}^{sqt} a_{\cdot s}^{k} a_{\cdot s}^{k} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2!} \delta_{pjk}^{qst} a_{\cdot s}^{j} a_{\cdot t}^{k}.$$
(2.115)

Similarly,

$$\frac{\partial |a_{mm}|}{\partial a_{pq}} = \frac{1}{2!} e^{pjk} e^{qst} a_{js} a_{kt}.$$
(2.116)

The generalized discussion on the property of *generalized Kronecker-delta* can be found in Schouten (1951) and Eringen (1971).

2.2. Second-order tensors

In this section, the second-order tensor will be discussed. The second-order tensor algebra will be presented, and the basic properties and principal direction of ten-

sors will be discussed, and the tensor decompositions and functions will be presented.

2.2.1. Second-order tensor algebra

The second-order tensor is extensively used, which is also called an *affine tensor*. The second-order tensor is expressed by

$$\mathbf{B} = B_{ij}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}^{j}. \tag{2.117}$$

A dot product of a second-order tensor with a vector is a vector, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{v} = B_{\cdot j}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}^{j} \cdot v^{k} \mathbf{g}_{k} = B_{\cdot j}^{i} v^{k} \delta_{k}^{j} \mathbf{g}_{i} = B_{\cdot j}^{i} v^{j} \mathbf{g}_{i} \equiv u^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} = \mathbf{u}.$$
 (2.118)

where $\mathbf{v} = v^k \mathbf{g}_k$ is adopted in the foregoing equation.

For two second-order tensors $\mathbf{B} = B_{ij}^{\dagger} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}^j$ and $\mathbf{D} = D_{ij}^{\dagger} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}^j$. Their summation and dot products are the second-order tensors.

$$\mathbf{B} + \mathbf{D} = B_{.j}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} + D_{.j}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} = (B_{.j}^{i} + D_{.j}^{i}) \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{j},$$

$$\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{D} = B_{.j}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} \cdot D_{.s}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{r} \mathbf{g}^{s} = B_{.j}^{i} D_{.s}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{r} \mathbf{g}^{s}$$

$$= B_{.j}^{i} D_{.s}^{r} \delta_{r}^{j} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{s} = B_{.r}^{i} D_{.s}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{s} = B_{.r}^{i} D_{.r}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{j}.$$
(2.119)

If $\mathbf{D} = \mathbf{B}$, the following relations exist.

$$\mathbf{B}^{2} \equiv \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{B} = B_{\cdot r}^{i} B_{\cdot j}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{j}^{i},$$

$$\mathbf{B}^{N} \equiv \underbrace{\mathbf{B} \cdots \mathbf{B}}_{N} = B_{\cdot r_{1}}^{i} B_{\cdot r_{2}}^{r_{1}} \cdots B_{\cdot r_{N-1}}^{r_{N-2}} B_{\cdot j}^{r_{N-1}} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{j}^{j}.$$
(2.120)

Definition 2.13. For a second-order tensor of $\mathbf{B} = B_{ij}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{j}$, a tensor \mathbf{B}^{T} is termed the *transpose of the second-order tensor* **B** if

$$\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} = (B_{\cdot j}^{i})^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} = B_{j}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{j}.$$
(2.121)

Theorem 2.5. Consider two second-order tensors **B** and **D**. If \mathbf{B}^{T} is the transpose of **B**, then the following relation holds

$$(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{D})^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
 (2.122)

Proof: For any two vectors $\mathbf{a} = a_i \mathbf{g}^i$ and $\mathbf{b} = b^j \mathbf{g}_j$, we have

$$\mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{b} = \mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{a},$$

If $\mathbf{b} = \mathbf{D} \cdot \mathbf{c}$ is selected, the foregoing equation becomes

$$\mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{D} \cdot \mathbf{c} = \mathbf{D} \cdot \mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{a} = \mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{a}.$$

On the other hand, the following equation should hold:

$$\mathbf{a} \cdot (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{D}) \cdot \mathbf{c} = \mathbf{c} \cdot (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{D})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{a}$$

Because \mathbf{a} and \mathbf{c} are selected arbitrarily, the two equations give

$$(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{D})^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}}.$$

This theorem is proved.

(A) Non-degenerate and degenerate tensors

Definition 2.14. A second-order tensor **B** is *non-degenerate* if three quantities of $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{a}$, $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{b}$ and $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{c}$ are linearly independent for any three independent vectors \mathbf{a} , \mathbf{b} and \mathbf{c} . Otherwise, the second-order tensor **B** is *degenerate*.

Theorem 2.6. For any three linearly-independent vectors of \mathbf{a} , \mathbf{b} and \mathbf{c} , there is an invariant quantity of a second-order tensor \mathbf{B} , defined by

$$III = \frac{(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{a}) \times (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{b}) \cdot (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{c})}{[\mathbf{abc}]}.$$
 (2.123)

Proof : Consider three transformed vectors \mathbf{a}', \mathbf{b}' and \mathbf{c}' of the vectors \mathbf{a}, \mathbf{b} and \mathbf{c} . Thus we have

$$\mathbf{a'} = A_{\mathbf{a}}^{\mathbf{a'}} \mathbf{a}, \ \mathbf{b'} = A_{\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{b'}} \mathbf{b}, \ \mathbf{c'} = A_{\mathbf{c}}^{\mathbf{c'}} \mathbf{c}$$

where

$$A_{\mathbf{a}}^{\mathbf{a}'} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{a}'}{\partial \mathbf{a}}, \ A_{\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{b}'} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{b}'}{\partial \mathbf{b}}, \ A_{\mathbf{c}}^{\mathbf{c}'} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{c}'}{\partial \mathbf{c}}.$$

So we have

$$\frac{(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{a}') \times (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{b}') \cdot (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{c}')}{\lceil \mathbf{a}' \mathbf{b}' \mathbf{c}' \rceil} = \frac{(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{a}) \times (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{b}) \cdot (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{c})}{\lceil \mathbf{a} \mathbf{b} \mathbf{c} \rceil} = III.$$

So the quantity III is invariant. This theorem is proved.

Definition 2.15. A second-order tensor **B** is *degenerate* if there is a vector \mathbf{v} to make the following relation hold:

$$\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{0},\tag{2.124}$$

and the direction of \mathbf{v} is called the zero-direction of the tensor \mathbf{B} .

Definition 2.16. A second-order tensor **B** is called a *zero tensor* if the directions of any three independent vectors **a**, **b** and **c** are the zero-directions of $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{a}$, $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{b}$ and $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{c}$, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{a} = \mathbf{0}, \ \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{b} = \mathbf{0}, \ \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{c} = \mathbf{0}. \tag{2.125}$$

Consider any three independent vectors to be three base vectors \mathbf{g}_i (*i* = 1, 2, 3) of the second-order tensor **B**. The invariant quantity III is independent of the base vectors, so this invariant quantity is called the *third invariant* quantity of the second-order tensor **B**. Such an invariant is determined by

$$III = \frac{(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{1}) \times (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{2}) \cdot (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{3})}{[\mathbf{g}_{1}\mathbf{g}_{2}\mathbf{g}_{3}]}$$
$$= \frac{(B_{.j_{1}}^{i_{1}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{1}) \times (B_{.j_{2}}^{i_{2}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{2}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{2}} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{2}) \cdot (B_{.j_{3}}^{i_{3}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{3}}\mathbf{g}^{j_{3}} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{3})}{\sqrt{g}}$$
$$= \frac{(B_{.1}^{i_{1}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}) \times (B_{.2}^{i_{2}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{2}}) \cdot (B_{.3}^{i_{3}}\mathbf{g}_{i_{3}})}{\sqrt{g}} = e_{i_{1}i_{2}i_{3}}B_{.1}^{i_{1}}B_{.2}^{i_{2}}B_{.3}^{i_{3}} = |B_{.j}^{i_{1}}|.$$
(2.126)

For a second-order non-degenerate tensor **B**, the third invariant quantity is nonzero (i.e., III = $|B_{ij}^i| \neq 0$). Thus, the inverse of the tensor **B** (i.e., **B**⁻¹) will exist. Further, the following relations hold

$$\mathbf{B}^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{B} = \mathbf{I} \text{ and } \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{-1} = \mathbf{I}.$$
 (2.127)

where **I** is the *identity tensor* or *metric tensor*. Similarly, the transpose of the tensor **B** is non-degenerate because the third invariant quantity of the transpose of **B** (i.e., \mathbf{B}^{T}) is non-zero.

$$III(B_{j}^{i}) = |B_{j}^{i}| = |g_{jr}B_{s}^{r}g^{si}| = |g_{jr}| \cdot |B_{s}^{r}| \cdot |g^{si}| = |B_{j}^{i}| \neq 0.$$
(2.128)

So the third invariant quantity of the tensor **B** is its determinant, written by det $\mathbf{B} = |B_{j}^{i}| = |B_{j}^{i}|$. If $g \neq 1$, det $\mathbf{B} \neq |B_{ij}| \neq |B^{ij}|$. Further, $(\mathbf{B}^{-1})^{\mathrm{T}} = (\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1}$ because $(\mathbf{B}^{-1})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} = (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{-1})^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{I}^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{I}$ and $\mathbf{I} = (\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}}$.

Exercise: Prove $(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{a}) \times (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{b}) = III(\mathbf{B}^{-1})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (\mathbf{a} \times \mathbf{b}).$

(B) Characteristic direction and invariance of tensor

Definition 2.17. For a second-order tensor **B** , if the direction of a vector **v** is the direction of $(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{v})$, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{v} = B\mathbf{v} \quad \text{or} \quad (\mathbf{B} - B\mathbf{I}) \cdot \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{0}, \tag{2.129}$$

then the direction is called the characteristic (or eigenvector) direction of the ten-

2.2. Second-order tensors

sor \mathbf{B} .

From the foregoing equation, the direction of **v** is the zero direction of $\mathbf{B} - B\mathbf{I}$, which indicates that the third invariant quantity of $\mathbf{B} - B\mathbf{I}$ is zero, i.e.,

$$III(\mathbf{B} - B\mathbf{I}) = \frac{[(\mathbf{B} - B\mathbf{I}) \cdot \mathbf{a}] \times [(\mathbf{B} - B\mathbf{I}) \cdot \mathbf{b}] \cdot [(\mathbf{B} - B\mathbf{I}) \cdot \mathbf{c}]}{[\mathbf{abc}]} = 0, \qquad (2.130)$$

or det(\mathbf{B} - B\mathbf{I}) = 0.

The expanded characteristic equation is

$$B^{3} - IB^{2} + IIB - III = 0 (2.131)$$

where

$$I = \frac{\mathbf{a} \times \mathbf{b} \cdot (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{c}) + \mathbf{b} \times \mathbf{c} \cdot (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{a}) + \mathbf{c} \times \mathbf{a} \cdot (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{b})}{[\mathbf{a}\mathbf{b}\mathbf{c}]},$$

$$II = \frac{(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{a}) \times (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{b}) \cdot \mathbf{c} + (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{b}) \times (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{c}) \cdot \mathbf{a} + (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{c}) \times (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{a}) \cdot \mathbf{b}}{[\mathbf{a}\mathbf{b}\mathbf{c}]}.$$
(2.132)

The quantities I and II of the tensor **B** are independent of three independent vectors **a**, **b** and **c**. Therefore, both of them are called the *first and second invariant quantities of the tensor* **B**. Consider three independent vectors to be three base vectors \mathbf{g}_i (i = 1, 2, 3) of the second-order tensor **B**. Such an invariance is determined by

$$\mathbf{I} = \frac{\mathbf{g}_1 \times \mathbf{g}_2 \cdot (B_{.j}^{i} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}^{j} \cdot \mathbf{g}_3) + \mathbf{g}_2 \times \mathbf{g}_3 \cdot (B_{.j}^{i} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}^{j} \cdot \mathbf{g}_1) + \mathbf{g}_3 \times \mathbf{g}_1 \cdot (B_{.j}^{i} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}^{j} \cdot \mathbf{g}_2)}{[\mathbf{g}_1 \mathbf{g}_2 \mathbf{g}_3]}$$

$$= \mathbf{g}^{3} \cdot (B_{\cdot 3}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i}) + \mathbf{g}^{1} \cdot (B_{\cdot 1}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i}) + \mathbf{g}^{2} \cdot (B_{\cdot 2}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i}) = B_{\cdot i}^{i} = \frac{1}{1!} \delta_{i}^{r} B_{\cdot r}^{i}.$$
(2.133)

$$II = \frac{B_{.1}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \times B_{.2}^{j} \mathbf{g}_{j} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{3} + B_{.2}^{p} \mathbf{g}_{p} \times B_{.3}^{q} \mathbf{g}_{q} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{1} + B_{.3}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{r} \times B_{.1}^{s} \mathbf{g}_{s} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{2}}{[\mathbf{g}_{1} \mathbf{g}_{2} \mathbf{g}_{3}]}$$
$$= B_{.1}^{i} B_{.2}^{j} e_{ij3} + B_{.2}^{p} B_{.3}^{q} e_{pq1} + B_{.3}^{r} B_{.1}^{s} e_{rs2} = \frac{1}{2} B_{.r}^{i} B_{.s}^{j} e_{ijk} e^{rsk} = \frac{1}{2!} B_{.r}^{i} B_{.s}^{j} \delta_{ij}^{rs}. \qquad (2.134)$$

If the direction of v is the characteristic direction of the tensor B, then

$$\mathbf{B}^2 \cdot \mathbf{v} = B^2 \mathbf{v} \tag{2.135}$$

because of $\mathbf{B}^2 \cdot \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{v} = B\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{v} = B^2 \mathbf{v}$. Similarly,

$$\mathbf{B}^N \cdot \mathbf{v} = B^N \mathbf{v}. \tag{2.136}$$

Exercise: Prove the first and second invariant quantity of the tensor **B** is independent of three independent vectors \mathbf{a} , \mathbf{b} and \mathbf{c} .

2.2.2. Basic properties

(A) Symmetric and asymmetric tensors

Definition 2.18. The tensor S is symmetric if

$$\mathbf{S} = \mathbf{S}^{\mathrm{T}}$$
 i.e., $S_{ij}^{i} = S_{j}^{i}$ or $S_{ij} = S_{ji}$. (2.137)

Definition 2.19. The tensor A is asymmetric if

$$\mathbf{A} = -\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{T}} \text{ i.e., } A^{i}_{,j} = -A^{i}_{,j} \text{ or } A_{ij} = -A_{ji}.$$
(2.138)

Definition 2.20. For two unit vectors t and n, the scalar quantity

$$\mathbf{t} \cdot \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{n} = B_{ii} n^i t^j \tag{2.139}$$

is called the *shear component of the tensor* **B** in the direction of **t** on the normal surface of vector **n**. If $\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{S}$, the following quantity exists,

$$\mathbf{t} \cdot \mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{t} = B_{ii} n^i t^j.$$
(2.140)

If $\mathbf{t} \cdot \mathbf{n} = 0$, such a component is called the *orthogonal shear component* of **B** in the direction of **t** on the normal surface of vector **n**. For $\mathbf{t} = \mathbf{n}$, the above quantity becomes

$$\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{n} = B_{ij} n^i n^j \tag{2.141}$$

which is called the *normal component* of tensor \mathbf{B} on the surface with its normal vector \mathbf{n} .

(B) Orthogonal affine tensors

Definition 2.21. A tensor **R** is called an *orthogonal affine tensor* if the magnitudes of both $\mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{v}$ and \mathbf{v} are same, i.e.,

$$(\mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{v})^2 = \mathbf{v}^2 \text{ or } \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{R}^T \cdot \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v}.$$
(2.142)

From the definition,

$$\mathbf{R}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{R} = \mathbf{I} \implies \mathbf{R}^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{R}^{-1}.$$
 (2.143)

The orthogonal tensor does not change the dot product of two vectors and volume of three vectors. In other words,

$$(\mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{u}) \cdot (\mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{v}) = \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{v},$$

$$[(\mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{u})(\mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{v})(\mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{w})] = [\mathbf{u}\mathbf{v}\mathbf{w}].$$
(2.144)

(C) Characteristic directions of symmetric tensors

If a unit vector **i** is a vector for the characteristic direction of symmetric tensor **S** (i.e., $\mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{i} = S\mathbf{i}$), the corresponding characteristic equation is

$$S^{3} - IS^{2} + IIS - III = 0. (2.145)$$

If the tensor **S** is degenerate, one of the characteristic root is zero (i.e., $S_1 = 0$). The characteristic vector is a zero vector in the direction of the unit vector **i**. For any non-zero vector **v** normal to the vector **i**,

$$\mathbf{i} \cdot \mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{i} = S_1 \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{i} = 0 \tag{2.146}$$

from which the vector $\mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{v}$ is normal to the unit vector \mathbf{i} . In physics, the tensor \mathbf{S} has a zero component in the direction of the unit vector \mathbf{i} on the normal surface of the vector \mathbf{v} . The symmetric tensor \mathbf{S} has three characteristic directions of (\mathbf{i} , \mathbf{j} and \mathbf{k}) with the corresponding values S_i (i = 1, 2, 3). The three characteristic directions are perpendicular each other.

(D) Principal directions of tensors

Theorem 2.7. For a second-order tensor **B**, there are three principal directions (i, j and k) to be perpendicular each other, and three vectors $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{i}$, $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{j}$ and $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{k}$ are perpendicular each other.

Proof : Because $(\mathbf{B}^T \cdot \mathbf{B})^T = \mathbf{B}^T \cdot \mathbf{B}$, it means that $\mathbf{B}^T \cdot \mathbf{B}$ are symmetric. Thus, there are three orthogonal unit vectors. Suppose $(\mathbf{i}, \mathbf{j} \text{ and } \mathbf{k})$ are a set of three orthogonal unit vectors for $\mathbf{B}^T \cdot \mathbf{B}$.

$$\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{i} = b_1 \mathbf{i}, \ \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{j} = b_2 \mathbf{j} \text{ and } \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{k} = b_3 \mathbf{k}.$$

Furthermore,

$$(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{i}) \cdot (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{j}) = \mathbf{i} \cdot (\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{j}) = b_2 \mathbf{i} \cdot \mathbf{j} = 0$$

Similarly, $(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{k}) \cdot (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{i}) = (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{j}) \cdot (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{k}) = 0$. Three vectors $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{i}$, $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{j}$ and $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{k}$ are perpendicular each other. Therefore, $(\mathbf{i}, \mathbf{j} \text{ and } \mathbf{k})$ are the principal directions of a second-order tensor \mathbf{B} . This theorem is proved.

The symmetric tensor is expressed by

$$\mathbf{S} = S_{11}\mathbf{i}\mathbf{i} + S_{12}\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j} + S_{13}\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k} + S_{21}\mathbf{j}\mathbf{i} + S_{22}\mathbf{j}\mathbf{j} + S_{23}\mathbf{j}\mathbf{k} + S_{31}\mathbf{k}\mathbf{i} + S_{32}\mathbf{k}\mathbf{j} + S_{33}\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}.$$
 (2.147)

The projections on the three principal directions are

(0.1.1.5)

.....

$$S_{1}\mathbf{i} = \mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{i} = S_{11}\mathbf{i} + S_{21}\mathbf{j} + S_{31}\mathbf{k},$$

$$S_{2}\mathbf{j} = \mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{j} = S_{12}\mathbf{i} + S_{22}\mathbf{j} + S_{32}\mathbf{k},$$

$$S_{3}\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{k} = S_{13}\mathbf{i} + S_{23}\mathbf{j} + S_{33}\mathbf{k}.$$

(2.148)

So $S_{ij} = 0$ $(i \neq j)$ and $S_{ij} = S_i$ (i = j). Finally,

$$\mathbf{S} = S_1 \mathbf{i} \mathbf{i} + S_2 \mathbf{j} \mathbf{j} + S_3 \mathbf{k} \mathbf{k}.$$
(2.149)

Definition 2.22. For any symmetric tensor S, the tensor functions are defined as

$$\mathbf{S}^{n} = S_{1}^{n} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{i} + S_{2}^{n} \mathbf{j} \mathbf{j} + S_{3}^{n} \mathbf{k} \mathbf{k}.$$
 (2.150)

Definition 2.23. For any symmetric and positive-definite tensor \mathbf{S} , the tensor functions are defined as

$$\mathbf{S}^{\frac{1}{n}} = S_1^{\frac{1}{n}} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{i} + S_2^{\frac{1}{n}} \mathbf{j} \mathbf{j} + S_3^{\frac{1}{n}} \mathbf{k} \mathbf{k},$$

$$\log \mathbf{S} = \log S_1 \mathbf{i} \mathbf{i} + \log S_2 \mathbf{j} \mathbf{j} + \log S_3 \mathbf{k} \mathbf{k}.$$
(2.151)

2.2.3. Tensor decompositions

(A) *Addition decomposition* The *addition* decomposition of a tensor **B** is summation of its symmetric and asymmetric tensors, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{B} = \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{B} + \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}}) + \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{B} - \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}}) \equiv \mathbf{S} + \mathbf{A},$$

$$B_{ij} = B_{(ij)} + B_{[ij]}.$$
(2.152)

(B) Polar decomposition

Theorem 2.8. For a non-degenerate tensor **B**, there is a symmetric positive definite tensor (V or U) and an orthogonal (or rotation) tensor **R**. The left and right polar decompositions of **B**,

$$\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{R} = \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{U} \tag{2.153}$$

is unique with $\mathbf{V} = (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}})^{\frac{1}{2}}$ and $\mathbf{U} = (\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{B})^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

Proof: Because a tensor **B** is non-degenerate, its transpose \mathbf{B}^{T} is non-degenerate. For any vector **v**,

$$\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{v} \neq 0$$
 and $\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{v} \neq 0$,
 $(\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{v})^2 = \mathbf{v} \cdot (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}}) \cdot \mathbf{v} > 0$ and

2.2. Second-order tensors

$$(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{v})^2 = \mathbf{v} \cdot (\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{B}) \cdot \mathbf{v} > 0.$$

In addition, $(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}})^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}}$ and $(\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{B})^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{B}$. Thus $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}}$ and $\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{B}$ are symmetric and positive-definite. Define two symmetric, positive-definite tensors as

$$\mathbf{V} = (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}})^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
 and $\mathbf{U} = (\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{B})^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

If $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{V}^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{B}$, then,

$$\mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{R}^{\mathrm{T}} = (\mathbf{V}^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{B}) \cdot \mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (\mathbf{V}^{-1})^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{V}^{-1} \cdot (\mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{V}) \cdot \mathbf{V}^{-1} = \mathbf{I}.$$

Consider another left decomposition as

$$\overline{\mathbf{V}}\cdot\overline{\mathbf{R}}=\mathbf{B}=\mathbf{V}\cdot\mathbf{R},$$

from which

$$\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{V}^{-1} \cdot \overline{\mathbf{V}} \cdot \overline{\mathbf{R}}.$$

However, $\mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{R}^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{I}$ gives $\mathbf{R}^{-1} = \mathbf{R}^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{\overline{R}}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{\overline{V}}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (\mathbf{V}^{-1})^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{\overline{R}}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{\overline{V}} \cdot \mathbf{V}^{-1}$ with symmetry of \mathbf{V} (i.e., $\mathbf{V} = \mathbf{V}^{\mathrm{T}}$ and $(\mathbf{V}^{-1})^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{V}^{-1}$). Taking inverse of tensor \mathbf{R}^{-1} gives

$$\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{V} \cdot (\overline{\mathbf{V}})^{-1} \cdot (\overline{\mathbf{R}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1} = \mathbf{V} \cdot \overline{\mathbf{V}}^{-1} \cdot \overline{\mathbf{R}}.$$

Comparison of two expressions of R gives

$$(\mathbf{V}^{-1}\cdot\overline{\mathbf{V}}-\mathbf{V}\cdot\overline{\mathbf{V}}^{-1})\cdot\overline{\mathbf{R}}=0.$$

Further,

$$(\mathbf{V}^{-1}\cdot\overline{\mathbf{V}}-\mathbf{V}\cdot\overline{\mathbf{V}}^{-1})\cdot\overline{\mathbf{R}}\cdot\overline{\mathbf{R}}^{\mathrm{T}}=0 \Longrightarrow \mathbf{V}^{-1}\cdot\overline{\mathbf{V}}=\mathbf{V}\cdot\overline{\mathbf{V}}^{-1}.$$

So $\overline{\mathbf{V}} \cdot \overline{\mathbf{V}} = \mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{V} \implies \overline{\mathbf{V}} = \mathbf{V}$. From $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{V}^{-1} \cdot \overline{\mathbf{V}} \cdot \overline{\mathbf{R}}$, one obtains $\mathbf{R} = \overline{\mathbf{R}}$. Therefore, the left decomposition is unique. Similarly, the uniqueness for the right decomposition can be proved. If the orthogonal tensor \mathbf{R} in the left and right decompositions are different (i.e., $\mathbf{R} \neq \tilde{\mathbf{R}}$),

$$\mathbf{B} = \tilde{\mathbf{R}} \cdot \mathbf{U} = \mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{R} = (\mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{R}^{-1}) \cdot \mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{R} = \mathbf{R} \cdot (\mathbf{R}^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{R}).$$

From the uniqueness of the right decomposition,

$$\mathbf{U} = (\mathbf{R}^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{R})$$
 and $\mathbf{\tilde{R}} = \mathbf{R}$,

also because $(\mathbf{R}^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{R})^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{R}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{V}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (\mathbf{R}^{-1})^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{R}^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{R}$ is symmetric. This theorem is proved.

2.2.4. Tensor functions

(A) Tensor function For a tensor \mathbf{B} , the tensor function is defined as

$$\varphi = \varphi(\mathbf{B}) \text{ and } \mathbf{C} = \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{B}).$$
 (2.154)

For instance, if a tensor \mathbf{B} is the second-order tensor, the tensor functions can be expressed by 9-components as

$$\varphi = \varphi(B_{ij}^{i}) \text{ and } C_{ij} = f_{ij}(B_{iq}^{p}).$$
 (2.155)

(B) Tensor function gradient

$$\frac{d\varphi}{d\mathbf{B}} = \frac{d\varphi}{dB_{.j}^{i}} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} \text{ and } \frac{df_{ij}}{d\mathbf{B}} = \frac{df_{ij}}{dB_{.q}^{p}} \mathbf{g}^{p} \mathbf{g}_{q}$$
(2.156)

where $d\mathbf{B} = dB_{ij}^{i}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{g}^{j}$.

$$d\varphi = \frac{d\varphi}{d\mathbf{B}} : d\mathbf{B} \text{ and } d\mathbf{f} = \frac{d\mathbf{f}}{d\mathbf{B}} : d\mathbf{B}.$$
 (2.157)

The foregoing equation is obtained from

$$d\varphi = \frac{d\varphi}{dB_{\cdot j}^{i}} dB_{\cdot j}^{i} = \frac{d\varphi}{dB_{\cdot j}^{i}} \delta_{r}^{i} \delta_{j}^{s} dB_{\cdot s}^{r} = \frac{d\varphi}{dB_{\cdot j}^{i}} \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{r} \mathbf{g}_{j} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{s} dB_{\cdot s}^{r}$$
$$= \left(\frac{d\varphi}{dB_{\cdot j}^{i}} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{j}\right) : dB_{\cdot s}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{r} \mathbf{g}^{s} = \frac{d\varphi}{d\mathbf{B}} : d\mathbf{B}.$$
(2.158)

For $\mathbf{B} = B^{i_1 \cdots i_m}_{j_1 \cdots j_n} \mathbf{g}_{i_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_m} \mathbf{g}^{j_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_n}$, the tensor function gradient is

$$\frac{d\varphi}{d\mathbf{B}} = \frac{d\varphi}{dB^{i_1 \cdots i_m}} \mathbf{g}^{i_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{i_m} \mathbf{g}_{j_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{j_n},$$

$$\frac{df^{i_1 \cdots i_k}}{d\mathbf{B}} = \frac{df^{i_1 \cdots i_k}}{dB^{i_1 \cdots i_m}} \mathbf{g}^{i_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{i_m} \mathbf{g}_{j_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{j_n}$$
(2.159)

and $d\mathbf{B} = dB^{i_1 \cdots i_m}{}_{j_1 \cdots j_n} \mathbf{g}_{i_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_m} \mathbf{g}^{j_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_n}$.

It is observed that the tensor function gradient is an associated tensor of the tensor ${\bf B}$. The tensor characters of the gradient can be proved by

$$\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial B^{i'_{1}\cdots i'_{m}}_{j_{1}^{\prime}\cdots j_{n}^{\prime}}} = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial B^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}}} \frac{\partial (A^{i_{1}}_{i_{1}^{\prime}}\cdots A^{j_{m}}_{i_{m}}A^{j_{1}}_{j_{1}^{\prime}}\cdots A^{j_{n}}_{j_{n}}B^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}_{j_{n}^{\prime}})}{\partial B^{i'_{1}\cdots i'_{m}}_{j_{1}^{\prime}\cdots j_{n}^{\prime}}}$$
$$= A^{i_{1}}_{i_{1}^{\prime}}\cdots A^{i_{m}}_{i_{m}}A^{j_{1}^{\prime}}_{j_{1}^{\prime}}\cdots A^{j_{n}^{\prime}}_{j_{n}}\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial B^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}}}.$$
(2.160)

2.3. Tensor calculus

In this section, the Christoffel symbol will be introduced to discuss the differentiation of tensors. Further, the invariant differential operators and the integral theorems will be presented. The Riemann-Christoffel curvature tensors will be discussed.

2.3.1. Differentiation

Consider a tensor field as

$$\boldsymbol{\psi} = \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_1 \cdots i_m} \,_{j_1 \cdots j_n} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_m} \mathbf{g}^{j_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_n} \,. \tag{2.161}$$

The components and bases of the tensor $\boldsymbol{\psi}$ are functions of curvilinear coordinates x^k and x_l . For the differentiation and integration of a tensor, the base vectors cannot be treated as constants. Without loss of generality, consider a vector \mathbf{p} , and its differentiation is

$$d\mathbf{p} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial x^{i}} dx^{i} = dx^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \text{ and } d\mathbf{p} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial x_{i}} dx_{i} = dx_{i} \mathbf{g}^{i}.$$
 (2.162)

Note that dx^i (or dx_i) with x_i (or x^i) does not have any direct differentiation, but the local bases \mathbf{g}^i (or \mathbf{g}_i) are relative to coordinates x_k (or x^k).

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{j}}{\partial x^{i}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} \left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial x^{j}} \right) = \mathbf{p}_{,ji}.$$
(2.163)

If $\mathbf{p} = z^k (x^1, x^2, x^3) \mathbf{i}_k$, $\mathbf{g}_i = (\partial z^k / \partial x^i) \mathbf{i}_k$ and $\mathbf{i}_k = (\partial x^i / \partial z^k) \mathbf{g}_i$, the foregoing equation becomes

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{j}}{\partial x^{i}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} \left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial x^{j}} \right) = \frac{\partial^{2} z^{k}}{\partial x^{j} \partial x^{i}} \mathbf{i}_{k} = \frac{\partial^{2} z^{k}}{\partial x^{j} \partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial x^{l}}{\partial z^{k}} \mathbf{g}_{l}$$
$$= \frac{\partial^{2} z^{k}}{\partial x^{j} \partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial x^{l}}{\partial z^{k}} \mathbf{g}_{l} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{m} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{m} = \frac{\partial^{2} z^{k}}{\partial x^{j} \partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial x^{l}}{\partial z^{k}} g_{lm} \mathbf{g}^{m}.$$
(2.164)

Introduce the Christoffel symbols of the first and second kinds as

$$\Gamma_{ijl} = \frac{\partial^2 z^k}{\partial x^i \partial x^i} \frac{\partial x^m}{\partial z^k} g_{ml} \text{ and } \Gamma_{ij}^{l} = \frac{\partial^2 z^k}{\partial x^j \partial x^i} \frac{\partial x^l}{\partial z^k}$$
(2.165)

or

$$\Gamma_{ij}^{l} = \Gamma_{ijm} g^{ml} \text{ and } \Gamma_{ijl} = \Gamma_{ij}^{m} g_{ml}.$$
(2.166)

Equation (2.164) becomes

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{j}}{\partial x^{i}} = \Gamma_{ij}^{\prime} \mathbf{g}_{i} \text{ and } \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{j}}{\partial x^{i}} = \Gamma_{ij} \mathbf{g}^{i}.$$
(2.167)

Thus,

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{j}}{\partial x^{i}} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{l} = \Gamma_{ij}^{l} \text{ and } \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{j}}{\partial x^{i}} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{l} = \Gamma_{ijl}.$$
(2.168)

Because

$$0 = \frac{\partial \delta_{j}^{k}}{\partial x^{i}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} \left(\mathbf{g}_{j} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{k} \right) = \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{j}}{\partial x^{i}} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{k} + \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}^{k}}{\partial x^{i}} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{j}$$
$$= \Gamma_{ij}^{k} + \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}^{k}}{\partial x^{i}} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{j}, \qquad (2.169)$$

the following relations are obtained.

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{g}^{k}}{\partial x^{i}} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{j} = -\Gamma_{ij}^{k} \text{ and } \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}^{k}}{\partial x^{i}} = -\Gamma_{ij}^{k} \mathbf{g}^{j}.$$
(2.170)

Using Eq.(2.164), the derivative of the fundamental metric tensor g_{ij} with respect to coordinate x^k (k = 1, 2, 3) gives

$$g_{ij,k} = \frac{\partial g_{ij}}{\partial x^{k}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{k}} (\mathbf{g}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{j}) = \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{i}}{\partial x^{k}} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{j} + \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{j}}{\partial x^{k}} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{i}$$
$$= \Gamma_{kij} + \Gamma_{kji}.$$
(2.171)

Similarly,

$$g_{jk,i} = \Gamma_{ijk} + \Gamma_{ikj} \text{ and } g_{ki,j} = \Gamma_{jki} + \Gamma_{jik}.$$
(2.172)

Because of $\Gamma_{iik} = \Gamma_{iik}$, from Eq.(2.165), equation (2.172) becomes

$$g_{jk,i} = \Gamma_{ijk} + \Gamma_{kij} \text{ and } g_{ki,j} = \Gamma_{kji} + \Gamma_{ijk}.$$
(2.173)

Adding both of equations in Eq.(2.173) and subtracting Eq.(2.171) yields

$$\Gamma_{ijk} = \frac{1}{2} (g_{jk,i} + g_{ki,j} - g_{ij,k}).$$
(2.174)

The derivative of volume $\sqrt{g} = [\mathbf{g}_1 \mathbf{g}_2 \mathbf{g}_3] = \mathbf{g}_1 \cdot (\mathbf{g}_2 \times \mathbf{g}_3)$ with respect to coordinate x^i (*i* = 1, 2, 3) is

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}}\sqrt{g} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}}\mathbf{g}_{1} \cdot (\mathbf{g}_{2} \times \mathbf{g}_{3}) + \mathbf{g}_{1} \cdot (\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}}\mathbf{g}_{2} \times \mathbf{g}_{3}) + \mathbf{g}_{1} \cdot (\mathbf{g}_{2} \times \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}}\mathbf{g}_{3})$$

52

2.3. Tensor calculus

$$= \Gamma_{ir}^{r} [\mathbf{g}_{r} \mathbf{g}_{2} \mathbf{g}_{3}] + \Gamma_{i2}^{r} [\mathbf{g}_{1} \mathbf{g}_{r} \mathbf{g}_{3}] + \Gamma_{i3}^{r} [\mathbf{g}_{1} \mathbf{g}_{2} \mathbf{g}_{r}]$$

$$= \Gamma_{ir}^{r} [\mathbf{g}_{1} \mathbf{g}_{2} \mathbf{g}_{3}] = \Gamma_{ir}^{r} \sqrt{g}.$$
 (2.175)

Notice that $[\mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}_k] \neq 0$ for $i \neq j \neq k \neq i$ and $[\mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}_k] = 0$ for the other are adopted.

Introduce the Hamilton operator as

$$\nabla = \mathbf{g}^i \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} = \mathbf{g}_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$$
 for $i = 1, 2, ..., n.$ (2.176)

(A) Scalar function gradient For a zero-order tensor (or scalar) $\varphi(x^1, x^2, ..., x^N)$, the gradient of such a quantity is given by

$$\nabla \varphi = \mathbf{g}^{i} \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x^{i}} \text{ for } i = 1, 2, ..., N;$$
(2.177)

from which the differentiation of $\varphi(x^1, x^2, ..., x^N)$ is expressed by

$$d\varphi = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x^{i}} dx^{i} = dx^{j} \mathbf{g}_{j} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{i} \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x^{i}} = d\mathbf{p} \cdot \nabla \varphi.$$
(2.178)

(B) *Vector gradient* For a first-order tensor (or vector) $\mathbf{v} = v^i \mathbf{g}_i = v_i \mathbf{g}^i$,

$$d\mathbf{v} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial x^{i}} dx^{i} = dx^{j} \mathbf{g}_{j} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{i} \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial x^{i}} = d\mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{i} (\frac{\partial v^{j}}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{g}_{j} + v^{j} \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{j}}{\partial x^{i}})$$
$$= d\mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} (\frac{\partial v^{j}}{\partial x^{i}} + \Gamma^{j}_{ir} v^{r}) = d\mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} (v^{j}_{,i} + \Gamma^{j}_{ir} v^{r}) = d\mathbf{p} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{v}.$$
(2.179)

Therefore,

$$\nabla \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} (v_{,i}^{j} + \Gamma_{ir}^{j} v^{r}) \text{ and } \nabla_{i} v^{j} \equiv v_{,i}^{j} = v_{,i}^{j} + \Gamma_{ir}^{j} v^{r}.$$
(2.180)

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial x^{i}} = v_{;i}^{j} \mathbf{g}_{j} = \mathbf{g}_{j} (v_{,i}^{j} + \Gamma_{ir}^{j} v^{r}) \text{ and } \nabla \mathbf{v} = v_{;i}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{j}.$$
(2.181)

Thus the covariant partial derivative of a contravariant vector with respect to x^i is

$$v_{\ ;i}^{j} = v_{\ ,i}^{j} + \Gamma_{ii}^{j} v^{r}.$$
(2.182)

Similarly, for $\mathbf{v} = v_i \mathbf{g}^i$, the following equations are achieved.

$$\nabla \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} (v_{j,i} - \Gamma_{ij}^{r} v_{r}) \text{ and } \nabla_{i} v_{j} \equiv v_{j,i} = v_{j,i} - \Gamma_{ij}^{r} v_{r}$$

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial x^{i}} = v_{j,i} \mathbf{g}^{j} = \mathbf{g}^{j} (v_{j,i} - \Gamma_{ij}^{r} v_{r}) \text{ and } \nabla \mathbf{v} = v_{j,i} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j}.$$
(2.183)

The covariant partial derivative of a covariant vector with respect to x^i is

$$v_{j;i} = v_{j,i} - \Gamma_{ij}^r v_r.$$
(2.184)

As in Eq.(2.179),

$$d\mathbf{v} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial x^{i}} dx^{i} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{j} dx^{j} = \left[\frac{\partial v^{j}}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{g}_{j} + v^{j} \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{j}}{\partial x^{i}}\right] \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot d\mathbf{p}$$
$$= \left[\frac{\partial v^{j}}{\partial x^{i}} + \Gamma_{ir}^{j} v^{r}\right] \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot d\mathbf{p} = (v_{,i}^{j} + \Gamma_{ir}^{j} v^{r}) \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot d\mathbf{p}$$
$$\equiv v_{,i}^{j} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot d\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{v} \nabla \cdot d\mathbf{p}.$$
(2.185)

Thus,

$$\mathbf{v}\nabla = v_{;i}^{j}\mathbf{g}_{j}\mathbf{g}^{i} \text{ and } v_{;i}^{j} = v_{,i}^{j} + \Gamma_{ir}^{j}v^{r}.$$

$$(2.186)$$

In a similar fashion, for a contravariant vector,

$$\mathbf{v}\nabla = v_{i;j}\mathbf{g}^{j}\mathbf{g}^{i} \quad \text{and} \quad v_{i;j} = v_{i,j} + \Gamma^{i}_{jr}v^{r}.$$
(2.187)

Therefore,

$$\nabla \mathbf{v} \neq \mathbf{v} \nabla$$
 and $\nabla \mathbf{v} = (\mathbf{v} \nabla)^{\mathrm{T}}$ (2.188)

(C) Tensor gradient

To extend the concept of the vector gradient to the tensor, the gradient of a tensor $\boldsymbol{\varphi}$ can be discussed via its total differentiation, i.e.,

$$d\boldsymbol{\psi} = \boldsymbol{\psi}_{,r} dx^{r} = dx^{s} \mathbf{g}_{s} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{r} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} \boldsymbol{\psi} \equiv d\mathbf{p} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi}.$$
(2.189)

$$d\boldsymbol{\psi} = \boldsymbol{\psi}_{,r} dx^{r} = \boldsymbol{\psi} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} \mathbf{g}^{r} \cdot dx^{s} \mathbf{g}_{s} \equiv \boldsymbol{\psi} \nabla \cdot d\mathbf{p}.$$
(2.190)

Thus,

$$\nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} = \mathbf{g}^{r} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}})$$

$$= \mathbf{g}^{r} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}) + \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}\right]$$

$$+ \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}$$

$$+ \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} (\mathbf{g}_{i_{1}})\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} + \cdots$$

$$+ \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} (\mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}) \right]$$

$$= \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}}) - \boldsymbol{W} \Gamma^{s}_{rs} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}} + \Gamma^{i_{1}}_{rs} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{si_{2}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}} + \cdots \right. \\ \left. + \Gamma^{i_{m}}_{rs} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m-1}s}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}} - \Gamma^{s}_{rj_{1}} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{sj_{2}\cdots j_{n}} - \cdots - \Gamma^{s}_{rj_{n}} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n-1}s} \right] \\ \left. \times \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}. \right.$$
(2.191)

Introduce the component of $\nabla \psi$ (i.e., the covariant partial derivative of a tensor component)

$$\nabla_{r} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}}) - W\Gamma^{s}_{rs} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}}$$
$$+ \Gamma^{i_{1}}_{rs} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{si_{2}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}} + \cdots + \Gamma^{i_{m}}_{rs} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{n-1}s}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}}$$
$$- \Gamma^{s}_{rj_{1}} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{sj_{2}\cdots j_{n}} - \cdots - \Gamma^{s}_{rj_{n}} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n-1}s}$$
$$\equiv \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n};r}.$$
(2.192)

Thus

$$\nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} = \nabla_{r} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}$$
$$= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}.$$
(2.193)

Similarly,

$$\boldsymbol{\psi} \boldsymbol{\nabla} = \nabla_{r} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{i_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{i_{n}} \mathbf{g}^{r}$$
$$= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} \mathbf{g}^{r}.$$
(2.194)

Note that $\nabla_r \neq \partial / \partial x^r$ and ∇_r cannot apply to the base vector and g. In the contravariant coordinate system, the Hamilton operator can be defined in a similar fashion.

Theorem 2.9. (Ricci's theorem). *The covariant partial differentiation of metric tensors is a zero tensor, i.e.*,

$$\nabla_{i}g_{jk} = g_{jk;i} = 0, \ \nabla_{i}g^{jk} = g^{jk}_{;i} = 0, \ \nabla_{i}\delta_{k}^{j} = \delta_{k;i}^{j} = 0.$$
(2.195)

Proof: Because $\mathbf{I} = g_{jk} \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{k} = \delta_{k}^{j} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}^{k} = g^{jk} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}_{k}$ is a constant tensor, $d\mathbf{I} = 0$ and $\nabla \mathbf{I} = 0$. So all components should be zero, i.e.,

$$\nabla_i g_{jk} = g_{jk;i} = 0, \ \nabla_i g^{jk} = g^{jk}_{;i} = 0, \ \nabla_i \delta_k^j = \delta_{k;i}^j = 0.$$

On the other hand,

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_{i}g_{jk} &= g_{jk;i} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}}g_{jk} - \Gamma_{ij}^{r}g_{rk} - \Gamma_{ik}^{r}g_{jr} \\ &= \Gamma_{ijk} + \Gamma_{ikj} - \Gamma_{ijk} - \Gamma_{ikj} \\ &= 0, \end{aligned}$$
$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_{i}g^{jk} &= g^{jk}_{;i} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}}g^{jk} + \Gamma_{ir}^{j}g^{rk} + \Gamma_{ir}^{k}g^{jr} \\ &= -\Gamma_{ir}^{j}g^{rk} - \Gamma_{ir}^{k}g^{jr} + \Gamma_{ir}^{j}g^{rk} + \Gamma_{ir}^{k}g^{jr} \\ &= 0, \end{aligned}$$
$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_{i}\delta_{k}^{j} &= \delta_{k;i}^{j} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}}\delta_{k}^{j} + \Gamma_{ir}^{j}\delta_{k}^{r} - \Gamma_{ik}^{r}\delta_{r}^{j} \\ &= 0 + \Gamma_{ik}^{j} - \Gamma_{ik}^{j} \\ &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

This theorem is proved.

From the foregoing theorem,

$$v_{;i}^{j} = (g^{jr}v_{r})_{;i} = g^{jr}v_{r;i}$$
 and $v_{j;i} = (g_{jr}v^{r})_{;i} = g_{jr}v^{r}_{;i}$. (2.196)

Theorem 2.10. The covariant partial differentiation of the Eddington tensor is a zero tensor, i.e.,

$$\nabla_{r} \varepsilon^{ijk} = \varepsilon^{ijk}_{;r} = 0 \text{ and } \nabla_{r} \varepsilon_{ijk} = \varepsilon_{ijk;r} = 0.$$
(2.197)

Proof: Because $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{ijk} \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}_k$ and $\varepsilon^{ijk} = [\mathbf{g}^i \mathbf{g}^j \mathbf{g}^k]$, its differentiation is

$$\nabla \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} = \nabla_{r} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{ijk} \mathbf{g}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}_{k} = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{ijk}_{;r} \mathbf{g}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}_{k} = \mathbf{g}^{r} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} (\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{ijk} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}_{k})$$

$$= \mathbf{g}^{r} \{ \left(\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} (\mathbf{g}^{i}) \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{k} \right] + \left[\mathbf{g}^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} (\mathbf{g}^{j}) \mathbf{g}^{k} \right] + \left[\mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} (\mathbf{g}^{k}) \right] \right) \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}_{k}$$

$$+ \left[\mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{k} \right] \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} (\mathbf{g}_{i}) \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}_{k} + \mathbf{g}_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} (\mathbf{g}_{j}) \mathbf{g}_{k} + \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} (\mathbf{g}_{k}) \right] \}$$

$$= \mathbf{g}^{r} \{ \left(- \Gamma_{rs}^{i} \left[\mathbf{g}^{s} \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{k} \right] - \Gamma_{rs}^{j} \left[\mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{s} \mathbf{g}^{k} \right] - \Gamma_{rs}^{k} \left[\mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{s} \right] \right) \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}_{k}$$

$$+ \left[\mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{k} \right] \Gamma_{ri}^{s} \mathbf{g}_{s} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}_{k} + \Gamma_{rj}^{s} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{s} \mathbf{g}_{k} + \Gamma_{rk}^{s} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{g}_{s} \}$$

$$= 0.$$

Therefore,

$$\nabla_r \varepsilon^{ijk} = \varepsilon^{ijk}_{r} = 0.$$

In an alike fashion, the following formulas hold:

2.3. Tensor calculus

$$\nabla_r \varepsilon_{ijk} = \varepsilon_{ijk;r} = 0.$$

This theorem is proved.

(D) Derivative distribution

$$\nabla_{r} (\alpha \psi^{i_{1} \cdots i_{m}}_{j_{1} \cdots j_{n}} + \beta \varphi^{i_{1} \cdots i_{m}}_{j_{1} \cdots j_{n}})$$

= $\alpha \nabla_{r} \psi^{i_{1} \cdots i_{m}}_{j_{1} \cdots j_{n}} + \beta \nabla_{r} \varphi^{i_{1} \cdots i_{m}}_{j_{1} \cdots j_{n}}.$ (2.198)

(E) Leibniz rule

$$\nabla_{r} (\boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}} \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{k_{1}\cdots k_{r}}{}_{l_{1}\cdots l_{s}}) = \nabla_{r} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}} \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{k_{1}\cdots k_{r}}{}_{l_{1}\cdots l_{s}} + \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}} \nabla_{r} \boldsymbol{\varphi}^{k_{1}\cdots k_{r}}{}_{l_{1}\cdots l_{s}}.$$

$$(2.199)$$

From the gradient operator in the covariant coordinate bases, the gradient operator in the contravariant bases is defined as

$$\nabla^{r} \psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} \psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}} = \frac{\partial}{g_{rs}\partial x^{s}} \psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}}$$
$$= g^{rs} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{s}} \psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}} = g^{rs} \nabla_{r} \psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}}.$$
(2.200)

The relation $\partial x_r = \partial x^s g_{rs}$ is used because of $d\mathbf{p} = dx^s \mathbf{g}_s = dx_r \mathbf{g}^r$.

2.3.2. Invariant differential operators and integral theorems

After discussed the gradient of a tensor, as in the vector analysis, there are four types of differential operators. Such a concept can be extended to the tensor. For a tensor $\boldsymbol{\psi}$, the following differentiations are

$$\operatorname{grad} \boldsymbol{\psi} \equiv \boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{\psi} = \nabla_r \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_1 \cdots i_m} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}^r \mathbf{g}_{i_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_m} \mathbf{g}^{j_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_n}$$
$$= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_1 \cdots i_m} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}^r \mathbf{g}_{i_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_m} \mathbf{g}^{j_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_n}.$$
(2.201)

$$\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\psi} \equiv \boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \boldsymbol{\psi} = \nabla_{r} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{ri_{2} \cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1} \cdots j_{n}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{2}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}$$
$$= \boldsymbol{\psi}^{ri_{2} \cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1} \cdots j_{n}; r} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{2}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}.$$
(2.202)

$$\operatorname{rot} \boldsymbol{\psi} \equiv \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{\psi} = \mathbf{g}^{r} \times \nabla_{r} \boldsymbol{\psi}_{i_{1} \cdots i_{m}}^{j_{1} \cdots j_{n}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}^{i_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}_{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{j_{n}}$$
$$= \varepsilon^{sri_{1}} \boldsymbol{\psi}_{i_{1} \cdots i_{m}}^{j_{1} \cdots j_{n}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{s} \mathbf{g}^{i_{2}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}_{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{j_{n}}.$$
(2.203)

57

$$\nabla^{2} \boldsymbol{\psi} \equiv \operatorname{div} \operatorname{grad} \boldsymbol{\psi} = \nabla \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi}$$
$$= \nabla^{r} \nabla_{r} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{m}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}}. \qquad (2.204)$$

From Schouten (1951), the integration on a manifold can be expressed by

$$\int_{\mathfrak{V}_{m+1}} d\mathfrak{V}^{ri_1\cdots i_m} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^r} \odot \psi^{j_1\cdots j_n} = \oint_{\mathfrak{V}_m} d\mathfrak{V}^{i_1\cdots i_m} \odot \psi^{j_1\cdots j_n}$$
(2.205)

where $d\mathfrak{V}^{r_1\cdots r_m}$ and $d\mathfrak{V}^{i_1\cdots i_m}$ are (m+1) and m-dimensional Grassmann volume elements. The volume \mathfrak{V}_m is the boundary of the volume \mathfrak{V}_{m+1} . The operator " \odot " represents any operation between the tensor ψ and the volume elements $d\mathfrak{A}$.

$$\int_{\mathfrak{V}_{m+1}} \mathbf{g}_r \mathbf{g}_{i_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_m} d\mathfrak{V}^{ri_1 \cdots i_m} \cdot \mathbf{g}^r \frac{\partial}{\partial x^r} \odot \boldsymbol{\psi}^{j_1 \cdots j_n} \mathbf{g}_{j_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{j_n}$$
$$= \oint_{\mathfrak{V}_m} \mathbf{g}_{i_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_m} d\mathfrak{V}^{i_1 \cdots i_m} \odot \boldsymbol{\psi}^{j_1 \cdots j_n} \mathbf{g}_{j_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{j_n}, \qquad (2.206)$$

$$\int_{\mathfrak{V}_{m+1}} d\mathfrak{V}^{(m+1)} \cdot \nabla \odot \boldsymbol{\psi} = \oint_{\mathfrak{V}_m} d\mathfrak{V}^{(m)} \odot \boldsymbol{\psi}$$
(2.207)

where

$$d\mathfrak{V}^{(m+1)} = d\mathfrak{V}^{r_{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}} \mathbf{g}_{r} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}},$$

$$d\mathfrak{V}^{(m)} = d\mathfrak{V}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}},$$

$$\boldsymbol{\psi} = \boldsymbol{\psi}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}} \mathbf{g}_{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{j_{n}}.$$

(2.208)

In the 3-D Euclidean space, $m \in \{1,2\}$. The volume integration changes to the area integration by the Green transformation. The area integration is converted into the linear integration by the Kelvin transformation.

$$d\mathfrak{V}^{i_{1}i_{2}i_{3}} = 3! d_{1}^{x_{1}^{i_{1}}} d_{2}^{x_{2}^{i_{2}}} d_{3}^{x_{3}^{i_{3}}}, d\mathfrak{V}^{(3)} = d\mathfrak{V}^{i_{1}i_{2}i_{3}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{2}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{3}},$$

$$d\mathfrak{V}^{i_{2}i_{3}} = 2! d_{4}^{x_{2}^{i_{2}}} d_{5}^{x_{3}^{i_{3}}}, \quad d\mathfrak{V}^{(2)} = d\mathfrak{V}^{i_{2}i_{3}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{2}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{3}},$$

$$d\mathfrak{V}^{i_{3}} = 1! d_{5}^{x_{3}^{i_{3}}}, \quad d\mathfrak{V}^{(1)} = d\mathfrak{V}^{i_{3}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{3}}.$$

(2.209)

Note that

$$dv = \frac{1}{3!} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} : d\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{V}}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{3!} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{i_1 i_2 i_3} d\mathfrak{V}^{i_1 i_2 i_3}$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{i_1 i_2 i_3} d\mathbf{x}_1^{i_1} d\mathbf{x}_2^{i_2} d\mathbf{x}_3^{i_3} = [d\mathbf{p} d\mathbf{p} d\mathbf{p}],$$

$$d\mathbf{a} = \frac{1}{2!} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} : d\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{V}}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{3!} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{ijk} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{k} : d\mathfrak{V}^{i_2 i_3} \mathbf{g}_{i_2} \mathbf{g}_{i_3}$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{i_1 i_2 i_3} d\mathbf{x}_4^{i_2} d\mathbf{x}_5^{i_3} \mathbf{g}^{i} = d\mathbf{p} \times d\mathbf{p},$$

(2.210)

2.3. Tensor calculus

$$d\mathfrak{V}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{0!} \varepsilon d\nu, \quad d\mathfrak{V}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{1!} \varepsilon \cdot d\mathbf{a}.$$
(2.211)

For m = 2,

$$\int_{\mathfrak{V}_3} d\mathfrak{V}^{(3)} \cdot \nabla \odot \psi = \oint_{\mathfrak{V}_2} d\mathfrak{V}^{(2)} \odot \psi.$$
(2.212)

The left double dot product of $\frac{1}{2!}\varepsilon$ to both sides of Eq.(2.212) gives

$$\int_{\mathfrak{V}_3} \frac{1}{2!} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} : d\mathfrak{V}^{(3)} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \odot \boldsymbol{\psi} = \oint_{\mathfrak{V}_2} \frac{1}{2!} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} : d\mathfrak{V}^{(2)} \odot \boldsymbol{\psi}, \qquad (2.213)$$

$$\int_{\nu} \frac{1}{2!} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} : \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} d\nu \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \odot \boldsymbol{\psi} = \oint_{a} d\mathbf{a} \odot \boldsymbol{\psi}, \qquad (2.214)$$

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}} d\mathbf{v} \mathbf{I} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \odot \boldsymbol{\psi} = \oint_{a} d\mathbf{a} \odot \boldsymbol{\psi}.$$
(2.215)

Finally,

$$\int_{V} dv \nabla \odot \boldsymbol{\psi} = \oint_{a} d\mathbf{a} \odot \boldsymbol{\psi}.$$
(2.216)

The above equation can be applied to any curvilinear coordinate systems. Setting " \odot " be contraction, dot product and cross product, the foregoing equation becomes

$$\int_{v} dv \operatorname{grad} \boldsymbol{\psi} = \oint_{a} d\mathbf{a} \boldsymbol{\psi},$$

$$\int_{v} dv \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\psi} = \oint_{a} d\mathbf{a} \cdot \boldsymbol{\psi},$$

$$\int_{v} dv \operatorname{rot} \boldsymbol{\psi} = \oint_{a} d\mathbf{a} \times \boldsymbol{\psi}.$$
(2.217)

For m = 1,

$$-\int_{\mathfrak{V}_2} d\mathfrak{V}^{(2)} \cdot \nabla \odot \psi = \oint_{\mathfrak{V}_1} d\mathfrak{V}^{(1)} \odot \psi, \qquad (2.218)$$

$$-\int_{a} (\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \cdot d\mathbf{a}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \odot \boldsymbol{\psi} = \oint_{c} d\mathbf{p} \odot \boldsymbol{\psi}, \qquad (2.219)$$

$$\int_{a} d\mathbf{a} \times \nabla \odot \boldsymbol{\psi} = \oint_{c} d\mathbf{p} \odot \boldsymbol{\psi}.$$
(2.220)

Setting " \odot " to be a dot product,

$$\int_{a} d\mathbf{a} \times \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\psi} = \int_{a} d\mathbf{a} \cdot \nabla \times \boldsymbol{\psi} = \int_{a} d\mathbf{a} \cdot \operatorname{rot} \boldsymbol{\psi} = \oint_{c} d\mathbf{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{\psi}.$$
 (2.221)

If $\boldsymbol{\psi}$ is a vector, the foregoing equation is the *Stokes formula*.

2.3.3. Riemann-Christoffel curvature tensors

In calculus, the order of mixed partial derivative of a scalar is not important, i.e.,

$$\frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x^1 \partial x^2} = \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x^2 \partial x^1}.$$
 (2.222)

For a vector $\mathbf{u} = u_i \mathbf{g}^i$, one would like to know whether the second-order covariant derivatives of components of a vector can commute or not. Thus, consider

$$u_{i;jk} = (u_{i;j})_{,k} - \Gamma_{ki}^{r} u_{r;j} - \Gamma_{kj}^{s} u_{i;r}$$

= $u_{i,jk} - \Gamma_{ji,k}^{r} u_{r} - \Gamma_{ji}^{s} u_{s,k} - \Gamma_{ki}^{r} (u_{r,j} - \Gamma_{jr}^{s} u_{s}) - \Gamma_{kj}^{r} (u_{i,r} - \Gamma_{ri}^{s} u_{s})$
= $u_{i,jk} - \Gamma_{kj}^{r} u_{i,r} - \Gamma_{ki}^{r} u_{r,j} - \Gamma_{ji}^{r} u_{r,k} - u_{s} (\Gamma_{ji,k}^{s} - \Gamma_{ik}^{r} \Gamma_{jr}^{s} - \Gamma_{kj}^{r} \Gamma_{ri}^{s}).$ (2.223)

Similarly,

$$u_{i;kj} = u_{i,kj} - \Gamma_{jk}^{r} u_{i,r} - \Gamma_{ji}^{r} u_{r,k} - \Gamma_{ki}^{r} u_{r,j} - u_{s} \left(\Gamma_{ki,j}^{s} - \Gamma_{ij}^{r} \Gamma_{kr}^{s} - \Gamma_{jk}^{r} \Gamma_{ri}^{s}\right).$$
(2.224)

So Eq.(2.223) minus Eq.(2.224) yields

$$u_{i;jk} - u_{i;kj} = u_s (\Gamma^s_{ki,j} - \Gamma^s_{ji,k} + \Gamma^r_{ik} \Gamma^s_{jr} - \Gamma^r_{ij} \Gamma^s_{kr}).$$
(2.225)

Since u_s is an arbitrary vector, and the left-hand side of Eq.(2.225) is a covariant tensor of third order. From the quotient law, the coefficient of u_s on the right-hand side should be a fourth-order tensor, and this tensor possesses once contravariant and three times covariant. Such a tensor is called the *Riemann-Christoffel* tensor. Therefore, the *Riemann-Christoffel* tensor is defined as

$$R^{s}_{ijk} = \Gamma^{s}_{ki,j} - \Gamma^{s}_{ji,k} + \Gamma^{r}_{ik} \Gamma^{s}_{jr} - \Gamma^{r}_{ij} \Gamma^{s}_{kr}.$$
(2.226)

Further, equation (2.224) becomes

$$2u_{i;[jk]} = u_{i;jk} - u_{i;kj} = u_s R^s_{ijk}, \qquad (2.227)$$

with

$$(u_{i;jk} - u_{i;kj})\mathbf{g} \, \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{k} = u_{s} R^{s}_{ijk} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{k} = u_{s} \mathbf{g}^{s} \cdot R^{r}_{ijk} \mathbf{g}_{r} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{k}$$
$$= \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{R}.$$
 (2.228)

Theorem 2.11. *Cross-covariant derivatives of any vector are equal* $(u_{i;jk} = u_{i;kj})$ *if and only if the Riemann-Christoffel tensor vanishes* $(R_{ijk}^s = 0)$.

Proof : Since

$$u_{i;jk} - u_{i;kj} = u_s R^s_{ijk},$$

2.3. Tensor calculus

if $u_{i;jk} = u_{i;kj}$, because of any selection of u_s , $R_{ijk}^s = 0$; vice versa. This theorem is proved.

Definition 2.24. The curvature tensor is defined by

$$R_{iikl} = g_{ir} R^{r}_{ikl}.$$
 (2.229)

Theorem 2.12. The curvature tensor is expressed by

$$R_{ijkl} = \frac{1}{2} (g_{il,jk} + g_{jk,il} - g_{ik,jl} - g_{jl,ik}) + g^{rs} (\Gamma_{ilr} \Gamma_{jks} - \Gamma_{ikr} \Gamma_{jls}).$$
(2.230)

Proof: Since

$$\Gamma_{jli,k} = (g_{ir}\Gamma_{jl}^{r})_{,k} = g_{ir,k}\Gamma_{jl}^{r} + g_{ir}\Gamma_{jl,k}^{r} = (\Gamma_{ikr} + \Gamma_{rki})\Gamma_{jl}^{r} + g_{ir}\Gamma_{jl,k}^{r},$$

The deformation of the foregoing equation gives

$$g_{ir}\Gamma_{jl,k}^{r}=\Gamma_{jli,k}-(\Gamma_{ikr}+\Gamma_{rki})\Gamma_{jl}^{r}.$$

Similarly,

$$g_{ir}\Gamma^{r}_{jk,l} = \Gamma_{jki,l} - (\Gamma_{ilr} + \Gamma_{rli})\Gamma^{r}_{jk}$$

Using the foregoing equations, the definition of the curvature gives

$$\begin{split} R_{ijkl} &= g_{ir} R_{jkl}^r = g_{ir} \left(\Gamma_{lj,k}^r - \Gamma_{kj,l}^r + \Gamma_{jl}^s \Gamma_{ks}^r - \Gamma_{jk}^s \Gamma_{ls}^r \right) \\ &= \Gamma_{jli,k} - \left(\Gamma_{ikr} + \Gamma_{rki} \right) \Gamma_{jl}^r - \Gamma_{jki,l} + \left(\Gamma_{ilr} + \Gamma_{rli} \right) \Gamma_{jk}^r + \Gamma_{jl}^r \Gamma_{ikr} - \Gamma_{jk}^r \Gamma_{ilr} \\ &= \Gamma_{jli,k} - \Gamma_{rki} \Gamma_{jl}^r - \Gamma_{jki,l} + \Gamma_{rli} \Gamma_{jk}^r. \end{split}$$

Because

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{jli,k} &= \frac{1}{2} (g_{li,j} + g_{ij,l} - g_{jl,i})_{,k} = \frac{1}{2} (g_{li,jk} + g_{ij,lk} - g_{jl,ik}), \\ \Gamma_{jkl,l} &= \frac{1}{2} (g_{kl,j} + g_{ij,k} - g_{jk,i})_{,l} = \frac{1}{2} (g_{kl,jl} + g_{ij,kl} - g_{jk,il}), \end{split}$$

with $\Gamma_{ijk} = g_{kr} \Gamma_{ij}^r$, the curvature tensor is given by

$$\begin{split} R_{ijkl} &= \Gamma_{jli,k} - \Gamma_{rkl} \Gamma_{jl}^{r} - \Gamma_{jkl,l} + \Gamma_{rli} \Gamma_{jk}^{r} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (g_{li,jk} + g_{jk,il} - g_{ij,lk} - g_{kl,jl}) + g^{rs} (\Gamma_{rli} \Gamma_{jks} - \Gamma_{rkl} \Gamma_{jls}). \end{split}$$

This theorem is proved.

The following symmetry of the curvature tensor is very easily proved as

$$R_{ijkl} = R_{iklj} = -R_{jikl} = -R_{ijlk}.$$
 (2.231)

Consider a second-order tensor $\mathbf{A} = A_{ij}\mathbf{g}^{i}\mathbf{g}^{j} = A^{ij}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{g}_{j}$. The cross-covariant derivative of the second-order tensor is

$$A_{ij;kl} - A_{ij;kl} = A_{rj}R_{ikl}^{r} + A_{ir}R_{jkl}^{r},$$

$$A^{ij}_{;kl} - A^{ij}_{;kl} = -A^{rj}R_{,rkl}^{i} - A^{ir}R_{,rkl}^{j}.$$
(2.232)

Bianchi's identities:

$$R_{qij;k}^{p} + R_{qik;i}^{p} + R_{qki;j}^{p} = 0,$$

$$R_{pqij;k} + R_{pqik;i} + R_{pqki;j} = 0.$$
(2.233)

Consider a tensor $\boldsymbol{\psi} = \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_1 \cdots i_m} \mathbf{g}_{i_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_m} \mathbf{g}^{j_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_n}$. The cross-covariant derivative of the second-order tensor is

$$\psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n};kl} - \psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n};lk} = -\psi^{r\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}}R^{i_{1}}{}_{rkl} - \cdots - \psi^{i_{1}\cdots r}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n}}R^{i_{m}}{}_{rkl} + \psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{rj_{2}\cdots j_{n}}R^{r}{}_{j_{1}kl} + \cdots + \psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{n-l}r}R^{r}{}_{j_{n}kl}.$$
(2.234)

Since the Riemann-Christoffel tensor is a measure of the curvature of the space, a space of vanishing such a tensor is called *a flat space*. In the Euclidean space, the Riemann-Christoffel tensor vanishes, thus Euclidean space is a flat space.

In the curvilinear coordinate, the covariant partial derivatives of the tensor components in the incomplete coordinate system can be carried out via $\partial / \partial x^{(i)} \equiv A_{(i)}^i \partial / \partial x^{(i)}$. Because of $(\partial / \partial x^k) A_j^{(k)} \neq (\partial / \partial x^i) A_k^{(k)}$, the covariant mixed derivative order cannot be exchanged. So the Christoffel symbol is not symmetric. The other operations of tensors in the incomplete coordinate system are similar in the complete coordinate system. In orthogonal curvilinear coordinates ($g_{ij} = g^{ij} = 0$, $i \neq j$, $g^{ii} = 1/g_{ii}$) $\Gamma_{ijk} = 0$ ($i \neq j \neq k \neq i$). The components of a tensor do not have the same units in general. Consider a vector $\mathbf{u} = u^i \mathbf{g}_i$ and introduce a unit vector $\mathbf{e}_i = \mathbf{g}_i / \sqrt{g_{ii}}$. So $\mathbf{u} = u^i \mathbf{g}_i = u^{(i)} \mathbf{e}_i$ from which $u^{(i)} = u^i \sqrt{g_{ii}}$ or $u^i = u^{(i)} / \sqrt{g_{ii}}$. The component $u^{(i)}$ is called the physical component. Such orthogonal coordinates system with the unit vector is called the physical coordinates.

2.4. Two-point tensor fields

In this section, the two-point tensor fields will be discussed. The two point tensors and differentiations for two *independent* and *correlated* reference frames are discussed. Finally the properties of shifter tensors will be presented.

62
2.4.1. Two-point tensors

Consider two curvilinear coordinates in two domains \mathfrak{B} and \mathfrak{b} to be $\{X^I\}$ and $\{x^i\}$. In the domain \mathfrak{B} , the base vectors and metric tensors can be expressed by \mathbf{G}_I and \mathbf{G}^I , G_{IJ} and G^{IJ} with $G = |G_{IJ}|$. In this book, the Guo's representation of two-point tensor fields will be adopted in Guo (1980). That is, the symbol "<" over a tensor indicates the tensor described in domain \mathfrak{B} . The symbol ">" over the tensor indicates the tensor described in domain \mathfrak{B} . The symbol "<" should be the same as the tensor order. For any order tensor, one can simply express by "<·<" and ">. *".

Definition 2.25. A *two-point tensor field* is defined in the two coordinates $\{X^I\}$ and $\{x^i\}$ by

$$\overset{\langle \cdot \rangle}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}(\mathbf{P},\mathbf{p}) = \boldsymbol{\psi}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{M}} {}_{J_{1}\cdots J_{N}} {}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} {}_{J_{1}\cdots J_{n}} \sqrt{G}^{-W} \sqrt{g}^{-W}$$

$$\cdot \mathbf{G}_{I_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{G}_{I_{M}} \mathbf{G}^{J_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{G}^{J_{N}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}},$$

$$\overset{\rangle \langle}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}(\mathbf{p},\mathbf{P}) = \boldsymbol{\psi}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{m}} {}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{M}} {}_{J_{1}\cdots J_{N}} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \sqrt{G}^{-W}$$

$$\cdot \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} \mathbf{G}_{I_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{G}_{I_{M}} \mathbf{G}^{J_{1}}\cdots \mathbf{G}^{J_{N}}.$$

$$(2.235)$$

For a simple first-order tensor, the above expression is given by

$$\hat{\mathbf{P}} = X^{T} \mathbf{G}_{T} = X_{T} \mathbf{G}^{T} \text{ and } \hat{\mathbf{V}} = V^{T} \mathbf{G}_{T} = V_{T} \mathbf{G}^{T},$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{p}} = x^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} = x_{i} \mathbf{g}^{i} \text{ and } \hat{\mathbf{v}} = v^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} = v_{i} \mathbf{g}^{i}.$$
(2.236)

It is found that the vector can be expressed by only one coordinate. Thus, the hat of the vector can be dropped.

Any second-order one-point tensor is described by only one coordinate, i.e.,

$$\widehat{\mathbf{A}} = A^{IJ} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{G}_{J} = A_{IJ} \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{G}^{J} = A^{I}{}_{J} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{G}^{J},$$

$$\widehat{\mathbf{B}} = B^{IJ} \mathbf{g}_{I} \mathbf{g}_{J} = B_{IJ} \mathbf{g}^{I} \mathbf{g}^{J} = B^{I}{}_{J} \mathbf{g}_{J} \mathbf{g}^{J}.$$

$$(2.237)$$

The above two tensors are expressed by the coordinates $\{X^I\}$ and $\{x^i\}$, respectively. However, two second-order two-point tensors are

$$\overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{A}} = A^{I}_{i}\mathbf{G}_{I}\mathbf{g}^{i} = A^{Ii}\mathbf{G}_{I}\mathbf{g}_{i} = A_{Ii}\mathbf{G}^{I}\mathbf{g}^{i} = A_{Ii}\mathbf{G}^{I}\mathbf{g}_{i}, \qquad (2.238)$$
$$\overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{B}} = B^{I}_{I}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{G}^{I} = B^{I}_{i}\mathbf{g}^{i}\mathbf{G}_{I} = B^{II}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{G}_{I} = B_{II}\mathbf{g}^{i}\mathbf{G}^{I}.$$

In Eq.(2.235), the tensor components have the following transformation as

2 Tensor Analysis

$$\Psi^{I'_{1}...I'_{M}}_{J'_{1}...J'_{N}} \stackrel{i'_{1}...j'_{n}}{}_{j'_{1}...j'_{n}} = |A^{P}_{P'}|^{W} |A^{P}_{P'}|^{W} A^{I'_{1}}_{l'_{1}} \cdots A^{J'_{M}}_{I_{M}} A^{J_{1}}_{J'_{1}} \cdots A^{J_{N}}_{J'_{N}} \\ \cdot A^{i'_{1}}_{i_{l}} \cdots A^{j'_{n}}_{i'_{m}} \Psi^{J_{1}...J_{N}} A^{J_{1}}_{J_{1}} \cdots A^{J_{N}}_{J'_{N}}$$
(2.239)

where $A_{I}^{I'} = \partial X^{I'} / \partial X^{I}$ and $A_{J'}^{J} = \partial X^{J} / \partial X^{J'}$. Other tensor algebraic operations of two-point tensors are the same as one-point tensors. The base vectors at points **P** and **p** can be either independent or relevant. Thus, two-point tensors can be discussed herein.

2.4.2. Independent coordinates

Consider the coordinate systems of the two points P and p to be independent. The covariant differentiations of two points P and p are

$$d\mathbf{P} = dX^{T}\mathbf{G}_{T}$$
 and $d\mathbf{p} = dx^{i}\mathbf{g}_{i}$. (2.240)

Definition 2.26. The total covariant differentiation of a two-point tensor field $\stackrel{\scriptstyle <>}{\Psi}(\mathbf{P},\mathbf{p})$ for the independent coordinates of two points **P** and **p** is defined as

$$d \overset{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} = d\mathbf{P} \cdot \overset{\vee}{\nabla} \overset{\vee}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} + d\mathbf{p} \cdot \overset{\vee}{\nabla} \overset{\vee}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}$$

$$= \overset{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} \overset{\vee}{\nabla} \cdot d\mathbf{P} + \overset{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} \overset{\vee}{\nabla} \cdot d\mathbf{p},$$
(2.241)

with

$$\nabla \mathbf{\Psi} = \mathbf{G}^{R} \frac{\partial}{\partial X^{R}} \mathbf{\Psi} = \mathbf{\Psi}^{I_{1} \cdots I_{M}} {}_{J_{1} \cdots J_{N}} {}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{m}} {}_{j_{1} \cdots j_{n};R} \sqrt{\mathbf{G}}^{-W} \sqrt{\mathbf{g}}^{-W}$$

$$\cdot \mathbf{G}^{R} \mathbf{G}_{I_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{G}_{I_{M}} \mathbf{G}^{J_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{G}^{J_{N}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}},$$

$$\nabla \mathbf{\Psi} = \mathbf{g}^{r} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} {}^{\mathbf{W}} = \mathbf{\Psi}^{I_{1} \cdots I_{M}} {}_{J_{1} \cdots J_{N}} {}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{m}} {}_{j_{1} \cdots j_{n};r} \sqrt{\mathbf{G}}^{-W} \sqrt{\mathbf{g}}^{-W}$$

$$\cdot \mathbf{g}^{r} \mathbf{G}_{I_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{G}_{I_{M}} \mathbf{G}^{J_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{G}^{J_{N}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}},$$

$$(2.242)$$

$$\Psi \nabla = \frac{\partial}{\partial X^{R}} {}^{\mathbf{W}} \mathbf{G}^{R} = \Psi^{I_{1} \cdots I_{M}} {}_{J_{1} \cdots J_{N}} {}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{m}} {}_{J_{1} \cdots J_{n};R} \sqrt{\mathbf{G}}^{-W} \sqrt{\mathbf{g}}^{-W}$$

$$\cdot \mathbf{G}_{I_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{G}_{I_{M}} \mathbf{G}^{J_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{G}^{J_{N}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} \mathbf{G}^{R},$$

$$\overset{\langle \rangle}{\Psi} \nabla = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} {}^{\langle \mathcal{Y}} \mathbf{g}^{r} = \Psi^{I_{1} \cdots I_{M}} {}_{J_{1} \cdots J_{N}} {}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{m}} {}_{J_{1} \cdots J_{n};r} \sqrt{\mathbf{G}}^{-W} \sqrt{\mathbf{g}}^{-W}$$

$$\cdot \mathbf{G}_{I_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{G}_{I_{M}} \mathbf{G}^{J_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{G}^{J_{N}} \mathbf{g}_{i_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{j_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_{n}} \mathbf{g}^{r},$$

where

2.4. Two-point tensor fields

$$\begin{split} \psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}_{J_{1}\cdots J_{Q}}{}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{q};R} &\equiv \nabla_{r}\psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}{}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{q}} \\ &= \psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}_{J_{1}\cdots J_{Q}}{}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{q},R} + \Gamma_{RS}^{I_{1}}\psi^{SI_{2}\cdots I_{p}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots J_{Q}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{p}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{q}} + \cdots \\ &+ \Gamma_{RS}^{I_{p}}\psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p-1}S}{}^{J_{1}\cdots J_{Q}}{}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{q}} - \Gamma_{RJ_{1}}^{S}\psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}^{sJ_{2}\cdots J_{Q}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{p}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{p}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{q}} - \cdots \\ &- \Gamma_{RJ_{Q}}^{S}\psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}^{J_{1}\cdots J_{Q-1}S}{}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots J_{p}}{}^{-W}\Gamma_{RS}^{S}\psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}^{J_{1}\cdots J_{Q}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{p}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{q}}; \end{split}$$
(2.243)
$$\psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}^{J_{1}\cdots J_{Q}}{}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{q},r} = \nabla_{r}\psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{q}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{p}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{q}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{p}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{p}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{q}}{}^{j_{1}\cdots j_{q$$

The above definition is given because of

$$d \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} = \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{,R} dX^{R} + \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{,r} dx^{r}$$

$$= dX^{S} \mathbf{G}_{S} \cdot \mathbf{G}^{R} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial X^{R}} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}\right) + dx^{s} \mathbf{g}_{s} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{r} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}\right)$$

$$= d\mathbf{P} \cdot \stackrel{\leftarrow}{\nabla} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} + d\mathbf{p} \cdot \stackrel{\leftarrow}{\nabla} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}};$$

$$d \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} = \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{,R} dX^{R} + \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{,r} dx^{r}$$

$$= \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial X^{R}} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}\right) \mathbf{G}^{R} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{S} dX^{S} + \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}\right) \mathbf{g}^{r} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{s} dx^{s}$$

$$= \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} \stackrel{\leftarrow}{\nabla} \cdot d\mathbf{P} + \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} \stackrel{\leftarrow}{\nabla} \cdot d\mathbf{p}.$$
(2.244)

For a zero-order tensor (scalar) $\varphi(\mathbf{P},\mathbf{p})$,

$$d\varphi = d\mathbf{P} \cdot \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} \varphi + d\mathbf{p} \cdot \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} \varphi = \varphi \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} \cdot d\mathbf{P} + \varphi \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} \cdot d\mathbf{p}, \qquad (2.245)$$

where

$$\stackrel{\leq}{\nabla} \varphi = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{G}^{I} = \varphi \stackrel{\leq}{\nabla} \text{ and } \stackrel{\geq}{\nabla} \varphi = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{g}^{i} = \varphi \stackrel{\geq}{\nabla},$$

$$\varphi_{;I} = \varphi_{,I} = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial X^{I}}, \quad \varphi_{;i} = \varphi_{,i} = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x^{i}}.$$
(2.246)

2.4.3. Correlated coordinates

Consider the coordinates of the two points ${\bf P}$ and ${\bf p}$ to be dependent, and the two coordinates have one-to-one relation as

2 Tensor Analysis

$$\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{p}) \implies X^{I} = X^{I}(x^{1}, x^{2}, x^{3}) \text{ for } I = 1, 2, 3;$$

$$\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}) \implies x^{i} = x^{i}(X^{1}, X^{2}, X^{3}) \text{ for } i = 1, 2, 3.$$
(2.247)

The covariant differentiations of two points **P** and **p** are

$$d\mathbf{P} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{P} dx^{i} = (dx^{r} \mathbf{g}_{r}) \cdot (\mathbf{g}^{s} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{s}} \mathbf{P}) = d\mathbf{p} \cdot \overset{>}{\nabla} \mathbf{P}$$

$$= (\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{s}} \mathbf{P}) \mathbf{g}^{s} \cdot (\mathbf{g}_{r} dx^{r}) = \mathbf{P} \overset{>}{\nabla} \cdot d\mathbf{p}.$$

$$d\mathbf{p} = \frac{\partial}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{p} dX^{I} = (dX^{R} \mathbf{G}_{R}) \cdot (\mathbf{G}^{s} \frac{\partial}{\partial X^{s}}) \mathbf{p} = d\mathbf{P} \cdot \overset{<}{\nabla} \mathbf{p}$$

$$= (\frac{\partial}{\partial X^{s}} \mathbf{p}) \mathbf{G}^{s} \cdot (\mathbf{G}_{R} dX^{R}) = \mathbf{p} \overset{<}{\nabla} \cdot d\mathbf{P}.$$
(2.248)

Furthermore,

$$\vec{\nabla} \mathbf{P} = \mathbf{g}^{i} \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial x^{i}} = \mathbf{g}^{i} \frac{\partial X^{I}}{\partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial X^{I}} = X^{I}_{,i} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{G}_{I} \equiv X^{I}_{,i} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{G}_{I},$$

$$\mathbf{P} \vec{\nabla} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{g}^{i} = \frac{\partial X^{I}}{\partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{g}^{i} = X^{I}_{,i} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{g}^{i} \equiv X^{I}_{;i} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{g}^{i};$$

$$\vec{\nabla} \mathbf{p} = \mathbf{G}^{I} \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial X^{I}} = \mathbf{G}^{I} \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial X^{I}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial x^{i}} = x^{i}_{,I} \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{g}_{i} \equiv x^{i}_{;I} \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{g}_{i},$$

$$\mathbf{p} \vec{\nabla} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{G}^{I} = \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial X^{I}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{G}^{I} = x^{i}_{,I} \mathbf{g}_{I} \mathbf{G}^{I} \equiv x^{i}_{;I} \mathbf{g}_{I} \mathbf{G}^{I}.$$
(2.249)

From the above expressions, $\stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} \mathbf{P}$, $\mathbf{P} \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla}$, $\stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} \mathbf{p}$ and $\mathbf{p} \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla}$ are two-point tensor fields because

$$X_{;i'}^{I'} = \frac{\partial X^{I'}}{\partial X^{I}} \frac{\partial X^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial x^{i'}} = A_{I}^{I'} A_{I'}^{i} X_{;i}^{I},$$

$$x_{;I'}^{i'} = \frac{\partial x^{i'}}{\partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial X^{I}} \frac{\partial X^{I}}{\partial X^{I'}} = A_{i}^{i'} A_{I'}^{I} x_{;I}^{i}.$$
(2.250)

Definition 2.27. The *total covariant differentiations* of the two-point tensor fields $\stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\psi}(\mathbf{P},\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}))$ and $\stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\psi}(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{p}),\mathbf{p})$, respectively, are defined by

$$d \overset{\langle \rangle}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} (\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P})) = \overset{\langle \rangle}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{,I} dX^{I} + \overset{\langle \rangle}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{,i} x^{I}_{;I} dX^{I} = d\mathbf{P} \cdot \Box \overset{\langle \rangle}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} = (\overset{\langle \rangle}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} \Box) \cdot d\mathbf{P};$$

$$d \overset{\langle \rangle}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} (\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{p}), \mathbf{p}) = \overset{\langle \rangle}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{,I} X^{I}_{;i} dx^{i} + \overset{\langle \rangle}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{,i} dx^{i} = d\mathbf{p} \cdot \Box \overset{\langle \rangle}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} = (\overset{\langle \rangle}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} \Box) \cdot d\mathbf{p},$$
(2.251)

where the total covariant derivatives of the two-point tensors $\stackrel{\scriptstyle <>}{\psi}$ are

2.4. Two-point tensor fields

$$\begin{aligned} \stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{\psi}} &\equiv \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi} + (\stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} \mathbf{p}) \cdot (\stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi}) = \mathbf{G}^{I} \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi}_{,I} + (\mathbf{G}^{I} x_{;I}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i}) \cdot (\mathbf{g}^{j} \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi}_{,J}), \\ \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi} &\equiv \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi} \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} + (\stackrel{\diamond}{\psi} \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla}) \cdot (\mathbf{p} \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla}) = \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi}_{,I} \mathbf{G}^{I} + (\stackrel{\diamond}{\psi}_{,j} \mathbf{g}^{j}) \cdot (\mathbf{g}_{i} x_{;I}^{i} \mathbf{G}^{I}); \\ &\equiv \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi} \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi} + (\stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} \mathbf{P}) \cdot (\stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi}) = \mathbf{g}^{i} \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi}_{,i} + (\mathbf{g}^{i} X_{;I}^{I} \mathbf{G}_{I}) \cdot (\mathbf{G}^{J} \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi}_{,J}), \\ \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi} &\equiv \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi} \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} + (\stackrel{\diamond}{\psi} \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla}) \cdot (\mathbf{P} \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla}) = \stackrel{\diamond}{\psi}_{,i} \mathbf{g}^{i} + (\stackrel{\diamond}{\psi}_{,J} \mathbf{G}^{J}) \cdot (\mathbf{G}_{I} X_{;I}^{I} \mathbf{g}^{i}); \end{aligned}$$
(2.252)

and the corresponding components are

$$\Box_{I} \psi^{I_{1} \cdots I_{p}}{}_{J_{1} \cdots J_{Q}}{}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{p}}{}_{J_{1} \cdots J_{Q}} = \psi^{I_{1} \cdots I_{p}}{}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{p}}{}_{J_{1} \cdots J_{Q}}{}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{p}}{}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{p}}{}_{J_{1} \cdots J_{Q}}{}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{p}}{}^{i_{1} \cdots i_{p}}{}^$$

Because the following relations exist, i.e.,

$$x_{;I}^{i} X_{;j}^{I} = \delta_{j}^{i} , \ X_{;i}^{I} x_{;J}^{i} = \delta_{J}^{I},$$
(2.254)

the total derivatives of the components of the two-point tensors are

$$\begin{split} \psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}_{J_{1}\cdots J_{Q}}{}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{q}:I}X_{;i}^{I} \\ = \psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}_{J_{1}\cdots J_{Q}}{}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{q};I}X_{;i}^{I} + \psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}_{J_{1}\cdots J_{Q}}{}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{q};i} \\ = \psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}_{J_{1}\cdots J_{Q}}{}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{Q};i}; \end{split}$$
(2.255)

$$\begin{split} & \psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}_{J_{1}\cdots J_{Q}}{}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{q};i}x^{i}_{;I} \\ &= \psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}_{J_{1}\cdots J_{Q}}{}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{q};i}x^{i}_{;I} + \psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}{}_{J_{1}\cdots J_{Q}}{}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{q};I} \\ &= \psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}{}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{Q}}{}^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}{}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{q};I}. \end{split}$$
(2.256)

For a zero-order tensor (scalar) $\varphi(\mathbf{P},\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}))$ and $\varphi(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{p}),\mathbf{p})$,

$$d\varphi = d\mathbf{P} \cdot (\stackrel{<}{\nabla} \varphi + \stackrel{<}{\nabla} \mathbf{p} \cdot \stackrel{>}{\nabla} \varphi) = (\varphi \stackrel{<}{\nabla} + \varphi \stackrel{>}{\nabla} \cdot \stackrel{<}{\nabla} \mathbf{p}) \cdot d\mathbf{P}$$
(2.257)

where

$$\vec{\nabla} \varphi = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{G}^{I} = \varphi \vec{\nabla} \quad \text{and} \quad \vec{\nabla} \varphi = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{g}^{i} = \varphi \vec{\nabla};$$

$$\frac{d\varphi}{dX^{I}} \equiv \varphi_{;I} = \varphi_{;I} + x_{;I}^{r} \varphi_{;r} = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial X^{I}} + \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x^{r}} \frac{\partial x^{r}}{\partial X^{I}},$$

$$\frac{d\varphi}{dx^{i}} \equiv \varphi_{;i} = \varphi_{;i} + x_{;i}^{r} \varphi_{;r} = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x^{i}} + \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial X^{r}} \frac{\partial X^{r}}{\partial x^{i}}.$$
(2.258)

2 Tensor Analysis

For a two-point tensor of $\mathbf{B} = B_{I}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}^{I}$,

$$d\mathbf{B} = d\mathbf{P} \cdot (\stackrel{\leq}{\nabla} \mathbf{B} + \stackrel{\leq}{\nabla} \mathbf{p} \cdot \stackrel{>}{\nabla} \mathbf{B}) = (\mathbf{B} \stackrel{\leq}{\nabla} + \mathbf{B} \stackrel{>}{\nabla} \cdot \stackrel{<}{\nabla} \mathbf{p}) \cdot d\mathbf{P}$$
(2.259)

where

$$\nabla \mathbf{B} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial X^{J}} \mathbf{G}^{J} = B^{i}_{I;J} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{G}^{J}, \quad \mathbf{B} \nabla = \mathbf{G}^{J} \frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial X^{J}} = B^{i}_{I;J} \mathbf{G}^{J} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}^{I},$$

$$\nabla \mathbf{B} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial x^{j}} \mathbf{g}^{J} = B^{i}_{I;j} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{g}^{J}, \quad \mathbf{B} \nabla = \mathbf{g}^{j} \frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial x^{j}} = B^{i}_{I;j} \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}^{I}.$$

$$\frac{dB^{i}_{I}}{dX^{J}} = B^{i}_{I;J} = B^{i}_{I;J} + x^{r}_{;J} B^{i}_{I;r}, \quad \frac{dB^{i}_{I}}{dx^{j}} \equiv B^{i}_{I;j} = B^{i}_{I;j} + X^{R}_{;j} B^{i}_{I;R};$$

$$B^{i}_{I;J} = \frac{\partial B^{i}_{I}}{\partial X^{J}} - \Gamma^{L}_{LJ} B^{i}_{L}, \quad B^{i}_{I;j} = \frac{\partial B^{i}_{I}}{\partial x^{j}} + \Gamma^{i}_{jl} B^{l}_{I}.$$

$$(2.261)$$

The total covariant derivatives of components to the two-point tensors are

$$B_{I:J}^{i} = \frac{\partial B_{I}^{i}}{\partial X^{J}} - \Gamma_{IJ}^{L} B_{L}^{i} + x_{;J}^{r} (\frac{\partial B_{I}^{i}}{\partial x^{r}} + \Gamma_{rI}^{i} B_{I}^{l}),$$

$$B_{I:j}^{i} = \frac{\partial B_{I}^{i}}{\partial x^{j}} + \Gamma_{JI}^{L} B_{I}^{l} + X_{;J}^{R} (\frac{\partial B_{I}^{i}}{\partial X^{R}} - \Gamma_{IR}^{L} B_{L}^{i}).$$
(2.262)

2.4.4. Shifter tensor fields

Definition 2.28. The shifter tensor fields are defined by

$$\widehat{\mathbf{I}} = g_{il} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{G}^{l} = g_{l}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}^{l} = g_{l}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{G}_{l} = g^{il} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}_{l}, \qquad (2.263)$$

$$\stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{I}} = g_{li} \mathbf{G}^{l} \mathbf{g}^{i} = g_{l}^{i} \mathbf{G}_{l} \mathbf{g}^{i} = g_{l}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}^{l} = g^{il} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}_{l}.$$

To explain the shifter tensor, two vectors $\mathbf{v} = v^{T} \mathbf{G}_{T}$ and $\mathbf{v} = v^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i}$ in two coordinates at points *P* and *p* are sketched in Fig.2.3. Using the shifter tensor, the two vectors can be translated each other. For instance,

$$\overset{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{v} = \overset{\times}{\mathbf{v}} \text{ and } \overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{v}} = \overset{<}{\mathbf{v}}.$$
(2.264)

From the previous relation, the two vectors are of the same. They just are observed in the different reference frames.

$$\stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\otimes}{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\otimes}{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\otimes}{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\otimes}{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\ll}{\mathbf{I}} = \stackrel{\ll}{\mathbf{I}}, \qquad (2.265)$$



Fig. 2.3 Two parallel vectors in two coordinates.

$$g^{i}{}_{I}g^{I}{}_{j} = \delta^{i}_{j}$$
 and $g^{I}{}_{i}g^{i}{}_{J} = \delta^{I}_{J}$, (2.266)

where \vec{I} and \vec{J} are the two second-order unit tensors in two domains \mathfrak{B} and \mathfrak{b} , respectively. The components of the shifter tensor is given by

$$\overset{\times}{\mathbf{l}} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{I} = g_{il} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{G}^{I} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{I} = g_{il} \mathbf{g}^{i} = g^{i}{}_{I} \mathbf{g}_{i},$$

$$\overset{\times}{\mathbf{l}} \cdot \mathbf{G}^{I} = g_{i}{}^{I} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{G}_{I} \cdot \mathbf{G}^{I} = g_{i}{}^{I} \mathbf{g}^{i} = g^{il} \mathbf{g}_{i};$$

$$\overset{\times}{\mathbf{l}} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{i} = g_{ll} \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{i} = g_{il} \mathbf{G}^{I} = g^{I}{}_{I} \mathbf{G}_{I},$$

$$\overset{\times}{\mathbf{l}} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{i} = g_{l}{}^{i} \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{i} = g_{l}{}^{I} \mathbf{G}^{I} = g^{Ii} \mathbf{G}_{I}.$$

$$(2.267)$$

The foregoing equations can be rewritten as

$$\overrightarrow{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{I} = (\mathbf{g}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{I}) \mathbf{g}^{i} = (\mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{I}) \mathbf{g}_{i},$$

$$\overrightarrow{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{G}^{I} = (\mathbf{g}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}^{I}) \mathbf{g}^{i} = (\mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}^{I}) \mathbf{g}_{i};$$

$$\overrightarrow{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{i} = (\mathbf{G}_{I} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{i}) \mathbf{G}^{I} = (\mathbf{G}^{I} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{i}) \mathbf{G}_{I},$$

$$\overrightarrow{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{i} = (\mathbf{G}_{I} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{i}) \mathbf{G}^{I} = (\mathbf{G}^{I} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{i}) \mathbf{G}_{I}.$$

$$(2.268)$$

In addition,

$$g_{il} = \mathbf{g}_i \cdot \mathbf{G}_l = \mathbf{G}_l \cdot \mathbf{g}_i = g_{li},$$

$$g^{li} = \mathbf{G}^I \cdot \mathbf{g}^i = \mathbf{g}^i \cdot \mathbf{G}^I = g^{il};$$

$$g_i^{\ I} = \mathbf{g}_i \cdot \mathbf{G}^I = \mathbf{G}^I \cdot \mathbf{g}_i = g^I_{\ i} \equiv g_i^I,$$

(2.269a)

2 Tensor Analysis

$$g_{I}^{i} = \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{I} = \mathbf{G}_{I} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{i} = g_{I}^{i} = g_{I}^{i}.$$
(2.269b)

Theorem 2.13. *The following relation holds*:

$$\sqrt{G} = |g_I^i| \sqrt{g} \quad and \quad \sqrt{g} = |g_I^I| \sqrt{G}.$$
(2.270)

Proof : From the definition of \sqrt{G} ,

$$\sqrt{G} = [\mathbf{G}_1 \mathbf{G}_2 \mathbf{G}_3] = [g_1^i \mathbf{g}_j g_2^j \mathbf{g}_j g_3^k \mathbf{g}_k] = g_1^i g_2^j g_3^k [\mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}_k]$$
$$= |g_I^i| [\mathbf{g}_1 \mathbf{g}_2 \mathbf{g}_3] = |g_I^i| \sqrt{g}.$$

Thus,

$$\sqrt{G} = |g_I^i| \sqrt{g} \text{ or } \sqrt{g} = |g_I^I| \sqrt{G}.$$

This theorem is proved.

Theorem 2.14. For two vectors $\mathbf{v} = v^{T}\mathbf{G}_{T}$ and $\mathbf{v} = v^{i}\mathbf{g}_{i}$, the following relations hold:

$$v^{I} = g_{i}^{I} v^{i} \text{ and } v_{I} = g_{I}^{i} v_{i};$$

$$v^{i} = g_{I}^{i} v^{I} \text{ and } v_{i} = g_{i}^{I} v_{I}.$$
(2.271)

Proof : The vector translation can be given by

$$\mathbf{v}^{>} = v^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} = \mathbf{I}^{>} \cdot \mathbf{v} = (g_{I}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}^{I}) \cdot (v^{R} \mathbf{G}_{R}) = g_{R}^{i} v^{R} \mathbf{g}_{i},$$

$$\mathbf{v}^{<} = v^{I} \mathbf{G}_{I} = \mathbf{I}^{>} \cdot \mathbf{v} = (g_{I}^{I} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{g}^{I}) \cdot (v^{r} \mathbf{g}_{r}) = g_{r}^{I} v^{r} \mathbf{G}_{I}.$$

So Eq.(2.271) is obtained.

Similarly, the tensor can be translated partially and completely translated.

Theorem 2.15. Consider a tensor $\overset{<}{\mathbf{B}}$, $\overset{<}{\mathbf{B}}$, $\overset{<}{\mathbf{B}}$ and $\overset{>}{\mathbf{B}}$, the following relations exist:

$$B_{iI} = g_i^J B_{JI}, \quad B_{Ii} = g_i^J B_{IJ}, \quad B_{ij} = g_i^I g_j^J B_{IJ}; B_{Ii} = g_I^r B_{ri}, \quad B_{iI} = g_I^r B_{ir}, \quad B_{IJ} = g_I^r g_j^s B_{rs}.$$
(2.272)

Proof: Because

$$\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{B}} = B_{il}\mathbf{g}^{l}\mathbf{G}^{I} = \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{B}} = (g_{i}^{R}\mathbf{g}^{i}\mathbf{G}_{R}) \cdot (B_{IJ}\mathbf{G}^{I}\mathbf{G}^{J}) = g_{i}^{R}B_{RJ}\mathbf{g}^{i}\mathbf{G}^{I},$$

$$\overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{B}} = B_{li}\mathbf{G}^{I}\mathbf{g}^{i} = \overset{\ll}{\mathbf{B}} \cdot \overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{I}} = (B_{IJ}\mathbf{G}^{I}\mathbf{G}^{J}) \cdot (g_{i}^{R}\mathbf{G}_{R}\mathbf{g}^{i}) = B_{IR}g_{i}^{R}\mathbf{G}^{I}\mathbf{g}^{i},$$

70

$$\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{B}} = B_{ij} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} = \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{B}} \cdot \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{I}} = (g_{i}^{R} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{G}_{R}) \cdot (B_{IJ} \mathbf{G}^{J} \mathbf{G}^{J}) \cdot (g_{j}^{S} \mathbf{G}_{S} \mathbf{g}^{j})$$
$$= g_{i}^{I} B_{IJ} g_{j}^{J} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j},$$

one obtains

$$\overset{\times}{\mathbf{B}} = \overset{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{B}} \qquad \Rightarrow B_{iI} = g_i^R B_{RI}; \overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{B}} = \overset{\times}{\mathbf{B}} \cdot \overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{I}} \qquad \Rightarrow B_{Ii} = g_i^R B_{IR}; \overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{B}} = \overset{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{B}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \qquad \Rightarrow B_{ij} = g_i^I g_j^J B_{IJ}.$$

Similarly,

$$\overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{B}} = \overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \overset{\Rightarrow}{\mathbf{B}} \qquad \Rightarrow B_{Ii} = g_R^r B_{ri}; \overset{\times}{\mathbf{B}} = \overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{B}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \qquad \Rightarrow B_{il} = g_l^r B_{ir}; \overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{B}} = \overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{B}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \qquad \Rightarrow B_{IJ} = g_I^i g_J^j B_{ij}.$$

This theorem is proved.

Such an idea can be extended to higher-order tensors. For instance, the following theorem can be stated as an example.

Theorem 2.16. For the following two-point tensors,

$$\begin{split} &\overset{<<}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} = \boldsymbol{\psi}^{I_1 \cdots I_p} \sqrt{G}^{-W} \mathbf{G}_{I_1} \cdots \mathbf{G}_{I_p} \mathbf{G}^{J_1} \cdots \mathbf{G}^{J_Q}, \\ &\overset{>>}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} = \boldsymbol{\psi}^{I_1 \cdots I_p} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{I_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{I_p} \mathbf{g}^{J_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{J_Q}, \end{split}$$
(2.273)

the following relations hold

$$\begin{split} &\stackrel{>>}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} = \left(\mid g_{M}^{m} \mid \sqrt{\frac{G}{g}} \right)^{W} \underbrace{\stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \cdots \underbrace{\mathbf{I}}_{p}}_{p} \underbrace{\stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \cdots \underbrace{\mathbf{I}}_{Q}}_{p} \vdots \underbrace{\stackrel{\times}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}, \\ &\stackrel{<<}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} = \left(\mid g_{M}^{m} \mid \sqrt{\frac{g}{G}} \right)^{W} \underbrace{\stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \cdots \underbrace{\mathbf{I}}_{p}}_{p} \underbrace{\stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{I}} \cdots \underbrace{\mathbf{I}}_{Q}}_{p} \vdots \underbrace{\stackrel{\times}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}. \end{split}$$
(2.274)

$$\begin{split} \Psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{Q}} &= |g_{M}^{m}|^{W} g_{I_{1}}^{i_{1}}\cdots g_{I_{p}}^{i_{p}} g_{J_{1}}^{J_{1}}\cdots g_{J_{Q}}^{J_{Q}} \Psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}_{J_{1}\cdots J_{Q}}, \\ \Psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}_{j_{1}\cdots J_{Q}} &= |g_{M}^{m}|^{W} g_{I_{1}}^{I_{1}}\cdots g_{I_{p}}^{I_{p}} g_{J_{1}}^{J_{1}}\cdots g_{J_{Q}}^{J_{Q}} \Psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}_{J_{Q}} \Psi^{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}_{j_{1}\cdots j_{Q}}. \end{split}$$
(2.275)

Proof: Consider

2 Tensor Analysis

$$\begin{split} &\stackrel{>>}{\Psi} = \Psi^{I_1 \cdots I_p} \prod_{J_1 \cdots J_Q} [\stackrel{\simeq}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{G}_1 \stackrel{\simeq}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{G}_2 \stackrel{\simeq}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{G}_3]^{-W} \stackrel{\simeq}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{I_1} \cdots \stackrel{\simeq}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{I_p} \stackrel{\simeq}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{G}^{J_1} \cdots \stackrel{\simeq}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{G}^{J_Q} \\ &= |g_M^m|^w g_{I_1}^{i_1} \cdots g_{I_p}^{i_p} g_{J_1}^{J_1} \cdots g_{J_Q}^{J_Q} \Psi^{I_1 \cdots I_p} \prod_{J_1 \cdots J_Q} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_p} \mathbf{g}^{J_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{J_Q} \\ &= \psi^{i_1 \cdots i_p} \prod_{J_1 \cdots J_Q} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{g}_{i_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_p} \mathbf{g}^{J_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_p} \mathbf{g}^{J_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{J_Q} \,. \end{split}$$

So,

$$\psi^{i_1\cdots i_p}_{\ \ j_1\cdots j_Q} = |g_M^m|^w g_{l_1}^{i_1}\cdots g_{l_p}^{i_p} g_{j_1}^{J_1}\cdots g_{j_Q}^{J_Q} \psi^{l_1\cdots l_p}_{\ \ J_1\cdots J_Q}.$$

Similarly,

$$\psi^{I_1 \cdots I_p}_{\ J_1 \cdots J_Q} = |g_M^m|^W g_{i_1}^{I_1} \cdots g_{i_p}^{I_p} g_{J_1}^{J_1} \cdots g_{J_Q}^{J_Q} \psi^{i_1 \cdots i_p}_{\ J_1 \cdots J_Q}.$$

This theorem is proved.

Theorem 2.17. The following relations exist for the shifter tensor

$$\overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{I}} \overset{\diamond}{\nabla} = \overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{I}} \overset{\diamond}{\nabla} = \overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{I}} \overset{\diamond}{\nabla} = \overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{I}} \overset{\diamond}{\nabla} = 0,$$

$$g_{I;j}^{i} = g_{I;J}^{i} = g_{I;j}^{I} = g_{I;J}^{I} = 0;$$

$$(2.276)$$

and

$$\overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\diamond}{=} \overset{\diamond}{=} \overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\diamond}{=} \overset{\diamond}{=} \overset{\diamond}{=} \overset{\diamond}{=} \overset{\diamond}{=} \overset{\diamond}{=} \overset{\diamond}{=} 0,$$

$$g^{i}_{I:j} = g^{i}_{I:j} = g^{I}_{i:j} = g^{I}_{i:j} = 0.$$

$$(2.277)$$

Proof: From the derivative of the tensor,

$$g_{I;J}^{i} = g_{I,J}^{i} + \Gamma_{jr}^{i} g_{I}^{r} = (\mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{I})_{,j} + \Gamma_{jr}^{i} g_{I}^{r}$$

$$= \mathbf{g}_{,J}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{I} + \Gamma_{jr}^{i} g_{I}^{r} = -\Gamma_{jr}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{r} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{I} + \Gamma_{jr}^{i} g_{I}^{r} = 0,$$

$$g_{I;J}^{i} = g_{I,J}^{i} - \Gamma_{JI}^{R} g_{R}^{i} = (\mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{I})_{,J} - \Gamma_{JI}^{R} g_{R}^{i}$$

$$= \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{I,J} - \Gamma_{JI}^{R} g_{R}^{i} = \Gamma_{JI}^{R} \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{R} - \Gamma_{JI}^{R} g_{R}^{i} = 0.$$

Similarly, $g_{i;j}^{I} = 0$ and $g_{i;J}^{I} = 0$. So

$$\widehat{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} = g_{I;j}^{i} = 0, \quad \widehat{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} = g_{I;J}^{i} = 0,$$

$$\widehat{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} = g_{I;j}^{i} = 0, \quad \widehat{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\diamond}{\nabla} = g_{I;J}^{i} = 0.$$

$$\widehat{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\diamond}{\Box} = g_{I;j}^{i} = g_{I;j}^{i} + g_{I;R}^{i} X_{;I}^{R} = 0,$$

$$\widehat{\mathbf{I}} \stackrel{\diamond}{\Box} = g_{I;J}^{i} = g_{I;J}^{i} + g_{I;r}^{i} X_{;J}^{R} = 0,$$

$$\mathbf{I} \stackrel{><>}{\mathbf{I}} = g_{i;j}^{I} = g_{i;j}^{I} + g_{i;R}^{I} X_{;j}^{R} = 0,$$

$$\stackrel{><<}{\mathbf{I}} = g_{i;J}^{I} = g_{i;J}^{I} + g_{i;r}^{I} x_{;J}^{r} = 0.$$

This theorem is proved.

If one is interested in more materials on tensor analysis in space \mathbb{R}^n , the further reading materials can be found in Schouten (1951), Eringen (1962, 1971) and Marsden and Hudges (1983).

References

Eringen, A.C., 1962, Nonlinear Theory of Continuous Media, McGraw-Hill, New York.

- Eringen, A.C., 1971, *Tensor Analysis*, In: Continuum Physics, Vol.1-Mathematics, (Eds: Eringen, A.C.), Academic Press, New York and London.
- Guo, Z.H., 1980, Nonlinear Elasticity, China Science Press, Beijing.
- Marsden, J.E. and Hughes, T.J.R., 1983, *Mathematical Foundations of Elasticity*, Dover Publications, Inc., New York.
- Schouten, J.A., 1951, *Tensor Analysis for Physicists*, Oxford University Press, London and New York.

Chapter 3 Deformation, Kinematics and Dynamics

This chapter will systematically discuss the differential geometry, kinematics and dynamics of deformation in continuous media. To discuss deformation geometry, the deformation gradients will be introduced in the local curvilinear coordinate system, and the Green and Cauchy strain tensors will be presented. The length and angle changes will be discussed through Green and Cauchy strain tensors. The velocity gradient will be introduced for discussion of the kinematics, and the material derivatives of deformation gradient, infinitesimal line element, area and volume in the deformed configuration will be presented. The Cauchy stress and couple stress tensors will be defined to discuss the dynamics of continuous media, and the local balances for the Cauchy momentum and angular momentum will be discussed. Piola-Kirchhoff stress tensors will be presented and the Boussinesq and Kirchhoff local balance of momentum will be discussed. The local principles of the energy conservation will be discussed by the virtual work principle. This chapter will present an important foundation of continuum mechanics. From such a foundation, one can further understand other approximate existing theories in deformable body and fluids.

3.1. Deformation geometry

In this section, the deformation gradients on the curvilinear coordinates will be defined. Based on the deformation gradient, the Green and Cauchy strain tensors will be discussed. The stretches and angle changes of two line elements before and after deformation will be presented through Green and Cauchy strain tensors. The principal values and directions of the strain tensors will be discussed. The fundamental deformation theorem in continuous media will be presented.

3.1.1. Curvilinear coordinates

Consider a domain B occupied by all material points of a continuous medium at time t_0 , which possesses a material volume V and its surface S. Any material point P in such a domain is described by a curvilinear coordinate system X^{I} (I = 1, 2, 3). A vector from the origin of the coordinate system to point P is expressed by P. Such a material domain is called an initial configuration of the continuous body. For time t, after the material domain is deformed, the material domain moves a new domain b with a material volume v and its surface s. In the deformed domain, the material point p is described by a curvilinear coordinate system x^{i} (i = 1, 2, 3), and the position vector from the origin of the new coordinate system is given by **p**. The deformed domain of the continuous material body is called *a deformed configuration*. Such a motion of material domain is sketched in Fig.3.1. The curvilinear coordinates $\{X^I\}$ and $\{x^i\}$ in the initial and deformed configurations are depicted, and the corresponding base vectors $\{\mathbf{G}_i\}$ and $\{\mathbf{g}_i\}$ are presented. The displacement between two points P and p is expressed by a vector \mathbf{u} , and such a vector is called a *displacement vector*. This motion of the deformed continuous body is described by

$$\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{P} + \mathbf{u}.\tag{3.1}$$

From a time *t*, a position vector **p** of the material point in an instantaneous configuration b can be expressed by the position vector **P** of material points in the initial configuration \mathfrak{B} , i.e.,

$$\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}, t) \text{ or } x^{i} = x^{i}(X^{i}, t).$$
 (3.2)

If the motion is single-valued, continuous and differentiable, in the neighborhood of point \mathbf{P} , there is a one-to-one inverse transformation which is single-valued, continuous and differentiable, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{p}, t) \quad \text{or} \quad X^{T} = X^{T}(x^{T}, t). \tag{3.3}$$

In other words, any particle described by the coordinate system $\{X^t\}$ for time t can be described through the coordinate system $\{x^i\}$. For Eq.(3.2), its inverse in Eq.(3.3) exists if and only if the Jacobian matrix is not singular, vice versa. That is,

$$x_{iI}^{i} \neq 0 \text{ and } |X_{iI}^{I}| \neq 0.$$
 (3.4)

The above continuity condition expresses the *indestructibility* of continuous media. From Eq.(3.4), it implies that the positive and finite volume of a material configuration cannot become zero and infinite. The matter in the continuous body cannot be impenetrable.



Fig. 3.1 Two configurations in two local coordinates.

Definition 3.1. The coordinates X^{I} (I = 1, 2, 3) for time t_{0} are called the *Lagrange coordinates* (or *material coordinates*) if the coordinate X^{I} does not vary with time *t*. The corresponding reference frame { X^{I} } is called the *Lagrangian* (*material*) coordinate system.

Definition 3.2. The coordinates x^i (i = 1, 2, 3) for time *t* are called the *Eulerian coordinates* (or *spatial coordinates*) if the coordinate x^i varies with time *t*. The corresponding frame is called the Eulerian (spatial) coordinate system.

To further explain the movement of a continuous body, two independent, curvilinear systems are sketched in Fig.3.2. In the initial configuration \mathfrak{B} , the curvilinear coordinate system is $\{X^I\}$, and the curvilinear system after movement and deformed is given by $\{x^i, t_0\}$. For any time *t*, the continuous body are deformed and moved with displacement **u** to the instantaneous configuration \mathfrak{b} . In this configuration, the new curvilinear coordinate system is $\{x^i\}$. However, the coordinate system in the initial configuration becomes $\{X^I, t\}$. Such a relation can be described through Eqs.(3.2) and (3.3). Further, the position vectors **P** and **p** with the displacement vector **u** can be expressed through two coordinates. Based on the coordinates in \mathfrak{B} , three vectors **P**, **p** and **u** are denoted by \mathbf{P} , \mathbf{p} and \mathbf{u} , and from the coordinates in \mathfrak{b} , three vectors **P**, **p** and **u** are denoted by \mathbf{P} , \mathbf{p} and \mathbf{v} and $\mathbf{P} \equiv \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{p})$, $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{p})$.



Fig. 3.2 Two local curvilinear coordinates and movements.



Fig. 3.3 Infinitesimal position vectors $d\mathbf{P}$ and $d\mathbf{p}$ in two configurations.

As in Chapter 2, the infinitesimal vectors $d\mathbf{P}$ in \mathfrak{B} and $d\mathbf{p}$ in \mathfrak{b} can be defined as in Fig.3.3. For simplicity, the position vector can be through the Cartesian coordinates Z^{I} (I = 1, 2, 3) and z^{i} (i = 1, 2, 3). The definition is given as follows.

Definition 3.3. For two positions **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} , $\mathbf{P} = Z^{I}(X^{1}, X^{2}, X^{3})\mathbf{I}_{I}$ and $\mathbf{p} = z^{i}(x^{1}, x^{2}, x^{3})\mathbf{i}_{i}$, (3.5) the infinitesimal vectors $d\mathbf{P}$ and $d\mathbf{p}$ are defined as

$$d\mathbf{P} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial X^{T}} dX^{T} = \mathbf{G}_{T} dX^{T} \text{ and } d\mathbf{p} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial x^{i}} dx^{i} = \mathbf{g}_{i} dx^{i}, \qquad (3.6)$$

where the base vectors for the initial and deformed configurations are

$$\mathbf{G}_{I} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial X^{I}} = \frac{\partial Z^{J}}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{I}_{J} \text{ and } \mathbf{g}_{i} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial x^{i}} = \frac{\partial z^{j}}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{i}_{j};$$
(3.7)

and the squares of the lengths of the two infinitesimal vectors are defined as

$$dS^{2} = d\mathbf{P} \cdot d\mathbf{P} = G_{IJ} dX^{T} dX^{J} \text{ and } ds^{2} = d\mathbf{p} \cdot d\mathbf{p} = g_{ij} dx^{i} dx^{j}, \qquad (3.8)$$

where the metric tensors for the initial and deformed configurations are

$$G_{IJ} = \mathbf{G}_{I} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{J} = \delta_{MN} \frac{\partial Z^{M}}{\partial X^{I}} \frac{\partial Z^{N}}{\partial X^{J}} \text{ and } g_{ij} = \mathbf{g}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{j} = \delta_{mn} \frac{\partial z^{m}}{\partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial z^{n}}{\partial x^{j}}.$$
 (3.9)

Definition 3.4. For two positions $\stackrel{\scriptstyle >}{P} \equiv P(p)$ in \mathfrak{B} and $\stackrel{\scriptstyle <}{p} \equiv p(P)$ in \mathfrak{b} ,

$$\mathbf{P} = Z^{T}(X^{1}, X^{2}, X^{3})\mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ and } \mathbf{p} = z^{T}(x^{1}, x^{2}, x^{3})\mathbf{i}_{i},$$

$$X^{K} = X^{K}(x^{1}, x^{2}, x^{3}) \text{ and } x^{k} = x^{k}(X^{1}, X^{2}, X^{3}).$$
(3.10)

The infinitesimal vectors $d\mathbf{P}$ and $d\mathbf{p}$ are defined as

$$d\mathbf{P} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial x^{i}} dx^{i} = \mathbf{c}_{i} dx^{i} \text{ and } d\mathbf{p} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial X^{I}} dX^{I} = \mathbf{C}_{I} dX^{I}, \qquad (3.11)$$

where the covariant base vectors are

$$\mathbf{c}_{i} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial x^{i}} = \frac{\partial Z^{J}}{\partial X^{M}} \frac{\partial X^{M}}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{I}_{J} = \mathbf{G}_{M} \frac{\partial X^{M}}{\partial x^{i}} = \mathbf{G}_{M} X^{M}_{;i} \text{ and}$$

$$\mathbf{C}_{I} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial X^{I}} = \frac{\partial z^{j}}{\partial x^{m}} \frac{\partial x^{m}}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{i}_{j} = \mathbf{g}_{m} \frac{\partial x^{m}}{\partial X^{I}} = \mathbf{g}_{m} x^{m}_{;I}.$$
(3.12)

The squares of the lengths are defined as

$$dS^{2} = d\mathbf{P} \cdot d\mathbf{P} = c_{ij} dx^{i} dx^{j} \text{ and } ds^{2} = d\mathbf{p} \cdot d\mathbf{p} = C_{IJ} dX^{I} dX^{J}, \qquad (3.13)$$

where the covariant tensors are

$$c_{ij} = \mathbf{c}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{c}_{j} = G_{MN} \frac{\partial X^{M}}{\partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial X^{N}}{\partial x^{j}} = G_{MN} X^{M}_{;i} X^{N}_{;j};$$

$$C_{IJ} = \mathbf{C}_{I} \cdot \mathbf{C}_{J} = g_{mn} \frac{\partial x^{m}}{\partial X^{I}} \frac{\partial x^{n}}{\partial X^{J}} = g_{mn} x^{m}_{;I} x^{n}_{;J},$$
(3.14)

which are also called *Cauchy's deformation tensor* and *Green's deformation tensor*, respectively.

From the definitions of Cauchy's and Green's deformation tensors, both of the

two tensors are *symmetric* (i.e., $c_{ij} = c_{ji}$ and $C_{IJ} = C_{JI}$) and both are positive-definite.

Definition 3.5. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} , *the contravariant base vectors* are defined as

$$\mathbf{c}^{i} = \mathbf{G}^{M} \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial X^{M}} = \mathbf{G}^{M} x^{i}_{;M} \text{ and } \mathbf{C}^{I} = \mathbf{g}^{m} \frac{\partial X^{I}}{\partial x^{m}} = \mathbf{g}^{m} X^{I}_{;m},$$
 (3.15)

where the contravariant base vectors with covariant base vectors satisfy

$$\mathbf{c}_i \cdot \mathbf{c}^j = \delta_i^j \text{ and } \mathbf{C}_I \cdot \mathbf{C}^J = \delta_I^J.$$
 (3.16)

Definition 3.6. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} , the *contravariant metric tensors* are defined as

$${}^{-1}c^{ij} = \mathbf{c}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{c}^{j} = \mathbf{G}^{M} \cdot \mathbf{G}^{N} \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial X^{M}} \frac{\partial x^{j}}{\partial X^{N}} = G^{MN} x^{i}_{;M} x^{j}_{;N},$$

$${}^{-1}C^{IJ} = \mathbf{C}^{I} \cdot \mathbf{C}^{J} = \mathbf{g}^{m} \cdot \mathbf{g}^{n} \frac{\partial X^{I}}{\partial x^{m}} \frac{\partial X^{J}}{\partial x^{n}} = g^{mn} X^{I}_{;m} X^{J}_{;n}.$$
(3.17)

Remarks:

$$C^{IJ} = C_{MN} G^{MI} G^{NJ} \neq {}^{-1} C^{IJ} \text{ and } c^{ij} = c_{mn} g^{mi} g^{nj} \neq {}^{-1} c^{ij}.$$
 (3.18)

Definition 3.7. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} , the *displacement vectors* are defined as

$$\overset{<}{\mathbf{u}} = U^{T}\mathbf{G}_{T} = \overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{I}} \overset{>}{\mathbf{u}} = g_{i}^{T}u^{i}\mathbf{G}_{T} \text{ and } \overset{>}{\mathbf{u}} = u^{i}\mathbf{g}_{i} = \overset{<}{\mathbf{I}} \overset{<}{\mathbf{u}} = g_{I}^{i}U^{T}\mathbf{g}_{i}.$$
(3.19)

where

$$g_i^I = \mathbf{G}^I \cdot \mathbf{g}_i = \mathbf{g}_i \cdot \mathbf{G}^I \text{ and } g_I^i = \mathbf{g}^i \cdot \mathbf{G}_I = \mathbf{G}_I \cdot \mathbf{g}^i.$$
 (3.20)

3.1.2. Deformation gradient and tensors

Before the deformation gradient is discussed, the Hamilton operators will be introduced first, and the corresponding metric tensors will be presented. Further, the deformation gradient will be presented.

Definition 3.8. The *Hamilton operators* to the coordinates $\{X^I\}$ and $\{x^i\}$ are defined as

$$\stackrel{\scriptstyle <}{\nabla} = \frac{\partial}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{G}^{I} \text{ and } \stackrel{\scriptstyle >}{\nabla} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{g}^{i}.$$
 (3.21)

3.1. Deformation geometry

From the previous definition, the gradient of position vectors can be expressed by the two-point tensors in Chapter 2. The definition is given as follows.

Definition 3.9. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} , the gradients of the two position vectors are defined as

$$\dot{\nabla} \mathbf{P} = \frac{\partial X^{I}}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{g}^{I} \mathbf{G}_{I} = X_{;i}^{I} \mathbf{g}^{I} \mathbf{G}_{I}, \mathbf{P} \dot{\nabla} = \frac{\partial X^{I}}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{g}^{i} = X_{;i}^{I} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{g}^{i};$$

$$\dot{\nabla} \mathbf{p} = \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{g}_{i} = x_{;i}^{i} \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{g}_{i}, \mathbf{p} \dot{\nabla} = \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}^{I} = x_{;i}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}^{I},$$
(3.22)

which are also called the deformation gradient tensors.

$$\overset{\leq}{\mathbf{C}} = C_{IJ} \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{G}^{J} = C_{.J}^{I} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{G}^{J} \text{ and } \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{c}} = c_{ij} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} = c_{.j}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{j};$$

$$\overset{-1}{\mathbf{C}} = {}^{-1} C^{IJ} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{G}_{J} = {}^{-1} C_{.J}^{I} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{G}^{J} \text{ and } \overset{-1}{\mathbf{c}} = {}^{-1} c^{ij} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} = {}^{-1} c_{.j}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{j}$$
(3.23)

are the *covariant and contravariant metric tensors*, which are also called the covariant and contravariant *Cauchy's deformation tensors* and *Green's deformation tensors*, respectively.

Theorem 3.1. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} , the covariant metric tensors are determined by

$$\overset{\leq}{\mathbf{C}} = (\overset{\leq}{\nabla} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{p}}) \cdot (\overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{p}} \overset{\sim}{\nabla}) \text{ and } \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{c}} = (\overset{\diamond}{\nabla} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{P}}) \cdot (\overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{P}} \overset{\sim}{\nabla});$$

$$\overset{\sim}{\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{C}}} = (\overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{P}} \overset{\sim}{\nabla}) \cdot (\overset{\diamond}{\nabla} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{P}}) \text{ and } \overset{\sim}{\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{c}}} = (\overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{p}} \overset{\leftarrow}{\nabla}) \cdot (\overset{\diamond}{\nabla} \overset{\leftarrow}{\mathbf{p}}).$$

$$(3.24)$$

Proof: The two metric tensors are

$$\begin{split} &\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{C}} = C_{IJ} \mathbf{G}^{T} \mathbf{G}^{J} = g_{ij} x_{;I}^{i} x_{;J}^{j} \mathbf{G}^{T} \mathbf{G}^{J} = (x_{;I}^{i} \mathbf{G}^{T} \mathbf{g}_{i}) \cdot (x_{;J}^{j} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{G}^{J}) \\ &= (\overset{\sim}{\nabla} \mathbf{p}) \cdot (\mathbf{p} \overset{\sim}{\nabla}) = (\overset{\sim}{\nabla} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{p}}) \cdot (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{p}} \overset{\sim}{\nabla}); \\ &\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{c}} = c_{ij} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} = G_{MN} X_{;i}^{M} X_{;j}^{N} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} = (X_{;i}^{M} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{G}_{M}) \cdot (X_{;j}^{N} \mathbf{G}_{N} \mathbf{g}^{j}) \\ &= (\overset{\sim}{\nabla} \mathbf{P}) \cdot (\mathbf{P} \overset{\sim}{\nabla}) = (\overset{\sim}{\nabla} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{P}}) \cdot (\overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{P}} \overset{\sim}{\nabla}); \\ &\overset{\sim}{\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{c}}} = {}^{-1} C^{IJ} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{G}_{J} = g^{mn} X_{;m}^{I} X_{;n}^{J} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{G}_{J} = (X_{;m}^{I} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{g}^{m}) \cdot (X_{;n}^{J} \mathbf{g}^{n} \mathbf{G}_{J}) \\ &= (\mathbf{P} \overset{\sim}{\nabla}) \cdot (\overset{\sim}{\nabla} \mathbf{P}) = (\overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{P}} \overset{\sim}{\nabla}) \cdot (\overset{\sim}{\nabla} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{P}}); \\ &\overset{\sim}{\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{c}}} = {}^{-1} c^{ij} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} = G^{MN} x_{;M}^{i} x_{;N}^{J} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}_{j} = (x_{;M}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}^{M}) \cdot (x_{;N}^{j} \mathbf{G}^{N} \mathbf{g}_{j}) \\ &= (\mathbf{p} \overset{\sim}{\nabla}) \cdot (\overset{\leftarrow}{\nabla} \mathbf{p}) = (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{p}} \overset{\sim}{\nabla}) \cdot (\overset{\leftarrow}{\nabla} \mathbf{p}). \end{split}$$

This theorem is proved.

Theorem 3.2. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} , the invariants of covariant metric tensors are determined by

$$det(\widetilde{\mathbf{C}}) = |C_{.J}^{I}| = |G^{IR}g_{ij}x_{;R}^{i}x_{;J}^{j}| = \mathscr{I}^{2},$$

$$det(\widetilde{\mathbf{c}}) = |c_{.j}^{i}| = |g^{ir}G_{IJ}X_{;r}^{I}X_{;j}^{J}| = \mathscr{I}^{2},$$

$$\overset{\overset{\sim}{\mathsf{det}}}{\operatorname{(\mathbf{C})}} = |\overset{^{-1}}{^{-1}}C_{.J}^{I}| = |g^{mn}G_{IR}X_{;m}^{R}X_{;n}^{J}| = \mathscr{I}^{2},$$

$$det(\overset{\overset{^{-1}}{\mathbf{C}}}{\mathbf{c}}) = |\overset{^{-1}}{^{-1}}c_{.j}^{i}| = |G^{IJ}g_{ir}x_{;I}^{r}x_{;J}^{j}| = \mathscr{I}^{2},$$

$$(3.25)$$

where

$$\mathcal{J} = \sqrt{\frac{g}{G}} |x_{;I}^{i}|, \quad \mathcal{J} = \sqrt{\frac{G}{g}} |X_{;i}^{I}|.$$
(3.26)

Proof: Because

$$\det(\mathbf{C}) = |C_{J}^{I}| = |G^{IR}C_{RJ}| = |G^{IR}g_{ij}x_{;R}^{i}x_{;J}^{j}|$$

and

$$|G_{IR}| = \frac{1}{|G^{IR}|} = G \text{ and } |g_{ij}| = \frac{1}{|g^{ij}|} = g$$

then,

$$\det(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}}) = |C_{J}^{I}| = |G^{IR}g_{ij}x_{;R}^{i}x_{;J}^{j}| = \mathscr{J}^{2}.$$

Similarly,

$$\det(\widehat{\mathbf{c}}) = |c_{ij}^{i}| = |g^{ir}c_{rj}| = |g^{ir}G_{IJ}X_{ir}^{I}X_{jj}^{J}| = \mathcal{I}^{2},$$

$$\det(\widehat{\mathbf{C}}) = |^{-1}C_{J}^{I}| = |G_{IR}^{-1}C^{RJ}| = |G_{IR}g^{mn}X_{im}^{R}X_{jn}^{I}| = \mathcal{I}^{2},$$

$$\det(\widehat{\mathbf{c}}) = |^{-1}c_{ij}^{i}| = |g_{ir}^{-1}c^{rj}| = |g_{ir}G^{IJ}x_{ir}^{r}x_{jj}^{J}| = \mathcal{I}^{2}.$$

This theorem is proved.

If x^i and X^I are independent, $X_{;i}^I \equiv X_{;i}^I$ and $x_{;I}^i \equiv x_{;I}^i$. Because of the movement and deformation of the continuous body, the displacement between the initial configuration \mathfrak{B} and instantaneous configuration \mathfrak{b} is \mathbf{u} . For the infinitesimal position vectors $d\mathbf{P}$ and $d\mathbf{p}$ in the two configurations, the infinitesimal displacement vector is expressed by $d\mathbf{u}$, as shown in Fig.3.4. The infinitesimal line elements $d\mathbf{P}$ and $d\mathbf{p}$ are defined as follows. **Definition 3.10.** For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} , the gradients of two vectors are defined as

$$d\mathbf{p} = dx^{i}\mathbf{g}_{i} = (x_{i}^{i}\mathbf{g}_{i}\mathbf{G}^{T}) \cdot (dX^{J}\mathbf{G}_{J}) = (\mathbf{p}\vec{\nabla}) \cdot d\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{P},$$

$$d\mathbf{P} = dX^{T}\mathbf{G}_{I} = (x_{i}^{I}\mathbf{G}_{I}\mathbf{g}^{i}) \cdot (dx^{j}\mathbf{g}_{J}) = (\mathbf{P}\vec{\nabla}) \cdot d\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{p},$$
(3.27)

where

$$\stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{F}} \equiv \mathbf{p} \stackrel{\check{\nabla}}{\nabla} = X_{;\,i}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}^{i} \text{ and } \stackrel{\stackrel{\longrightarrow}{\mathbf{F}}}{\stackrel{\longrightarrow}{\mathbf{F}}} \equiv \mathbf{P} \stackrel{\check{\nabla}}{\nabla} = X_{;\,i}^{i} \mathbf{G}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{i}, \qquad (3.28)$$

which are called the *deformation gradient tensors*.

From the foregoing definition,

$$\overset{\stackrel{\rightarrow}{\rightarrow}}{\mathbf{F}} \overset{\stackrel{\rightarrow}{\rightarrow}}{\mathbf{F}} = (x_{;j}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}^{T}) \cdot (X_{;j}^{J} \mathbf{G}_{J} \mathbf{g}^{j}) = \delta_{j}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} = \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{I}},$$

$$\overset{\stackrel{\rightarrow}{\rightarrow}}{\mathbf{F}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} = (X_{;i}^{T} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{g}^{i}) \cdot (x_{;J}^{j} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{G}^{J}) = \delta_{J}^{T} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{G}^{J} = \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{I}}.$$

$$(3.29)$$

From Eq.(3.29), the two-point second-order tensors of \mathbf{F} and \mathbf{F} are inverse each other. The deformation gradient with "-1" is on the deformed configuration.

Theorem 3.3. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} , the transposes of deformation gradient tensors are determined by

$$(\overset{\diamond}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} = \overset{\diamond}{\nabla} \mathbf{p} = x_{;I}^{i} \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{g}_{i} \text{ and } (\overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} = \overset{\diamond}{\nabla} \mathbf{P} = X_{;I}^{I} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{G}_{I}.$$
(3.30)

Proof: Consider two vectors $\mathbf{u} = u_i \mathbf{g}^i$ and $\mathbf{v} = v^I \mathbf{G}_I$. From Eqs.(3.22) and (3.28),



Fig. 3.4 Infinitesimal displacement vector $d\mathbf{u}$ between two configurations.

$$\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{v} = (u_j \mathbf{g}^j) \cdot (X_{;l}^i \mathbf{g}_l \mathbf{G}^l) \cdot (v^J \mathbf{G}_J) = u_i X_{;l}^i v^I = v^I X_{;l}^i u_i$$

= $(v^J \mathbf{G}_J) \cdot (X_{;l}^i \mathbf{G}^l \mathbf{g}_l) \cdot (u_j \mathbf{g}^j) = \mathbf{v} \cdot (\nabla \mathbf{p}) \cdot \mathbf{u} \equiv \mathbf{v} \cdot (\mathbf{F})^T \cdot \mathbf{u}.$

Similarly, consider two vectors $\mathbf{u} = u_I \mathbf{G}^I$ and $\mathbf{v} = v^i \mathbf{g}_i$, and the following equation holds:

$$\mathbf{\hat{u}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{F}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{v}} = (u_{J}\mathbf{G}^{J}) \cdot (x_{ij}^{I}\mathbf{G}_{I}\mathbf{g}^{i}) \cdot (v^{j}\mathbf{g}_{j}) = u_{I}x_{ij}^{I}v^{i} = v^{i}x_{ij}^{I}u_{I}$$
$$= (v^{j}\mathbf{g}_{j}) \cdot (x_{ij}^{I}\mathbf{g}^{i}\mathbf{G}_{I}) \cdot (u_{J}\mathbf{G}^{J}) = \mathbf{\hat{v}} \cdot (\mathbf{\hat{\nabla}}\mathbf{P}) \quad \mathbf{\hat{u}} = \mathbf{\hat{v}} \cdot (\mathbf{\hat{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{u}}.$$

This theorem is proved.

Definition 3.11. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} , from the shifter tensors, *the other deformation gradients* are defined as

$$\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} = \mathbf{p} \overset{\sim}{\nabla} = x_{;I}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}^{I}, \quad \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} = \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{I}} = g_{r}^{I} x_{;R}^{r} g_{i}^{R} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{g}^{i},$$

$$\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} = \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} = g_{r}^{I} x_{;J}^{r} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{G}^{J}, \quad \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} = \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{I}} = x_{;R}^{i} g_{j}^{R} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{j}.$$

$$(3.31)$$

$$(\widehat{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} = \widehat{\nabla} \mathbf{p} = x_{;I}^{i} \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{g}_{i}, \quad (\widehat{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} = \widehat{\mathbf{I}} \cdot (\widehat{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \widehat{\mathbf{I}} = g_{i}^{R} x_{;R}^{r} g_{i}^{I} g^{i} \mathbf{G}_{i},$$

$$(3.32)$$

$$(\mathbf{F})^{T} = \mathbf{I} \cdot (\mathbf{F})^{T} = x_{,R}^{t} g_{,J}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{,J}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{,I}, \quad (\mathbf{F})^{T} = (\mathbf{F})^{T} \cdot \mathbf{I} = x_{,I}^{r} g_{,J}^{r} \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{G}_{,J}.$$

$$\stackrel{\stackrel{\rightarrow}{\Rightarrow}}{\mathbf{F}} = \mathbf{P} \stackrel{\stackrel{\rightarrow}{\nabla} = X_{,I}^{I} \mathbf{G}_{,I} \mathbf{g}_{,I}^{r}, \quad \stackrel{\stackrel{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{F}} = \mathbf{I} \cdot \stackrel{\stackrel{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \mathbf{I}}{\mathbf{I}} = g_{,R}^{i} X_{,r}^{R} g_{,I}^{r} \mathbf{g}_{,I}^{r} \mathbf{G}_{,I}^{I},$$

$$\stackrel{\stackrel{\stackrel{\rightarrow}{\Rightarrow}}{\mathbf{F}} = \stackrel{\stackrel{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \stackrel{\stackrel{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{I}} = \stackrel{\stackrel{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \stackrel{\stackrel{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{I}} = Y^{I} \alpha^{r} \mathbf{G}_{,I}^{r} \mathbf{G}_{,$$

From the deformation gradient, the *covariant and contravariant metric tensors* (or *Cauchy's deformation tensor* and *Green's deformation tensor*) are expressed by

$$\overset{\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{C}}}{\mathbf{C}} = (\overset{\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (\overset{\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}}) = (\overset{\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (\overset{\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}}), \qquad \overset{\overset{\overset{-1}{\mathbf{C}}}{\mathbf{C}} = \overset{\overset{-1}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot (\overset{\overset{-1}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} = (\overset{\overset{-1}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}}) \cdot (\overset{\overset{-1}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}},$$

$$\overset{\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{C}}}{\mathbf{c}} = (\overset{\overset{-1}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (\overset{\overset{-1}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}}) = (\overset{\overset{-1}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (\overset{\overset{-1}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}}), \qquad (3.35)$$

Definition 3.12. For two position vectors P in \mathfrak{B} and p in \mathfrak{b} , the *infinitesimal areas and volumes* are defined as

3.1. Deformation geometry

$$d\mathbf{\hat{a}} = d\mathbf{p} \times d\mathbf{p}$$
 and $d\mathbf{\hat{a}} = d\mathbf{p} \times d\mathbf{p}$,
 $4 = d\mathbf{p} \times d\mathbf{p}$,
(3.36)

$$d\mathbf{\hat{A}} = d\mathbf{P} \times d\mathbf{P}$$
 and $d\mathbf{\hat{A}} = d\mathbf{\hat{P}} \times d\mathbf{\hat{P}}$.

$$dv = \begin{bmatrix} d\mathbf{p} & d\mathbf{p} \\ 1 & 2 & 3 \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } dV = \begin{bmatrix} d\mathbf{P} & d\mathbf{P} \\ 1 & 2 & 3 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.37)

Theorem 3.4. For two position vectors P in \mathfrak{B} and p in \mathfrak{b} , the infinitesimal volumes and areas are

$$dv = \begin{bmatrix} d \stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{p}} d \stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{p}} d \stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{p}} \end{bmatrix} = \sqrt{\frac{g}{G}} |x_{i}^{I}| dV = \mathcal{J} dV,$$

$$dV = \begin{bmatrix} d \stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{p}} d \stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{p}} d \stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{p}} \end{bmatrix} = \sqrt{\frac{G}{g}} |X_{i}^{I}| dv = \mathcal{J} dv,$$

$$d\stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{a}} = d\mathbf{p} \times d\mathbf{p} = \mathcal{J} (\stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot d\stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{A}},$$

$$d\stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{A}} = d\mathbf{p} \times d\mathbf{p} = \mathcal{J} (\stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot d\stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{A}}.$$
(3.38)
$$(3.38)$$

$$d\stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{A}} = d\mathbf{p} \times d\mathbf{p} = \mathcal{J} (\stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot d\stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{a}}.$$

Proof: From the definition of infinitesimal volume,

$$dv = \begin{bmatrix} d \stackrel{\leq}{\mathbf{p}} d \stackrel{\leq}{\mathbf{p}} d \stackrel{\leq}{\mathbf{p}} \end{bmatrix} = (\stackrel{\sim}{\mathbf{i}} \cdot d\mathbf{p}) \times (\stackrel{\sim}{\mathbf{i}} \cdot d\mathbf{p}) \cdot (\stackrel{\sim}{\mathbf{i}} \cdot d\mathbf{p})$$
$$= \frac{\begin{bmatrix} (\stackrel{\leftarrow}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d\mathbf{P}) \times (\stackrel{\leftarrow}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d\mathbf{P}) \end{bmatrix} \cdot (\stackrel{\leftarrow}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d\mathbf{P})}{(d\mathbf{P} \times d\mathbf{P}) \cdot d\mathbf{P}} dV = \mathrm{III}(\stackrel{\leftarrow}{\mathbf{F}}) dV$$
$$= \| g_r^I x_{;J}^r \| dV = \| g_r^I \| x_{;J}^r \| dV = \sqrt{\frac{g}{G}} \| x_{;I}^i \| dV = \mathscr{J} dV.$$

Similarly, the infinitesimal volume for the initial configuration is

$$dV = \begin{bmatrix} d \stackrel{>}{P} d \stackrel{>}{P} d \stackrel{>}{P} \end{bmatrix} = (\stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot d\mathbf{P}) \times (\stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot d\mathbf{P}) (\stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot d\mathbf{P})$$
$$= \frac{\begin{bmatrix} (\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d\mathbf{p}) \times (\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d\mathbf{p}) \end{bmatrix} \cdot (\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d\mathbf{p})}{\begin{pmatrix} (\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d\mathbf{p}) \end{bmatrix} \cdot (\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d\mathbf{p})} dv = \mathbf{III}(\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}}) dv$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} g_{R}^{i} X_{;i}^{R} \mid dv = \mid g_{I}^{i} \parallel X_{;i}^{I} \mid dv = \sqrt{\frac{G}{g}} \mid X_{;i}^{I} \mid dV = \sqrt{dv}.$$

From the definition of infinitesimal area,

$$d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}} = d\mathbf{p} \times d\mathbf{p} = \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}} = \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot (d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{p}} \times d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{p}}) = \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot [(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{p}}) \times (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{p}})].$$

Because

$$\begin{split} & \mathrm{III}(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}) \, d_{3}^{\mathbf{P}} \cdot (d_{4}^{\mathbf{P}} \times d_{5}^{\mathbf{P}}) = (\widetilde{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d_{3}^{\mathbf{P}}) \cdot [(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d_{4}^{\mathbf{P}}) \times (\widetilde{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d_{5}^{\mathbf{P}})] \\ &= [(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d_{4}^{\mathbf{P}}) \times (\widetilde{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d_{5}^{\mathbf{P}})] \cdot (\widetilde{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d_{3}^{\mathbf{P}}) = d_{3}^{\mathbf{P}} \cdot (\widetilde{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot [(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d_{4}^{\mathbf{P}}) \times (\widetilde{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d_{5}^{\mathbf{P}})], \\ & (\widetilde{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot [(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d_{4}^{\mathbf{P}}) \times (\widetilde{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d_{5}^{\mathbf{P}})] = \mathrm{III}(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}) \cdot (d_{4}^{\mathbf{P}} \times d_{5}^{\mathbf{P}}), \\ & (\widetilde{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d_{4}^{\mathbf{P}}) \times (\widetilde{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d_{5}^{\mathbf{P}}) = \mathrm{III}(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}})[(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}})^{-1}]^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (d_{4}^{\mathbf{P}} \times d_{5}^{\mathbf{P}}) = \mathrm{III}(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}})(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (d_{4}^{\mathbf{P}} \times d_{5}^{\mathbf{P}}). \end{split}$$

thus

$$d\mathbf{\hat{a}} = \mathrm{III}(\mathbf{\tilde{F}}) \stackrel{\sim}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot (\mathbf{\tilde{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (d\mathbf{P} \times d\mathbf{P}) = \mathscr{J}(\mathbf{\tilde{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot d\mathbf{\tilde{A}}$$

Similarly,

$$(\mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{p}) \times (\mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{p}) = \mathrm{III}(\mathbf{F})[(\mathbf{F})^{-1}]^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (d\mathbf{p} \times d\mathbf{p}) = \mathrm{III}(\mathbf{F})(\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (d\mathbf{p} \times d\mathbf{p}),$$

and the infinitesimal area in the initial configuration is determined by

$$d\mathbf{\hat{A}} = \mathbf{\hat{I}} \cdot d\mathbf{\hat{A}} = \mathbf{\hat{I}} \cdot (d\mathbf{\hat{A}} = \mathbf{\hat{I}} \cdot (d\mathbf{\hat{A}} = \mathbf{\hat{I}} \cdot (d\mathbf{\hat{A}} = \mathbf{\hat{I}} \cdot (\mathbf{\hat{A}} = \mathbf{\hat{I}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{I}} + \mathbf{\hat{I$$

This theorem is proved.

The component expressions of the area are

 $da_i = \mathscr{J}X_{;i}^I dA_I \text{ and } dA_I = \mathscr{J}X_{;I}^i da_i.$ (3.40)

Theorem 3.5. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} , the following equations holds

$$\stackrel{<}{\Box} \cdot (\mathcal{J} \stackrel{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{F}}) = 0 \text{ and } \stackrel{>}{\Box} \cdot (\mathcal{J} \stackrel{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{F}}) = 0$$
(3.41)

with the component expression as

$$(\mathscr{J}X_{;i}^{I})_{:I} = 0 \text{ and } (\mathscr{J}x_{;I}^{i})_{:i} = 0.$$
 (3.42)

Proof: Because div $\mathbf{I}^{>>} = 0$, from Eq.(2.217),

$$0 = \int_{v} dv \operatorname{div} \mathbf{I} = \oint_{a} d\mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{I} = \oint_{a} d\mathbf{a}.$$

With Eq.(3.39), the integration domain is converted from
$$a$$
 to \mathscr{A} via $\stackrel{\frown}{\mathbf{I}}$

$$0 = \oint_{\mathscr{A}} \stackrel{\frown}{\mathscr{I}} \stackrel{\stackrel{\frown}{\mathbf{V}}}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \stackrel{\stackrel{\frown}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}}^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot d \stackrel{\stackrel{\frown}{\mathbf{A}}}{\mathbf{A}} = \oint_{\mathscr{A}} \stackrel{\stackrel{\frown}{\mathscr{I}}}{\mathbf{A}} \stackrel{\stackrel{\frown}{\mathbf{A}}}{\mathbf{A}} = \oint_{\mathscr{A}} d \stackrel{\stackrel{\frown}{\mathbf{A}}}{\mathbf{A}} \cdot (\mathcal{F} \stackrel{\stackrel{\frown}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}}) = \oint_{\mathscr{F}} dV \stackrel{\stackrel{\frown}{\Box}}{\mathbf{C}} (\mathcal{F} \stackrel{\stackrel{\frown}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}})$$

where $\stackrel{\scriptstyle <}{\square} (\mathscr{J} \stackrel{\scriptstyle -1}{F}) \equiv \operatorname{div} (\mathscr{J} \stackrel{\scriptstyle -1}{F})$ with the total differentiation to point **P**. Because of any arbitrarily selection of the volume, the foregoing equation gives

$$\stackrel{\stackrel{\scriptstyle <}{=}}{\Box} \cdot (\mathcal{J}\stackrel{\stackrel{\scriptstyle -1}{K}}{\mathbf{F}}) = 0.$$

Also the foregoing equation gives

$$\stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\hookrightarrow}}{\Box} \cdot \left(\mathcal{J} \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathsf{F}}}{\mathsf{F}} \right) = \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\Box} \cdot \left(\mathcal{J} \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathsf{F}}}{\mathsf{F}} \cdot \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathsf{I}}}{\mathsf{I}} \right) = \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\Box} \cdot \left(\mathcal{J} \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathsf{F}}}{\mathsf{F}} \right) \cdot \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathsf{I}}}{\mathsf{I}} + \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathcal{J}} \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathsf{F}}}{\mathsf{F}} \cdot \left(\stackrel{-1}{\Box} \cdot \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathsf{I}}}{\mathsf{I}} \right) = 0.$$

Because of $\square \cdot \mathbf{I} = 0$,

$$\stackrel{<}{\Box} \cdot (\mathcal{J} \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathsf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}}) \cdot \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{I}} = 0.$$

Also because $\stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{I}}$ is non-zero, the following equation is achieved,

$$\stackrel{<}{\Box} \cdot (\mathcal{J} \stackrel{\stackrel{-}{\stackrel{\circ}{\mathbf{F}}}}{\mathbf{F}}) = 0$$

from which the component expression is

$$(\mathcal{J}X^I_{;i})_{:I}=0.$$

Similarly,

$$0 = \int_{\mathscr{V}} dV \operatorname{div} \overset{\leqslant}{\mathbf{I}} = \oint_{\mathscr{A}} d \overset{\leqslant}{\mathbf{A}} \cdot \overset{\leqslant}{\mathbf{I}} = \oint_{\mathscr{A}} d \overset{\leqslant}{\mathbf{A}},$$

With Eq.(3.39), the integration domain is converted from \mathscr{A} to *a* via $\mathbf{\hat{I}}$

$$0 = \oint_{a} \stackrel{\approx}{/} \mathbf{I} \cdot (\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot d\mathbf{a} = \oint_{a} \stackrel{\approx}{/} (\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot d\mathbf{A} = \oint_{a} d\mathbf{A} \cdot (\mathbf{F}) = \oint_{v} dv \mathbf{n} \cdot (\mathbf{F}).$$

any arbitrarily selection of the volume S

$$\stackrel{>}{\Box} (\mathcal{F}) = 0.$$

Further, the following relation holds,

$$\overset{\sim}{\mapsto} (\swarrow \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}) = \overset{\sim}{\mapsto} (\checkmark \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overrightarrow{\mathbf{I}}) = \overset{\sim}{\mapsto} (\checkmark \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}) \cdot \overrightarrow{\mathbf{I}} + \checkmark \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}} \cdot (\boxdot \overrightarrow{\mathbf{I}}) = 0$$

with $\stackrel{>}{\square} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{I} = 0$, the foregoing equation gives

$$\stackrel{>}{\Box} \cdot (\mathcal{F}) \cdot \stackrel{\sim}{\mathbf{I}} = 0.$$

Also because $\stackrel{\diamond}{\mathbf{I}}$ is non-zero,

$$\stackrel{>}{\Box} (\mathcal{F}) = 0.$$

Therefore, the component expression is given by

3 Deformation, Kinematics and Dynamics

$$(\mathcal{X}_{I}^{i})_{i} = 0.$$

This theorem is proved.

3.1.3. Green-Cauchy strain tensors and engineering strain

From Definition 3.10, for the two vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} ,

$$d\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{P} \text{ and } d\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{p}$$
 (3.43)

and from Definition 3.7, the displacement vectors are

$$\stackrel{<}{\mathbf{u}} = U^{T}\mathbf{G}_{T} = g_{i}^{T}u^{i}\mathbf{G}_{T} \text{ and } \stackrel{>}{\mathbf{u}} = u^{i}\mathbf{g}_{i} = g_{I}^{i}U^{T}\mathbf{g}_{i}.$$
(3.44)

If the positions are described by

$$\overset{<}{\mathbf{p}} = \overset{<}{\mathbf{P}} + \overset{<}{\mathbf{u}} = (X^{I} + U^{I})\mathbf{G}_{I} \text{ and } \overset{>}{\mathbf{P}} = \overset{>}{\mathbf{p}} - \overset{>}{\mathbf{u}} = (x^{i} - u^{i})\mathbf{g}_{i},$$
(3.45)

-1

then the covariant Green and Cauchy base vectors are

$$\mathbf{C}_{I} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{\widetilde{p}}}{\partial X^{I}} = \mathbf{G}_{I} + U_{;I}^{M} \mathbf{G}_{M} \text{ and } \mathbf{c}_{i} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{\widetilde{P}}}{\partial x^{i}} = \mathbf{g}_{i} - u_{;i}^{m} \mathbf{g}_{m}.$$
(3.46)

$$C_{IJ} = \mathbf{C}_{I} \cdot \mathbf{C}_{J} = G_{IJ} + G_{MJ} U_{;I}^{M} + G_{IN} U_{;J}^{N} + G_{MN} U_{;I}^{M} U_{;J}^{N}$$

$$= G_{IJ} + U_{J;I} + U_{I;J} + U_{M;I} U_{;J}^{M},$$
(3.47)

$$c_{ij} = \mathbf{c}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{c}_{j} = g_{ij} - g_{mj} u_{;i}^{m} - g_{in} u_{;j}^{n} + g_{mn} u_{;i}^{m} u_{;j}^{n}$$

$$= g_{ij} - u_{j;i} - u_{i;j} + u_{m;i} u_{;j}^{m}.$$

$$\mathbf{\hat{C}}^{\ll} = C_{IJ} \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{G}^{J} = (G_{IJ} + U_{J;I} + U_{I;J} + U_{M;I} U_{;J}^{M}) \mathbf{G}^{I} \mathbf{G}^{J},$$

$$\approx \mathbf{c} = c_{ij} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} = (g_{ij} - u_{j;i} - u_{i;j} + u_{m;i} u_{;j}^{m}) \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j}.$$
(3.48)

From Eqs.(3.8) and (3.13), the squares of the infinitesimal lengths are $\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{$

$$dS^{2} = G_{IJ}dX^{T}dX^{T} = c_{ij}dx^{i}dx^{j},$$

$$ds^{2} = C_{IJ}dX^{T}dX^{J} = g_{ij}dx^{i}dx^{j}.$$
(3.49)

Definition 3.13. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} , the difference between the square of the initial and deformed infinitesimal lengths is

$$ds^{2} - dS^{2} = 2E_{IJ}dX^{I}dX^{J} = 2e_{ij}dx^{i}dx^{j}, \qquad (3.50)$$

where two new quantities

88

3.1. Deformation geometry

$$E_{IJ} = \frac{1}{2} (C_{IJ} - G_{IJ}) \text{ and } e_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} (g_{ij} - c_{ij}),$$

$$\stackrel{<}{\mathbf{E}} = \frac{1}{2} (\stackrel{<}{\mathbf{C}} - \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{I}}) \text{ and } \stackrel{>}{\mathbf{e}} = \frac{1}{2} (\stackrel{>}{\mathbf{I}} - \stackrel{>}{\mathbf{c}}),$$

(3.51)

are called the Lagrangian and Eulerian strain tensors accordingly.

Theorem 3.6. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} , there is a displacement \mathbf{u} . The Lagrangian and Eulerian strain tensors are computed by

$$E_{IJ} = \frac{1}{2} (U_{J;I} + U_{I;J} + U_{M;I} U_{;J}^{M}) \text{ and } e_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} (u_{j;i} + u_{i;j} - u_{m;i} u_{;j}^{m}).$$
(3.52)

Proof: With Eq.(3.47), definitions in Eq.(3.51) gives

$$E_{IJ} = \frac{1}{2}(C_{IJ} - G_{IJ}) = \frac{1}{2}(U_{J;I} + U_{I;J} + U_{M;I}U_{J}^{M}),$$

$$e_{ij} = \frac{1}{2}(g_{ij} - c_{ij}) = \frac{1}{2}(u_{j;i} + u_{i;j} - u_{m;i}u_{j}^{m}).$$

This theorem is proved.

From the definitions of the Lagrangian and Eulerian strain tensors, both strain tensors are not strain tensors in the physical sense. Both of the two strain tensors are two geometric quantities similar to the Cauchy and Green deformation tensors. In the physical sense, the strain is measured based on the changes of the length and angle. The normal strain is relative to the elongation and stretch or extension of an element length. The shear strain is based on the angle change between the two line elements. Therefore, such concepts should be discussed.

Definition 3.14. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} , the unit vectors of the infinitesimal vectors $d\mathbf{P}$ and $d\mathbf{p}$ are defined as

$$\mathbf{N} = \frac{d\mathbf{P}}{|d\mathbf{P}|} = N^{\mathrm{I}}\mathbf{G}_{\mathrm{I}} \text{ and } \mathbf{n} = \frac{d\mathbf{p}}{|d\mathbf{p}|} = n^{i}\mathbf{g}_{i}, \qquad (3.53)$$

where

$$N^{I} = \frac{dX^{I}}{|d\mathbf{P}|} = \frac{dX^{I}}{dS} = \frac{dX^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{MN}dX^{M}dX^{N}}},$$

$$n^{i} = \frac{dx^{i}}{|d\mathbf{p}|} = \frac{dx^{i}}{ds} = \frac{dx^{i}}{\sqrt{g_{mn}dx^{m}dx^{n}}}.$$
(3.54)

In the Cartesian coordinate system, both of the two quantities in the foregoing definition are the *directional cosines*. For the curvilinear coordinate systems, the directional cosine will be discussed later.

Definition 3.15. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} , the *elongation along the direction* **N** is defined as

$$\varepsilon_{\mathbf{N}} = \frac{|d\mathbf{p}|\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{N},\mathbf{n})} - |d\mathbf{P}||}{|d\mathbf{P}|} = \frac{d\mathbf{p} \cdot d\mathbf{P}}{|d\mathbf{P}|^2} - 1, \qquad (3.55)$$

with

$$\varepsilon_{\mathbf{N}} = x_{;I}^{m} g_{m}^{I} N^{I} N^{J} - 1 = (G_{IJ} + U_{;J}^{I}) N^{I} N^{J} - 1.$$
(3.56)

Definition 3.16. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} , the *elongation* along the direction **n** is defined as

$$\varepsilon_{\mathbf{n}} = \frac{|d\mathbf{p}| - |d\mathbf{P}| \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{N},\mathbf{n})}}{|d\mathbf{p}|} = 1 - \frac{d\mathbf{p} \cdot d\mathbf{P}}{|d\mathbf{p}|^2}, \qquad (3.57)$$

with

$$\varepsilon_{\mathbf{n}} = 1 - X_{;i}^{M} g_{M}^{i} n^{i} n^{j} = 1 - (g_{ij} - u_{ij}^{i}) n^{i} n^{j}.$$
(3.58)

Definition 3.17. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} , the ratio of the lengths of vectors $d\mathbf{P}$ and $d\mathbf{p}$ is called *the stretch* ($\Lambda_N = \lambda_n$), defined by

$$\Lambda_{\mathbf{N}} = \frac{|d\mathbf{p}|}{|d\mathbf{P}|} = \sqrt{\frac{|d\mathbf{P}|}{|d\mathbf{P}|}} \cdot \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{C}} \cdot \frac{|d\mathbf{P}|}{|d\mathbf{P}|} = \sqrt{\mathbf{N} \cdot \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{C}} \cdot \mathbf{N}}$$

$$= \sqrt{C_{U}N^{T}N^{J}}, \qquad (3.59)$$

$$\lambda_{\mathbf{n}} = \frac{|d\mathbf{p}|}{|d\mathbf{P}|} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\frac{|d\mathbf{p}|}{|d\mathbf{p}|}} \cdot \stackrel{>}{\mathbf{c}} \cdot \frac{|d\mathbf{p}|}{|d\mathbf{p}|}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mathbf{n} \cdot \stackrel{>}{\mathbf{c}} \cdot \mathbf{n}}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{c_{ij}n^{i}n^{j}}}. \qquad (3.60)$$

Definition 3.18. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} , the *extension* $(E_{\rm N} = e_{\rm n})$ between two vectors $d\mathbf{P}$ and $d\mathbf{p}$ is defined as

$$E_{\mathbf{N}} = \frac{|d\mathbf{p}| - |d\mathbf{P}|}{|d\mathbf{P}|} = \Lambda_{\mathbf{N}} - 1 = \sqrt{C_{IJ}N^{I}N^{J}} - 1, \qquad (3.61)$$

$$e_{\mathbf{n}} = \frac{|d\mathbf{p}| - |d\mathbf{P}|}{|d\mathbf{P}|} = \lambda_{\mathbf{n}} - 1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{c_{ij}n^{i}n^{j}}} - 1.$$
(3.62)

Definition 3.19. For two unit vectors in \mathfrak{B} of

$$\mathbf{N}_{1} = \frac{d\mathbf{P}}{|d\mathbf{P}|} \text{ and } \mathbf{N}_{2} = \frac{d\mathbf{P}}{|d\mathbf{P}|},$$
(3.63)

3.1. Deformation geometry

the angle between the two vectors $(\Theta_{(\underline{N},\underline{N})})$ is defined as

$$\cos\Theta_{(\underset{1}{\mathbf{N}},\underset{1}{\mathbf{N}})} = \frac{d\mathbf{P} \cdot d\mathbf{P}}{||d\mathbf{P}|| \cdot ||d\mathbf{P}||}.$$
(3.64)

For two unit vectors in b of

$$\mathbf{n}_{1} = \frac{d\mathbf{p}}{|d\mathbf{p}|} \text{ and } \mathbf{n}_{2} = \frac{d\mathbf{p}}{|d\mathbf{p}|}, \qquad (3.65)$$

the *angle* between the two vectors $(\theta_{(n, n)})$ is defined as

$$\cos \theta_{(\underset{l}{\mathbf{n}},\underset{l}{\mathbf{n}})} = \frac{d\mathbf{p} \cdot d\mathbf{p}}{||d\mathbf{p}|| \cdot ||d\mathbf{p}||}.$$
(3.66)

The shear strain in the plane of \mathbf{N}_1 and \mathbf{N}_2 is defined as

$$\Gamma_{(\underset{1}{\mathbf{N}},\underset{1}{\mathbf{N}})} \equiv \gamma_{(\underset{1}{\mathbf{n}},\underset{1}{\mathbf{n}})} = \Theta_{(\underset{1}{\mathbf{N}},\underset{1}{\mathbf{N}})} - \theta_{(\underset{1}{\mathbf{n}},\underset{1}{\mathbf{n}})}.$$
(3.67)

Theorem 3.7. For two unit vectors in \mathfrak{B} , the angle between the two vectors $(\Theta_{(\underline{N},\underline{N})})$ is determined by

$$\cos \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}, \mathbf{N})} = \frac{G_{IJ} \, dX^{I} \, dX^{J}}{| \, d\mathbf{P} \, | \cdot | \, d\mathbf{P} \, |} = G_{IJ} \, N_{1}^{I} \, N_{2}^{J} \,.$$
(3.68)

For two unit vectors in \mathfrak{b} , the angle between the two vectors $(\theta_{(\underline{n},\underline{n})})$ is determined by

$$\cos\theta_{(\underset{1}{\mathbf{n}},\underset{1}{\mathbf{n}})} = \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\underset{1}{\mathbf{N}}}\Lambda_{\underset{2}{\mathbf{N}}}} \underset{1}{\mathbf{N}} \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{C}} \stackrel{\sim}{\mathbf{N}} \underset{2}{\mathbf{N}} = \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\underset{1}{\mathbf{N}}}\Lambda_{\underset{2}{\mathbf{N}}}} C_{IJ} \underset{1}{N}^{I} \underset{2}{N}^{J}.$$
(3.69)

Proof : From definition, the angle between the two vectors $(\Theta_{(N,N)})$ is computed by

$$\cos\Theta_{(\underset{1}{\mathbf{N}},\underset{2}{\mathbf{N}})} = \frac{d\mathbf{P} \cdot d\mathbf{P}}{|d\mathbf{P}| \cdot |d\mathbf{P}|} = \frac{G_{IJ} dX^{I} dX^{J}}{|d\mathbf{P}| \cdot |d\mathbf{P}|} = G_{IJ} \underset{1}{N^{I}} \underset{2}{N^{J}}.$$

The angle between the two vectors $(\theta_{(n,\frac{n}{2})})$ is computed by

3 Deformation, Kinematics and Dynamics

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n})} = \frac{d\mathbf{p} \cdot d\mathbf{p}}{|d\mathbf{p}| \cdot |d\mathbf{p}|} = \frac{(\mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{P}) \cdot (\mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{P})}{\Lambda_{\mathbf{N}} \Lambda_{\mathbf{N}} |d\mathbf{P}| \cdot |d\mathbf{P}|}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\mathbf{N}} \Lambda_{\mathbf{N}}} \mathbf{N} \cdot (\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{N} = \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\mathbf{N}} \Lambda_{\mathbf{N}}} \mathbf{N} \cdot \mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{N}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\mathbf{N}} \Lambda_{\mathbf{N}}} C_{IJ} N_{\mathbf{N}}^{T} N_{\mathbf{N}}^{J}$$

This theorem is proved.

Notice that the afore-defined extension and shear are called *the engineering* strain.

Definition 3.20. For the infinitesimal area $d\mathbf{\hat{A}}$ in \mathfrak{B} , the unit normal vector is ${}_{A}\mathbf{N} = d\mathbf{\hat{A}}/|d\mathbf{\hat{A}}|$. For the infinitesimal area $d\mathbf{\hat{a}}$ in \mathfrak{b} , the ratio of areas $d\mathbf{\hat{a}}$ and $d\mathbf{\hat{A}}$ is defined by

$$\sigma_{AN} = \frac{|d\mathbf{\hat{a}}|}{|d\mathbf{\hat{A}}|}.$$
(3.70)

Theorem 3.8. For two infinitesimal areas $d\mathbf{\hat{A}}$ in \mathfrak{B} and $d\mathbf{\hat{a}}$ in \mathfrak{b} with the unit normal vector $_{A}\mathbf{N} = d\mathbf{\hat{A}}/|d\mathbf{\hat{A}}|$, the ratio of two areas $d\mathbf{\hat{a}}$ and $d\mathbf{\hat{A}}$ is

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{A\mathbf{N}} = \mathscr{J}\sqrt{_{A}\mathbf{N}\cdot\overset{\overset{-1}{\mathbf{C}}}{\mathbf{C}}\cdot_{A}\mathbf{N}} = \mathscr{J}\sqrt{^{-1}C^{II}}_{A}N_{IA}N_{J}.$$
(3.71)

Proof: From definition, the ratio of two areas is

$$\sigma_{A^{\mathbf{N}}} = \frac{|d\mathbf{\hat{a}}|}{|d\mathbf{A}|} = \frac{\sqrt{d\mathbf{\hat{a}}\cdot d\mathbf{\hat{a}}}}{|d\mathbf{A}|}$$
$$= \frac{\sqrt{(\mathscr{J}(\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot d\mathbf{A}) \cdot (\mathscr{J}(\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot d\mathbf{A})}}{|d\mathbf{A}|}$$
$$= \mathscr{J}\sqrt{A^{\mathbf{N}\cdot\mathbf{F}\cdot(\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}}} \cdot A^{\mathbf{N}}} = \mathscr{J}\sqrt{A^{\mathbf{N}\cdot\mathbf{C}\cdot A^{\mathrm{N}}}}$$
$$= \mathscr{J}\sqrt{A^{-1}C^{IJ}A^{N}A^{J}}.$$

This theorem is proved.

Definition 3.21. For the infinitesimal area $d\mathbf{a}^{\diamond}$ in \mathbf{b} , the unit normal vector is ${}_{a}\mathbf{n} = d\mathbf{a}^{\diamond} | d\mathbf{a}^{\diamond} |$. For the infinitesimal area $d\mathbf{A}^{\diamond}$ in \mathfrak{B} , the ratio of areas $d\mathbf{a}^{\diamond}$ and $d\mathbf{A}^{\diamond}$ is defined by

$$\sigma_{a^{\mathbf{n}}} = \frac{|d\mathbf{\hat{a}}|}{|d\mathbf{\hat{A}}|}.$$
(3.72)

Theorem 3.9. For two infinitesimal areas $d\mathbf{\hat{A}}$ in \mathfrak{B} and $d\mathbf{\hat{a}}$ in \mathfrak{b} with the unit normal vector $_{\mathbf{a}}\mathbf{n} = d\mathbf{\hat{a}}/|d\mathbf{\hat{a}}|$, the ratio of areas $d\mathbf{\hat{a}}$ and $d\mathbf{\hat{A}}$ is

$$\sigma_{a^{\mathbf{n}}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\int_{a^{\mathbf{n}}} \frac{1}{\langle \cdot \rangle_{a^{\mathbf{n}}}}}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\int_{a^{\mathbf{n}}} \frac{1}{\langle \cdot \rangle_{a^{\mathbf{n}}} n_{i_{a}} n_{j_{a}}}}}$$
(3.73)

Proof: From definition, the ratio of two areas is

$$\sigma_{a^{\mathbf{n}}} = \frac{|d\mathbf{\hat{a}}|}{|d\mathbf{\hat{A}}|} = \frac{|d\mathbf{\hat{a}}|}{\sqrt{d\mathbf{\hat{A}}\cdot d\mathbf{\hat{A}}}} = \frac{|d\mathbf{\hat{a}}|}{\sqrt{(\mathscr{J}(\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}}\cdot d\mathbf{\hat{a}})\cdot(\mathscr{J}(\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}}\cdot d\mathbf{\hat{a}})}}$$
$$= \left[\mathscr{J}\sqrt{((\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}}\cdot_{a}\mathbf{n})\cdot((\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}}\cdot_{a}\mathbf{n})}\right]^{-1} = \left[\mathscr{J}\sqrt{a^{\mathrm{n}}\cdot\mathbf{F}\cdot(\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}}\cdot_{a}\mathbf{n}}\right]^{-1}$$
$$= \left[\mathscr{J}\sqrt{a^{\mathrm{n}}\cdot\mathbf{c}\cdot_{a}\mathbf{n}}\right]^{-1} = (\mathscr{J}\sqrt{a^{\mathrm{n}}\cdot\mathbf{c}\cdot_{a}\mathbf{n}})^{-1}.$$

This theorem is proved.

Definition 3.22. For the infinitesimal volume dV in \mathfrak{B} and dv in \mathfrak{b} , the ratio of volume is defined by

$$\sigma_{V} = \frac{dv}{dV} = \frac{\begin{bmatrix} d\mathbf{p} \ d\mathbf{p} \ d\mathbf{p} \end{bmatrix}}{\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 \\ 0 & \mathbf{P} \ d\mathbf{P} \end{bmatrix}}.$$
(3.74)

Theorem 3.10. For the infinitesimal volume dV in \mathfrak{B} and dv in \mathfrak{b} , the ratio of volume is determined by

$$\sigma_{V} = \frac{dv}{dV} = \operatorname{III}(\overset{<}{\mathbf{F}}) = \sqrt{\frac{g}{G}} \mid x_{;I}^{i} \mid = \mathscr{J}.$$
(3.75)

Proof: From definition, the ratio of the volume is

3 Deformation, Kinematics and Dynamics

$$\sigma_{V} = \frac{dv}{dV} = \frac{\begin{bmatrix} d\mathbf{p} \ d\mathbf{p} \ d\mathbf{p} \\ \frac{1}{2} \ \frac{2}{3} \end{bmatrix}}{\begin{bmatrix} d\mathbf{p} \ d\mathbf{p} \ d\mathbf{P} \end{bmatrix}} = \frac{\begin{pmatrix} \overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d\mathbf{P} \end{pmatrix} \times \begin{pmatrix} \overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d\mathbf{P} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot d\mathbf{P} \end{pmatrix}}{\frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{2}{3}} = \mathrm{III}(\overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{F}})$$
$$= \|g_{r}^{I} x_{;J}^{r}\| = \|g_{r}^{I}\| x_{;J}^{r}\| = \sqrt{\frac{g}{G}} \|x_{;I}^{i}\| = \mathscr{J}.$$

This theorem is proved.

3.1.4. Principal strains and directions

At any point in \mathfrak{B} , the strain tensors can be determined by the Green-Cauchy strain tensors. In different directions, the strain of line element is different. To determine the extremum values of the strain, consider the minimization of the extension E_{N} by the following equation:

$$\Lambda_{\mathbf{N}}^2 = C_{IJ} N^I N^J \tag{3.76}$$

with the initial extension condition of $E_{(N)} = 0$ (or $\Lambda_{(N)} = 1$), i.e.,

$$G_{II}N^{I}N^{J} - 1 = 0. ag{3.77}$$

It is found that the extremum extension is to determine the extremum stretch. Such a problem is a conditional extremum problem. Langrange's method of multipliers can be adopted. That is, one has a function

$$\mathcal{F} = \Lambda_{(N)}^2 - \Lambda(G_{IJ}N^I N^J - 1) = C_{IJ}N^I N^J - \Lambda(G_{IJ}N^I N^J - 1).$$
(3.78)

Thus,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial N^{K}} \Big[C_{IJ} N^{I} N^{J} - \Lambda (G_{IJ} N^{I} N^{J} - 1) \Big] = 0, \qquad (3.79)$$

where Λ is an unknown Lagrange multiplier.

$$(C_{IJ} - \Lambda G_{IJ})N^{J} = 0, (3.80)$$

which can be expressed by

$$(C_{J}^{I} - \Lambda \delta_{J}^{I})N^{J} = 0$$
(3.81)

or

$$(\overset{\leqslant}{\mathbf{C}} - \Lambda \overset{\leqslant}{\mathbf{I}}) \cdot \mathbf{N} = 0.$$
(3.82)

The non-trivial solution requires

$$|C_{J}^{I} - \Lambda \delta_{J}^{I}| = 0 \text{ or } \det(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}} - \Lambda \overset{\ll}{\mathbf{I}}) = 0.$$
(3.83)

~

The foregoing equation gives

3.1. Deformation geometry

$$-\Lambda^{3} + I(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}})\Lambda^{2} + II(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}})\Lambda + III(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}}) = 0, \qquad (3.84)$$

where

$$\mathbf{I}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}}) = \frac{1}{1!} \delta_{I}^{J} C_{.J}^{I} = C_{.I}^{I}, \quad \mathbf{II}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}}) = \frac{1}{2!} \delta_{IK}^{JL} C_{.J}^{I} C_{.L}^{K},$$

$$\mathbf{III}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}}) = \frac{1}{3!} \delta_{IKM}^{JLN} C_{.J}^{I} C_{.L}^{K} C_{.N}^{M} = |C_{.J}^{I}|.$$

(3.85)

From Eq.(3.84), three principal values Λ_{Γ} ($\Gamma = 1, 2, 3$) with $\Lambda_1 \ge \Lambda_2 \ge \Lambda_3$ are obtained. Because $\stackrel{<\!\!<}{\mathbf{C}}$ is positive-definite, $\Lambda_{\Gamma} > 0$ ($\Gamma = 1, 2, 3$), and the corresponding principal directions $\underset{\Gamma}{\mathbf{N}}$ are orthogonal, which are the principal directions of the Green-strain tensor. Such orthogonality of the principal directions can be proved as follows.

$$\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}} \cdot \underset{1}{\mathbf{N}} = \Lambda_1 \underset{1}{\mathbf{N}} \text{ and } \overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}} \cdot \underset{2}{\mathbf{N}} = \Lambda_2 \underset{2}{\mathbf{N}}.$$
(3.86)

Left multiplication of N_{1} in the first equation of Eq.(3.86) gives

$$\sum_{2}^{\infty} \stackrel{\ll}{\mathbf{C}} \cdot \underbrace{\mathbf{N}}_{1} = \Lambda_{1} \underbrace{\mathbf{N}}_{2} \cdot \underbrace{\mathbf{N}}_{1} \implies \underbrace{\mathbf{N}}_{1} \cdot (\stackrel{\ll}{\mathbf{C}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \underbrace{\mathbf{N}}_{2} = \Lambda_{1} \underbrace{\mathbf{N}}_{1} \cdot \underbrace{\mathbf{N}}_{2} .$$
(3.87)

Because $\stackrel{<\!\!\!<}{\mathbf{C}}$ is symmetric,

$$\mathbf{N} \cdot \mathbf{\widehat{C}} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{2} = \Lambda_{1} \mathbf{N} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{2} \quad \text{but} \quad \mathbf{N} \cdot \mathbf{\widehat{C}} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{2} = \Lambda_{2} \mathbf{N} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{2}.$$
(3.88)

The difference between the two equations gives

$$0 = (\Lambda_1 - \Lambda_2) \underbrace{\mathbf{N}}_{1} \cdot \underbrace{\mathbf{N}}_{2}. \tag{3.89}$$

If $\Lambda_1 \neq \Lambda_2$, the foregoing equation gives

$$0 = \underbrace{\mathbf{N}}_{1} \cdot \underbrace{\mathbf{N}}_{2}. \tag{3.90}$$

The two principal directional vectors are perpendicular. The principal directions are also called the *spatial strain directions*. Based on the three principal directions, the three principal stretches are computed by

$$\Lambda_{\underset{\Gamma}{\mathbf{N}}} = \sqrt{\underset{\Gamma}{\mathbf{N}} \cdot \overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}} \cdot \underset{\Gamma}{\mathbf{N}}} = \sqrt{\Lambda_{\underset{\Gamma}{\mathbf{N}}} \cdot \underset{\Gamma}{\mathbf{N}}} = \sqrt{\Lambda_{\underset{\Gamma}{\mathbf{N}}}}.$$
(3.91)

From Chapter 2,

where

$$E_{\Gamma_{\Gamma}} = \Lambda_{\Gamma_{\Gamma}} - 1 = \sqrt{\Lambda_{\Gamma}} - 1.$$
(3.93)

In a similar fashion, consider the minimization of the extension e_n by the following equation.

$$\lambda_{\mathbf{n}}^{-2} = c_{ij} n^{i} n^{j} \tag{3.94}$$

with the initial extension condition of $e_n = 0$ (or $\lambda_n = 1$), i.e.,

$$g_{ii}n^i n^j - 1 = 0. ag{3.95}$$

The three principal values of the Cauchy strain tensor are λ_{Γ} ($\Gamma = 1, 2, 3$) with $\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge \lambda_3$, and the corresponding, orthogonal principal directions are \mathbf{n}_{Γ} . The principal directions are called *the material strain directions*. The principal stretch is computed by

$$\lambda_{\Gamma} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\prod_{\Gamma} \sum_{\Gamma} \sum_{\Gamma}}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{\Gamma} \prod_{\Gamma} \sum_{\Gamma}}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{\Gamma}}}.$$
(3.96)

Further,

$$\sum_{\Gamma}^{-1/2} \sum_{\Gamma} = \lambda_{n} \prod_{\Gamma} \text{ or } (\mathbf{c} - \mathbf{I}) \cdot \mathbf{n}_{\Gamma} = e_{n} \prod_{\Gamma} \mathbf{n}, \qquad (3.97)$$

where

$$e_{\stackrel{\mathbf{n}}{\Gamma}} = \lambda_{\stackrel{\mathbf{n}}{\Gamma}} - 1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{\Gamma}}} - 1.$$
(3.98)

Definition 3.23. For the infinitesimal vector $d\mathbf{p}$ in \mathbf{b} , the following relation at point \mathbf{p} holds:

$$c_{ij}dx^i dx^j = K^2, (3.99)$$

which is called the *material strain ellipsoid* if for the infinitesimal vector $d\mathbf{P}$ in \mathfrak{B} ,

$$G_{IJ} dX^{I} dX^{J} = K^{2} \text{ at point } \mathbf{P}.$$
(3.100)

For the infinitesimal vector $d\mathbf{P}$, there is a relation at point \mathbf{P} as

$$C_{IJ} dX^{I} dX^{J} = k^{2}, (3.101)$$

which is called the *spatial strain ellipsoid* if for the infinitesimal vector $d\mathbf{p}$ in \mathbf{b}

$$g_{ii} dx^i dx^j = k^2 \quad \text{at point } \mathbf{p}. \tag{3.102}$$

Theorem 3.11. If two infinitesimal vectors $d \mathbf{P}_1$ and $d \mathbf{P}_2$ in \mathfrak{B} are perpendicular at point \mathbf{P} , i.e.,

$$d \mathbf{P} \cdot d \mathbf{P}_{1} = 0 \text{ or } G_{IJ} dX^{I} dX^{J} = 0, \qquad (3.103)$$

then after deformation at point \mathbf{p} in \mathbf{b} , the following equations exist:

$$d\mathbf{p} \cdot (\mathbf{c} \cdot d\mathbf{p}) = 0 \quad \text{or} \quad dx'_1 (\mathbf{c}_{ij} dx'_2) = 0;$$

$$(\mathbf{c} \cdot d\mathbf{p}) \cdot d\mathbf{p} = 0 \quad \text{or} \quad (\mathbf{c}_{ij} dx'_1) dx'_2 = 0.$$

(3.104)

Proof: This theorem can be easily proved by the definition, i.e., $dS^{2} = d \mathbf{P} \cdot d \mathbf{P} = G_{IJ} dX^{I} dX^{J} = G_{IJ} X^{I}_{;i} X^{J}_{;j} dx^{i} dx^{j} = c_{ij} dx^{i} dx^{j}.$ If $d \mathbf{P} \cdot d \mathbf{P} = 0$ or $G_{IJ} dX^{I} dX^{J} = 0$,

$$(c_{ij} dx^{i}) dx^{j} = dx^{i} (c_{ij} dx^{j}) = 0.$$

In other words,

$$(\mathbf{c} \cdot d\mathbf{p}) \cdot d\mathbf{p} = (d\mathbf{p}) \cdot (\mathbf{c} \cdot d\mathbf{p}) = 0$$

This theorem is proved.

Theorem 3.12. If the deformed infinitesimal vector of $d\mathbf{P}$ in \mathfrak{B} is an infinitesimal vector $d\mathbf{p}$ in \mathfrak{b} , then the two infinitesimal vectors can be decomposed by three motions of the translation, rotation and deformations:

$$d\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{I} \cdot \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{C} \cdot d\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{I} \cdot \mathbf{C} \cdot d\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{I} \cdot d\mathbf{P}$$

$$\overset{-1/2}{\approx} \overset{-1/2}{\approx} \overset{-1/2}{\ast} \overset{-1/2}{\approx} \overset{-1/2}{\ast} \overset{$$

and

$$d\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{I} \cdot d\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{I} \cdot \mathbf{R} \cdot d\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{I} \cdot \mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{R} \cdot d\mathbf{p}$$

$$= \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{I} \cdot d\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{I} \cdot \mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{dp} = \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{I} \cdot \mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{dp} = \mathbf{I} \cdot \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{dp}.$$
(3.106)

where I, R and C (or c) are the translation, rigid rotation and deformation, respectively.

Proof: From definition, the deformed infinitesimal vector is

$$d\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{I} \cdot \mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{I} \cdot d\mathbf{P}.$$

Because of $det(\overset{\ll}{F}) \neq 0$, the deformation gradient $\overset{\ll}{F}$ is a non-degenerte, second-order tensor, decomposed by the left and right polar decompositions:

$$\overset{\overset{\scriptstyle{}}_{\scriptstyle{\scriptstyle{\bullet}}}}{\mathbf{F}} = (\overset{\overset{\scriptstyle{}}_{\scriptstyle{\scriptstyle{\bullet}}}}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot (\overset{\overset{\scriptstyle{}}_{\scriptstyle{\scriptstyle{\bullet}}}}{\mathbf{F}})^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \overset{\overset{\scriptstyle{}}_{\scriptstyle{\scriptstyle{\bullet}}}}{\mathbf{R}} = \overset{\overset{\scriptstyle{}_{\scriptstyle{\scriptstyle{\bullet}}}}{\mathbf{c}}}{\mathbf{c}} \cdot \overset{\overset{\scriptstyle{}}_{\scriptstyle{\scriptstyle{\bullet}}}}{\mathbf{R}} \text{ and } \overset{\overset{\scriptstyle{}}_{\scriptstyle{\scriptstyle{\bullet}}}}{\mathbf{F}} = \overset{\overset{\scriptstyle{}_{\scriptstyle{\scriptstyle{\bullet}}}}{\mathbf{R}} \cdot ((\overset{\scriptstyle{}}_{\scriptstyle{\scriptstyle{\bullet}}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\scriptstyle{}}{\mathbf{F}})^{\frac{1}{2}} = \overset{\overset{\scriptstyle{}_{\scriptstyle{\scriptstyle{\bullet}}}}{\mathbf{R}} \cdot \overset{\overset{\scriptstyle{}}_{\scriptstyle{\scriptstyle{\bullet}}}}{\mathbf{C}}.$$

3 Deformation, Kinematics and Dynamics

Similarly,

$$F = \mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{R}$$
 and $F = \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{C}$

Substitution of the polar decompositions of the deformation gradient tensors into the definition of $d\mathbf{p}$ gives Eq.(3.105).

In a similar fashion,

$$d\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{I} \cdot \mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{I} \cdot d\mathbf{p}.$$

The tensor is decomposed by the left and right polar decompositions:

$$\stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\Longrightarrow}}{\mathbf{F}} = (\stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}}}{(\mathbf{F})}{}^{\mathsf{T}})^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot (\stackrel{\mathbb{R}}{\mathbf{R}})^{\mathsf{T}} = \stackrel{\stackrel{-1/2}{\simeq}}{\mathbf{C}} \cdot (\stackrel{\mathbb{R}}{\mathbf{R}})^{\mathsf{T}} \text{ and } \stackrel{\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}} = (\stackrel{\mathbb{R}}{\mathbf{R}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot (\stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}}}{(\mathbf{F})}^{\frac{1}{2}} = (\stackrel{\mathbb{R}}{\mathbf{R}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \stackrel{\stackrel{\vee}{\mathbf{c}}}{\mathbf{C}}$$

and

Because

one obtains

$$(\mathbf{R})^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{R}$$

Finally,

Substitution of the foregoing equations into the definition of $d\mathbf{P}$ gives Eq.(3.106). This theorem is proved.

From
$$\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{R}$$
 and $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{C}$, the rotation tensor can be determined by
 $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{C}$ and $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{F}$. (3.107)

Theorem 3.13. For the infinitesimal vectors $d\mathbf{P}$ in \mathfrak{B} and $d\mathbf{p}$ in \mathfrak{b} , if the Green and Cauchy tensors C_{IJ} and c_{ij} are nonsingular, positive-definite tensors, then their Riemann-Christoffel tensors are zero:

$$R_{IJKL} = 0$$
 and $R_{ijkl} = 0.$ (3.108)

Proof: From the definition of the Riemann-Christoffel tensor,

3.2. Kinematics

$$R_{IJKL} = \frac{1}{2} (C_{IL;JK} + C_{JK;IL} - C_{IK,JL} - C_{JL;IK}) + {}^{-1}C^{MN} (\Gamma_{ILM}\Gamma_{JKN} - \Gamma_{IKM}\Gamma_{JLN}) = 0,$$

where

$$\Gamma_{IJK} = \frac{1}{2} (C_{JK,I} + C_{KI,J} - C_{IJ,K}).$$

Similarly,

$$R_{ijkl} = \frac{1}{2} (c_{il;jk} + c_{jk;il} - c_{ik,jl} - c_{jl;ik}) + {}^{-1}c^{rs} (\Gamma_{ilr}\Gamma_{jks} - \Gamma_{ikr}\Gamma_{jls}) = 0$$

where

$$\Gamma_{ijk} = \frac{1}{2} (c_{jk,i} + c_{ki,j} - c_{ij,k})$$

This theorem is proved.

The conditions in Eq.(3.108) is called *the compatibility condition*, and also is called the *integrability condition* of the following equations

$$g_{ij}x_{;I}^{i}x_{;J}^{j} = C_{IJ} \text{ and } g_{IJ}X_{;i}^{I}X_{;j}^{I} = c_{ij}.$$
 (3.109)

3.2. Kinematics

In this section, the vectors and tensors varying with time will be discussed in the deformed configuration. The velocity and acceleration of such position vectors and deformation tensors in the deformed configuration will be discussed.

3.2.1. Material derivatives

Before discussion on material derivatives, the velocity of particles in the deformed configuration should be defined. The material description is a material particle moving to all possible spatial points, as shown in Fig.3.5. The special material point with (X^{I} , I = 1, 2, 3) is invariant. With varying time, the spatial locations of the material point changes.

Definition 3.24. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, there is a relation
$$\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}, t) \text{ or } x^{i} = x^{i}(X^{T}, t).$$
 (3.110)

The time rate of change of the position of a given material particle **P** going through the spatial points **p** is called the *velocity of the particle* **P** at the location point **p**, defined by

$$\mathbf{v} \equiv \lim_{\Delta t \to 0} \frac{\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}, t + \Delta t) - \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}, t)}{\Delta t} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}}$$
$$= \mathbf{p}_{,i} \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} \mathbf{g}_{i}.$$
(3.111)

The covariant component of the vector $\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{p},t) = v^{i}\mathbf{g}_{i}$ at point $\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P},t)$ is



Fig. 3.5 Material description

However, the spatial description is all possible material points going through the fixed spatial point. The spatial point with $(x^i, i = 1, 2, 3)$ is invariant. The material points at the fixed spatial point are switched. Such a spatial description is shown in Fig.3.6.

Definition 3.25. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} for time t,

$$\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{p}, t) \text{ or } X^{T} = X^{T}(x^{T}, t), \qquad (3.113)$$

the time rate of material points P switching at the fixed location point p is called *the switching velocity of the material point* P at the location point p, defined by

3.2. Kinematics

$$\mathbf{V} \equiv \lim_{\Delta t \to 0} \frac{\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{p}, t + \Delta t) - \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{p}, t)}{\Delta t} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}}$$
$$= \mathbf{P}_{,I} \frac{\partial X^{I}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{\partial X^{I}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} \mathbf{G}_{I} \equiv V^{I} \mathbf{G}_{I}.$$
(3.144)

Notice that $\partial(\cdot)/\partial t|_{\mathbf{p}}$ and $\partial(\cdot)/\partial t|_{\mathbf{P}}$ are the partial derivatives relative to point $\mathbf{P}(X^{T})$ and $\mathbf{p}(x^{T})$. Based on the *two fixed variables* (\mathbf{p} , t) and (\mathbf{P} , t) at time t, the total derivatives of a vector and tensor are from the Leibniz rule, i.e.,

$$\frac{\partial(\cdot)}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{\partial(\cdot)}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + \frac{\partial x^{\prime}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{\partial(\cdot)}{\partial x^{i}} = \frac{\partial(\cdot)}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{i}\frac{\partial(\cdot)}{\partial x^{i}};$$

$$\frac{\partial(\cdot)}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{\partial(\cdot)}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + \frac{\partial X^{I}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}}\frac{\partial(\cdot)}{\partial X^{I}} = \frac{\partial(\cdot)}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + V^{I}\frac{\partial(\cdot)}{\partial X^{I}}.$$
(3.115)



Fig. 3.6 Spatial description.

If the *variables* (\mathbf{P} , t) and (\mathbf{p} , t) at time t are used as the fixed material points, the foregoing total derivatives are called *the material derivatives*. In many textbooks, the *point* (\mathbf{P} , t) at time t is as a fixed material point \mathbf{P} to the spatial place (\mathbf{p} , t) at time t.

Consider the fixed base vectors of the coordinates $\{X^i\}$ and $\{x^i\}$. The following relations hold:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \mathbf{G}_{I}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} &= \frac{\partial \mathbf{G}^{I}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{\partial \sqrt{G}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = 0, \\ \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{i}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} &= \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}^{I}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{\partial \sqrt{g}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = 0. \end{aligned}$$
(3.116)
$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \mathbf{G}_{I}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} &= \frac{\partial \mathbf{G}_{I}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} + V^{J} \frac{\partial \mathbf{G}_{I}}{\partial X^{J}} = V^{J} \Gamma_{Ji}^{K} \mathbf{G}_{K}, \\ \frac{\partial \mathbf{G}^{I}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} &= \frac{\partial \mathbf{G}^{I}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} + V^{J} \frac{\partial \mathbf{G}^{I}}{\partial X^{J}} = -V^{J} \Gamma_{Ji}^{K} \mathbf{G}^{K}, \\ \frac{\partial \mathbf{G}_{I}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} &= \frac{\partial (\mathbf{G}_{I} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{J})}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = V^{K} (\Gamma_{KU} + \Gamma_{KU}), \\ \frac{\partial \sqrt{G}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} &= \frac{\partial [\mathbf{G}_{1} \mathbf{G}_{2} \mathbf{G}_{3}]}{\partial t} = V^{J} \Gamma_{Ji}^{I} \sqrt{G}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.117)
$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \sqrt{g}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} &= \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{i}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{j} \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{i}}{\partial x^{i}} = v^{j} \Gamma_{Ji}^{k} \mathbf{g}_{k}, \\ \frac{\partial g_{i}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} &= \frac{\partial [\mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{G}_{2} \mathbf{g}_{3}]}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = v^{i} (\Gamma_{kij} + \Gamma_{kji}), \\ \frac{\partial \sqrt{g}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} &= \frac{\partial (\mathbf{g}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{j})}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = v^{i} (\Gamma_{kij} + \Gamma_{kji}), \\ \frac{\partial \sqrt{g}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} &= \frac{\partial (\mathbf{g}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{j})}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \frac{\partial \mathbf{G}_{I}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = V^{J} \Gamma_{Ji}^{K} \mathbf{g}_{k}^{K}, \\ \frac{\partial g_{i}^{I}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} &= \frac{\partial (\mathbf{g}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{j})}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \frac{\partial \mathbf{G}_{I}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = -V^{J} \Gamma_{Ji}^{K} \mathbf{g}_{k}^{K}, \\ \frac{\partial g_{i}^{I}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} &= \frac{\partial (\mathbf{g}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{j})}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \frac{\partial \mathbf{G}_{I}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = -V^{J} \Gamma_{Ji}^{K} \mathbf{g}_{k}^{K}, \\ \frac{\partial [g_{i}^{I}]}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\partial \sqrt{G}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = V^{J} \Gamma_{K}^{K} \| g_{I}^{I} |, \\ \frac{\partial |g_{i}^{I}|}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\partial \sqrt{G}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = V^{J} \Gamma_{K}^{K} \| g_{i}^{I} |. \end{aligned}$$
(3.119)

3.2. Kinematics

$$\frac{\partial g_{i}^{T}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{\partial (\mathbf{g}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}^{T})}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{G}^{T} \cdot \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{i}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = v^{j}\Gamma_{ji}^{k}g_{k}^{T},$$

$$\frac{\partial g_{I}^{i}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{\partial (\mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{I})}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{G}_{I} \cdot \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}^{i}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = -v^{j}\Gamma_{jk}^{i}g_{I}^{T},$$

$$\frac{\partial |g_{I}^{T}|}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G}}\frac{\partial \sqrt{G}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = v^{j}\Gamma_{jk}^{k} |g_{I}^{T}|,$$

$$\frac{\partial |g_{I}^{T}|}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = \sqrt{G}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g}})\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = -v^{j}\Gamma_{jk}^{k} |g_{I}^{T}|.$$
(3.120)

If the velocity \mathbf{v} at point \mathbf{p} is based on material and spatial coordinates \mathbf{P} and \mathbf{p} , the corresponding descriptions are called the *material* and *spatial* descriptions, respectively.

Definition 3.26. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, the velocity of the material point **P** at the location point **p** is

$$\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{P}, t) = v^{i}(\mathbf{P}, t)\mathbf{g}_{i} \quad \text{or } v^{i} = v^{i}(\mathbf{P}, t).$$
(3.121)

The time rate of change of the velocity $\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{P},t)$ of the material point at the point \mathbf{p} is called the *acceleration of the material point* \mathbf{P} at the location point \mathbf{p} in the deformed configuration \mathfrak{b} , defined by

$$\mathbf{a}(\mathbf{P},t) \equiv \lim_{\Delta t \to 0} \frac{\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{P},t+\Delta t) - \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{P},t)}{\Delta t} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{P}} = \frac{\partial (v^{i}\mathbf{g}_{i})}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{P}}.$$
 (3.122)

Theorem 3.14. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} for time t, under *Eq.*(3.121), the acceleration of the material point \mathbf{P} at the location point \mathbf{p} is determined by

$$\mathbf{a}(\mathbf{P},t) = \left(\frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{j}v^{k}\Gamma_{jk}^{i}\right)\mathbf{g}_{i} = \left(\frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{j}v_{;j}^{i}\right)\mathbf{g}_{i}.$$
(3.123)

Proof : From definition of the acceleration of the material point \mathbf{P} at the location point \mathbf{p} , under Eqs. (3.118) and (3.121),

$$\mathbf{a}(\mathbf{P},t) = \frac{\partial(v^{i}\mathbf{g}_{i})}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial t}\mathbf{g}_{i}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{i}\frac{\partial \mathbf{g}_{i}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = \left(\frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{j}v^{k}\Gamma_{jk}^{i}\right)\mathbf{g}_{i}$$
$$= \left(\frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{j}\frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial x^{j}}\right)\mathbf{g}_{i} + v^{j}v^{k}\Gamma_{jk}^{i}\mathbf{g}_{i} = \left(\frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{j}\frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial x^{j}} + v^{j}v^{k}\Gamma_{jk}^{i}\right)\mathbf{g}_{i}$$
$$= \left(\frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{j}v_{j}^{i}\right)\mathbf{g}_{i}.$$

This theorem is proved.

Definition 3.27. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, the velocity of the material point \mathbf{P} passing through the local point \mathbf{p} is

$$\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{p}, t) = v^{i}(\mathbf{p}, t)\mathbf{g}_{i} \quad \text{or } v^{i} = v^{i}(\mathbf{p}, t).$$
(3.124)

The time rate of change of the passing velocity $\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{p},t)$ of the material point **P** is called *the switching acceleration of the material points* **P** at the fixed location point **p**, defined by

$$\mathbf{a}(\mathbf{p},t) \equiv \lim_{\Delta t \to 0} \frac{\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{p},t+\Delta t) - \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{p},t)}{\Delta t} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}}.$$
 (3.125)

Theorem 3.15. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} for time t, under Eq.(3.124), the passing acceleration of the material point \mathbf{P} at the location point \mathbf{p} in the deformed configuration \mathfrak{b} is determined by

$$\mathbf{a}(\mathbf{p},t) = \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \vec{\nabla} \mathbf{v} = \left(\frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial t}\right)_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{j} \nabla_{j} v^{j} \mathbf{g}_{i} = a^{j} \mathbf{g}_{i}.$$
(3.126)

Proof: From the definition of acceleration, with Eq.(3.124),

$$\mathbf{a}(\mathbf{p},t) = \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{j}\frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial x^{j}} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{v}\cdot\nabla\mathbf{v}$$
$$= \left(\frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{j}\nabla_{j}v^{i}\right)\mathbf{g}_{i} = a^{i}\mathbf{g}_{i}.$$

This theorem is proved.

No matter how the material or spatial description is used, the same acceleration at the same point in the deformed configuration is described. Therefore, the two descriptions should give the same acceleration. The acceleration based on the deformed configuration can be translated into the initial configuration by the shifter tensor, which can be done through the velocity expression in the initial configuration in \mathfrak{B} .

Theorem 3.16. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} for time t, the velocity of the material point \mathbf{P} at the location point \mathbf{p} is

$$\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{P}, t) = v^{T}(\mathbf{P}, t)\mathbf{G}_{T} \text{ or } v^{T} = v^{T}(\mathbf{P}, t).$$
(3.127)

The acceleration of the material point **P** at the location point **p**, based on the coordinates in the initial configuration \mathfrak{B} , is

$$\stackrel{\scriptstyle <}{\mathbf{a}}(\mathbf{P},t) = \stackrel{\scriptstyle \leftarrow}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{a}(\mathbf{P},t). \tag{3.128}$$

Proof: From the definition of acceleration, with Eq.(3.127),

$$\begin{aligned} \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{a}}(\mathbf{P},t) &= \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{P},t)}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{\partial (v^{\prime}(\mathbf{P},t)\mathbf{G}_{I})}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{\partial v^{\prime}(\mathbf{P},t)}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} \mathbf{G}_{I} \\ &= \frac{\partial (v^{i}(\mathbf{P},t)g_{i}^{I})}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} \mathbf{G}_{I} = \left(\frac{\partial v^{i}(\mathbf{P},t)}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} g_{i}^{I} + v^{i}(\mathbf{P},t)\frac{\partial g_{i}^{I}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}}\right) \mathbf{G}_{I} \\ &= \left(\frac{\partial v^{i}(\mathbf{P},t)}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{i}v^{k}\Gamma_{jk}^{i} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}}\right) g_{i}^{I}\mathbf{G}_{I} = \mathbf{\widehat{I}} \cdot \mathbf{a}(\mathbf{P},t). \end{aligned}$$

This theorem is proved.

Theorem 3.17. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} for time t, the passing velocity of the material point \mathbf{P} at the location point \mathbf{p} is

$$\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{p}, t) = v^{T}(\mathbf{p}, t)\mathbf{G}_{T} \text{ or } v^{T} = v^{T}(\mathbf{p}, t).$$
(3.129)

The passing acceleration of the material point **P** at the location point **p**, based on the coordinates in the initial configuration \mathfrak{B} , is

$$\stackrel{<}{\mathbf{a}}(\mathbf{p},t) = \stackrel{\frown}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{a}(\mathbf{p},t).$$
(3.130)

Proof: From the definition of acceleration, with Eq.(3.129),

$$\begin{split} \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{a}} &(\mathbf{p}, t) = \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{p}, t)}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{\partial v^{I}(\mathbf{p}, t)}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} \mathbf{G}_{I} = \frac{\partial (v^{I}(\mathbf{p}, t)g_{i}^{I})}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} \mathbf{G}_{I} \\ &= (\frac{\partial v^{i}(\mathbf{p}, t)}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{j}v^{k}\Gamma_{jk}^{i})g_{i}^{I}\mathbf{G}_{I} = (\frac{\partial v^{i}(\mathbf{p}, t)}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{j}\nabla_{j}v^{i})g_{i}^{I}\mathbf{G}_{I} \\ &= \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{a}(\mathbf{p}, t). \end{split}$$

This theorem is proved.

Definition 3.28. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, there is a two-point tensor

$$\psi^{<>} \psi = \psi^{I_1 \cdots I_p}{}_{J_1 \cdots J_Q}{}^{i_1 \cdots i_m}{}_{j_1 \cdots j_n} \sqrt{G}^{-W} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{G}_{I_1} \cdots \mathbf{G}_{I_p}$$

$$\cdot \mathbf{G}^{J_1} \cdots \mathbf{G}^{J_Q} \mathbf{g}_{i_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{i_m} \mathbf{g}^{j_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{j_n}.$$

$$(3.131)$$

The *time rate of change of the tensor* $\psi^{(\mathbf{P},t)}(\mathbf{P},t)$ for the material point **P** at the location points **p** is defined by the material description, i.e.,

$$\frac{\partial \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\psi}}(\mathbf{P},t)}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{P}} = \left[\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\psi}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{P}} + v^{r} \Gamma_{rs}^{i_{1}} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}_{rs} \psi^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}_{I_{1}\cdots J_{Q}} \bigg|_{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}} - \Gamma_{rs}^{s_{1}} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}_{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}} \bigg|_{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}} \bigg|_{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}} - \Gamma_{rs}^{s_{1}} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}_{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}} \bigg|_{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}} \bigg|_{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}} - \Gamma_{rs}^{s_{1}} \boldsymbol{\psi}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}_{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}} \bigg|_{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}} \bigg|_{I_{1}\cdots$$

The *time rate of change of the tensor* $\psi(\mathbf{p},t)$ for the material point **P** at the location point **p** is defined by the spatial description, i.e.,

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\psi}^{\langle \boldsymbol{e} \rangle}(\mathbf{P},t)}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{P}} = \left(\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\psi}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}}}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} + \boldsymbol{\psi}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}} \bigg|_{I_{1}\cdots I_{Q}} \int_{I_{1}\cdots I_{q}}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}} \int_{I_{1}\cdots I_{q}}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{p}} \int_{I_{1}\cdots I_{q}}^{I_{1}\cdots I_{q}} v^{r} \right)$$
$$\cdot \sqrt{G}^{-W} \sqrt{g}^{-W} \mathbf{G}_{I_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{G}_{I_{p}} \mathbf{G}^{J_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{G}^{J_{Q}} \mathbf{g}_{I_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{I_{m}} \mathbf{g}^{J_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{J_{n}}.$$
(3.133)

The foregoing operation is expressed by

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \overset{<>}{\psi} (\mathbf{P}, t) = \frac{D}{Dt} \psi^{I_1 \cdots I_p} \int_{I_1 \cdots I_q} \int_{I_1 \cdots I_q} \int_{I_1 \cdots I_q} \int_{I_1 \cdots I_q} \int_{I_1} \cdots \int_{I_p} \mathbf{G}^{J_1} \cdots \mathbf{G}^{J_q} \mathbf{g}_{I_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}_{I_m} \mathbf{g}^{J_1} \cdots \mathbf{g}^{J_n}$$
(3.134)

where for the material derivative

$$\frac{D(\cdot)}{Dt} = \frac{\partial(\cdot)}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{P}}$$
(3.135)

for components

$$\frac{D(\cdot)}{Dt} = \frac{\partial(\cdot)}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{r}\nabla_{r} = \frac{\partial(\cdot)}{\partial t}\Big|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{r}(\nabla_{r} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{r}})(\cdot).$$
(3.136)

For a tensor $\stackrel{>,>}{\psi}$, the corresponding material derivative is

3.2. Kinematics

$$\frac{D}{Dt} = \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} + v^{r} \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x^{r}} = \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial t} \bigg|_{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \psi.$$
(3.137)

As in Chapter 2, the material derivatives of the identity tensors, Eddington's tensors and shifter tensors are zero.

Definition 3.29. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, the *gradient of the velocity vector field* $\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{p},t)$ is defined by

$$\widehat{\mathbf{D}} \equiv \mathbf{v} \, \widehat{\mathbf{\nabla}} = v_{ij}^{i} \, \mathbf{g}_{ij} \mathbf{g}^{j} \tag{3.138}$$

and the relative velocity of the point $\mathbf{P} + d\mathbf{P}$ to point \mathbf{P} is given by the differentiation of the velocity vector field $\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{p},t)$ at point \mathbf{p} , i.e.,

$$d\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}_{,i} dx^{i} = (\mathbf{v}_{,i} \mathbf{g}^{i}) \cdot (dx^{j} \mathbf{g}_{j}) = \mathbf{v} \, \overleftarrow{\nabla} \cdot d\mathbf{p} = \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}} \cdot d\mathbf{p}.$$
(3.139)

Definition 3.30. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} for time t, the *material derivative of deformation gradient tensor* is defined by

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{F}} \equiv \lim_{\Delta t \to 0} \frac{1}{\Delta t} \left[\frac{\partial \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}, t + \Delta t)}{\partial X^{I}} - \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}, t)}{\partial X^{I}} \right] = \mathbf{v}_{,I} \mathbf{G}^{I}.$$
(3.140)

Theorem 3.18. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, the material derivatives of deformation gradient tensors $\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}$ and $\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\mathbf{F}}}$ are determined by

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{F}} = \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{D}} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{F}} \text{ and } \frac{D}{Dt} \stackrel{\stackrel{\to}{\mathbf{F}}}{\overset{\to}{\mathbf{F}}} = -\stackrel{\stackrel{\to}{\mathbf{F}} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{D}}.$$
(3.141)

Proof: From the definition of the total derivative of tensors,

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{F}} = \mathbf{v}_{,i} \mathbf{G}^{I} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{G}^{I} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial x^{i}} \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{j} \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{G}^{I}$$
$$= \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial x^{r}} \mathbf{g}^{r} \cdot (\frac{\partial x^{j}}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{G}^{I}) = \frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial x^{r}} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{r} \cdot (\frac{\partial x^{j}}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{G}^{I})$$
$$= (v_{;r}^{i} \mathbf{g}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{r}) \cdot (\frac{\partial x^{j}}{\partial X^{I}} \mathbf{g}_{j} \mathbf{G}^{I}) = \stackrel{\gg}{\mathbf{D}} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{F}}.$$

Because of $D \mathbf{I}^{>>}/Dt = 0$,

$$0 = \frac{D}{Dt} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{I}} = \frac{D}{Dt} \stackrel{\times}{(\mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{F})} = (\frac{D}{Dt} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{F}}) \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\Leftrightarrow}}{\mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{F}} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{F}} (\frac{D}{Dt} \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\Leftrightarrow}}{\mathbf{F}}).$$

Thus,

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}} = - \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}} (\frac{D}{Dt} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{F}}) \cdot \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}} = - \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \stackrel{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{D}} \cdot \stackrel{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}}}{\mathbf{F}} = - \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \stackrel{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{D}} \cdot \stackrel{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{I}} = - \stackrel{\stackrel{-1}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \stackrel{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{D}}.$$

This theorem is proved.

Theorem 3.19. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time t, the material derivatives of the infinitesimal line, area and volume elements in \mathfrak{B} are zero, i.e.,

$$\frac{D}{Dt}d\mathbf{P} = \frac{D}{Dt}d\overset{<}{\mathbf{A}} = \frac{D}{Dt}dV = 0; \qquad (3.142)$$

the material derivatives of the infinitesimal line, area and volume elements in ${\mathfrak b}$ are

$$\frac{D}{Dt}d\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{\tilde{D}} \cdot d\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{\tilde{D}} \cdot \mathbf{\tilde{F}} \cdot d\mathbf{P},$$

$$\frac{D}{Dt}d\mathbf{\tilde{a}} = [\mathbf{I}(\mathbf{D})\mathbf{\tilde{I}} - (\mathbf{D})^{\mathrm{T}}] \cdot d\mathbf{\tilde{a}} = [\mathbf{I}(\mathbf{D})\mathbf{\tilde{I}} - (\mathbf{D})^{\mathrm{T}}] \cdot \mathbf{\mathcal{J}} \mathbf{\tilde{F}} \cdot d\mathbf{\tilde{A}},$$

$$\frac{D}{Dt}dv = \mathbf{I}(\mathbf{\tilde{D}})dv = \mathbf{I}(\mathbf{\tilde{D}})\mathrm{III}(\mathbf{\tilde{F}}) \cdot dV \text{ and } \frac{D}{Dt}\mathbf{\mathcal{J}} = \mathbf{I}(\mathbf{\tilde{D}})\mathbf{\mathcal{J}}.$$
(3.143)

Proof: Because $d\mathbf{P}$ is independent of time,

$$\frac{D}{Dt}d\mathbf{P} = \frac{D}{Dt}d\mathbf{A} = \frac{D}{Dt}dV = 0.$$

However,

$$\frac{D}{Dt}d\mathbf{p} = \frac{D}{Dt}(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}} d\mathbf{P}) = \frac{D}{Dt}(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}}) \cdot d\mathbf{P} = \overset{\times}{\mathbf{D}} \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}} d\mathbf{P} = \overset{\times}{\mathbf{D}} d\mathbf{p} = d\mathbf{v} = d(\frac{D\mathbf{p}}{Dt}).$$
$$\frac{D}{Dt}dv = \frac{D}{Dt}[d\mathbf{p} d\mathbf{p} d\mathbf{p}]$$
$$= \frac{(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{D}} d\mathbf{p}) \times d\mathbf{p} \cdot d\mathbf{p} + d\mathbf{p} \times (\overset{\times}{\mathbf{D}} d\mathbf{p}) \cdot d\mathbf{p} + d\mathbf{p} \times d\mathbf{p} \cdot d\mathbf{p})}{[d\mathbf{p} d\mathbf{p} d\mathbf{p}]}_{1 \ 2 \ 3} dv$$
$$= I(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{D}}) dv = I(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{D}})III(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}}) \cdot dV.$$

Because

$$\frac{D}{Dt}dv = \frac{D}{Dt}(\mathcal{J}dV) = \frac{D}{Dt}(\mathcal{J})dV = \mathbf{I}(\mathbf{D})dv,$$

then,

$$\frac{D}{Dt}\mathcal{J} = \mathbf{I}(\mathbf{D})\frac{dv}{dV} = \mathbf{I}(\mathbf{D})\mathcal{J}.$$

108

3.2. Kinematics

Thus,

$$\frac{D}{Dt}d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}} = \frac{D}{Dt}[\mathscr{J}(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{A}}] = \frac{D}{Dt}(\mathscr{J})[(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{A}}] + \mathscr{J}\frac{D}{Dt}(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{A}}$$
$$= \mathscr{J}\mathbf{I}(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}})(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{A}} - \mathscr{J}(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{A}}$$
$$= [\mathbf{I}(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}})\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{I}} - (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}})^{\mathsf{T}}] \cdot \mathscr{J}\overset{\sim}{\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}} \cdot d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{A}}$$
$$= [\mathbf{I}(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}})\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{I}} - (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}})^{\mathsf{T}}] \cdot \mathscr{J}\overset{\sim}{\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}} \cdot d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{A}}$$

This theorem is proved.

Theorem 3.20. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, for $\mathbf{n} = d\mathbf{p}/|d\mathbf{p}|$ and $_{a}\mathbf{n} = d\mathbf{a}/|d\mathbf{a}|$, the time rates of changes of the length, volume and area elements are

$$d_{\mathbf{n}} \equiv \frac{1}{|d\mathbf{p}|} \left(\frac{D}{Dt} |d\mathbf{p}| \right) = \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n},$$

$$\frac{1}{dv} \frac{D}{Dt} (dv) = I(\mathbf{d}),$$

$$\frac{1}{|d\mathbf{a}|} \frac{D}{Dt} |d\mathbf{a}| = I(\mathbf{d}) - d_{a^{\mathbf{n}}}$$
(3.144)

where the deformation rate is

$$\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{d}} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{D}} + \begin{pmatrix} \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{D}} \end{pmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}} \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } d_{a^{\mathbf{n}}} \equiv {}_{a} \mathbf{n} \cdot \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{d}} \cdot {}_{a} \mathbf{n}.$$
(3.145)

Proof : Because the time rate of change of the arc length is

$$\frac{D}{Dt} |d\mathbf{p}| = \frac{D}{Dt} \sqrt{d\mathbf{p} \cdot d\mathbf{p}} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{d\mathbf{p} \cdot d\mathbf{p}}} (\frac{D}{Dt} d\mathbf{p} \cdot d\mathbf{p} + d\mathbf{p} \cdot \frac{D}{Dt} d\mathbf{p})$$
$$= \frac{1}{2 |d\mathbf{p}|^2} (\frac{D}{Dt} d\mathbf{p} \cdot d\mathbf{p} + d\mathbf{p} \cdot \frac{D}{Dt} d\mathbf{p}) |d\mathbf{p}|,$$

from Theorem 3.19, $D(d\mathbf{p})/Dt = \mathbf{D} d\mathbf{p}$, the time rate of change of the arc length is

$$\frac{D}{Dt} | d\mathbf{p} | = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathbf{\vec{D}} \cdot d\mathbf{p} \cdot d\mathbf{p} + d\mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{\vec{D}} \cdot d\mathbf{p}}{| d\mathbf{p} |^2} | d\mathbf{p} |$$
$$= (\mathbf{n} \cdot \frac{1}{2} [(\mathbf{\vec{D}})^{\mathrm{T}} + \mathbf{\vec{D}}] \cdot \mathbf{n}) | d\mathbf{p} |$$
$$= (\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{\vec{d}} \cdot \mathbf{n}) | d\mathbf{p} |.$$

Thus, the time rate of change of the volume is

$$d_{\mathbf{n}} \equiv \frac{1}{|d\mathbf{p}|} \frac{D}{Dt} (|d\mathbf{p}|) = \mathbf{n} \cdot \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \mathbf{n}.$$

For the rate of the volume, one obtains

$$\frac{1}{dv}\frac{D}{Dt}(dv) = \mathbf{I}(\mathbf{D}) = Tr[\frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{D} + (\mathbf{D})^{\mathrm{T}}) + \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{D} - (\mathbf{D})^{\mathrm{T}})]$$
$$= Tr[\frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{D} + (\mathbf{D})^{\mathrm{T}})] + Tr[\frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{D} - (\mathbf{D})^{\mathrm{T}})] = Tr(\mathbf{d}) = \mathbf{I}(\mathbf{d}).$$

The time rate of change of the area is

$$\frac{D}{Dt} | d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} | = \frac{D}{Dt} \sqrt{d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} \cdot d\mathbf{\ddot{a}}} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} \cdot d\mathbf{\ddot{a}}}} (\frac{D}{Dt} d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} \cdot d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} + d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} \cdot \frac{D}{Dt} d\mathbf{\ddot{a}})$$
$$= \frac{1}{2 | d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} |^2} (\frac{D}{Dt} d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} \cdot d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} + d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} \cdot \frac{D}{Dt} d\mathbf{\ddot{a}}) | d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} |.$$

From Theorem 3.19, the following relation holds:

$$\frac{D}{Dt}d\overset{>}{\mathbf{a}} = (\mathbf{I}(\mathbf{D})\overset{>>}{\mathbf{I}} - (\mathbf{D})^{\mathrm{T}}) \cdot d\overset{>}{\mathbf{a}}.$$

Substitution of the foregoing equation into the time rate of change of the area gives

$$\frac{D}{Dt} | d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} | = \frac{[\mathbf{I}(\mathbf{\ddot{D}}) \mathbf{\ddot{I}} - (\mathbf{\ddot{D}})^{\mathrm{T}}] \cdot d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} \cdot d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} + d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} \cdot [\mathbf{I}(\mathbf{\ddot{D}}) \mathbf{\ddot{I}} - (\mathbf{\ddot{D}})^{\mathrm{T}}] \cdot d\mathbf{\ddot{a}}}{2 | d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} |^{2}} | d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} |$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \frac{d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} \cdot [\mathbf{I}(\mathbf{\ddot{D}}) \mathbf{\ddot{I}} - \mathbf{\ddot{D}}] \cdot d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} + d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} \cdot [\mathbf{I}(\mathbf{\ddot{D}}) \mathbf{\ddot{I}} - (\mathbf{\ddot{D}})^{\mathrm{T}}] \cdot d\mathbf{\ddot{a}}}{| d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} |^{2}} | d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} |$$

$$= \{\mathbf{I}(\mathbf{\ddot{D}}) - _{a}\mathbf{n} \cdot \frac{1}{2} [(\mathbf{\ddot{D}})^{\mathrm{T}} + \mathbf{\ddot{D}}] \cdot _{a}\mathbf{n}\} | d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} |$$

$$= [\mathbf{I}(\mathbf{\ddot{D}}) - _{a}\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{\dot{d}} \cdot _{a}\mathbf{n}] | d\mathbf{\ddot{a}} |.$$

So the time rate of change of the deformed area is

$$\frac{1}{|\mathbf{d} \mathbf{a}|} \frac{D}{Dt} |\mathbf{d} \mathbf{a}| = \mathbf{I}(\mathbf{D}) - {}_{a}\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot {}_{a}\mathbf{n}.$$

This theorem is proved.

Theorem 3.21. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, for $\mathbf{n} = d\mathbf{p}/|d\mathbf{p}|$, the following relations exist:

$$\frac{D\mathbf{n}}{Dt} = \mathbf{D} \cdot \mathbf{n} - (\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n})\mathbf{n} = (\mathbf{D} - d_{\mathbf{n}} \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{I}}) \cdot \mathbf{n}, \qquad (3.146)$$

3.2. Kinematics

$$\frac{D}{Dt}\gamma_{\binom{\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n}}{1-2}} = \frac{1}{\sin\theta_{\binom{\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n}}{1-2}}} \{ [\mathbf{n}_{1} - \cos\theta_{\binom{\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n}}{1-2}} \mathbf{n}_{2}] \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{2} + [\mathbf{n}_{2} - \cos\theta_{\binom{\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n}}{1-2}} \mathbf{n}_{1}] \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{1} \}.$$
(3.147)

Proof : The material derivative of the unit vector is

$$\frac{D\mathbf{n}}{Dt} = \frac{D}{Dt} \left(\frac{d\mathbf{p}}{|d\mathbf{p}|}\right) = \frac{1}{|d\mathbf{p}|^2} \left[\frac{D}{Dt} (d\mathbf{p}) | d\mathbf{p} | -d\mathbf{p} \frac{D}{Dt} (|d\mathbf{p}|)\right].$$

Because

$$\frac{D}{Dt}(d\mathbf{p}) = \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{D}} d\mathbf{p} \text{ and } \frac{D}{Dt}(|d\mathbf{p}|) = (\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n}) |d\mathbf{p}|,$$

then,

$$\frac{D\mathbf{n}}{Dt} = \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{D}} \cdot \mathbf{n} - (\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n})\mathbf{n} = (\mathbf{D} - d_{\mathbf{n}} \mathbf{I}) \cdot \mathbf{n}.$$

$$\frac{D}{Dt} (\cos \theta_{\binom{\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n}}{1\cdot 2}}) = \frac{D}{Dt} (\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{n}) = \frac{D}{Dt} (\mathbf{n}) \cdot \mathbf{n} + \mathbf{n} \cdot \frac{D}{Dt} (\mathbf{n})$$

$$= \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{D}} \cdot \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{n} - (\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{n} + \mathbf{n} \cdot [\mathbf{D} \cdot \mathbf{n} - (\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n})] \mathbf{n}$$

$$= 2\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n} - [(\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n}) + (\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n})] \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{n} + \mathbf{n} \cdot [\mathbf{D} \cdot \mathbf{n} - (\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n})] \mathbf{n}$$

$$= 2\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n} - [(\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n}) + (\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n})] \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{n}$$

$$= [\mathbf{n} - (\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \mathbf{n}] \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n} + [\mathbf{n} - (\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \mathbf{n}] \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n}$$

$$= [\mathbf{n} - \cos \theta_{\binom{\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n}}{12}} \mathbf{n}] \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n} + [\mathbf{n} - \cos \theta_{\binom{\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n}}{12}} \mathbf{n}] \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n}$$

and

$$\frac{D}{Dt}(\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n})}) = \frac{D}{Dt}[\cos(\Theta_{(\mathbf{N},\mathbf{N})} - \gamma_{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n})})]$$
$$= -\sin\theta_{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n})}\frac{D}{Dt}(\Theta_{(\mathbf{N},\mathbf{N})} - \gamma_{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n})}) = \sin\theta_{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n})}\frac{D}{Dt}\gamma_{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n})}.$$

From the foregoing equations,

$$\frac{D}{Dt}\gamma_{\binom{\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n}}{1-2}} = \frac{1}{\sin\theta_{\binom{\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n}}{2}}} \{ [\underbrace{\mathbf{n}}_{1} - \cos\theta_{\binom{\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n}}{1-2}} \underbrace{\mathbf{n}}_{2}] \cdot \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \underbrace{\mathbf{n}}_{2} + [\underbrace{\mathbf{n}}_{2} - \cos\theta_{\binom{\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n}}{1-2}} \underbrace{\mathbf{n}}_{1}] \cdot \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \underbrace{\mathbf{n}}_{1} \}.$$

This theorem is proved.

3.2.2. Strain rates

From the previous discussion of the rate of arc length, area and volume, the strain rate with respect to time is very important in nonlinear continuum mechanics.

111

Therefore, the strain rates will be discussed as follows.

Theorem 3.22. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} for time t, the material derivatives of strain tensors (or strain rates) are given by

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{C}} = 2(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}, \quad \frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{C}} = -2 \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{(F)}}^{\mathrm{T}};$$

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{c}} = \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{c}} + \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{c}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{(D)}}^{\mathrm{T}}, \quad \frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{c}} = -(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{c}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}} + (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{c}});$$

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{E}} = (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}, \quad \frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{e}} = \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}} - [\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}} + (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{e}}].$$
(3.148)

Proof: From the definitions of the deformation gradients,

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{C}} = \frac{D}{Dt} [(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}}] = \frac{D}{Dt} (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}} + (\overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}}$$

$$= (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot (\overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{D}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}} + (\overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{D}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}}$$

$$= 2(\overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}},$$

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{C}} = \frac{D}{Dt} [\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}}] = \frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot (\overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} + \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \frac{D}{Dt} (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}}$$

$$= -\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}} \cdot (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}}] = \frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot (\overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} + \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \frac{D}{Dt} (\overset{\leftarrow}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}},$$

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{c}} = \frac{D}{Dt} [\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot (\overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}}] = \frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot (\overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} + \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \frac{D}{Dt} (\overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}},$$

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{c}} = \frac{D}{Dt} [(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}] = \frac{D}{Dt} (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}})^{\mathsf{T}},$$

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{c}} = \frac{D}{Dt} [(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}] = \frac{D}{Dt} (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} + \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}})^{\mathsf{T}},$$

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{c}} = \frac{D}{Dt} [(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}] = \frac{D}{Dt} (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} = -(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})$$

$$= (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} - (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}})$$

$$= \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}} t \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{E}} = \frac{D}{Dt} [\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{C}} - \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{I}})] = \frac{1}{2} \frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{C}} = (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{C}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{D}})$$

$$= \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{D}} t \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{E}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{E}} \cdot \overset{\times$$

This theorem is proved.

Theorem 3.23. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} for time t, the material derivatives of stretch and area ratios are given by

$$\frac{D}{Dt}\Lambda_{N} = \frac{D}{Dt}\lambda_{n} = \lambda_{n}d_{n} = \lambda_{n}\mathbf{n}\cdot\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{d}\cdot\mathbf{n}},$$

$$\frac{D}{Dt}\sigma_{AN} = \frac{D}{Dt}\sigma_{an} = \sigma_{an}[\mathbf{I}(\mathbf{d}) - d_{an}]$$

$$= \sigma_{an}[\mathbf{I}(\mathbf{d}) - a\mathbf{n}\cdot\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{d}\cdot}a\mathbf{n}].$$
(3.149)

Proof: Because $\Lambda_{N} = \sqrt{\mathbf{N} \cdot \mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{N}}$, $\frac{D}{Dt} \Lambda_{N} = \frac{1}{2\Lambda_{N}} (\mathbf{N} \cdot \frac{D}{Dt} \mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{N}) = \frac{1}{\Lambda_{N}} \mathbf{N} \cdot (\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{N}$ $= (\frac{|\mathbf{d}\mathbf{p}|}{|\mathbf{d}\mathbf{P}|})^{-1} \mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{N} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{N} = (\frac{|\mathbf{d}\mathbf{p}|}{|\mathbf{d}\mathbf{P}|})^{-1} \mathbf{F} \cdot \frac{\mathbf{d}\mathbf{P}}{|\mathbf{d}\mathbf{P}|} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{F} \cdot \frac{\mathbf{d}\mathbf{P}}{|\mathbf{d}\mathbf{P}|}$ $= \frac{(\mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{d}\mathbf{P}) \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot (\mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{d}\mathbf{P})}{|\mathbf{d}\mathbf{p}||\mathbf{d}\mathbf{P}|} = \frac{\mathbf{d}\mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{d}\mathbf{p}}{|\mathbf{d}\mathbf{p}||\mathbf{d}\mathbf{P}|}$ $= \frac{|\mathbf{d}\mathbf{p}|}{|\mathbf{d}\mathbf{P}|} \frac{\mathbf{d}\mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{d}\mathbf{p}}{|\mathbf{d}\mathbf{p}| \cdot |\mathbf{d}\mathbf{P}|} = \Lambda_{N} \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{n},$

and also because $\Lambda_{N} = \lambda_{n}$,

$$\frac{D}{Dt}\lambda_{\mathbf{n}} = \lambda_{\mathbf{n}}\mathbf{n}\cdot\dot{\mathbf{d}}\cdot\mathbf{n} = \lambda_{\mathbf{n}}d_{\mathbf{n}}.$$

For $\sigma_{A\mathbf{N}} = \mathscr{J}({}_{A}\mathbf{N} \cdot \overset{\stackrel{\sim}{\mathbf{C}}}{\mathbf{C}} {}_{A}\mathbf{N})^{\frac{1}{2}} = \sigma_{a^{\mathbf{n}}}$ and $D\mathscr{J}/Dt = \mathscr{J}\mathbf{I}(\mathbf{d})$ in Eq.(3.143),

$$\frac{D}{Dt}\sigma_{AN} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}}\frac{D\mathscr{I}}{Dt}\sigma_{AN} + \mathscr{I}^{2}\frac{1}{2\sigma_{AN}}({}_{A}\mathbf{N}\cdot\frac{D}{Dt}\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{C}}\cdot{}_{A}\mathbf{N})$$

$$= \mathbf{I}\overset{\sim}{(\mathbf{d})}\sigma_{AN} - \frac{1}{\sigma_{AN}}\{[\mathscr{I}\overset{\rightarrow}{(\mathbf{F})^{T}}\cdot{}_{A}\mathbf{N}]\cdot\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}}\cdot[\mathscr{I}\overset{\rightarrow}{(\mathbf{F})^{T}}\cdot{}_{A}\mathbf{N}]\}$$

$$= \mathbf{I}\overset{\sim}{(\mathbf{d})}\sigma_{AN} - \frac{d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}}\cdot\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}}\cdot\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}}\cdot\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}}\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}}}{|\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}}\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}}|\cdot|\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}}\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{A}}|},$$

$$= \mathbf{I}\overset{\sim}{(\mathbf{d})}\sigma_{AN} - \frac{d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}}\cdot\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}}\cdot\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}}\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}}\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}}\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}}|\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}}\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}}|$$

$$= \mathbf{I}\overset{\sim}{(\mathbf{d})}\sigma_{AN} - \frac{d\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}}\cdot\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}}\cdot\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}}\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}}|\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}}\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}}|\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{d}}\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}}|$$

$$\frac{D}{Dt}\sigma_{A^{\mathbf{N}}} = \frac{D}{Dt}\sigma_{A^{\mathbf{n}}} = (\mathbf{I}(\mathbf{d}) - {}_{a}\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{d} \cdot {}_{a}\mathbf{n})\sigma_{A^{\mathbf{n}}} = (\mathbf{I}(\mathbf{d}) - d{}_{A^{\mathbf{n}}})\sigma_{A^{\mathbf{n}}}$$

This theorem is proved.

3.3. Dynamics

In this section, forces and stresses in the continuous body will be presented. Further the relation between the force and acceleration in the continuous media will be addressed.

3.3.1. Forces and stresses

Dynamics is to determine the response of continuous media under external forces. The external forces include body force and surface force. For two configurations \mathfrak{B} and \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, the body force in \mathfrak{b} per unit volume is denoted by $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{P},t)$, and the body moment in \mathfrak{b} per unit volume is represented by $\mathfrak{M}(\mathbf{P},t)$. The total force and moment to the origin are given by

$$\mathbf{F} = \int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{P}, t) dv \text{ and } \mathbf{M} = \int_{\mathcal{V}} [\mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{P}, t) + \mathfrak{M}(\mathbf{P}, t)] dv.$$
(3.150)

The surface force includes the distributed and concentrated forces on the surface with an exterior unit normal **n**. The concentrated forces and moments act on the location of point \mathbf{p}_{α} , are expressed by \mathbf{F}_{α} and \mathbf{M}_{α} . The distributed force and moment on the surface are denoted by $\mathbf{t}_{(n)}$ and $\mathbf{m}_{(n)}$, respectively. The total external force on the continuous body \mathbf{b} is

$$\mathbf{F} = \oint_{a} \mathbf{t}_{(\mathbf{n})} da + \int_{v} \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{P}, t) dv + \sum_{\alpha} \mathbf{F}_{\alpha}$$
(3.151)

and the total external moment on the continuous body \mathfrak{b} to point O is

$$\mathbf{M} = \oint_{a} \left[\mathbf{m}_{(\mathbf{n})} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{t}_{(\mathbf{n})} \right] da + \int_{v} \left[\mathfrak{M} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{f} \right] dv + \sum_{\alpha} \left[\mathbf{M}_{\alpha} + \mathbf{p}_{\alpha} \times \mathbf{F}_{\alpha} \right].$$
(3.152)

In addition to the external forces, the internal force is an important concept in continuous body, which is used to describe the interaction between two adjacent material points. Such the internal force is a contact force.

Consider a deformed continuous body \mathfrak{b} under the external force (**F**) and the external moment (**M**). To investigate the internal force between two adjacent material points, the cross-section method is adopted. The deformed continuous body \mathfrak{b} is cut into two parts through a cross-section Σ , as shown in Fig.3.7. A normal

114

vector of the cross-section at point $\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P},t)$ is a positive direction **n** for one of two parts but as a negative direction $(-\mathbf{n})$ for the other part. The corresponding crosssections are represented by Σ_n and Σ_{-n} . Suppose that the external force and moment on the part with the positive normal vector are \mathbf{F}_1 and \mathbf{M}_1 , respectively. The external force and moment on the rest part are \mathbf{F}_2 and \mathbf{M}_2 accordingly. The cross-section is a new surface. Thus, the distributed force and moment on the new surface are the contact force and moment, which can be expressed by $\mathbf{t}_{(n)}$ and $\mathbf{m}_{(n)}$. Such distributed force and moments can be defined by the density of the force and moment on the new surface. On the cross section with the exterior unit normal **n**, consider an area Δa of the cross section at point $\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P},t)$, on which the total force and moment are Δt and $\Delta \mathbf{m}$. Further, the *stress vectors* and *couple stress vectors* can be defined.

Definition 3.31. At point **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, the *stress vector* and *couple stress vector* on the exterior unit normal direction (**n**) of the cross section Σ are defined by

$$\mathbf{t}_{(\mathbf{n})} \equiv \lim_{\Delta a \to 0} \frac{\Delta \mathbf{t}}{\Delta a} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{m}_{(\mathbf{n})} \equiv \lim_{\Delta a \to 0} \frac{\Delta \mathbf{m}}{\Delta a}.$$
 (3.153)

Note that $\mathbf{t}_{(n)}$ and $\mathbf{m}_{(n)}$ are the *densities of force and moment* on the exterior normal direction of the cross-section, respectively. For the cross section, the total force and moments to the point *O* are computed by

$$\mathbf{F}_{(\mathbf{n})} = \int_{a'} \mathbf{t}_{(\mathbf{n})} da \text{ and } \mathbf{M}_{o} = \int_{a'} (\mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{t}_{(\mathbf{n})} + \mathbf{m}_{(\mathbf{n})}) da.$$
(3.154)

On the cross sections Σ_n and Σ_{-n} , the stress vectors and couple stress vectors are $\mathbf{t}_{-n} = -\mathbf{t}_n$ and $\mathbf{m}_{-n} = -\mathbf{m}_n$. (3.155)

3.3.2. Transport theorem

Under the condition in Eq.(3.4), the integral of a two-point tensor $\boldsymbol{\psi}(\mathbf{p},t)$ based on the volume \mathcal{V} of the configuration \mathfrak{B} is expressed by a time-related quantity

$$\mathfrak{I}(t) = \int_{\mathcal{F}} \boldsymbol{\psi}(\mathbf{p}, t) dv.$$
(3.156)



Fig. 3.7 Stress and couple stress vectors on the cross section Σ_n and Σ_{-n} .

Theorem 3.24. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, there is a two-point tensor $\psi(\mathbf{p},t)$. The time rate of change of the integral of the twopoint tensor is

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \int_{\mathcal{F}} \overset{\leftrightarrow}{\psi}(\mathbf{p}, t) dv = \int_{\mathcal{F}} \left[\frac{D}{Dt} \overset{\leftrightarrow}{\psi}(\mathbf{p}, t) + \overset{\leftrightarrow}{\psi}(\mathbf{p}, t) \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}) \right] dv, \qquad (3.157)$$

where $\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}) = v_{;i}^{i}$.

Proof : By changes of variable, the material differentiation under the integral sign gives

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \int_{\mathscr{V}} \psi(\mathbf{p}, t) dv = \frac{D}{Dt} \int_{\mathscr{V}} \psi(\mathbf{P}, t) \mathscr{J}(\mathbf{P}, t) dV$$
$$= \int_{\mathscr{V}} \left[\frac{D}{Dt} \psi(\mathbf{P}, t) \mathscr{J}(\mathbf{P}, t) + \psi(\mathbf{P}, t) \frac{D}{Dt} \mathscr{J}(\mathbf{P}, t) \right] dV$$
$$= \int_{\mathscr{V}} \left[\frac{D}{Dt} \psi(\mathbf{P}, t) + \psi(\mathbf{P}, t) \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}) \right] \mathscr{J}(\mathbf{P}, t) dV$$
$$= \int_{\mathscr{V}} \left[\frac{D}{Dt} \psi(\mathbf{p}, t) + \psi(\mathbf{p}, t) \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}) \right] dv.$$

This theorem is proved.

If the two-point tensor $\psi(\mathbf{p},t)$ based on the configuration \mathfrak{B} is translated into one-point tensor $\psi(\mathbf{p},t)$, the time change ratio of the integral is

3.3. Dynamics

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \int_{\mathcal{F}} \overset{>>}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} dv = \int_{\mathcal{F}} \left[\frac{D}{Dt} \overset{>>}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} + \overset{>>}{\boldsymbol{\psi}} \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}) \right] dv$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{F}} \left[\left(\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\psi}}{\partial t} \right)_{p} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} + \left(\nabla \cdot \mathbf{v} \right) \boldsymbol{\psi} \right] dv$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{F}} \left[\left(\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\psi}}{\partial t} \right)_{p} + \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v} \boldsymbol{\psi}) \right] dv$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{V}} \left(\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\psi}}{\partial t} \right)_{p} dv + \oint_{s} d \overset{>>}{\mathbf{a}} \cdot \mathbf{v} \overset{>>}{\boldsymbol{\psi}}, \qquad (3.158)$$

where v is the volume of material volume V for time t, and s is the corresponding boundary surface of volume v.

Consider a mass density of the continuous body \mathfrak{B} to be $\rho(\mathbf{P}, t)$ as a one-point tensor. Suppose that the mass distribution in \mathfrak{B} is continuous (i.e., $0 \le \rho < \infty$). From the conservation law of mass, the mass cannot increase and decrease during deformation. From the transport theorem,

$$0 = \frac{D}{Dt} \int_{\mathcal{F}} \rho dv = \int_{\mathcal{F}} \left[\frac{D\rho}{Dt} + \rho \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}) \right] dv.$$
(3.159)

Because the mass volume is arbitrarily selected, the Euler continuous equation is given by

$$0 = \frac{D\rho}{Dt} + \rho \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}) \text{ or } 0 = \frac{D\rho}{Dt} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \rho + (\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla)\rho,$$

$$0 = \frac{D\rho}{Dt} + (\rho v^{i})_{,i}.$$
(3.160)

Similarly,

$$0 = \frac{D}{Dt} \int_{\mathcal{F}} \rho \, dv = \frac{D}{Dt} \int_{\mathcal{F}} \rho \, \mathcal{J} \, dV = \int_{\mathcal{F}} \frac{D}{Dt} (\rho \, \mathcal{J}) dV.$$
(3.161)

Thus,

$$0 = \frac{D}{Dt}(\rho \mathscr{J}) \implies \rho \mathscr{J} = \rho_0, \qquad (3.162)$$

where $\rho(\mathbf{P}, t_0) = \rho_0$. Equation (3.162) gives Lagrange's continuous equation. Further,

$$\int_{\mathcal{F}} \rho dv = \int_{\mathcal{F}} \rho \mathcal{J} dV = \int_{\mathcal{F}} \rho_0 dV.$$
(3.163)

In the transport theorem, the time rate of change of the integral of the two-point tensor can be determined by

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \int_{\mathcal{F}} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\psi}(\mathbf{p}, t) \rho dv = \int_{\mathcal{F}} \left[\frac{D}{Dt} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{(\psi(\mathbf{p}, t))} \rho + \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\psi}(\mathbf{p}, t) \frac{D\rho}{Dt} \right] dv$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{F}} \frac{D}{Dt} \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{(\psi(\mathbf{p}, t))} \rho dv. \qquad (3.164)$$

3.3.3. Cauchy stress and couple-stress tensors

The strain state is determined by all the stretches (Λ_N) or extensions (E_N) . The Green strain tensor $\stackrel{<}{\mathbf{C}}$ can be used to determine the strain state because of $\Lambda_N = (\mathbf{N} \cdot \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{C}} \cdot \mathbf{N})^{\frac{1}{2}}$ (or $E_N = (\mathbf{N} \cdot \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{C}} \cdot \mathbf{N})^{\frac{1}{2}} - 1$). However, the stress state is formed by the stress tensor $\{\mathbf{t}_{an}\}$ and the couple stress tensor $\{\mathbf{m}_{an}\}$. Consider a mass body b' with volume v' and boundary area a', which is corresponding to the material configuration \mathfrak{B}' with volume \mathcal{P}' and boundary area \mathscr{A}' . From the principle of momentum,

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \int_{\mathcal{F}'} \mathbf{v} \rho dv = \int_{\mathcal{F}'} \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathbf{t}_{a^{\mathbf{n}}} da.$$
(3.165)

The principle of angular momentum gives

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \int_{\mathcal{F}} \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{v} \rho dv = \int_{\mathcal{F}} (\mathfrak{M} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{f}) dv + \oint_{\mathcal{A}} (\mathbf{m}_{a}\mathbf{n} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{t}_{a}\mathbf{n}) da.$$
(3.166)

Because

$$\frac{D(\rho \mathscr{I})}{Dt} = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{D\mathbf{v}}{Dt} = \mathbf{a},$$

$$\frac{D}{Dt}(\mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{v}) = \frac{D\mathbf{p}}{Dt} \times \mathbf{v} + \mathbf{p} \times \frac{D\mathbf{v}}{Dt} = \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{v} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{a} = \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{a}$$
(3.167)

and also because the external forces are invariant on the initial and deformed volume, equations (3.165) and (3.166) become

$$\int_{v'} \mathbf{a} \rho dv = \int_{v'} \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a'} \mathbf{t}_{a\mathbf{n}} da, \qquad (3.168)$$

$$\int_{v'} \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{a} \rho \, dv = \int_{v'} (\mathfrak{M} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{f}) \, dv + \oint_{a'} (\mathbf{m}_{a^{\mathbf{n}}} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{t}_{a^{\mathbf{n}}}) \, da.$$
(3.169)

Definition 3.32. At point **p** in configuration b for time *t*, the *stress tensor* and *couple stress tensor* are, respectively, defined as

$$\mathbf{\tilde{t}} \equiv \mathbf{t}_{ij}\mathbf{g}^{i} = t_{ij}^{i}\mathbf{g}_{ij}\mathbf{g}^{j}$$
 and $\mathbf{\tilde{m}} \equiv \mathbf{m}_{ij}\mathbf{g}^{i} = m_{ij}^{i}\mathbf{g}_{ij}\mathbf{g}^{j}$ (3.170)

which are also called the Cauchy stress tensor and Cauchy couple stress tensor accordingly. **Theorem 3.25.** For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, the stress vector \mathbf{t}_{an} and couple stress vector \mathbf{m}_{an} at point $\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P},t)$ can be determined

by the stress tensor ($\overset{\gg}{t}$) and couple stress tensor ($\overset{\gg}{m}$) on the other surfaces of the infinitesimal volume, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{n}} = \stackrel{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{a} \mathbf{n} \quad \text{and} \ \mathbf{m}_{\mathbf{n}} = \stackrel{\gg}{\mathbf{m}}_{a} \mathbf{n}. \tag{3.171}$$

Proof : For the stress tetrahedron in Fig.3.8, using the mean-value theorem, the principles for the momentum and angular momentum give

$$(\mathbf{a}\rho)\Delta v = \mathbf{f}\Delta v + \mathbf{t}_{i}\Delta a^{i} + \mathbf{t}_{a\mathbf{n}}\Delta a,$$

$$(\mathbf{p}\times\mathbf{a})\rho\Delta v = (\mathfrak{M} + \mathbf{p}\times\mathbf{f})\Delta v + (\mathbf{m}_{a\mathbf{n}} + \mathbf{p}\times\mathbf{t}_{a\mathbf{n}})\Delta a$$

$$-(\mathbf{m}_{i} + \mathbf{p}\times\mathbf{t}_{i})\Delta a^{i},$$

Since $\Delta a^{i} = \Delta a \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot {}_{a} \mathbf{n}$ and $\lim_{\Delta a \to 0} \Delta v / \Delta a \to 0$, one obtains $\mathbf{t}_{a^{\mathbf{n}}} = \mathbf{t}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot {}_{a} \mathbf{n}$ and $\mathbf{m}_{a^{\mathbf{n}}} = \mathbf{m}_{i} \mathbf{g}^{i} \cdot {}_{a} \mathbf{n}$

Because $\mathbf{g}^{j} \times \mathbf{g}^{k} / [\mathbf{g}^{1}\mathbf{g}^{2}\mathbf{g}^{3}] = \mathbf{g}_{i}$ (*i*, *j*, $k \in \{1, 2, 3\}$), \mathbf{g}_{i} will be normal to the surface of $\mathbf{g}^{j} \times \mathbf{g}^{k}$. The normal vector $_{a}\mathbf{n}_{i}$ is also normal to the surface of $\mathbf{g}^{j} \times \mathbf{g}^{k}$. So the two vectors $_{a}\mathbf{n}_{i}$ and \mathbf{g}_{i} are on the same direction and let $_{a}\mathbf{n}_{i} = \mathbf{g}_{i}$. So the Cauchy stress tensor and couple stress tensors can be determined by

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{t}} \equiv \mathbf{t}_i \mathbf{g}^i = t_{ij}^i \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}^j$$
 and $\widetilde{\mathbf{m}} \equiv \mathbf{m}_i \mathbf{g}^i = m_{ij}^i \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{g}^j$,

So

$$\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{n}} = \stackrel{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot_{a} \mathbf{n} \text{ and } \mathbf{m}_{\mathbf{n}} = \stackrel{\gg}{\mathbf{m}} \cdot_{a} \mathbf{n}.$$

This theorem is proved.

From Eq.(3.170),

$$\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{n}} da = \mathbf{t} \cdot_{a} \mathbf{n} da = \mathbf{t} \cdot d\mathbf{a}$$
 and $\mathbf{m}_{\mathbf{n}} da = \mathbf{m} \cdot_{a} \mathbf{n} da = \mathbf{m} \cdot d\mathbf{a}$. (3.172)



Fig. 3.8 Stress tetrahedron.

The normal stress on the direction of \mathbf{n} can be determined by

>> >

$$t_{a\mathbf{n}_{a}\mathbf{n}} = {}_{a}\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{t}_{a\mathbf{n}} = {}_{a}\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{t} \cdot {}_{a}\mathbf{n}$$
$$= {}_{a}\mathbf{n} \cdot (\mathbf{t})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot {}_{a}\mathbf{n} = {}_{a}\mathbf{n} \cdot \frac{1}{2}[\mathbf{t} + (\mathbf{t})^{\mathrm{T}}] \cdot {}_{a}\mathbf{n}.$$
(3.173)

In Fig.3.9, the stress tensors in the Cartesian coordinate system are depicted through two directions of x^1 and x^2 in order to make view clear. In a similar fashion, the stress tensor components and stress vectors can be sketched in the direction of x^3 . The components of the stress tensor are expressed by t_{ij} (i, j = 1, 2, 3) which "i" and "j" are the surface direction along the axis of x^i and the stress component direction in the axis of x^i , respectively. \mathbf{t}_i is the stress vector on the direction of the surface along the axis of x^i . In Fig.3.9, the relation between the stress vector and stress tensor component is clearly shown. Similarly, the couple stress tensor and couple stress vectors can be expressed.

Theorem 3.26. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, the necessary and sufficient conditions for the local balance of momentum are

$$\mathbf{t} \cdot \nabla + \mathbf{f} = \rho \mathbf{a} \text{ and } t^{ij}_{:i} + f^i = \rho a^i;$$
 (3.174)

and the necessary and sufficient conditions for the local balance of angular momentum are

$$\stackrel{>>}{\mathbf{m}} \stackrel{>}{\nabla} + \mathfrak{M} = \stackrel{>>>}{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}} : \stackrel{>>}{\mathbf{t}} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{m}_{;j}^{ij} + \mathfrak{M}^{i} = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{ijk} t_{jk}.$$
(3.175)



Fig. 3.9 Stress tensor in two directions of the rectangular coordinates.

Proof : Consider the Cauchy stress tensor $\stackrel{>>}{\mathbf{t}}$. From the divergence theorem,

$$\oint_{a}^{\gg} \mathbf{t} \cdot d\mathbf{a} = \oint_{a}^{\gg} d\mathbf{a} \cdot (\mathbf{t})^{\mathsf{T}} = \int_{v}^{\infty} dv \, \nabla \cdot (\mathbf{t})^{\mathsf{T}} = \int_{v}^{\gg} dv \, \mathbf{t} \cdot \nabla,$$

$$\oint_{a}^{\gg} \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{t} \cdot d\mathbf{a} = \oint_{a}^{\approx} d\mathbf{a} \cdot (\mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{t})^{\mathsf{T}} = \int_{v}^{\infty} dv (\mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{t}) \cdot \nabla,$$

Because

$$\mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{t}^{\approx} = x_i \mathbf{g}^i \times t_{jk} \mathbf{g}^j \mathbf{g}^k = (\mathbf{g}^i \times \mathbf{g}^j) \cdot (\mathbf{g}^l \cdot \mathbf{g}_l) x_i t_{jk} \mathbf{g}^k$$
$$= \varepsilon^{ijl} \mathbf{g}_l \mathbf{g}_j \mathbf{g}_j : x_r \mathbf{g}^r t_{sk} \mathbf{g}^s \mathbf{g}^k = \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{\epsilon}} : \mathbf{p} \mathbf{t},$$

with
$$\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{\epsilon}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{\nabla}} = 0$$
, $\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{\epsilon}} : (\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}})^{\mathrm{T}} = -\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{\epsilon}} : \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}$ and $(\mathbf{p} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{\nabla}}) = \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{I}}$, then,
 $\oint_{a} \mathbf{p} \times \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot d \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}} = \int_{v} dv (\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{\epsilon}} : \mathbf{p} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}) \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{\nabla}} = \int_{v} dv \{\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{\epsilon}} : [\mathbf{p} (\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{\nabla}}) + (\mathbf{p} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{\nabla}}) \cdot (\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}})^{\mathrm{T}}] \}$
 $= \int_{v} dv [(\mathbf{p} \times \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{\nabla}}) - \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{\epsilon}} : \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}].$

Thus,

$$\oint_{a} \mathbf{p} \times \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot d \overset{>}{\mathbf{a}} = \int_{v} dv [\mathbf{p} \times (\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot \nabla) - \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{\epsilon}} : \overset{>}{\mathbf{t}}],$$

From Eq.(3.168),

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathbf{a}\rho dv = \int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a} (\mathbf{t}_{a}\mathbf{n}) da = \int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a}^{\otimes} \mathbf{t} \cdot (_{a}\mathbf{n} da)$$
$$= \int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a}^{\otimes} \mathbf{t} \cdot d\mathbf{a}.$$

Further,

$$\int_{v} (\mathbf{a}\rho - \mathbf{f} - \overset{>>}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot \nabla) dv = 0$$

Since the volume is selected arbitrarily, the local balance of momentum is obtained, i.e.,

$$\overset{\Rightarrow}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot \overset{>}{\nabla} + \mathbf{f} = \rho \mathbf{a},$$

or

$$t_{;j}^{ij}+f^i=\rho a^i.$$

From Eq.(3.168),

$$\int_{V} \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{a} \rho \, dv = \int_{V} (\mathfrak{M} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{f}) dv + \oint_{a} (\mathbf{m}_{a} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{t}_{a}) da$$
$$= \int_{V} (\mathfrak{M} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{f}) dv + \oint_{a} (\mathbf{m} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{t}) \cdot \mathbf{n} da$$
$$= \int_{V} (\mathfrak{M} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{f}) dv + \oint_{a} (\mathbf{m} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{t}) \cdot d\mathbf{a}$$
$$= \int_{V} (\mathfrak{M} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{f}) dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{m} \cdot d\mathbf{a} + \oint_{a} (\mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{t}) \cdot d\mathbf{a}$$
$$= \int_{V} (\mathfrak{M} + \mathbf{p} \times \mathbf{f}) dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{m} \cdot d\mathbf{a} + \int_{V} dv [\mathbf{p} \times (\mathbf{t} \cdot \mathbf{\nabla}) - \mathbf{\epsilon} : \mathbf{t}].$$

The re-arrangement of the foregoing equation gives

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}} [\mathbf{m} \cdot \mathbf{\nabla} + \mathfrak{M} - \mathbf{\hat{\varepsilon}} : \mathbf{t} + \mathbf{p} \times (\rho \mathbf{a} - \mathbf{f} - \mathbf{t} \cdot \mathbf{\nabla})] dv$$
$$= \int_{\mathcal{V}} (\mathbf{m} \cdot \mathbf{\nabla} + \mathfrak{M} - \mathbf{\hat{\varepsilon}} : \mathbf{t}) dv = 0.$$

Because the volume is chosen arbitrarily,

$$\mathbf{m} \cdot \mathbf{\nabla} + \mathfrak{M} - \mathbf{\varepsilon} : \mathbf{t} = 0,$$

or

$$m_{jj}^{ij} + \mathfrak{M}^i = \mathcal{E}^{ijk} t_{jk}.$$

The local balance of angular momentum is obtained. This theorem is proved.

Left multiplication of
$$\stackrel{\text{\tiny NN}}{\epsilon}$$
 in Eq.(3.175) gives
 $\stackrel{\text{\tiny NN}}{\epsilon} \cdot \mathbf{m} \cdot \nabla + \stackrel{\text{\tiny NN}}{\epsilon} \cdot \mathbf{m} = \stackrel{\text{\tiny NN}}{\epsilon} \cdot \stackrel{\text{\tiny NN}}{\epsilon} : \stackrel{\text{\tiny NN}}{t}.$ (3.176)

Because

3.3. Dynamics

$$\begin{aligned} & \longrightarrow & \longrightarrow \\ & \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} : \mathbf{t} = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{ijk} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} \mathbf{g}^{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{rst} t_{rs} \mathbf{g}_{t} = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{ijk} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{rsk} t_{rs} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} \\ & = \delta_{ij}^{rs} t_{rs} \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} = (t_{ij} - t_{ji}) \mathbf{g}^{i} \mathbf{g}^{j} = \mathbf{t} - (\mathbf{t})^{\mathrm{T}}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.177)

Equation (3.176) gives

$$\stackrel{>>>}{\mathbf{m}} \stackrel{>>}{\mathbf{\nabla}} + \stackrel{>>}{\mathbf{\mathfrak{M}}} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \stackrel{>>}{\mathbf{t}} \\ - \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{t} \end{pmatrix}^{\mathsf{T}} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (3.178)$$

where

$$\mathfrak{M} = \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{E} : \mathfrak{M} \text{ and } \mathfrak{M} = \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{E} : \mathfrak{M}.$$
(3.179)

If $\mathfrak{M}^{>>} = 0$ and $\mathfrak{m}^{=} = 0$, equation (3.178) gives $\mathfrak{t}^{>} = (\mathfrak{t})^{\mathrm{T}}$.

The Cauchy stress tensor belongs to the Euler description. Sometimes, Lagrange's description will be very convenient in application. The Piola stress tensor is defined as follows.

Definition 3.33. A two-point stress tensor in \mathfrak{B} and \mathfrak{b} ,

$$\overset{\sim}{\boldsymbol{\tau}} = \boldsymbol{\tau}^{iM} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{G}_M \equiv \mathscr{J} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot (\mathbf{F})^{\mathsf{T}} = \mathscr{J} t^{ir} X^M_{,r} \mathbf{g}_i \mathbf{G}_M$$
(3.181)

is called the Piola stress tensor.

The Piola stress tensor $\widehat{\tau}$ is *the stress tensor on the initial configuration* \mathfrak{B} in the direction of N to express the Cauchy stress tensor $\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{t}}$ in the deformed configuration \mathfrak{b} , which can be presented through the following theorem.

Theorem 3.27. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} for time t, the stress vectors on the corresponding surface at point \mathbf{P} and \mathbf{p} satisfy

$$\stackrel{\sim}{\boldsymbol{\tau}_{a^{\mathbf{N}}}} = \stackrel{\sim}{\boldsymbol{t}_{a^{\mathbf{n}}}} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{a^{\mathbf{n}}}, \qquad (3.182)$$

where

$$\mathbf{\tau}_{A\mathbf{N}} = \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}}_{A\mathbf{N}} \mathbf{n} \text{ and } \mathbf{t}_{a\mathbf{n}} = \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{t}}_{a\mathbf{n}} \mathbf{n}.$$
(3.183)

Proof: The force in the initial configuration \mathfrak{B} and in the deformed configuration \mathfrak{b} are equal, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{\tau} \cdot d\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{t} \cdot d\mathbf{a}.$$

Because of $d\mathbf{A} = {}_{A}\mathbf{N}dA$ and $d\mathbf{a} = {}_{a}\mathbf{n}da$,

(3.180)

$$\overset{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}}_{A}\mathbf{N} = \overset{\times}{\mathbf{t}}_{a}\mathbf{n}\frac{da}{dA} = \overset{\times}{\mathbf{t}}_{a}\mathbf{n}\sigma_{\mathbf{n}} \Rightarrow \overset{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}}_{A}\mathbf{N} = \overset{\times}{\mathbf{t}}_{a}\mathbf{n}\cdot\sigma_{\mathbf{n}}.$$

This theorem is proved.

From the definition of the Piola stress tensor, the corresponding local balance of momentum can be given as follows.

Theorem 3.28. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} for time t, the local balance of momentum (Boussinesq equation) are given by

$$\begin{aligned} \stackrel{<}{\underset{;J}{\sim}} &\stackrel{\times}{\underset{;J}{\sim}} \stackrel{<}{\underset{*}{\sim}} f = \rho_0 \mathbf{a} \quad or \quad \stackrel{\times}{\underset{\tau}{\sim}} \stackrel{<}{\underset{*}{\circ}} \stackrel{<}{\underset{*}{\circ}} f = \rho_0 \mathbf{a}, \\ \tau_{;J}^{iJ} + \mathcal{J}f^i = \rho_0 a^i \quad or \quad (\mathcal{J}t^{ir}X^M_{,r})_{:M} + \mathcal{J}f^i = \rho_0 a^i. \end{aligned}$$
(3.184)

Proof: The momentum integral equation is

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathbf{a} \rho dv = \int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a}^{\infty} \mathbf{t} \cdot d\mathbf{a}$$

Because

$$\rho_0 = \mathcal{J}\rho$$
 and $dv = \mathcal{J}dV$

with the force invariance before and after deformation, i.e.,

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{t}} \cdot d \, \widetilde{\mathbf{a}} = \widehat{\boldsymbol{\tau}} \cdot d \, \widetilde{\mathbf{A}},$$

the momentum integral equation is

$$\int_{\mathcal{F}} \mathbf{a} \rho_0 dV = \int_{\mathcal{F}} \mathcal{J} \mathbf{f} dV + \oint_{\mathcal{F}} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}} \cdot d \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{A}},$$

$$\oint_{\mathcal{F}} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}} \cdot d \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{A}} = \oint_{\mathcal{F}} d \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{A}} \cdot \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}} = \int_{\mathcal{F}} dV \stackrel{<}{\Box} \cdot \stackrel{<}{(\mathbf{\tau})}^{\mathsf{T}} = \int_{\mathcal{F}} dV \stackrel{<}{\Box} \cdot (\mathcal{J} \stackrel{\stackrel{<}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \stackrel{\;}{\mathbf{t}})$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{F}} dV \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{\tau}} \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{\tau}} \stackrel{<}{\Box} = \int_{\mathcal{F}} dV (\mathcal{J} \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot \stackrel{<}{(\mathbf{F})}^{\mathsf{T}}) \cdot \stackrel{<}{\Box}$$

Further,

$$\int_{\mathcal{F}} \mathbf{a} \rho_0 dV = \int_{\mathcal{F}} \mathcal{J} \mathbf{f} dV + \int_{\mathcal{F}} dV \overset{<}{\square} \overset{<}{(\mathbf{\tau})}^{\mathsf{T}}$$
$$= \int_{\mathcal{F}} \mathcal{J} \mathbf{f} dV + \int_{\mathcal{F}} dV \overset{<}{\mathbf{\tau}} \overset{<}{\square}.$$

With an arbitrary selection of volume, the foregoing equation gives

$$\stackrel{<}{\square} \stackrel{\times}{(\mathbf{\tau})^{\mathrm{T}}} + \mathscr{J}\mathbf{f} = \rho_0 \mathbf{a} \text{ or } \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}} \stackrel{<}{\square} + \mathscr{J}\mathbf{f} = \rho_0 \mathbf{a}$$

 \sim /

This theorem is proved.

To define the stress on the initial configuration \mathfrak{B} , the Kirchhoff stress tensor will be introduced.

124

Definition 3.34. A one-point stress tensor in \mathfrak{B} ,

$$\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}} = T^{U} \mathbf{G}_{I} \mathbf{G}_{J} \equiv \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}} = \overset{\sim}{\mathscr{I}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}^{\mathsf{T}}$$
$$= \mathscr{J} X^{M}_{,r} t^{sr} X^{N}_{,s} \mathbf{G}_{M} \mathbf{G}_{N},$$
(3.185)

is called the Kirchhoff stress tensor.

The expression in Eq.(3.185) is a stress transformation from the final configuration \mathfrak{b} to the initial configuration \mathfrak{B} .

Theorem 3.29. For two position vectors \mathbf{P} in \mathfrak{B} and \mathbf{p} in \mathfrak{b} for time t, the following relation exists:

$$\sigma_{a^{\mathbf{n}}} \mathbf{t}_{a^{\mathbf{n}}} = \mathbf{I} \cdot \mathbf{T}_{A^{\mathbf{N}}}$$
(3.186)

with

$$\mathbf{t}_{a\mathbf{n}} = \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot {}_{a}\mathbf{n} \text{ and } \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \mathbf{T}_{A\mathbf{N}} = \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot (\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{T}} \cdot {}_{A}\mathbf{N}).$$
(3.187)

Proof : The forces in the initial configuration \mathfrak{B} and in the deformed configuration \mathfrak{b} are equal, i.e.,

$$\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot d \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{a}} = \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{\tau}} \cdot d \overset{<}{\mathbf{A}} = \overset{\approx}{\mathscr{I}} \overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot (\overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot d \overset{<}{\mathbf{A}} = \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\rightarrow}{\mathscr{I}} \overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot (\overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot d \overset{<}{\mathbf{A}}.$$

Using the definition of the Kirchhoff stress tensor, the foregoing equation becomes

$$\overset{*}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot d \overset{*}{\mathbf{a}} = \overset{*}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{*}{\mathbf{T}} \cdot d \overset{*}{\mathbf{A}}.$$

The above equation is deformed as

$$\stackrel{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{a} \mathbf{n} da = \stackrel{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot (\stackrel{\ll}{\mathbf{T}} \cdot d \stackrel{\approx}{\mathbf{A}}) = \stackrel{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot (\stackrel{\ll}{\mathbf{T}} \cdot {}_{A} \mathbf{N} dA).$$

With Eq.(3.187),

$$\mathbf{t}_{a\mathbf{n}}\frac{da}{dA} = \mathbf{T}_{A\mathbf{N}} \implies \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{a\mathbf{n}}\mathbf{t}_{a\mathbf{n}} = \mathbf{I} \cdot \mathbf{T}_{A\mathbf{N}}.$$

This theorem is proved.

The Piola and Kirchhoff stress tensors act on the surface $d\mathbf{A}$ on the initial configuration of \mathfrak{B} in the direction of \mathbf{N} . If $\mathfrak{M} = 0$ and $\mathbf{m} = 0$, the Cauchy stress tensor is symmetric (i.e., $\mathbf{t} = (\mathbf{t})^{\mathrm{T}}$). So the corresponding Kirchhoff stress tensor is symmetric because of

$$(\mathbf{T})^{\mathrm{T}} = (\mathcal{J} \stackrel{\stackrel{\stackrel{\stackrel{\stackrel{\stackrel{\rightarrow}}{\rightarrow}}}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \mathbf{t}} \cdot (\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}})^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathcal{J} ((\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (\mathbf{t})^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot (\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}}$$
$$= \mathcal{J} \stackrel{\stackrel{\stackrel{\stackrel{\stackrel{\stackrel{\stackrel{\rightarrow}}{\rightarrow}}}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \mathbf{t}} \cdot (\mathbf{F})^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{T}.$$
(3.188)

From the stress vector definition, the principal stress and direction can be determined by the extremum of the stress vector. Consider the principal stress t_{σ} in the principal stress $_{a}\mathbf{n}_{\sigma}$. The corresponding equation is

$$\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} \mathbf{n}_{\sigma} = t_{\sigma a} \mathbf{n}_{\sigma} \text{ and } (\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} - t_{\sigma} \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{I}}) \cdot {}_{a} \mathbf{n}_{\sigma} = 0.$$
(3.189)

From the definition of the Kirchhoff stress tensor,

$$\overset{\times}{\mathbf{t}} = \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}} \overset{\times}{\mathbf{T}} \overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{(F)}}^{\mathsf{T}} = \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}} \overset{\times}{\mathbf{C}} \overset{\times}{\mathbf{T}} \overset{\times}{\mathbf{C}} \overset{\times}{\mathbf{C}} \overset{\times}{\mathbf{C}} \overset{\times}{\mathbf{R}}.$$
(3.190)

Deformation of the foregoing equation gives

Thus,

From which it is observed that $t_{\sigma} \nearrow$ is the principal value for $\overset{-\sqrt{2}}{\mathbf{C}} \cdot \mathbf{T} \cdot \overset{\sqrt{2}}{\mathbf{C}}$ on the direction of $\mathbf{N}_{\sigma} = (\overset{-1}{\mathbf{R}} \cdot {}_{a}\mathbf{n}_{\sigma})$.

Theorem 3.30. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, the local balance of momentum (Kirchhoff equation) is given by the Kirchhoff stress

$$\overset{\sim}{\Box} \cdot (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}} \cdot (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}}) + \mathscr{J} \mathbf{f} = \rho_0 \mathbf{a} \quad \text{or} \quad (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}}) \cdot \overset{<}{\Box} + \mathscr{J} \mathbf{f} = \rho_0 \mathbf{a} ,$$

$$(T^{IJ} x_{;I}^i)_{;J} + \mathscr{J} f^i = \rho_0 a^i.$$

$$(3.193)$$

Proof: From the definition of the Kirchhoff stress tensor,

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{\tau}} = \widetilde{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \widetilde{\mathbf{T}}$$
 and $(\widetilde{\mathbf{\tau}})^{\mathrm{T}} = \widetilde{\mathbf{T}} \cdot (\widetilde{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}}$,

and

$$\tau^{iJ} = x^{i}_{;I}T^{IJ}$$
 and $\tau^{Ij} = T^{IJ}x^{j}_{;J}$.

Equation (3.184) gives

$$\stackrel{<}{\Box} \cdot (\stackrel{<}{\mathbf{T}} \cdot (\stackrel{<}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}}) + \mathscr{J} \mathbf{f} = \rho_0 \mathbf{a} \quad \text{or} \quad (\stackrel{<}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \stackrel{<}{\mathbf{T}}) \cdot \stackrel{<}{\Box} + \mathscr{J} \mathbf{f} = \rho_0 \mathbf{a}.$$

The component expression is given as

$$(T^{IJ}x^i_{;I})_{;J} + \mathscr{J}f^i = \rho_0 a^i.$$

3.4. Energy conservation

This theorem is proved.

Using $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{I} \cdot \mathbf{F}^{\prec}$ and the total differentiation operator for two-point tensor, $(\cdot) \cdot \mathbf{D}$ will become $(\cdot) \cdot \nabla$, the Kirchhoff equation becomes

$$(\mathbf{\widetilde{F}}\cdot\mathbf{\widetilde{T}})\cdot\mathbf{\nabla}+\mathbf{\mathscr{J}}\mathbf{\widetilde{f}}=\rho_{0}\mathbf{\widetilde{a}}.$$
(3.194)

Using $\stackrel{\ll}{\tau} = \stackrel{\ll}{\mathbf{F}} \stackrel{\ll}{\mathbf{T}}$, the foregoing equation gives

$$\vec{\mathbf{\tau}} \cdot \vec{\nabla} + \mathbf{\mathcal{J}} \mathbf{f} = \rho_0 \mathbf{a}. \tag{3.195}$$

Consider

$$\overset{\leqslant}{\mathbf{F}} = \overset{\leqslant}{\mathbf{p}} \overset{\leqslant}{\nabla} = (\mathbf{P} + \overset{\leqslant}{\mathbf{u}}) \overset{\leqslant}{\nabla} = \overset{\leqslant}{\mathbf{I}} + \overset{\leqslant}{\mathbf{u}} \overset{\leqslant}{\nabla}.$$
(3.196)

Equation (3.194) gives

$$[(\tilde{\mathbf{I}} + \tilde{\mathbf{u}}\tilde{\nabla})\cdot\tilde{\mathbf{T}}]\cdot\tilde{\nabla} + \mathcal{J}\tilde{\mathbf{f}} = \rho_0\tilde{\mathbf{a}}, \qquad (3.197)$$

$$[(\delta_{I}^{K} + u_{;I}^{K})T^{JJ}]_{;J} + \mathscr{J}f^{K} = \rho_{0}a^{K}.$$
(3.198)

3.4. Energy conservation

The energy principle of the conservation of energy requires

$$\frac{D}{Dt}(\mathcal{K}+\mathcal{U}) = \mathcal{U} + \sum_{\alpha} \frac{D\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}}{Dt},$$
(3.199)

where the kinetic energy, internal energy, external work are

$$\mathcal{K} = \int_{v} \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v} \rho dv = \int_{v} \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v} \rho_{0} dV,$$

$$\mathcal{U} = \int_{v} u dv = \int_{v} U dV,$$

$$\mathcal{U} = \int_{v} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{t}_{a^{\mathbf{n}}} da = \int_{v} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} \mathcal{J} dV + \oint_{\mathcal{A}} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{T}_{A^{\mathbf{N}}} dA,$$

(3.200)

and $D\mathcal{U}_{\alpha} / Dt$ ($\alpha = 1, 2, ...$) is the rate of energies entering or leaving the body per unit time. In other words, the time rate of change of the kinetic plus internal energy is equal to the summation of the rate of work of the external forces and all other energies entering or leaving the body per unit time. Equation (3.199) gives

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v} \rho_{0} dV + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} U dV \right)$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} \cdot dV + \oint_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{T}_{AN} dA + \sum_{\alpha} \frac{D\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}}{Dt},$$

$$\frac{D}{Dt} \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v} \rho dv + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} u dv \right)$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{-\alpha}^{-\infty} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{t}_{an} da + \sum_{\alpha} \frac{D\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}}{Dt}.$$
(3.201)

Theorem 3.31. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time t, under $D\mathfrak{U}_{\alpha}/Dt = 0$ ($\alpha = 1, 2, ...$), the local energy conservation is

$$\frac{DU}{Dt} = \mathscr{J} \stackrel{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} : \stackrel{\approx}{\mathbf{d}} = \stackrel{\approx}{\mathbf{\tau}} : \frac{D\stackrel{\approx}{\mathbf{F}}}{Dt} = \stackrel{\approx}{\mathbf{T}} : \frac{D\stackrel{\approx}{\mathbf{E}}}{Dt} \quad in \mathfrak{B},$$

$$\frac{Du}{Dt} = \stackrel{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} : \stackrel{\approx}{\mathbf{d}} = \stackrel{\approx}{\mathcal{\tau}} : \frac{D\stackrel{\approx}{\mathbf{F}}}{Dt} = \stackrel{\approx}{\mathcal{T}} : \frac{D\stackrel{\approx}{\mathbf{E}}}{Dt} \quad in \mathfrak{b}.$$
(3.202)

Proof: Consider

$$\int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{t}_{n} da = \int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{v} \cdot \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot d\overset{\geq}{\mathbf{a}}$$
$$= \int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \int_{V} \overset{\approx}{\nabla} \cdot \overset{\approx}{(\mathbf{t}} \cdot \mathbf{v}) dv$$
$$\int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{t}_{n} da = \int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \int_{V} \overset{\approx}{\nabla} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} \cdot v dv + \int_{V} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} : (\overset{\approx}{\nabla} \mathbf{v}) dv$$
$$= \int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot (\mathbf{f} + \overset{\approx}{\nabla} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}) dv + \int_{V} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} : (\overset{\approx}{\nabla} \mathbf{v}) dv.$$

Using

$$\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}: (\overrightarrow{\nabla} \mathbf{v}) = (\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}})^{\mathrm{T}}: (\mathbf{v}\overrightarrow{\nabla}) = \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}: (\mathbf{v}\overrightarrow{\nabla}) \text{ and}$$
$$\mathbf{f} + \overset{\approx}{\nabla} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} = \rho \mathbf{a},$$

the proceeding integration equation becomes

$$\int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{t}_{n} da = \int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \rho \mathbf{a} dv + \int_{V}^{\gg} \mathbf{t} : \frac{1}{2} (\stackrel{>}{\nabla} \mathbf{v} + \mathbf{v} \stackrel{>}{\nabla}) dv$$
$$= \int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \frac{D \mathbf{v}}{D t} \rho dv + \int_{V}^{\gg} \mathbf{t} : \stackrel{>}{\mathbf{d}} dv$$
$$= \int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \frac{D \mathbf{v}}{D t} \rho dv + \int_{V}^{\infty} \mathbf{t} : \stackrel{>}{\mathbf{d}} \mathscr{J} dV.$$

Further,

3.4. Energy conservation

$$\int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{t}_{n} da - \int_{\mathcal{F}} \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} : \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{d}} \mathscr{J} dV$$
$$= \frac{D}{Dt} (\int_{V} \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v} \rho dv).$$

From the energy conservation in Eq.(3.201) and $D\mathcal{U}_{\alpha} / Dt = 0$,

$$\frac{DU}{Dt} = \mathscr{J} \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} : \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{d}}$$

Because

$$\rho dv = \rho_0 dV$$
 and $\mathbf{\tilde{t}} \cdot d\mathbf{\tilde{a}} = \mathbf{\tau} \cdot d\mathbf{\tilde{A}}$,

then

$$\int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{t}_{n} da = \int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{t} \cdot d\mathbf{a}$$
$$= \int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} \mathcal{J} dV + \oint_{\mathcal{A}} (\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{\tau}) \cdot d\mathbf{A}$$
$$= \int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} \mathcal{J} dV + \int_{V} (\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{\tau}) \cdot \mathbf{c} dV$$

and also because

$$(\mathbf{v}\cdot\mathbf{\tau}) \stackrel{\prec}{\square} = (\mathbf{v}\square) : \mathbf{\tau} + \mathbf{v} \cdot (\mathbf{\tau} \stackrel{\prec}{\square}),$$
$$\int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{t}_{n} da = \int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot (\mathcal{F}\mathbf{f} + \mathbf{\tau} \stackrel{\prec}{\square}) dV + \int_{V} (\mathbf{v}\square) : \mathbf{\tau} dV$$
$$= \int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \rho_{0} \mathbf{a} dV + \int_{V} \mathbf{\tau} : (\mathbf{v}\square) dV.$$

Using $\mathbf{v}_{\square}^{\checkmark} = \mathbf{D} \cdot \mathbf{F}$ and $\mathbf{\tau}^{\checkmark} = \mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{T}$, one obtains $\mathbf{\tau}^{\checkmark} : (\mathbf{v}_{\square}) = (\mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{T}) : (\mathbf{D} \cdot \mathbf{F}) = tr(\mathbf{T} \cdot (\mathbf{F})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \mathbf{D} \cdot \mathbf{F})$ $= tr((\mathbf{F})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot (\mathbf{D})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot ((\mathbf{F})^{\mathsf{T}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot (\mathbf{T})^{\mathsf{T}}) = tr(\mathbf{T} \cdot (\mathbf{F})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \mathbf{D} \cdot \mathbf{F})$ $= tr(\mathbf{T} \cdot (\mathbf{F})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot (\mathbf{D})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot ((\mathbf{F})^{\mathsf{T}})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot (\mathbf{T})^{\mathsf{T}}) = tr(\mathbf{T} \cdot (\mathbf{F})^{\mathsf{T}} \cdot \mathbf{D} \cdot \mathbf{F})$

where

$$\frac{D \stackrel{\scriptstyle \leftarrow}{\mathbf{E}}}{Dt} = (\stackrel{\scriptstyle \leftarrow}{\mathbf{F}})^T \cdot \stackrel{\scriptstyle \rightarrow \rightarrow \times}{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \stackrel{\scriptstyle \leftarrow}{\mathbf{F}}, \quad \frac{D}{Dt} (\frac{1}{2} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v}) = \mathbf{v} \cdot \frac{D \mathbf{v}}{Dt} \text{ and } \mathbf{a} = \frac{D \mathbf{v}}{Dt}$$

So

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{t}_{n} da = \frac{D}{Dt} \left(\int_{\mathcal{V}} \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v} dV \right) + \int_{\mathcal{V}} \stackrel{\times}{\tau} : \frac{D \widehat{\mathbf{F}}}{Dt} dV$$
$$= \frac{D}{Dt} \left(\int_{\mathcal{V}} \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v} dV \right) + \int_{\mathcal{V}} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{T}} : \frac{D \widehat{\mathbf{F}}}{Dt} dV.$$

Again, from the energy conservation in Eq.(3.201) and $D\mathcal{U}_{\alpha} / Dt = 0$,

$$\frac{DU}{Dt} = \stackrel{\gg}{\mathbf{\tau}} : \frac{D\widehat{\mathbf{F}}}{Dt} = \stackrel{\ll}{\mathbf{T}} : \frac{D\widehat{\mathbf{E}}}{Dt}.$$

The proof of this theorem is completed.

This foregoing theorem gives the rate of the internal energy density in the initial and deformed configurations. In the previous proof,

$$\int_{v} \mathbf{v} \cdot (\mathbf{f} - \rho \frac{D\mathbf{v}}{Dt}) dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{t}_{a^{n}} da$$
$$= \int_{v} \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} : \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{d}} dv = \int_{v} \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} : \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{d}} dV.$$
(3.203)

The left-hand side of the foregoing equation gives the rate of energy under external force and inertial force. If the internal energy is zero, equation (3.203) gives the *D'Alembert principle* for rigid body. With $\delta \mathbf{p} = \mathbf{v} \delta t$, equation (3.203) gives

$$\int_{v} \delta \mathbf{p} \cdot (\mathbf{f} - \rho \frac{D\mathbf{v}}{Dt}) dv + \oint_{a} \delta \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{t}_{an} da = \delta t \int_{v}^{s} \mathbf{t} : \mathbf{d} dv$$
$$= \delta t \int_{v} \mathcal{F} \mathbf{t} : \mathbf{d} dV. \qquad (3.204)$$

The foregoing equation gives the *virtual work principle*. In other words, the effective force work on the virtual displacement is equal to the internal force work. If the internal force work is zero, the virtual work principle for the rigid body is obtained.

In the previous proof of theorem,

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{t}_{n} da = \int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathbf{v} \cdot \frac{D\mathbf{v}}{Dt} \rho dv + \int_{\mathcal{V}} \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} : \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{d}} dv$$
$$= \int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathbf{v} \cdot \frac{D\mathbf{v}}{Dt} \rho dv + \int_{\mathcal{V}} \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} : \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{d}} \mathscr{J} dV, \qquad (3.205)$$

$$\int_{V} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{f} dv + \oint_{a} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{t}_{an} da = \frac{D}{Dt} \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v} dV \right) + \int_{\mathbb{T}} \stackrel{\sim}{\mathbf{\tau}} : \frac{D \mathbf{\widetilde{F}}}{Dt} dV$$
$$= \frac{D}{Dt} \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v} dV \right) + \int_{\mathbb{T}} \stackrel{\sim}{\mathbf{T}} : \frac{D \mathbf{\widetilde{E}}}{Dt} dV.$$
(3.206)

The foregoing two equations give the *kinetic energy theorem*. Namely, the time rate of change of kinetic energy and internal energy is equal to the time rate of

References

change of the work done by external forces. The other discussion on thermodynamical laws can be found in Eringen (1962, 1971). The generalized variational principle for nonlinear elasticity can be referred to Guo (1980).

References

Eringen, A.C., 1962, Nonlinear Theory of Continuous Media, McGraw-Hill, New York.

Eringen, A.C., 1971, *Tensor Analysis*, In Continuum Physics, Vol.1-Mathematics, (Eds: Eringen, A.C.), Academic Press, New York and London.

Guo, Z.H., 1980, Nonlinear Elasticity, China Science Press, Beijing.

Chapter 4 Constitutive Laws and Damage Theory

This chapter will discuss constitutive laws and basic invariant requirements in continuous media. To develop a continuous damage theory, the concepts of damage variables will be briefly introduced. The equivalent principles on continuum damage mechanics will be presented to obtain effective material properties. A large damage theory for anisotropic damaged materials will be discussed from the incremental complementary energy equivalence principle, and a few simple applications will be presented.

4.1. Constitutive equations

Constitutive laws of materials are developed from invariance requirements. The four basic invariance requirements are:

- (i) *The principle of determinism* states "the behavior of materials at time *t* is determined by all the past history of the motion of all material points in the body until time *t*".
- (ii) *The principle of neighborhood* states "the behavior of a material point *P* at time *t* is determined by the behavior of an arbitrary small neighborhood".
- (iii) *The principle of coordinate invariance* states "the constitutive laws of materials are independent of coordinates".
- (iv) *The principle* of *material objectivity* states "the constitutive laws of materials are independent of the rigid motion of the spatial coordinates".

The detailed discussion of the objectivity of stress and strain tensors can be refered to Eringen (1962), Guo (1980) and Marsden and Hughes (1983).

To develop the constitutive laws, the following two assumptions are extensively adopted.

(A1) The natural states lie in the zero stress in the initial configuration $\mathfrak B$.

(A2) The behaviors of materials are dependent on the current deformation state \mathfrak{b} to the natural state.

From the foregoing hypothesis, there is a relation of the stress and strain, i.e.,

$$\overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{t}} = \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{c}, \mathbf{P}). \tag{4.1}$$

Because $\overset{\stackrel{\stackrel{}_{\rightarrow}}{\scriptstyle \gg}}{\mathbf{c}} = \overset{\stackrel{\scriptstyle \sim}{\scriptstyle \approx}}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot (\overset{\mathrel{\scriptstyle \sim}}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}} = \overset{\scriptscriptstyle \gg}{\scriptstyle \mathbf{F}} \cdot (\overset{\scriptscriptstyle >}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathsf{T}}$, the fundamental deformation theorem gives

$$\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{R} \text{ and } \mathbf{F} = \mathbf{K} \cdot \mathbf{C};$$
 (4.2)

and also

then,

$$\operatorname{III}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{F}}) = \operatorname{III}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{R}}, \overset{\overset{\vee}{\mathbf{C}})}{\mathbf{C}}) = \operatorname{III}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{R}}) \cdot \operatorname{III}(\overset{\vee}{\mathbf{C}}).$$
(4.4)

Thus,

$$\operatorname{III}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{R}}) = \frac{\operatorname{III}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{F}})}{\overset{\frac{1}{2}}{\underset{\mathrm{III}(\mathbf{C})}{\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}}}}} = \frac{\operatorname{III}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{F}})}{\sqrt{\operatorname{III}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}})}} = \frac{\operatorname{III}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{F}})}{\sqrt{\operatorname{III}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{F}}\cdot\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}}}} = 1.$$
(4.5)

The orthogonal tensor $\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{R}}$ represents the rotation only, which will be independent of deformation from the initial configuration \mathfrak{B} to the deformed configuration \mathfrak{b} .

From
$$\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{I}$$
 and $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{I} \cdot \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{C}$,
 $\mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{C} = \mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{R}$. (4.6)

With $\mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Gamma} = \Lambda_{\Gamma} \mathbf{N}_{\Gamma}$, left multiplication of \mathbf{N}_{Γ} of the foregoing equation yields

$$\sum_{\mathbf{c}}^{1/2} \approx \sum_{\mathbf{r}}^{1/2} \sum_{\mathbf{r}}^{1/2} \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{N} = \mathbf{A}_{\Gamma} \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{N}.$$
(4.7)

Using $\overset{^{-y_2}}{\mathbf{c}} \cdot \underset{\Gamma}{\mathbf{n}} = \lambda_{\Gamma} \underset{\Gamma}{\mathbf{n}}$ and $\lambda_{\Gamma} = \Lambda_{\Gamma}$,

$$\mathbf{n}_{\Gamma} = \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Gamma} \quad . \tag{4.8}$$

4.1. Constitutive equations

From Eq.(3.107),

$$\overset{\overset{-}}{\mathbf{R}} = \overset{-}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{-}{\mathbf{C}} \text{ and } \overset{\overset{\vee}{\mathbf{R}}}{\mathbf{R}} = \overset{\overset{\vee}{\mathbf{c}}}{\mathbf{c}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}} \implies \overset{\overset{-}}{\mathbf{R}} = \overset{-}{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{C}} \text{ and } \overset{\overset{\vee}{\mathbf{R}}}{\mathbf{R}} = \overset{\overset{\vee}{\mathbf{c}}}{\mathbf{c}} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}}.$$

$$(4.9)$$

From the previous discussion, the stress tensor in Eq.(4.1) is expressed by

$$\overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{t}} = \overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{f}}(\overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{c}}, \mathbf{P}) = \overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{f}}(\overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{c}}, \overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{F}}, \mathbf{P}) = \mathbf{g}(\lambda_{\mathbf{n}}, \gamma_{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n})}, \mathbf{P}),$$
(4.10)

where $i, i_1, i_2 = 1, 2, 3$.

Introduce a new variable

$$\varepsilon_{ii} = e_{\mathbf{n}} = \lambda_{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}} - 1 \equiv \lambda_{\mathbf{n}} - 1 \text{ and } \varepsilon_{ij} = \gamma_{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n})},$$

$$\varepsilon \equiv \varepsilon = \varepsilon_{ij} \mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{n}}.$$
(4.11)

Further, the material coefficients are defined as

$$\overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{t}} = \sum_{n} \mathscr{C}_{n} (\overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{c}})^{n} = \sum_{n} \mathscr{D}_{n} (\overset{\rightarrow}{\mathbf{c}})^{n}$$
(4.12)

and

$$\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} = \mathbf{g}(\overset{\gg}{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}}, \mathbf{P}) = \sum_{n} \mathscr{E}_{n} \mathscr{E}^{n} \text{ or } \overset{\gg}{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}} = \mathscr{F}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}, t).$$
(4.13)

For linear elasticity, the foregoing equation is expressed by

$$\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} = \boldsymbol{E} : \overset{\gg}{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}}, \tag{4.14}$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}} = E_{ijkl} \prod_{i} \min_{j \ k \ l} \text{ and } \stackrel{\gg}{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}} = \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}_{kl} \prod_{k \ l} \prod_{l} .$$
(4.15)

From energy points of view, the internal energy function for a specific material point **P** in \mathfrak{B} is determined by the movement history of the all material points $\mathbf{P}' \in \mathfrak{B}$, i.e.,

$$U = U\left(\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}', t'); \mathbf{P}, t\right) \text{ for } t' \le t.$$
(4.16)

From the material objectivity,

$$U(\tilde{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{P}', \tilde{t}'), \mathbf{P}, \tilde{t}) = U(\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}', t'); \mathbf{P}, t).$$
(4.17)

For the two coordinates, consider

$$\tilde{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{P}', \tilde{t}') = \mathbf{Q}(t')\mathbf{p} + \mathbf{b}(t'),$$

$$\tilde{t}' = t' + a.$$
(4.18)

4 Constitutive Laws and Damage Theory

The material objectivity requires $\mathbf{Q}(t') = const$ and $\mathbf{b}(t') = const$. Let $\mathbf{Q}(t') = \mathbf{I}$ and $\mathbf{b}(t') = -\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}, t')$ with a = 0. Consider the translation of coordinate from any material point $\mathbf{P}' \in \mathfrak{B}$ to the specific material point, i.e.,

$$\tilde{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{P}', \tilde{t}') = \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}', t') - \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}, t').$$
(4.19)

Further,

$$U = U(\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}', t') - \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}, t'); \mathbf{P}, t').$$
(4.20)

Setting $\mathbf{Q}(t') = \mathbf{I}$ and $\mathbf{b}(t') = 0$ with a = -t, $\tilde{t}' = t' - t$ and $\tilde{t} = 0$.

$$\tilde{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{P}', \tilde{t}') = \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}', \tilde{t}' + t).$$
(4.21)

The internal energy function is expressed by

$$U = U\left(\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}', \,\tilde{t}'+t) - \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}, \,\tilde{t}'+t); \,\mathbf{P}\right). \tag{4.22}$$

For a new time variable of $\tau' = t - t' \ge 0$,

$$U = U(\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}', t - \tau') - \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}, t - \tau'); \mathbf{P}).$$
(4.23)

The Taylor series expansion of displacement in the deformed configuration gives

$$\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}',t') - \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P},t') = [\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P},t')\nabla] \cdot (\mathbf{P}' - \mathbf{P}) + \cdots.$$
(4.24)

From the principle of neighborhood,

$$U = U([\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{P}, t') \overset{\leq}{\nabla}]; \mathbf{P}) = U(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}}(\mathbf{P}, t'); \mathbf{P}).$$
(4.25)

 $\mathrm{From} \ \overset{\times}{F} = \overset{\xrightarrow{-1/2}}{\mathbf{c}} \cdot \mathbf{R} \cdot \overset{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \ \mathrm{and} \ \overset{\times}{F} = \overset{\times}{\mathbf{I}} \cdot \overset{\ll}{\mathbf{R}} \cdot \overset{\vee^2}{\mathbf{C}},$

$$U = U(\mathbf{C}; \mathbf{P}) = U(\mathbf{c}; \mathbf{P}) = U(\lambda_{\mathbf{n}}, \gamma_{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n})}; \mathbf{P}) = U(\mathcal{E}; \mathbf{P}).$$
(4.26)

The internal energy function (or internal energy density) at the specific material point \mathbf{P} is determined by the strain state. Such an internal energy function is also called *the strain energy*.

Theorem 4.1. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time t, under $D\mathfrak{U}_{\alpha}/Dt = 0$ ($\alpha = 1, 2, ...$), based on the strain energy U, the following relations hold:

(i)

$$\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{T}} = \frac{dU}{d\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{E}}} = 2\frac{dU}{d\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}}}, \ T^{II} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial E_{II}} = 2\frac{\partial U}{\partial C_{II}},$$
(4.27)
4.1. Constitutive equations

which is called the Cosserat stress and strain relation. (ii)

$$\stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}} = \frac{dU}{d\mathbf{F}}, \ \boldsymbol{\tau}_{i}^{I} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial x_{iI}^{i}}, \tag{4.28}$$

which is called the Kirchhoff form of stress and strain (iii)

$$\mathbf{t} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{dU}{d \, \mathbf{\mathcal{E}}}; \ t_{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{\partial U}{\partial e_{\mathbf{n}}} (e_{\mathbf{n}} + 1),$$

$$t_{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{\partial U}{\partial \gamma_{(\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n})}} \sin \theta_{(\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n})} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{\partial U}{\partial \gamma_{(\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n})}} \sin(\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}\mathbf{N})} - \gamma_{(\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n})}),$$

$$(4.29)$$

which gives the stress and strain relation in ${\boldsymbol{\mathfrak b}}$.

Proof: For different strains, the time-change rate of strain energy gives

$$\frac{DU}{Dt} = \frac{dU}{d\mathbf{\tilde{E}}} : \frac{D\mathbf{\tilde{E}}}{Dt} = 2\frac{dU}{d\mathbf{\tilde{C}}} : \frac{1}{2}\frac{D\mathbf{\tilde{C}}}{Dt} = \frac{dU}{d\mathbf{\tilde{F}}} : \frac{D\mathbf{\tilde{F}}}{Dt} = \frac{dU}{d\mathbf{\tilde{E}}} : \frac{D\mathbf{\tilde{E}}}{Dt} \text{ in } \mathfrak{B}.$$

From Eq.(3.200),

$$\left(\frac{dU}{d\mathbf{\tilde{E}}} - \mathbf{\tilde{T}}\right) : \frac{D\mathbf{\tilde{E}}}{Dt} = 0 \text{ or } \left(2\frac{dU}{d\mathbf{\tilde{C}}} - \mathbf{\tilde{T}}\right) : \frac{1}{2}\frac{D\mathbf{\tilde{C}}}{Dt} = 0; \quad \left(\frac{dU}{d\mathbf{\tilde{F}}} - \mathbf{\tilde{\tau}}\right) : \frac{D\mathbf{\tilde{F}}}{Dt} = 0.$$

Thus,

$$\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{T}} = \frac{dU}{d\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{E}}} = 2\frac{dU}{d\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{C}}}, \ T^{IJ} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial E_{IJ}} = 2\frac{\partial U}{\partial C_{IJ}},$$

and

$$\stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}} = \frac{dU}{d\mathbf{F}}, \ \tau_i^{I} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial x_{;I}^i}.$$

Therefore, Equations (4.27) and (4.28) are obtained.

Consider

$$\frac{DU}{Dt} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial e_{\mathbf{n}}} \cdot \frac{D}{Dt} (\lambda_{\mathbf{n}} - 1) + \frac{\partial U}{\partial \gamma_{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n})}} \cdot \frac{D\gamma_{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{n})}}{Dt}.$$

From Eq.(4.11),

4 Constitutive Laws and Damage Theory

$$\left(\frac{dU}{d\varepsilon} - \mathcal{J}^{*}\mathbf{t}\right) : \frac{1}{\mathcal{J}}\frac{D\varepsilon}{Dt} = \left(\frac{dU}{d\varepsilon} - \mathcal{J}^{*}\mathbf{t}\right) : \mathbf{d}^{*} = 0.$$

Because

$$\frac{\partial U}{\partial e_{\mathbf{n}}} \cdot \frac{D\lambda_{\mathbf{n}}}{Dt} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial e_{\mathbf{n}}} \lambda_{\mathbf{n}} \stackrel{>}{\mathbf{n}} \cdot \stackrel{>}{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \stackrel{=}{\mathbf{n}} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial e_{\mathbf{n}}} \lambda_{\mathbf{n}} \stackrel{=}{\mathbf{n}} \stackrel{=}{\mathbf{d}} \stackrel{=}{\mathcal{I}} \stackrel{=}{\mathbf{d}} \stackrel{=}{\mathcal{I}} \stackrel{=}{\mathbf{d}} \stackrel{=}{\mathbf{d} \stackrel{=}{\mathbf{$$

the stress component in \mathbf{n} is given by

$$t_{nn} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{\partial U}{\partial e_n} \lambda_n = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{\partial U}{\partial e_n} (e_n + 1),$$

and also because

$$\frac{\partial U}{\partial \gamma_{\binom{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}}{h_{12}}}} \cdot \frac{D\gamma_{\binom{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}}{h_{12}}}}{Dt} = \mathscr{I}_{t_{\frac{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}}{h_{12}}}} \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{n}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{n}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{d}}$$
$$= \frac{\partial U}{\partial \gamma_{\binom{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}}{h_{12}}}} \frac{1}{\sin \theta_{\binom{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}}{h_{12}}}} \left[(\mathbf{n} - \cos \theta_{\binom{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}}{h_{12}}} \overset{\mathbf{n}}{\mathbf{n}}) \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{n}} + (\mathbf{n} - \cos \theta_{\binom{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}}{h_{12}}} \overset{\mathbf{n}}{\mathbf{n}}) \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{n}} \right] \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{d}},$$

with $\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n})} = \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{i_1 \cdot i_2} = \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{i_2 \cdot i_1}$ and $\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{i_1} = \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{i_2 \cdot i_2} = 1$, one obtains

Therefore, Equation (4.29) is obtained, i.e.,

$$\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{dU}{d \mathscr{E}}, \quad t_{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{\partial U}{\partial e_{\mathbf{n}}} \lambda_{\mathbf{n}} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{\partial U}{\partial e_{\mathbf{n}}} (e_{\mathbf{n}}^{+}+1),$$

$$t_{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{\partial U}{\partial \gamma_{(\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n})}} \sin \theta_{(\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n})} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{\partial U}{\partial \gamma_{(\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n})}} \sin (\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}\mathbf{N})} - \gamma_{(\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n})}).$$

4.1. Constitutive equations

This theorem is proved.

On the other hand, the stress $\stackrel{\Rightarrow}{t}$ is obtained by

$$\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{T}} \overset{\approx}{(\mathbf{F})^{\mathsf{T}}} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} \overset{dU}{\frac{dU}{d\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{E}}}} \overset{\approx}{(\mathbf{F})^{\mathsf{T}}} = \frac{2}{\mathscr{I}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} \overset{dU}{\frac{dU}{d\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{C}}}} \overset{\approx}{(\mathbf{F})^{\mathsf{T}}};$$

$$t^{ij} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{dU}{dE_{IJ}} x^{i}_{;I} x^{j}_{;J} = \frac{2}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{dU}{dC_{IJ}} x^{i}_{;I} x^{j}_{;J}.$$
(4.30)

Consider

$$\frac{dU}{dx_{;I}^{i}} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial C_{MN}} \frac{\partial C_{MN}}{\partial x_{;I}^{i}} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial C_{MN}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{;I}^{i}} (g_{rs} x_{;M}^{r} x_{;N}^{s})$$

$$= \frac{\partial U}{\partial C_{MN}} (g_{is} \delta_{M}^{I} x_{;N}^{s} + g_{ri} \delta_{N}^{I} x_{;M}^{r}) = 2g_{is} \frac{\partial U}{\partial C_{IN}} x_{;N}^{s}$$

$$= g_{is} x_{;M}^{s} T^{MI} = \tau_{i}^{I}.$$
(4.31)

Using the Kirchhoff stress gives the Cauchy stress, i.e.,

$$\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{\tau}} \cdot (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{dU}{d\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}}} \cdot (\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}})^{\mathrm{T}};$$

$$t^{ij} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{dU}{dx'_{;I}} g^{ri} x^{j}_{;I}.$$
(4.32)

Rewriting Eq.(4.26) gives

$$U = U(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{E}}; \mathbf{P}) = U(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}}; \mathbf{P}) = U(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{E}}; \mathbf{P}).$$
(4.33)

Further,

$$\delta U = \widetilde{\mathbf{T}} : \delta \widetilde{\mathbf{E}} = \widetilde{\mathbf{\tau}} : \delta \widetilde{\mathbf{F}} = \mathscr{F} \widetilde{\mathbf{t}} : \delta \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}.$$
(4.34)

Definition 4.1. For two position vectors **P** in \mathfrak{B} and **p** in \mathfrak{b} for time *t*, based on the strain energy density U or u, the quantity U^c or u^c is termed a *complementary energy density* if

$$U^{c}(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}}) + U(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{E}}) = \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}} : \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{E}};$$

$$U^{c}(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{\tau}}) + U(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}) = \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{\tau}} : \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}};$$

$$U^{c}(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{t}}) + U(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{E}}) = \overset{\sim}{\mathscr{I}} : \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{E}}$$

in \mathfrak{B} (4.35)
(4.35)

or

4 Constitutive Laws and Damage Theory

$$u^{c}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{T}}) + u(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{E}}) = \overset{\approx}{_{\mathcal{T}}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{T}} : \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{E}};$$

$$u^{c}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{T}}) + u(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}}) = \overset{\approx}{_{\mathcal{T}}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{T}} : \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}};$$

$$u^{c}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}) + u(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{E}}) = \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} : \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{E}}$$

$$(4.36)$$

In Fig.4.1, the strain energy density U and complementary energy density U^{c} are presented based on three pair of stress and strain, i.e., $(\mathbf{\tilde{T}}, \mathbf{\tilde{E}})$, $(\mathbf{\tilde{\tau}}, \mathbf{\tilde{F}})$ and $(\mathbf{\tilde{T}}, \mathbf{\tilde{E}})$ in the initial configuration \mathfrak{B} . For a given state of stress and strain, the total energy density is determined by the dot product of the stress and strain tensors (i.e., $\mathbf{\tilde{T}}:\mathbf{\tilde{E}}$, $\mathbf{\tilde{\tau}}:\mathbf{\tilde{F}}$ and $\mathbf{\tilde{T}}:\mathbf{\tilde{E}}$). The hatched area is the strain energy density U and the rest part is the complementary energy U^{c} . From Eq.(4.35),

$$\delta U^{c}(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}}) + \delta U(\overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{E}}) = \delta \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}} : \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{E}} + \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}} : \delta \overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{E}};$$

$$\delta U^{c}(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}}) + \delta U(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}) = \delta \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}} : \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} + \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{T}} : \delta \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}};$$

$$\delta U^{c}(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{t}}) + \delta U(\overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{E}}) = \mathscr{J} \delta \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{t}} : \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{E}} + \mathscr{J} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{t}} : \delta \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{E}}$$

(4.37)

With Eq.(4.36), the foregoing equations give

$$\delta U^{c}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{T}}) = \delta \overset{\ll}{\mathbf{T}} : \overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{E}} = \delta \overset{\sim}{\boldsymbol{\tau}} : \overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{F}} = \mathscr{J} \delta \overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{t}} : \overset{\simeq}{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}}.$$
(4.38)

In other words,

$$\overset{\leq}{\mathbf{E}} = \frac{dU^{c}(\overset{\leq}{\mathbf{T}})}{d\overset{\leq}{\mathbf{T}}}, \ E_{IJ} = \frac{\partial U^{c}}{\partial T^{IJ}};$$

$$\overset{\geq}{\mathbf{F}} = \frac{dU^{c}(\overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{\tau}})}{d\overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{\tau}}}, \ x_{;I}^{i} = \frac{\partial U^{c}}{\partial \tau_{i}^{I}};$$

$$\overset{\geq}{\mathbf{E}} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{dU^{c}(\overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{t}})}{d\overset{\simeq}{\mathbf{t}}}, \ \varepsilon_{ij} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{\partial U^{c}}{\partial t^{ij}}.$$
(4.39)

Further, the time-rate of change of the total energy density is

$$\frac{D}{Dt}U^{C}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{T}}) + \frac{D}{Dt}U(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{E}}) = \frac{D}{Dt}\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{T}}:\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{E}} + \overset{\ll}{\mathbf{T}}:\frac{D}{Dt}\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{E}}; \\ \frac{D}{Dt}U^{C}(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{\tau}}) + \frac{D}{Dt}U(\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}}) = \frac{D}{Dt}\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{\tau}}:\overset{\sim}{\mathbf{F}} + \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{\tau}}:\frac{D}{Dt}\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}}; \end{cases} \text{ in }\mathfrak{B};$$



Fig. 4.1 The strain energy density and complementary energy density based on three pairs of stress and strain.

$$\frac{D}{Dt}U^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}) + \frac{D}{Dt}U(\overset{\gg}{\mathcal{E}}) = \mathscr{J}\frac{D}{Dt}\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}:\overset{\gg}{\mathcal{E}} + \mathscr{J}\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}:\frac{D}{Dt}\overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}} \text{ in }\mathfrak{B}.$$
(4.40)

For the Cauchy stress tensor in Eq.(4.14), equation (4.34) gives

$$\delta U = \mathscr{J} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}} = \mathscr{J} \mathbf{g} (\overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}}, \mathbf{P}) : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}} = \mathscr{J} \sum_{n} \mathscr{E}_{n} (\overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}})^{n} : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}};$$

$$\delta U = \mathscr{J} t^{ij} \delta \varepsilon_{ij} = \mathscr{J} g^{ij} (\varepsilon_{kl}, \mathbf{P}) \delta \varepsilon_{ij} = \mathscr{J} \sum_{n} \mathscr{E}_{n} (\varepsilon_{ij})^{n} \delta \varepsilon_{ij}.$$

(4.41)

From Eq.(4.34), the strain energy density is computed by

$$U = \mathscr{J}_{0}^{\overset{\otimes}{\varepsilon}} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{t}} : \delta \overset{\otimes}{\mathcal{E}} = \mathscr{J}_{0}^{\overset{\otimes}{\varepsilon}} \mathbf{g}(\overset{\otimes}{\mathcal{E}}, \mathbf{P}) : \delta \overset{\otimes}{\mathcal{E}}$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{t}}} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{t}} : \delta \overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{E}} = \int_{0}^{\overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{t}}} \stackrel{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}} : \delta \overset{\otimes}{\mathbf{F}}; \qquad (4.42)$$

and the strain energy is computed by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{U} &= \int_{\mathbb{F}} U dV = \int_{\mathbb{F}} \left(\int_{0}^{\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}} \right) dV = \int_{V} \left(\int_{0}^{\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}} \right) dv \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{F}} \left(\int_{0}^{\widetilde{\mathbf{E}}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{T}} : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{E}} \right) dV = \int_{\mathbb{F}} \left(\int_{0}^{\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{\tau}} : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} \right) dV. \end{aligned}$$
(4.43)

From Eq.(4.38), the complementary energy density is computed by

$$U^{C} = \mathscr{J} \int_{0}^{\overset{\times}{\mathsf{t}}} \overset{\times}{\mathcal{E}} : \delta \overset{\times}{\mathsf{t}} = \int_{0}^{\overset{\times}{\mathsf{T}}} \overset{\times}{\mathsf{E}} : \delta \overset{\times}{\mathsf{T}} = \int_{0}^{\overset{\times}{\mathsf{\tau}}} \overset{\times}{\mathsf{F}} : \delta \overset{\times}{\mathsf{\tau}};$$
(4.44)

and the complementary energy is computed by

4 Constitutive Laws and Damage Theory

$$\mathcal{U}^{c} = \int_{\mathcal{F}} U^{c} dV = \int_{\mathcal{F}} (\mathcal{F} \int_{0}^{\widetilde{\tau}} \overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}} : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}) dV = \int_{\mathcal{F}} (\int_{0}^{\widetilde{\tau}} \overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}} : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}) dv$$
$$= \int_{\mathcal{F}} (\int_{0}^{\widetilde{\tau}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{E}} : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{T}}) dV = \int_{\mathcal{F}} (\int_{0}^{\widetilde{\tau}} \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{F}} : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{\tau}}) dV.$$
(4.45)

4.2. Material damage and effective stress

Consider a deformed body to be a damaged material at time t, and the corresponding stress on the cross section Σ_n for the *undamaged* and *damaged* bodies are shown in Fig.4.2. The undamaged and damage bodies are on the left and right sides, respectively. The effective area for the damaged body is $\Delta \tilde{a}$ to the area of Δa for the undamaged body. The *effective* stress vector and the *effective* couple stress vector on the cross section Σ_n are sketched by $\tilde{t}_{(n)}$ and $\tilde{m}_{(n)}$. From the idea of Kachanov (1958), a damage variable is introduced for development of continuum damage mechanics. The detailed description of continuum damage mechanics can be found in Kachanov (1986) and Krajcinovic and Lemaitre (1987).

Definition 4.2. At point **p** in b for time t in a damaged material, suppose the effective cross section of the damaged material is $\Delta \tilde{a}$ to the cross section Δa of the undamaged material with the external normal direction (**n**). The *damage variable* in the external normal direction (**n**) is defined as

$$D_{(\mathbf{n})}\mathbf{n} \equiv \lim_{\Delta \mathbf{a} \to \mathbf{0}} \frac{\Delta \mathbf{a} - \Delta \tilde{\mathbf{a}}}{|\Delta \mathbf{a}|} = \lim_{\Delta a \to 0} \frac{\Delta a - \Delta \tilde{a}}{\Delta a} \mathbf{n}.$$
 (4.46)

The *effective* stress vector and *effective* couple stress vector on the exterior unit normal direction of the cross section Σ are defined as

$$\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{(\mathbf{n})} \equiv \lim_{\Delta a \to 0} \frac{\Delta \mathbf{t}}{\Delta \tilde{a}} \text{ and } \tilde{\mathbf{m}}_{(\mathbf{n})} \equiv \lim_{\Delta a \to 0} \frac{\Delta \mathbf{m}}{\Delta \tilde{a}}.$$
 (4.47)

For the damage variable, $D_n = 0$ is for the undamaged state; $D_n = 1$ is for a breaking state of the damaged body along a surface with an external normal direction **n**; $0 < D_n < 1$ is for the damaged state. From the previous definition, the *effective* and *conventional* stress vectors and couple stress vectors are

$$\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{(n)} \equiv \frac{1}{1 - D_{(n)}} \mathbf{t}_{(n)} \text{ and } \tilde{\mathbf{m}}_{(n)} \equiv \frac{1}{1 - D_{(n)}} \mathbf{m}_{(n)}.$$
 (4.48)



Fig. 4.2 Stress vectors on a cross section Σ_n of undamaged (left) and damaged (right) materials.

Definition 4.3. The damage of a deformable body to its undamaged state is called *an isotropic damage* if the micro-crack and cavities in all directions of the damaged body are uniformly distributed.

Definition 4.4. The damage of a deformable body to its undamaged state is called *an anisotropic damage* if the micro-cracks and cavities of the damaged body in all directions are non-uniformly distributed.

For the isotropic damaged body, the damage variable is independent of the direction. That is, $D_n = D$ for all directions. The damage characteristics of the material can be described through a damage variable. However, for the anisotropic damaged body, the damage variables are different in the different directions. The *damage variable vector* is introduced by

$$\mathbf{D}_{(\mathbf{n})} = D_{(\mathbf{n})}\mathbf{n}.\tag{4.49}$$

From the effective and conventional stress vector definitions, the *effective and conventional stress tensors* satisfy

$$\tilde{\mathbf{t}} = \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{D}) : \mathbf{t},\tag{4.50}$$

where the fourth-order tensor for the conversion is

$$\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{D}) = M_{ijkl}(\mathbf{D}) \prod_{i} \prod_{j \ k} \prod_{l} = M_{ijkl} ((1 - D_{(n)})^{-1}) \prod_{i \ j \ k} \prod_{l} n.$$
(4.51)

The concept of the damage variable can be extended to strengthened materials. If the damage variable becomes negative (i.e., $D_n < 0$), the effective stress will become small to the undamaged state in the direction of **n**. The damage variable should become the strengthening variable. Without loss of generality, the damage variables can represent both damaged and strengthened states of the deformable

body for $D_n \in (-\infty, 1]$ as a generalized concept. For an anisotropic damaged body, the deformable body can be damaged in some directions and can be strengthened in some other directions. Therefore, the damage variable is a new variable to describe the material properties in the entire deformation rather than the linear relation. Because such a concept is introduced, one can easily describe the material properties from the elastic state to fracture state. To describe the anisotropic damage for materials, the *second-order damage tensor* is defined as

$$\mathbf{D} = D_{ij} \mathbf{n}_{i} \mathbf{n}_{i}. \tag{4.52}$$

4.3. Equivalence principles

As aforementioned in the previous section, the damage variable is used to measure the material characteristics from the elastic state to fracture. To investigate the damaged deformable body, it is assumed that the material properties of the damaged deformable body are in the *undamaged* state, and the *effective* stress will be adopted to measure the change caused by the damage of materials. However, it is assumed that the damaged deformable body is in the conventional stress (or real stress) state, and the material characteristics of the damaged deformable body is determined by the *effective* material properties. Lemaitre and Chaboche (1978) used the strain equivalence to determine an effective stress in the constitutive laws rather than the conventional stress (also see, Chaboche, 1978). The principle of strain equivalence can be stated as follows.

(A) *The principle of strain equivalence* For a damaged body, the effective stress with the conventional material characteristics possesses the same strain as the real stress with the effective material properties, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{E} = \mathscr{F}(\tilde{\mathbf{t}}, E^{-1}, t) = \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{t}, \tilde{E}^{-1}, t).$$
(4.53)

For the uniaxial linear elastic law of a damaged material,

$$\varepsilon^{e} = \frac{\tilde{\sigma}}{E} = \frac{\sigma}{\tilde{E}},\tag{4.54}$$

where $t_{11} = \sigma$ and $t_{ii} = 0$ for i = 2, 3, in addition, $t_{ij} = 0$ for i, j = 1, 2, 3 but $i \neq j$. With Eq.(4.47), the foregoing equation gives

$$\frac{\tilde{\sigma}}{E} = \frac{\sigma}{(1-D)E} = \frac{\sigma}{\tilde{E}}.$$
(4.55)

Therefore,

4.3. Equivalence principles

$$\tilde{E} = (1-D)E \implies D = 1 - \frac{\tilde{E}}{E}.$$
 (4.56)

From the foregoing equation, the damage variable is used to measure the properties of the damaged materials, which is independent of stress and strain. The damage variable can be measured experimentally. This hypothesis works well for isotropic damage materials but yields asymmetric stiffness matrix for anisotropic materials. Gordebois and Sidoroff (1979, 1982) suggested a damage model based on the hypothesis of the total complementary elastic strain energy equivalence.

(B) *The principle of complementary strain energy equivalence* For a damaged deformable body, the total complementary elastic energy of *a damage state* with the conventional stress is equivalent to the total complementary elastic energy of the *conventional* state with the effective stress.

For undamaged, linear elastic materials, the stress tensor is given in Eq.(4.14). For anisotropic damaged, linear elastic materials, the corresponding effective stress tensor is expressed by

$$\stackrel{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}} = \tilde{\mathbf{E}} : \stackrel{\approx}{\tilde{\mathcal{E}}} \quad \text{or} \quad \stackrel{\approx}{\tilde{\mathcal{E}}} = \tilde{\mathbf{E}}^{-1} : \stackrel{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}, \tag{4.57}$$

where $\tilde{\tilde{t}}$ and \tilde{E} are effective stress tensor and effective elasticity tensor, respectively. From Eqs.(4.14) and (4.57), the complementary strain energy hypothesis can be expressed by

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}, \boldsymbol{E}^{-1}, 0).$$
(4.58)

If the volume for the conventional and damage states of damaged materials is invariant, the foregoing equation can be expressed by the density of the complementary energy, i.e.,

$$U^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = U^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}, \boldsymbol{E}^{-1}, 0).$$
(4.59)

For damaged materials with linear elasticity, $U^{C}(\mathbf{t}, \tilde{E}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{t}^{\times} : \tilde{E}^{-1} : \mathbf{t}^{\times}$ is obtained. For undamaged materials, $\mathbf{D} = 0$. For damaged materials with nonlinear elasticity,

$$U^{c}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}, \mathscr{F}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = \mathscr{J} \int_{0}^{\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}} \overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}, \mathscr{F}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}};$$

$$U^{c}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}, \mathscr{F}^{-1}, 0) = \mathscr{J} \int_{0}^{\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}} \overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}, \mathscr{F}^{-1}, 0) : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}.$$
(4.60)

Note that \mathscr{E}^{-1} and \mathscr{E}^{-1} are nonlinear coefficients from which the strain can be expressed by the stress. For linear case, the coefficient tensors \mathscr{E}^{-1} and \mathscr{E}^{-1} become

the tensors \tilde{E}^{-1} and E^{-1} . The corresponding complementary energy is computed by

$$\mathcal{U}^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}, \overset{\approx}{\mathscr{F}^{-1}}, \mathbf{D}) = \int_{\mathscr{F}} U^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}, \overset{\approx}{\mathscr{F}^{-1}}, \mathbf{D}) dV$$
$$= \int_{\mathscr{F}} \left[\mathscr{J} \int_{0}^{\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}} \overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}, \overset{\approx}{\mathscr{F}^{-1}}, \mathbf{D}) : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} \right] dV$$
$$= \int_{\mathscr{F}} \left[\int_{0}^{\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}} \overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}, \overset{\approx}{\mathscr{F}^{-1}}, \mathbf{D}) : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}} \right] dv, \qquad (4.61)$$

$$\mathcal{U}^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}},\mathscr{G}^{-1},0) = \int_{\mathscr{F}} U^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}},\mathscr{G}^{-1},0)dV$$
$$= \int_{\mathscr{F}} [\mathscr{F}(\overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}},\mathscr{G}^{-1},0):\delta\overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}]dV$$
$$= \int_{\mathscr{V}} [\int_{0}^{\widetilde{\mathbf{t}}} \overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathcal{E}}}(\overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}},\mathscr{G}^{-1},0):\delta\overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}]dv.$$
(4.62)

The complementary energy equivalence hypothesis can be illustrated through the density of complementary energy with the volume invariance between the damaged and conventional states, as shown in Fig.4.3. The dashed-line hatched area is the complementary energy density for the effective stress with undamaged materials. The solid-line hatched area is the complementary energy density for the conventional stress with damaged materials. Under the same volume, the integrations of the densities should be same to make such equivalence of the complementary energy for the damage and conventional states.

Similarly, such a complementary strain energy hypothesis can be expressed by the *Cosserat and Kirchhoff stresses*:

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\times}{\boldsymbol{\tau}}, \boldsymbol{\mathscr{F}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\times}{\boldsymbol{\tau}}, \boldsymbol{\mathscr{F}}^{-1}, 0);$$

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\times}{\boldsymbol{T}}, \boldsymbol{\mathscr{F}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\times}{\boldsymbol{T}}, \boldsymbol{\mathscr{F}}^{-1}, 0),$$

(4.63)

and the corresponding complementary energies are

$$\mathcal{U}^{C}(\overset{\times}{\boldsymbol{\tau}}, \overset{\sim}{\mathscr{F}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = \int_{\mathscr{F}} U^{C}(\overset{\times}{\boldsymbol{\tau}}, \overset{\sim}{\mathscr{F}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) dV$$
$$= \int_{\mathscr{F}} (\int_{0}^{\overset{\times}{\boldsymbol{\tau}}} \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}}(\overset{\times}{\boldsymbol{\tau}}, \overset{\sim}{\mathscr{F}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) : \delta \overset{\times}{\boldsymbol{\tau}}) dV,$$
$$\mathcal{U}^{C}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{T}}, \overset{\sim}{\mathscr{F}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = \int_{\mathscr{F}} U^{C}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{T}}, \overset{\sim}{\mathscr{F}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) dV$$
$$= \int_{\mathscr{F}} (\int_{0}^{\overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{T}}} \overset{\leftarrow}{\mathbf{E}}(\overset{\ll}{\mathbf{T}}, \overset{\sim}{\mathscr{F}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) : \delta \overset{\leftarrow}{\mathbf{T}}) dV.$$
(4.64)

and

4.3. Equivalence principles



Fig. 4.3 Complementary energy equivalence at a conventional stress state of $({\bf t}, {\bf D})$ with damaged material and at the effective stress state of $({\bf t}, {\bf 0})$ with undamaged material.

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\times}{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\tau}}},\boldsymbol{\mathscr{G}}^{-1},0) &= \int_{\mathcal{F}} U^{C}(\overset{\times}{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\tau}}},\boldsymbol{\mathscr{G}}^{-1},0) dV \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{F}} (\int_{0}^{\overset{\times}{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\tau}}}} \overset{\times}{\tilde{\boldsymbol{F}}}(\overset{\times}{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\tau}}},\boldsymbol{\mathscr{G}}^{-1},0) : \boldsymbol{\delta}\overset{\times}{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\tau}}}) dV, \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{T}},\boldsymbol{\mathscr{G}}^{-1},0) &= \int_{\mathcal{F}} U^{C}(\overset{\times}{\tilde{\mathbf{T}}},\boldsymbol{\mathscr{G}}^{-1},0) dV \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{F}} (\int_{0}^{\overset{\times}{\tilde{\boldsymbol{T}}}} \overset{\times}{\tilde{\mathbf{E}}}(\overset{\times}{\tilde{\mathbf{T}}},\boldsymbol{\mathscr{G}}^{-1},0) : \boldsymbol{\delta}\overset{\times}{\tilde{\mathbf{T}}}) dV. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.65)$$

Again, if the volume for the conventional and damage states of damaged materials is invariant, the complementary energies can be compared by

$$U^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{\tau}}, \mathscr{F}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = U^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{\tau}}, \mathscr{F}^{-1}, \mathbf{0});$$

$$U^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{T}}, \mathscr{F}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = U^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{T}}, \mathscr{F}^{-1}, \mathbf{0}),$$
(4.66)

where

$$U^{C}(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}},\mathscr{F}^{-1},\mathbf{D}) = \int_{0}^{\overset{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}}} \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}}(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}},\mathscr{F}^{-1},\mathbf{D}) : \delta\overset{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}},$$

$$U^{C}(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}},\mathscr{F}^{-1},0) = \int_{0}^{\overset{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}}} \overset{\times}{\mathbf{F}}(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}},\mathscr{F}^{-1},0) : \delta\overset{\times}{\mathbf{\tau}};$$

$$U^{C}(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{T}},\mathscr{F}^{-1},\mathbf{D}) = \int_{0}^{\overset{\times}{\mathbf{T}}} \overset{\times}{\mathbf{E}}(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{T}},\mathscr{F}^{-1},\mathbf{D}) : \delta\overset{\times}{\mathbf{T}},$$

$$U^{C}(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{T}},\mathscr{F}^{-1},0) = \int_{0}^{\overset{\times}{\mathbf{T}}} \overset{\times}{\mathbf{E}}(\overset{\times}{\mathbf{T}},\mathscr{F}^{-1},0) : \delta\overset{\times}{\mathbf{T}}.$$
(4.67)
$$(4.68)$$

The foregoing hypothesis asserts that the complementary strain energies for the conventional and damage states are equivalent. Herein, such an idea was extended (Luo, 1991), i.e., the complementary strain energy for the conventional stress with $\mathbf{D} + d\mathbf{D}$ is equivalent to the complementary strain energy for the effective stress with \mathbf{D} . The detailed description was given in Luo et al. (1995). Further, the incremental complementary energy hypothesis was proposed.

(C) The principle of incremental complementary strain energy equivalence For a damaged body with $\mathbf{D} + d\mathbf{D}$, the incremental complementary strain energy of a damage state with the instantaneous conventional stress relative to $\mathbf{D} + d\mathbf{D}$ is equivalent to the incremental complementary strain energy of the damage state of \mathbf{D} with the instantaneous effective stress.

The foregoing hypothesis is expressed mathematically by

$$\delta \mathcal{U}^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{E}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}) = \delta \mathcal{U}^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}),$$
(4.69)

where

$$\delta \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}) = \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}+\delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}) - \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}),$$
(4.70)

$$\delta \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}} + \delta\overset{\gg}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) - \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}).$$
(4.71)

If the volume for the conventional and damage states of damaged materials is invariant, the foregoing hypothesis can be expressed by the density of the complementary energy, i.e.,

$$\delta U^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{E}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}) = \delta U^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}),$$
(4.72)

where

$$\delta U^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{F}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}) = U^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}} + \delta \overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{F}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}) - U^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{F}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}),$$
(4.73)

$$\delta U^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = U^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}} + \delta\overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) - U^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \mathscr{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}).$$
(4.74)

The hypothesis of incremental complementary strain energy equivalence can be presented through the incremental density of complementary energy because of the invariance of volumes for conventional and damage states, as sketched in Fig.4.4.

4.3. Equivalence principles



Fig. 4.4 Incremental complementary energy equivalence at a damage state of (t, \mathbf{D}) with incremental stress and damage $(d t, d\mathbf{D})$.

Based on the damage state of **D**, the incremental complementary energy can be computed from the effective stress state $\tilde{\tilde{t}}_{D}$ to $\tilde{\tilde{t}}_{D}+d\tilde{\tilde{t}}_{D}$, which is presented by the dashed-line hatched area $(\delta U^{C}(\tilde{\tilde{t}}_{D}, \mathscr{F}_{D}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}))$. However, based on the damage state of $\mathbf{D} + d\mathbf{D}$, the incremental complementary energy can be computed from the conventional stress state $\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{D}$ to $\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{D}+d\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{D}$, which is presented by the solid-line hatched area $(\delta U^{C}(\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{D+dD}, \mathscr{F}_{D+dD}^{-1}, \mathbf{D} + d\mathbf{D}))$. The incremental complementary energy equivalence requires both of the incremental complementary energy be equal.

From the complementary energy, the constitutive equation for incremental continuous damage is

$$\overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{I}} \frac{\partial [\delta U^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}} \tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D})]}{\partial (\delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}})}.$$
(4.75)

For linear elastic, damaged materials, equation (4.72) gives

$$\delta U^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}, \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}) = \delta U^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D})$$
(4.76)

where

$$\delta U^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}, \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}) = \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}} : \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1} : \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}$$
(4.77)

$$\delta U^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = \delta \overset{\gg}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}} : \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1} : \overset{\gg}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}}.$$
(4.78)

From the incremental density of complementary energy, the hypothesis for the in-

cremental complementary energy is expressed for the linear anisotropic damaged materials via

$$\delta \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}} \, \tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \, \mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}) = \delta \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \, \tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \, \mathbf{D}), \tag{4.79}$$

where

$$\delta \mathcal{U}^{C}(\overset{\gg}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}, \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}) = \int_{\mathscr{F}} \delta U^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}, \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}) dV$$
$$= \int_{\mathscr{F}} (\mathscr{F}\delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}} : \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1} : \overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}) dV$$
$$= \int_{\mathscr{V}} (\delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}} : \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1} : \overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}) dv, \qquad (4.80)$$

$$\delta \mathcal{U}^{C}(\overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = \int_{\mathcal{F}} \delta U^{c}(\overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) dV$$
$$= \int_{\mathcal{F}} (\mathcal{F}\delta \overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}} : \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1} : \overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}}) dV$$
$$= \int_{\mathcal{V}} (\delta \overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}} : \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1} : \overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}}) dv.$$
(4.81)

For an anisotropic damage, the relation between the conventional stress t and effective stress t_{D} is determined by Eq.(4.50). For a small, incremental damage, such a relation holds, i.e.,

$$\overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}} = \mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}) : \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}},$$

$$\delta \overset{\approx}{\tilde{\mathbf{t}}}_{\mathbf{D}} = \mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}) : \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}.$$
(4.82)

Substitution of Eq.(4.82) into Eq.(4.81) yields

$$\delta \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{c}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) = \int_{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{V}}} \delta \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}^{c}(\overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1}, \mathbf{D}) d\boldsymbol{\mathcal{V}}$$

$$= \int_{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{V}}} (\boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}} \delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}} : \mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}) : \tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1} : \mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}) : \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}) d\boldsymbol{\mathcal{V}}$$

$$= \int_{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{V}}} (\delta \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}} : \mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}) : \tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1} : \mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}) : \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}) d\boldsymbol{\mathcal{V}}.$$
(4.83)

With Eqs.(4.80) and (4.83), the incremental complementary energy for linear anisotropic materials gives

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1} = \mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}) : \tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1} : \mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}).$$
(4.84)

Such a relation can be developed in the deformed configuration of \mathfrak{b} under the invariance of volumes for conventional and damage states.

For linear elastic damaged materials, equation (4.75) gives

$$\overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}} = \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}}^{-1} : \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}+d\mathbf{D}} \text{ or } \overset{\approx}{\mathcal{E}}_{\mathbf{D}} = \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1} : \overset{\approx}{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathbf{D}}$$
(4.85)

4.4. An anisotropic damage theory

To demonstrate how to use the equivalence principle of the incremental complementary energy to determine effective stiffness matrix, the notations are

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = (t_{11}, t_{22}, t_{33}, t_{12}, t_{13}, t_{23})^{\mathrm{T}}, \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} = (\boldsymbol{\xi}_{11}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{22}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{33}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{12}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{13}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{23})^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
(4.86)

The corresponding damage effective tensor is

$$\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{D}) = diag(M_{11}, M_{22}, M_{33}, M_{12}, M_{13}, M_{23})_{6\times 6},$$

with $M_{ij}(\mathbf{D}) = (1 - D_i)^{-1/2} (1 - D_j)^{-1/2}$ for $i, j = 1, 2, 3,$ (4.87)

where D_i (*i* = 1, 2, 3) are the damage variables in their principal axes. The incremental damage effective tensor is

$$\mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}) = diag \left(M_{11}, M_{22}, M_{33}, M_{12}, M_{13}, M_{23} \right)_{6\times 6},$$

with $M_{ij} (d\mathbf{D}) = (1 - dD_i)^{-1/2} (1 - dD_j)^{-1/2}$ for $i, j = 1, 2, 3.$ (4.88)

Consider a total damage of **D** to be discretized *n*-piecewise linear damage quantity, as shown in Fig.4.5. Between two piecewise linear damages, the incremental quantity of damage variable in the *i*th-direction is given by $dD_i^{(k)}$ ($k = 1, 2, \dots, n$). Therefore,

$$D_i = \sum_{k=1}^{n} dD_i^{(k)} \text{ for } i = 1, 2, 3$$
(4.89)

From Eq.(4.83),

$$\tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}^{(1)}}^{-1} = \mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}^{(1)}) : E^{-1} : \mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}^{(1)}),$$

$$\tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}^{(k)}}^{-1} = \mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}^{(k)}) : \tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}^{(k-1)}}^{-1} : \mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}^{(k)}) \text{ for } k = 2, ..., n,$$
(4.90)

where $\tilde{E}_{\mathbf{D}^{(k)}}^{-1}$ and \tilde{E}^{-1} are the second order tensor of 6×6 owing to definitions in Eqs.(4.86)–(4.88). With iteration, Equation (4.90) yields

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1} = \underbrace{\mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}^{(n)}):\cdots:\mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}^{(k)}):\cdots:\mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}^{(1)}):}_{n}:\boldsymbol{E}^{-1}$$
$$:\underbrace{\mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}^{(1)}):\cdots:\mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}^{(k)}):\cdots:\mathbf{M}(d\mathbf{D}^{(n)})}_{n}, \qquad (4.91)$$



Fig. 4.5 Piecewise linear damage of materials: (a) piecewise damage and (b) stress and strain relation for each incremental damage.

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1} = diag \left(\prod_{k=1}^{n} M_{ij} (d\mathbf{D}^{(k)}) \right)_{6\times 6} : \boldsymbol{E}^{-1} : diag \left(\prod_{k=1}^{n} M_{ij} (d\mathbf{D}^{(k)}) \right)_{6\times 6}$$
$$= diag \left(\prod_{k=1}^{n} (1 - dD_{i}^{(k)})^{-1/2} (1 - dD_{j}^{(k)})^{-1/2} \right)_{6\times 6} : \boldsymbol{E}^{-1}$$
$$: diag \left(\prod_{k=1}^{n} (1 - dD_{i}^{(k)})^{-1/2} (1 - dD_{j}^{(k)})^{-1/2} \right)_{6\times 6}.$$
(4.92)

Suppose that the incremental damage variable is equal (i.e., $dD_i^{(k)} = dD_i = D_i / n$). Equation (4.92) becomes, for i, j = 1, 2, 3,

$$\tilde{E}_{\mathbf{p}}^{-1} = diag \left((1 - dD_i)^{-n/2} (1 - dD_j)^{-n/2} \right)_{6 \times 6} : \mathbf{E}^{-1}$$

$$: diag \left((1 - dD_i)^{-n/2} (1 - dD_j)^{-n/2} \right)_{6 \times 6}$$

$$= diag \left((1 - \frac{D_i}{n})^{-n/2} (1 - \frac{D_j}{n})^{-n/2} \right)_{6 \times 6} : \mathbf{E}^{-1}$$

$$: diag \left((1 - \frac{D_i}{n})^{-n/2} (1 - \frac{D_j}{n})^{-n/2} \right)_{6 \times 6}.$$
(4.93)

For $n \to \infty$, the foregoing equation gives

4.4. An anisotropic damage theory

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1} = diag \left(e^{(D_i + D_j)/2} \right)_{6 \times 6} : \boldsymbol{E}^{-1} : diag \left(e^{(D_i + D_j)/2} \right)_{6 \times 6}.$$
(4.94)

In addition, a new damage effect tensor is obtained, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{D}) = diag(M_{11}, M_{22}, M_{33}, M_{12}, M_{13}, M_{23})_{6\times 6},$$

$$M_{ij}(\mathbf{D}) = e^{(D_i + D_j)/2} \text{ for } i, j = 1, 2, 3;$$

(4.95)

Finally,

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{E}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{-1} = \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{D}) : \boldsymbol{E}^{-1} : \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{D}) .$$
(4.96)

Consider an isotropic material with the elastic tensor as

$$\mathbf{E}^{-1} = \frac{1}{E} (a_{ij})_{6\times 6}, \tag{4.97}$$

where

$$a_{ii} = 1, \ a_{ij} = -\nu \text{ for } i, \ j = 1, 2, 3;$$

$$a_{ii} = 2(1+\nu) \text{ for } i = 4, 5, 6;$$

$$a_{ij} = 0; \text{ for } i = 1, 2, \dots, 6 \text{ and } j = 4, 5, 6;$$

$$a_{ij} = 0; \text{ for } i = 4, 5, 6 \text{ and } j = 1, 2, \dots, 6;$$

$$(i \neq j).$$

(4.98)

The damage elastic tensor is given by

$$\tilde{\mathbf{E}}_{D}^{-1} = \frac{1}{E} (a_{ij}^{D})_{6\times 6}, \qquad (4.99)$$

where

$$a_{ii}^{D} = e^{2D_{i}}, a_{ij}^{D} = -ve^{(D_{i}+D_{j})} \text{ for } i, j = 1, 2, 3;$$

$$a_{44}^{D} = 2(1+v)e^{(D_{1}+D_{2})}, a_{55}^{D} = 2(1+v)e^{(D_{1}+D_{3})},$$

$$a_{66}^{D} = 2(1+v)e^{(D_{2}+D_{3})};$$

$$a_{ij}^{D} = 0; \text{ for } i = 1, 2, ..., 6 \text{ and } j = 4, 5, 6;$$

$$a_{ij}^{D} = 0; \text{ for } i = 4, 5, 6 \text{ and } j = 1, 2, ..., 6;$$

$$(i \neq j).$$

$$(4.100)$$

If the damage variable is very small (i.e., $D_i \ll 1$), each component in $\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{D})$ can be expanded by the Taylor series. Keeping the first order and neglecting the higher order terms of such Taylor series yields $e^{-D_i} \approx 1 - D_i$. The components in Eq.(4.99) becomes 4.5. Applications

$$a_{ii}^{D} = \frac{1}{(1-D_{i})^{2}}, a_{ij}^{D} = \frac{-\nu}{(1-D_{i})(1-D_{j})} \text{ for } i, j = 1, 2, 3$$

$$a_{44}^{D} = \frac{2(1+\nu)}{(1-D_{1})(1-D_{2})}, a_{55}^{D} = \frac{2(1+\nu)}{(1-D_{1})(1-D_{3})},$$

$$a_{66}^{D} = \frac{2(1+\nu)}{(1-D_{2})(1-D_{3})};$$

$$a_{ij}^{D} = 0; \text{ for } i = 1, 2, ..., 6 \text{ and } j = 4, 5, 6$$

$$a_{ij}^{D} = 0; \text{ for } i = 4, 5, 6 \text{ and } j = 1, 2, ..., 6$$
(4.101)

With Eq.(4.101), equation (4.99) gives the effective elastic tensor, identical to that in Chow and Wang (1987).

4.5. Applications

This section will demonstrate applications of the large damage theory and the uniaxial tension, pure torsion and perfect-plastic materials will be presented.

4.5.1. Uniaxial tensional models

From the large damage theory with anisotropic damage, the strains under a tension stress are

where the effective Young's modulus and Poisson's ratios are

$$\tilde{E} = e^{-2D_1}E, \ \tilde{v}_{12} = e^{D_2 - D_1}v_{12} \text{ and } \tilde{v}_{13} = e^{D_3 - D_1}v_{13}.$$
 (4.103)

From the foregoing equation, the damage variables are

$$D_1 = -\frac{1}{2}\ln\frac{\tilde{E}}{E},$$

4.5. Applications

$$D_{2} = D_{1} - \ln \frac{V_{12}}{\tilde{v}_{12}} = -\ln(\frac{V_{12}}{\tilde{v}_{12}}\sqrt{\frac{\tilde{E}}{E}}),$$

$$D_{3} = D_{1} - \ln \frac{V_{13}}{\tilde{v}_{13}} = -\ln(\frac{V_{13}}{\tilde{v}_{13}}\sqrt{\frac{\tilde{E}}{E}}).$$
(4.104)

From the small damage theory with anisotropic damage, the strains under a tension stress are given by

$$\varepsilon_{1} = \frac{1}{E(1-D_{1})^{2}} \sigma_{1} = \frac{1}{\tilde{E}} \sigma_{1},$$

$$\varepsilon_{2} = -\frac{V_{12}}{E(1-D_{1})(1-D_{2})} \sigma_{1} = -\frac{\tilde{V}_{12}}{\tilde{E}} \sigma_{1},$$

$$\varepsilon_{3} = -\frac{V_{13}}{E(1-D_{1})(1-D_{3})} \sigma_{1} = -\frac{\tilde{V}_{13}}{\tilde{E}} \sigma_{1}.$$
(4.105)

where the effective Young's modulus and Poisson's ratios are

$$\tilde{E} = (1 - D_1)^2 E, \ \tilde{\nu}_{12} = \frac{1 - D_1}{1 - D_2} \nu_{12} \text{ and } \tilde{\nu}_{13} = \frac{1 - D_1}{1 - D_3} \nu_{13}.$$
 (4.106)

From the foregoing equation, the damage variables are computed by

$$D_{1} = 1 - \sqrt{\frac{\tilde{E}}{E}},$$

$$D_{2} = 1 - \frac{V_{12}}{\tilde{V}_{12}}(1 - D_{1}) = 1 - \frac{V_{12}}{\tilde{V}_{12}}\sqrt{\frac{\tilde{E}}{E}},$$

$$D_{3} = 1 - \frac{V_{13}}{\tilde{V}_{13}}(1 - D_{1}) = 1 - \frac{V_{13}}{\tilde{V}_{13}}\sqrt{\frac{\tilde{E}}{E}}.$$
(4.107)

It is observed that Eq.(4.107) can be recovered from Eq.(4.104) through the Taylor series expansion and neglecting the higher order terms when the damage is very small.

4.5.2. Pure torsion

Consider an anisotropic damage of a shaft under a pure torsion. Suppose that the maximum shear stress is τ , the corresponding principal stresses are $\sigma_1 = \tau$, $\sigma_1 = -\tau$ and $\sigma_3 = 0$. From the large damage theory,

4 Constitutive Laws and Damage Theory

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon_{1} \\ \varepsilon_{2} \\ \varepsilon_{3} \end{cases} = \frac{1}{E} \begin{bmatrix} e^{2D_{1}} & -\nu e^{(D_{1}+D_{2})} & 0 \\ -\nu e^{-(D_{1}+D_{2})} & e^{2D_{2}} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2(1+\nu)e^{(D_{1}+D_{2})} \end{bmatrix} \begin{cases} \tau \\ -\tau \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.108)

Solving the foregoing equation gives

$$D_1 = \frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{Y^2 X}{Y^2 - 1}$$
 and $D_2 = \frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{X}{Y^2 - 1}$, (4.109)

where

$$X = \frac{\tau}{E} (\varepsilon_1 + \varepsilon_2),$$

$$Y = \frac{1}{2} \left[-\nu (1 + \frac{\varepsilon_1}{\varepsilon_2}) + \sqrt{\nu^2 (1 + \frac{\varepsilon_1}{\varepsilon_2})^2 - 4\frac{\varepsilon_1}{\varepsilon_2}} \right].$$
(4.110)

The effective Young's moduli and Poison's ratios are

$$\tilde{E}_1 = Ee^{-2D_1} = E\frac{Y^2X}{Y^2 - 1}$$
 and $\tilde{E}_2 = Ee^{-2D_2} = E\frac{Y^2 - 1}{X}$, (4.111)

$$\tilde{v}_{12} = v e^{D_2 - D_1} = \frac{v}{Y} \text{ and } \tilde{v}_{21} = v e^{D_1 - D_2} = v Y.$$
 (4.112)

The effective shear modulus \tilde{G} can be evaluated by the transformation of the damage tensor **D** and damage effective tensor **M**(**D**) from the principal stress axes to the maximum shear stress axes. For this case, the maximum shear stress state is a pure shear state given by the pure torsion. The direction cosines between the two coordinate systems are

$$\begin{bmatrix} l_1 & m_1 & n_1 \\ l_2 & m_2 & n_2 \\ l_3 & m_3 & n_3 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} & -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} & 0 \\ -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} & \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (4.113)

Thus, the effective shear modulus \tilde{G} for the anisotropic damage is

$$\tilde{G} = \frac{2(1+\nu)G}{e^{2D_1} + e^{2D_2} + 2\nu e^{D_1 + D_2}}.$$
(4.114)

With Taylor series expansion, the foregoing equation gives an expression for small damage as in Chow and Wang (1987). That is,

$$\tilde{G} = \frac{2(1+\nu)G}{(1-D_1)^{-2} + (1-D_2)^{-2} + 2\nu(1-D_1)^{-1}(1-D_2)^{-1}}.$$
(4.115)

References



Fig. 4.6 An elastic perfectly-plastic material.

4.5.3. Elastic perfectly-plastic materials

In this section, the large damage theory will be applied to a large damage model of a material with an elastic perfectly-plastic behavior, as shown in Fig.4.6. The undamage constitutive equation for uniaxial tension is

$$\sigma = \begin{cases} E\varepsilon & \text{if } \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_0, \\ E\varepsilon_0 & \text{if } \varepsilon \ge \varepsilon_0, \end{cases}$$
(4.116)

where ε_0 is the strain at yield. For isotropic materials with anisotropic damage, the effective elastic modulus is computed from Eq.(4.99), i.e.,

$$\tilde{E} = e^{-2D}E$$
 or $D = -\frac{1}{2}\ln\frac{\tilde{E}}{E}$. (4.117)

In terms of strains, the damage variable is evaluated by

$$D = \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{\varepsilon_0}{\varepsilon} & \text{for } \varepsilon \ge \varepsilon_0, \\ 0 & \text{for } \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_0. \end{cases}$$
(4.118)

If the damage is very small, equation (4.118) becomes

$$D = \begin{cases} 1 - \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_0}{\varepsilon}} & \text{for } \varepsilon \ge \varepsilon_0, \\ 0 & \text{for } \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_0. \end{cases}$$
(4.119)

References

- Chaboche, J.L., 1978, Description thermodynamique et phenomenologique de la viscoplasticite, cyclique avec endommagement, Thesed'Etat, Universite P. et M. Curie (Paris VI).
- Chow, C.L. and Wang, J., 1987, An anisotropic theory of elasticity for continuum damage mechanics, *International Journal of Fracture*, **33**, 239-294.
- Cordebois, J.P. and Sidoroff, F., 1979, Damage induced elastic anisotropy, In Proceedings of the 115th European Mechanics Colloquium on Mechanical Behavior of Anisotropic Behavior, J.P. Boethler (Ed.), Villard-de-Lans, June 19-22, Martinus, Nijhoff, Dordrecht, 761-774.
- Cordebois, J.P. and Sidoroff, F., 1982, Anisotropic damage in elasticity and plasticity, *Journal de Mecanique Theorique et Appliquee*, Numero Special, 45-60.
- Eringen, A.C., 1962, Nonlinear Theory of Continuous Media, McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Guo, Z.H., 1980, Nonlinear Elasticity, China Science Press, Beijing.
- Kachanov, L.M., 1958, On the creep fracture time, *Izv. Acad. Nauk.U.S.S. R. Otd. Tekhn*, 8, 26-31.
- Kachanov, L.M., 1986, Introduction to Continuum Damage Mechanics, Martinus Nijhoff, Dordrecht.
- Krajcinovic, D. and Lemaitre, J., 1987, Continuum Damage Mechanics-Theory and Applications, Springer, Berlin.
- Lemaitre, J. and Chaboche, J.L., 1978, Aspects phenomenologiques de la rupture par endommagement, *Journal de Mecanique Appliquee*, 2, 317-365.
- Luo, (Albert) C.J., 1991, Hypothesis of every-point elastic energy equivalence on continuum damage mechanics, *Proceedings on International Conference on Material and Strength '91*, Beijing, P. R. China, August, 1991.
- Luo, A.C.J., Mou, Y.H. and Han, R.P.S., 1995, A large anisotropic damage theory based on an incremental complementary energy equivalence model, *International Journal of Fracture*, 70, 19-34.
- Marsden, J.E. and Hughes, T.J.R., 1983, *Mathematical Foundations*, Dover Publications, Inc., New York.

Chapter 5 Nonlinear Cables

This chapter will discuss nonlinear cables as the simplest soft deformable element. A general nonlinear theory of cables will be presented. Equations of motion for traveling and rotating cables will be discussed. The closed-formed solution for equilibrium of elastic cables will be developed. To investigate the cable dynamics, the rigid body dynamics of cables will be discussed. Further, the elastic cable dynamics can be investigated.

5.1. A nonlinear theory of cables

In this section, the theory for nonlinear cables will be discussed. Before the nonlinear cable theory is discussed, the following concepts of deformable and inextensible cables are introduced first.

Definition 5.1. If a 1-dimensional deformable body only resists the tensile forces, the deformable body is called a *deformable cable*.

Definition 5.2. If a 1-dimensional, non-deformable body only resists the tensile forces, the 1-dimensional, non-deformable body is called an *inextensible cable*.

From the two definitions, if the internal tensile force of a cable becomes compressive, the current configurations of the deformable and inextensible cables cannot exist. In other words, the compressive forces cannot exist in the entire deformable and inextensible cables. If all the internal tensile forces on the cable become zero, the cable configuration will keep the configuration of the inextensible cable. If the internal tensile force on the cable becomes zero in a local segment, the local configuration of the local segment of the cable will keep the inextensible cable configuration. On such a local segment, the corresponding inextensible configuration may be changed with any small perturbation force to form a new configuration with tensile forces or to be in any knotted state without any configuration. Such a local new configuration is discontinuous to the non-knotted, global configuration. Such a phenomenon of the cable is called *the local knotting of cable*. After the cable is locally knotted, the knotted segment cannot form any configuration. In other words, only if the tensile force on the cable exists, the cable configuration can be formed.

Consider a nonlinear cable with an initial configuration in coordinates $(X^{I}, I = 1, 2, 3)$ with unit vectors $(\mathbf{I}_{I}, I = 1, 2, 3)$, as shown in Fig.5.1. A point *P* on the initial configuration is given by $(X^{I}, I = 1, 2, 3)$ which is the function of a curvilinear coordinate $(S^{I} \equiv S)$ with the base vector (\mathbf{G}_{1}) . On the cable cross section with the normal direction collinear to \mathbf{G}_{1} , two coordinates $(S^{\Lambda}, \Lambda = 2, 3)$ with the corresponding directional vectors $(\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}, \Lambda = 2, 3)$ can be selected arbitrarily. Therefore, one assumes that $X^{I} = X^{I}(S)$ and the point *P* on the initial configuration is

$$\mathbf{R} = X^{I}(S)\mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(5.1)

Under external forces, the nonlinear cable will form a new configuration in a coordinate (x^{I} , I = 1, 2, 3) with unit vectors (\mathbf{I}_{I} , I = 1, 2, 3), as shown in Fig.5.2. A point p on the new configuration is given by (x^{I} , I = 1, 2, 3). For the new configuration, the corresponding curvilinear coordinate ($s^{1} \equiv s$) with the base vector (\mathbf{g}_{1}) exists. Such a configuration is also called a final configuration under such external forces. Thus, a point $p(x^{I}, I = 1, 2, 3)$ can also be described through a curvilinear coordinate (S) with the base vector (\mathbf{G}_{1}). With $x^{I} = x^{I}(S)$, the vector \mathbf{r} is

$$\mathbf{r} = x^{T}(S)\mathbf{I}_{T},\tag{5.2}$$

and the displacement between point P and point p is

$$\mathbf{u} = u^T(S)\mathbf{I}_T. \tag{5.3}$$

- - -

Thus,

$$\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{R} + \mathbf{u}, \ x^{I}(S) = X^{I}(S) + u^{I}(S).$$
(5.4)

The base vectors and the corresponding unit vectors are

$$\mathbf{G}_{1} \equiv \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{dS} = X_{,1}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ and } \mathbf{g}_{1} \equiv \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{dS} = (X_{,1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I}) \mathbf{I}_{I};$$
(5.5)

$$\mathbf{N}_{1} \equiv \frac{\mathbf{G}_{1}}{|\mathbf{G}_{1}|} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}} X_{,1}^{T} \mathbf{I}_{T} \text{ and } \mathbf{n}_{1} \equiv \frac{\mathbf{g}_{1}}{|\mathbf{g}_{1}|} = \frac{X_{,1}^{T} + u_{,1}^{T}}{\sqrt{G_{11} + 2E_{11}}} \mathbf{I}_{T}$$
(5.6)



Fig. 5.1 A nonlinear cable with an initial configuration.





where $(\cdot)_{,1} = d(\cdot) / dS$ and summation on *I* should be completed, and

$$G_{11} = X_{,1}^{T} X_{,1}^{T} \text{ and } E_{11} = X_{,1}^{T} u_{,1}^{T} + X_{,1}^{T} u_{,1}^{T} + u_{,1}^{T} u_{,1}^{T}.$$
(5.7)

The strain on the direction of \mathbf{G}_1 is

$$\mathscr{E}(S) = \frac{|d\mathbf{r}| - |d\mathbf{R}|}{|d\mathbf{R}|} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}} \sqrt{(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I})(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I})} - 1.$$
(5.8)

5 Nonlinear Cables

From the material law, the tension is expressed by

$$T = \int_{A} f(\mathscr{E}) dA, \tag{5.9}$$

where $f(\mathscr{E}) = 0$ for $\mathscr{E} = 0$. With $E = \partial f / \partial \mathscr{E}|_{\mathscr{E}=0}$, the tension for a linear elastic material is

$$T = \int_{A} E \mathscr{C} dA = \int_{A} E \left[\frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}} \sqrt{(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I})(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I})} - 1 \right] dA,$$
(5.10)

where Young's modulus and cross-section area in the N_1 -direction are *E* and *A*, respectively. If the initial configuration is in the deformed state with initial tension T^0 in the S^1 -direction, the corresponding strain is

$$\varepsilon = \mathscr{C}^{0}(S) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}} \sqrt{(X_{,1}^{l} + u_{,1}^{l})(X_{,1}^{l} + u_{,1}^{l})} - 1,$$
(5.11)

where the initial tension $T^0(S) = \int_A f(\mathscr{C}^0) dA$, and the tension on the deformed configuration of the cable is determined by

$$T = \int_{A} f(\mathcal{E}) dA = \int_{A} f(\mathcal{E}^{0} + \mathcal{E}) dA.$$
(5.12)

For the linear elasticity (E = const),

$$T = T^{0}(S) + EA[\frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}}\sqrt{(X_{,1}^{T} + u_{,1}^{T})(X_{,1}^{T} + u_{,1}^{T})} - 1].$$
 (5.13)

If the displacement $u^{I} = 0$ (I = 1, 2, 3), then, equation (5.11) becomes

$$\varepsilon = \mathscr{C}^{0}(S) + (\frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}}\sqrt{X_{,1}^{I}X_{,1}^{I}} - 1).$$
(5.14)

The geometric relation gives

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}}\sqrt{X_{,1}^{I}X_{,1}^{I}} = 1.$$
(5.15)

The initial strain and tension can be recovered (i.e., $\varepsilon = \mathscr{C}^0(S)$). However, the initial tension is very difficult to obtain. On the other hand, the inextensible cable possesses the fact of $EA \to \infty$. Equation (5.9) gives

$$\frac{T}{EA} = \frac{1}{EA} \int_{A} f(\mathscr{C}) dA = \frac{1}{EA} \int_{A} \left[E\mathscr{C} + o(E\mathscr{C}) \right] dA.$$
(5.16)

As $EA \rightarrow \infty$, the foregoing equation leads to $\mathscr{E}=0$, i.e.,

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}}\sqrt{(X_{,1}^{I}+u_{,1}^{I})(X_{,1}^{I}+u_{,1}^{I})} = 1 \text{ (summation on I)}.$$
(5.17)

However, with Eq.(5.15), equation (5.17) yields

$$u^{I} = 0 \ (I = 1, 2, 3).$$
 (5.18)

It means that the inextensible cable can support any tension without stretch. Therefore, the inextensible cable configuration should be considered as an initial configuration. To apply the external forces on the cable and to investigate the corresponding nonlinear dynamics, the point and segment sets on the initial configuration of the deformable cable are defined by

$$\mathscr{P} = \bigcup_{k=0}^{m} \mathscr{P}_{k} \text{ and } \mathscr{P}_{k} \equiv \left\{ S \middle| S = A_{k} \right\}, \tag{5.19}$$

$$\mathcal{S} = \bigcup_{k=1}^{m} \mathcal{S}_{k}, \text{ and } \mathcal{S}_{k} \equiv \left\{ S \left| S \in [A_{k-1}, A_{k}] \right\}.$$
(5.20)

The point and segment sets on the deformed configuration are defined as

$$\boldsymbol{\rho} \equiv \bigcup_{k=0}^{m} \boldsymbol{\rho}_{k} \quad \text{and} \quad \boldsymbol{\rho}_{k} \equiv \left\{ s \left| s = a_{k} \right\} \right\}, \tag{5.21}$$

$$\boldsymbol{s} = \bigcup_{k=1}^{m} \boldsymbol{s}_{k}, \text{ and } \boldsymbol{s}_{k} \equiv \left\{ s \left| s \in [a_{k-1}, a_{k}] \right\} \right\}.$$
(5.22)

Consider the force distributed force on the segment S_k and the concentrated force on a point \mathscr{P}_k for (k = 1, 2, ..., m), i.e.,

$$\mathbf{q}_{k} \equiv q_{k}^{T}(S)\mathbf{I}_{T} \quad \text{on } \mathcal{S}_{k},$$

$$\mathbf{F}_{k} \equiv F_{k}^{T}(S)\mathbf{I}_{T} \quad \text{at } \mathcal{P}_{k}.$$
(5.23)

The corresponding forces on the segment s_k and concentrated forces on point p_k are

$$\mathbf{p}_{k} \equiv p_{k}^{I}(s)\mathbf{I}_{I} \quad \text{on } \boldsymbol{s}_{k},$$

$$\mathbf{f}_{k} \equiv f_{k}^{I}(s)\mathbf{I}_{I} \quad \text{at } \boldsymbol{\rho}_{k}.$$
 (5.24)

From Eqs.(5.23) and (5.24),

$$\mathbf{F}_{k} = \mathbf{f}_{k}, \text{ or } F_{k}^{I}(S_{k}) = f_{k}^{I}(s_{k});$$

$$\mathbf{p}_{k} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}(1+\mathscr{C})}} \mathbf{q}_{k}, \text{ or } p_{k}^{I}(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}(1+\mathscr{C})}} q_{k}^{I}(S),$$

(5.25)

where

$$\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\mathscr{C}) \equiv \sqrt{(X_{,1}^{I}+u_{,1}^{I})(X_{,1}^{I}+u_{,1}^{I})}.$$
(5.26)

Therefore, equation of motion for segments $S \in \mathcal{S}_k$ is

$$\rho_0 A(\mathbf{X}_{,u} + \mathbf{u}_{,u}) = \mathbf{q} + \mathbf{T}_{,1}, \text{ or}$$

$$\rho_0 A(X_{,u}^I + u_{,u}^I) = q^I + \left[\frac{T(X_{,1}^I + u_{,1}^I)}{\sqrt{G_{11}(1 + \mathscr{C})}}\right]_{,1}, \qquad (5.27)$$

where $\rho_0 A$ is based on the initial configuration. In Eq. (5.27), the *tension of cable* is computed by

$$T = \begin{cases} \int_{A} f(\varepsilon) \, dA & \text{for any materials,} \\ T^{0}(S) + \int_{A} E \mathscr{C} \, dA & \text{for linear elasticity,} \end{cases}$$
(5.28)

where $T^0(S) = \int_A E \mathscr{E}^0 dA$ and $\mathscr{E} = \mathscr{E}^0 + \mathscr{E}$.

The tension vector is defined as

$$\mathbf{T}(S) = T(S) \,\mathbf{n}_1 = T^T(S) \mathbf{I}_T,\tag{5.29}$$

where \mathbf{n}_1 is the unit normal direction of the cable.

$$T^{T}(S) = T(S) \mathbf{n}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{T} = T(S) \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{I}_{T})}$$
(5.30)

and

$$\mathbf{n}_{1} = \frac{(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{11} + 2E_{11}}} \mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ and } \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{I}_{I})} = \frac{X_{,1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{11}(1 + \mathscr{C})}}.$$
(5.31)

Consider the sign convention of internal forces. On the positive (or negative) cross section, the internal forces in the positive (or negative) direction are positive, otherwise negative. The force condition at the node \mathscr{P}_k with $S = A_k$ is

$$\left. \left. \mathbf{T}_{k}(S) \right|_{S=A_{k}} + \left. \mathbf{T}_{k}(S) \right|_{S=A_{k}} + \mathbf{F}_{k} = 0, \text{ or} \right.$$

$$\left. \left. \left. \mathbf{T}_{k}(S) \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{I}_{I})} \right|_{S=A_{k}} \right|_{S=A_{k}} + \left. \mathbf{F}_{k}^{I}(S) \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{I}_{I})} \right|_{S=A_{k}} + \left. \mathbf{F}_{k}^{I}, \right.$$

$$\left. \left. \left. \left. \left. \mathbf{T}_{k}(S) \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{I}_{I})} \right|_{S=A_{k}} \right|_{S=A_{k}} \right|_{S=A_{k}} \right|_{S=A_{k}} + \left. \mathbf{T}_{k}^{I}, \right.$$

$$\left. \left. \left. \left. \left. \left. \mathbf{T}_{k}(S) \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{I}_{I})} \right|_{S=A_{k}} \right|_{S=A_{k}} \right|_{S=A_{k}} \right|_{S=A_{k}} \right. \right.$$

where the tension vector on such a normal direction of \mathbf{n}_1 is

$${}^{\pm}\mathbf{T}_{k}(S) = {}^{\pm}T_{k}(S)\mathbf{n}_{1}$$
(5.33)

and

$${}^{\pm}T^{I}(S)\Big|_{S=A_{k}} = {}^{\pm}T_{k}(S) \mathbf{n}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I}\Big|_{S=A_{k}} = {}^{\pm}T_{k}(S) \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{I}_{I})}\Big|_{S=A_{k}}.$$
(5.34)

The displacement boundary condition at a node point \mathscr{P}_r is

5.1. A nonlinear theory of cables

$$u_r^I = b_r^I \text{ and } X_r^I = B_r^I \text{ for } r = 0, m.$$
 (5.35)

For the force boundary, the corresponding conditions are given as in Eq.(5.31), i.e.,

$$\left. \begin{aligned} \mathbf{T}_{r}(S) \Big|_{S=A_{r}} + \mathbf{F}_{r}^{I} &= 0, \\ T_{r}(S) \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{I}_{r})} \Big|_{S=A_{r}} + F_{r}^{I} &= 0 \end{aligned} \right\} \text{ for } r = 0, m.$$
(5.36)

Definition 5.3. A deformable cable is called a locally knotted cable if

$$T_k(S) < 0 \text{ for } S \in [A_{k-1}, A_k].$$
 (5.37)

A deformable cable is called a *globally knotted cable* if all segments $S_k \subset S$ (k = 1, 2, ..., m) in such a cable satisfy Eq.(5.37). The two knotted boundaries on the segment S_k are determined by

$$T_k(S) = 0 \text{ for } S \in [A_{k-1}, A_k].$$
 (5.38)

Definition 5.4. If a 1-dimensional straight deformable body only resists the tensile forces, the deformable body is called a *deformable* string.

For the deformable string, there is an initial configuration. To investigate the dynamics of the string, it is not necessary to determine the initial configuration because the inextensible state is the same as the initial straight state of the string. However, for the deformable cable, the initial configuration is very difficult to be determined, which should be from the inextensible cable. For the deformable string, one can simply use $X^1(S) = S$ and $X^I(S) = 0$ (I = 2, 3). The afore-developed theory can be directly applied to the string. From the definition of cables, the cable cannot support any compressive forces. In addition, one is interested in the 1-dimensional deformable body that supports the tensile and compressive forces. Thus, the corresponding definitions are given as follows.

Definition 5.5. If a 1-dimensional deformable body only resists the tensile and compressive forces, the deformable body is called a *deformable* arch.

Definition 5.6. If a 1-dimensional straight deformable body only resists the tensile and compressive forces, the deformable body is called a *deformable* truss.

Compared to the deformed cable, the deformable arch must possess a specific, initial configuration to support such compressive internal forces. The deformed arch can be described as a deformed cable. Herein, such a description will not be repeated. The normal force on the arch is determined by letting $N \equiv T$ for all equations presented in this section. In addition, $\ddot{X}^{I} = \dot{X}^{I} = 0$ is admitted because the

initial configuration is fixed. However, the continuum cable possesses a dynamical initial configuration. In other words, the non-deformable configuration of an arch is invariant with time, but the non-deformable configuration of a cable will be changed with time. The truss is a straight arch. The initial configuration is a straight line. Thus, one can use $X^1(S) = S$ and $X^I(S) = 0$ (I = 2, 3) to describe like a string. In addition, the theory for the 1-dimensional deformable beams and rods will be discussed in Chapter 8.

5.2. Traveling and rotating cables

Consider a traveling and rotating, sagged, elastic cable passing through two eyelets, as sketched in Fig.5.3. The horizontal and vertical separations of the eyelets are *L* and *H*, respectively, and the length of cable is \mathscr{D} . This cable travels at a translation speed \overline{c} along the longitudinal direction and rotates with a rotation speed Ω at origin *o*. $\overline{x}, \overline{y}$ and \overline{z} are Cartesian coordinates rotating with cable together; \overline{y} is co-linear with the gravitational acceleration. The fixed end points B_1 and B_2 are positioned arbitrarily. The initial and final configurations with displacement are

$$\overline{\mathbf{R}} = \overline{X}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I}, \ \overline{\mathbf{r}} = \overline{x}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ and } \overline{\mathbf{u}} = \overline{\mathbf{r}} - \overline{\mathbf{R}} = \overline{u}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I}, \tag{5.39}$$

where $\sqrt{\overline{X}_{,\overline{S}}^{\,\prime}\overline{X}_{,\overline{S}}^{\,\prime}} = 1$ ($\mathbf{I}_1 = \mathbf{i}, \mathbf{I}_2 = \mathbf{j}, \mathbf{I}_3 = \mathbf{k}$) and \overline{S} is the arc length of the cable. For a straight cable, $\overline{S} = \overline{X}^1(\overline{S})$ and $\overline{X}^2 = \overline{X}^3 = 0$. The initial configuration $\overline{\mathbf{R}}$ can be or cannot be independent of time. The cable is subject to the distributed forces as $\overline{\mathbf{q}} = \overline{q}^{\,\prime} \mathbf{I}_{,}$. The rotation speed to the origin *o* is

$$\bar{\mathbf{\Omega}} = \bar{\mathbf{\Omega}}^{T} \mathbf{I}_{T}.$$
(5.40)

For the constant rotation speed, the velocity and acceleration are

$$\frac{D\overline{\mathbf{r}}}{Dt} = \frac{\partial\overline{\mathbf{r}}}{\partial t} + (\overline{\mathbf{\Omega}} \times \overline{\mathbf{r}}) = (\overline{x}_{,t}^{I} + \overline{\mathbf{\Omega}}^{J} \overline{x}^{K} e_{IJK}) \mathbf{I}_{I},$$

$$\frac{D^{2}\overline{\mathbf{r}}}{Dt^{2}} = \frac{\partial^{2}\overline{\mathbf{r}}}{\partial t^{2}} + 2\overline{\mathbf{\Omega}} \times \frac{\partial\overline{\mathbf{r}}}{\partial t} + \overline{\mathbf{\Omega}} \times (\overline{\mathbf{\Omega}} \times \overline{\mathbf{r}})$$

$$= (\overline{x}_{,t}^{I} + 2\overline{\mathbf{\Omega}}^{J} \overline{x}_{,t}^{K} e_{IJK} + \overline{\mathbf{\Omega}}^{J} \overline{\mathbf{\Omega}}^{K} \overline{x}^{L} e_{IJM} e_{MKL}) \mathbf{I}_{I},$$
(5.41)

where e_{LJK} is the Ricci function, and $(\cdot)_{,t} = \partial(\cdot)/\partial t$ and $(\cdot)_{,t} = \partial^2(\cdot)/\partial t^2$. If the rotation speed changes with time, the velocity and acceleration are expressed by

$$\frac{D\overline{\mathbf{r}}}{Dt} = \frac{\partial\overline{\mathbf{r}}}{\partial t} + (\overline{\mathbf{\Omega}} \times \overline{\mathbf{r}}) = (\overline{x}_{,t}^{T} + \overline{\mathbf{\Omega}}^{T} \overline{x}^{K} e_{IJK}) \mathbf{I}_{I},$$

5.2. Traveling and rotating cables



(b)

Fig. 5.3 Equilibrium and deformation of a traveling, sagged cable under a distributed loads (a) loading and (b) displacement.

$$\frac{D^{2}\overline{\mathbf{r}}}{Dt^{2}} = \frac{\partial^{2}\overline{\mathbf{r}}}{\partial t^{2}} + \frac{\partial\overline{\Omega}}{\partial t} \times \overline{\mathbf{r}} + 2\Omega \times \frac{\partial\mathbf{r}}{\partial t} + \Omega \times (\Omega \times \mathbf{r})$$

$$= (\overline{x}_{,I}^{I} + \overline{\Omega}_{,I}^{J} \overline{x}^{K} e_{IJK} + 2\overline{\Omega}^{J} \overline{x}_{,I}^{K} e_{IJK} + \overline{\Omega}^{J} \overline{\Omega}^{K} \overline{x}^{L} e_{IJM} e_{MKL}) \mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(5.42)

The strain of equilibrium under the initial tension \overline{T}^0 is

$$\varepsilon = \mathscr{C}^{0}(\overline{S}) + \left[\sqrt{(\overline{X}_{,\overline{S}}^{I} + \overline{u}_{,\overline{S}}^{I})(\overline{X}_{,\overline{S}}^{I} + \overline{u}_{,\overline{S}}^{I})} - 1\right] (\text{summation on } I)$$
(5.43)

where $(\cdot)_{\overline{S}} = \partial(\cdot) / \partial \overline{S}$. The tension in the deformable cable at equilibrium is

$$\overline{T}(\overline{S}) = \int_{A} \overline{f}(\varepsilon) dA \quad \text{for any materials,}
\overline{T}(\overline{S}) = \overline{T}^{0}(\overline{S}) + EA \left[\sqrt{(\overline{X}_{,\overline{S}}^{I} + \overline{u}_{,\overline{S}}^{I})(\overline{X}_{,\overline{S}}^{I} + \overline{u}_{,\overline{S}}^{I})} - 1 \right]$$
for elastic material,
$$(5.44)$$

where $\mathscr{E}^0 = \overline{T}^0 / EA$, and E, A and \overline{S} are Young's modulus, the cross-sectional area and the arc length of the cable in the initial configuration. For the inextensible cable of $(EA \to \infty)$, $\mathcal{E} = \mathscr{E}^0$ because of $\sqrt{\overline{X}_{,\overline{S}}^I \overline{X}_{,\overline{S}}^I} = 1$ and $u^I = 0$, $\{\overline{X}^I\}$ depends on the external loading except for the initial tension. The non-dimensional variables

$$S = \frac{\overline{S}}{\mathscr{D}}, x^{I} = \frac{\overline{x}^{I}}{\mathscr{D}}, X^{I} = \frac{\overline{X}^{I}}{\mathscr{D}}, u^{I} = \frac{\overline{u}^{I}}{\mathscr{D}}, q^{I} = \frac{\overline{q}^{I}}{\rho_{0} Ag},$$

$$t = \frac{c_{q}\overline{t}}{\mathscr{D}}, c_{p} = \frac{1}{c_{q}}\sqrt{\frac{\overline{E}}{\rho_{0}}}, c^{0}(S) = \frac{1}{c_{q}}\sqrt{\frac{\overline{T}^{0}}{\rho_{0}A}}, c = \frac{\overline{c}}{c_{q}},$$

$$c_{q} = \sqrt{g\mathscr{D}}, T = \frac{\overline{T}}{\rho_{0} Ag\mathscr{D}}, T^{0} = \frac{\overline{T}^{0}}{\rho_{0} Ag\mathscr{D}}, \Omega^{I} = \frac{\overline{\Omega}^{I}\mathscr{D}}{c_{q}},$$

$$\mathbf{R} = \frac{\overline{\mathbf{R}}}{\mathscr{D}}, \mathbf{r} = \frac{\overline{\mathbf{r}}}{\mathscr{D}}, \mathbf{q} = \frac{\overline{\mathbf{q}}}{\rho_{0} Ag}, \Omega = \frac{\overline{\Omega}\mathscr{D}}{c_{q}}$$
(5.45)

are introduced, where \mathscr{D} is the total length of the cable, g is the gravitational acceleration, and ρ_0 is the density. Suppose the density is invariant. The equation of motion for the rotating cable is

$$\frac{D^2 \mathbf{r}}{Dt^2} = \mathbf{q} + \mathbf{T}_{s}, \tag{5.46}$$

where

$$\mathbf{T} = T(S)\mathbf{n}_1 = T^T(S)\mathbf{I}_T,\tag{5.47}$$

and

$$T^{I}(S') = T(S)\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{I}_{f})} = \frac{T(S)(X_{,S}^{I} + u_{,S}^{I})}{(1 + \mathscr{C})},$$

$$\mathscr{C} = \sqrt{(X_{,S}^{I} + u_{,S}^{I})(X_{,S}^{I} + u_{,S}^{I})} - 1.$$
(5.48)

As in Luo et al. (1996),

5.2. Traveling and rotating cables

$$(X_{,tt}^{I} + u_{,tt}^{I}) + \Omega_{,t}^{J}(X^{K} + u^{K})e_{IJK} + 2\Omega^{J}(X_{,t}^{K} + u_{,t}^{K})e_{IJK} + \Omega^{J}\Omega^{K}(X^{L} + u^{L})e_{IJM}e_{MKL} = q^{I} + \left[\frac{T(S)(X_{,s}^{I} + u_{,s}^{I})}{(1 + \mathscr{C})}\right]_{,s}.$$
(5.49)

For a traveling cable with speed c(t), transformation of s to η :

$$\eta = S + \int_0^t c d\xi, \tag{5.50}$$

results in equations of motion for the segment $[\eta_{B_1}, \eta_{B_2}]$ mapped from $[s_{B_1}, s_{B_2}]$,

$$(X_{,u}^{I} + u_{,u}^{I}) + 2c(X_{,\eta t}^{I} + u_{,\eta t}^{I}) + c_{,t}(X_{,\eta}^{I} + u_{,\eta}^{I}) + c^{2}(X_{,\eta\eta}^{I} + u_{,\eta\eta}^{I}) + \Omega_{,t}^{J}(X^{K} + u^{K})e_{IJK} + 2\Omega^{J}[(X_{,t}^{K} + u_{,t}^{K}) + c(X_{,\eta}^{K} + u_{,\eta}^{I})]e_{IJK} + \Omega^{J}\Omega^{K}(X^{L} + u^{L})e_{IJM}e_{MKL} = q^{I} + \left[\frac{T(\eta)(X_{,\eta}^{I} + u_{,\eta}^{I})}{(1 + \mathscr{C})}\right]_{,\eta}.$$
(5.51)

The boundary conditions for the equilibrium displacement and initial configuration are

$$u^{I}|_{\eta=0} = a^{I}, \ u^{I}|_{\eta=1} = b^{I} \text{ and } X^{I}|_{\eta=0} = A^{I}, \ X^{I}|_{\eta=1} = B^{I}.$$
 (5.52)

From Eq.(5.52), the ratio of the chord to the arc length of the cable at the initial configuration is a non-dimensionalized variable $x_{\rm B} = \sqrt{(A^{\rm I} - B^{\rm I})(A^{\rm I} - B^{\rm I})}$.

For non-eyelet supports, the boundary conditions can be given by forces or displacements. The displacement conditions are the same as in Eq.(5.52). However, the force boundary conditions are

$$T^{I}|_{\eta=0} = c^{I} \text{ and } T^{I}|_{\eta=1} = d^{I}.$$
 (5.53)

Consider a cable rotating around the *x*-axis with the two supports A and B in the same height. The rotation speed vector becomes $\Omega = \Omega I_1$. Equation (5.51) reduces to

$$(X_{,u}^{I} + u_{,u}^{I}) + 2c(X_{,\eta_{I}}^{I} + u_{,\eta_{I}}^{I}) + c_{,i}(X_{,\eta}^{I} + u_{,\eta}^{I}) + c^{2}(X_{,\eta\eta}^{I} + u_{,\eta\eta}^{I}) + \Omega_{,i}(X^{K} + u^{K})e_{I1K} + 2\Omega[(X_{,i}^{K} + u_{,i}^{K}) + c(X_{,\eta}^{K} + u_{,\eta}^{K})]e_{I1K} - \Omega^{2}(X^{I} + u^{I})(1 - \delta_{1}^{I}) = q^{I} + \left[\frac{T(\eta)(X_{,\eta}^{I} + u_{,\eta}^{I})}{(1 + \mathscr{C})}\right]_{,\eta}.$$
(5.54)

For a traveling and rotating, non-sagged cable with constant rotation and traveling speeds (i.e., $c_{,t} = 0$ and $\Omega_{,t} = 0$), we have $X_2 = X_3 = 0$ and $X_1 = S$ with $\eta = X_1 + ct$. Equation (5.54) reduces to

5 Nonlinear Cables

$$u_{,u}^{I} + 2cu_{,\eta_{l}}^{I} + c^{2}u_{,\eta\eta}^{I} + 2\Omega[u_{,l}^{K} + c(\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{,\eta}^{K})]e_{I1K}$$
$$-\Omega^{2}u^{I}(1 - \delta_{1}^{I}) = q^{I} + \left[\frac{T(S)(X_{,\eta}^{I} + u_{,\eta}^{I})}{(1 + \mathscr{C})}\right]_{,\eta}.$$
(5.55)

Without rotation, the foregoing equation becomes

$$u_{,tt}^{l} + 2cu_{,\eta_{l}}^{l} + c^{2}u_{,\eta\eta}^{l} = q^{l} + \left[\frac{T(\eta)(X_{,\eta}^{l} + u_{,\eta}^{l})}{(1 + \mathscr{C})}\right]_{,\eta}.$$
(5.56)

For elastic materials, the tension is given by

$$T(\eta) = [c_0(\eta)]^2 + c_p^2(\sqrt{(X_{,\eta}^K + u_{,\eta}^K)(X_{,\eta}^K + u_{,\eta}^K)} - 1).$$
(5.57)

With Eq.(5.57), equation (5.56) is identical to the equation in Thurman and Mote (1969). Without the translation in Eq.(5.55), equations of motion for rotating strings are for I = 1, 2, 3

$$u_{,tt}^{I} + 2\Omega u_{,t}^{K} e_{I1K} - \Omega^{2} u^{I} (1 - \delta_{1}^{I}) = q^{I} + \left[\frac{T(\eta)(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{,\eta}^{I})}{(1 + \mathscr{C})} \right]_{,\eta}.$$
(5.58)

With Eq.(5.57), equation (5.58) is identical to the model in Luo et al. (1996).

Without rotation in Eq.(5.53), equations of motion for a traveling, sagged, elastic cable with constant traveling speed are

$$(X^{I} + u^{I})_{,u} + 2c(X^{I} + u^{I})_{,\eta t} + c^{2}(X^{I}_{,\eta\eta} + u^{I}_{,\eta\eta})$$

= $q^{I} + \left[\frac{T(\eta)(X^{I}_{,\eta} + u^{I}_{,\eta})}{(1 + \mathscr{E})}\right]_{,\eta}$. (5.59)

With Eq.(5.57), equation (5.59) is identical to Luo and Mote (2000).

As in Luo and Mote (2000), the generalized loading on the cable is considered in Fig.5.4. $\overline{\mathbf{q}}_k = \overline{q}_k^T \mathbf{I}_I$ (k = 1, 2, ..., m) and $\overline{\mathbf{F}}_k = \overline{F}_k^T \mathbf{I}_I$ for the *k*th-segment are distributed and concentrated forces on the cable. Similarly, the corresponding displacement $\overline{\mathbf{u}}_k = \overline{u}_k^T \mathbf{I}_I$ is from the initial configuration $\overline{\mathbf{X}}_k = \overline{X}_k^T \mathbf{I}_I$ to the equilibrium configuration $\overline{\mathbf{x}}_k = \overline{x}_k^T \mathbf{I}_I$. For the *k*th-segment, $\overline{u}_k^T = \overline{x}_k^T - \overline{X}_k^T$ and $\sqrt{\overline{X}_{k,\overline{S}}^T \overline{X}_{k,\overline{S}}^T}$ = 1. For straight cables, $\overline{S} = \overline{X}_k^T (\overline{S})$ and $\overline{X}_k^2 = \overline{X}_k^3 = 0$. For the *k*th-segment, as in Eq.(5.43), the strain of equilibrium under initial tension \overline{T}^0 with summation on Iis

$$\varepsilon_{k} = \mathscr{C}_{k}^{0}(\overline{S}) + (\sqrt{(\overline{X}_{k,\overline{S}}^{I} + \overline{u}_{k,\overline{S}}^{I})(\overline{X}_{k,\overline{S}}^{I} + \overline{u}_{k,\overline{S}}^{I})} - 1)$$
(5.60)

and the corresponding tension in the cable at equilibrium is

5.2. Traveling and rotating cables



Fig. 5.4 Equilibrium and deformation of a traveling, sagged cable under arbitrary loading. (a) loading and (b) displacement.

$$\overline{T}_{k}(\overline{S}) = \int_{A} \overline{f}(\varepsilon_{k}) \, dA \quad \text{for any materials,}
\overline{T}_{k}(\overline{S}) = \overline{T}_{k}^{0}(\overline{S}) + EA \left(\sqrt{(\overline{X}_{k,\overline{S}}^{T} + \overline{u}_{k,\overline{S}}^{T})(\overline{X}_{k,\overline{S}}^{T} + \overline{u}_{k,\overline{S}}^{T})} - 1\right)$$
for elastic materials
$$(5.61)$$

where $\mathscr{E}_k^0 = \overline{T}_k^0 / EA$. For inextensible cables $(EA \to \infty)$, $\varepsilon_k = 0$ because of $\sqrt{\overline{X}_{k,s}^T \overline{X}_{k,s}^T} = 1$ and $u_k^T = 0$. $\{\overline{X}_k^T\}$ depends on the external loading except the initial tension. As in Eq.(5.45), the non-dimensional variables are

5 Nonlinear Cables

(r, co)

$$S = \frac{\overline{S}}{\mathscr{D}}, \ t = \frac{c_q \overline{t}}{\mathscr{D}}, \ x_k^I = \frac{\overline{x}_k^I}{\mathscr{D}}, \ X_k^I = \frac{\overline{X}_k^I}{\mathscr{D}}, \ u_k^I = \frac{\overline{u}_k^I}{\mathscr{D}}, q_k^I = \frac{\overline{q}_k^I}{\rho Ag}, \ F_k^I = \frac{\overline{F}_k^I}{\rho Ag\mathscr{D}}, \ T_k = \frac{\overline{T}_k}{\rho Ag\mathscr{D}}, \ T_k^0 = \frac{\overline{T}_k^0}{\rho Ag\mathscr{D}}.$$
(5.62)

Further, the equations of motion for a cable segment $[S_{k-1}, S_k]$ between concentrated forces \mathbf{F}_{k-1} and \mathbf{F}_k (k = 1, 2, ..., m+1) are obtained via force balances of the deformed cable. $\mathbf{T}_k(\eta) = T_k \mathbf{n}_1$ and \mathbf{n}_1 is the normal direction of cross section of cable, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{n}_{1} = \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1}, \mathbf{I}_{I})} \mathbf{I}_{I} \quad (\text{sum on } I = 1, 2, 3).$$
(5.63)

The corresponding components of tension is computed by

$$T_{k}^{I} = T_{k} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{I}_{l})} = \frac{T_{k}(S)(X_{k,S}^{I} + u_{k,S}^{I})}{(1 + \mathscr{C}_{k})}.$$
(5.64)

Using the geometrical relations, equations of motion without traveling become

$$(X_{k,u}^{I} + u_{k,u}^{I}) + \Omega_{J}^{J}(X_{k}^{K} + u_{k}^{K})e_{IJK} + 2\Omega^{J}(X_{k,t}^{K} + u_{k,t}^{L})e_{IJK} + \Omega^{J}\Omega^{K}(X_{k}^{L} + u_{k}^{L})e_{IJM}e_{MKL} = q_{k}^{I} + \left[\frac{T_{k}(S)(X_{k,s}^{I} + u_{k,s}^{I})}{(1 + \mathscr{C}_{k})}\right]_{,s}.$$
(5.65)

The reactions at ends B_1 ($s_0 = s_{B_1} = 0$) and B_2 ($s_{m+1} = s_{B_2} = 1$) are \mathbf{F}_0 and \mathbf{F}_{m+1} . For traveling cables, the variable η is used as a fixed coordinate system and *s* as a traveling coordinate system. Consider a constant traveling speed, and transformation of *s* to η :

$$\eta = s + ct, \tag{5.66}$$

results in equations of motion for segment $[\eta_{k-1}, \eta_k]$ mapped from $[S_{k-1}, S_k]$:

$$(X_{k,\mu}^{I} + u_{k,\mu}^{I}) + 2c(X_{k,\eta}^{I} + u_{k,\eta}^{I}) + c^{2}(X_{k,\eta\eta}^{I} + u_{k,\eta\eta}^{I}) + \Omega_{J}^{J}(X_{k}^{K} + u_{k}^{K})e_{IJK} + 2\Omega_{J}^{J}[(X_{k,t}^{K} + u_{k,\eta}^{K}) + c(X_{k,\eta}^{K} + u_{k,\eta}^{K})]e_{IJK} + \Omega^{J}\Omega^{K}(X_{k}^{L} + u_{k}^{L})e_{IJM}e_{MKL} = q_{k}^{I} + \left[\frac{T_{k}(\eta)(X_{k,\eta}^{I} + u_{k,\eta}^{I})}{(1 + \mathcal{E}_{k})}\right]_{\eta}.$$
(5.67)

The corresponding boundary conditions for the equilibrium displacement and initial configuration become
5.2. Traveling and rotating cables

$$u_0^I|_{\eta=0} = a^I, \ u_{m+1}^I|_{\eta=1} = b^I \text{ and } X_0^I|_{\eta=0} = A^I, \ X_{m+1}^I|_{\eta=1} = B^I.$$
 (5.68)

Continuity for two segments requires

$$u_{k}^{I}|_{\eta=\eta_{k}} = u_{k+1}^{I}|_{\eta=\eta_{k}} \text{ and } X_{k}^{I}|_{\eta=\eta_{k}} = X_{k+1}^{I}|_{\eta=\eta_{k}} \text{ for } I = 1, 2, 3.$$
(5.69)

The force balance conditions at the discontinuous point $\eta = \eta_k$ are

$$\mathbf{T}_{k}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{k}) + \mathbf{F}_{k} + \mathbf{T}_{k+1}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{k}) = 0,$$

or $T_{k}^{I}|_{\boldsymbol{\eta}=\boldsymbol{\eta}_{k}} = F_{k}^{I} + T_{k+1}^{I}|_{\boldsymbol{\eta}=\boldsymbol{\eta}_{k}}.$ (5.70)

Without rotation, equation (5.67) becomes

$$(X_{k,tt}^{I} + u_{k,tt}^{I}) + 2c(X_{k,\eta t}^{I} + u_{k,\eta t}^{I}) + c^{2}(X_{k,\eta \eta}^{I} + u_{k,\eta \eta}^{I})$$

$$= q_{k}^{I} + \left[T_{k} \frac{(X_{k,\eta}^{I} + u_{k,\eta}^{I})}{(1 + \mathcal{E}_{k})}\right]_{,\eta}.$$
(5.71)

5.3. Equilibrium of traveling elastic cables

In this section, equilibrium solutions for a traveling cable will be discussed. The closed-form solution for such equilibrium will be presented, and the existing solution with be discussed.

5.3.1. Existence conditions

For the elastic material, the tension is given by

$$T_{k}(\eta) = [c_{k}^{0}(\eta)]^{2} + c_{p}^{2}(\sqrt{(X_{k,\eta}^{l} + u_{k,\eta}^{l})(X_{k,\eta}^{l} + u_{k,\eta}^{l})} - 1).$$
(5.72)

With vanishing of the time variations in Eq.(5.71), integration over $[\eta_{k-1}, \eta_k]$ gives

$$\left[\frac{[c_{k}^{0}(\eta)]^{2} - c_{p}^{2}}{\sqrt{(X_{k,\eta}^{K} + u_{k,\eta}^{K})(X_{k,\eta}^{K} + u_{k,\eta}^{K})}} + (c_{p}^{2} - c^{2})\right](X_{k,\eta}^{I} + u_{k,\eta}^{I})$$
$$= -\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta + C_{k}^{I}, \qquad (5.73)$$

where C_k^I (*I*=1, 2, 3) are integration constants. With the tension in Eq.(5.72), eq-

uation (5.73) reduces to the model of Yu et al (1995) when $q_k^1 = c = 0$ and q_k^1 (I = 2, 3) are uniformly distributed. The 2-D model in Irvine (1981) is a special case of Eq.(5.73) obtained by $q_k^1 = q_k^3 = c = 0$.

The squaring of both sides of Eq.(5.73) for each I and summing of them for all I leads to

$$\sqrt{(X_{k,\eta}^{I} + u_{k,\eta}^{I})(X_{k,\eta}^{I} + u_{k,\eta}^{I})} = \frac{1}{c_{p}^{2} - c^{2}} \left[\left(c_{p}^{2} - [c_{k}^{0}(\eta)]^{2} \right) \pm \sqrt{(\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta - C_{k}^{I})(\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta - C_{k}^{I})} \right].$$
(5.74)

The translating cable in Eq.(5.74) possesses two equilibria. When the translation speed equals the wave speed (i.e., $\overline{c} = \sqrt{E/\rho}$), the resonance occurs and the stretch ratio $\sqrt{(X_{k,\eta}^I + u_{k,\eta}^I)(X_{k,\eta}^I + u_{k,\eta}^I)}$ becomes infinite. In Eq.(5.74), the stretch ratio increases with increasing *c* for $c < c_p$.

Substitution of Eq.(5.74) into Eq.(5.71) leads to

$$T_{k}(\eta) = \frac{1}{c_{p}^{2} - c^{2}} \bigg[c^{2} (c_{p}^{2} - [c_{k}^{0}(\eta)]^{2}) \\ \pm c_{p}^{2} \sqrt{(\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta - C_{k}^{I})(\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta - C_{k}^{I})} \bigg],$$
(5.75)

showing that the tension increases monotonically with *c* for $c < c_p$. For stationary cables, setting c = 0 in Eq. (5.75) and choosing $T_k > 0$ for all the segments gives

$$T_{k}(\eta) = \sqrt{(\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta - C_{k}^{I})(\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta - C_{k}^{I})}.$$
(5.76)

In the inextensible cable, $\sqrt{(X_{k,\eta}^{I} + u_{k,\eta}^{I})(X_{k,\eta}^{I} + u_{k,\eta}^{I})} = 1$ (or $u_{k}^{I} = 0$), the stiffness in Eq.(5.73) becomes $(T_{0} - \rho Ac^{2})$ identical to the results in Routh (1884), and the tension is

$$T_{k}(\eta) = c^{2} \pm \sqrt{(\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta - C_{k}^{I})(\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta - C_{k}^{I})}.$$
(5.77)

Cable/string models require positive tension, i.e., $T_k > 0$. Therefore, a condition of existence of steady motion is from Eq.(5.75), i.e.,

$$[c_{k}^{0}(\eta)]^{2} < c_{p}^{2} \left[1 \pm \frac{1}{c^{2}} \sqrt{(\int q_{k}^{\prime} d\eta - C_{k}^{\prime})(\int q_{k}^{\prime} d\eta - C_{k}^{\prime})} \right].$$
(5.78)

A critical condition for the existence of steady motion is obtained at $T_k(\eta) = 0$ or equality in Eq.(5.78).

5.3.2. Displacements

Substitution of Eq.(5.74) into Eq.(5.73) and integration gives three components of displacement

$$u_{k}^{I} = -X_{k}^{I} + D_{k}^{I} + \int \frac{-\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta + C_{k}^{I}}{(c_{p}^{2} - c^{2})} \left[1 \pm \frac{c_{p}^{2} - [c_{k}^{0}(\eta)]^{2}}{\sqrt{(\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta - C_{k}^{I})(\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta - C_{k}^{I})} \right] d\eta,$$
(5.79)

where D_k^I (*I*=1, 2, 3) are constants. The boundary conditions in Eq. (5.68), displacement continuity in Eq.(5.69) and force balances at each \mathbf{F}_k are used to determine all coefficients in Eqs.(5.73) and (5.79). The force balances are

$$\left. \left(-\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta + C_{k}^{I} \right) \right|_{\eta = \eta_{k}} - F_{k}^{I} = \left(-\int q_{k+1}^{I} d\eta + C_{k+1}^{I} \right) \right|_{\eta = \eta_{k}}.$$
(5.80)

The inextensible cable requires $c_p \to \infty$, and Eq. (5.74) gives $\sqrt{X_{k,\eta}^I X_{k,\eta}^I} = 1$ indicating $u_k^{(\alpha)} = 0$. Substitution of the c_p and u_k^I into Eq.(5.79) gives the equilibrium configuration \hat{X}_k^I :

$$\hat{X}_{k}^{I} = \pm \int \frac{-\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta + \hat{C}_{k}^{I}}{\sqrt{(\int q_{k}^{K} d\eta - \hat{C}_{k}^{K})(\int q_{k}^{K} d\eta - \hat{C}_{k}^{K})}} d\eta + \hat{D}_{k}^{I}.$$
(5.81)

Similarly, \hat{C}_k^I and \hat{D}_k^I can be determined. Equations (5.80) and (5.81) show that \hat{X}_k^I is independent of the initial tension. For the inextensible and deformable cables under the same loading, it is assumed that the two cables possess the same initial configuration. For the inextensible cable, its displacement is zero (i.e., $u_k^I = 0$), which implies that the equilibrium of the inextensible cable is an initial configuration (i.e., $X_k^I(\eta) = \hat{X}_k^I(\eta)$). Therefore, from Eqs.(5.79) and (5.81), the displacement of the elastic cable is

$$u_{k}^{(\alpha)} = \int \frac{-\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta + C_{k}^{I}}{(c_{p}^{2} - c^{2})} \left[1 \pm \frac{c_{p}^{2} - [c_{k}^{0}(\eta)]^{2}}{\sqrt{(\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta - C_{k}^{I})(\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta - C_{k}^{I})}} \right] d\eta + D_{k}^{I} \mp \int \frac{-\int q_{k}^{I} d\eta + \hat{C}_{k}^{I}}{\sqrt{(\int q_{k}^{K} d\eta - \hat{C}_{k}^{K})(\int q_{k}^{K} d\eta - \hat{C}_{k}^{K})}} d\eta - \hat{D}_{k}^{I}.$$
(5.82)

5.3.3. Applications

In this subsection, several examples will be presented, which can be reduced to the classic approximate solutions of sagged cables.

5.3.3a Uniformly distributed loading

Consider a sagged cable traveling at constant speed *c*. The cable is subject to a uniformly distributed load $\mathbf{q} = q^t \mathbf{I}_t$. The chord ratio of the cable is $x_{\rm B}$ and a constant, initial tension is T^0 . The subscripts denoting the particular segment have been dropped. The boundary conditions are

$$u^{I}\Big|_{\eta=0} = u^{I}\Big|_{\eta=1} = 0, \ X^{I}\Big|_{\eta=0} = A^{I} = 0 \text{ and } X^{I}\Big|_{\eta=1} = B^{I}.$$
 (5.83)

The displacement is given by Eq.(5.82):

$$u^{I} = \frac{1}{c_{p}^{2} - c^{2}} \left(-\frac{1}{2} q^{I} \eta^{2} + C^{I} \eta \right)$$

$$\pm \frac{c_{p}^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}}{c_{p}^{2} - c^{2}} \left\{ -\frac{q^{I}}{q} \Theta(\eta) + \frac{(C^{I} q^{J} - C^{J} q^{I}) q^{J}}{q^{3}} \log\left[\Xi(\eta) + \Theta(\eta)\right] \right\}$$

$$+ D^{I} \mp \left\{ -\frac{q^{I}}{q} \hat{\Theta}(\eta) + \frac{(\hat{C}^{I} q^{J} - \hat{C}^{J} q^{I}) q^{J}}{q^{3}} \log\left[\hat{\Xi}(\eta) + \hat{\Theta}(\eta)\right] \right\} - \hat{D}^{I}, \qquad (5.84)$$

where

$$\Theta(\eta) = \sqrt{\eta^2 - 2\frac{C'q'}{q^2}\eta + \frac{C'C'}{q^2}}, \quad \Xi(\eta) = \eta - \frac{C'q'}{q^2}, \quad q = \sqrt{q'q'};$$

$$\hat{\Theta}(\eta) = \sqrt{\eta^2 - 2\frac{\hat{C}'q'}{q^2}\eta + \frac{\hat{C}'\hat{C}'}{q^2}}, \quad \hat{\Xi}(\eta) = \eta - \frac{\hat{C}'q'}{q^2}.$$

(5.85)

The boundary conditions in Eqs.(5.83) with (5.84) give

$$D^{I} = \mp \frac{c_{p}^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}}{c_{p}^{2} - c^{2}} \left\{ -\frac{q^{I}}{q} \Theta(0) + \frac{(C^{I}q^{J} - C^{J}q^{I})q^{J}}{q^{3}} \log[\Xi(0) + \Theta(0)] \right\}, \quad (5.86)$$

$$C^{I} \pm \frac{[c_{p}^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}](C^{I}q^{J} - C^{J}q^{I})q^{J}}{q^{3}} \log \frac{\Xi(1) + \Theta(1)}{\Xi(0) + \Theta(0)}$$

$$= B^{I} \left(c_{p}^{2} - c^{2}\right) + \frac{1}{2}q^{I} \pm \frac{[c_{p}^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}]q^{I}}{q} \left[\Theta(1) - \Theta(0)\right]. \quad (5.87)$$

The constants C^{I} and D^{I} in Eq.(5.84) are determined through solution of the

nonlinear algebraic equations in Eqs.(5.86) and (5.87), and the \hat{C}^{I} and \hat{D}^{I} for the inextensible cable are determined from

$$\hat{D}_{k} = \mp \left\{ -\frac{q^{T}}{q} \hat{\Theta}(0) + \frac{(\hat{C}^{T} q^{J} - \hat{C}^{J} q^{T}) q^{J}}{q^{3}} \log \left[\hat{\Xi}(0) + \hat{\Theta}(0) \right] \right\},$$
(5.88)

$$\pm \frac{(\hat{C}^{I}q^{J} - \hat{C}^{J}q^{I})q^{J}}{q^{3}}\log \frac{\hat{\Xi}(1) + \hat{\Theta}(1)}{\hat{\Xi}(0) + \hat{\Theta}(0)} = B^{I} \pm \frac{q^{I}}{q} \Big[\hat{\Theta}(1) - \hat{\Theta}(0)\Big].$$
(5.89)

The exact displacement solution is obtained. The tension and the equilibrium configuration are:

$$T(\eta) = \frac{1}{c_p^2 - c^2} \Big\{ c^2 [c_p^2 - (c^0)^2] \pm c_p^2 q \Theta(\eta) \Big\}.$$
 (5.90)

$$x^{I} = X^{I} + u^{I} = \frac{1}{c_{p}^{2} - c^{2}} \left(-\frac{1}{2} q^{I} \eta^{2} + C^{I} \eta \right) + D^{I} \pm \frac{c_{p}^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}}{c_{p}^{2} - c^{2}} \\ \times \left\{ -\frac{q^{I}}{q} \Theta(\eta) + \frac{(C^{I} q^{J} - C^{J} q^{I}) q^{J}}{q^{3}} \log[\Xi(\eta) + \Theta(\eta)] \right\}.$$
(5.91)

For the inextensible cable, the equilibrium configuration is

$$\hat{X}^{I}(\eta) = \hat{D}^{I} \pm \left\{ -\frac{q^{I}}{q} \hat{\Theta}(\eta) + \frac{(\hat{C}^{I} q^{J} - \hat{C}^{J} q^{I}) q^{J}}{q^{3}} \log \left[\hat{\Xi}(\eta) + \hat{\Theta}(\eta) \right] \right\}.$$
(5.92)

5.3.3b Special cases

Consider a 2-D traveling cable with $\overline{q}_x = 0$, $\overline{q}_y = -\rho Ag = W/\mathscr{D}$, $B_x = L/\mathscr{D}$ and $B_y = H/\mathscr{D}$. Substitution of Eqs.(5.62), (5.86) and (5.87) into Eq.(5.91) and use of inverse hyperbolic functions gives an equilibrium of the 2-D deformed cable,

$$\overline{x}(\overline{\eta}) = \frac{\tilde{C}^{1}}{(E - \rho \,\overline{c}^{\,2}) \, A} \left\{ \overline{\eta} \pm \frac{EA - \overline{T}^{\,0}}{\overline{q}_{y}} \left[\sinh^{-1} \frac{\tilde{C}^{2}}{\tilde{C}^{1}} - \sinh^{-1} \frac{\tilde{C}^{2} - \overline{q}_{y} \overline{\eta}}{\tilde{C}^{1}} \right] \right\},$$

$$\overline{y}(\overline{\eta}) = \frac{1}{(E - \rho \,\overline{c}^{\,2}) \, A} \left\{ \left(-\frac{1}{2} \,\overline{q}_{y} \overline{\eta}^{\,2} + \tilde{C}^{2} \overline{\eta} \right) + \frac{EA - \overline{T}^{\,0}}{\overline{q}_{y}} \left[\sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{\tilde{C}^{2}}{\tilde{C}^{1}} \right)^{2}} - \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{\tilde{C}^{2} - \overline{q}_{y} \overline{\eta}}{\tilde{C}^{1}} \right)^{2}} \right] \right\}.$$
(5.93)

The bar indicates the dimensionalized variables and parameters. For the stationary

cable ($\overline{c} = 0$), let $\overline{T_0} = 0$ and neglect the solution with $\overline{T} \le 0$, and Eq. (5.93) becomes

$$\overline{x}(\overline{\eta}) = \frac{\tilde{C}^{1}\overline{\eta}}{EA} + \frac{\tilde{C}^{1}\mathscr{D}}{W} \left[\sinh^{-1}\frac{\tilde{C}^{2}}{\tilde{C}^{1}} - \sinh^{-1}\frac{\tilde{C}^{2}\mathscr{D} - W\overline{\eta}}{\tilde{C}^{1}\mathscr{D}} \right],$$

$$\overline{y}(\overline{\eta}) = \frac{W\overline{\eta}}{EA} \left(\frac{\tilde{C}^{2}}{W} - \frac{\overline{\eta}}{2\mathscr{D}} \right) + \frac{\tilde{C}^{1}\mathscr{D}}{W} \left[\sqrt{1 + (\frac{\tilde{C}^{2}}{\tilde{C}^{1}})^{2}} - \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{\tilde{C}^{2}\mathscr{D} - W\overline{\eta}}{\tilde{C}^{1}\mathscr{D}}\right)^{2}} \right].$$
(5.94)

which is the solution of Irvine (1981).

The inextensible, axially moving cable is obtained from Eq.(5.93) by setting $EA \rightarrow \infty$.

$$\hat{\bar{X}}(\eta) = \pm \frac{\tilde{C}^{1}}{\bar{q}_{y}} \left[\sinh^{-1} \frac{\tilde{C}^{2}}{\tilde{C}^{1}} - \sinh^{-1} \frac{\tilde{C}_{2} - \bar{q}_{y} \bar{\eta}}{\tilde{C}^{1}} \right],$$

$$\hat{Y}(\eta) = \pm \frac{\tilde{C}^{1}}{\bar{q}_{y}} \left[\sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{\tilde{C}^{2}}{\tilde{C}^{1}}\right)^{2}} - \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{\tilde{C}_{2} - \bar{q}_{y} \bar{\eta}}{\tilde{C}^{1}}\right)^{2}} \right];$$
(5.95)

where \tilde{C}^1 and \tilde{C}^2 are determined through the boundary condition at $\bar{\eta} = \mathscr{D}$. The equilibrium under the non-positive tension in Eq.(5.95) is unstable. Setting $\hat{\overline{X}}_0 = \tilde{C}^1 / \overline{q}_y \sinh^{-1}(\tilde{C}^2 / \tilde{C}^1)$, equation (5.95) becomes

$$\hat{\overline{Y}}(\hat{\overline{X}}) = \pm \frac{\tilde{C}^{\mathrm{I}}}{\rho Ag} \left\{ \cosh\left[\frac{\rho Ag}{\tilde{C}^{\mathrm{I}}}(\hat{\overline{X}} - \hat{\overline{X}}_{0})\right] - \cosh\left(\frac{\rho Ag}{\tilde{C}^{\mathrm{I}}}\hat{\overline{X}}_{0}\right) \right\}.$$
(5.96)

Letting $\hat{\overline{T}}_1(0) = \pm \hat{C}^1 = \pm [\hat{\overline{T}}_0(0) - \rho A \overline{c}^2] \cos \theta(0)$ where $d\hat{\overline{X}} / d\overline{\eta} = \cos \theta(\overline{\eta})$, equation (5.96) is given by O'Reilly (1996). $\hat{\overline{X}}_0$ is determined by the boundary condition at $\overline{\eta} = \mathscr{D}$. If the inextensible cable is sufficiently straight that $\cos \theta \approx 1$ and $\tilde{C}^1 \gg \tilde{C}^2$, then $\hat{\overline{X}}_0 \approx 0$ and Eq. (5.96) becomes

$$\hat{\overline{X}}(\overline{\eta}) = \pm \frac{\tilde{C}^{1}}{\overline{q}_{y}} \sinh^{-1} \frac{\overline{q}_{y} \overline{\eta}}{\tilde{C}^{1}},$$

$$\hat{\overline{Y}}(\overline{\eta}) = \pm \frac{\tilde{C}^{1}}{\overline{q}_{y}} \left[1 - \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{\overline{q}_{y} \overline{\eta}}{\tilde{C}^{1}}\right)^{2}} \right] = \mp \frac{\tilde{C}^{1}}{\overline{q}_{y}} \left[\cosh \frac{\overline{q}_{y} \overline{\eta}}{\tilde{C}^{1}} - 1 \right].$$
(5.97)

This stable solution is given by Simpson (1972). However, Equation (5.97) does not provide the equilibrium solutions of the inextensible cable because the boundary conditions are not satisfied. The linear model of the straight cable gives

5.3. Equilibrium of traveling elastic cables

$$u = -\frac{q_x}{2(c_p^2 - c^2)}(\eta - 1)\eta, \quad v = -\frac{q_y}{2[(c^0)^2 - c^2]}(\eta - 1)\eta.$$
(5.98)

In all the plots, the solid and dash lines represent the upper (+) and lower (-) branches of the equilibrium configurations, respectively, and the dotted line denotes the unstable equilibrium of the cable as $T \le 0$. The longitudinal and transverse wave speeds are $c_n = 740.87$ and $c^0 = 0$.

Consider a 2-D horizontal straight cable $(B_x = x_B = 1, B_y = B_z = 0)$ hanging under its own weight $(q_x = 0, q_y = -1)$. Two components of displacement $u = x(\eta) - \eta$ and $v = y(\eta)$ computed from Eq.(5.84) at c = 10 are shown in Fig.5.5. The chain curves denote the linear prediction of displacement from Eq.(5.98). The maximum longitudinal displacement is 3.998×10^{-5} (lower branch) and 2.923×10⁻⁵ (upper branch) at $\eta = 0.21$ and 0.79. The longitudinal linear displacement is zero due to $q_x = 0$. The maximum transverse displacement is 8.828×10^{-3} (lower branch) and 7.547×10^{-3} (upper branch) but 1.25×10^{-3} for the linear prediction. For the inextensible cable, two components of displacement are zero. The maximum transverse displacement and minimum tension in the 2-D sagged elastic cable ($B_x = x_B, B_y = B_z = 0$) for $q_x = -1$ is plotted in Fig.5.6 when the chord ratio is $x_{\rm B} = 0.8$. The lower branch of the equilibrium configuration for any traveling speed always exists, and the displacement and tension increase with the transverse load and transport speed. The upper branch of equilibrium configuration is stable only when the transport creates positive tension. The equilibrium configuration and tension of a cable under its own weight ($q_y = -1$) and the longitudinal loads $(q_x = 0, -1)$ are illustrated in Fig.5.7 at $x_B = 0.8$ and c = 1. The equilibrium configurations and tension distributions are symmetric $q_x = 0$. The longitudinal and transverse displacements from the initial configuration to equilibrium of the sagged elastic cable are shown in Fig.5.8. Unlike the straight cable in Fig.5.5, the longitudinal displacement of the sagged cable is the same order of magnitude as the transverse displacement. For this problem, when the tension of the partial cable is zero, the configuration of cables will be changed, and a new configuration should be determined. How to determine the zero-tension boundary and such a new configuration is unsolved, and a further investigation should be conducted. The maximum transverse displacement and the related tension versus the chord ratio are shown in Fig.5.9 at c = 10. The maxima occur at $x_{\rm B} = 1$. The results indicates that slightly sagged cables ($x_{\rm B} = 0.9 \sim 1$) must be modeled as extensible to achieve the accuracy for most applications. The sagged cable model reduces to the straight cable model at $x_{\rm B} = 1$.



(b)

х

0.4

0.2

-0.6

-1.2 0.0 Linear solution

0.6

0.8

1.0

Fig. 5.5 (a) Longitudinal and (b) transverse equilibrium displacements of *straight*, *elastic* cable under $q_x = 0$ and $q_y = -1$ for c = 10, $c_p = 740.87$ and $c^0 = 0$.



Fig. 5.6 (a)Displacement and (b) tension versus traveling speed of sagged, *elastic* cable ($x_{\rm B} = 0.8$) for $q_x = q_y = -1$: $c_p = 740.87$ and $c^0 = 0$.



Fig. 5.7 (a) Multiple equilibrium configurations and (b) tension distributions of sagged, *elastic* cable at equilibrium ($x_{\rm B} = 0.8$) under $q_y = -1$ and q_x for $c = 1 : c_p = 740.87$, and $c^0 = 0$.



Fig. 5.8 (a) Longitudinal and (b) transverse displacements of sagged, *elastic* cable ($x_{\rm B} = 0.8$) under its own weight ($q_y = -1$) and longitudinal loading for c = 10: $c_p = 740.87$ and $c^0 = 0$.



Fig. 5.9 (a) Displacement and (b) tension versus chord ratio of sagged, *elastic* cable with $q_y = -1$, c = 10, $c_p = 740.87$ and $c^0 = 0$.

5.3.3c Concentrated loading

Consider a 3-D sagged traveling cable carrying m-1 concentrated loads F_k^I (k = 1, 2, ..., m-1 and I = 1, 2, 3 for x, y, z) which divide the cable into m segments. q_k^I (k = 1, 2, ..., m) are uniformly distributed loads and c_0^2 is a constant initial tension. The boundary conditions satisfy Eq.(5.68). Three components of displacement from Eq.(5.83) are computed through Eqs.(5.84) and (5.85) when $\{u^I, q^I, C^I, D^I, \Xi, \Theta, q\}$ and $\{\hat{C}^I, \hat{D}^I, \hat{\Xi}, \hat{\Theta}\}$ are replaced by $\{u_k^I, q_k^I, C_k^I, D_k^I, \Xi_k, \Theta_k\}$. The corresponding boundary condition in Eq.(5.83) at $\eta = 0$ becomes

$$D_{1}^{I} = \mp \frac{c_{p}^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}}{c_{p}^{2} - c^{2}} \Biggl\{ -\frac{q_{1}^{I}}{q_{1}} \Theta(0) + \frac{(C_{1}^{I}q_{1}^{J} - C_{1}^{J}q_{1}^{I})q_{1}^{J}}{(q_{1})^{3}} \log[\Xi_{1}(0) + \Theta_{1}(0)] \Biggr\}.$$
 (5.99)

The displacement continuity between the *k*th and (k+1)th segments is for (k = 1, 2, ..., m-1 and I = 1, 2, 3):

$$\pm \frac{[c_{p}^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}](C_{k}^{I}q_{k}^{J} - C_{k}^{J}q_{k}^{I})q_{k}^{I}}{(q_{k})^{3}}\log[\Xi_{k}(\eta_{k}) + \Theta_{k}(\eta_{k})]$$

$$\mp \frac{[c_{p}^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}]q_{k}^{I}}{q_{k}}\Theta_{k}(\eta_{k}) + C_{k}^{I}\eta_{k} - \frac{1}{2}q_{k}^{I}\eta_{k}^{2}$$

$$=\pm \frac{[c_{p}^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}](C_{k+1}^{I}q_{k+1}^{J} - C_{k+1}^{J}q_{k+1}^{I})q_{k+1}^{J}}{(q_{k+1})^{3}}$$

$$\times \log\left[\Xi_{k+1}(\eta_{k}) + \Theta_{k+1}(\eta_{k})\right] \mp \frac{[c_{p}^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}]q_{k+1}^{I}}{q^{(\alpha+1)}}\Theta_{k+1}(\eta_{k})$$

$$+ C_{k+1}^{I}\eta_{k} - \frac{1}{2}q_{k+1}^{I}\eta_{k}^{2} + (c_{p}^{2} - c^{2})(D_{k+1}^{I} - D_{k+1}^{I}), \qquad (5.100)$$

and force balances in Eq.(5.80) give:

$$-q_{k}^{I}\eta_{k} + C_{k}^{I} - F_{k}^{I} = -q_{k+1}^{I}\eta_{k} + C_{k+1}^{I}.$$
(5.101)

The boundary condition in Eq.(5.83) at $\eta = 1$ produces

$$C_{m}^{I} \pm \frac{[c_{p}^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}](C_{m}^{I}q_{m}^{J} - C_{m}^{J}q_{m}^{I})q_{m}^{J}}{(q_{m})^{3}}\log[\Xi_{m}(1) + \Theta_{m}(1)] + d_{m}^{I} = B^{I}(c_{p}^{2} - c^{2}) + \frac{1}{2}q_{m}^{I} \pm \frac{[c_{p}^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}]q_{m}^{I}}{q_{m}}\Theta_{m}(1).$$
(5.102)

The C_k^l and D_k^l are determined by solving $6 \times n$ nonlinear algebraic equations

(5.99)–(5.102). Similarly, the constants \hat{C}_k and \hat{D}_k for the inextensible cable are determined by the following $6 \times n$ nonlinear equations.

$$\hat{D}_{1}^{I} = \mp \left\{ -\frac{q_{1}^{I}}{q_{1}} \hat{\Theta}(0) + \frac{(\hat{C}_{1}^{I} q_{1}^{J} - \hat{C}_{1}^{J} q_{1}^{I}) q_{1}^{J}}{(q_{1})^{3}} \log \left[\hat{\Xi}_{1}(0) + \hat{\Theta}_{1}(0) \right] \right\},$$

$$\pm \frac{(\hat{C}_{k}^{I} q_{k}^{J} - \hat{C}_{k}^{J} q_{k}^{I}) q_{k}^{J}}{(q_{k})^{3}} \log \left[\hat{\Xi}_{k}(\eta_{k}) + \hat{\Theta}_{k}(\eta_{k}) \right] \mp \frac{q_{k}^{I}}{q_{k}} \hat{\Theta}_{k}(\eta_{k}) + \hat{D}_{k}^{I} \\
= \pm \frac{(\hat{C}_{k+1}^{I} q_{k+1}^{J} - \hat{C}_{k+1}^{J} q_{k+1}^{I}) q_{k+1}^{J}}{(q_{k+1})^{3}} \log \left[\hat{\Xi}_{k+1}(\eta_{k}) + \hat{\Theta}_{k+1}(\eta_{k}) \right] \\$$

$$\mp \frac{q_{k+1}^{I}}{q_{k+1}} \hat{\Theta}_{k+1}(\eta_{k}) + \hat{D}_{k+1}^{I},$$
(5.104)

$$-q_{k}^{I}\eta_{k} + \hat{C}_{k}^{I} - F_{k}^{I} = -q_{k+1}^{I}\eta_{k} + \hat{C}_{k+1}^{I}, \qquad (5.105)$$

$$\pm \frac{(\hat{C}_{m}^{I} q_{m}^{J} - \hat{C}_{m}^{J} q_{m}^{J}) q_{m}^{J}}{(q_{m})^{3}} \log \left[\hat{\Xi}_{m}(1) + \hat{\Theta}_{m}(1)\right] + \hat{D}_{m}^{I} = B^{I} \pm \frac{q_{m}^{I}}{q_{m}} \hat{\Theta}_{m}(1).$$
(5.106)

The coefficients can be obtained from Eqs.(5.99)–(5.106). The exact closed form displacement for the equilibrium configuration of traveling, sagged cables under the uniformly distributed and concentrated loading is completed. The computation of tension, equilibrium configuration for each segment of elastic and inextensible cables can be carried out. To illustrate the equilibrium configuration and tension distribution under concentrated loading, consider a 2-D sagged cable ($B_x = x_B$, $B_y = B_z = 0$) under its own weight and a concentrated load $F_x = 0$, $F_y = -0.4$ when c = 10 and $x_B = 0.8$. The equilibrium configurations and the tension segment 1 (S1) to segment 2 (S2) for the concentrated loading at $\eta_1 = 0.2$ and 0.5 are plotted in Fig.5.10. If the concentrated force is at the middle of cable ($\eta_1 = 0.5$), the jump in tension vanishes. The slopes of the configuration and tension are discontinuous at the location of the concentrated force.

5.4. Nonlinear dynamics of cables

In this section, the dynamics of extensible cables will be discussed. The corresponding equations of motion for the traveling and rotating cable will be discussed. The analytical solutions for the motion of the traveling inextensible cables will be presented, and numerical illustrations for the motion of inextensible cables will be given. Equations for pure deformable motions of the deformable cables will be presented.



(b)

 $x(\eta_1)$

Fig. 5.10 (a) Equilibrium configuration and (b) tension-jump from segment 1 to segment 2 of sagged, *elastic* cable ($x_B = 0.8$) under its own weight ($q_y = -1$) and a concentrated force ($F_y = -0.4$) for c = 10: $c_p = 740.87$ and $c^0 = 0$.

5.4.1. Equations of motion

To describe the motion of the cable, as in Section 5.2, an initial equilibrium is required. Consider the initial configuration of the cable expressed through ${}^{(0)}\overline{\mathbf{X}}_{k} = {}^{(0)}\overline{X}_{k}^{I}\mathbf{I}_{I}$ (summation on I = 1, 2, 3). \mathbf{I}_{I} is the unit vector in the three directions of the fixed coordinates. For the rigid body configuration, there is a relation $\sqrt{{}^{(0)}X_{k,\eta}^{I}} = 1$ (summation for index I). The superscript "0" denotes the static configuration related to the static rigid-body equilibrium. Since the rigid body motion exists in sagged cables, for some time \overline{t} , a cable configuration relative to the rigid-body motion is defined by $\overline{\mathbf{X}}(t) = \overline{X}_{k}^{I}(t)\mathbf{I}_{I}$. The corresponding rigid-body displacement $\overline{\mathbf{U}}_{k} = \overline{U}_{k}^{I}\mathbf{I}_{I}$ is defined by $\overline{\mathbf{U}}_{k} = \overline{\mathbf{X}}_{k} - {}^{(0)}\overline{\mathbf{X}}_{k}$. The dynamical rigid-body configuration still requires $\sqrt{\overline{X}_{k,\overline{s}}^{I}\overline{X}_{k,\overline{s}}^{I}} = 1$. From the rigid-body configuration, the total configuration of the elastic cable is $\overline{\mathbf{x}}_{k}(\overline{t}) = x_{k}^{I}\mathbf{I}_{I}$ and the corresponding deformation displacement is defined as $\overline{u}_{k}^{I} = \overline{x}_{k}^{I} - \overline{X}_{k}^{I}$ with $\overline{\mathbf{u}}_{k} = \overline{u}_{k}^{I}\mathbf{I}_{I}$, as shown in Fig.5.11. For inextensible cables, equations of motion are given from Eq.(5.49), i.e., for (I, J, K = 1, 2, 3),

$$X_{k,u}^{I} + \Omega_{,t}^{J} X_{k}^{K} e_{IJK} + 2\Omega^{J} X_{k,t}^{K} e_{IJK} + \Omega^{J} \Omega^{K} X_{k}^{L} e_{IJM} e_{MKL}$$

= $q_{k}^{I} + (c^{0})^{2} X_{k,SS}^{I}$. (5.107)

With Eq.(5.50), the equations of motion for traveling and rotating inextensible cables are as in Eq.(5.51).

$$X_{k,u}^{I} + 2cX_{k,\eta t}^{I} + c^{2}X_{k,\eta\eta}^{I} + \Omega_{,t}^{J}X_{k}^{K}e_{IJK} + 2\Omega^{J}(X_{k,t}^{K} + cX_{k,\eta}^{K})e_{IJK} + \Omega^{J}\Omega^{K}X_{k}^{L}e_{IJM}e_{MKL} = q_{k}^{I} + (c^{0})^{2}X_{,\eta\eta}^{I}.$$
(5.108)

Without rotation, the equations of motion for traveling cables are

$$X_{k,\mu}^{I} + 2cX_{k,\eta\mu}^{I} + c^{2}X_{k,\eta\eta}^{I} = q_{k}^{i} + (c^{0})^{2}X_{,\eta\eta}^{I}.$$
(5.109)

The corresponding boundary and initial conditions for the inextensible cables are

$$X_{0}^{I}(0,t) = A^{I}, X_{m}^{I}(1,t) = B^{I},$$

$$X_{k}^{I}(\eta,0) = \phi_{k}^{I}(\eta), X_{k,l}^{I}(\eta,0) = \phi_{k}^{I}(\eta).$$
(5.110)

Continuity for displacement and velocity for two adjacent segments requires

$$X_{k}^{I}(\eta_{k},t) = X_{k+1}^{I}(\eta_{k},t),$$

$$\phi_{k}^{I}(\eta_{k}) = \phi_{k+1}^{I}(\eta_{k}), \quad \phi_{k}^{I}(\eta_{k}) = \phi_{k+1}^{I}(\eta_{k}) \right\} \text{ for } I = 1, 2, 3.$$
(5.111)



Fig. 5.11 Decomposition of rigid and elastic displacements of sagged cables.

Consider the inextensible cable as an initial configuration and its rigid-body motion (i.e., $X_k^I = {}^{(0)}X_k^I + U_k^I$). Thus, equation (5.107) becomes

$$U_{k,u}^{I} + \Omega_{,\iota}^{J} ({}^{(0)}X_{k}^{K} + U_{k}^{K}) e_{IJK} + 2\Omega^{J} U_{k,\iota}^{K} e_{IJK} + \Omega^{J} \Omega^{K} (X_{k}^{L} + U_{k}^{L}) e_{IJM} e_{MKL}$$

= $q_{k}^{I} + (c^{0})^{2} ({}^{(0)}X_{k,\eta\eta}^{I} + U_{k,\eta\eta}^{I}).$ (5.112)

The equation of motion in Eq.(5.108) for traveling and rotating cables becomes

$$U_{k,tt}^{I} + 2cU_{k,\eta t}^{I} + c^{2} ({}^{(0)}X_{k,\eta\eta}^{I} + U_{k,\eta\eta}^{I}) + \Omega_{,t}^{J} ({}^{(0)}X_{k}^{K} + U_{k}^{K})e_{LJK} + 2\Omega^{J} [U_{k,t}^{K} + c ({}^{(0)}X_{k,\eta}^{K} + U_{k,\eta}^{K})]e_{LJK} + \Omega^{J}\Omega^{K} (X_{k}^{L} + U_{k}^{L})e_{LJM}e_{MKL} = q_{k}^{I} + (c^{0})^{2} ({}^{(0)}X_{k,\eta\eta}^{I} + U_{k,\eta\eta}^{I}).$$
(5.113)

Without any motion of the inextensible cable $U_k^I = U_{k,t}^I = U_{k,t}^I = 0$, the initial configuration for rotating cables can be determined by

$$2c\Omega^{J(0)}X_{k,\eta}^{K}e_{IJK} + \Omega^{J}\Omega^{K}X_{k}^{L}e_{IJM}e_{MKL} = q_{k}^{I} + (c^{0})^{2(0)}X_{k,\eta\eta}^{I}.$$
(5.114)

The initial configuration for traveling and rotating cables is given by

$$c^{2}{}^{(0)}X^{I}_{k,\eta\eta} + 2c\Omega^{J}{}^{(0)}X^{K}_{k,\eta}e_{IJK} + \Omega^{J}{}^{(0)}X^{K}_{k}e_{IJK} + \Omega^{J}\Omega^{K}X^{L}_{k}e_{IJM}e_{MKL}$$

= $q^{I}_{k} + (c^{0})^{2}{}^{(0)}X^{I}_{k,\eta\eta}.$ (5.115)

Without rotation, the initial configuration for traveling cables is

$$c^{2}{}^{(0)}X^{I}_{k,\eta\eta} = q^{I}_{k} + (c^{0})^{2}{}^{(0)}X^{I}_{k,\eta\eta}.$$
(5.116)

5 Nonlinear Cables

The corresponding boundary and continuity conditions are

$${}^{(0)}X_{1}^{I}(0) = A^{I}, \ {}^{(0)}X_{m}^{I}(1) = B^{I},$$

$${}^{(0)}X_{k}^{I}(\eta_{k}) = {}^{(0)}X_{k+1}^{I}(\eta_{k}).$$
(5.117)

The analytical solution of such an initial configuration of the inextensible cable can be given by Eqs.(5.114)–(5.116) with the boundary condition in Eq.(5.117). For traveling cables, the initial configuration can be referred to Section 5.3 (also see, Luo and Mote, 2000).

Substitution of Eq.(5.114) into Eq.(5.112) yields

$$U_{k,n}^{I} + \Omega_{,t}^{J} U_{k}^{K} e_{IJK} + 2\Omega^{J} U_{k,t}^{K} e_{IJK} + \Omega^{J} \Omega^{K} U_{k}^{L} e_{IJM} e_{MKL} = q_{k}^{I} + (c^{0})^{2} U_{k,\eta\eta}^{I}.$$
 (5.118)

Substitution of Eq.(5.115) into Eq.(5.113) yields

$$U_{k,tt}^{I} + 2cU_{k,\eta t}^{I} + c^{2}U_{k,\eta\eta}^{I} + 2\Omega^{J}[U_{k,t}^{K} + cU_{k,\eta}^{K}]e_{IJK} + \Omega^{J}\Omega^{K}U_{k}^{L}e_{IJM}e_{MKL}$$

= $(c^{0})^{2}U_{k,\eta\eta}^{I}$. (5.119)

Without rotation, one obtains

$$U_{k,tt}^{I} + 2cU_{k,\eta t}^{I} + (c^{2} - (c^{0})^{2})U_{k,\eta\eta}^{I} = 0.$$
(5.120)

The corresponding boundary and initial conditions for the rigid body motion are

$$U_{1}^{I}(0,t) = U_{m}^{I}(1,t) = 0;$$

$$U_{k}^{I}(\eta,0) = \Phi_{k}^{I}(\eta), \ U_{k,t}^{I}(\eta,0) = \Gamma_{k}^{I}(\eta).$$
(5.121)

The continuity of displacement and velocity for two adjacent segments requires

$$U_{k}^{I}(\eta_{k},t) = U_{k+1}^{I}(\eta_{k},t), \Phi_{k}^{I}(\eta_{k}) = \Phi_{k+1}^{I}(\eta_{k}), \Gamma_{k}^{I}(\eta_{k}) = \Gamma_{k+1}^{I}(\eta_{k})$$
 for $I = 1, 2, 3.$ (5.122)

From the above equations, the motion of inextensible cables can be determined.

5.4.2. Motions of inextensible cables

Before determining the motion of the inextensible cable, its initial (static) configuration is determined by formulas in Section 5.2 (also see, Luo and Mote, 2000). The traveling cable will be considered as an example. The solution presented in this section is based on Luo and Wang (2002). The rigid-body motion of cable (or the motion of inextensible cable) is solved by Eqs.(5.120) and (5.121). One segment of cable with distributed loading is considered. So the subscript "k" will be dropped. Therefore, the rigid body motion is assumed as

5.4 Nonlinear Dynamics of cables

$$U^{I} = \Phi_{1}^{I}(\eta)e^{i\omega^{I}t} + \Phi_{2}^{I}(\eta)e^{-i\omega^{I}t}, \qquad (5.123)$$

where $i = \sqrt{-1}$. Substitution of Eq.(5.123) into Eq.(5.121) leads to

$$(c^{2} - (c^{0})^{2})(\Phi_{1,\eta\eta}^{\prime} + \Phi_{2,\eta\eta}^{\prime}) - (\omega^{\prime})^{2}(\Phi_{1}^{\prime} + \Phi_{2}^{\prime}) + 2ic\omega^{\prime}(\Phi_{1}^{\prime} - \Phi_{2}^{\prime}) = 0,$$

$$2ic\omega^{\prime}(\Phi_{1}^{\prime} + \Phi_{2}^{\prime}) + (c^{2} - (c^{0})^{2})(\Phi_{1,\eta\eta}^{\prime} - \Phi_{2,\eta\eta}^{\prime}) - (\omega^{\prime})^{2}(\Phi_{1}^{\prime} - \Phi_{2}^{\prime}) = 0.$$
(5.124)

To solve Eq.(5.124), consider the following functions:

$$\Phi_{1}^{I} + \Phi_{2}^{I} = B_{1}^{I} e^{\lambda_{i} \eta} \text{ and } \Phi_{1}^{I} - \Phi_{2}^{I} = B_{2}^{I} e^{\lambda_{i} \eta}, \qquad (5.125)$$

where λ_{l} is constant. From Eq.(5.125), equation (5.124) becomes

$$\begin{bmatrix} \lambda_I^2 (c^2 - (c^0)^2) - (\omega^I)^2 & 2ic\omega^I \lambda_I \\ 2ic\omega^I \lambda_I & \lambda_I^2 (c^2 - (c^0)^2) - (\omega^I)^2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} B_1^I \\ B_2^I \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (5.126)

For a non-trivial solution,

$$\begin{vmatrix} \lambda_{I}^{2} (c^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}) - (\omega^{I})^{2} & 2ic\omega^{I} \lambda_{I} \\ 2ic\omega^{I} \lambda_{I} & \lambda_{I}^{2} (c^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}) - (\omega^{I})^{2} \end{vmatrix} = 0.$$
(5.127)

The four eigenvalues (λ_{i}) are

$$\lambda_{I(1,2)} = \pm i \frac{\omega^I}{c+c^0} \equiv \pm i \alpha_1^I, \ \lambda_{I(3,4)} = \pm i \frac{\omega^I}{c-c^0} \equiv \pm i \alpha_2^I.$$
(5.128)

Using Euler's formula and eigenvectors, the rigid-body displacement is

$$U^{I} = \sin \omega^{I} t \Big[D_{1}^{I} \cos(\alpha_{1}^{I} \eta) - D_{2}^{I} \sin(\alpha_{1}^{I} \eta) \\ + D_{3}^{I} \cos(\alpha_{2}^{I} \eta) + D_{4}^{I} \sin(\alpha_{2}^{I} \eta) \Big] \\ + \cos \omega^{I} t \Big[D_{1}^{I} \sin(\alpha_{1}^{I} \eta) + D_{2}^{I} \cos(\alpha_{1}^{I} \eta) \\ - D_{3}^{I} \sin(\alpha_{2}^{I} \eta) + D_{4}^{I} \cos(\alpha_{2}^{I} \eta) \Big].$$
(5.129)

Satisfying the first equation of Eq.(5.121) gives $D_3^I = -D_1^I$, $D_4^I = D_2^I$. Application of the second equation of Eq.(5.121) to Eq.(5.129) generates

$$\begin{bmatrix} \cos \alpha_1^I - \cos \alpha_2^I & -(\sin \alpha_1^I + \sin \alpha_2^I) \\ \sin \alpha_1^I + \sin \alpha_2^I & \cos \alpha_1^I - \cos \alpha_2^I \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} D_1^I \\ D_2^I \end{bmatrix} = 0.$$
(5.130)

Therefore, for any non-trivial solution, the frequency equation is obtained through

$$\begin{vmatrix} \cos \alpha_1^I - \cos \alpha_2^I & -(\sin \alpha_1^I + \sin \alpha_2^I) \\ \sin \alpha_1^I + \sin \alpha_2^I & \cos \alpha_1^I - \cos \alpha_2^I \end{vmatrix} = 0,$$
(5.131)

5 Nonlinear Cables

which leads to the natural frequencies of the inextensible cables, i.e.,

$$\omega_p^l = p\omega^l, \ p = 1, 2, ...; \text{ and } \omega^l = \frac{\pi[(c^0)^2 - c^2]}{c^0}.$$
 (5.132)

The rigid-body displacement of the inextensible cable is thus written in a form of

$$U^{I}(\eta,t) = \sum_{p=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \sin(p\omega^{I}t) \left[C^{I}_{(1,p)}\varphi_{(1,p)}(\eta) + C^{I}_{(2,p)}\varphi_{(2,p)}(\eta) \right] + \cos(p\omega^{I}t) \left[C^{I}_{(2,p)}\varphi_{(1,p)}(\eta) - C^{I}_{(1,p)}\varphi_{(2,p)}(\eta) \right] \right\},$$
(5.133)

where

$$\varphi_{(1,p)} = \sin\left(\frac{p\pi c}{c_1}\eta\right) \sin\left(p\pi\eta\right), \ \varphi_{(2,p)} = \cos\left(\frac{p\pi c}{c_1}\eta\right) \sin\left(p\pi\eta\right).$$
(5.134)

Substitution of $U^{I}(\eta, t)$ into the second equation of Eq.(5.121) and truncation of the displacement yields

$$\sum_{p=1}^{M} \left[C_{(2,p)}^{I} \varphi_{(1,p)}(\eta) - C_{(1,p)}^{I} \varphi_{(2,p)}(\eta) \right] = \Phi^{I}(\eta),$$

$$\sum_{p=1}^{M} p \omega^{I} \left[C_{(1,p)}^{I} \varphi_{(1,p)}(\eta) + C_{(2,p)}^{I} \varphi_{(2,p)}(\eta) \right] = \Gamma^{I}(\eta),$$
(5.135)

where M is a positive integer. For convenience, equation (5.135) is rewritten in a matrix form of

$$\mathbf{\Phi}^{I}(\boldsymbol{\eta})\mathbf{C}^{I} = \mathbf{U}_{0}^{I}(\boldsymbol{\eta}), \qquad (5.136)$$

where

$$\Phi^{I}(\eta) = \begin{bmatrix}
-\varphi_{(2,1)} & \varphi_{(1,1)} & \cdots & -\varphi_{(2,p)} & \varphi_{(1,p)} & \cdots \\
\omega^{I} \varphi_{(1,1)} & \omega^{I} \varphi_{(2,1)} & \cdots & p \omega^{I} \varphi_{(1,p)} & p \omega^{I} \varphi_{(2,p)} & \cdots \\
-\varphi_{(2,M)} & \varphi_{(1,M)} & M \omega^{I} \varphi_{(2,M)}
\end{bmatrix},$$
(5.137)

and

$$\mathbf{C}^{I} = (C_{(1,1)}^{I}, C_{(2,1)}^{I}, ..., C_{(1,2)}^{I}, C_{(2,2)}^{I}, ..., C_{(1,M)}^{I}, C_{(2,M)}^{I})^{\mathrm{T}},$$

$$\mathbf{U}_{0}^{I}(\boldsymbol{\eta}) = (\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{I}, \boldsymbol{\Gamma}^{I})^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
(5.138)

To make a square matrix for determining all the coefficients, a function base is introduced by

$$\boldsymbol{\Theta} = \left(\sin\left(\pi\eta\right), \sin\left(2\pi\eta\right), ..., \sin\left(M\pi\eta\right)\right)^{\mathrm{T}}$$
(5.139)

The 2*M*-linear algebraic equations of $C_{(1,p)}^{I}$ and $C_{(2,p)}^{I}$ are obtained by

5.4 Nonlinear Dynamics of cables

$$\tilde{\mathbf{\Phi}}^{I}\mathbf{C}^{I} = \tilde{\mathbf{U}}_{0}^{I}, \qquad (5.140)$$

where

$$[\tilde{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}^{I}]_{(p,q)} = \int_{0}^{1} \{\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{\mathsf{T}}\}_{p} [\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{I}]_{(1,q)} \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\eta} \text{ and } \{\tilde{\mathbf{U}}_{0}^{I}\}_{p} = \int_{0}^{1} \{\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{\mathsf{T}}\}_{p} \,\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{I} \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\eta}$$
(5.141)

for $1 \le p \le M$ and $1 \le q \le 2M$,

$$\left[\tilde{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}^{T}\right]_{p,q} = \int_{0}^{1} \{\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{\mathsf{T}}\}_{p} \left[\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{T}\right]_{(2,q)} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\eta} \text{ and } \{\tilde{\mathbf{U}}_{0}^{T}\}_{p} = \int_{0}^{1} \{\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{\mathsf{T}}\}_{p} \Gamma^{T} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\eta}$$
(5.142)

for $M+1 \le p \le 2M$, $1 \le q \le 2M$.

The other elements of $\tilde{\Phi}^{t}$ are zero. The unknowns \mathbf{C}^{t} can be obtained by solving Eq.(5.140). Substitution of \mathbf{C}^{t} into Eq.(5.133) and neglecting terms with order higher than *M* gives an approximate expression of the rigid-body displacement of the cable at any time. The dynamic configuration at time *t* is expressed by

$$X^{I}(\eta, t) = {}^{(0)}X^{I}(\eta) + U^{I}(\eta, t)$$
(5.143)

From the above analysis, the initial rigid body configuration is very important to determine the rigid-body motion and the deformation motion. A two-dimensional traveling, sagged cable is illustrated as an example. The material properties of the cable are: $\rho = 6000 \text{ kg/m}^3$, S = 1 m, $\overline{T}_0 = 100 \text{N}$, $A = 2.5 \times 10^{-5} \text{m}^2$, $\overline{c} = 3.16 \text{ m/s}$. Thus, the non-dimensional parameters are c = 1 and $c^0 \approx 8.17$. The boundary locations are $A_x = A_y = 0$, $B_x = 0.8$, and $B_y = 0$. Consider the vibration of the uniform cable near its rigid-body equilibrium under the self-weight, i.e., the loading is $(q_x, q_y) = (0, -1)$. The initial configuration is given through the equilibrium configuration determined with loading $(q_x, q_y) = (1, -1)$ at t = 0. For such an initial configuration, the traveling cable under $(q_x, q_y) = (0, -1)$ will be vibrated in the vicinity of its rigid-body equilibrium configuration. The free vibration responses of the rigid-displacement are computed and presented in Fig.5.12. From the given parameters, the oscillation period is T = 0.2485. The rigid-body configuration and displacements versus coordinate X are illustrated for time t =0T, 0.25T, ..., 1T in Fig.5.12(a)–(c), respectively. In Fig.5.12(a), the instant configuration of the traveling inextensible cable is presented. The configuration motion is like a pendulum swing motion. The rigid-body displacements of the inextensible cable in the vicinity of the equilibrium of $(q_x, q_y) = (0, -1)$ with c = 1 are presented in Fig.5.12(b) and (c). To demonstrate the time-histories of displacements, the rigid-body displacements at the midpoint of the cable are illustrated for the X and Y-directions in Fig.5.12 (d) and (e), respectively. The displacement responses are not simply harmonic. In addition, a plane of two rigid-body displacements at the middle point is illustrated in Fig.5.12(f). The acronyms "I.C." denotes initial displacement of the inextensible cable. The natural frequency versus the ratio of the translational speed to the constant wave speed is illustrated in Fig.5.13. It is observed that $\omega^{t} = 0$ at $c = c_{0}$. For $c > c_{0}$, the solution presented herein is not applicable. However, the solutions for the motion of the in-plane inextensible cable for $c \in [0, +\infty)$ can be referred to Wang and Luo (2004).

5.4.3. Motions of deformable cables

After discussion of equation of motion for the inextensible cable, the motion of deformable cables can be discussed. With Eq.(5.107), Equation (5.65) can be expressed through the deformation displacement, i.e.,

$$u_{k,tt}^{I} + \Omega_{j}^{J} u_{k}^{K} e_{LJK} + 2\Omega^{J} u_{k,t}^{K} e_{LJK} + \Omega^{J} \Omega^{K} u_{k}^{L} e_{LJM} e_{MKL}$$

$$= \left[\frac{T_{k}(S)(X_{k,S}^{I} + u_{k,S}^{I})}{1 + \mathscr{E}_{k}} \right]_{,S} - (c^{0})^{2} X_{k,SS}^{I}.$$
(5.144)

The deformation motion for traveling and rotating cables in Eq.(5.67) is written as

$$u_{k,tt}^{I} + 2cu_{k,\eta t}^{I} + c^{2}u_{k,\eta \eta}^{I} + \Omega_{,t}^{J}u_{k}^{K}e_{LJK} + 2\Omega_{,t}^{J}(u_{k,t}^{K} + cu_{k,\eta}^{K})e_{LJK} + \Omega_{,t}^{J}\Omega_{,t}^{K}u_{k}^{L}e_{LJM}e_{MKL} = \left[\frac{T_{k}(\eta)(X_{k,\eta}^{I} + u_{k,\eta}^{I})}{1 + \mathcal{C}_{k}}\right]_{,\eta} - (c^{0})^{2}X_{k,\eta\eta}^{I}.$$
(5.145)

Without rotation,

$$u_{k,tt}^{I} + 2cu_{k,\eta t}^{I} + c^{2}u_{k,\eta \eta}^{I} = \left[\frac{T_{k}(\eta)(X_{k,\eta}^{I} + u_{k,\eta}^{I})}{1 + \mathscr{C}_{k}}\right]_{,\eta} - (c^{0})^{2}X_{k,\eta \eta}^{I}.$$
(5.146)

The boundary and initial conditions for the elastic deformation are:

$$u_{k}^{I}(0,t) = 0, \ u_{k}^{I}(1,t) = 0;$$

$$u_{k}^{I}(\eta,0) = \phi_{k}^{I}(\eta), \ u_{k,l}^{I}(\eta,0) = \gamma_{k}^{I}(\eta).$$
(5.147)

The continuity conditions are

$$u_{k}^{I}(\eta_{k},t) = u_{k+1}^{I}(\eta_{k},t), \phi_{k}^{I}(\eta_{k}) = \phi_{k+1}^{I}(\eta_{k}), \ \gamma_{k}^{I}(\eta_{k}) = \gamma_{k+1}^{I}(\eta_{k})$$
 for $I = 1, 2, 3.$ (5.148)

With $\mathscr{C}_k = 0$ and $T_k(S) = T^0(S) \equiv (c^0)^2$, Equations (5.144)–(8.146) become

$$u_{k,t}^{l} + \Omega_{j}^{J} u_{k}^{K} e_{lJK} + 2\Omega^{J} u_{k,t}^{K} e_{lJK} + \Omega^{J} \Omega^{K} u_{k}^{L} e_{lJM} e_{MKL} = (c^{0})^{2} u_{k,SS}^{l}.$$
(5.149)



Fig. 5.12 The rigid-body configuration and displacements varying with coordinate *X* for $(q_x, q_y) = (0, -1)$: (a) configuration, (b) *X*-component, and (c) *Y*-component. The rigid-body responses of the middle point of the cable: (d) *X*-component, (e) *Y*-component, and (f) displacement plane. (c = 1, $c^0 = 8.17$ and $T \approx 0.2485$). Initial configuration is given by the equilibrium for $(q_x, q_y) = (1, -1)$.



Fig. 5.13 Natural frequency varying with the transport speed. (c = 1, $c^0 \approx 8.17$).

$$u_{k,tt}^{I} + 2cu_{k,\eta t}^{I} + c^{2}u_{k,\eta\eta}^{I} + \Omega_{,t}^{J}u_{k}^{K}e_{JJK} + 2\Omega_{,t}^{J}(u_{k,t}^{K} + cu_{k,\eta}^{K})e_{JJK} + \Omega^{J}\Omega^{K}u_{k}^{L}e_{IJM}e_{MKI} = (c^{0})^{2}u_{k,\eta\eta}^{I},$$
(5.150)

$$u_{k,tt}^{I} + 2cu_{k,\eta t}^{I} + [c^{2} - (c^{0})^{2}]u_{k,\eta\eta}^{I} = 0.$$
(5.151)

identical to Eqs.(5.109)–(5.111). The equation of deformation motion becomes the equation of motion for the inextensible cable. Based on the dynamical configuration of the inextensible cable, the pure deformation motion of the cable can be determined by Eq.(5.144) (or Eq.(5.145) or Eq.(5.146)) and Eqs.(5.147) and (5.148).

References

Irvine, H.M., 1981, Cable Structures, The MIT Press, Cambridge.

- Luo, A.C.J., Han, R.P.S., Tyc, G., Modi, V.J. and Misra, A.K., 1996, Analytical vibration and resonant motion of a stretched, spinning, nonlinear tether, AIAA Journal of Guidance, Control and Dynamics, 19, 1162-1171.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Mote, C.D. Jr., 2000, Exact equilibrium solutions for traveling nonlinear cables, *ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics*, **67**, 148-154.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Wang, Y.F., 2002, On the rigid-body motion of traveling, sagged cables, *Symposium on Dynamics, Acoustics and Simulations* in 2002 ASME International Mechanical Engineering Congress and Exposition, New Orleans, Louisiana, November 17-22, 2002, DE115, 397-403.
- O'Reilly, O.M., 1996, Steady motions of a drawn cable, *ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics*, **63**, 180-189.
- Routh, E.J., 1884, *The Advanced Part of a Treatise on the Dynamics of a System of Rigid Bodies*, 4th Ed., MacMillan and Co, London.
- Simpson, A., 1966, Determination of the in-plane natural frequencies of multispan transmission

lines by a transfer matrix method, *Proceeding of the Institution of Electrical Engineers*, **113**, 870-878.

- Thurman, A.L. and Mote, C.D. Jr., 1969, Free, periodic, nonlinear oscillations of an axially moving strip, *ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics*, **36**, 83-91.
- Wang, Y.F. and Luo, A.C.J., 2004, Dynamics of an inextensible cable, Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation, 9, 531-542.
- Yu, P., Wong, P.S. and Kaempffer, F., 1995, Tension of conductor under concentrated loads, ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics, 62, 802-809.

Chapter 6 Nonlinear Plates and Waves

This chapter will present a nonlinear plate theory from three-dimensional elastic theory, and the approximate theories of thin plates will be discussed. From such a theory, approximate solutions for nonlinear waves in traveling plates and rotating disks will be presented. In addition, stationary and resonant waves in the traveling plates and rotating disks will be discussed. Finally, chaotic waves in traveling plates under periodic excitation will be presented.

6.1. A nonlinear theory of plates

In this section, a nonlinear plate theory of thin plate will be proposed from the theory of 3-D deformable body. In this theory, the exact geometry of the deformed middle surface is used to derive the strains and equilibrium of the plate. This theory reduces to existing nonlinear theories through imposition of constraints. Application of this theory does not depend on the constitutive law because the physical deformation measure is used. The comprehensive discussion can be referred to Luo (2000).

Definition 6.1. If a flat deformable body on the two principal directions of fibers resists the internal forces and bending moments, the deformable body is called a *deformable* plate.

6.1.1. Deformation of a 3-D body

Consider a particle $P(Y^1, Y^2, Y^3)$ in a deformable body \mathfrak{B} at the initial configuration in Fig.6.1. The particle position **R** is described by Y^{I} :



Fig. 6.1 A material particle P.

$$\mathbf{R} = Y^{T} \mathbf{I}_{T} \equiv Y^{1} \mathbf{I}_{1} + Y^{2} \mathbf{I}_{2} + Y^{3} \mathbf{I}_{3},$$
(6.1)

where I_I (I = 1, 2, 3) are unit vectors in the fixed coordinates. In the local curvilinear reference frame, **R** is represented by

$$\mathbf{R} = X^{\Lambda} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} \equiv X^{1} \mathbf{G}_{1} + X^{2} \mathbf{G}_{2} + X^{3} \mathbf{G}_{3}, \qquad (6.2)$$

where the component $X^{I} = \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{G}^{I}$ in Eringen (1962) (also see, Chapter 3) and the initial base vectors $\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} \equiv \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}(X^{1}, X^{2}, X^{3}, t_{0})$ are

$$\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{R}}{\partial X^{\Lambda}} = \frac{\partial Y^{I}(X^{1}, X^{2}, X^{3}, t_{0})}{\partial X^{\Lambda}} \mathbf{I}_{I} = Y^{I}_{,\alpha} \mathbf{I}_{I}$$
(6.3)

with magnitudes

$$\left|\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}(\mathbf{X})\right| = \sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}} = \sqrt{Y_{\Lambda}^{I}Y_{\Lambda}^{I}}$$
(6.4)

without summation on Λ and $G_{\Lambda\Gamma} = \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{\Gamma}$ are metric coefficients in \mathfrak{B} .

On deformation of \mathfrak{B} , the particle at point *P* moves through displacement **u** to position *p*, and the particle *Q*, infinitesimally close to $P(X^1, X^2, X^3, t_0)$, moves by $\mathbf{u} + d\mathbf{u}$ to *q* in the neighborhood of $p(X^1, X^2, X^3, t)$, as illustrated in Fig.6.2.

The position of point p is

$$\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{R} + \mathbf{u} = (X^{\Lambda} + u^{\Lambda})\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}, \tag{6.5}$$

where the displacement is $\mathbf{u} = u^{\Lambda} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}$. Thus, $\overline{PQ} = d\mathbf{R}$ and $\overline{pq} = d\mathbf{r}$ are

$$d\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} dX^{\Lambda}, \ d\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} dX^{\Lambda} + d\mathbf{u}; \tag{6.6}$$

6.1. A nonlinear theory of plates



Fig. 6.2 Deformation of a differential linear element.

and the infinitesimal displacement becomes

$$d\mathbf{u} = u_{;\alpha}^{\Lambda} dX^{\alpha} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} = u_{\Lambda;\alpha} dX^{\alpha} \mathbf{G}^{\Lambda}, \qquad (6.7)$$

where $u_{,\alpha}^{\Lambda} = \partial u^{\Lambda} / \partial X^{\alpha} + \Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\Lambda} u^{\beta}$ and $\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\Lambda}$ is the Christoffel symbol defined in Chapter 2 (e.g., Eringen, 1967). The semicolon represents covariant partial differentiation. From Eqs.(6.6) and (6.7),

$$d\mathbf{r} = (u^{\Lambda}_{;\alpha} + \delta^{\Lambda}_{\alpha})\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}dX^{\alpha}.$$
(6.8)

The Lagrangian strain tensor $E_{\Lambda\Gamma}$ referred to the initial configuration is from Eringen (1962), i.e.,

$$E_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} (u_{\alpha;\beta} + u_{\beta;\alpha} + u^{\Lambda}_{;\alpha} u_{\Lambda;\beta}), \qquad (6.9)$$

As in Malvern (1969), the change in length of $d\mathbf{R}$ per unit length gives

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha} = \frac{\left| \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{\alpha} \right| - \left| \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{\alpha} \right|}{\left| \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{\alpha} \right|} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha}} - 1$$
(6.10)

where ε_{α} is the relative elongation along \mathbf{G}_{α} . The unit vectors along $d\mathbf{R}$ and $d\mathbf{r}$ in Chapter 3 (also see, Eringen, 1967) are

$$\mathbf{N}_{\alpha} = \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{|d\mathbf{R}|} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \mathbf{G}_{\alpha}, \quad \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} = \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{r}|} = \frac{u_{;\alpha}^{\Lambda} + \delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha}}} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}.$$
(6.11)

The unit vectors of the deformed configuration in the directions \mathbf{g}_1 and \mathbf{g}_2 are

6 Nonlinear Plates and Waves

$$\mathbf{n}_{1} = \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{r}|}_{1} \text{ and } \mathbf{n}_{2} = \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{r}|}_{2}.$$
(6.12)

Let Θ_{12} and θ_{12} be the angles between \mathbf{n}_1 and \mathbf{n}_2 before and after deformation,

and the shear strain is

$$\gamma_{12} \equiv \Theta_{12} - \theta_{12}$$

= $\cos^{-1} \frac{G_{12}}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}} - \cos^{-1} \frac{G_{12} + 2E_{12}}{\sqrt{(G_{11} + 2E_{11})(G_{22} + 2E_{22})}}.$ (6.14)

The other shear stains are obtained in a similar manner.

From Eq.(6.11), the direction cosine of the rotation without summation on α and β is

$$\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})} = \frac{d\mathbf{R} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{R}||d\mathbf{r}|} = \frac{(\delta_{\beta}^{\Lambda} + u_{;\beta}^{\Lambda})G_{\alpha\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta}}} = \frac{G_{\alpha\beta} + u_{\alpha;\beta}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha}}}.$$
(6.15)

In addition, the area and volume changes from Chapter 3 are given by

$$\frac{\frac{da}{_{\alpha\beta}}}{\frac{dA}{_{\alpha\beta}}} = \frac{(1+\varepsilon_{\alpha})(1+\varepsilon_{\beta})\sin\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}}{\sin\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})}}, \quad \frac{dv}{dV} = |\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{;\alpha}^{\Lambda}|, \quad (6.16)$$

where dv and dV are the infinitesimal material volumes after and before deformation, respectively; $|\cdot|$ represents the determinant. The areas after and before deformation are $da_{\alpha\beta} = | d\mathbf{r} \times d\mathbf{r} |$ and $dA = | d\mathbf{R} \times d\mathbf{R} |$, where $\alpha \neq \beta$.

6.1.2. Strains in thin plates

1

Consider the Lagrangian coordinates to be a Cartesian system:

$$Y^{1} = X^{1} = x, \ Y^{2} = X^{2} = y, \ Y^{3} = X^{3} = z;$$
 (6.17)

6.1. A nonlinear theory of plates

and

$$\mathbf{u} = u\mathbf{i} + v\mathbf{j} + w\mathbf{k},\tag{6.18}$$

where $\mathbf{I}_1 = \mathbf{i}$, $\mathbf{I}_2 = \mathbf{j}$ and $\mathbf{I}_3 = \mathbf{k}$. Therefore, from Eqs.(6.17) and (6.18),

$$G_{\alpha\alpha} = 1, \ G_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \ \Gamma^{\Lambda}_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \ \Theta_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{\pi}{2} \quad (\alpha \neq \beta).$$
 (6.19)

Then the physical strains in Eqs.(6.10) and (6.14) become

$$\mathcal{E}_{\alpha} = \sqrt{(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})} - 1, \qquad (6.20)$$

$$\gamma_{\alpha\beta} = \sin^{-1} \frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{l} + u_{,\alpha}^{l})(\delta_{\beta}^{l} + u_{,\beta}^{l})}{(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha})(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta})}, \qquad (6.21)$$

where $\alpha, \beta, \Lambda \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, $\{1 \equiv x, 2 \equiv y, 3 \equiv z\}$ and $\{u_1 \equiv u, u_2 \equiv v, u_3 \equiv w\}$ with summation on *I*.

For reduction of a three dimensional deformable body theory to a twodimensional plate theory, displacements can be expressed in a Taylor series expanded about the displacement of the middle surface. Thus, As similar to the basic kinematics hypothesis in Wempner (1973), the displacement field is assumed as

$$u^{I} = u_{0}^{I}(x, y, t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} z^{n} \varphi_{n}^{(I)}(x, y, t),$$
(6.22)

where u_0^I (I = 1, 2, 3) denotes displacements of the middle surface, and the $\varphi_n^{(I)}$ ($n = 1, 2, \cdots$) are rotations. Due to

$$\frac{\partial \gamma_{IJ}}{\partial z} = \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{IJ}} \frac{\partial \sin \gamma_{IJ}}{\partial z},$$

$$\frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{IJ}}{\partial z^2} = \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{IJ}} \frac{\partial^2 \sin \gamma_{IJ}}{\partial z^2} + \left(\frac{\partial \gamma_{IJ}}{\partial z}\right)^2 \tan \gamma_{IJ}, \dots,$$
(6.23)

substitution of Eq.(6.22) into Eqs.(6.20) and (6.21) and collection of like powers of z gives

$$\begin{aligned} \varepsilon_{\alpha} &\approx \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{\alpha}}{\partial z} \bigg|_{z=0} z + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{\alpha}}{\partial z^{2}} \bigg|_{z=0} z^{2} + \cdots \\ &= \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)} + \frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I}) \varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)}} z \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \bigg\{ \frac{2[(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I}) \varphi_{2,\alpha}^{(I)}] + \varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)} \varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)}} - \frac{[(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I}) \varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)}]^{2}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})^{3}} \bigg\} z^{2} + \cdots, \end{aligned}$$
(6.24)

$$\varepsilon_{3} \approx \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial z} \bigg|_{z=0} z + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial z^{2}} \bigg|_{z=0} z^{2} + \cdots$$

$$= \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} + \frac{2(\delta_{3}^{\prime} + \varphi_{1}^{(\prime)})\varphi_{2}^{\prime\prime}}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} z$$

$$+ \left\{ \frac{[2\varphi_{2}^{\prime(\prime)}\varphi_{2}^{\prime\prime} + 3(\delta_{3}^{\prime\prime} + \varphi_{1}^{\prime\prime}))\varphi_{3}^{\prime\prime}]}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} - \frac{2[(\delta_{3}^{\prime\prime} + \varphi_{1}^{\prime\prime}))\varphi_{2}^{\prime\prime}]^{2}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} z^{2} + \cdots,$$

$$(6.25)$$

$$\gamma_{12} \approx \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{0\gamma_{12}}{\partial z} \bigg|_{z=0} z + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{0\gamma_{12}}{\partial z^2} \bigg|_{z=0} z^2 + \cdots$$

$$= \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos\gamma_{12}^{(0)}} \Biggl\{ \frac{(\delta_l^1 + u_{l,1}^{(0)})\varphi_{l,2}^{(1)} + (\delta_l^2 + u_{l,2}^{(0)})\varphi_{l,1}^{(1)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})} - \sin\gamma_{12}^{(0)} \Biggl[\frac{(\delta_l^1 + u_{l,1}^{(0)})\varphi_{l,1}^{(1)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})^2} + \frac{(\delta_l^2 + u_{l,2}^{(0)})\varphi_{l,2}^{(1)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})^2} \Biggr] \Biggr\} z + \cdots,$$
(6.26)

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{\alpha 3} &\approx \gamma_{\alpha 3}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \gamma_{\alpha 3}}{\partial z} \bigg|_{z=0} z + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{\alpha 3}}{\partial z^2} \bigg|_{z=0} z^2 + \cdots \\ &= \gamma_{\alpha 3}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{\alpha 3}^{(0)}} \Biggl\{ \frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I})\varphi_{1}^{(I)} + (\delta_{3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} \\ &- \sin \gamma_{\alpha 3}^{0} \Biggl[\frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I})\varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})^{2}} + \frac{2(\delta_{3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{2}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{2}} \Biggr] \Biggr\} z + \cdots, \end{split}$$
(6.27)

where $\alpha = 1, 2$. The strains of the middle surface following Eqs.(6.20)–(6.22) at z = 0 are

$$\begin{aligned} \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)} &= \sqrt{(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I})(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I})} - 1, \\ \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} &= \sqrt{(\delta_{3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})(\delta_{3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})} - 1; \\ \gamma_{12}^{(0)} &= \sin^{-1} \left[\frac{(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})(\delta_{2}^{I} + u_{0,2}^{I})}{(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} \right], \end{aligned}$$
(6.28)
$$\gamma_{\alpha3}^{(0)} &= \sin^{-1} \left[\frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I})(\delta_{3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})}{(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} \right]. \end{aligned}$$

In Eqs.(6.24)–(6.27) prediction of strain requires specification of three constraints for determination of the three sets $\varphi_n^{(I)}$ (I = 1, 2, 3; n = 1, 2, ...) like the assumptions ($\gamma_{\alpha 3} = \varepsilon_3 = 0$) as in Kirchhoff (1850a,b).

6.1.3. Equations of motion

Consider a thin plate subjected to the inertia force $\rho u_{I,tt}$ and ρ_0 is the density of plate with $\rho = \int_{-h^-}^{h^+} \rho_0 dz$; body force $\mathbf{f} = f^I \mathbf{I}_I$ (I = 1, 2, 3); surface loading $\{p_I^+, p_I^-\}$ where the superscripts + and – denote the upper and lower surfaces; external moment m_0^{α} ($\alpha = 1, 2$) before deformation. The sign convention is adopted herein. That is, on the positive (or negative) surface, the forces in the positive (or negative) direction are positive and vice versa. The components for the distributed forces and moments $\mathbf{q} = q^I \mathbf{I}_I$ and $\mathbf{m} = m^I \mathbf{I}_I = (-1)^{\beta} m^{\alpha} \mathbf{I}_{\beta}$ are

$q^{I} = p_{I}^{+} - p_{I}^{-} + \int_{-h^{-}}^{h^{+}} f^{I} dz \qquad (I = 1, 2, 3),$ $m^{\alpha} = m_{0}^{\alpha} + h^{+} p_{\beta}^{+} + h^{-} p_{\beta}^{-} + \int_{-h^{-}}^{h^{+}} f^{\beta} z dz \quad (\alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\}, \alpha \neq \beta);$ (6.29)

where $m^3 = 0$ and $h = h^+ + h^-$. The distributed loading after deformation becomes

$$q_{I}^{*} = \frac{q^{I}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{1})(1 + \varepsilon_{2})\cos\gamma_{12}}.$$
(6.30)

Since the physical deformation measure is based on the Lagrangian coordinates, the constitutive laws for such deformation measure is

$$\sigma_{\alpha\beta} = f_{\alpha\beta}(\Lambda_{\alpha\beta MN}, \mathcal{E}_{MN}, t) \tag{6.31}$$

for determination of the physical stresses directly (or sometimes, termed the Cauchy stress), where $\Lambda_{\alpha\beta MN}$ are material properties (e.g., Young's modulus, Poisson ratio). Equation (6.31) can be the Hooke's law for linear elastic materials or the other similar laws for the plasticity and the others. Based on such physical stresses, the internal, resultant forces and moments can be determined in the Lagrangian coordinates. As in Wempner (1973), the stress resultant forces and couples in the deformed plate are defined as follows:

$$N_{\alpha\beta} = \int_{-h^{-}}^{h^{+}} \sigma_{\alpha\beta} \left[(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha'})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \cos \gamma_{\alpha'3} \right] dz,$$

$$M_{\alpha\beta} = \int_{-h^{-}}^{h^{+}} \sigma_{\alpha\beta} \frac{z}{1 + \varphi_{3}^{(1)}} \left[(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha'})(1 + \varepsilon_{3})^{2} \cos \gamma_{\alpha'3} \right] dz,$$

$$Q_{\alpha} = \int_{-h^{-}}^{h^{+}} \sigma_{\alpha3} \left[(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha'})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \cos \gamma_{\alpha'3} \right] dz;$$
with $\alpha' = \operatorname{mod}(\alpha, 2) + 1,$
(6.32)

where $N_{\alpha\beta}$ are membrane forces and $M_{\alpha\beta}$ are bending and twisting moments per

unit length and $\alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\}$. If the Kirchhoff assumption ($\varepsilon_3 = 0$) is used, equation (6.32) reduces to the form as in the textbook. Before the equation of motion for the deformed plate is developed, the internal force vectors are introduced, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{M}_{\alpha} \equiv M_{\alpha}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} = (-1)^{\beta} M_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} + (-1)^{\alpha} M_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha},$$

$$\mathcal{N}_{\alpha} \equiv N_{\alpha}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} + N_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} + Q_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{3},$$

$$^{N} \mathbf{M}_{\alpha} \equiv ^{N} M_{\alpha}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \mathbf{g}_{\alpha} \times \mathcal{N}_{\alpha},$$

(6.33)

where

$$\mathbf{g}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{d\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}}{dX^{\alpha}} = (\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})\mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ and } ^{\mathbf{N}}\mathbf{M}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{1}{dX^{\alpha}}d\mathbf{r}_{\alpha} \times \mathbf{N}_{\alpha}.$$
(6.34)

The components of the internal forces in the X^{I} -direction are

$$N_{\alpha}^{I} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} + N_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} + Q_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{3} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I}$$

$$= N_{\alpha} \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{I})} + N_{\alpha\beta} \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta},\mathbf{I}_{I})} + Q_{\alpha} \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{3},\mathbf{I}_{I})}$$

$$= \frac{N_{\alpha}(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)}} + \frac{N_{\alpha\beta}(\delta_{\beta}^{I} + u_{0,\beta}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{\beta}^{(0)}} + \frac{Q_{\alpha}(\delta_{3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}}, \qquad (6.35)$$

$$M_{\alpha}^{I} = (-1)^{\beta} M_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} + (-1)^{\alpha} M_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I}$$
$$= (-1)^{\beta} M_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta},\mathbf{I}_{I})} + (-1)^{\alpha} M_{\alpha\beta} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{I})}$$
$$= (-1)^{\beta} \frac{M_{\alpha} (\delta_{\beta}^{I} + u_{0,\beta}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{\beta}^{(0)}} + (-1)^{\alpha} \frac{M_{\alpha\beta} (\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)}}, \qquad (6.36)$$

$${}^{\mathbf{N}}M_{\alpha}^{I} = (\mathbf{g}_{\alpha} \times \mathcal{N}_{\alpha}) \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = (\delta_{\alpha}^{J} + u_{0,\alpha}^{J}) N_{\alpha}^{K} - (X_{,\alpha}^{K} + u_{0,\alpha}^{K}) N_{\alpha}^{J}$$
$$= (\delta_{\alpha}^{J} + u_{0,\alpha}^{J}) \left[\frac{N_{\alpha\beta}(\delta_{\beta}^{K} + u_{0,\beta}^{K})}{1 + \varepsilon_{\beta}^{(0)}} + \frac{Q_{\alpha}(\delta_{3}^{K} + \varphi_{1}^{(K)})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} \right]$$
$$- (\delta_{\alpha}^{K} + u_{0,\alpha}^{K}) \left[\frac{N_{\alpha\beta}(\delta_{\beta}^{J} + u_{0,\beta}^{J})}{1 + \varepsilon_{\beta}^{(0)}} + \frac{Q_{\alpha}(\delta_{3}^{J} + \varphi_{1}^{(J)})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} \right]$$
(6.37)

for $(I, J, K \in \{1, 2, 3\}, I \neq J \neq K \neq I)$ and the indices (I, J, K) rotate clockwise. Based on the deformed middle surface in the Lagrangian coordinates, the equations of motion for the deformed plates are

$$\mathcal{N}_{\alpha,\alpha} + \mathbf{q} = \rho \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + I_3 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt},$$

$$\mathbf{M}_{\alpha,\alpha} + {}^{\mathbf{N}} \mathbf{M}_{\alpha} + \mathbf{m} = I_3 \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + J_3 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt},$$
 (6.38)

or for I = 1, 2, 3 and with summation on $\alpha = 1, 2$,

$$N_{\alpha,\alpha}^{I} + q^{I} = \rho u_{0,tt}^{I} + I_{3} \varphi_{1,tt}^{(I)},$$

$$M_{\alpha,\alpha}^{I} + {}^{N}M_{\alpha}^{I} + m^{I} = I_{3}u_{0,tt}^{I} + J_{3} \varphi_{(1),tt}^{I},$$
(6.39)

where summation on $\alpha = 1, 2$ should be completed, and $I_3 = \int_{-h^-}^{h^+} \rho_0 z dz$, $J_3 = \int_{-h^-}^{h^+} \rho_0 z^2 dz$. If $h^+ = h^- = h/2$, then $I_3 = 0$ and $J_3 = \rho_0 h^3 / 12$. The equation of

motion in Eq.(6.38) can be written in a form of

$$\begin{split} & \left[\frac{N_{11}(\delta_{1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I})}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} + \frac{N_{12}(\delta_{2}^{I}+u_{0,2}^{I})}{1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} + \frac{\mathcal{Q}_{1}(\delta_{3}^{I}+\varphi_{1}^{(I)})}{1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}}\right]_{,1} \\ & + \left[\frac{N_{21}(\delta_{1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I})}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} + \frac{N_{22}(\delta_{2}^{I}+u_{0,2}^{I})}{1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} + \frac{\mathcal{Q}_{2}(\delta_{3}^{I}+\varphi_{1}^{(I)})}{1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}}\right]_{,2} + q^{I} \\ & = \rho u_{0,u}^{I} + I_{3}\varphi_{1,u}^{(I)}, \qquad (6.40) \\ & \left[\frac{M_{1}(\delta_{2}^{I}+u_{0,2}^{I})}{1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} - \frac{M_{12}(\delta_{1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I})}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}}\right]_{,1} \\ & + \left[\frac{M_{12}(\delta_{2}^{I}+u_{0,2}^{I})}{1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} - \frac{M_{2}(\delta_{1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I})}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}}\right]_{,2} \\ & + (\delta_{1}^{J}+u_{0,1}^{I})\left[\frac{N_{12}(\delta_{2}^{K}+u_{0,2}^{K})}{1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} + \frac{\mathcal{Q}_{1}(\delta_{3}^{K}+\varphi_{1}^{(K)})}{1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}}\right] \\ & - (\delta_{1}^{K}+u_{0,1}^{K})\left[\frac{N_{21}(\delta_{2}^{I}+u_{0,2}^{I})}{1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} + \frac{\mathcal{Q}_{2}(\delta_{3}^{K}+\varphi_{1}^{(K)})}{1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}}\right] \\ & + (\delta_{2}^{J}+u_{0,2}^{I})\left[\frac{N_{12}(\delta_{1}^{K}+u_{0,1}^{K})}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} + \frac{\mathcal{Q}_{2}(\delta_{3}^{K}+\varphi_{1}^{(K)})}{1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}}\right] \\ & - (\delta_{2}^{K}+u_{0,2}^{K})\left[\frac{N_{21}(\delta_{1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I})}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} + \frac{\mathcal{Q}_{2}(\delta_{3}^{K}+\varphi_{1}^{(K)})}{1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}}\right] \\ & - (\delta_{2}^{K}+u_{0,2}^{K})\left[\frac{N_{21}(\delta_{1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I})}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} + \frac{\mathcal{Q}_{2}(X_{3}^{K}+\varphi_{1}^{(K)})}{1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}}\right] + m^{I} \\ & = I_{3}u_{0,u}^{I} + J_{3}\varphi_{1,u}^{(I)}. \qquad (6.41) \end{split}$$

The equations of motion for thin plates are given in Eq.(6.38) or Eq.(6.39). They together with Eqs.(6.25)–(6.28) constitute an approximate nonlinear theory for thin plates. The equations of motion are based on the deformed middle surface in the Lagrangian coordinates. The alternative approach presented in Wempner (1973) can derive the similar equilibrium equations, and also equations (6.33)–(6.41) can be derived through Eq.(6.32) and Boussinesq-Kirchhoff equations in Eq.(3.201) (e.g., Guo, 1980). The other theories of plates and shells can be referenced as in Chien (1944a,b).

6.1.4. Reduction to established theories

In this section, several existing plate theories will be presented from the aforesaid nonlinear plate theory under certain assumptions.

6.1.4a Kirchhoff plate theory

Kirchhoff's assumptions specify $\varepsilon_3 = \gamma_{\alpha 3} = 0$. From Eqs.(6.20) and (6.21), these constraints for ($\alpha = 1, 2$) become

$$(\delta_{3}^{I} + u_{,3}^{I})(\delta_{3}^{I} + u_{,3}^{I}) = 1, (\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(\delta_{3}^{I} + u_{,3}^{I}) = 0.$$
(6.42)

Substitution of Eq.(6.22) into Eq.(6.42), expansion of them in Taylor series in z and the vanishing of the zero-order terms in z gives

$$\begin{aligned} (\delta_3^I + \varphi_1^{(I)})(\delta_3^I + \varphi_1^{(I)}) &= 1, \\ (\delta_\alpha^I + u_{0,\alpha}^I)(\delta_3^I + \varphi_1^{(I)}) &= 0. \end{aligned}$$
(6.43)

Further, $\varphi_1^{(I)}$ can be obtained from Eqs.(6.43) first. From the Taylor series, vanishing of the first order terms in *z* gives three equations in $\varphi_2^{(I)}$ similar to Eqs.(6.43). The three equations plus $\varphi_1^{(I)}$ give $\varphi_2^{(I)}$; $\varphi_n^{(I)}$ for n = 3, 4, ... can be determined in a like manner. With the zero-order approximation in Eqs.(6.42), the solution to Eqs.(6.43) for $\{1 \equiv x, 2 \equiv y, 3 \equiv z\}$ and $\{u^1 \equiv u, u^2 \equiv v, u^3 \equiv w\}$ with $\{u_0^1 \equiv u^0, u_0^2 \equiv v^0, u_0^3 \equiv w^0\}$ is

$$\delta_3^I + \varphi_1^{(I)} = \pm \frac{\Delta_I}{\Delta} \quad (I = 1, 2, 3), \tag{6.44}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta_{1} &= v_{,x}^{0} w_{,y}^{0} - (1 + v_{,y}^{0}) w_{,x}^{0}, \\ \Delta_{2} &= u_{,y}^{0} w_{,x}^{0} - (1 + u_{,x}^{0}) w_{,y}^{0}, \\ \Delta_{3} &= (1 + u_{,x}^{0})(1 + v_{,y}^{0}) - v_{,x}^{0} u_{,y}^{0}, \\ \Delta &= \sqrt{\Delta_{1}^{2} + \Delta_{2}^{2} + \Delta_{3}^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.45)$$

In application, only the positive (+) in Eq.(6.44) is used. With ignoring $\varphi_2^{(I)}$, substitution of Eqs.(6.43)–(6.45) into Eqs.(6.25) and (6.27) gives

6.1. A nonlinear theory of plates

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha} \approx \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{\alpha}}{\partial z} \bigg|_{z=0} z + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{\alpha}}{\partial z^{2}} \bigg|_{z=0} z^{2} + \cdots$$

$$= \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)} + \frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I})\varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)}} z$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \bigg\{ \frac{\varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)}\varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)}} - \frac{[(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I})\varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)}]^{2}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})^{3}} \bigg\} z^{2} + \cdots, \qquad (6.46)$$

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{12} &\approx \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \gamma_{12}}{\partial z} \bigg|_{z=0} z + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{12}}{\partial z^2} \bigg|_{z=0} z^2 + \cdots \\ &= \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{12}^{(0)}} \Biggl\{ \frac{(\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^I) \varphi_{1,2}^{(I)} + (\delta_2^I + u_{0,2}^I) \varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})} \\ &- \sin \gamma_{12}^{(0)} \Biggl[\frac{(\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^I) \varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})^2} + \frac{(\delta_2^I + u_{0,2}^I) \varphi_{1,2}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})^2} \Biggr] \Biggr\} z + \cdots, \end{split}$$
(6.47)

Substitution of Eq.(6.42) into Eqs(6.33)-(6.41) yields the equilibrium balance for Kirchhoff's plates.

6.1.4b Thin plates with moderately large deflections

For moderately large transverse deflection, assumptions for the middle surface are for $\alpha = 1, 2$,

$$u_{0,\alpha}^{1} \approx O(u_{0,\alpha}^{2}) \approx O[(w_{\alpha}^{0})^{2}] << 1, \ 1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)} \approx 1.$$
(6.48)

Therefore, the strains of the middle surface become

$$\mathcal{E}_{\alpha}^{(0)} \approx u_{0,\alpha}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} (w_{,\alpha}^{0})^{2} \text{ for } \alpha = 1, 2;$$

$$\gamma_{12}^{0} \approx u_{0,1}^{2} + u_{0,2}^{2} + w_{,1}^{0} w_{,2}^{0}.$$
(6.49)

Substitution of Eqs.(6.48) and (6.49) into Eqs.(6.44) and (6.45) generates

$$\varphi_{l}^{(\alpha)} \approx -w_{,\alpha}^{0} \text{ and } \varphi_{l}^{(3)} \approx 0.$$
 (6.50)

Substitution of Eqs.(6.48)–(6.50) into Eqs.(6.30), (6.46) and (6.47), and retention of terms that are the first order in *z*, leads to

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha} \approx u_{0,\alpha}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} (w_{,\alpha}^{0})^{2} - w_{,\alpha\alpha}^{0} z \quad \text{for } \alpha = 1, 2;$$

$$\gamma_{12} \approx u_{0,1}^{2} + u_{0,2}^{1} + w_{,1}^{0} w_{,2}^{0} - 2 w_{,12}^{0} z.$$
(6.51)
From Eqs.(6.40), (6.49) and (6.51), the equilibrium balance in Eq.(6.39) gives for $\alpha = 1, 2$,

$$\begin{bmatrix} N_{\alpha\beta} - Q_{\beta} w^{0}_{,\alpha} \end{bmatrix}_{,\beta} + q^{\alpha} = \rho u^{\alpha}_{0,tt} - I_{3} w^{0}_{,\alpha tt},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} N_{\alpha\beta} w^{0}_{,\beta} + Q_{\alpha} \end{bmatrix}_{,\alpha} + q^{3} \approx \rho w^{0}_{,tt};$$

$$M_{\alpha\beta,\beta} + N_{12} w^{0}_{,\alpha+1} - Q_{\alpha} + m^{\alpha} \approx I_{3} u^{\alpha}_{0,tt} - J_{3} w^{0}_{,\alpha tt},$$
(6.52)

with summation on $\beta = 1, 2$. The density $\rho = \rho_0 h$ is constant. For $h^+ = h^- = h/2$, one obtains $I_3 = 0$ and $J_3 = \rho_0 h^3/12$. When the rotary inertia is neglected, the third equation of Eq.(6.52) becomes

$$M_{\alpha\beta,\beta} + N_{12} w^{0}_{,\alpha+1} - Q_{\alpha} + m^{\alpha} \approx 0, \qquad (6.53)$$

When $m^{\alpha} = q^{\alpha} = 0$, the shear Q_{α} in the first equation of Eq.(6.52) and N_{12} in Eq.(6.53) vanish, and the first of two equations of Eq.(6.49) plus (6.53) at $h^{+} = h^{-} = h/2$ reduce to the nonlinear plate theory of Herrmann (1955).

The von Karman plate theory (von Karman, 1910) is recovered by letting $m^{\alpha} = q^{\alpha} = 0$ and neglecting the terms $w^{0}_{,\alpha} << 1$ in Eqs.(6.52) and (6.53), i.e., with summation on $\beta = 1, 2$, one obtains

$$N_{\alpha\beta,\beta} \approx 0 \text{ and } M_{\alpha\beta,\beta} - Q_{\alpha} \approx 0 \quad (\alpha = 1, 2).$$
 (6.54)

Substitution of Eqs.(6.53) and (6.54) into the third equation Eq.(6.52) gives

$$N_{\alpha\beta}w^0_{,\alpha\beta} + M_{\alpha\beta,\alpha\beta} + q_3 = \rho w^0_{,tt}.$$
(6.55)

The von Karman theory is applicable to plates of the moderately large deflection and small rotation, while, the theory in Eqs.(6.49)–(6.52) is applicable to plates of moderately large deflection and rotation because of Eq.(6.48).

6.1.4c Linear plate theory

The linear theory for thin plates is recovered from Eqs.(6.25)–(6.28) and (6.39), when the Kirchhoff constraints are imposed: the elongation and shear in the plate are small compared to unity; the rotations are negligible compared to the elongation and shear, i.e.,

$$u_{0,\alpha}^{1} \approx O(u_{0,\alpha}^{2}) \approx O(w_{,\alpha}^{(0)}) \ll 1 \text{ and } 1 + \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}^{(0)} \approx 1.$$
 (6.56)

From the foregoing, the strains of the middle surface become

$$\mathcal{E}_{\alpha}^{(0)} \approx u_{0,\alpha}^{\alpha} \text{ and } \gamma_{12}^{(0)} \approx u_{0,1}^{2} + u_{0,2}^{1}.$$
 (6.57)

Substitution of Eqs.(6.56) and (6.57) into Eqs.(6.43)-(6.45) generates the rotation

angles given by Eq.(6.50). With Eqs(6.50), (6.56) and (6.57), equations (6.39) or (6.40) and (6.41) reduce to the linear plate theory (e.g., Reissener, 1944, 1957)

$$N_{\alpha\beta,\beta} + q^{\alpha} \approx \rho u_{0,tt}^{\alpha} \text{ and } M_{\alpha\beta,\alpha\beta} + q_3 \approx \rho w_{,tt}^0.$$
 (6.58)

The shear forces are given by Eq.(6.54).

6.2. Waves in traveling plates

In this section, the nonlinear waves in traveling plates will be presented. The static waves in the traveling plates will be discussed first. The resonant waves and stationary waves will be investigated. Finally, chaotic waves in the forced traveling plates will be discussed.

6.2.1. An approximate theory

As shown in Fig.6.3, a thin rectangular plate simply supported along the four edge moves axially with a constant speed c and are subject to a distributed surface loading Q(x, y) and a longitudinal force P(y) applied at the edges. The length, width and thickness of the moving plate are l, b and h, respectively. Transformation of the coordinate system (x, y, t) traveling with the plate to a fixed coordinate system (ζ, y, t) needs

$$\varsigma = ct + x,\tag{6.59}$$

where t denotes time. The geometric constraints for moderately large deflection plates in Eq.(6.45) become

$$u_{\varsigma}^{0} \approx O(v_{\varsigma}^{0}) \approx O[(w_{\varsigma}^{0})^{2}] << 1, \ 1 + \mathcal{E}_{\varsigma}^{(0)} \approx 1;$$
$$u_{\gamma}^{0} \approx O(v_{\gamma}^{0}) \approx O[(w_{\gamma}^{0})^{2}] << 1, \ 1 + \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}^{(0)} \approx 1,$$
(6.60)

where $(\cdot)_{,\varsigma}$ and $(\cdot)_{,y}$ are derivatives with respect to ς and y. u^0, v^0 and w^0 are displacements of the middle surface in the ς -, y- and z-directions, respectively; and $\varepsilon_{\varsigma}^0, \varepsilon_y^0$ denote the corresponding strains in the middle surface. Owing to Eq.(6.60), the strains in Eq.(6.46) and (6.47) are

$$\begin{aligned} \varepsilon_{\varsigma} &\approx \varepsilon_{\varsigma}^{(0)} - w_{,\varsigma\varsigma}^{0} z, \\ \varepsilon_{y} &\approx \varepsilon_{y}^{(0)} - w_{,yy}^{0} z, \\ \gamma_{\varsigma y} &\approx \gamma_{\varsigma y}^{(0)} - 2w_{,\varsigma y}^{0} z, \end{aligned}$$
(6.61)



Fig. 6.3 A simply supported plate traveling with speed c in the x-direction.

where the strains of the middle surface are

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varsigma}^{(0)} \approx u_{\varsigma}^{0} + \frac{1}{2} (w_{\varsigma}^{0})^{2},
\mathcal{E}_{y}^{(0)} \approx v_{,y}^{0} + \frac{1}{2} (w_{,y}^{0})^{2},
\gamma_{\varsigma y}^{(0)} \approx v_{,\varsigma}^{0} + u_{,y}^{0} + w_{,\varsigma}^{0} w_{,y}^{0}.$$
(6.62)

From Eqs.(6.52) and (6.60), equations of motion for axially moving plates are:

$$[N_{\varsigma} - Q_{\varsigma} w^{0}_{,\varsigma}]_{,\varsigma} + [N_{\varsigma y} - Q_{y} w^{0}_{,\varsigma}]_{,y} \approx \rho_{0} h(\ddot{u}^{0} + 2c\dot{u}^{0}_{,\varsigma} + c^{2} u^{0}_{,\varsigma\varsigma}),$$
(6.63)

$$[N_{\varsigma y} - Q_{\varsigma} w^{0}_{,y}]_{,\varsigma} + [N_{y} - Q_{y} w^{0}_{,y}]_{,y} \approx \rho_{0} h(\ddot{v}^{0} + 2c\dot{v}^{0}_{,\varsigma} + c^{2}v^{0}_{,\varsigma\varsigma}),$$
(6.64)

$$[N_{\varsigma}w_{,\varsigma}^{0} + N_{\varsigma y}w_{,y}^{0} + Q_{\varsigma}]_{,\varsigma} + [N_{\varsigma y}w_{,\varsigma}^{0} + N_{y}w_{,y}^{0} + Q_{y}]_{,y} + Q(\varsigma, y, t) \approx \rho_{0}h(\ddot{w}^{0} + 2c\dot{w}_{,\varsigma}^{0} + c^{2}w_{,\varsigma\varsigma}^{0});$$
(6.65)

$$M_{\varsigma,\varsigma} + M_{\varsigma y,y} + N_{\varsigma y} w_{,y}^0 - Q_{\varsigma} \approx 0, \qquad (6.66)$$

$$M_{\varsigma y,\varsigma} + M_{y,y} + N_{\varsigma y} W^0_{\varsigma} - Q_y \approx 0, \qquad (6.67)$$

where superscript "dot" (e.g., $\dot{w} \equiv dw/dt$) denotes the derivative with respect time *t*, and ρ_0 is the density. The membrane forces $\{N_{\varsigma}, N_{y}, N_{\varsigma y}\}$, bending moments and twisting moment $\{M_{\varsigma}, M_{y}, M_{\varsigma y}\}$ are

$$N_{\varsigma} = P(y) + \frac{Eh}{1 - \mu^{2}} [(u_{,\varsigma}^{0} + \frac{1}{2}(w_{,\varsigma}^{0})^{2}) + \mu(v_{,y}^{0} + \frac{1}{2}(w_{,y}^{0})^{2})],$$

$$N_{y} = \frac{Eh}{1 - \mu^{2}} [(v_{,y}^{0} + \frac{1}{2}(w_{,y}^{0})^{2}) + \mu(u_{,\varsigma}^{0} + \frac{1}{2}(w_{,\varsigma}^{0})^{2})],$$

$$N_{\varsigma y} = \frac{Eh}{1 - \mu^{2}} (v_{,\varsigma}^{0} + u_{,y}^{0} + w_{,\varsigma}^{0} w_{,y}^{0});$$
(6.68)

$$M_{x} = -D(w_{,\varsigma\varsigma}^{0} + \mu w_{,yy}^{0}),$$

$$M_{y} = -D(w_{,yy}^{0} + \mu w_{,\varsigma\varsigma}^{0}),$$

$$M_{\varsigma y} = M_{y\varsigma} = -D(1-\mu)w_{,\varsigma y}^{0},$$

(6.69)

where *E* and μ are Young's modulus and Poisson ratio, respectively. The flexural rigidity is $D = Eh^3/12(1-\mu^2)$. Substitution of Q_{ζ} and Q_{γ} with Eqs.(6.68) and (6.69) into Eqs.(6.63)–(6.65) gives

$$u_{,\varsigma\varsigma}^{0} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)u_{,yy}^{0} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)v_{,\varsigmay}^{0} + w_{,\varsigma}^{0}[w_{,\varsigma\varsigma}^{0} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)w_{,yy}^{0}] + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)w_{,\varsigmay}^{0}w_{,y}^{0} + \frac{1}{12}h^{2}\{[(\nabla^{2}w^{0})_{,\varsigma}w_{,\varsigma}^{0}]_{,\varsigma} + [(\nabla^{2}w^{0})_{,y}w_{,\varsigma}^{0}]_{,y}\} \approx \frac{\rho_{0}(1-\mu^{2})}{E}(\ddot{u}^{0} + 2c\dot{u}_{,\varsigma}^{0} + c^{2}u_{,\varsigma\varsigma}^{0}), \qquad (6.70)$$

$$v_{,yy}^{0} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)v_{,\varsigma\varsigma}^{0} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)u_{,\varsigmay}^{0}$$

+ $w_{,y}^{0}[w_{,yy}^{0} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)w_{,\varsigma\varsigma}^{0}] + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)w_{,\varsigmay}^{0}w_{,\varsigma}^{0}$
+ $\frac{1}{12}h^{2}\{[(\nabla^{2}w^{0})_{,y}w_{,y}^{0}]_{,y} + [(\nabla^{2}w^{0})_{,\varsigma}w_{,y}^{0}]_{,\varsigma}\}$
 $\approx \frac{\rho_{0}(1-\mu^{2})}{E}(\ddot{v}^{0} + 2c\dot{v}_{,\varsigma}^{0} + c^{2}v_{,\varsigma\varsigma}^{0}),$ (6.71)

$$\begin{bmatrix} N_{\varsigma} w_{,\varsigma}^{0} + 2N_{\varsigma y} w_{,y}^{0} \end{bmatrix}_{,\varsigma} + \begin{bmatrix} N_{y} w_{,y}^{0} + 2N_{\varsigma y} w_{,\varsigma}^{0} \end{bmatrix}_{,y} - D\nabla^{4} w^{0} + Q(\varsigma, y, t)$$

$$\approx \rho_{0} h(\ddot{w}^{0} + 2c\dot{w}_{,\varsigma}^{0} + c^{2} w_{,\varsigma\varsigma}^{0}),$$
 (6.72)

where ∇^2 and ∇^4 are the two-dimensional Laplace and biharmonic operators, respectively.

The displacement boundary conditions are

$$u^{0}(0, y, t) = u^{0}(l, y, t) = w^{0}(0, y, t) = w^{0}(l, y, t) = 0,$$

$$w^{0}_{,\varsigma\varsigma}(0, y, t) = w^{0}_{,\varsigma\varsigma}(l, y, t) = 0;$$

$$v^{0}(\varsigma, 0, t) = v^{0}(\varsigma, b, t) = w^{0}(\varsigma, 0, t) = w^{0}(\varsigma, b, t) = 0,$$

$$w^{0}_{,yy}(\varsigma, 0, t) = w^{0}_{,yy}(\varsigma, b, t) = 0.$$

(6.73)

The force boundary conditions are

6 Nonlinear Plates and Waves

$$\int_{0}^{b} N_{\varsigma} dy = \int_{0}^{b} P(y,t) dy \quad \text{at } \varsigma = 0, l;$$

$$\int_{0}^{l} N_{y} d\varsigma = 0 \quad \text{at } y = 0, b.$$
(6.74)

The specified initial conditions are

$$u^{0}(\zeta, y, \tau)|_{\tau=0} = \varphi_{1}^{0}(\zeta, y), \quad \dot{u}^{0}(\zeta, y, \tau)|_{\tau=0} = \psi_{1}^{0}(\zeta, y),$$

$$v^{0}(\zeta, y, \tau)|_{\tau=0} = \varphi_{2}^{0}(\zeta, y), \quad \dot{v}^{0}(\zeta, y, \tau)|_{\tau=0} = \psi_{2}^{0}(\zeta, y),$$

$$w^{0}(\zeta, y, \tau)|_{\tau=0} = \varphi_{3}^{0}(\zeta, y), \quad \dot{w}^{0}(\zeta, y, \tau)|_{\tau=0} = \psi_{3}^{0}(\zeta, y).$$

(6.75)

Following Chu and Herrmann (1956), non-dimensional variables are

_

$$X = \frac{\varsigma}{b}, \ Y = \frac{y}{b}, \ u = \frac{u^0}{b}, \ v = \frac{v^0}{b}, \ w = \frac{w^0}{b}; \ \varepsilon = \frac{h}{b},$$
(6.76)

where $b \leq l$. Other new notations are

$$r = \frac{b}{l}, \ t = \frac{\varepsilon c_p \tau}{\sqrt{12b}}; \ c_1 = \frac{\sqrt{12c}}{c_p \varepsilon}, \ c_p^2 = \frac{E}{\rho_0 (1 - \mu^2)}; \ P^* = \frac{12P(y,t)}{c_p^2 \rho_0 h \varepsilon^2},$$

$$q^* = \frac{bQ(\varsigma, y, t)}{c_p^2 \rho_0 h \varepsilon^3}, \ \varphi_i = \frac{\varphi_i^0}{b}, \ \psi_i = \frac{\sqrt{12}\psi_i^0}{\varepsilon c_p} \ (i = 1, 2, 3).$$
(6.77)

With transformation to these variables, the equations of motion in Eqs.(6.70)–(6.72) become

$$u_{,XX} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)u_{,YY} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)v_{,XY} + w_{,X}[w_{,XX} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)w_{,YY}] + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)w_{,XY}w_{,Y} + \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{12}\{[(\nabla^{2}w)_{,X}w_{,X}]_{,X} + [(\nabla^{2}w)_{,Y}w_{,X}]_{,Y}\} \approx \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{12}(\ddot{u} + 2c_{1}\dot{u}_{,X} + c_{1}^{2}u_{,XX}),$$
(6.78)
$$v_{,YY} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)v_{,XX} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)u_{,XY} + w_{,Y}[w_{,YY} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)w_{,XX}] + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)w_{,YX}w_{,XX} + \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{12}\{[(\nabla^{2}w)_{,YY}w_{,Y}]_{,Y} + [(\nabla^{2}w)_{,X}w_{,Y}]_{,X}\} \approx \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{12}(\ddot{v} + 2c_{1}\dot{v}_{,X} + c_{1}^{2}v_{,XX}),$$
(6.79)

$$+ \varepsilon^{3} q^{*} \approx \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{12} \nabla^{4} w + \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{12} (\ddot{w} + 2c_{1} \dot{w}_{,X} + c_{1}^{2} w_{,XX}).$$
(6.80)

216

Accordingly, the membrane forces are

$$N_{X} \equiv \frac{N_{\varsigma}}{c_{p}^{2}\rho_{0}h} = \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{12}P^{*} + [u_{,X} + \frac{1}{2}(w_{,X})^{2}] + \mu[v_{,Y} + \frac{1}{2}(w_{,Y})^{2}],$$

$$N_{Y} \equiv \frac{N_{y}}{c_{p}^{2}\rho_{0}h} = [v_{,Y} + \frac{1}{2}(w_{,Y})^{2}] + \mu[u_{,X} + \frac{1}{2}(w_{,X})^{2}],$$

$$N_{XY} \equiv \frac{N_{\varsigma y}}{c_{p}^{2}\rho_{0}h} = \frac{1}{2}(1 - \mu)(v_{,X} + u_{,Y} + w_{,X}w_{,Y}).$$
(6.81)

The boundary conditions in Eqs.(6.73) and (6.74) are

$$u(0,Y,t) = u(1/r,Y,t) = 0;$$

$$w(0,Y,t) = w(1/r,Y,t) = w_{,XX}(0,Y,t) = w_{,XX}(1/r,Y,t) = 0;$$

$$v(X,0,t) = v(X,1,t) = 0;$$

$$w(X,0,t) = w(X,1,t) = w_{,YY}(X,0,t) = w_{,YY}(X,1,t) = 0;$$

$$\int_{0}^{1} N_{X} dY = \frac{\mathcal{E}^{2}}{12} \int_{0}^{1} P^{*}(Y,t) dY \text{ at } X = 0, 1/r;$$

$$\int_{0}^{1/r} N_{Y} dX = 0 \text{ at } Y = 0, 1.$$

(6.82)

The initial conditions from Eqs.(6.75)-(6.77) are

$$u(X,Y,t)|_{t=0} = \varphi_1(X,Y), \ \dot{u}(X,Y,t)|_{t=0} = \psi_1(X,Y);$$

$$v(X,Y,t)|_{t=0} = \varphi_2(X,Y), \ \dot{v}(X,Y,t)|_{t=0} = \psi_2(X,Y);$$

$$w(X,Y,t)|_{t=0} = \varphi_3(X,Y), \ \dot{w}(X,Y,t)|_{t=0} = \psi_3(X,Y).$$
(6.83)

From the above non-dimensionalized equations, the waves in traveling plates can be obtained. However, it is very difficult to get closed-form solutions. The perturbation analysis will be adopted herein which may not be proper for chaotic waves, but it can be as an approximate estimate.

6.2.2. Perturbation analysis

To balance the $\varepsilon \ll 1$ in Eqs.(6.78)–(6.80), the perturbation expansions of the displacement from Eq.(6.60) are

$$w = \varepsilon w_1 + \varepsilon^3 w_3 + \cdots,$$

$$u = \varepsilon^2 u_2 + \varepsilon^4 u_4 + \cdots,$$

$$v = \varepsilon^2 v_2 + \varepsilon^4 v_4 + \cdots.$$

(6.84)

Without loss of generality, set $w_3 = w_5 = \cdots = 0$ to avoid the tedious work of derivation. The membrane forces are represented by

$$N_{X} = \varepsilon^{2} (\frac{1}{12} P^{*} + N_{2X}) + \varepsilon^{4} N_{4Y} + \cdots,$$

$$N_{Y} = \varepsilon^{2} N_{2Y} + \varepsilon^{4} N_{4Y} + \cdots,$$

$$N_{XY} = \varepsilon^{2} N_{2XY} + \varepsilon^{4} N_{4XY} + \cdots,$$
(6.85)

where

$$N_{2X} = [u_{2,X} + \frac{1}{2}(w_{1,X})^{2}] + \mu[v_{2,Y} + \frac{1}{2}(w_{1,Y})^{2}],$$

$$N_{2Y} = [v_{2,Y} + \frac{1}{2}(w_{1,Y})^{2}] + \mu[u_{2,X} + \frac{1}{2}(w_{1,X})^{2}],$$

$$N_{2XY} = \frac{1}{2}(1 - \mu)(v_{2,X} + u_{2,Y} + w_{1,X}w_{1,Y});$$

$$N_{(2\sigma)X} = u_{(2\sigma),X} + \mu v_{(2\sigma),Y},$$

$$N_{(2\sigma)Y} = v_{(2\sigma),Y} + \mu u_{(2\sigma),X},$$

$$N_{(2\sigma)XY} = \frac{1}{2}(1 - \mu)(v_{(2\sigma),X} + u_{(2\sigma),Y}),$$
(6.87)

where $\sigma = 2, 3, 4,$

Substitution of Eqs.(6.84)–(6.87) into Eqs.(6.79)–(6.81) gives: for order ε^2 :

$$u_{2,XX} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)u_{2,YY} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)v_{2,XY} + w_{1,X}[w_{1,XX} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)w_{1,YY}] + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)w_{1,XY}w_{1,Y} = 0,$$

$$v_{2,YY} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)v_{2,XX} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)u_{2,XY} + w_{1,Y}[w_{1,YY} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)w_{1,XX}] + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)w_{1,YX}w_{1,XX} = 0;$$
(6.88)

for order ε^3 :

$$[(P^* + N_{2X})w_{1,X} + 2N_{2XY}w_{1,Y}]_{,X} + [N_{2Y}w_{1,Y} + 2N_{2XY}w_{1,X}]_{,Y} + q^*$$

= $\frac{1}{12}\nabla^4 w_1 + \frac{1}{12}(\ddot{w}_1 + 2c_1\dot{w}_{1,X} + c_1^2w_{1,XX});$ (6.89)

for order ε^4 :

6.2. Waves in traveling plates

$$u_{4,XX} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)u_{4,YY} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)v_{4,XY} - \frac{1}{12}\{[(\nabla^2 w_1)_{,X} w_{1,X}]_{,X} + [(\nabla^2 w_1)_{,Y} w_{1,X}]_{,Y}\} = \frac{1}{12}(\ddot{u}_2 + 2c_1\dot{u}_{2,X} + c_1^2 u_{2,XX}), v_{4,YY} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)v_{4,XX} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)u_{4,XY} - \frac{1}{12}\{[(\nabla^2 w_1)_{,Y} w_{1,Y}]_{,Y} + [(\nabla^2 w_1)_{,X} w_{1,Y}]_{,X}\} = \frac{1}{12}(\ddot{v}_2 + 2c_1\dot{v}_{2,X} + c_1^2 v_{2,XX});$$

$$(6.90)$$

for order $\varepsilon^{2\sigma}$:

$$u_{(2\sigma),XX} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)u_{(2\sigma),YY} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)v_{(2\sigma),XY}$$

$$= \frac{1}{12}(\ddot{u}_{(2\sigma-1)} + 2c_{1}\dot{u}_{(2\sigma-1),X} + c_{1}^{2}u_{(2\sigma-1),XX}),$$

$$v_{(2\sigma),YY} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)v_{(2\sigma),XX} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)u_{(2\sigma),XY}$$

$$= \frac{1}{12}(\ddot{v}_{(2\sigma-1)} + 2c_{1}\dot{v}_{(2\sigma-1),X} + c_{1}^{2}v_{(2\sigma-1),XX});$$
(6.91)

where $\sigma = 3, 4, \dots$ The boundary conditions in Eq.(6.83) become

$$u_{2}(0,Y) = u_{2}(1/r,Y) = 0;$$

$$w_{1}(0,Y) = w_{1}(1/r,Y) = w_{1,XX}(0,Y) = w_{1,XX}(1/r,Y) = 0;$$

$$v_{2}(X,0) = v_{2}(X,1) = 0;$$

$$w_{1}(X,0) = w_{1}(X,1) = w_{1,YY}(X,0) = w_{1,YY}(X,1) = 0;$$

$$\int_{0}^{1} N_{2X} dY = 0 \text{ at } X = 0, 1/r;$$

$$\int_{0}^{1/r} N_{1Y} dY = 0 \text{ at } Y = 0, 1;$$

(6.92)

and

$$u_{(2\sigma)}(0,Y) = u_{(2\sigma)}(1/r,Y) = 0; \quad v_{(2\sigma)}(X,0) = v_{(2\sigma)}(X,1) = 0;$$

$$\int_{0}^{1} N_{(2\sigma)X} dY = 0 \quad \text{at } X = 0, 1/r; \quad \int_{0}^{1/r} N_{(2\sigma)Y} dX = 0 \quad \text{at } Y = 0, 1;$$

(6.93)

where $\sigma = 2, 3,$

Through this perturbation analysis, the initial conditions in the in-plane directions will be dropped. This analysis just provides an effect of inertia on the deflection of plate in the transverse direction. For accurate analysis, the perturbation analysis may not be adequate. As in Levy (1942), a solution for the transverse displacement in Eqs.(6.88)–(6.91) that enforces the displacement boundary conditions is

$$w_1 = \sum_{m} \sum_{n} f_{1mn}(t) \sin(m\pi X r) \sin(n\pi Y).$$
(6.94)

Only the single mode (m, n) motion of plate is investigated herein. For the multiple mode solution, the mode-interaction should be investigated owing to the plate nonlinearity. The mode-interaction for the static waves can be referred to Luo and Hamidzadeh (2004). Substitution of Eq.(6.94) into Eq.(6.88)–(6.91) yields

$$u_{2,XX} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)u_{2,YY} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)v_{2,XY} = \frac{1}{4}(m\pi^3 r)f_{1mn}^2\sin(2m\pi rX) \\ \times \{(mr)^2 - \mu n^2 - [(mr)^2 + n^2]\cos(2n\pi Y)\},$$
(6.95)

$$v_{2,YY} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)v_{2,XX} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)u_{2,XY} = \frac{1}{4}(n\pi^3)f_{1mn}^2\sin(2n\pi Y) \\ \times \{n^2 - \mu(mr)^2 - [n^2 + (mr)^2]\cos(2m\pi rX)\}.$$
(6.96)

The solutions to Eqs.(6.95) and (6.96) with the boundary conditions in Eq.(6.92) are given by

$$u_2 = \frac{\pi}{16mr} f_{1mn}^2 \sin(2m\pi rX) \{ (mr)^2 [\cos(2n\pi Y) - 1] + \mu n^2 \},$$
(6.97)

$$v_2 = \frac{\pi}{16n} f_{1mn}^2 \sin(2n\pi Y) \{ n^2 [\cos(2m\pi rX) - 1] + \mu(mr)^2 \}.$$
(6.98)

Substitution of Eqs.(6.94), (6.97) and (6.98) into Eqs.(6.90) leads to

$$u_{4,XY} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)u_{4,YY} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)v_{4,XY}$$

$$= \frac{\pi}{96(mr)} [(\dot{f}_{1mn}^2 + f_{1mn}\ddot{f}_{1mn}) - 2c_1^2(m\pi r)^2 f_{1mn}^2]$$

$$\times \{(mr)^2 [\cos(2n\pi Y) - 1] + \mu n^2\} \sin(2m\pi rX)$$

$$+ \frac{c_1(mr)\pi^2}{48} f_{1mn}\dot{f}_{1mn} \{(mr)^2 [\cos(2n\pi Y) - 1] + \mu n^2\} \cos(2m\pi rX)$$

$$+ \frac{(mr)\pi^5}{24} [(mr)^2 + n^2] f_{1mn}^2 \{(mr)^2 \sin(2m\pi rX)[1 - \cos(2n\pi Y)]$$

$$+ n^2 \sin(2m\pi rX) \sin(2n\pi Y)\}, \qquad (6.99)$$

$$v_{4,XX} + \frac{1}{2}(1-\mu)v_{4,YY} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\mu)v_{4,XY}$$

6.2. Waves in traveling plates

$$= \frac{\pi}{96n} [(\dot{f}_{1mn}^{2} + f_{1mn}\dot{f}_{1mn}) - 2c_{1}^{2}(m\pi r)^{2}f_{1mn}^{2}] \\ \times \{n^{2} [\cos(2mr\pi X) - 1] + \mu(mr)^{2}\} \sin(2n\pi Y) \\ - \frac{(mnr)\pi^{2}}{48} c_{1}f_{1mn}\dot{f}_{1mn} \sin(2mr\pi X)\sin(2n\pi Y) \\ + \frac{n\pi^{5}}{24} [(mr)^{2} + n^{2}]f_{1mn}^{2}\{n^{2}\sin(2n\pi Y)[1 - \cos(2m\pi rX)] \\ + (mr)^{2}\sin(2m\pi rX)\sin(2n\pi Y)\}.$$
(6.100)

From the boundary conditions in Eq.(6.93), the in-plane displacements u_4, v_4 are

$$\begin{split} u_{4} &= \frac{1}{384\pi} [\ddot{f}_{1nm} f_{1mn} + \dot{f}_{1mn}^{2} - 2(c_{1}m\pi r)^{2} f_{1mn}^{2}] \left[\frac{(mr)^{2} - \mu n^{2}}{(mr)^{3}} \right] \\ &\times \sin(2m\pi rX) - \frac{mr}{(mr)^{2} + n^{2}} \sin(2m\pi rX) \cos(2n\pi Y) \\ &+ \frac{1}{192} \dot{f}_{1mn} f_{1mn} \left\{ \frac{2}{(mr)^{2}} [(mr)^{2} - \mu n^{2}] [\cos(2m\pi rX) - 1] \right. \\ &+ \frac{c_{1}m^{2}r[(1 - \mu)(mr)^{2} + (3 + \mu)n^{2}]}{(1 - \mu)[(mr)^{4} + 3n^{4} + (3 - \mu)n^{2}(mr)^{2}]} [\cos(2m\pi rX) - 1] \cos(2n\pi Y) \\ &+ \frac{mr\pi^{3}}{96} [(mr)^{2} + n^{2}] f_{1mn}^{2} [1 - \cos(2n\pi Y)] \sin(2m\pi rX), \end{split}$$
(6.101)
$$v_{4} &= \frac{n^{2} - \mu(mr)^{2}}{384\pi n^{3}} [\ddot{f}_{1mn} f_{1mn} + \dot{f}_{1mn}^{2}] \sin(2n\pi Y) \\ &- \frac{mnr[(3 + \mu)(mr)^{2} + n^{2}]}{384\pi r^{3}} [\ddot{f}_{1mn} f_{1mn} + \dot{f}_{1mn}^{2}] - 2(c_{1}m\pi r)^{2} f_{1mn}^{2}] \\ &\times \sin(2n\pi Y) \cos(2m\pi rX) \\ &- \frac{c_{1}mmr[(3 + \mu)(mr)^{2} + (1 - \mu)n^{2}]}{192(1 - \mu)[(mr)^{4} + 3n^{4} + (3 - \mu)n^{2}(mr)^{2}]} \dot{f}_{1mn} f_{1mn} \\ &\times \sin(2n\pi Y) \sin(2m\pi rX) \\ &+ \frac{n\pi^{3}[n^{2} + (mr)^{2}]}{96} f_{1mn}^{2} [1 - \cos(2m\pi rX)] \sin(2n\pi Y). \end{aligned}$$
(6.102)

Substitution of the displacement solutions into Eqs.(6.86) and (6.87) generates the membrane forces (e.g., Luo and Hamidzadeh, 2004). Furthermore, substitution of both of them into Eq.(6.80) and use of the Galerkin method gives

$$\ddot{f}_{nn} + \alpha_{nn} f_{nn} + \beta_{nn} f_{nn}^3 + \varepsilon^2 \gamma_{nn} (\ddot{f}_{nn} f_{nn} + \dot{f}_{nn}^2) f_{nn} = q_{nn}^*,$$
(6.103)

where the coefficients are determined by

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{mn} &= \pi^{4} [(mr)^{2} + n^{2}]^{2} + \pi^{2} (P^{*} - c_{1}^{2})(mr)^{2}, \\ \beta_{mn} &= \beta_{mn}^{(1)} + \beta_{mn}^{(2)} + \varepsilon^{2} \beta_{mn}^{(3)}, \\ \beta_{mn}^{(1)} &= \frac{3\pi^{4}}{4} [(mr)^{4} + n^{4}](3 - \mu^{2}) + 3\mu\pi^{2}(mr)^{2}, \\ \beta_{mn}^{(2)} &= -\frac{\pi^{4}}{16} (\frac{c}{c_{p}})^{2} \left\{ [(mr)^{4} - (\mu n^{2})^{2}] \right] \\ &+ \frac{(mr)^{2}}{2[(mr)^{2} + n^{2}]} [(mr)^{4} + n^{4} + 2\mu(mr)^{2} n^{2}] \right\}, \end{aligned}$$
(6.104)
$$\beta_{mn}^{(3)} &= -\frac{\pi^{6}}{192} [(mr)^{2} + n^{2}] \left\{ 3[(mr)^{4} + n^{4}] - 2\mu n^{2}(mr)^{2} \right\}, \\ \gamma_{mn} &= \frac{\pi^{2}}{192} \left\{ (mr)^{2} + n^{2} - \mu^{2} (\frac{n^{4}}{(mr)^{2}} + \frac{(mr)^{4}}{n^{2}}) \right. \\ &+ \frac{\pi^{2}}{2[(mr)^{2} + n^{2}]} [(mr)^{4} + n^{4} + 2\mu(mr)^{2} n^{2}] \right\}, \end{aligned}$$

The subscript "1" has been dropped from now on without loss of generality. Note that the terms $\beta_{mn}^{(1)}, \beta_{mn}^{(2)}, \beta_{mn}^{(3)}$ and γ_{mn} are related to the nonlinear transverse deflection, the in-plane Coriolis acceleration, the shear forces at the in-plane equilibrium and the in-plane inertia, respectively. The vibration solutions are determined by solving Eq.(6.103). From Eq.(6.103), the in-plane inertia term is of ε^2 -term. For thin plates, such terms can be ignored. Such a discussion can be referred to Pasic and Hermann (1983).

6.2.3. Static waves

Let time-relative terms vanish, the *static waves* can be discussed from the above solutions:

$$\alpha_{mn}f_{mn} + \beta_{mn}f_{mn}^3 = q_{mn}^*.$$
(6.105)

The buckling stability for the mode (m,n) of the axially moving plate is by $\alpha_{mn} = 0$. In other words, a critical speed is determined by

$$c_{cr} = \sqrt{\frac{E\pi^2}{12\rho_0(1-\mu^2)(mr)^2} \frac{h^2}{b^2}((mr)^2 + n^2)^2 + \frac{P}{\rho_0 h}}.$$
(6.106)

For $c < c_{cr}$, the traveling plate will not be buckled. For $c > c_{cr}$, the traveling plate

will be buckled. If the plate is stationary, i.e., c = 0, the buckling stability for compressed plates is recovered,

$$P_{cr} = -\frac{Eh\pi^2}{12(1-\mu^2)(mr)^2} \frac{h^2}{b^2} [(mr)^2 + n^2]^2 < 0$$
(6.107)

being identical to that of Timoshenko (1940). If axially moving plates are very thin, they can be considered to be axially moving flat membranes. Hence, a critical tension of axially moving membranes is

$$P_{cr} = \rho_0 c^2 h > 0. \tag{6.108}$$

For $P < P_{cr} = \rho_0 c^2 h$, the axially moving membrane wrinkles.

Compared with the existing results, equation (6.105) reduces directly to several specific cases:

(i) linear theory

$$\{\pi^{4}[(mr)^{2}+n^{2}]^{2}+\pi^{2}(P^{*}-c_{1}^{2})(mr)^{2}\}f_{mn}=192q^{*}.$$
(6.109)

If $c_1 = 0$, equation (6.109) is recovered to the linear result in Timoshenko (1940).

(ii) von Karman theory

$$\left\{\pi^{4}[(mr)^{2}+n^{2}]^{2}+\pi^{2}(P^{*}-c_{1}^{2})(mr)^{2}\right\}f_{mn} + \left\{\frac{3\pi^{4}}{4}[(mr)^{4}+n^{4}](3-\mu^{2})+3\mu\pi^{2}(mr)^{2}\right\}f_{mn}^{3} = 192q^{*}.$$
(6.110)

At $c_1 = 0$ and m = n = 1, equation (6.110) is identical to the result of Chu and Herrmann (1956).

(iii) nonlinear membrane theory

$$\pi^{2} (P^{*} - c_{1}^{2})(mr)^{2} f_{mn} + f_{mn}^{3} \left(\frac{3\pi^{4}}{4} [(mr)^{4} + n^{4}](3 - \mu^{2}) + 3\mu\pi^{2} (mr)^{2} - \varepsilon^{2} \frac{c_{1}^{2}\pi^{4}}{192} \left\{ [(mr)^{4} - (\mu n^{2})^{2}] + \frac{(mr)^{2}}{2[(mr)^{2} + n^{2}]} [(mr)^{4} + n^{4} + 2\mu(mr)^{2}n^{2}] \right\} = 192q^{*}.$$
(6.111)

Consider material properties ($E = 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ N} / \text{m}^2$, $\rho_0 = 7.8 \times 10^3 \text{ kg/m}^3$, $\mu = 0.3$) with geometrical properties (l = 2.0 m, b = 1.0 m, h = 2 mm). If $Q = 39.11 \text{ N} / \text{m}^2$ and c = 1 m/s, we obtain $f_{1mn} = 2$ from Eqs.(6.76) and (6.103) at m = n = 1, P = 200 N. The displacements of static waves in the three-directions from

Eqs.(6.76), (6.77), (6.94), (6.97) and (6.98) are plotted in Fig.6.4(a)–(c). The inplane displacements are much smaller than the deflection in the transverse direction satisfying Eq.(6.60).

6.2.4. Nonlinear waves

For the free vibration of thin plates, let $q^* = 0$ and ignore the very small in-plane inertia compared to the transverse inertia for $\varepsilon = h/b \ll 1$, but the in-plane Coriolis acceleration increasing with increasing translation speed is retained in the nonlinear term. Equation (6.104) becomes

$$\ddot{f}_{mn} + \alpha_{mn} f_{mn} + \beta_{mn} f_{mn}^3 = 0.$$
(6.112)

The Hamiltonian of the periodic orbit of Eq.(6.112) is

$$H_{0} \equiv \frac{1}{2}\dot{f}_{mm}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\alpha_{mn}f_{mn}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\beta_{mn}f_{mn}^{4}.$$
 (6.113)

Evaluation of Eq.(6.113) with appropriate initial conditions in Eq.(6.83) leads to $H_0 = E_0$ and $E_0 = \text{constant}$. The comprehensive discussion was presented in Luo (2003). From the energy H_0 , the wave solutions of the pre-buckled and postbuckled plates are discussed as follows.

6.2.4a Pre-buckled plates

For the pre-buckled plate ($\alpha_{mn} \ge 0$), the solutions to Eq.(6.112) are

$$f_{mn}(t) = A_{mn} \operatorname{cn}\left[\frac{2K(k_{mn})\omega_{mn}t}{\pi}, k_{mn}\right],$$

$$\dot{f}_{mn}(t) = \frac{\sqrt{\beta_{mn}}}{\sqrt{2k_{mn}}} (A_{mn})^{2} \operatorname{sn}\left[\frac{2K(k_{mn})\omega_{mn}t}{\pi}, k_{mn}\right] \operatorname{dn}\left[\frac{2K(k_{mn})\omega_{mn}t}{\pi}, k_{mn}\right];$$
(6.114)

where cn, sn and dn are Jacobi-elliptic functions, $K(k_{mn})$ is the complete elliptic integral of the first kind, and A_{mn} and k_{mn} are the amplitude of $f_{mn}(t)$ and the modulus of the elliptic function for the (m, n)-mode wave:

$$A_{mn} = k_{mn} \sqrt{\frac{2\alpha_{mn}}{\beta_{mn}(1 - 2k_{mn}^2)}}, \quad k_{mn} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sqrt{1 - \frac{\alpha_{mn}}{\sqrt{4\beta_{mn}E_0 + \alpha_{mn}^2}}}.$$
(6.115)

The natural frequency is



Fig. 6.4 Static waves in traveling plates: (a) transverse displacement *w*, (b) longitudinal displacement *u*, and (c) longitudinal displacement *v*. $E = 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ N/m}^2$, $\rho_0 = 7.8 \times 10^3 \text{ kg} / \text{m}^3$, $\mu = 0.3$, l = 2.0 m, b = 1.0 m, P = 200 N/m, c = 1 m/s, $Q = 39.11 \text{ N} / \text{m}^2$, h = 2 mm and m = n = 1.

6 Nonlinear Plates and Waves

$$\omega_{mn} = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\beta_{mn}}{2}} \frac{A_{mn}\pi}{k_{mn}K(k_{mn})}.$$
 (6.116)

For $\beta_{mn} = 0$ (or $E_0 = 0$), $k_{mn} = 0$ in Eq.(6.115) results in $K(k_{mn}) = \pi/2$. Furthermore, the linear natural frequency is recovered from (6.116), i.e.,

$$\omega_{mn} = \sqrt{\alpha_{mn}} = \sqrt{\left[(m\pi r)^2 + (n\pi)^2\right]^2 + (P^* - c_1^2)(m\pi r)^2}.$$
(6.117)

 $\omega_{mn} = 0$ gives the critical speed of buckling plates determined. Substitution of Eq.(6.114) into Eq.(6.84) with Eqs.(6.60), (6.76) and (6.77) generates the transverse displacement of the nonlinear wave:

$$w^{0} = hA_{mn} \operatorname{cn} \left[\frac{hc_{p}K(k_{mn})\omega_{mn}\tau}{\sqrt{3}\pi b^{2}}, k_{mn} \right] \sin \frac{m\pi(x+c\tau)}{l} \sin \frac{n\pi y}{b}$$

$$= \sum_{p=1} U_{(2p-1)mn} \left\{ \sin \left[\frac{m\pi x}{l} + \left(\frac{m\pi c}{l} + (2p-1) \frac{hc_{p}\omega_{mn}}{\sqrt{12}b^{2}} \right) \tau \right] - \sin \left[\left((2p-1) \frac{hc_{p}\omega_{mn}}{\sqrt{12}b^{2}} - \frac{m\pi c}{l} \right) \tau - \frac{m\pi x}{l} \right] \right\} \sin \frac{n\pi y}{b},$$
(6.118)

where the $(2p-1)^{th}$ order subharmonic wave amplitude is

$$U_{(2p-1)mm} = \frac{\pi h A_{mm}}{2k_{mn}K(k_{mn})\cosh\left[\pi(2p-1)\frac{K'(k_{mn})}{2K(k_{mn})}\right]}.$$
(6.119)

6.2.4b Post-buckled plates

For the post-buckled plate ($\alpha_{mn} < 0$), either $E_0 \ge 0$ or $E_0 \le 0$ exists. For the case of $E_0 \ge 0$, the free vibration wave solution, natural frequency and subharmonic wave conditions are the same forms as in Eqs.(6.114) and (6.116) for the prebuckled plate, but the magnitude A_{mn} and k_{mn} are

$$A_{mn} = \sqrt{2}k_{mn}\sqrt{\frac{|\alpha_{mn}|}{\beta_{mn}(2k_{mn}^2 - 1)}}, \ k_{mn} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sqrt{1 + \frac{|\alpha_{mn}|}{\sqrt{4\beta_{mn}E_0 + \alpha_{mn}^2}}}.$$
 (6.120)

The linear model gives $\omega_{mn} = 0$ at either $\beta_{mn} = 0$ or $E_0 = 0$.

In the case of $E_0 \le 0$, the solution of Eq.(6.112) is

226

6.2. Waves in traveling plates

$$f_{mn}(t) = A_{mn} \operatorname{dn} \left[\frac{K(k_{mn})\omega_{mn}t}{\pi}, k_{mn} \right],$$

$$\dot{f}_{mn}(t) = \sqrt{\frac{\beta_{mn}}{2}} (A_{mn}k_{mn})^2 \operatorname{sn} \left[\frac{K(k_{mn})\omega_{mn}t}{\pi}, k_{mn} \right] \operatorname{cn} \left[\frac{K(k_{mn})\omega_{mn}t}{\pi}, k_{mn} \right],$$
(6.121)

where A_{mn} and k_{mn} are determined by

$$A_{mn} = \sqrt{\frac{2 |\alpha_{mn}|}{\beta_{mn}(2 - k_{mn}^2)}}, \quad k_{mn} = \sqrt{\frac{2\sqrt{4\beta_{mn}E_0 + \alpha_{mn}^2}}{|\alpha_{mn}| + \sqrt{4\beta_{mn}E_0 + \alpha_{mn}^2}}}.$$
(6.122)

The corresponding nonlinear frequency is

$$\omega_{mn} = \sqrt{\frac{\beta_{mn}}{2}} \frac{A_{mn}\pi}{K(k_{mn})}.$$
(6.123)

As $k_{mn} \rightarrow 0$, $K(k_{mn}) \rightarrow \pi/2$, and then the nonlinear frequency ω_{mn} in Eq.(6.123) converges to the linear natural frequency. That is,

$$\omega_{mn} = \sqrt{2 |\alpha_{mn}|} = \sqrt{2}\pi\sqrt{(c_1^2 - P^*)(mr)^2 - [(mr)^2 + n^2]^2}.$$
(6.124)

Note that $k_{mn} = 1$ in Eq.(6.123) at $\beta_{mn} = 0$ (or $E_0 = 0$) gives $K(k_{mn}) \to \infty$, so that $\omega_{mn} = 0$ in Eq.(6.123) and Eq. (6.121) becomes

$$f_{mn}(t) = \pm \frac{1}{\sqrt{\beta_{mn}}} \sqrt{2 |\alpha_{mn}|} \operatorname{sech}(\sqrt{\beta_{mn}}t),$$

$$\dot{f}_{mn}(t) = \pm \frac{1}{\sqrt{\beta_{mn}}} \sqrt{2 |\alpha_{mn}|} \operatorname{sech}(\sqrt{\beta_{mn}}t) \tanh(\sqrt{\beta_{mn}}t).$$
(6.125)

However, for linear analysis, the system will become unstable. Similarly, substitution of Eq.(6.121) into Eq.(6.84) with Eqs.(6.60), (6.76) and (6.77) results in an expression for the transverse displacement,

$$w^{0} = hA_{nm} \operatorname{dn} \left[\frac{hc_{p}K(k_{mn})\omega_{mn}\tau}{\pi\sqrt{12}b^{2}}, k_{mn} \right] \sin \frac{m\pi(x+c\tau)}{l} \sin \frac{n\pi y}{b}$$
$$= \sum_{p=1} U_{pmn} \left\{ \sin \left[\frac{m\pi x}{l} + \left(\frac{m\pi c}{l} + \frac{phc_{p}\omega_{mn}}{\sqrt{12}b^{2}}\right)\tau \right] -\sin \left[\left(\frac{phc_{p}\omega_{mn}}{\sqrt{12}b^{2}} - \frac{m\pi c}{l}\right)\tau - \frac{m\pi x}{l} \right] \right\} \sin \frac{n\pi y}{b}, \qquad (6.126)$$

where the p^{th} -order subharmonic wave amplitude is determined by

6 Nonlinear Plates and Waves

$$U_{pmn} = \frac{\pi h A_{mn}}{2K(k_{mn}) \cosh\left[p\pi \frac{K'(k_{mn})}{K(k_{mn})}\right]}.$$
(6.127)

The following parameters ($E = 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ N/m}^2$, $\rho_0 = 7.8 \times 10^3 \text{ kg/m}^3$, $\mu = 0.3$, l = 2.0 m, b = 1.0 m, h = 2 mm and P = 200 N/m) are used in Fig. 6.5 for illustration of natural frequency. The (1,1) -mode wave natural frequency versus the plate translation speed is shown in Fig.6.5(a) for specific conservative energies given by the initial conditions. The natural frequencies for the pre-buckled and post-buckled plates are plotted on the left and right sides of the dot-line. For the post-buckled plates, two natural frequencies are generated by the positive and negative conservative energy. The two frequencies merge essentially at critical point with zero natural frequency which can be obtained from Eqs.(6.116) and (6.117), (6.123) and (6.124) directly. The computational accuracy of the complete elliptic integral of the first kind at $k \rightarrow 1$ cannot provide an accurate solution in Fig.6.5(a). The results for $E_0 = 0$ give the natural frequency determined by the linear model. The critical translation speed at the pre-buckled plate $\omega = 0$ is noted. In the linear model, the instability occurs. The critical translation speeds for the nonlinear frequency of mode (m, n) at $E_0 = 0.0$ are plotted in Fig.6.5(b). For the plate parameters specified above, the minimum critical translation speed occurs in the (2,1)-mode. The buckling instability first occurs in the (2,1)-mode as the translation speed increases from zero. To illustrate the nonlinear natural frequency varying with the translation speed, the (m,n)-mode wave frequency versus the translation speed for specified conservative energy are presented in Fig.6.6.

6.2.4c Resonant and stationary waves

Resonant wave: From the time-dependent terms in Eq.(6.118), there are two mode-frequencies for a specified (m, n):

$$\Omega_{1,2} \equiv \frac{(2p-1)hc_p \omega_{mn}}{\sqrt{12b^2}} \mp \frac{m\pi c}{l} \ge 0, \text{ for subcritical wave;}$$

$$\Omega_{1,2} \equiv \frac{m\pi c}{l} \mp \frac{(2p-1)hc_p \omega_{mn}}{\sqrt{12b^2}} \ge 0, \text{ for supercritical wave.}$$
(6.128)

The resonant condition for a two-frequency system is $m_1\Omega_1 = m_2\Omega_2$. With Eq.(6.128), the resonant condition gives the translation speed:

$$c = \frac{m_1 - m_2}{m_1 + m_2} \frac{(2p-1)hlc_p \omega_{mn}}{m\pi\sqrt{12}b^2}, \text{ for subcritical motion;}$$



Fig. 6.5 (a) Natural frequency ω_{11} versus translation speed for specified initial energy E_0 , (b) critical translation speed for (m, n)-mode waves predicted by the linear model at $E_0 = 0.0$. The linear critical speed is denoted c_{cr} . ($E = 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ N/m}^2$, $\rho_0 = 7.8 \times 10^3 \text{ kg/m}^3$, $\mu = 0.3$, l = 2.0 m, b = 1.0 m, h = 2 mm, P = 200 N/m).



(b)

Fig. 6.6 Natural frequency of (m, n) -mode waves predicted by the nonlinear model: (a) $E_0 = 10$ and (b) $E_0 = -10.0$. ($E = 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ N/m}^2$, $\rho_0 = 7.8 \times 10^3 \text{ kg/m}^3$, $\mu = 0.3$, l = 2.0 m, b = 1.0 m, h = 2 mm, P = 200 N/m).

6.2. Waves in traveling plates

$$c = \frac{m_1 + m_2}{m_1 - m_2} \frac{(2p-1)hlc_p \omega_{mm}}{m\pi\sqrt{12}b^2}, \text{ for supercritical motion.}$$
(6.129)

where integers m_1, m_2 are positive and irreducible and $m_1 > m_2$. Equation (6.129) gives the $(m_1:m_2)$ resonance of harmonics at p=1 and of the (2p-1)th sub-harmonics for p > 1. The strength of resonance in Eq.(6.119) is the strongest since the hyperbolic function "cosh" increases exponentially as the order of subharmonics (i.e., 2p-1) increases.

For the linear model, the natural frequency in Eq.(6.117) with the resonant condition give

$$c = \frac{m_1 - m_2}{m_1 + m_2} \frac{l}{\sqrt{12b^2}} \sqrt{(r^2 + \frac{n^2}{m^2})^2 c_p^2 h^2 + (P^* c_p^2 h^2 - 12c^2 b^2) r^2},$$

for subcritical motion;
$$c = \frac{m_1 + m_2}{m_1 - m_2} \frac{l}{\sqrt{12b^2}} \sqrt{(r^2 + \frac{n^2}{m^2})^2 c_p^2 h^2 + (P^* c_p^2 h^2 - 12c^2 b^2) r^2},$$

for supercritical motion. (6.130)

Note that the resonant translation speed in Eqs.(6.129) and (6.130) are applicable to the post-buckled plates for $E_0 > 0$. For the traveling, post-buckled plate, the resonant translation speed for $E_0 < 0$ is

$$c = \frac{m_1 - m_2}{m_1 + m_2} \frac{phlc_p \omega_{mn}}{m\pi \sqrt{12}b^2}, \text{ for subcritical motion;}$$

$$c = \frac{m_1 + m_2}{m_1 - m_2} \frac{phlc_p \omega_{mn}}{m\pi \sqrt{12}b^2}, \text{ for supercritical motion.}$$
(6.131)

Stationary waves: The stationary wave requires $\Omega_1 = 0$ which gives

$$c = \frac{(2p-1)hc_{p}l\omega_{mn}}{\sqrt{12m\pi b^{2}}},$$
 (6.132)

for the $(2p-1)^{\text{th}}$ order, subharmonic stationary transverse wave of the transverse displacement of the pre-buckled plate. Likewise, substitution of Eq.(6.114) into Eqs.(6.97), (6.98), (6.101) and (6.102) yields the longitudinal free vibration wave solutions and the corresponding stationary wave conditions for the in-plane motions. The condition for the $(2p-1)^{\text{th}}$ order subharmonic stationary wave of the longitudinal displacement is one-half *c* in Eq.(6.132).

For the post-buckled plate, the translation speed for the stationary wave of $E_0 > 0$ is the same expression as in Eq.(6.132) only except for the A_{nm} and k_{nm} given in Eq.(6.120). However, for $E_0 < 0$, the translation speed for the *p*th order

6 Nonlinear Plates and Waves

subharmonic transverse stationary wave is

$$c = \frac{phc_p l\omega_{mn}}{2\sqrt{3}m\pi b^2}.$$
(6.133)

The longitudinal stationary wave translation speed is one-half in Eq.(6.133). For the linear vibration of traveling plates, the translation speed for the stationary wave is

$$c = \frac{c_p \varepsilon}{\sqrt{12}} \sqrt{\left(1 + \frac{n^2}{(mr)^2}\right)^2 (mr)^2 + P^*}.$$
 (6.134)

Such a detailed analysis can be referred to Luo (2003).

6.2.5 Chaotic waves

As in Luo (2005), consider $q_{mn}^*(t) = Q_0 \cos \Omega t$ in Eq.(6.103). For a thin plate in forced vibration, the in-plane inertia is ignored because it is very small compared to the transverse inertia as $\varepsilon = h/b \ll 1$, but the in-plane Coriolis acceleration is retained in the nonlinear term due to the transport speed. Equation (6.103) becomes

$$\hat{f}_{mn} + \alpha_{mn} f_{mn} + \beta_{mn} f_{mn}^3 = Q_0 \cos \Omega t.$$
 (6.135)

A Hamiltonian of Eq. (6.135) is

$$H = \frac{1}{2}\dot{f}_{mn}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\alpha_{mn}f_{mn}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\beta_{mn}f_{mn}^{4} - f_{mn}Q_{0}\cos\Omega t.$$
(6.136)

where the Hamiltonian can be divided into the time-independent and timedependent parts, i.e., $H = H_0 + H_1$, where H_0 and H_1 are the conservative energy and the work done by the excitation:

$$H_{0} = \frac{1}{2}\dot{f}_{mn}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\alpha_{mn}f_{mn}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\beta_{mn}f_{mn}^{4} \text{ and } H_{1} = -f_{mn}Q_{0}\cos\Omega t.$$
(6.137)

Evaluation of the conservative energy with appropriate initial conditions $(f_{mn}^0, \dot{f}_{mn}^0)$ reduced from Eq.(6.83) leads to $H_0 = E_0 = \text{constant}$. From H_0 , the periodic solution and the nonlinear natural frequency of the conservative system of the axially traveling plate are estimated in Section 6.2.4, and using the solution and frequency of the conservative system, the analytical condition for chaotic wave motion in the axially traveling plate can be achieved.

232

6.2.5a Pre-buckled plates

If the axially traveling speed of the plate is less than the critical traveling speed, the axially traveling plate is not buckled, i.e., $\alpha_{mn} \ge 0$. Substitution of Eq.(6.114) into H_1 in Eq.(6.137) yields the subharmonic resonant condition, i.e.,

$$\Omega = (2p-1)\omega_{mn}, \tag{6.138}$$

where p is a positive integer. From H_1 , a separatrix generated by the (2p-1)th subharmonic resonance has the similar property as the heteroclinic orbit, thus, the chaotic wave motion might appear in vicinity of the separatrix. From the theory of Luo (1995) (also see, Han and Luo, 1998; Luo, 2002, 2008), the energy increment of an orbit of Eq.(6.135) in the neighborhood of the (2p-1)th resonant separatrix during one period $T(E_0) = 2\pi / \omega_{nn}$ can be approximated by the work done by the excitation traveling along one cycle of a conservative orbit related to the (2p-1)th resonant condition, namely,

$$\Delta H \approx \int_{t_0}^{t_0+T(E_0)} \left[\frac{\partial H_0}{\partial \dot{f}_{mn}} \frac{\partial H_1}{\partial f_{mn}} - \frac{\partial H_1}{\partial \dot{f}_{mn}} \frac{\partial H_0}{\partial f_{mn}} \right] dt = U_{mn} \sin \Omega t_0, \qquad (6.139)$$

where

$$U_{mn}^{(2p-1)} = \frac{2\sqrt{2}\pi\Omega Q_0}{\sqrt{\beta_{mn}}} \operatorname{sech}\left[(2p-1)\frac{\pi K(k'_{mn})}{2K(k_{mn})}\right]$$
(6.140)

where $k'_{mn} = \sqrt{1 - k^2_{mn}}$. The minimum condition for the chaotic motion related to the (2p-1)th resonance in Luo (1995, 2002, 2008) is

$$G_{mn}U_{mn}^{(2p-1)} \approx 0.9716354,$$
 (6.141)

where

$$G_{mn} = \frac{8\sqrt{2}\Omega k_{mn}^3}{\beta_{mn}^{3/2} A_{mn}^5} \left[K(k_{mn}) - \frac{1 - 2k_{mn}^2}{1 - k_{mn}^2} E(k_{mn}) \right].$$
(6.142)

Once any other primary resonance of the system is involved in the chaotic wave motion near the assigned resonant separatrix, the chaotic wave motion relative to the (2p-1)th resonance is destroyed. Thus, the maximum condition for chaotic motion related to the (2p-1)th resonance is

$$\frac{2\sqrt{2\pi}\,\Omega Q_0}{\sqrt{\beta_{mn}}}\,\mathrm{sech}\left[(2\,p-1)\frac{\pi K(k_{mn}')}{2K(k_{mn})}\right] = E_0^{2\,p-1} - E_0^{2\,p+1}.\tag{6.143}$$

6.2.5b Post-buckled plates

If the axially traveling speed of the plate is over the critical traveling speed, the axially traveling plate is buckled (i.e., $\alpha_{mn} < 0$). For the axially traveling, postbuckled plate, the chaotic conditions for cases of $E_0 > 0$, $E_0 < 0$ and $E_0 = 0$ are discussed.

For the case of $E_0 > 0$, the solution and natural frequency of the conservative system of Eq.(6.135), subharmonic resonant and chaotic conditions for Eq. (6.135) are of the same as Eqs.(6.114), (6.116), (6.138), (6.141), (6.143), but the magnitude A_{mn} and k_{mn} are given as in Eq.(6.120).

For the case of $E_0 < 0$, the solution and natural frequency of the conservative system of Eq.(6.135) for the axially traveling, post-buckled plate are given by Eq. (6.121). Substitution of Eq.(6.121) into H_1 gives the sub-harmonic resonant condition:

$$\Omega = p\omega_{mn}.\tag{6.144}$$

As in the axially traveling, pre-buckled plate, the minimum and maximum conditions for the chaotic motion relative to Eq.(6.144) are

$$G_{mn}^{(p)}U_{mn}^{(p)} \approx 0.9716354,$$
 (6.145)

and

$$\frac{\sqrt{2\pi\Omega Q_0}}{\sqrt{\beta_{mn}}} \operatorname{sech} \frac{p\pi K(k'_{mn})}{K(k_{mn})} = E_0^{p+1} - E_0^p, \qquad (6.146)$$

where

$$U_{mn}^{(p)} = \frac{\sqrt{2\pi \Omega Q_0}}{\sqrt{\beta_{mn}}} \operatorname{sech} \frac{p\pi K(k'_{mn})}{K(k_{mn})},$$

$$G_{mn}^{(p)} = \frac{4\sqrt{2\Omega}}{\sqrt{\beta_{mn}} k_{mn}^4 A_{mn}^5} \left[2K(k_{mn}) - \frac{2 - k_{mn}^2}{1 - k_{mn}^2} E(k_{mn}) \right].$$
(6.147)

For the case of $E_0 = 0$, the solution of the conservative system of Eq.(6.135) is given by Eq.(6.125). The solution describes the homoclinic separatrix. The chaotic wave motion in vicinity of the homoclinic separatrix is associated with the motion of both $E_0 > 0$ and $E_0 < 0$. The chaotic wave motion near the homoclinic separatrix involves many resonant motions of both $E_0 > 0$ and $E_0 < 0$. Therefore, the analytical conditions for the (2p-1)th resonance of $E_0 > 0$ and the *p*th resonance of $E_0 < 0$ embedded in chaotic motion near the homoclinic separatrix are

6.2. Waves in traveling plates

$$2Q_0 \pi \Omega \sqrt{\frac{2}{\beta_{mn}}} \operatorname{sech} \frac{\pi \Omega}{2\sqrt{\alpha_{mn}}} = E_0^{2p-1}, \qquad (6.148)$$

and

$$2Q_0 \pi \Omega \sqrt{\frac{2}{\beta_{mn}}} \operatorname{sech} \frac{\pi \Omega}{2\sqrt{\alpha_{mn}}} = E_0^p.$$
(6.149)

6.2.5c Prediction comparisons

Using the energy spectrum methods in Luo (2002, 2008), the numerical prediction of the appearance and disappearance of the resonant separatrix can be carried out. The analytical and numerical conditions for chaotic wave motions will be illustrated from the parameters (i.e., $E = 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ N/m}^2$, $\rho_0 = 7.8 \times 10^3 \text{ kg/m}^3$, $\mu = 0.3$, l = 2.0 m, h = 2 mm, P = 200 N, m = n = 1). For the axially traveling, prebuckled plate at the transport speed c = 15m/s $< c_{cr}$, the analytical and numerical conditions for chaotic motions near the primary resonant separatrix are shown in Fig.6.7, where the solid and dash curves represent the maximum and minimum analytical conditions, and the triangle and circle lines denote the corresponding numerical prediction. Only the maximum condition for chaotic wave motion in the primary resonant separatrix zone of the first order is found in Fig.6.7 because the sub-resonance of the primary resonance of the first order is very strong. Once the chaotic motion in the resonant separatrix zone of the first order appears, the chaotic wave motion includes other primary resonance. For the axially traveling, postbuckled plate at the transport speed $c = 35 \text{m/s} > c_{\text{cr}}$, the conditions for chaotic wave motions in the primary resonant separatrix for $E_0 > 0$ and $E_0 < 0$ are shown in Fig.6.8(a) and (b). The numerical and analytical conditions for the primary resonance of both $E_0 > 0$ and $E_0 < 0$ embedded in the chaotic wave motion in the zone of the homoclinic separatrix are plotted in Fig.6.8(c)-(d). Note that the solid and circular symbol curves depict the analytical and numerical conditions.

From Fig.6.7 and Fig.6.8(a)–(b), the analytical and numerical conditions for the chaotic waves in the resonant separatrix zone are not in very good agreement because the energy increment is approximated (i.e., Eq.(6.139)). For this reason, if the excitation is very strong, then the agreement of the analytical prediction with the numerical prediction becomes worst. In additions, the sub-resonance in chaotic motions near the primary resonant separatrix zone should be modeled to improve the analytical prediction of chaos. However, the analytical and numerical predictions for the primary resonances embedded in chaotic motion near the homoclinic orbit are in very good agreement. The comprehensive discussion can be found in Luo (2008).



Excitation Frequency Ω

Fig. 6.7 Analytical and numerical predictions for chaotic wave motions in the axially traveling, pre-buckled plate. ($E = 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ N/m}^2$, $\rho_0 = 7.8 \times 10^3 \text{ kg/m}^3$, $\mu = 0.3$, l = 2.0 m, b = 1.0 m, h = 2 mm, m = n = 1, P = 200 N, c = 15 m/s.)

6.2.5d Chaotic waves in resonant zones

The Poincaré mapping sections of chaotic wave motions near the resonant separatrix and the homoclinic orbit in the axially traveling plate are plotted in Figs.6.9-6.11 for the running time $3 \times 10^5 T$ where $T = 2\pi / \Omega$. The large circular symbols are equilibrium points for conservative system in Eq.(6.135). The small circular symbols are equilibrium points for the resonant separatrix, which is determined by the resonant layer dynamics in Luo (2008). The red and green circular symbols represent stable and unstable equilibriums, respectively. The initial condition ($f_{mn}^0 = 0.5398$, $\dot{f}_{mn}^0 = 18.7908$), the excitation frequency and amplitude ($\Omega =$ 57.1181, $Q_0 = 610 > Q_0^{\min} \approx 600$), the transport speed (c = 15m/s) and other parameters given as before are used, and the corresponding Poincaré mapping section of the chaotic wave motion in the resonant separatrix zone of the third order for the axially traveling, pre-buckled plate is produced, as shown in Fig.6.9. The maximum non-dimensional displacement $f_{mn} = w/h$ is about 1.5. This implies that the chaotic motion might occur in the small amplitude oscillation of plates when the corresponding geometrical nonlinearity is invoked in the governing equations of motion.



Fig. 6.8 Analytical and numerical predictions for chaotic wave motions in the axially traveling, post-buckled plate: (a) $E_0 > 0$, (b) $E_0 < 0$, (c) $E_0 = 0$ relative to $E_0 > 0$ and (d) $E_0 = 0$ relative to $E_0 < 0$. ($E = 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ N/m}^2$, $\rho_0 = 7.8 \times 10^3 \text{ kg/m}^3$, $\mu = 0.3$, l = 2.0 m, b = 1.0 m, h = 2 mm, m = n = 1, P = 200 N, c = 35 m/s.)





In Fig.6.10(a), the chaotic wave motion near the primary resonant separatrix zone of the third order for the axially traveling, post-buckled plate is illustrated through the Poincaré mapping section for ($f_{mn}^0 = 0.7376$, $\dot{f}_{mn}^0 = 28.6717$, $\Omega = 60.6762$, $Q_0 = 270 > Q_0^{\min} \approx 265$, c = 35m/s) and other parameters are given as before. To stimulate the same type of resonant separatrix, the excitation amplitude for the post-buckled plate is much smaller than for the pre-buckled plate.

Two Poincaré mapping sections of chaotic motions near the primary resonant separatrix zone of the second order in the left and right potential wells of the axially traveling, post-buckled plate are plotted in Fig.6.10(b). Two illustrations use the same excitation ($\Omega = 25.4274$, $Q_0 = 4.5 > Q_0^{\min} \approx 3.5$) and the same conservative energy $E_0 = -5.7963$, but they are totally different because of signs of displacement in the two wells. The hyperbolic points selected as initial conditions for numerical simulations are ($f_{mn}^0 = -0.5617$ and $\dot{f}_{mn}^0 = -0.3099$) in the left well and $(f_{mn}^0 = 0.3615 \text{ and } \dot{f}_{mn}^0 = 0)$ in the right well. From Fig.6.10(b), chaotic wave motions near the primary resonant separatrix in two wells are not symmetric even if phase portraits for the non-excited case of Eq. (6.135) are symmetric. The Poincaré mapping sections of chaotic wave motions near the homoclinic separatrix are shown in Fig.6.11(a) and (b) for $(Q_0 = 1.2 > Q_0^{cr} \approx 1.05, Q_0 = 3.5 > Q_0^{cr} \approx 3.2)$ at $\Omega = 20.0$ and $(f_{mn}^0 = \dot{f}_{mn}^0 = 0)$. In Fig.6.11(a) the primary resonance of the second order for $E_0 < 0$ is embedded in chaotic wave motion near the homoclinic separatrix. With the excitation amplitude increase, the primary resonance of the third order for $E_0 > 0$ are implanted in the chaotic wave motion near the homoclinic separatrix, as clearly shown in Fig.6.11(b).

6.3. Waves in rotating disks

In this section, waves in rotating disks will be presented. As in traveling plates, the perturbation analysis for rotating disks will be carried. Through the energy analysis, an approximate solution for waves in rotating disks will be presented (also see, Luo and Mote, 2000). Finally, the resonant and stationary waves in the rotating disks will be discussed.

6.3.1. Equations of motions

Consider a flexible, circular disk rotating with constant angular speed Ω , as sketched in Fig.6.12. The disk is clamped at the hub r = a, free at the outer edge r = b, and is of uniform thickness *h*. Both the rotating and stationary coordinate systems (r, ϑ, τ) and (r, θ, τ) satisfy

$$\theta = \vartheta + \Omega \tau. \tag{6.150}$$

For large deflection plates, the accurate plate theory in Section 6.2.1 (also see, Luo, 2000) requires:



Fig. 6.9 Chaotic wave motion in the resonant separatrix zone of the third order of the axially traveling, pre-buckled plate. Red and green points are center and hyperbolic equilibrium points for resonant separatrix, respectively. ($f_{nn}^0 = 0.5398$, $\dot{f}_{nnn}^0 = 18.7908$, $\Omega = 57.1181$, $Q_0 = 610 > Q_0^{\min} \approx 600$, $E = 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ N/m}^2$, $\rho_0 = 7.8 \times 10^3 \text{ kg/m}^3$, $\mu = 0.3$, l = 2.0 m, b = 1.0 m, h = 2 mm, m = n = 1, P = 200 N, c = 15 m/s.) (color plot in the book end)

$$\begin{aligned} u_{r,r} &\approx O(u_{\theta,r}) \approx O[(u_{z,r})^2], \ \frac{1}{r} u_{r,\theta} \approx O(\frac{1}{r} u_{\theta,\theta}) \approx O[(\frac{1}{r} u_{z,\theta})^2]; \\ u_{r,r} &+ \frac{1}{2} (u_{z,r})^2 << 1, \ \frac{1}{r} u_{r,\theta} + \frac{1}{r} u_{\theta,\theta} + \frac{1}{2} (\frac{1}{r} u_{z,\theta})^2 << 1; \\ 1 + \varepsilon_r \approx 1, \ 1 + \varepsilon_\theta \approx 1, \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.151)$$

where a comma in the subscript denotes partial differentiation, and three displacement components of a material point on the disk are represented by u_r , u_{θ} and u_z .

Under Eq.(6.151), three components of strain in the middle surface are approximated by

$$\mathcal{E}_{r} \approx u_{r,r} + \frac{1}{2} (u_{z,r})^{2},$$

$$\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \approx \frac{1}{r} u_{r} + \frac{1}{r} u_{\theta,\theta} + \frac{1}{2r^{2}} (u_{z,\theta})^{2},$$

$$\gamma_{r\theta} \approx \frac{1}{r} u_{r,\theta} + u_{\theta,r} - \frac{1}{r} u_{\theta} + \frac{1}{r} u_{z,r} u_{z,\theta}.$$
(6.152)



(b)

Fig. 6.10 Chaotic wave motion in the resonant separatrix zone of the axially traveling, postbuckled plate: (a) $E_0 > 0$ ($f_{mn}^0 = 0.7376$, $\dot{f}_{mn}^0 = 28.6717$, $\Omega = 60.6762$, $Q_0 = 270 > Q_0^{\min} \approx 265$) and (b) $E_0 < 0$ ($f_{mn}^0 = -0.5617$, $\dot{f}_{mn}^0 = -0.3099$) in the left well and ($f_{mn}^0 = 0.3615$, $\dot{f}_{mn}^0 = 0$) in the right well. ($\Omega = 25.4274$, $Q_0 = 4.5 > Q_0^{\min} \approx 3.5$.) Red and green points are center and hyperbolic equilibrium points for resonant separatrix, respectively. ($E = 2 \times 10^{11}$ N/m², $\rho_0 = 7.8 \times 10^3$ kg/m³, $\mu = 0.3$, l = 2.0 m, b = 1.0 m, h = 2 mm, m = n = 1, P = 200 N, c = 35m/s.) (color plot in the book end)



(a)



Fig. 6.11 Chaotic wave motions in the homoclinic separatrix zone of the axially traveling, postbuckled plate: (a) for the resonance of the second order at $E_0 < 0$ embedded and (b) for the resonance of the third order at $E_0 > 0$ embedded. Red and green symbols are center and hyperbolic equilibrium points for resonant separatrix, respectively. ($Q_0 = 1.2 > Q_0^{cr} \approx 1.05$, $Q_0 = 3.5 > Q_0^{cr}$, $Q_0^{cr} \approx 3.2$, $\Omega = 20.0$ $f_{mn}^0 = \dot{f}_{mn}^0 = 0$, $E = 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ N/m}^2$, $\rho_0 = 7.8 \times 10^3 \text{ kg/m}^3$, $\mu = 0.3$, l = 2.0 m, b = 1.0 m, h = 2 mm, m = n = 1, P = 200 N, c = 35 m/s.) (color plot in the book end)



Fig. 6.12 An axisymmetric, rotating disk with clamped-free boundaries.

From Eqs.(6.151) and (6.152), the accurate plate theory in Section 6.1 (e.g., Luo, 2000) gives force and moment balances:

$$[N_{r} - (Q_{r}u_{z,r})]_{,r} + \frac{1}{r}[N_{r\theta} - (Q_{\theta}u_{z,r})]_{,\theta} + \frac{1}{r}(N_{r} - N_{\theta}) + \rho_{0}h\Omega^{2}r = \rho_{0}h(\ddot{u}_{r} + 2\Omega\dot{u}_{r,\theta} + \Omega^{2}u_{r,\theta\theta}), \qquad (6.153)$$

$$[N_{r\theta} - \frac{1}{r}(Q_r u_{z,\theta})]_r + \frac{1}{r}[N_{\theta} - \frac{1}{r}(Q_{\theta} u_{z,\theta})]_{,\theta} + \frac{2}{r}N_{r\theta}$$
$$= \rho_0 h(\ddot{u}_{\theta} + 2\Omega\dot{u}_{\theta,\theta} + \Omega^2 u_{\theta,\theta\theta}), \qquad (6.154)$$

$$\frac{1}{r}[r(N_{r}u_{z,r}) + N_{r\theta}u_{z,\theta} + rQ_{r}]_{,r} + \frac{1}{r}[\frac{1}{r}(N_{\theta}u_{z,\theta}) + N_{r\theta}u_{z,r} + Q_{\theta}]_{,\theta}$$

= $\rho_{0}h(\ddot{u}_{z} + 2\Omega\dot{u}_{z,\theta} + \Omega^{2}u_{z,\theta\theta}),$ (6.155)

$$M_{r,r} + \frac{1}{r}M_{r\theta,\theta} + \frac{1}{r}(M_r - M_{\theta}) + \frac{1}{r}(N_{r\theta}u_{z,\theta}) - Q_r = 0,$$
(6.156)

$$M_{r\theta,r} + \frac{1}{r}M_{\theta,\theta} + \frac{2}{r}M_{r\theta} + N_{r\theta}u_{z,r} - Q_{\theta} = 0, \qquad (6.157)$$

where the superscript dot denotes derivative with respect to time τ . Q_r and Q_{θ} denote shear forces in radial and hoop cross sections. In the von Karman theory, shear force contributions in Eqs.(6.153) and (6.154) and membrane force contribution in Eqs.(6.156) and (6.157) were not considered. The membrane forces $(N_r, N_{\theta}, N_{r\theta})$ are

$$N_{r} = \frac{Eh}{1-\mu^{2}} \{ u_{r,r} + \frac{1}{2} (u_{z,r})^{2} + \mu [\frac{1}{r} u_{r} + \frac{1}{r} u_{\theta,\theta} + \frac{1}{2r^{2}} (u_{z,\theta})^{2}] \},\$$

6 Nonlinear Plates and Waves

$$N_{\theta} = \frac{Eh}{1-\mu^{2}} \{ \frac{1}{r} u_{r} + \frac{1}{r} u_{\theta,\theta} + \frac{1}{2r^{2}} (u_{z,\theta})^{2} + \mu [u_{r,r} + \frac{1}{2} (u_{z,r})^{2}] \},$$

$$N_{r\theta} = \frac{Eh}{2(1+\mu)} [u_{\theta,r} + \frac{1}{r} u_{r,\theta} - \frac{1}{r} u_{\theta} + \frac{1}{r} u_{z,r} u_{z,\theta}];$$
(6.158)

and the bending and twisting moments ($M_{\scriptscriptstyle r}, M_{\scriptscriptstyle \theta}, M_{\scriptscriptstyle r\theta}$) are

$$M_{r} = -D[u_{z,rr} + \mu(\frac{1}{r}u_{z,r} + \frac{1}{r^{2}}u_{z,\theta\theta})],$$

$$M_{\theta} = -D(\frac{1}{r}u_{z,r} + \frac{1}{r^{2}}u_{z,\theta\theta} + \mu u_{z,rr}),$$

$$M_{r\theta} = -(1-\mu)D(\frac{1}{r}u_{z,r\theta} - \frac{1}{r^{2}}u_{z,\theta}),$$
(6.159)

where *E* and μ are Young's modulus and Poisson ratio, and the stiffness for disks is $D = Eh^3/12(1-\mu^2)$.

For convenience, the following dimensionless variables are introduced.

$$R = \frac{r}{b}, \ U_R = \frac{u_r}{b}, \ U_\theta = \frac{u_\theta}{b}, \ U_z = \frac{u_z}{b}, \ \kappa = \frac{a}{b}, \ \varepsilon = \frac{h}{b},$$

$$t = \frac{\varepsilon c_p \tau}{\sqrt{12b}}, \ \Omega^* = \frac{\sqrt{12b\Omega}}{\varepsilon c_p}, \ c_p^2 = \frac{E}{\rho_0 (1 - \mu^2)},$$

(6.160)

With Eq.(6.160), substitution of Eqs.(6.156)-(6.159) into Eqs.(6.153)-(6.165) yields

$$U_{R,RR} + \frac{1}{R}U_{R,R} - \frac{1}{R^{2}}U_{R} + \frac{1-\mu}{2R^{2}}U_{R,\theta\theta} + \frac{1+\mu}{2R}U_{\theta,R\theta} - \frac{3-\mu}{2R^{2}}U_{\theta,\theta} \\ + U_{Z,R}(U_{Z,RR} + \frac{1-\mu}{2R^{2}}U_{Z,\theta\theta}) + \frac{1+\mu}{2R^{2}}U_{Z,R\theta}U_{Z,\theta} + \frac{1-\mu}{2R}[(U_{Z,R})^{2} \\ - \frac{1}{R^{2}}(U_{Z,\theta})^{2}] + \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{12}\{[(\nabla^{2}U_{R})_{,R}U_{Z,R}]_{,R} + \frac{1}{R^{2}}[(\nabla^{2}U_{Z})_{,\theta}U_{Z,R}]_{,\theta}\} \\ + \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{12}\Omega^{*2}R = \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{12}(\ddot{U}_{R} + 2\Omega^{*}U_{R,\theta} + \Omega^{*2}U_{R,\theta\theta}), \qquad (6.161) \\ \frac{1}{R^{2}}U_{\theta,\theta\theta} + \frac{1-\mu}{2}(U_{\theta,RR} + \frac{1}{R}U_{\theta,R} - \frac{1}{R^{2}}U_{\theta}) \\ + \frac{1+\mu}{2}U_{R,R} + \frac{3-\mu}{2}U_{R,\theta} + \frac{1+\mu}{2}U_{Z,R}U_{Z,R} = 0$$

$$+\frac{1}{R}U_{Z,\theta}\left[\frac{1}{R^2}U_{Z,\theta\theta} + \frac{1-\mu}{2}(U_{Z,RR} + \frac{1}{R}U_{Z,R})\right]$$

244

6.3. Waves in rotating disks

$$+\frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{12}\left\{\left[\frac{1}{R}(\nabla^{2}U_{Z})_{,R}U_{Z,\theta}\right]_{,R}+\frac{1}{R^{3}}\left[\left(\nabla^{2}U_{Z}\right)_{,\theta}U_{Z,\theta}\right]_{,\theta}\right\}$$
$$=\frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{12}(\ddot{U}_{\theta}+2\Omega^{*}\dot{U}_{\theta,\theta}+\Omega^{*2}U_{\theta,\theta\theta}),$$
(6.162)

$$\frac{1}{R} \left(R \{ U_{R,R} + \frac{1}{2} (U_{Z,R})^2 + \mu [\frac{1}{R} U_R + \frac{1}{R} U_{\theta,\theta} + \frac{1}{2R^2} (U_{z,\theta})^2] \} U_{Z,R} + (1-\mu) [U_{\theta,R} + \frac{1}{R} U_{R,\theta} - \frac{1}{R} U_{\theta} + \frac{1}{R} U_{Z,R} U_{Z,\theta}] U_{Z,\theta}]_{R} + \frac{1}{R} \left(\frac{1}{R} \{ \frac{1}{R} U_r + \frac{1}{R} U_{\theta,\theta} + \frac{1}{2R^2} (U_{Z,\theta})^2 + \mu [U_{R,R} + \frac{1}{2} (U_{Z,R})^2] \} U_{Z,\theta} + (1-\mu) [U_{\theta,R} + \frac{1}{R} U_{R,\theta} - \frac{1}{R} U_{\theta} + \frac{1}{R} U_{Z,R} U_{Z,\theta}] U_{Z,R}]_{R} + \frac{\varepsilon^2}{12} (\nabla^4 U_Z + \ddot{U}_Z + 2\Omega^* \dot{U}_{Z,\theta} + \Omega^{*2} U_{Z,\theta\theta}).$$
(6.163)

Where

$$\nabla^{2} = \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R^{2}} + \frac{1}{R} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R \partial \theta} + \frac{1}{R^{2}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \theta^{2}},$$

$$\nabla^{4} = (\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R^{2}} + \frac{1}{R} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R \partial \theta} + \frac{1}{R^{2}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \theta^{2}})(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R^{2}} + \frac{1}{R} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R \partial \theta} + \frac{1}{R^{2}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \theta^{2}}).$$
(6.164)

Note that the ε^2 terms in Eqs.(6.161) and (6.162) represent the shear force contributions computed by the bending and twisting moments and in-plane membrane forces, centrifugal forces and the rotation-induced Coriolis inertia and the other nonlinear terms are directly contributed by the in-plane nonlinear membrane forces. The $(1-\mu)$ terms in Eq.(6.163) are the contribution of the shear membrane forces and shear forces in the transverse direction. In the von Karman theory of rotating disk (Tobias and Arnold, 1957; Nowinski,1964; Advani, 1967), the shear force contribution to the in-plane force balances and the contributions of in-plane membrane forces to the moment balances were not considered. The detailed discussion on the aforementioned effects can be referred to Luo (2000).

Similarly, the membrane forces in (6.158) become

$$\overline{N}_{R} = U_{R,R} + \frac{1}{2} (U_{Z,R})^{2} + \mu [\frac{1}{R} U_{R} + \frac{1}{R} U_{\theta,\theta} + \frac{1}{2R^{2}} (U_{z,\theta})^{2}],$$

$$\overline{N}_{\theta} = \frac{1}{R} U_{R} + \frac{1}{R} U_{\theta,\theta} + \frac{1}{2R^{2}} (U_{z,\theta})^{2} + \mu [U_{R,R} + \frac{1}{2} (U_{Z,R})^{2}],$$

$$\overline{N}_{R\theta} = \frac{1 - \mu}{2} (U_{\theta,R} + \frac{1}{R} U_{R,\theta} - \frac{1}{R} U_{\theta} + \frac{1}{R} U_{Z,R} U_{Z,\theta}).$$
(6.165)

The corresponding boundary conditions become

6 Nonlinear Plates and Waves

$$U_{R} = U_{\theta} = U_{Z} = 0, \quad U_{Z,R} = 0 \quad \text{at } R = \kappa;$$

$$U_{Z,RR} + \mu(\frac{1}{R}U_{Z,R} + \frac{1}{R^{2}}U_{Z,\theta\theta}) = 0,$$

$$(\nabla^{2}U_{Z})_{,R} + \frac{1-\mu}{R^{2}}(U_{Z,R} - \frac{1}{R}U_{Z})_{,\theta\theta} = 0$$

$$\left. \left. \left(\delta = 166 \right) \right|_{R} \right\}$$

$$\left. \left(\delta = 166 \right) \right|_{R} \left. \left(\delta = 166 \right) \right|_{R} \right\}$$

In addition, the radial and shear membrane forces at R = 1 require $\overline{N}_R = \overline{N}_{R\theta} = 0$, i.e.,

$$U_{R,R} + \frac{1}{2} (U_{Z,R})^2 + \mu [\frac{1}{R} U_R + \frac{1}{R} U_{\theta,\theta} + \frac{1}{2R^2} (U_{Z,\theta})^2] = 0, \\ U_{\theta,R} + \frac{1}{R} U_{R,\theta} - \frac{1}{R} U_{\theta} + \frac{1}{R} U_{Z,R} U_{Z,\theta} = 0,$$
 at $R = 1.$ (6.167)

If the waviness of the disk exists only in the transverse direction, the initial conditions are

$$U_{R} = \dot{U}_{R} = U_{\theta} = \dot{U}_{\theta} = 0,$$

$$U_{Z} = \Phi(R, \theta), \ \dot{U}_{Z} = \Psi(R, \theta), \text{ at } t=0.$$
(6.168)

To proceed with analysis of Eqs.(6.161)–(6.163) in the small parameter of $0 < \varepsilon = h/b \ll 1$, series solutions satisfying Eq.(6.151) are proposed as

$$U_{Z} = \varepsilon U_{Z}^{(1)} + \varepsilon^{3} U_{Z}^{(3)} + \cdots,$$

$$U_{R} = \varepsilon^{2} U_{R}^{(2)} + \varepsilon^{4} U_{R}^{(4)} + \cdots,$$

$$U_{\theta} = \varepsilon^{2} U_{\theta}^{(2)} + \varepsilon^{4} U_{\theta}^{(4)} + \cdots.$$
(6.169)

When the series solutions in Eq.(6.169) are substituted into Eqs.(6.161)–(6.163), it is found that the inertial forces in the radial and circumferential directions are of order ε^4 but the one in the transverse direction is of order ε^3 . Therefore, in the following analysis, the inertial forces in the radial and hoop directions are ignored. In other words, without loss of generality, we only retain terms through ε^2 to avoid higher order calculation in radial and hoop direction. Substitution of Eq.(6.169) into Eqs.(6.161) and (6.162) gives for order ε^2 :

$$U_{R,RR}^{(2)} + \frac{1}{R}U_{R,R}^{(2)} - \frac{1}{R^2}U_R^{(2)} + \frac{1-\mu}{2R^2}U_{R,\theta\theta}^{(2)} + \frac{1+\mu}{2R}U_{\theta,R\theta}^{(2)} - \frac{3-\mu}{2R^2}U_{\theta,\theta}^{(2)} + U_{Z,R}^{(1)}(U_{Z,RR}^{(1)} + \frac{1-\mu}{2R^2}U_{Z,\theta\theta}^{(1)}) + \frac{1+\mu}{2R^2}U_{Z,R\theta}^{(1)}U_{Z,\theta}^{(1)} + \frac{1-\mu}{2R}[(U_{Z,R}^{(1)})^2 - \frac{1}{R^2}(U_{Z,\theta}^{(1)})^2] + \frac{1}{12}\Omega^{*2}R = 0,$$
(6.170)

6.3. Waves in rotating disks

$$\frac{1}{R^{2}}U_{\theta,\theta\theta}^{(2)} + \frac{1-\mu}{2}(U_{\theta,RR}^{(2)} + \frac{1}{R}U_{\theta,R}^{(2)} - \frac{1}{R^{2}}U_{\theta}^{(2)})
+ \frac{1+\mu}{2R}U_{R,R\theta}^{(2)} + \frac{3-\mu}{2R^{2}}U_{R,\theta}^{(2)} + \frac{1+\mu}{2R}U_{Z,R}^{(1)}U_{Z,R\theta}^{(1)}
+ \frac{1}{R}U_{Z,\theta}^{(1)}[\frac{1}{R^{2}}U_{Z,\theta\theta}^{(1)} + \frac{1-\mu}{2}(U_{Z,RR}^{(1)} + \frac{1}{R}U_{Z,R}^{(1)})] = 0,$$
(6.171)

By Eqs.(6.166)–(6.168), the boundary and initial conditions for $U_R^{(2)}$, $U_{\theta}^{(2)}$ and $U_z^{(1)}$ are

$$U_{R}^{(2)} = U_{\theta}^{(2)} = U_{Z}^{(2)} = 0, \quad U_{Z,R}^{(1)} = 0, \quad \text{at } R = \kappa;$$

$$U_{Z,RR}^{(1)} + \mu(\frac{1}{R}U_{Z,R}^{(1)} + \frac{1}{R^{2}}U_{Z,\theta\theta}^{(1)}) = 0,$$

$$(\nabla^{2}U_{Z}^{(1)})_{,R} + \frac{1-\mu}{R^{2}}(U_{,R}^{(1)} - \frac{1}{R}U_{Z}^{(1)}) = 0$$

$$\left. \right\} \quad \text{at } R = 1. \quad (6.172)$$

$$U_{R,R}^{(2)} + \frac{1}{2} (U_{Z,R}^{(1)})^2 + \mu \left[\frac{1}{R} U_{R}^{(2)} + \frac{1}{R} U_{\theta,\theta}^{(2)} + \frac{1}{2} (U_{Z,\theta}^{(1)})^2 \right] = 0, \\ U_{\theta,R}^{(2)} + \frac{1}{R} U_{R,\theta}^{(2)} - \frac{1}{R} U_{\theta}^{(2)} + \frac{1}{R} U_{Z,R}^{(1)} U_{Z,\theta}^{(1)} = 0,$$
 at $R = 1.$ (6.173)

$$U_{R}^{(2)} = \dot{U}_{R}^{(2)} = U_{\theta}^{(2)} = \dot{U}_{\theta}^{(2)} = 0,$$

$$U_{Z}^{(1)} = \Phi(R,\theta), \ \dot{U}_{Z}^{(1)} = \Psi(R,\theta), \ \text{at } t = 0.$$
(6.174)

6.3.2. Nonlinear waves

A solution for the transverse displacement satisfying the boundary condition in Eq.(6.172) is

$$U_{Z}^{(1)} = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{4} C_{m} R^{m+s} \left[f_{sc}(t) \cos(s\theta) + f_{ss}(t) \sin(s\theta) \right],$$
(6.175)

where $f_{sc}(t)$ and $f_{ss}(t)$ are generalized coordinates, *s* denotes the number of nodal diameters, and C_m are obtained from Eq.(6.172), i.e.,

$$C_{0} = 1, \quad C_{1} = C_{3}\kappa^{2} + 2C_{4}\kappa^{3} - \frac{2}{\kappa}, \quad C_{2} = -2C_{3}\kappa - 3C_{4}\kappa^{2} + \frac{1}{\kappa^{2}},$$

$$C_{3} = \frac{a_{10}a_{22} - a_{20}a_{12}}{a_{11}a_{22} - a_{21}a_{12}}, \quad C_{4} = \frac{a_{20}a_{11} - a_{10}a_{21}}{a_{11}a_{22} - a_{21}a_{12}}.$$
(6.176)
$$a_{10} = -(a_0 - \frac{2}{\kappa}a_1 + \frac{1}{\kappa^2}a_2), \quad a_{11} = a_1\kappa^2 - 2a_2\kappa + a_3,$$

$$a_{12} = 2a_1\kappa^3 - 3a_2\kappa^2 + a_4; \quad a_{20} = -(b_0 - \frac{2}{\kappa}b_1 + \frac{1}{\kappa^2}b_2),$$

$$a_{21} = b_1\kappa^2 - 2b_2\kappa + b_3, \quad a_{22} = 2b_1\kappa^3 - 3b_2\kappa^2 + b_4;$$

$$a_m = (m+s)(m+s-1) + \mu(m+s-s^2);$$

$$b_m = (m+s-2)[(m+s)^2 - s^2] - (1-\mu)(m+s-1)s^2.$$

(6.177)

Without loss of generality, in the analysis, that follows single-mode solutions for a specified *s* will be sought. Substitution of Eqs.(6.175) into (6.170) and (6.171) for specified *s* leads to

$$U_{R}^{(2)} = \Pi_{0}^{(2)}(f_{sc}^{2} + f_{ss}^{2}) + \Pi_{1}^{(2)} \Big[(f_{sc}^{2} - f_{ss}^{2})\cos(2s\theta) + 2(f_{sc}f_{ss})\sin(2s\theta) \Big] \\ - \frac{\Omega^{*2}}{96} \Big\{ R^{3} + \frac{[(1+\mu)\kappa^{4} - (3+\mu)\kappa^{2}]R^{-1}}{(1-\mu)\kappa^{2} + (1+\mu)} + \frac{[(1-\mu)\kappa^{4} + 3+\mu]R}{(1-\mu)\kappa^{2} + (1+\mu)} \Big\}, \quad (6.178) \\ U_{\theta}^{(2)} = \Pi_{2}^{(2)} \Big[(f_{sc}^{2} - f_{ss}^{2})\sin(2s\theta) - 2(f_{sc}f_{ss})\cos(2s\theta) \Big], \quad (6.179)$$

and the functions $\,\Pi_{0}^{(2)},\Pi_{1}^{(2)}\,$ and $\Pi_{2}^{(2)}\,$ are given by

$$\Pi_{0}^{(2)} = A_{1}^{0}R + A_{2}^{0}R^{-1} + \sum_{m_{1},m_{2}=0}^{4} (\hat{A}_{1}^{0}\delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}+2s}^{2}R + \hat{A}_{2}^{0}\delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}+2s}^{0}R^{-1})\log R + \sum_{m_{1},m_{2}=0}^{4} \left[\hat{A}_{1}^{0}\frac{1 - \delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}+2s}^{2}}{m_{1}+m_{2}+2s-2} + \hat{A}_{2}^{0}\frac{1 - \delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}+2s}^{0}}{m_{1}+m_{2}+2s} \right] R^{m_{1}+m_{2}+2s-1}, \quad (6.180)$$

$$\Pi_{1}^{(2)} = -a_{1}A_{1}R^{2s+1} - A_{2}R^{2s-1} + b_{1}A_{3}R^{-2s+1} + A_{4}R^{-2s-1} + \sum_{m_{1},m_{2}=0}^{4} \left[-a_{1}\hat{A}_{1}\frac{1 - \delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}}^{2}}{m_{1}+m_{2}-2} - \hat{A}_{2}\frac{1 - \delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}}^{0}}{m_{1}+m_{2}} + b_{1}\hat{A}_{3}\frac{1 - \delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}+4s}^{2}}{m_{1}+m_{2}+4s-2} + \hat{A}_{4}\frac{1 - \delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}+4s}^{0}}{m_{1}+m_{2}+4s} \right] R^{m_{1}+m_{2}+2s-1} + \sum_{m_{1},m_{2}=0}^{4} \left[-a_{1}\hat{A}_{1}\delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}}^{2}R^{2s+1} - \hat{A}_{2}\delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}}^{0}R^{2s-1} + b_{1}\hat{A}_{3}\delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}+4s}^{2}R^{-2s+1} + \hat{A}_{4}\delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}+4s}^{0}R^{-2s-1} \right] \log R,$$
(6.181)

$$\Pi_{2}^{(2)} = A_{1}R^{2s+1} + A_{2}R^{2s-1} + A_{3}R^{-2s+1} + A_{4}R^{-2s-1} + \sum_{m_{1},m_{2}=0}^{4} \left[\hat{A}_{1} \frac{1 - \delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}}^{2}}{m_{1} + m_{2} - 2} + \hat{A}_{2} \frac{1 - \delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}}^{0}}{m_{1} + m_{2}} \right]$$

6.3. Waves in rotating disks

$$+ \hat{A}_{3} \frac{1 - \delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}+4s}^{2}}{m_{1}+m_{2}+4s-2} + \hat{A}_{4} \frac{1 - \delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}+4s}^{0}}{m_{1}+m_{2}+4s} \Bigg] R^{m_{1}+m_{2}+2s-1}$$

$$+ \sum_{m_{1},m_{2}=0}^{4} \left[\hat{A}_{1} \delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}}^{2} R^{2s+1} + \hat{A}_{2} \delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}}^{0} R^{2s-1} + \hat{A}_{3} \delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}+4s}^{2} R^{-2s+1} + \hat{A}_{4} \delta_{m_{1}+m_{2}+4s}^{0} R^{-2s-1} \right] \log R,$$

$$(6.182)$$

where all the coefficients $A_1^0, A_2^0, ..., A_4, \hat{A}_1^0, \hat{A}_2^0, ..., \hat{A}_4, b_1$ and b_2 are determined by Eqs.(6.170)–(6.173) with Eqs.(6.178) and (6.179), δ_i^j is the Kronecker delta.

Substitution of Eq.(6.169) into Eq.(6.165), retention of the terms \mathcal{E}^2 and use of $U_{R}^{(2)}$ and $U_{\theta}^{(2)}$ gives the membrane forces:

$$\begin{split} \overline{N}_{R} &= \frac{1}{96} \Omega^{*2} N_{R}^{L} + N_{R0} (f_{sc}^{2} + f_{ss}^{2}) \\ &+ N_{R1} [(f_{sc}^{2} - f_{ss}^{2}) \cos(2s\theta) - 2(f_{sc}f_{ss}) \sin(2s\theta)], \\ \overline{N}_{\theta} &= \frac{1}{96} \Omega^{*2} N_{\theta}^{L} + N_{\theta 0} (f_{sc}^{2} + f_{ss}^{2}) \\ &+ N_{\theta 1} [(f_{sc}^{2} - f_{ss}^{2}) \cos(2s\theta) - 2(f_{sc}f_{ss}) \sin(2s\theta)], \\ \overline{N}_{R\theta} &= N_{R\theta 1} [(f_{sc}^{2} - f_{ss}^{2}) \sin(2s\theta) + 2(f_{sc}f_{ss}) \cos(2s\theta)], \end{split}$$
(6.183)

where $N_{R0}, R_{\theta 0}, ..., N_{R\theta 1}$ are computed through $\Pi_0^{(2)}, \Pi_1^{(2)}$ and $\Pi_2^{(2)}$. The linear membrane forces are

$$N_{R}^{L} = \frac{(1-\mu)[(3+\mu)\kappa^{2} - (1+\mu)\kappa^{4}]}{(1-\mu)\kappa^{2} + (1+\mu)} R^{-2} + \frac{(1+\mu)[(1-\mu)\kappa^{4} + 3+\mu]}{(1-\mu)\kappa^{2} + (1+\mu)} - (3+\mu)R^{2},$$

$$N_{\theta}^{L} = \frac{(1-\mu)[(1+\mu)\kappa^{4} - (3+\mu)\kappa^{2}]}{(1-\mu)\kappa^{2} + (1+\mu)} R^{-2} + \frac{(1+\mu)[(1-\mu)\kappa^{4} + 3+\mu]}{(1-\mu)\kappa^{2} + (1+\mu)} - (3\mu+1)R^{2}.$$
(6.184)

For specified s, substitution of Eqs.(6.175), (6.178) and (6.179) into Eq.(6.163) and use of the Galerkin method yields:

$$\ddot{f}_{sc} + 2\Omega^{*}s\dot{f}_{ss} + (\frac{\alpha_{s} + \Omega^{*2}\gamma_{0}}{\beta_{s}} - \Omega^{*2}s^{2})f_{sc} + \frac{\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0}}{\beta_{s}}(f_{sc}^{2} + f_{ss}^{2})f_{sc} = 0,$$

$$\ddot{f}_{ss} - 2\Omega^{*}s\dot{f}_{sc} + (\frac{\alpha_{s} + \Omega^{*2}\gamma_{0}}{\beta_{s}} - \Omega^{*2}s^{2})f_{ss} + \frac{\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0}}{\beta_{s}}(f_{sc}^{2} + f_{ss}^{2})f_{ss} = 0;$$
(6.185)

where

$$\alpha_{s} = \frac{1}{12} \sum_{m=0}^{4} \sum_{n=0}^{4} \frac{(1 - \kappa^{m+n+2s-3})}{m+n+2s-3} [(m+s)^{2} - s^{2}] [(m+s-2)^{2} - s^{2}] C_{m} C_{n}, \qquad (6.186)$$

$$\beta_s = \frac{1}{12} \frac{1 - \kappa^{m+n+2s+1}}{m+n+2s+1} C_m C_n, \qquad (6.187)$$

$$\gamma_{0} = \sum_{m=0}^{4} \sum_{n=0}^{4} \frac{1}{96} \left\{ \frac{(1-\mu)[(1+\mu)\kappa^{4} - 3\kappa^{2}]}{(1-\mu)\kappa^{2} + (1+\mu)} [(m+s)(m+s-2) + s^{2}] \right. \\ \left. \times \frac{1-\kappa^{m+n+2s-3}}{m+n+2s-3} - \frac{(1+\mu)[(1-\mu)\kappa^{4} + 3]}{(1-\mu)\kappa^{2} + (1+\mu)} [(m+s)^{2} - s^{2}] \right. \\ \left. \times \frac{1-\kappa^{m+n+2s-1}}{m+n+2s-1} + [(m+s)(m+s+2)(3+\mu) - s^{2}(3\mu+1)] \right. \\ \left. \times \frac{1-\kappa^{m+n+2s+1}}{m+n+2s+1} \right\} C_{m}C_{n},$$
(6.188)

$$\gamma_{s0} = \sum_{m=0}^{4} \sum_{n=0}^{4} \left[(m+s)(n+s-1) \int_{\kappa}^{l} N_{R0} R^{m+n+2s-2} dR + s^{2} \int_{\kappa}^{l} N_{\theta 0} R^{m+n+2s-2} dR - (m+s)(N_{R0} R^{m+n+2s-1}) \Big|_{\kappa}^{l} \right] C_{m} C_{n}, \qquad (6.189)$$

$$\gamma_{sc} = \sum_{m=0}^{4} \sum_{n=0}^{4} \left[(m+s)(n+s-1) \int_{\kappa}^{l} N_{Rl} R^{m+n+2s-2} dR + s^{2} \int_{\kappa}^{l} N_{\theta l} R^{m+n+2s-2} dR - (m+s)(N_{Rl} R^{m+n+2s-1}) \Big|_{\kappa}^{l} - (2s)(m+n+2s-1) \int_{\kappa}^{l} N_{R\theta l} R^{m+n+2s-2} dR + (2s)(N_{R\theta l} R^{m+n+2s-1}) \Big|_{\kappa}^{l} \right] C_{m} C_{n}.$$
(6.190)

Notice that the coefficients α_s , γ_0 , β_s , γ_{s0} , γ_{sc} are related to the plate stiffness, centrifugal forces, inertia forces and the membrane forces. The second term in Eq.(6.183) is caused by the Coriolis force. When s = 0, two equations in Eq.(6.183) are identical. The problem reduces to the symmetrical one. For the symmetrical response, no Coriolis force contributes on the symmetrical response. Only the centrifugal force caused by rotation affects the symmetrical response. Therefore, the analyses given by Lamb and Southwell (1921) and Southwell (1922) are only for the symmetrical response of rotating disks.

The normalization of the initial conditions in Eq.(6.174) gives:

$$f_{sc}^{0} = \frac{1}{\pi \Xi} \sum_{m=0}^{4} C_m \int_0^{2\pi} \int_{\kappa}^{1} \Phi(R,\theta) R^{m+s} \cos(s\theta) dR d\theta,$$

6.3. Waves in rotating disks

$$\dot{f}_{sc}^{0} = \frac{1}{\pi \Xi} \sum_{m=0}^{4} C_{m} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{\kappa}^{1} \Psi(R,\theta) R^{m+s} \cos(s\theta) dR d\theta,$$

$$f_{ss}^{0} = \frac{1}{\pi \Xi} \sum_{m=0}^{4} C_{m} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{\kappa}^{1} \Phi(R,\theta) R^{m+s} \sin(s\theta) dR d\theta,$$
(6.191)

$$\dot{f}_{ss}^{0} = \frac{1}{\pi \Xi} \sum_{m=0}^{4} C_m \int_0^{2\pi} \int_{\kappa}^{1} \Psi(R,\theta) R^{m+s} \sin(s\theta) dR d\theta,$$

where

$$\Xi = \sum_{m=0}^{4} \sum_{n=0}^{4} \frac{1 - \kappa^{m+n+2s+1}}{m+n+2s+1} C_m C_n.$$
(6.192)

Integration of Eq.(6.185) leads to a constant energy function:

$$H = \frac{1}{2}(\dot{f}_{sc}^{2} + \dot{f}_{ss}^{2}) + \frac{1}{2}[\frac{\alpha_{s} + \Omega^{*}\gamma_{0}}{\beta_{s}} - (\Omega^{*}s)^{2}](f_{sc}^{2} + f_{ss}^{2}) + \frac{1}{4}\frac{\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0}}{\beta_{s}}(f_{sc}^{2} + f_{ss}^{2})^{2} = E_{0}.$$
(6.193)

For the hardening disk $(\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0}) > 0$ and for the softening disk $(\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0}) < 0$. The integration constant E_0 can be determined by Eqs.(6.192) and (6.193). (A) For $(\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0}) > 0$, the solution to Eq.(6.192) with Eq.(6.191) is

$$f_{sc} = \frac{\pi \hat{A}_{s}}{2k_{s}K(k_{s})} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{sech} \left[(2l+1)\frac{\pi K(k_{s}')}{2K(k_{s})} \right] \\ \times \left(\cos\left\{ [(2l+1)\omega_{s} + \Omega^{*}s]t + (2l+1)\varphi_{0} + \phi_{0} \right\} \right. \\ \left. + \cos\left\{ [(2l+1)\omega_{s} - \Omega^{*}s]t + (2l+1)\varphi_{0} - \phi_{0} \right\} \right),$$

$$f_{ss} = \frac{\pi \hat{A}_{s}}{2k_{s}K(k_{s})} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{sech} \left[(2l+1)\frac{\pi K(k_{s}')}{2K(k_{s})} \right] \\ \times \left(\sin\left\{ [(2l+1)\omega_{s} + \Omega^{*}s]t + (2l+1)\varphi_{0} + \phi_{0} \right\} \right. \\ \left. - \sin\left\{ [(2l+1)\omega_{s} - \Omega^{*}s]t + (2l+1)\varphi_{0} - \phi_{0} \right\} \right),$$
(6.194)

where $K(k_s)$ is the complete elliptic integral of the first kind, $k'_s = \sqrt{1 - k_s^2}$, \hat{A}_s is the amplitude, ω_s is the natural frequency without Coriolis forces and φ_0 is the initial phase

$$\hat{A}_s = \frac{\sqrt{B-C}}{\sqrt{(\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0})}}, \ k_s = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{C}{2B}}, \ \omega_s = \frac{\sqrt{B\pi}}{2\sqrt{\beta_s}K(k_s)};$$

$$B = \sqrt{C^{2} + 4(\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0})\beta_{s}E_{0}},$$

$$C = \alpha_{s} + \Omega^{*2}\gamma; \tan\phi_{0} = \frac{f_{ss}^{0}}{f_{sc}^{0}};$$

$$\tan\left[\frac{2K(k_{s})\phi_{0}}{\pi}, k_{s}\right] dn\left[\frac{2K(k_{s})\phi_{0}}{\pi}, k_{s}\right]$$

$$= \frac{\pi\sqrt{[\dot{f}_{sc}^{0} - (\Omega^{*}s)f_{ss}^{0}]^{2} + [\dot{f}_{ss}^{0} + (\Omega^{*}s)f_{sc}^{0}]^{2}}}{2\omega_{s}K(k_{s})\sqrt{f_{sc}^{2} + f_{ss}^{2}}},$$
(6.195)

where dn and tn are elliptic functions. Substitution of Eq.(6.194) into Eq.(6.175) gives transverse displacement:

$$U_{Z}^{(1)} = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{4} \frac{\pi \hat{A}_{s} C_{m} R^{m+s}}{2k_{s} K(k_{s})} \operatorname{sech} \left[(2l+1) \frac{\pi K(k_{s}')}{2K(k_{s})} \right] \\ \times \left(\cos \left\{ [(2l+1)\omega_{s} + \Omega^{*}s]t + (2l+1)\varphi_{0} + \phi_{0} - s\theta \right\} + \cos \left\{ [(2l+1)\omega_{s} - \Omega^{*}s]t + (2l+1)\varphi_{0} - \phi_{0} + s\theta \right\} \right).$$
(6.196)

(B) For $(\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0}) < 0$, the solution to Eq.(6.190) with Eq.(6.192) is

$$f_{sc} = \frac{\pi \hat{A}_{s}}{2k_{s}K(k_{s})} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{csch} \left[(2l+1)\frac{\pi K(k_{s}')}{2K(k_{s})} \right] \\ \times \left(\sin\{(2l+1)\omega_{s} + \Omega^{*}s]t + (2l+1)\varphi_{0} + \phi_{0} \right\} \\ + \sin\{(2l+1)\omega_{s} - \Omega^{*}s]t + (2l+1)\varphi_{0} - \phi_{0} \} \right),$$

$$f_{ss} = \frac{\pi \hat{A}_{s}}{2k_{s}K(k_{s})} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{csch} \left[(2l+1)\frac{\pi K(k_{s}')}{2K(k_{s})} \right] \\ \times \left(-\cos\{(2l+1)\omega_{s} + \Omega^{*}s]t + (2l+1)\varphi_{0} + \phi_{0} \} \\ + \cos\{(2l+1)\omega_{s} - \Omega^{*}s]t + (2l+1)\varphi_{0} - \phi_{0} \} \right),$$
(6.197)

where

$$\hat{A}_{s} = \sqrt{\frac{C_{1} - B_{1}}{|\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0}|}}, k_{s} = \sqrt{\frac{C_{1} - B_{1}}{C_{1} + B_{1}}}, \omega_{s} = \frac{\sqrt{C_{1} + B_{1}}}{2\sqrt{2}} \frac{\pi}{K(k_{s})};$$
$$B_{1} = \sqrt{C_{1}^{2} - 4|\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0}|\beta_{s}E_{0}},$$
$$C_{1} = \alpha_{s} + \Omega^{*2}\gamma; \tan\phi_{0} = \frac{f_{ss}^{0}}{f_{sc}^{0}};$$

6.3. Waves in rotating disks

$$cs\left[\frac{2K(k_{s})\varphi_{0}}{\pi},k_{s}\right]dn\left[\frac{2K(k_{s})\varphi_{0}}{\pi},k_{s}\right]$$

$$=\frac{\pi\sqrt{\left[\dot{f}_{sc}^{0}-(\Omega^{*}s)f_{ss}^{0}\right]^{2}+\left[\dot{f}_{ss}^{0}+(\Omega^{*}s)f_{sc}^{0}\right]^{2}}}{2\omega_{s}K(k_{s})\sqrt{f_{sc}^{2}+f_{ss}^{2}}}.$$
(6.198)

Substitution of Eq.(6.197) into Eq.(6.175) gives

$$U_{Z}^{(1)} = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{4} \frac{\pi A_{s} C_{m} R^{m+s}}{2k_{s} K(k_{s})} \operatorname{csch} \left[(2l+1) \frac{\pi K(k_{s}')}{2K(k_{s})} \right] \\ \times \left(\sin \{ [(2l+1)\omega_{s} + \Omega^{*}s]t + (2l+1)\varphi_{0} + \phi_{0} - s\theta \} + \sin \{ [(2l+1)\omega_{s} - \Omega^{*}s]t + (2l+1)\varphi_{0} - \phi_{0} + s\theta \} \right).$$
(6.199)

 $U_{R}^{(2)}$ and $U_{\theta}^{(2)}$ can be determined from Eqs.(6.178) and (6.179) in a similar manner. From time-dependent sine and cosine terms in Eq.(6.189) or Eq.(6.199), they indicate two dimensionless, modal frequencies:

$$\overline{\omega}_{1,2}^* = \begin{cases} (2l+1)\omega_s \pm \Omega^* s, & \text{if } (2l+1)\omega_s \ge \Omega^* s, \\ \Omega^* s \pm (2l+1)\omega_s, & \text{if } (2l+1)\omega_s \le \Omega^* s. \end{cases}$$
(6.200)

From the nonlinear waves, linear waves can be obtained from reduction of nonlinear waves. If the nonlinear terms in Eq.(6.190) vanish, the linear solution is obtained as

$$U_{Z} = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{4} \frac{1}{2} C_{m} R^{m+s} \hat{A}_{s} \left\{ \cos[(\omega_{s} + \Omega^{*} s)t + \varphi_{0} + \phi_{0} - s\theta] + \cos[(\omega_{s} - \Omega^{*} s)t + \varphi_{0} - \phi_{0} + s\theta] \right\},$$
(6.201)

where

$$\omega_{s} = \sqrt{\frac{\alpha_{s} + \Omega^{*2} \gamma_{0}}{\beta_{s}}}, \ \hat{A}_{s} = \frac{\sqrt{(\dot{A}_{s}^{0})^{2} + (A_{s}^{0})^{2}}}{\omega_{s}}, \ \tan \phi_{0} = \frac{f_{ss}^{0}}{f_{sc}^{0}}, \ \tan \phi_{0} = \frac{\sqrt{[\dot{f}_{sc}^{0} - (\Omega^{*}s)f_{ss}^{0}]^{2} + [\dot{f}_{ss}^{0} + (\Omega^{*}s)f_{sc}^{0}]^{2}}}{\omega_{s}\sqrt{f_{sc}^{2} + f_{ss}^{2}}}.$$
(6.202)

Because $(\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0}) = 0$ in Eqs.(6.195) and (6.198), $k_s = 0$, $K(k_s) = \pi/2$ and Eq.(6.201) is recovered. $\ln[2K(k_s)\varphi_0/\pi, k_s] = \tan \varphi_0$, $\operatorname{sc}[2K(k_s)\varphi_0/\pi, k_s] = \cot \varphi_0$ and $\operatorname{dn}[2K(k_s)\varphi_0/\pi, k_s] = 1$ as $k_s = 0$. The Jacobi's nome in Byrd and Friedman (1954) gives for $k_s^2 < 1$,

6 Nonlinear Plates and Waves

$$e^{-\pi K(k'_s)/K(k_s)} = \frac{k_s^2}{16} \left[1 + 2(\frac{k_s}{4})^2 + 15(\frac{k_s}{4})^4 + 150(\frac{k_s}{4})^6 + \cdots \right]^4;$$
(6.203)

and

$$\lim_{k_{s}\to0} \frac{1}{k_{s}} \operatorname{sech}\left[(2l+1) \frac{\pi K(k_{s}')}{K(k_{s})} \right] = \lim_{k_{s}\to0} \frac{\frac{2k_{s}^{2l}}{16^{(l+1/2)}} [1+2(\frac{k_{s}}{4})^{2}+15(\frac{k_{s}}{4})^{4}+\cdots]^{4(l+1/2)}}{1+\frac{k_{s}^{2(2l+1)}}{16^{(2l+1)}} [1+2(\frac{k_{s}}{4})^{2}+15(\frac{k_{s}}{4})^{4}+\cdots]^{4(2l+1)}} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}, \text{ for } l=0, \\ 0, \text{ for } l\neq0; \end{cases}$$

$$\lim_{k_{s}\to0} \frac{1}{k_{s}} \operatorname{csch}\left[(2l+1) \frac{\pi K(k_{s}')}{2K(k_{s})} \right] \\ = \lim_{k_{s}\to0} \frac{\frac{2k_{s}^{2l}}{16^{(l+1/2)}} [1+2(\frac{k_{s}}{4})^{2}+15(\frac{k_{s}}{4})^{4}+\cdots]^{4(l+1/2)}}{1-\frac{k_{s}^{2(2l+1)}}{16^{(2l+1)}} [1+2(\frac{k_{s}}{4})^{2}+15(\frac{k_{s}}{4})^{4}+\cdots]^{4(2l+1)}} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}, \text{ for } l=0, \\ 0, \text{ for } l\neq0. \end{cases}$$

$$(6.205)$$

Therefore, as $\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0} = 0$, the subharmonic terms in Eqs.(6.196) and (6.199) for $l \neq 0$ vanish. The linear solution in Eq.(6.201) is recovered.

Natural frequencies predicted through the linear analysis for specific s are shown in Fig.6.13. The frequency is independent of modal amplitude A_{s} . From Eqs.(6.188) and (6.191), the natural frequency in the nonlinear analysis depends on A_s and nodal-diameter number s because E_0 and k_s depend on A_s and s. The natural frequency in the symmetric mode (s=0, l=0) is plotted in Fig.6.14 for A_s . Vanishing amplitude $A_s = 0.0$ returns the linear prediction. For $A_s \le 1.0$, the nonlinear prediction of the natural frequencies differs from the linear prediction by less than 6.5%. The natural frequencies predicted by use of Eqs.(6.160)-(6.163) and the von Karman theory are identical for s = 0. The natural frequency (s=3, l=0) for an asymmetric response of the hardening disk is depicted by the solid line through Eqs.(6.160)–(6.163) and the dash line through the von Karman theory in Fig.6.15. The natural frequencies for such disk increase with A_s . The natural frequency predicted by two nonlinear theories differs by less than 10% as $A_s < 0.4$. The critical speeds, predicted by the linear theory, the von Karman theory and the new theory, are $\Omega_{crL} \approx 35,000$ rpm, $\Omega_{crK} \approx 39,600$ rpm and $\Omega_{\rm crN} \approx 43,600$ rpm at $A_s = 0.4$, respectively.

6.3. Waves in rotating disks



Fig. 6.13 Natural frequency of the computer disk predicted through the linear analysis. (a = 15.5 mm, b = 43 mm, h = 0.775 mm, $\rho_0 = 3641 \text{kg/m}^3$, E = 69 GPa, $\mu = 0.33$.)



Fig. 6.14 Natural frequency (s = 0, l = 0) of the disk. $A_s = \sqrt{f_{sc}^2 + f_{ss}^2}$ is modal amplitude. Two nonlinear theories give the identical predictions. Two nonlinear models at $A_s = 0$ reduce to the linear model. (a = 15.5 mm, b = 43 mm, h = 0.775 mm, $\rho_0 = 3641$ kg/m³, E = 69 GPa, $\mu = 0.33$.)



Fig. 6.15 Natural frequency (s = 3, l = 0) of the hardening disk. $A_s = \sqrt{f_{sc}^2 + f_{ss}^2}$ is modal amplitude. The solid and dash lines denote this theory and the von Karman theory. Two nonlinear models at $A_s = 0$ reduce to the linear model. Ω_{crL} , Ω_{crK} and Ω_{crN} are the critical speeds predicted through the linear theory, the von Karman theory and the new theory, respectively. (a = 15.5 mm, b = 43 mm, h = 0.775 mm, $\rho_0 = 3641$ kg/m³, E = 69 GPa, $\mu = 0.33$.)

6.3.3. Resonant and stationary waves

Herein, from nonlinear and nonlinear wave solutions of the rotating disks, the resonant and stationary waves will be discussed. In this section, such materials can be referred to Luo and Tan (2001).

6.3.3a Resonant waves

Applying the resonant conditions for multiple degrees-of-freedom systems in Lichtenberg and Lieberman (1992), the two natural frequencies in Eq.(6.200) satisfying $m_1 \overline{\omega}_1 = n_1 \overline{\omega}_2$, require

$$\Omega^{*}s = \frac{m_{1} + n_{1}}{m_{1} - n_{1}} (2l + 1)\omega_{s}, \quad \text{for } (2l + 1)\omega_{s} < \Omega^{*}s,$$

$$\Omega^{*}s = \frac{m_{1} - n_{1}}{m_{1} + n_{1}} (2l + 1)\omega_{s}, \quad \text{for } (2l + 1)\omega_{s} > \Omega^{*}s;$$
(6.206)

where integers m_1 and n_1 are positive and irreducible and $m_1 > n_1$. Equation(6.206) gives the $(m_1 : n_1)$ resonance of harmonics at l = 0 and of the (2l+1)th sub-harmonics at $l \neq 0$. The amplitude of resonance in Eq.(6.195) or Eq.(6.198) at l = 0 is the largest because the hyperbolic function "sech" or "csch" decreases exponentially as l increases. The rotational speed at which the specific sub-harmonic $(m_1 : n_1)$ resonance occurs can be solved through Eq.(6.195) (or Eq.(6.199)) and Eq.(6.198).

For the linear vibration, the natural frequencies in Eq.(6.202) are

$$\varpi_{1,2} = \begin{cases} \omega_s \mp \Omega^* s, & \text{if } \omega_s \ge \Omega^* s, \\ \Omega^* s \mp \omega_s, & \text{if } \omega_s \le \Omega^* s. \end{cases}$$
(6.207)

The resonant condition $m_1 \overline{\sigma}_1 = n_1 \overline{\sigma}_2$ gives:

$$\Omega^* s = \frac{m_1 + n_1}{m_1 - n_1} \sqrt{\frac{\alpha_s + \Omega^{*2} \gamma_0}{\beta_s}}, \quad \text{for } \omega_s < \Omega^* s;$$

$$\Omega^* s = \frac{m_1 - n_1}{m_1 + n_1} \sqrt{\frac{\alpha_s + \Omega^{*2} \gamma_0}{\beta_s}}, \quad \text{for } \omega_s > \Omega^* s.$$
(6.208)

Consider a 3.5 inch diameter disk similar to a digital memory disk with inner and outer radii of a = 15.5 mm, b = 43 mm; thickness h = 0.775 mm, density $\rho_0 = 3641$ kg/m³, Young's modulus *E*=69 GPa and Poisson's ratio $\nu = 0.33$. For an initial condition ($f_{sc}^0 = 0.1$, $f_{ss}^0 = 0.05$ and $\dot{f}_{sc}^0 = \dot{f}_{ss}^0 = 0.0$), the wave amplitude is $A = A_s = 0.1118$ and $\phi_0 = 26.565^\circ$. Using the resonant conditions and the given wave amplitude of generalized coordinates, the resonant spectrum based on the nonlinear plate theory is illustrated in Fig.6.16(a). The fractional numbers represent the $(m_1 : n_1)$ -resonance defined by $\overline{\omega}_1 / \overline{\omega}_2 = n_1 / m_1$. From the second condition of Eq.(6.206) or (6.208), two limiting cases exist: $\Omega = 0$ at $n_1 / m_1 = 1$ and $\Omega = \Omega_{cr}$ at $n_1 / m_1 = 0$, where Ω_{cr} is determined by the stationary wave condition discussed later. However, from the first condition of Eq.(6.206) or (6.208), $\Omega = \Omega_{cr}$ at $n_1 / m_1 = 0$ and $\Omega = \infty$ at $n_1 / m_1 = 1$. In Fig.6.16(b), the resonant rotational speed varying with the wave amplitude is illustrated for a (2:1)-resonant condition. When the initial wave amplitude vanishes, the resonant condition reduces to the one predicted by linear model. For hardening (softening) modes of rotating disks, the resonant rotational speed increases (decreases) with increasing wave amplitude. For a linear (2:1)-resonant wave response with s = 4, the rotational speed is $\Omega = 10,7695$ rpm from Eq.(6.208). At this rotation speed, f_{sc}, f_{ss} as predicted by the linear theory are shown in Fig.6.17(a). A triangular locus of the f_{sc} versus f_{ss} diagram results from $m_1 + n_1 = 3$. In the nonlinear (2:1)-primary resonant response, the rotational speed for wave amplitude A = 0.1118 is $\Omega = 10,941$ rpm computed from (6.206) with l = 0 and s = 4. As in Fig.6.17(b), as time increases, the locus of f_{sc} versus f_{ss} generates a rotating triangular form because of the sub-harmonic terms in the wave solution (e.g., Eq.(6.194)).

6.3.3b Stationary waves

For stationary waves, the natural frequency $\varpi_1 = (2l+1)\omega_s - \Omega^* s = 0$ is required, i.e.,

$$\Omega^{*} = \frac{(2l+1)}{2s} \left[\frac{4(\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0})}{\beta_{s}} E_{0} + (\frac{\alpha_{s} + \Omega^{*2} \gamma_{0}}{\beta_{s}})^{2} \right]^{1/4} \frac{\pi}{K(k_{s})},$$

for $\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0} \ge 0;$
$$\Omega^{*} = \frac{(2l+1)}{2\sqrt{2s}} \left[\sqrt{(\frac{\alpha_{s} + \Omega^{*2} \gamma_{0}}{\beta_{s}})^{2} + \frac{4(\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0})}{\beta_{s}} E_{0}} + \frac{\alpha_{s} + \Omega^{*2} \gamma_{0}}{\beta_{s}} \right]^{1/2} \frac{\pi}{K(k_{s})},$$

for $\gamma_{sc} + \gamma_{s0} \le 0.$ (6.209)

If the non-dimensional, rotation speed Ω^* satisfies Eq.(6.209), one of traveling waves becomes stationary. From Eq.(6.209) a stationary wave is possible for each integer *l* and a specified *s*. Note that the l = 0 terms give the primary harmonic waves and the $l \neq 0$ terms give the subharmonic waves. The rotation speeds for the stationary waves at l = 0 are referred to as the critical speed in the linear analysis. For linear vibration of the rotating disk, the stationary wave satisfies $\overline{\sigma}_1 = \Omega^* s - \omega_s = 0$ that leads to

$$\Omega^* = \sqrt{\frac{\alpha_s}{\beta_s s^2 - \gamma_0}}.$$
(6.210)

Moreover, with the condition $\omega_s - \Omega^* s = 0$ and the initial velocities $\dot{f}_{sc}^0 = \dot{f}_{ss}^0 = 0.0$, equation (6.183) gives $f_{sc} = f_{sc}^0$ and $f_{ss} = f_{ss}^0$. Thus one obtains

$$U_{Z} = \sum_{m=0}^{4} C_{m} R^{m+s} [f_{sc}^{0} \cos(s\theta) + f_{sc}^{0} \sin(s\theta)].$$
(6.211)

The rotational speed for a stationary wave in the linear model is $\Omega = 38,546$ rpm, computed from Eq.(6.210) for s = 4 as an example. At this speed, $f_{sc} = 0.1$ and $f_{ss} = 0.05$ are independent of time. The rotation speed for the stationary wave of the first order (i.e., (2l+1)=1) is $\Omega = 38,700$ rpm computed from Eq.(6.209) with A = 0.1118.



(a)



Fig.6.16 (a) Resonant spectrum (s = 4, l = 0) based on the nonlinear theory for the primary wave with amplitude $A \approx 0.1118$. (b) (2:1) -resonant conditions represented as a function of wave amplitude and rotational speed for primary waves. The resonant condition for the linear model is at A = 0. The fractional numbers indicate the $(m_1 : n_1)$ -resonance defined by $\overline{\sigma}_1 / \overline{\sigma}_2 = n_1 / m_1$. (a = 15.5 mm, b = 43 mm, h = 0.775 mm, $\rho_0 = 3641$ kg/m³, E = 69 GPa, v = 0.33.)



(b)

Fig. 6.17 A (2:1)- resonant response for (s = 4, l = 0) at $\Omega = 10,769$ rpm : (a) the linear theory and (b) the nonlinear theory. The initial condition is $f_{sc}^0 = 0.1$, $f_{ss}^0 = 0.05$, $\dot{f}_{sc}^0 = \dot{f}_{ss}^0 = 0.0$. (a = 15.5 mm, b = 43 mm, h = 0.775 mm, $\rho_0 = 3641$ kg/m³, E = 69 GPa, v = 0.33.)



Fig.6.18 Stationary wave conditions represented as a function of wave amplitude and rotational speed for primary wave (l = 0). The critical speed predicted by the linear model is at A = 0. (a = 15.5 mm, b = 43 mm, h = 0.775 mm, $\rho_0 = 3641$ kg/m³, E = 69 GPa, v = 0.33.)

Because the backward waves in the nonlinear model include infinite numbers of terms in Eq.(6.189) or Eq.(6.199), the stationary wave condition (i.e., $(2l+1)\omega_s - \Omega^* s = 0$) is affected by the other non-zero terms of backward subharmonic waves. In Fig.6.18, the stationary conditions are illustrated as a function of the wave amplitude and rotational speed. The critical speed at A = 0 is denoted by Ω_{cr} . The rotation speed for stationary waves in the hardening (or softening), rotating disk modes increases (or decreases) with increasing wave amplitude. These hardening and softening characteristics are similar to those observed in resonant waves.

6.4. Conclusions

This chapter presented a frame work for approximate nonlinear plate theories from the theory of 3-dimensional deformed body. An approximate nonlinear plate theory was developed under the Kirchoff's assumptions. Such a theory can easily reduce to the traditional linear and nonlinear (von Karman) plate theories. This theory provides a possibility for one to further consider higher-order terms of nonlinearity in plates, and such a theory was applied for traveling plates and rotating disks. From the traditional perturbation and Galerkin analysis, the approximate solutions of nonlinear waves in the traveling plates and rotating disk were developed. Based on such nonlinear and linear solutions of waves, the resonant and stationary waves were discussed. In addition, under periodic excitation, the chaotic wave motions of traveling plates were discussed. For the other boundary conditions and loading, one can follow the similar procedure to investigate nonlinear and chaotic waves in traveling plates (or panels) and rotating disks. Nonlinear waves in thermal rotating disks, can be found in (e.g., Nowinski,1981; Saniei and Luo, 2001, 2007).

Even if the plate theory is still approximate, the wave solutions of the traveling and rotating disk are adequate in certain conditions. However, the exact solutions of nonlinear waves need to be further developed. One can adopt the Lie group analysis to find the exact solutions for such nonlinear plates. Of course, the best way is to solve such nonlinear waves in plates directly from the 3-dimensional theory, and the exact solution for nonlinear waves in plates can be achieved.

References

- Advani, S.H., 1967, Stationary waves in a thin spinning disk, *International Journal of Mechanical Science*, **9**, 307-313.
- Byrd, P.F. and Friedman, M.D., 1954, *Handbook of Elliptic integrals for Engineers and Physicists*, Springer, Berlin.
- Chien, W., 1944a, The intrinsic theory of thin shells and plates I: General theory, *Quarterly of Applied Mathematics*, **1**, 297-327.
- Chien, W.,1944b, The intrinsic theory of thin shells and plates II: Application to thin plates, *Quarterly of Applied Mathematics*, **2**, 43-59.
- Chu, H.N. and Herrmann, G., 1956, Influence of large amplitudes on free flexural vibrations of rectangular elastic plates, *ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics*, **23**, 532-540.
- Eringen, A.C., 1962, Nonlinear Theory of Continuous Media, McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Eringen, A.C., 1967, Mechanics of Continua, John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Guo, Z.H., 1980, Nonlinear Elasticity, Science Press, Beijing.
- Han, R.P.S. and Luo, A.C.J., 1998, Resonant layer in nonlinear dynamics, ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics, 65, 727-736.
- Herrmann, G., 1955, Influence of large amplitudes on flexural motions of elastic plates, NACA Technical Note 3578.
- Kirchhoff, G., 1850a, Über das Gleichgewicht und die Bewegung einer elastischen Scheibe, Journal fur die reins und angewandte Mathematik, **40**, 51-88.
- Kirchhoff, G., 1850b, Ueber die Schwingungen einer kreisformigen elastischen Scheibe, Poggendorffs Annal, 81, 258-264.
- Lamb, H. and Southwell, R.V., 1921, The vibrations of a spinning disc, *Proceedings of Royal* Society of London, **99**, 272-280.
- Levy, S., 1942, Large deflection theory for rectangular plate, *Proceedings of the first Symposium* on Applied Mathematics, 1, 197-210.
- Lichtenberg, A.J. and Lieberman, M.A., 1992, *Regular and Chaotic Dynamics*, Springer, New York.
- Luo, A.C.J., 1995, Analytical modeling of bifurcations, chaos and multifractals in nonlinear dynamics, *Ph.D. dissertation*, University of Manitoba.
- Luo, A.C.J., 2000, An approximate theory for geometrically-nonlinear, thin plates, *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, 37, 7655-7670.
- Luo, A.C.J., 2002, Resonant layers in a parametrically excited pendulum, International Journal

of Bifurcation and Chaos, 2002, 12, 409-419.

- Luo, A.C.J., 2003, Resonant and stationary waves in axially traveling thin plates, *IMeChE Part K, Journal of Multibody Dynamics*, 217, 187-199.
- Luo, A.C.J., 2005, Chaotic motion in resonant separatrix zones of periodically forced, axially traveling, thin plates, *IMeChE Part K: Journal of Multi-body Dynamics*, **219**, 237-247.
- Luo, A.C.J., 2008, *Global Transversality, Resonance and Chaotic Dynamics*, World Scientific, Singapore.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Hamidzadeh, H.R., 2004, Equilibrium and buckling Stability for axially traveling plates, *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation*, 9, 343-360.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Han, R.P.S., 2001, The resonant theory for stochastic layers in nonlinear dynamic systems, *Chaos, Solitons and Fractals*, 12, 2493-2508.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Mote, C.D. Jr., 2000, Nonlinear vibration of rotating, thin disks, ASME Journal of Vibration and Acoustics, 122, 376-383.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Tan, C.A., 2001, Resonant and stationary waves in rotating disks, Nonlinear Dynamics, 24, 357-372.
- Malvern, L.E., 1969, *Introduction to the Mechanics of a Continuous Medium*, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs.
- Nowinski, J.L., 1964, Nonlinear transverse vibrations of a spinning disk, *ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics*, **31**, 72-78.
- Nowinski, J.L., 1981, Stability of nonlinear thermoelastic waves in membrane-like spinning disk, *Journal of Thermal Science*, **4**, 1-11.
- Pasic, H. and Hermann, G., 1983, Nonlinear free vibrations of buckled plates with deformable loaded edges, *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 87, 105-114.
- Reissner, E., 1944, On the theory of bending of elastic plates, *Journal of Mathematics and Physics*, **23**, 184-191.
- Reissner, E., 1957, Finite twisting and bending of thin rectangular elastic plates, *ASME Journal* of *Applied Mechanics*, **24**, 391-396.
- Saniei, N. and Luo, A.C.J., 2001, Thermally induced, nonlinear vibration of rotating disks, Nonlinear Dynamics, 26, 393-409.
- Saniei, N. and Luo, A.C.J., 2007, Nonlinear vibrations of heated, co-rotating disks, *Journal of Vibration and Control*, 13, 583-601.
- Southwell, R.V., 1922, On the free transverse vibrations of a uniform circular disc clamped at its centre, and on the effects of rotation, *Proceedings of Royal Society of London*, **101**, 133-153.
- Timoshenko, S., 1940, Theory of Plates and Shells, McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Tobias, S.A., 1957, Free undamped nonlinear vibrations of imperfect circular disks, *Proceedings* of the Institute of Mechanical Engineers, **171**, 691-701.
- von Karman, T., 1910, Festigkeitsprobleme im mashinenbau, *Encyklopadie der Mathematischen Wissenschaften*, Teubner, Leipzig, **4**, 348-352.
- Wempner, G., 1973, Mechanics of Solids, McGraw-Hill, New York.

Chapter 7 Nonlinear Webs, Membranes and Shells

This chapter will discuss the nonlinear theories of webs, membranes and shells. The webs and membranes are extensively used to model bio-tissues and membranes experiencing arbitrary initial configurations. Since any webs cannot resist any compressive forces, it is very difficult to determine the corresponding deformations and stresses in the webs. Traditionally, one used the membrane theory with certain constraints to determine the final configuration of webs. However, the webs can be of non-continuum and continuum. Thus, the network non-continuum web will be presented first from the cable theory, and the continuum web will be developed. Further, the nonlinear theory of membranes will be developed in an analogy way. The nonlinear theory of shells will be developed from the general theory of the 3-dimensional deformable body, and such a theory of shells can be easily reduced to the established theories.

7.1. Nonlinear webs

In this section, the theory for nonlinear webs will be discussed. Before the nonlinear web theory is discussed, the following concepts are introduced first.

Definition 7.1. If a deformable body on the two principal directions of fibers only resists the tensile forces, the deformable body is called a *deformable* web.

Definition 7.2. If a non-deformable body on the two principal directions of fibers only resists the tensile forces, the non-deformable body is called an *inextensible* web.

From the above two definitions, if the internal tensile forces of the web are compressive globally, the current configurations of the deformable and inextensible webs cannot exist. In other words, the deformable and inextensible webs cannot resist the compressive forces. If the internal tensile forces on the web become zero globally, the web configuration will keep the configuration of the inextensible web. If the internal tensile forces on the web become zero in a local zone, the configuration of the local zone of the web will keep the inextensible web configuration. On such a local region, the corresponding inextensible configuration may be changed with any small perturbation force to form a new configuration with tensile forces or to be in any wrinkling state without any configuration. Such a local new configuration is discontinuous to the non-wrinkled, global configuration. Such a phenomenon of the web is called *the local wrinkling* of web. After the web is locally wrinkled, the wrinkled zone cannot form any configuration. In other words, only when the tensile force exists, the web configuration can be formed.

Consider a nonlinear web with an initial configuration in coordinates $(X^{I}, I = 1, 2, 3)$ with unit vectors $(\mathbf{I}_{I}, I = 1, 2, 3)$, as shown in Fig.7.1. A point *P* on the initial configuration is given by $(X^{I}, I = 1, 2, 3)$ which is the function of a curvilinear coordinate $(S^{\Lambda}, \Lambda = 1, 2, 3)$ with base vectors \mathbf{G}_{Λ} . Therefore, assumes $X^{I} = X^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2})$ and the point *P* on the initial configuration is

$$\mathbf{R} = X^{T}(S^{1}, S^{2})\mathbf{I}_{T}.$$
(7.1)

Under external forces, the nonlinear web will form a new configuration in a coordinate $(x^{I}, I = 1, 2, 3)$ with unit vectors $(\mathbf{I}_{I}, I = 1, 2, 3)$, as shown in Fig.7.2. A point *p* on the new configuration is given by $(x^{I}, I = 1, 2, 3)$. For the new configuration, the corresponding curvilinear coordinates $(s^{\Lambda}, \Lambda = 1, 2, 3)$ with base vectors $(\mathbf{g}_{\Lambda}, \Lambda = 1, 2, 3)$ exist. Such a configuration is also called a final configuration under such external forces. To describe the deformation of the web, a point $p(x^{I}, I = 1, 2, 3)$ can also be described through the curvilinear coordinates $(S^{\alpha}, \alpha = 1, 2)$ with base vectors \mathbf{G}_{α} . Therefore, let $x^{I} = x^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2})$ and the vector \mathbf{r} is

$$\mathbf{r} = x^{I} (S^{1}, S^{2}) \mathbf{I}_{I} . \tag{7.2}$$

The displacement between the point P and point p is given by

$$\mathbf{u} = u^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2})\mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(7.3)

Thus,

$$\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{R} + \mathbf{u}, \text{ or } x^{T} (S^{1}, S^{2}) = X^{T} (S^{1}, S^{2}) + u^{T} (S^{1}, S^{2});$$

$$\mathbf{G}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\partial \mathbf{R}}{\partial S^{\alpha}} = X^{T}_{,\alpha} \mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ and } \mathbf{g}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\partial \mathbf{r}}{\partial S^{\alpha}} = (X^{T}_{,\alpha} + u^{T}_{,\alpha}) \mathbf{I}_{I};$$

$$\mathbf{N}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\mathbf{G}_{\alpha}}{|\mathbf{G}_{\alpha}|} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} X^{T}_{,\alpha} \mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ and } \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\mathbf{g}_{\alpha}}{|\mathbf{g}_{\alpha}|} = \frac{X^{T}_{,\alpha} + u^{T}_{,\alpha}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha}}} \mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(7.4)



Fig. 7.1. A nonlinear web with an initial configuration.



Fig. 7.2 Displacement on the webs with the initial and final configurations.

7 Nonlinear Webs, Membranes and Shells

where $(\cdot)_{\alpha} = \partial(\cdot) / \partial S^{\alpha}$ and summation on *I* should be completed, and

$$G_{\alpha\alpha} = X^{I}_{,\alpha}X^{I}_{,\alpha} \text{ and } E_{\alpha\beta} = X^{I}_{,\alpha}u^{I}_{,\beta} + X^{I}_{,\beta}u^{I}_{,\alpha} + u^{I}_{,\alpha}u^{I}_{,\beta}.$$
(7.5)

The strain on the direction of S^{α} ($\alpha = 1, 2$) is

$$\mathscr{E}_{\alpha}(S^{1},S^{2}) = \frac{\left|\frac{d\mathbf{r}}{\alpha}\right| - \left|\frac{d\mathbf{R}}{\alpha}\right|}{\left|\frac{d\mathbf{R}}{\alpha}\right|} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}}\sqrt{(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})} - 1.$$
(7.6)

From material laws, the tension is

$$T_{\alpha} = \int_{A_{\alpha}} f_{\alpha}(\mathscr{E}_{\alpha}) dA_{\alpha}.$$
(7.7)

If $\mathscr{E}_{\alpha} = 0$ then $f(\mathscr{E}_{\alpha}) = 0$. For linear elastic materials, the tension is determined by

$$T_{\alpha} = \int_{A_{\alpha}} E_{\alpha} \mathscr{E}_{\alpha} dA_{\alpha} = \int_{A_{\alpha}} E_{\alpha} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \sqrt{(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})} - 1 \right) dA_{\alpha}, \tag{7.8}$$

where Young's modulus and cross section in the S^{α} -direction are E_{α} and A_{α} , respectively. If the initial configuration is in the deformed state with the initial tension T^{0}_{α} in the S^{α} -direction, the corresponding strain is expressed by

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha} = \mathscr{E}_{\alpha}^{0}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \sqrt{(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})} - 1,$$
(7.9)

where the initial tension $T^0_{\alpha}(S^1, S^2) = \int_{A_{\alpha}} f(\mathcal{E}^0_{\alpha}) dA_{\alpha}$ and the tension in the deformed configuration is

$$T_{\alpha} = \int_{A_{\alpha}} f_{\alpha}(\varepsilon_{\alpha}) dA_{\alpha} = \int_{A_{\alpha}} f_{\alpha}(\varepsilon_{\alpha}^{0} + \varepsilon_{\alpha}) dA_{\alpha}.$$
(7.10)

For the linear elasticity,

$$T_{\alpha} = T_{\alpha}^{0}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + E_{\alpha}A_{\alpha}(\frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}}\sqrt{(X_{,\alpha}^{l} + u_{,\alpha}^{l})(X_{,\alpha}^{l} + u_{,\alpha}^{l})} - 1.$$
(7.11)

If the new displacement $u^{I} = 0$ (I = 1, 2, 3), then the strain in Eq. (7.9) becomes

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha} = \mathscr{E}_{\alpha}^{0}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}}\sqrt{X_{,\alpha}^{I}X_{,\alpha}^{I}} - 1\right).$$
(7.12)

From the geometric relation, the following relation exists

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}}\sqrt{X_{,\alpha}^{I}X_{,\alpha}^{I}} = 1.$$
(7.13)

268

7.1. Nonlinear webs

The initial strain and tension can be recovered (i.e., $\varepsilon_{\alpha} = \mathscr{E}_{\alpha}^{0}(S^{1}, S^{2})$). In fact, the initial tension is very difficult to obtain. On the other hand, the inextensible web possesses the fact of $E_{\alpha}A_{\alpha} \rightarrow \infty$. Deformation of Eq.(7.11) gives

$$\frac{T_{\alpha}}{E_{\alpha}A_{\alpha}} = \frac{T_{\alpha}^{0}(S^{1}, S^{2})}{E_{\alpha}A_{\alpha}} + \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}}\sqrt{(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})} - 1\right).$$
(7.14)

As $E_{\alpha}A_{\alpha} \rightarrow \infty$, the foregoing equation gives for $\alpha = 1, 2,$

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}}\sqrt{(X_{,\alpha}^{I}+u_{,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,\alpha}^{I}+u_{,\alpha}^{I})} = 1$$
(summation on *I*). (7.15)

However, compared with Eq.(7.13), equation (7.15) yields

$$u^{I} = 0 \ (I = 1, 2, 3).$$
 (7.16)

It means that the inextensible web can support any tension without stretch. Therefore, one can consider the inextensible web configuration as the initial configuration. There are two non-continuum webs: (i) network non-continuum webs and (ii) fabric non-continuum web.

Definition 7.3. A deformable web is called a *cable-network web* if the deformable web is formed through cable or strings networks.

Definition 7.4. A deformable web is called a *cable-fabric web* if the deformable web is weaved by cables or strings.

Definition 7.5. A deformable web is called a *continuum web* if the deformable web is made by continuum media.

Definition 7.6. A deformable web is called *a cable-reinforced, continuum web* if the deformable web is formed by cable-network web and continuum skin webs.

The cable-network and cable-fabric webs are of non-continuum. If a web consists of network non-continuum webs and continuum skin webs, the continuum skin webs can be investigated by the web theory and the reinforced cables can be investigated by the cable theories. The concept of finite elements should be adopted and the corresponding boundary conditions should be considered. The theory for cable-network webs will be first presented through the cable theory.

7.1.1. Cable-network webs

The network non-continuum web is composed of many separated cables in many

directions with nodes. A network non-continuum web with cables in two directions is sketched in Fig.7.3. The filled symbols represent the nodes for physical connection and concentrated forces. The connection between two nodes is a cable segment. For generality, at a node of the non-continuum web, there can be many cables with different directions rather than two directions. In addition, the nodes include the physical nodes and force nodes. The physical nodes are the connection joints of the cable segments to form a web, and force nodes are where the concentrated forces are exerted. Of course, on the physical nodes, the concentrated forces can be exerted as well. Suppose that a node point is connected with finite *l*-cables ($l \in \mathbb{N}$). There is a cable segment between this node and one of its adjacent nodes in one of *l*-directions, and the distributed forces can be exerted on such a cable segment. Thus, to apply the external forces on a non-continuum web and to investigate the corresponding nonlinear dynamics, the point and segment sets on the initial configuration of the non-continuum webs are introduced first.

$$\mathscr{P} = \bigcup_{k_{1}=0}^{m_{1}} \bigcup_{k_{2}=0}^{m_{2}} \cdots \bigcup_{k_{l}=0}^{m_{l}} \mathscr{P}_{(k_{1},k_{2},\dots,k_{l})},$$

$$\mathscr{P}_{(k_{1},k_{2},\dots,k_{l})} \equiv \left\{ (S^{1}, S^{2}, \dots, S^{l}) \middle| S^{\alpha} = A^{\alpha}_{(k_{1},k_{2},\dots,k_{l})} \text{ for } \alpha = 1, 2, \dots, l \right\}.$$

$$\mathscr{S} = \bigcup_{k_{1}=1}^{m_{1}} \bigcup_{k_{2}=1}^{m_{2}} \cdots \bigcup_{k_{l}=1}^{m_{l}} \bigcup_{\alpha=1}^{l} \mathscr{S}^{\alpha}_{(k_{1},k_{2},\dots,k_{l})},$$

$$\mathscr{S}^{\alpha}_{(k_{1},k_{2},\dots,k_{l})} \equiv \left\{ S^{\alpha} \middle| S^{\alpha} \in [A^{\alpha}_{(k_{1},\dots,k_{a}-1,\dots,k_{l})}, A^{\alpha}_{(k_{1},\dots,k_{a},\dots,k_{l})}] \right\}.$$

$$(7.17)$$

The point and segment sets on the deformed configuration are defined as

$$\boldsymbol{\rho} \equiv \bigcup_{k_{1}=1}^{m_{1}} \bigcup_{k_{2}=1}^{m_{2}} \cdots \bigcup_{k_{l}=1}^{m_{l}} \boldsymbol{\rho}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})},$$
(7.19)
$$\boldsymbol{\rho}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})} \equiv \left\{ (s^{1}, s^{2}, ..., s^{l}) \middle| s^{\alpha} = a_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{\alpha} \text{ for } \alpha = 1, 2, ..., l \right\}.$$
$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \bigcup_{k_{1}=1}^{m_{1}} \bigcup_{k_{2}=1}^{m_{2}} \cdots \bigcup_{k_{l}=1}^{m_{l}} \bigcup_{\alpha=1}^{l} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{\alpha},$$
(7.20)
$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{\alpha} \equiv \left\{ s^{\alpha} \middle| s^{\alpha} \in [a_{(k_{1},...,k_{\alpha}-1,...,k_{l})}^{\alpha}, a_{(k_{1},...,k_{\alpha},...,k_{l})}^{\alpha}] \right\}.$$

Consider distributed forces on segment $S^{\alpha}_{(k_1,k_2,...,k_l)}$ and concentrated forces on a point $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2,...,k_l)}$ for $k_{\alpha} \in \mathscr{M}_{\alpha}$ and $\mathscr{M}_{\alpha} = \{1, 2, ..., m_{\alpha}\}$ with $(\alpha = 1, 2, ..., l)$, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{F}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})} \equiv F_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}, ..., S^{l})\mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ at } \mathscr{P}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})},$$

$$^{\alpha}\mathbf{q}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})} \equiv ^{\alpha}q_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}, ..., S^{l})\mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ on } \mathcal{S}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{\alpha}.$$
(7.21)

The corresponding forces on the segment $a_{(k_1,k_2,...,k_l)}^{\alpha}$ and concentrated forces on point $p_{(k_1,k_2,...,k_l)}$ are expressed by

$$\mathbf{f}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})} \equiv f_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{I}(s^{1}, s^{2}, ..., s^{l})\mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ at } \boldsymbol{\rho}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})},$$

$$^{\alpha}\mathbf{p}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})} \equiv ^{\alpha}p_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{I}(s^{1}, s^{2}, ..., s^{l})\mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ on } \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{\alpha}.$$
(7.22)



Fig. 7.3 Separated cables and nodes in a cable-network non-continuum web. The filled symbols represent the nodes for concentrated forces. The connection between two nodes is a cable segment.

From Eqs.(7.21) and (7.22), one obtains

$$\mathbf{F}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})} = \mathbf{f}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})},$$

$$F_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}, ..., S^{l}) = f_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{I}(s^{1}, s^{2}, ..., s^{l});$$

$$^{\alpha}\mathbf{p}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1+\mathscr{C}_{\alpha})} \,^{\alpha}\mathbf{q}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})},$$

$$(7.23)$$

$$^{\alpha}p_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{I}(s^{1}, s^{2}, ..., s^{l}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1+\mathscr{C}_{\alpha})} \,^{\alpha}q_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}(S^{1}, S^{2}, ..., S^{l}),$$

where

$$\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}} (1 + \mathscr{E}_{\alpha}) \equiv \sqrt{(X_{\alpha,\alpha}^{\kappa} + u_{\alpha,\alpha}^{\kappa})(X_{\alpha,\alpha}^{\kappa} + u_{\alpha,\alpha}^{\kappa})}.$$
(7.24)

Therefore, equation of motion for segments $S^{\alpha} \in \mathcal{S}^{\alpha}_{(k_1,k_2,...,k_l)}$ is given by

$$\rho_{\alpha}^{0} A_{\alpha} (\mathbf{X}_{\alpha, u} + \mathbf{u}_{\alpha, u}) = \mathbf{q}_{\alpha} + {}^{\alpha} \mathbf{T}_{, \alpha}, \text{ or}$$

$$\rho_{\alpha}^{0} A_{\alpha} (X_{\alpha, u}^{l} + u_{\alpha, u}^{l}) = q_{\alpha}^{l} + \left[\frac{{}^{\alpha} T(X_{\alpha, \alpha}^{l} + u_{\alpha, \alpha}^{l})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}} (1 + \mathscr{E}_{\alpha})} \right]_{, \alpha},$$
(7.25)

where $\rho_{\alpha}^{0} A_{\alpha}$ is based on the initial configuration and no summation on α exists. In Eq. (7.25), the tension is computed by

7 Nonlinear Webs, Membranes and Shells

$${}^{\alpha}T = \begin{cases} \int_{A_{\alpha}} f_{\alpha}(\mathcal{E}_{\alpha}) dA_{\alpha} & \text{for any materials,} \\ {}^{\alpha}T^{0}(S^{\alpha}) + \int_{A_{\alpha}} E_{\alpha} \mathscr{E}_{\alpha} dA_{\alpha} & \text{for linear elasticity,} \end{cases}$$
(7.26)

where ${}^{\alpha}T^{0}(S^{\alpha}) = \int_{A_{\alpha}} E_{\alpha} \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}^{0} dA_{\alpha}$ and $\mathcal{E}_{\alpha} = \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}^{0} + \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$.

The tension vector is defined as

$${}^{\alpha}\mathbf{T}(S^{\alpha}) = {}^{\alpha}T(S^{\alpha})\mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \equiv {}^{\alpha}T^{T}(S^{\alpha})\mathbf{I}_{T}, \qquad (7.27)$$

where \mathbf{n}_{α} is the unit normal direction of the cable cross section and

$${}^{\alpha}T^{I}(S^{\alpha}) = {}^{\alpha}T(S^{\alpha}) \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = {}^{\alpha}T(S^{\alpha})\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{I})}$$
(7.28)

and

$$\mathbf{n}_{\alpha} = \frac{(X_{,\alpha}^{l} + u_{,\alpha}^{l})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha}}} \mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ and } \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{I})} = \frac{X_{\alpha,\alpha}^{l} + u_{\alpha,\alpha}^{l}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1 + \mathscr{E}_{\alpha})}.$$
(7.29)

Suppose that there are *l*-cables connected at a node point $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2,...,k_l)}$. The force condition at the node $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2,...,k_l)}$ with $S^{\alpha} = A^{\alpha}_{(k_1,k_2,...,k_l)}$ is given by

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{l} {}^{\alpha} \mathbf{T}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}(S^{\alpha}) \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = A_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{\alpha}} + \mathbf{F}_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})} = 0, \text{ or}$$

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{l} {}^{\alpha} T_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}(S^{\alpha}) \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{l})} \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = A_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{\alpha}} + F_{(k_{1},k_{2},...,k_{l})}^{I} = 0,$$
(7.30)

where the tension vector on such a normal direction of \mathbf{n}_{α} can be given, i.e.,

$${}^{\alpha}\mathbf{T}_{(k_{1},k_{2},\ldots,k_{l})}(S^{\alpha}) = {}^{\alpha}T_{(k_{1},k_{2},\ldots,k_{l})}(S^{\alpha})\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}$$
(7.31)

and

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{l})} = \frac{X_{\alpha,\alpha}^{l} + u_{\alpha,\alpha}^{l}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}} (1 + \mathscr{C}_{\alpha})} \quad \text{for } 0 \le \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{l})} \le \pi,$$

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{l})} = (-1) \frac{X_{\alpha,\alpha}^{l} + u_{\alpha,\alpha}^{l}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}} (1 + \mathscr{C}_{\alpha})} \quad \text{for } \pi < \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{l})} \le 2\pi;$$
(7.32)

and the displacement conditions are

$$u'_{\alpha} = u'_{\beta}$$
 and $X'_{\alpha} = X'_{\beta}$ for $\alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and $\alpha \neq \beta$. (7.33)

The displacement boundary condition at a node point $\mathscr{P}_{(r_1, r_2, ..., r_h)}$ is

$$u_{(r_{1},r_{2},...,r_{b})}^{I} = b_{(r_{1},r_{2},...,r_{b})}^{I} \text{ and } X_{(r_{1},r_{2},...,r_{b})}^{I} = B_{(r_{1},r_{2},...,r_{b})}^{I} \text{ for } \beta \in \{1, 2, ..., l_{b}\}.$$
(7.34)

272

For the force boundary, the boundary conditions can be given as in Eq.(7.25). That is,

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{l_b} {}^{\alpha} T_{(r_1, r_2, \dots, r_b)}(S^{\alpha}) \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{I}_I)} \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = a^{\alpha}_{(r_1, r_2, \dots, r_b)}} + F^{I}_{(r_1, r_2, \dots, r_b)} = 0.$$
(7.35)

The static and dynamic solutions for each cable segment of the non-continuum web can be obtained as in Chapter 5 (also see, Luo and Mote, 2000; Luo and Wang, 2002; Wang and Luo, 2004). From definition, the wrinkling conditions for the non-continuum web can be determined by each segment between the two adjacent nodes. In other words, one has the wrinkling conditions through the following definitions.

Definition 7.7. A network non-continuum web is called *a locally wrinkled net*work web in $S^{\alpha}_{(k_1,k_2,\dots,k_l)}$ if the tension at any point $S^{\alpha} \in S^{\alpha}_{(k_1,k_2,\dots,k_l)}$ satisfies

$${}^{\alpha}T_{(k_1,k_2,\cdots,k_l)}(S^{\alpha}) < 0 \text{ for } S^{\alpha} \in [A^{\alpha}_{(k_1,\dots,k_{\alpha}-1,\dots,k_l)}, A^{\alpha}_{(k_1,\dots,k_{\alpha},\dots,k_l)}].$$
(7.36)

A network non-continuum web is called a *globally wrinkled network web* if all segments $S^{\alpha}_{(k_1,k_2,...,k_l)} \subset S$ ($k_{\alpha} \in \{1, 2, ..., m_{\alpha}\}, \alpha = 1, 2, ..., l$) in such a non-continuum web satisfy Eq.(7.36). The two wrinkling boundaries on the segment $S^{\alpha}_{(k_1,k_2,...,k_l)}$ are determined by

$${}^{\alpha}T(S^{\alpha}) = 0 \text{ for } S^{\alpha} \in [A^{\alpha}_{(k_1,\dots,k_{\alpha}-1,\dots,k_l)}, A^{\alpha}_{(k_1,\dots,k_{\alpha},\dots,k_l)}].$$
(7.37)

7.1.2. Cable-fabric webs

The cable-fabric web is a kind of non-continuum webs, and such a web is called *the continuously weaved web* as well. A fabric web consists of continuous nodes of fibers in two or more directions. The fibers going through nodes are continuous. Such a web can support the tension only. Consider a cable-fabric web with two main fiber directions \mathbf{G}_{α} of S^{α} ($\alpha = 1, 2$) and their angle $\Theta_{(S^1, S^2)} \in (0, \pi/2]$, as shown in Fig.7.4.

To exert the external force on the web, the point and domain sets on the initial configuration are defined as

$$\mathcal{P} = \bigcup_{k_2=0}^{m_2} \bigcup_{k_1=0}^{m_1} \mathcal{P}_{(k_1,k_2)} \text{ and} \mathcal{P}_{(k_1,k_2)} = \left\{ (S^1, S^2) \middle| S^i = A^i_{(k_1,k_2)}, i = 1, 2 \right\}$$
(7.38)



Fig. 7.4 Cable-fabric non-continuum web with fibers two directions.

$$\mathcal{D} = \bigcup_{k_{1}=1}^{m_{1}} \bigcup_{k_{2}=1}^{m_{2}} \mathcal{D}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} \text{ and}$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} \equiv \left\{ \left(S^{1}, S^{2}\right) \middle| \begin{array}{l} A^{1}_{(k_{1}-1,k_{2})} \leq S^{1} \leq A^{1}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} \\ A^{2}_{(k_{1},k_{2}-1)} \leq S^{2} \leq A^{2}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} \end{array} \right\}.$$
(7.39)

The point and domain sets on the deformed configuration are defined as

$$\boldsymbol{\rho} = \bigcup_{k_2=0}^{m_2} \bigcup_{k_1=0}^{m_1} \boldsymbol{\rho}_{(k_1,k_2)} \text{ and }$$

$$\boldsymbol{\rho}_{(k_1,k_2)} \equiv \left\{ (s^1, s^2) \middle| s^i = a^i_{(k_1,k_2)}, i = 1, 2 \right\}$$

$$(7.40)$$

$$\boldsymbol{a} = \bigcup_{k_{2}=1}^{n} \bigcup_{k_{1}=1}^{n} \boldsymbol{a}_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{(k_{1},k_{2})} \text{ and } \\ \boldsymbol{a}_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{(k_{1},k_{2})} \equiv \left\{ \left(s^{1}, s^{2}\right) \middle| \begin{array}{l} a_{(k_{1}-1,k_{2})}^{1} \leq s^{1} \leq a_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{1}, \\ a_{(k_{1},k_{2}-1)}^{2} \leq s^{2} \leq a_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{2} \right\} \right\}.$$
(7.41)

On the initial configuration, the external concentrated force on point $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ and distributed force on domain $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ are defined as

$$\mathbf{q}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} = q_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{I}(S^{1},S^{2})\mathbf{I}_{I}, \ (S^{1},S^{2}) \in \mathscr{D}_{(k_{1},k_{2})},$$

$$\mathbf{F}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} = F_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{I}(S^{1},S^{2})\mathbf{I}_{I}, \ (S^{1},S^{2}) \in \mathscr{P}_{(k_{1},k_{2})}$$
(7.42)

and on the deformed configuration, the forces are expressed by

$$\mathbf{f}_{(k_1,k_2)} = f_{(k_1,k_2)}^I(s^1, s^2) \mathbf{I}_I , \ (s^1, s^2) \in \boldsymbol{\rho}_{(k_1,k_2)},$$

$$\mathbf{p}_{(k_1,k_2)} = p_{(k_1,k_2)}^I(s^1, s^2) \mathbf{I}_I , \ (s^1, s^2) \in \boldsymbol{d}_{(k_1,k_2)}.$$

$$(7.43)$$

Because no shear force exists on the fabric webs, the angle between the two fibers will not be changed. The corresponding relations between the two forces are

$$\mathbf{F}_{(k_1,k_2)} = \mathbf{f}_{(k_1,k_2)} \text{ and } \mathbf{p}_{(k_1,k_2)} = \frac{1}{(1+\ell_1)(1+\ell_2)} \mathbf{q}_{(k_1,k_2)}.$$
(7.44)

As in Eq.(7.24),

$$\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1+\mathscr{E}_{\alpha}) \equiv \sqrt{(X_{\alpha,\alpha}^{\kappa}+u_{\alpha,\alpha}^{\kappa})(X_{\alpha,\alpha}^{\kappa}+u_{\alpha,\alpha}^{\kappa})} \quad (\alpha=1,2).$$
(7.45)

The tension is defined by \overline{T}_{α} , and the tension per unit length can be defined as

$$T_{\alpha} = \frac{d\overline{T}_{\alpha}}{dS^{\beta}} = \int_{h_{1}}^{h_{2}} f_{\alpha}(\mathscr{C}_{\alpha})dz \text{ for } \alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\} \text{ and } \alpha \neq \beta.$$
(7.46)

If $\mathscr{E}_{\alpha} = 0$ then $f_{\alpha}(\mathscr{E}_{\alpha}) = 0$. Consider linear elastic materials as an example. From Eq.(7.8), the tension on dA_{α} in the α -direction is

$$d\overline{T}_{\alpha} = E_{\alpha} dA_{\alpha} \mathscr{E}_{\alpha} = E_{\alpha} dA_{\alpha} (\frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \sqrt{(X_{\alpha,\alpha}^{\kappa} + u_{\alpha,\alpha}^{\kappa})(X_{\alpha,\alpha}^{\kappa} + u_{\alpha,\alpha}^{\kappa})} - 1),$$
(7.47)

where $dA_{\alpha} = h \times dS^{\beta}$ and *h* is the thickness of the web. Thus, equations (7.46) and (7.47) yields

$$T_{\alpha} = \int_{h_1}^{h_2} E_{\alpha} \mathscr{E}_{\alpha} dz = E_{\alpha} h(\frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \sqrt{(X_{,\alpha}^{\kappa} + u_{,\alpha}^{\kappa})(X_{,\alpha}^{\kappa} + u_{,\alpha}^{\kappa})} - 1).$$
(7.48)

The tension per unit length will be simply called *the tension* on the α -cross section. Similarly, if the initial configuration is in the deformed state with an initial tension T^0_{α} per unit length in the S^{α} -direction, the corresponding strain is expressed by

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha} = \mathscr{E}_{\alpha}^{0}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \sqrt{(X_{,\alpha}^{\kappa} + u_{,\alpha}^{\kappa})(X_{,\alpha}^{\kappa} + u_{,\alpha}^{\kappa})} - 1,$$
(7.49)

where the initial tension per unit length $T^0_{\alpha}(S^1, S^2) = \int_{h_1}^{h_2} f_{\alpha}(\mathscr{E}^0_{\alpha}) dz$, and the tension per unit length on the configuration is

$$T_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) = \begin{cases} \int_{h_{1}}^{h_{2}} f_{\alpha}(\varepsilon_{\alpha}) dz & \text{for any materials,} \\ E_{\alpha} h \mathscr{C}_{\alpha}^{0} + E_{\alpha} h \mathscr{C}_{\alpha} & \text{for linear elasticity.} \end{cases}$$
(7.50)

Therefore, equation of motion for a domain $(S^1, S^2) \in \mathcal{Q}_{(k_1, k_2)}$ is

7 Nonlinear Webs, Membranes and Shells

$$\rho_{0}h(\mathbf{X}_{,tt} + \mathbf{u}_{,tt})\sin\Theta_{(S^{1},S^{2})} = \mathbf{q}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} + \mathbf{T}_{\alpha,\alpha} \text{ or}$$

$$\rho_{0}h(X_{,tt}^{I} + u_{,tt}^{I})\sin\Theta_{(S^{1},S^{2})} = q_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{I} + \left[\frac{T_{\alpha}(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1 + \mathcal{C}_{\alpha})}\right]_{,\alpha},$$
(7.51)

where ρ_0 is based on the initial configuration and summation on $\alpha = 1, 2$ should be done. As in the network non-continuum web, the tension vector on the S^{α} surface ($\alpha = 1, 2$) is

$$\mathbf{T}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) = T_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2})\mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \equiv T_{\alpha}^{I}(S^{\alpha})\mathbf{I}_{I}, \qquad (7.52)$$

where the vector \mathbf{n}_{α} is the normal direction of the S^{α} -surface, and the component of the tension vector on such S^{α} -surface can be given by

$$T_{\alpha}^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}) = T_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2})\mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = T_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2})\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{I}_{I})}$$
(7.53)

and the direction cosine is given by

$$\mathbf{n}_{\alpha} = (X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})\mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ and } \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{I})} = \frac{X_{\alpha,\alpha}^{I} + u_{\alpha,\alpha}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1 + \mathcal{E}_{\alpha})}.$$
(7.54)

At a point $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ with $S^i = A^i_{(k_1,k_2)}$, the force condition is given by

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \mathbf{T}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \mathbf{T}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} + \mathbf{F}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})} = \mathbf{0},$$
(7.55)

or

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \left| T_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{I}_{I})} \right|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (A^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, A^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})}$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \left| T_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{I}_{I})} \right|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (A^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, A^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} + F^{I}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})},$$
(7.56)

where superscript " \pm " represent tensions on the direction of the negative and positive cross sections.

The displacement continuity conditions are

$${}^{+}u_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{I} = {}^{-}u_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{I} \text{ and } {}^{+}X_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{I} = {}^{-}X_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{I}.$$
(7.57)

The displacement boundary condition at a boundary point $\mathscr{P}_{(r_1,r_2)}$ is

$$u_{(r_1,r_2)}^l = b_{(r_1,r_2)}^l \text{ and } X_{(r_1,r_2)}^l = B_{(r_1,r_2)}^l.$$
 (7.58)

The force boundary condition at the boundary point $\mathscr{P}_{(r_1,r_2)}$ is

7.1. Nonlinear webs

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \mathbf{T}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (B^{1}_{(\eta, r_{2})}, B^{2}_{(\eta, r_{2})})} + \mathbf{F}_{(\eta, r_{2})} = 0$$
(7.59)

or

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} T_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{I}_{l})} \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (B^{1}_{(\eta, 2)}, B^{2}_{(\eta, 2)})} + F^{I}_{(\eta_{1}, \eta_{2})} = 0.$$
(7.60)

The displacement boundary condition on the web edge is

$$\begin{aligned} u^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{S^{2}=S^{2}_{*}} &= U^{I}(S^{1}) \text{ and } X^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{S^{2}=S^{2}_{*}} &= B^{I}(S^{1}), \\ u^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{S^{1}=S^{1}_{*}} &= U^{I}(S^{2}) \text{ and } X^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{S^{1}=S^{1}_{*}} &= B^{I}(S^{2}). \end{aligned}$$

$$(7.61)$$

The force boundary condition on the web edge is

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\mathbf{T}_{\alpha} + \frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}} \int \mathbf{T}_{\beta} dS^{\alpha}\right) \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + \mathbf{F}(S^{\beta}) &= 0, \text{ or} \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}} \int T_{\beta}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta}, \mathbf{I}_{f})} dS^{\alpha} \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} \\ &+ T_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{I}_{f})} \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + F^{I}(S^{\beta}) = 0. \end{aligned}$$

$$(7.62)$$

From the definition, the wrinkling for a fabric web can exist in one of two directions, and the corresponding definitions can be given as follows.

Definition 7.8. A fabric non-continuum web is called a *locally wrinkled fabric* web in the S^{α} -direction ($\alpha \in \{1, 2\}$) in domain $\mathcal{D}_{(k_1, k_2)}$ if the tension at a point $(S^1, S^2) \in \mathcal{D}_{(k_1, k_2)}$ on the S^{α} -direction satisfies $T_{\alpha}(S^1, S^2) < 0$ for $(S^1, S^2) \in \mathcal{D}_{(k_1, k_2)}$ and $\alpha \in \{1, 2\}$. (7.63)

A fabric non-continuum web is called *a globally wrinkled fabric web* in the S^{α} -direction ($\alpha \in \{1, 2\}$) if Eq.(7.63) holds for all domains $\mathcal{D}_{(k_1, k_2)} \subset \mathcal{D}$ in such a fabric web. The wrinkling boundary on the domain $\mathcal{D}_{(k_1, k_2)}$ is determined by

$$T_{\alpha}(S^1, S^2) = 0 \text{ for } (S^1, S^2) \in \mathcal{Q}_{(k_1, k_2)} \text{ and } \alpha \in \{1, 2\}.$$
 (7.64)

Definition 7.9. A fabric non-continuum web is called a *locally free, fabric web* in domain $\mathcal{Q}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ if two tensions at any point $(S^1, S^2) \in \mathcal{Q}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ satisfy

$$T_{\alpha}(S^1, S^2) < 0 \text{ for } (S^1, S^2) \in \mathcal{P}_{(k_1, k_2)} \text{ and } \alpha = 1, 2.$$
 (7.65)

A fabric non-continuum web is called a *globally free, fabric web* if all domains $\mathcal{Q}_{(k_1,k_2)} \subset \mathcal{D}$ in such a fabric web satisfy Eq.(7.65). The boundary for the free web in the domain $\mathcal{Q}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ is determined by

277

7 Nonlinear Webs, Membranes and Shells

$$T_{\alpha}(S^1, S^2) = 0 \text{ for } (S^1, S^2) \in \mathscr{P}_{(k_1, k_2)} \text{ and } \alpha = 1, 2.$$
 (7.66)

In the above discussion, the two main fibers for fabric webs possess an angle $\Theta_{(s^1,s^2)}$. If $\Theta_{(s^1,s^2)} = \pi/2$, the two main fibers in the fabric web are orthogonal. Equation of motion in Eq.(7.51) becomes

$$\rho_{0}h(\mathbf{X}_{,u} + \mathbf{u}_{,u}) = \mathbf{q}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} + \mathbf{T}_{\alpha,\alpha} \text{ or}$$

$$\rho_{0}h(X_{,u}^{l} + u_{,u}^{l}) = q_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{l} + \left[\frac{T_{\alpha}(X_{,\alpha}^{l} + u_{,\alpha}^{l})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1 + \mathscr{E}_{\alpha})}\right]_{,\alpha}$$
(7.67)

and summation on $\alpha = 1, 2$ should be completed. If $\Theta_{(S^1, S^2)} = 0$, this case is singular, and the two main fiber directions are in one direction. The corresponding equation of motions becomes

$$\rho_0 h(\mathbf{X}_{,tt} + \mathbf{u}_{,tt}) = \mathbf{q}_{(k_1, k_2)} + \mathbf{T}_{\alpha, \alpha}, \qquad (7.68)$$

$$\rho_0 h(X_{,u}^I + u_{,u}^I) = q_{(k_1,k_2)}^I + \left[\frac{T_{\alpha}(X_{,\alpha}^I + u_{,\alpha}^I)}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}} (1 + \mathcal{E}_{\alpha})} \right]_{,\alpha}$$
(7.69)

without summation on $\alpha = 1, 2$. For a flat web, $G_{\alpha\alpha} = 1$ ($\alpha = 1, 2$) and $X_{\alpha}^{I} = \delta_{\alpha}^{I}$.

Definition 7.10. A fabric non-continuum web is called

(i) a skew weaving web if Θ_(s¹,s²) ∈ (0, π/2),
(ii) an orthogonal weaving web if Θ_(s¹,s²) = π/2,
(iii) a uniaxial weaving web if Θ_(s¹,s²) = 0.

7.1.3. Continuum webs

A continuum web consists of continuous media. The continuum web does not have any specified fiber directions as in the fabric webs. It is assumed that such a web can support the principal tension only. Because no specified fiber directions exist in the continuum web, the two directions of the principal tensions are dependent on the external loading rather than the two specific directions. Thus for any coordinates, shear membrane forces in such a web may exist as in the traditional membrane theory. Thus, there is a sort of twisting in such a web. Such a twisting is caused by the two principal tensions. Therefore, consider a curvilinear coordinates (S^A , A = 1, 2, 3) for the initial web configuration, and the two curvilinear coordinates (S^{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$) with $\Theta_{(s^1, s^2)} \in (0, \pi/2]$ are on the initial configuration, as shown in Fig.7.5. As in fabric non-continuous webs, the normal strains and tensions can be discussed in Eqs.(7.45)–(7.50). However, because the tensional twisting exists in such a continuum web, the shear strain should be introduced. Let $\Theta_{(s^1, s^2)}$ and $\theta_{(s^1, s^2)}$ be the induced angles between \mathbf{G}_1 and \mathbf{G}_2 before and *after* deformation. The shear strain is defined as

$$\gamma_{12} \equiv \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_1, \mathbf{N}_2)} - \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_1, \mathbf{n}_2)} \tag{7.70}$$

and the two angles are computed by

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{n}_{2})} \equiv \cos(\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{1},\mathbf{N}_{2})} - \gamma_{12})$$

$$= \frac{d\mathbf{r} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{||d\mathbf{r}||} \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{||d\mathbf{r}||} = \frac{(X_{,1}^{K} + u_{,1}^{K})dS^{1}\mathbf{I}_{K} \cdot (X_{,2}^{I} + u_{,2}^{I})dS^{2}\mathbf{I}_{I}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \mathcal{E}_{1})dS^{1}\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \mathcal{E}_{2})dS^{2}}$$

$$= \frac{(X_{,1}^{K} + u_{,1}^{K})(X_{,2}^{K} + u_{,2}^{K})}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}(1 + \mathcal{E}_{1})(1 + \mathcal{E}_{2})}$$
(summation on K), (7.71)

$$\cos \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{1},\mathbf{N}_{2})} = \frac{d\mathbf{R} \cdot d\mathbf{R}}{|d\mathbf{R}|| d\mathbf{R}||} = \frac{X_{,1}^{K} dS^{1} \mathbf{I}_{K} \cdot X_{,2}^{I} dS^{2} \mathbf{I}_{I}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} \sqrt{G_{22}} dS^{1} dS^{2}}$$
$$= \frac{X_{,1}^{K} X_{,2}^{K}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} \sqrt{G_{22}}}$$
(summation on K). (7.72)

Finally, the shear strain is computed by

$$\gamma_{12} \equiv \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_1,\mathbf{N}_2)} - \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_1,\mathbf{n}_2)}$$
$$= \cos^{-1} \left(\frac{X_{,1}^K X_{,2}^K}{\sqrt{G_{11}} \sqrt{G_{22}}} \right) - \cos^{-1} \left[\frac{(X_{,1}^K + u_{,1}^K)(X_{,2}^K + u_{,2}^K)}{\sqrt{G_{11}} \sqrt{G_{22}} (1 + \mathcal{E}_1)(1 + \mathcal{E}_2)} \right].$$
(7.73)

Note that $\gamma_{12} = \gamma_{21}$. In addition, the area change from Chapter 3 is given by

$$\frac{da}{\frac{12}{12}} = \frac{(1+\epsilon_1)(1+\epsilon_2)\sin\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_1,\mathbf{n}_2)}}{\sin\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_1,\mathbf{N}_2)}}$$
(7.74)

where $d_{\alpha\beta} = |d_{\mathbf{r}} \times d_{\beta}|$ and $d_{\alpha\beta} = |d_{\mathbf{r}} \times d_{\beta}|$ are the areas for after and before deformation, respectively. On the initial configuration, the external concentrated force on point $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ and distributed force on domain $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ are defined as in Eqs.(7.42) and (7.43). However, the relations between the two forces on initial and the deformed configurations are



Fig. 7.5 A continuum web with an initial configuration.

$$\mathbf{F}_{(k_1,k_2)} = \mathbf{f}_{(k_1,k_2)} \text{ and } \mathbf{p}_{(k_1,k_2)} = \frac{\sin\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_1,\mathbf{N}_2)}}{(1+\epsilon_1)(1+\epsilon_2)\sin\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_1,\mathbf{n}_2)}} \mathbf{q}_{(k_1,k_2)}.$$
 (7.75)

The web shear force caused by the twisting is computed by

$$\overline{T}_{\alpha\beta} = \int_{A_{\alpha}} f_{\alpha\beta}(\mathscr{E}_{\alpha\beta}) dA_{\alpha} \text{ for } \alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\} \text{ and } \alpha \neq \beta,$$
(7.76)

where $\mathscr{E}_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \gamma_{\alpha\beta}$. $\overline{T}_{\alpha\beta}$ represents a tensional shear force on the deformed α surface with the normal direction \mathbf{n}_{α} and its direction is the same as the direction of \mathbf{g}_{β} . If $\alpha = \beta$, $\mathscr{E}_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \mathscr{E}_{\alpha}$, and the foregoing equation reduces to Eq.(7.7) for the tension only. The shear force per unit length is defined by

$$T_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{d\overline{T}_{\alpha\beta}}{dS^{\beta}} = \int_{h_{1}}^{h_{2}} f_{\alpha\beta}(\mathscr{C}_{\alpha\beta})dz \text{ for } \alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\} \text{ and } \alpha \neq \beta.$$
(7.77)

If $\mathscr{E}_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ then $f_{\alpha\beta}(\mathscr{E}_{\alpha\beta}) = 0$. Consider linear elastic materials as an example. The tensional shear force on dA_{α} in the α -direction is

$$dT_{\alpha\beta} = \mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta} dA_{\alpha} \mathscr{E}_{\alpha\beta} = \mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta} dA_{\alpha} \gamma_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (7.78)$$

where $dA_{\alpha} = h \times dS^{\beta}$ and *h* is the thickness of the web, $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta}$ is the shear modulus. Thus, using Eq. (7.77), one obtains

$$T_{\alpha\beta} = \int_{h_1}^{h_2} \mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta} \mathscr{C}_{\alpha\beta} dz = \mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta} h \gamma_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(7.79)

The shear forces per unit length will be simply called *the shear* on the α -cross

section. The web force vector on the S^{α} - surface is

$$\mathbf{T}_{\alpha} = T_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} + T_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} = T_{\alpha}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I}, \qquad (7.80)$$

where

$$T_{\alpha}^{I} = T_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} + T_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = T_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{I})} + T_{\alpha\beta} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta},\mathbf{I}_{I})},$$
(7.81)

$$\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{l})} = \frac{(X_{,\alpha}^{l} + u_{,\alpha}^{l})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1 + \mathscr{E}_{\alpha})} \text{ and } \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta},\mathbf{I}_{l})} = \frac{(X_{,\beta}^{l} + u_{,\beta}^{l})}{\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta}}(1 + \mathscr{E}_{\beta})}.$$
 (7.82)

The component of the web force of the S^{α} -surface in the direction of \mathbf{I}_{I} is computed by

$$T_{\alpha}^{I} = \frac{T_{\alpha}(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1 + \mathscr{E}_{\alpha})} + \frac{T_{\alpha\beta}(X_{,\beta}^{I} + u_{,\beta}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta}}(1 + \mathscr{E}_{\beta})}.$$
(7.83)

From the tension and the tensional shear forces, equation of motion for a domain $(S^1, S^2) \in \mathcal{Q}_{(k_1, k_2)}$ is

$$\rho_0 h(\mathbf{X}_{,tt} + \mathbf{u}_{,tt}) \sin \Theta_{(S^1, S^2)} = \mathbf{q}_{(k_1, k_2)} + \mathbf{T}_{\alpha, \alpha},$$

or $\rho_0 h(X_{,tt}^I + u_{,tt}^I) \sin \Theta_{(S^1, S^2)} = q_{(k_1, k_2)}^I + T_{\alpha, \alpha}^I$ (7.84)

with summation on $\alpha = 1, 2$, and the foregoing equation is rewritten as

$$\rho_0 h(X_{,tt}^I + u_{,tt}^I) \sin \Theta_{(S^1, S^2)} = q_{(k_1, k_2)}^I + \left[\frac{T_{\alpha}(X_{,\alpha}^I + u_{,\alpha}^I)}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}} (1 + \mathscr{E}_{\alpha})} + \frac{T_{\alpha\beta}(X_{,\beta}^I + u_{,\beta}^I)}{\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta}} (1 + \mathscr{E}_{\beta})} \right]_{,\alpha}, \quad (7.85)$$

where ρ_0 is based on the initial configuration and summation on α , $\beta = 1, 2$ and $\alpha \neq \beta$ should be done. For a flat web, one has $G_{\alpha\alpha} = 1$ ($\alpha = 1, 2$). The above equation can be reduced. As in Eq.(7.55), the corresponding force condition at a point $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ with $S^i = A^i_{(k_1,k_2)}$ is

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \left[\mathbf{T}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \right]_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (\mathcal{A}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{1}, \mathcal{A}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{2})} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \left[\mathbf{T}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \right]_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (\mathcal{A}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{1}, \mathcal{A}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{2})} + \mathbf{F}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})} = 0,$$
(7.86)

or

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} [{}^{-}T_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + {}^{-}T_{\beta\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2})] \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{I}_{I})} \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})}$$

= $\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} [{}^{+}T_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + {}^{+}T_{\beta\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2})] \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{I}_{I})} \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} + F^{I}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}.$ (7.87)

The force boundary condition at the boundary point $\mathscr{P}_{(r,r_{0})}$ is

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \mathbf{T}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (B^{1}_{(\eta, 2)}, B^{2}_{(\eta, 2)})} + \mathbf{F}_{(\eta, \gamma_{2})} = 0$$
(7.88)

or

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} [T_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + T_{\beta\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2})] \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{I}_{f})} \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (B^{1}_{(\eta, \tau_{2})}, B^{2}_{(\eta, \tau_{2})})} + F^{I}_{(\tau_{1}, \tau_{2})} = 0.$$
(7.89)

The force boundary condition on the web edge is

$$\left(\mathbf{T}_{\alpha} + \frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}} \int \mathbf{T}_{\beta} dS^{\alpha}\right)\Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + \mathbf{F}(S^{\beta}) = 0,$$
(7.90)

or

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}} (\int T_{\beta} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta},\mathbf{I}_{f})} dS^{\alpha}) + \frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}} (\int T_{\beta\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{f})} dS^{\alpha}) \end{bmatrix} \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + (T_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{f})} + T_{\alpha\beta} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta},\mathbf{I}_{f})}) \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + F^{I}(S^{\beta}) = 0.$$
(7.91)

The displacement continuity and boundary conditions are given as in Eqs.(7.58) and (7.61).

For a continuum web, because the tensional shear exists, the principal tensions $(T_{\min,\max}^p)$ should be computed. For instance, if $\Theta_{(S^1,S^2)} = \pi/2$, one obtains

$$T_{\min,\max}^{p} = \frac{T_{\alpha} + T_{\beta}}{2} \pm \sqrt{\left(\frac{T_{\alpha} - T_{\beta}}{2}\right)^{2} + T_{\alpha\beta}^{2}}$$
(7.92)

and the principal direction S^{p} with the minimum principal tension T_{\min}^{p} is determined by

$$\tan 2\theta_{(S^{p},S^{\alpha})} = \frac{2T_{\alpha\beta}}{T_{\alpha} - T_{\beta}}.$$
(7.93)

Definition 7.11. A continuum web is called *a locally wrinkled continuum web* on the S^p -direction ($\alpha \in \{1, 2\}$) in domain $\mathcal{D}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ if the minimum principal tension at a point $(S^1, S^2) \in \mathcal{D}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ on the S^p -direction satisfies

$$T_{\min}^{p}(S^{1}, S^{2}) < 0 \text{ for } (S^{1}, S^{2}) \in \mathcal{D}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}.$$
 (7.94)

A continuum web is called *a globally wrinkled continuum web* on the S^{p} direction ($\alpha \in \{1, 2\}$) if Eq.(7.94) holds for all domains $\mathcal{Q}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} \subset \mathcal{D}$ in such a continuum web. The wrinkling boundary on the domain $\mathcal{Q}_{(k_{1},k_{2})}$ is determined by 7.2. Nonlinear membranes

$$T_{\min}^{p}(S^{1}, S^{2}) = 0 \text{ for } (S^{1}, S^{2}) \in \mathcal{D}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}.$$
 (7.95)

Definition 7.12. A continuum web is called *a locally free, continuum web* in domain $\mathcal{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ if the maximum principal tension at any point $(S^1, S^2) \in \mathcal{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ satisfies

$$T_{\max}^{p}(S^{1}, S^{2}) < 0 \text{ for } (S^{1}, S^{2}) \in \mathcal{D}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}.$$
 (7.96)

A continuum web is called *a globally free continuum web* if all domains $\mathcal{D}_{(k_1,k_2)} \subset \mathcal{D}$ in such a continuum web satisfy Eq.(7.96). The boundary for the free web in the domain $\mathcal{D}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ is determined by

$$T_{\max}^{p}(S^{1}, S^{2}) = 0 \text{ for } (S^{1}, S^{2}) \in \mathcal{D}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}.$$
 (7.97)

7.2. Nonlinear membranes

In the previous section, the web theory was presented. In this section, a theory for nonlinear membranes will be discussed.

Definition 7.13. If a deformable body on the two principal directions of fibers resists the tensile and compressive forces only, the deformable body is called *a deformable membrane*.

Generally speaking, there are three deformable membranes: (i) arch-network membranes, (ii) arch-fabric membranes, and (iii) continuum membranes. The arch-network membranes and arch-fabric membranes are of non-continuum. The continuum membrane is called usually the membrane in mechanics. To clarify the concepts, the corresponding definitions are given as follows.

Definition 7.14. A deformable membrane is called *an arch-network membrane* if the deformable membrane is formed by the deformable arch or truss network.

Definition 7.15. A deformable membrane is called *an arch-fabric membrane* if the deformable membrane is continuously formed by the deformable arches or trusses.

Definition 7.16. A deformable membrane is called *a continuum membrane* if the deformable membrane is made by continuous media.

Definition 7.17. A deformable body is called *an arch-reinforced web* if the deformable body is formed by the arch-network membranes and the continuum skin

webs.

The arch-network reinforced web possesses the function of the membranes, so such a reinforced web can be called the *membrane-web*. For instance, the kite structure is a membrane-web structure or the arch-reinforced web. For the structure, the arch-network can be investigated by the arch theory and the continuum skin web can be investigated by the theory of the continuum webs.

To discuss the soft structure combined with continuous webs and noncontinuum membrane, the concept for one-dimensional deformable membrane will be introduced. Such a membrane is a kind of arch-reinforced web, which is also called the *soft membrane*. The definition of the one-dimensional deformable membrane is given as follows.

Definition 7.18. If a deformable body resists the tensile and compressive forces in one principal direction of fibers and the tensile force in the other principal direction, the deformable body is called *a one-dimensional, deformable membrane.*

Definition 7.19. A one-dimensional, deformable membrane is called *a cable-arch network membrane* if the one-dimensional, deformable membrane is formed by the deformable cables (or strings) in a principal direction and the deformable arches (or trusses) in the other principal direction.

Definition 7.20. A one-dimensional, deformable membrane is called *a cable-arch fabric membrane* if the one-dimensional, deformable membrane is continuously formed by deformable cables (or strings) in a principal direction and deformable arches (or trusses) in the other principal direction.

Definition 7.21. A one-dimensional, deformable membrane is called *a one-dimensional, continuum membrane* if the one-dimensional, deformable membrane is made by continuous media.

Definition 7.22. A deformable body is called *a cable-arch reinforced web* if the deformable body is formed by the cable-arch network membranes and the continuous skin webs.

The cables and arches in cable-arch network membranes can be arranged either in order or randomly. Such membranes with the random arrangement will possess more web characteristics. Similarly, the cable-arch reinforced web possesses the more functions as the web with less membrane characteristics.

The cable-arch network and cable-arch fabric membranes are of noncontinuum. For non-continuum membranes, the theory can be described as similar to the non-continuum webs. In Sections 7.1.1–7.1.2, $N_{\alpha} \equiv T_{\alpha}$ for deformable trusses and arches, and for cables and strings, the expression will be of the same. If the membrane consists of network non-continuum membranes and continuum
skin webs, the continuum skin webs can be investigated by the web theory and the reinforced cables and arches can be investigated by the cable and arch theories. The concept of finite elements should be adopted and the corresponding boundary conditions should be considered.

Compared to the deformed webs, a deformable membrane is required to resist compressive internal forces. Thus, the membrane must possess a specific, initial configuration to support such compressive internal forces. This is a main difference between the membrane and continuum web. The continuum membrane can be described as a nonlinear continuous web in Section 7.1.3. Herein, such a description will not be repeated. One can use $N_{\alpha} \equiv T_{\alpha}$ and $N_{\alpha\beta} \equiv T_{\alpha\beta}$ for all equations in Section 7.1.3. In addition, $\ddot{X}^{I} = \dot{X}^{I} = 0$ is admitted because the initial configuration is fixed. However, *the continuum web possesses a dynamical initial dynamical configuration*. In other words, the non-deformable configuration of the web will be changed with time, which is another difference between the continuum webs and membranes.

7.2.1. A membrane theory based on the Cartesian coordinates

As in nonlinear webs, from Eqs.(7.1)–(7.6), the normal membrane force for the nonlinear membrane can be expressed by

$$\overline{N}_{\alpha} = \int_{A_{\alpha}} f_{\alpha}(\mathscr{E}_{\alpha}) dA_{\alpha}.$$
(7.98)

The normal membrane force per unit length is defined as

$$N_{\alpha} = \frac{d\overline{N}_{\alpha}}{dS^{\beta}} = \int_{h_{1}}^{h_{2}} f_{\alpha}(\mathscr{C}_{\alpha})dz \text{ for } \alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\} \text{ and } \alpha \neq \beta.$$
(7.99)

If $\mathscr{E}_{\alpha} = 0$ then $f_{\alpha}(\mathscr{E}_{\alpha}) = 0$. For linear elastic materials,

$$N_{\alpha} = \int_{h_1}^{h_2} E_{\alpha} \mathscr{E}_{\alpha} dz = E_{\alpha} h(\frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \sqrt{(X_{,\alpha}^{\kappa} + u_{,\alpha}^{\kappa})(X_{,\alpha}^{\kappa} + u_{,\alpha}^{\kappa})} - 1).$$
(7.100)

The shear membrane force caused by the twisting is defined as

$$\overline{N}_{\alpha\beta} = \int_{A_{\alpha}} f_{\alpha\beta}(\mathcal{E}_{\alpha\beta}) dA_{\alpha} \text{ for } \alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\} \text{ and } \alpha \neq \beta,$$
(7.101)

where $\mathcal{E}_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \gamma_{\alpha\beta}$. $\overline{N}_{\alpha\beta}$ represents a shear membrane force on the α -surface with a normal direction (\mathbf{n}_{α}) and its direction is the same as the direction of \mathbf{n}_{β} . If $\alpha = \beta$, $\mathcal{E}_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ and the foregoing equation reduces to Eq.(7.98) for the normal membrane force only. The shear membrane force per unit length can be defined by

7 Nonlinear Webs, Membranes and Shells

$$N_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{d\overline{N}_{\alpha\beta}}{dS^{\beta}} = \int_{h_{1}}^{h_{2}} f_{\alpha\beta}(\mathscr{E}_{\alpha\beta})dz \text{ for } \alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\} \text{ and } \alpha \neq \beta.$$
(7.102)

For linear elastic materials,

$$N_{\alpha\beta} = \int_{h_1}^{h_2} \mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta} \mathscr{E}_{\alpha\beta} dz = \mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta} h \gamma_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(7.103)

The shear membrane forces per unit length will be simply called *the membrane* shear on the α -cross section.

As in Eqs.(7.80)–(7.83), the membrane force vector on the S^{α} -surface is

$$\mathcal{N}_{\alpha} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} + N_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} \equiv N_{\alpha}^{T} \mathbf{I}_{T}, \qquad (7.104)$$

$$N_{\alpha}^{I} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} + N_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = N_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{I})} + N_{\alpha\beta} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta},\mathbf{I}_{I})}$$
$$= \frac{N_{\alpha}(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1 + \mathscr{E}_{\alpha})} + \frac{N_{\alpha\beta}(X_{,\beta}^{I} + u_{,\beta}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta}}(1 + \mathscr{E}_{\beta})}.$$
(7.105)

Equation of motion in a domain $(S^1, S^2) \in \mathcal{D}_{(k_1, k_2)}$ for (I = 1, 2, 3) is

$$\rho_0 h \mathbf{u}_{,tt} \sin \Theta_{(S^1, S^2)} = \mathbf{q}_{(k_1, k_2)} + \mathcal{N}_{\alpha, \alpha}, \text{ or} \rho_0 h u_{,tt}^I \sin \Theta_{(S^1, S^2)} = q_{(k_1, k_2)}^I + N_{\alpha, \alpha}^I.$$
(7.106)

The foregoing equation is rewritten as

$$\rho_{0}hu_{,tt}^{I}\sin\Theta_{(S^{1},S^{2})} = q_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{I} + \left[\frac{N_{\alpha}(X_{,\alpha}^{I}+u_{,\alpha}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1+\mathscr{E}_{\alpha})} + \frac{N_{\alpha\beta}(X_{,\beta}^{I}+u_{,\beta}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta}}(1+\mathscr{E}_{\beta})}\right]_{,\alpha},$$
(7.107)

where summation on α , $\beta = 1, 2$ and $\alpha \neq \beta$ should be done.

The corresponding force condition at a point $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ with $S^i = A^i_{(k_1,k_2)}$ is

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \mathcal{N}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2})=(A^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, A^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \mathcal{N}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2})=(A^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, A^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} + \mathbf{F}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})} = 0,$$
(7.108)

or

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \left[\left[N_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + N_{\beta\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \right] \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{I}_{I})} \right|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (A_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{1}, A_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{2})} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \left[\left[N_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + N_{\beta\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \right] \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{I}_{I})} \right]_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (A_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{1}, A_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{2})} + F_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{I}.$$
(7.109)

The force boundary condition at the boundary point $\mathscr{P}_{(r_1,r_2)}$ is

286

7.2. Nonlinear membranes

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \mathcal{N}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (B^{1}_{(\eta, \tau_{2})}, B^{2}_{(\eta, \tau_{2})})} + \mathbf{F}_{(r_{1}, r_{2})} = 0$$
(7.110)

or

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} [N_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + N_{\beta\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2})] \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{I}_{I})} \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (B^{1}_{(\tau_{1}, \tau_{2})}, B^{2}_{(\tau_{1}, \tau_{2})})} + F^{I}_{(\tau_{1}, \tau_{2})} = 0.$$
(7.111)

The force boundary conditions on the membrane edge is given by

$$\left(\mathcal{N}_{\alpha} + \frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}} \int \mathcal{N}_{\beta} dS^{\alpha}\right)\Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + \mathbf{F}(S^{\beta}) = 0,$$
(7.112)

or

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}} \int N_{\beta} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta},\mathbf{I}_{I})} dS^{\alpha} \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + N_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{I})} \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + F^{I}(S^{\beta}) = 0.$$
(7.113)

The displacement continuity and boundary conditions are given as in Eqs.(7.57) and (7.58).

If the coordinates (S^{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$) are orthogonal, equation of motion is

$$\rho_0 h \mathbf{u}_{,tt} = \mathbf{q}_{(k_1, k_2)} + \mathcal{N}_{\alpha, \alpha}, \qquad (7.114)$$

or

$$\rho h u_{,tt}^{l} = q_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{l} + \left[\frac{N_{\alpha}(X_{,\alpha}^{l} + u_{,\alpha}^{l})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1 + \mathscr{E}_{\alpha})} + \frac{N_{\alpha\beta}(X_{,\beta}^{l} + u_{,\beta}^{l})}{\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta}}(1 + \mathscr{E}_{\beta})} \right]_{,\alpha}$$
(7.115)

with summation on α , $\beta = 1, 2$ and $\alpha \neq \beta$. For a flat membrane, $G_{\alpha\alpha} = 1$. Thus, equation (7.114) becomes

$$\rho h u_{,tt}^{l} = q_{(k_1,k_2)}^{l} + \left[\frac{N_{\alpha}(\delta_{\alpha}^{l} + u_{,\alpha}^{l})}{(1 + \mathcal{E}_{\alpha})} + \frac{N_{\alpha\beta}(\delta_{\beta}^{l} + u_{,\beta}^{l})}{(1 + \mathcal{E}_{\beta})} \right]_{,\alpha}.$$
(7.116)

7.2.2. A membrane theory based on the curvilinear coordinates

Consider a material particle $P(X^1, X^2, X^3)$ in an initial configuration of a membrane at the initial state shown in Fig.7.6. The position **R** of the material particle is described by X^{\prime} :



Fig.7.6 A material particle P on an initial configuration of a nonlinear membrane.

$$\mathbf{R} = X^{T}(S^{1}, S^{2})\mathbf{I}_{T} \equiv X^{1}\mathbf{I}_{1} + X^{2}\mathbf{I}_{2} + X^{3}\mathbf{I}_{3},$$
(7.117)

where I_{κ} are unit vectors in the fixed coordinates. In the local curvilinear reference frame, the position **R** is represented by

$$\mathbf{R} = S^{\alpha} \mathbf{G}_{\alpha} \equiv S^{1} \mathbf{G}_{1} + S^{2} \mathbf{G}_{2}, \qquad (7.118)$$

where the component $S^{\alpha} = \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{G}^{\alpha}$ (also see, Chapter 3) and the initial base vectors $\mathbf{G}_{\alpha} \equiv \mathbf{G}_{\alpha}(S^1, S^2)$ ($\alpha = 1, 2$) are

$$\mathbf{G}_{\alpha} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{R}}{\partial S^{\alpha}} = \frac{\partial X^{M}(S^{1}, S^{2})}{\partial S^{\alpha}} \mathbf{I}_{M} = X^{M}_{,\alpha} \mathbf{I}_{M}, \qquad (7.119)$$

with magnitudes

$$\left|\mathbf{G}_{\alpha}\left(\mathbf{X}\right)\right| = \sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}} = \sqrt{X_{,\alpha}^{I} X_{,\alpha}^{I}} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{\partial X^{1}}{\partial S^{\alpha}}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial X^{2}}{\partial S^{\alpha}}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial X^{3}}{\partial S^{\alpha}}\right)^{2}}$$
(7.120)

and

$$\mathbf{G}_{3}(S^{1}, S^{2}) = \frac{\mathbf{G}_{1} \times \mathbf{G}_{2}}{|\mathbf{G}_{1} \times \mathbf{G}_{2}|},$$
(7.121)

without summation on α and

$$G_{\alpha\beta} = \mathbf{G}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{\beta} = X_{,\alpha}^{I} X_{,\beta}^{I}$$
$$= \frac{\partial X^{1}}{\partial S^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial X^{1}}{\partial S^{\beta}} + \frac{\partial X^{2}}{\partial S^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial X^{2}}{\partial S^{\beta}} + \frac{\partial X^{3}}{\partial S^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial X^{3}}{\partial S^{\beta}}$$
(7.122)

are metric tensors in the initial configuration. If the two base vectors are orthogonal, $G_{\alpha\beta} = 0$.

On the deformed configuration of the membrane, a particle at point *P* moves through displacement **u** to position *p*, and the particle *Q*, infinitesimally close to $P(S^1, S^2)$, moves through $\mathbf{u} + d\mathbf{u}$ to *q* in the neighborhood of $p(S^1, S^2)$, as illustrated in Fig.7.7. The position of point *p* is for $\alpha = 1, 2$

$$\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{R} + \mathbf{u} = (S^{\alpha} + u^{\alpha})\mathbf{G}_{\alpha} + u^{3}\mathbf{G}_{3}, \qquad (7.123)$$

where $\mathbf{u} = u^{\Lambda} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}$ ($\Lambda = 1, 2, 3$). Thus, $\overline{PQ} = d\mathbf{R}$ and $\overline{pq} = d\mathbf{r}$ are

$$d\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{G}_{\alpha} dS^{\alpha}, \ d\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{G}_{\alpha} dS^{\alpha} + d\mathbf{u}; \tag{7.124}$$

and the infinitesimal displacement is

$$d\mathbf{u} = u^{\beta}_{;\alpha} dS^{\alpha} \mathbf{G}_{\beta} = (u^{\beta}_{,\alpha} + \Gamma^{\beta}_{\alpha\gamma} u^{\gamma}) dS^{\alpha} \mathbf{G}_{\beta}$$
$$= u_{\beta;\alpha} dS^{\alpha} \mathbf{G}^{\beta} = (u_{\beta,\alpha} - \Gamma^{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta} u_{\gamma}) dS^{\alpha} \mathbf{G}^{\beta}, \qquad (7.125)$$

where

$$\mathbf{G}^{\alpha} = G^{\alpha\beta}\mathbf{G}_{\beta}, \ G^{\alpha\beta} = \frac{\text{cofactor}(G_{\alpha\beta})}{G},$$

$$G = \det(G_{\alpha\beta}), \ u_{\alpha} = G_{\alpha\beta}u^{\beta}$$
(7.126)

and

$$\Gamma^{\beta}_{\alpha\gamma} = \frac{\partial^2 X^I}{\partial S^{\alpha} \partial S^{\gamma}} \frac{\partial S^{\beta}}{\partial X^I}$$
(7.127)

is the Christoffel symbol defined in Chapter 2 (also see, Eringen, 1967). The semicolon represents covariant partial differentiation.

From Eqs.(7.124) and (7.125),

$$d\mathbf{r} = (u_{;\alpha}^{\beta} \mathbf{G}_{\beta} + \mathbf{G}_{\alpha}) dS^{\alpha} = dS^{\alpha} \mathbf{g}_{\alpha};$$

$$\mathbf{g}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\partial \mathbf{r}}{\partial S^{\alpha}} = u_{;\alpha}^{\beta} \mathbf{G}_{\beta} + \mathbf{G}_{\alpha} = (u_{;\alpha}^{\beta} + \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta}) \mathbf{G}_{\beta}.$$
 (7.128)

The Lagrangian strain tensor $E_{\alpha\beta}$ referred to the initial configuration is

$$E_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} (u_{\alpha;\beta} + u_{\alpha;\beta} + u_{\alpha'}^{\gamma} u_{\gamma;\beta}).$$
(7.129)

As in Eringen (1962), the change in length of $d\mathbf{R}$ per unit length gives



Fig. 7.7 Deformation of a differential linear element.

$$\mathscr{E}_{\alpha} = \frac{\left| \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{\alpha} \right| - \left| \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{\alpha} \right|}{\left| \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{\alpha} \right|} = \sqrt{1 + \frac{2E_{\alpha\alpha}}{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} - 1, \tag{7.130}$$

where \mathscr{C}_{α} is the relative elongation changing with dS^{α} . The unit vectors along $d\mathbf{R}$ and $d\mathbf{r}$ in Chapter 3 are

$$\mathbf{N}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\mathbf{G}_{\alpha}}{|\mathbf{G}_{\alpha}|} = \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{|d\mathbf{R}|} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \mathbf{G}_{\alpha},$$

$$\mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\mathbf{g}_{\alpha}}{|\mathbf{g}_{\alpha}|} = \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{r}|} = \frac{\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} + u_{;\alpha}^{\beta}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha}}} \mathbf{G}_{\beta}.$$
(7.131)

Let $\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})}$ and $\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}$ be the induced angles between \mathbf{n}_{α} and \mathbf{n}_{β} before and after deformation,

$$\cos \Theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})} \equiv \cos(\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})} - \gamma_{\alpha\beta})$$

$$= \frac{d\mathbf{r} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{r}|| d\mathbf{r}_{\beta}|} = \frac{G_{\alpha\beta} + 2E_{\alpha\beta}}{\sqrt{(G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha})(G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta})}}, \quad (7.132)$$

$$\cos \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})} = \frac{d\mathbf{R} \cdot d\mathbf{R}}{|d\mathbf{R}|| d\mathbf{R}|} = \frac{G_{\alpha\beta}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}G_{\beta\beta}}};$$

7.2. Nonlinear membranes

and the shear strain is

$$\gamma_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})} - \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}$$
$$= \cos^{-1} \frac{G_{\alpha\beta}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}G_{\beta\beta}}} - \cos^{-1} \frac{G_{\alpha\beta} + 2E_{\alpha\beta}}{\sqrt{(G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha})(G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta})}}.$$
(7.133)

From Eq.(7.131), the direction cosine of the rotation without summation on α and β is

$$\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})} = \frac{d\mathbf{R} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{R}||d\mathbf{r}|} = \frac{G_{\alpha\beta} + u_{\alpha;\beta}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta}}}.$$
(7.134)

In addition, the change ratio of areas before and after deformation is

$$\frac{\frac{da}{\alpha\beta}}{\frac{dA}{\alpha\beta}} = \frac{(1 + \mathcal{E}_{\alpha})(1 + \mathcal{E}_{\beta})\sin\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}}{\sin\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})}},$$
(7.135)

where $da_{\alpha\beta} = | d\mathbf{r} \times d\mathbf{r} |$ and $dA_{\alpha\beta} = | d\mathbf{R} \times d\mathbf{R} |$.

Similarly, the membrane forces per unit length are given by Eq.(7.99) and (7.102). Only the strains are replaced by those in the curvilinear frame. The membrane force vector on the S^{Λ} -direction surface ($\Lambda = 1, 2, 3$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\}$) can be expressed by

$$\mathcal{N}_{\alpha} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} + N_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} \equiv N_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}, \qquad (7.136)$$

and

$$N_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} + N_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}$$

= $N_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})} + N_{\alpha\beta} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta}, \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})}$
= $\frac{N_{\alpha} (G_{\Lambda\alpha} + u_{\Lambda;\alpha})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}} \sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}} (1 + \mathcal{E}_{\alpha})} + \frac{N_{\alpha\beta} (G_{\Lambda\beta} + u_{\Lambda;\beta})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}} \sqrt{G_{\beta\beta}} (1 + \mathcal{E}_{\beta})}.$ (7.137)

On the initial configuration, the external concentrated force on point $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ and distributed force on domain $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ are defined as

$$\mathbf{q}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} = q_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{\Lambda}(S^{1}, S^{2})\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} \quad \text{for } (S^{1}, S^{2}) \in \mathscr{P}_{(k_{1},k_{2})},$$

$$\mathbf{F}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} = F_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{\Lambda}(S^{1}, S^{2})\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} \quad \text{for } (S^{1}, S^{2}) \in \mathscr{P}_{(k_{1},k_{2})},$$
(7.138)

and on the deformed configuration, the forces are defined as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{f}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} &= f_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{\Lambda}(s^{1},s^{2})\mathbf{n}_{\Lambda} \quad \text{for } (s^{1},s^{2}) \in \boldsymbol{\rho}_{(k_{1},k_{2})}, \\ \mathbf{p}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} &= p_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{\Lambda}(s^{1},s^{2})\mathbf{n}_{\Lambda} \quad \text{for } (s^{1},s^{2}) \in \boldsymbol{d}_{(k_{1},k_{2})}, \end{aligned}$$
(7.139)

The corresponding relations between the two forces are

$$\mathbf{F}_{(k_1,k_2)} = \mathbf{f}_{(k_1,k_2)} \text{ and } \mathbf{p}_{(k_1,k_2)} = \frac{\sin\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_1,\mathbf{N}_2)}}{(1+\epsilon_1)(1+\epsilon_2)\sin\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_1,\mathbf{n}_2)}} \mathbf{q}_{(k_1,k_2)}.$$
(7.140)

From the normal and shear membrane forces, equation of motion for a domain $(S^1, S^2) \in \mathcal{D}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ for $(\Lambda = 1, 2, 3 \text{ and } \alpha = 1, 2)$ is

$$\rho_0 h \mathbf{u}_{,t} \sin \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_1, \mathbf{N}_2)} = \mathbf{q}_{(k_1, k_2)} + \mathcal{N}_{\alpha; \alpha},$$

or $\rho_0 h u_{\Lambda, tt} \sin \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_1, \mathbf{N}_2)} = q_{(k_1, k_2)}^{\Lambda} + N_{\alpha; \alpha}^{\Lambda}.$ (7.141)

The foregoing equation is rewritten as

$$\rho_{0}hu_{\Lambda,\alpha}\sin\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{1},\mathbf{N}_{2})} = q_{(k_{1},k_{2})}^{\Lambda} + \left[\frac{N_{\alpha}(G_{\Lambda\alpha} + u_{\Lambda;\alpha})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1 + \mathscr{E}_{\alpha})} + \frac{N_{\alpha\beta}(G_{\Lambda\beta} + u_{\Lambda;\beta})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta}}(1 + \mathscr{E}_{\beta})}\right]_{;\alpha},$$
(7.142)

where summation on α , $\beta = 1, 2$ and $\alpha \neq \beta$ should be done. The foregoing equation is expanded for $\alpha = 1, 2$ as

$$\rho h u_{\alpha,\mu} \sin \Theta_{(N_1,N_2)}$$

$$= q_{(k_1,k_2)}^{\alpha} + \left[\frac{N_1(G_{\alpha 1} + u_{\alpha;1})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha \alpha}} \sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \epsilon_1)} + \frac{N_{12}(G_{\alpha 2} + u_{\alpha;2})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha \alpha}} \sqrt{G_{22}} (1 + \epsilon_2)} \right]_{;1}$$

$$+ \left[\frac{N_{12}(G_{\alpha 1} + u_{\alpha;1})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha \alpha}} \sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \epsilon_1)} + \frac{N_{22}(G_{\alpha 2} + u_{\alpha;2})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha \alpha}} \sqrt{G_{22}} (1 + \epsilon_2)} \right]_{;2}$$
(7.143)

$$\rho h u_{3,u} \sin \Theta_{(N_1,N_2)} = q_{(k_1,k_2)}^3 + \left[\frac{N_1 u_{3;1}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1+\ell_1)} + \frac{N_{12} u_{3;2}}{\sqrt{G_{22}} (1+\ell_2)} \right]_{;1} + \left[\frac{N_{12} u_{3;1}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1+\ell_1)} + \frac{N_{22} u_{3;2}}{\sqrt{G_{22}} (1+\ell_2)} \right]_{;2}.$$
(7.144)

Similarly, the corresponding force condition at a point $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ with $S^i = A^i_{(k_1,k_2)}$ is

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \left. \left. \mathcal{N}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \right|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \left. \left. \mathcal{N}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \right|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} + \mathbf{F}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})} = 0,$$
(7.145)

or

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} [{}^{-}N_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + {}^{-}N_{\beta\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2})] \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})} \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2})=(\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})}$$

= $\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} [{}^{+}N_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + {}^{+}N_{\beta\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2})] \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})} \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2})=(\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} + F^{\Lambda}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}.$ (7.146)

The force boundary condition at the boundary point $\mathscr{P}_{(r_1,r_2)}$ is

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \mathcal{N}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (B^{1}_{(\eta, \gamma_{2})}, B^{2}_{(\eta, \gamma_{2})})} + \mathbf{F}_{(\eta, \gamma_{2})} = 0$$
(7.147)

or

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} [N_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + N_{\beta\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2})] \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})} \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (B^{1}_{(\eta, \tau_{2})}, B^{2}_{(\eta, \tau_{2})})} + F^{\Lambda}_{(r_{1}, r_{2})} = 0.$$
(7.148)

The force boundary condition on the membrane edge is

$$\left(\mathcal{N}_{\alpha} + \frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}} \int \mathcal{N}_{\beta} dS^{\alpha}\right)\Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + \mathbf{F}(S^{\beta}) = 0, \tag{7.149}$$

or

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}} \int N_{\beta} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta}, \mathbf{N}_{\lambda})} dS^{\alpha} \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + N_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{N}_{\lambda})} \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + F^{\Lambda}(S^{\beta}) = 0.$$
(7.150)

The displacement continuity and boundary conditions are

$${}^{+}u^{\Lambda}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} = {}^{-}u^{\Lambda}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} \text{ and } {}^{+}X^{\Lambda}_{(k_{1},k_{2})} = {}^{-}X^{\Lambda}_{(k_{1},k_{2})}.$$
(7.151)

The displacement boundary condition at a boundary point $\mathscr{P}_{(r_i, r_2)}$ is

$$u_{(r_1,r_2)}^{\Lambda} = b_{(r_1,r_2)}^{\Lambda} \text{ and } X_{(r_1,r_2)}^{\Lambda} = B_{(r_1,r_2)}^{\Lambda}.$$
(7.152)

7.3. Nonlinear shells

The theories for webs and membranes were presented in the previous two sections. In this section, a theory for nonlinear shells will be presented. As in the membrane theory, based on the Cartesian coordinates and a curvilinear frame on the initial configuration, the theory of nonlinear shells will be presented. The general theory will reduce to the existing theories.

Definition 7.23. If a deformable body on the two principal directions of fibers resists the internal forces and bending moments, the deformable body is called *a deformable shell*.

For the similar discussion of membranes, the shell-like structures can be classified. The five shell-like structures are: (i) rod-network shell, (ii) rod-fabric shell, (iii) continuum shell, (iv) rod-reinforced membranes and (v) rod-reinforced web.

Definition 7.24. A deformable shell is called *a rod-network shell* if the deformable shell is formed by the deformable rod or beam network.

Definition 7.25. A deformable shell is called *a rod-fabric shell* if the deformable shell is continuously formed by the deformable rods or beams.

Definition 7.26. A deformable shell is called *a continuum shell* if the deformable shell is made by continuous media.

Definition 7.27. A deformable body is called *a rod-reinforced membrane* if the deformable body is formed by rod-network shells and continuum membranes.

Definition 7.28. A deformable body is called *a rod-reinforced web* if the deformable body is formed by rod-network membranes and continuum skin webs.

The rod-network reinforced membrane possesses the functions of shells. Thus, such a reinforced membrane can be called the *shell-membrane*. Such a *shell-membrane* structure is often used in aircrafts and chemical containers. In such a structure, the rod-network can be investigated by the rod (or beam) theory, and the continuum membranes can be investigated by the theory of continuum membranes. The rod and beam theories will be presented in next chapter. The rod-network reinforced web possesses the functions of shells, but such a reinforced web is framed by the rod-network, which can be called the *shell-web*. For instance, the balloon structures or umbrella-type structures are of the shell-web structure or the rod-reinforced webs. In that structure, the rod-network can be investigated by the theory of the continuum skin web can be also investigated by the theory of the continuum webs.

To discuss the soft structure combined with continuum webs and shells, the concept for one-dimensional deformable shells will be introduced. Such a shell is a kind of rod-reinforced webs, as called the *soft shell*. The one-dimensional deformable shell is defined as follows.

Definition 7.29. If a deformable body resists the tensile, compressive forces, bending and torsion moments in one principal direction of fibers and the tensile force in the other principal direction, the deformable body is called *a one-dimensional, deformable shell.*

Definition 7.30. A one-dimensional, deformable *shell* is called *a cable-rod net-work shell* if the one-dimensional, deformable shell is formed by the deformable cables (or strings) in a principal direction and the deformable beams in the other principal direction.

Definition 7.31. A one-dimensional, deformable shell is called *a cable-rod fabric shell* if the one-dimensional, deformable shell is continuously formed by deformable cables (or strings) in a principal direction and deformable beams in the other principal direction.

Definition 7.32. A one-dimensional, deformable shell is called *a one-dimensional, continuum shell* if the one-dimensional, deformable cable-shell is made by continuous media.

Definition 7.33. A deformable body is called *a cable-rod reinforced web* if the deformable body is formed by cable-rod network shells and continuum skin webs.

Definition 7.34. A deformable body is called *a cable-arch-rod reinforced web* if the deformable body is formed by a cable-arch-rod network deformable body and continuum skin webs.

The cables and arches in cable-rod or cable-arch-rod network deformable body can be arranged either in order or randomly. Such a deformable body with the random arrangement has more web characteristics. Similarly, the reinforced deformable structures, formed by cables, arches, rods, continuous membranes and shells can be discussed. The reinforced deformable webs, membranes and shells can be investigated through finite elements. Herein, the theory for continuous shells will be developed only.

7.3.1. A shell theory based on the Cartesian coordinates

Since a deformable shell can support internal forces and bending moments, the shell like a membrane must possesses a specific, initial configuration to resist such internal forces and moments. But the membrane cannot resist any moments. Again, $\ddot{X} = \dot{X} = 0$ because the initial configuration of the shell is fixed. Consider a material particle $P(X^1, X^2, X^3)$ in an initial configuration of a shell at the initial state shown in Fig.7.8. As in Eqs.(7.117)–(7.121) for the membranes, the position **R** of the material particle in the initial configuration of the shell is described by X^K :

$$\mathbf{R} = X^{T} (S^{1}, S^{2}, S^{3}) \mathbf{I}_{T} \equiv X^{1} \mathbf{I}_{1} + X^{2} \mathbf{I}_{2} + X^{3} \mathbf{I}_{3},$$
(7.153)

where I_1 are unit vectors in the fixed coordinates. In the membrane theory, only two curvilinear coordinates are considered. However, for shells, three curvilinear should be considered for resisting the transverse shear forces and moments. Thus, in the local curvilinear reference frame, the position vector **R** is represented by

$$\mathbf{R} = S^{\Lambda} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} \equiv S^{1} \mathbf{G}_{1} + S^{2} \mathbf{G}_{2} + S^{3} \mathbf{G}_{3}, \qquad (7.154)$$



Fig. 7.8 A material particle P on an initial configuration of a nonlinear shell.

where the component $S^{\alpha} = \mathbf{R} \cdot \mathbf{G}^{\alpha}$ and the corresponding initial base vectors $\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} \equiv \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}(S^1, S^2, S^3)$ ($\Lambda = 1, 2, 3$) are

$$\mathbf{G}_{\alpha} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{R}}{\partial S^{\alpha}} = \frac{\partial X^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2})}{\partial S^{\alpha}} \mathbf{I}_{I} = X_{,\alpha}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I},$$

$$\mathbf{N}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\mathbf{G}_{\alpha}}{|\mathbf{G}_{\alpha}|} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} X_{,\alpha}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I}$$
(7.155)

with magnitude

$$\left|\mathbf{G}_{\alpha}\right| = \sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}} = \sqrt{X_{,\alpha}^{\prime} X_{,\alpha}^{\prime}} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{\partial X^{1}}{\partial S^{\alpha}}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial X^{2}}{\partial S^{\alpha}}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial X^{3}}{\partial S^{\alpha}}\right)^{2}}$$
(7.156)

and the metric tensors in the initial configuration for $\alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ are

$$G_{\alpha\beta} = \mathbf{G}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{\beta} = X_{,\alpha}^{T} X_{,\beta}^{T}$$
$$= \frac{\partial X^{1}}{\partial S^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial X^{1}}{\partial S^{\beta}} + \frac{\partial X^{2}}{\partial S^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial X^{2}}{\partial S^{\beta}} + \frac{\partial X^{3}}{\partial S^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial X^{3}}{\partial S^{\beta}}.$$
(7.157)

The equations in Eqs.(7.153)–(7.157) are similar to Eqs.(7.117)–(7.121).

7.3.1a Shell strains

On the deformed configuration, the particle at point P moves through displacement **u** to position p, and the particle Q, infinitesimally close to $P(S^1, S^2, S^3)$, moves through $\mathbf{u} + d\mathbf{u}$ to q in the neighborhood of $p(S^1, S^2, S^3)$, as illustrated in Fig.7.7. The corresponding position of point p is expressed from the rectangular coordinates instead of the curvilinear coordinates, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{R} + \mathbf{u} = (X^{T} + u^{T})\mathbf{I}_{T}.$$
(7.158)

The corresponding infinitesimal line elements $\overline{PQ} = d\mathbf{R}$ and $\overline{pq} = d\mathbf{r}$ are expressed ($\alpha = 1, 2, 3$) by

$$d\mathbf{R} = X_{,\alpha}^{I} dS^{\alpha} \mathbf{I}_{I}, \ d\mathbf{u} = u_{,\alpha}^{I} dS^{\alpha} \mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(7.159)

Thus,

$$d\mathbf{r} = (X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})dS^{\alpha}\mathbf{I}_{I}, \ \mathbf{g}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\partial \mathbf{r}}{\partial S^{\alpha}} = (X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})\mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(7.160)

As in Eqs.(7.5) and (7.6), the strains based on the change in length of $d\mathbf{R}$ per unit length give

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha} = \frac{\left| \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{\alpha} \right| - \left| \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{\alpha} \right|}{\left| \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{\alpha} \right|} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \sqrt{(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})} - 1$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha}} - 1.$$
(7.161)

The Lagrangian strain tensor $E_{\alpha\beta}$ referred to the initial configuration is

$$E_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} (X_{,\alpha}^{I} u_{,\beta}^{I} + X_{,\beta}^{I} u_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I} u_{,\beta}^{I}).$$
(7.162)

Because of the shear forces, the shear deformation of the shell should be developed. As similar to Eqs.(7.131)–(7.134), the shear strains can be expressed except for the expression of $E_{\alpha\beta}$. Thus, the corresponding expressions are given as follows. The unit vectors along $d\mathbf{R}$ and $d\mathbf{r}$ in Chapter 3 are expressed by

$$\mathbf{N}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\mathbf{G}_{\alpha}}{|\mathbf{G}_{\alpha}|} = \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{|\mathbf{d}\mathbf{R}|} = \frac{X_{,\alpha}^{l}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \mathbf{I}_{l},$$

$$\mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\mathbf{g}_{\alpha}}{|\mathbf{g}_{\alpha}|} = \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{|\mathbf{d}\mathbf{r}|} = \frac{X_{,\alpha}^{l} + u_{,\alpha}^{l}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha}}} \mathbf{I}_{l}.$$
(7.163)

In the similar fashion, the angles between \mathbf{n}_{α} and \mathbf{n}_{β} before and after deformation are expressed by $\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})}$ and $\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}$, i.e.,

$$\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})} \equiv \cos(\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})} - \gamma_{\alpha\beta})$$

7 Nonlinear Webs, Membranes and Shells

$$= \frac{\frac{d\mathbf{r} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{\beta}}{|\frac{d\mathbf{r}}{\alpha}||\frac{d\mathbf{r}}{\beta}|} = \frac{G_{\alpha\beta} + 2E_{\alpha\beta}}{\sqrt{(G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha})(G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta})}}$$
$$= \frac{(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,\beta}^{I} + u_{,\beta}^{I})}{\sqrt{(G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha})(G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta})}},$$
(7.164)
$$\cos\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})} = \frac{\frac{d\mathbf{R} \cdot d\mathbf{R}}{\beta}}{|\frac{d\mathbf{R}}{\alpha}||\frac{d\mathbf{R}}{\beta}|} = \frac{G_{\alpha\beta}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}G_{\beta\beta}} = \frac{X_{,\alpha}^{I}X_{,\beta}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}G_{\beta\beta}}$$

and the corresponding shear strain is defined by

$$\gamma_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})} - \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}$$

$$= \cos^{-1} \frac{G_{\alpha\beta}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}G_{\beta\beta}}} - \cos^{-1} \frac{G_{\alpha\beta} + 2E_{\alpha\beta}}{\sqrt{(G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha})(G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta})}}$$

$$= \cos^{-1} \frac{X_{,\alpha}^{l}X_{,\beta}^{l}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}G_{\beta\beta}}} - \cos^{-1} \frac{(X_{,\alpha}^{l} + u_{,\alpha}^{l})(X_{,\beta}^{l} + u_{,\beta}^{l})}{\sqrt{(G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha})(G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta})}}.$$
(7.165)

Consider the base vector G_3 to be normal to the plane of G_1 and G_2 in the curvilinear coordinates, which is defined by

$$\mathbf{G}_3 \equiv \frac{\mathbf{G}_1 \times \mathbf{G}_2}{G}$$
 and $G_{\alpha 3} = 0$ for $\alpha = 1, 2.$ (7.166)

From the foregoing definition,

$$\mathbf{G}_{3} = X_{,3}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \frac{1}{G} (X_{,1}^{\text{mod}(I,3)+1} X_{,2}^{\text{mod}(I+1,3)+1} - X_{,2}^{\text{mod}(I,3)+1} X_{,1}^{\text{mod}(I+1,3)+1}) \mathbf{I}_{I}$$
(7.167)

and

$$G = |\mathbf{G}_1 \times \mathbf{G}_2| = \sqrt{G_{11}G_{22} - G_{12}} \text{ and } G_{33} = 1.$$
 (7.168)

If \mathbf{G}_1 and \mathbf{G}_2 are orthogonal, one obtains $G_{12} = 0$ and $G = \sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}$.

From Eq.(7.163), the direction cosine of the rotation without summation on α and β is

$$\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})} = \frac{d\mathbf{R} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{R}||d\mathbf{r}|} = \frac{X_{,\alpha}^{I} X_{,\beta}^{I} + X_{,\alpha}^{I} u_{,\beta}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}} \sqrt{G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta}}}.$$
(7.169)

In addition, the change ratio of areas before and after deformation is

298

$$\frac{\frac{da}{\alpha\beta}}{\frac{dA}{\alpha\beta}} = \frac{(1+\varepsilon_{\alpha})(1+\varepsilon_{\beta})\sin\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}}{\sin\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})}},$$
(7.170)

where $da_{\alpha\beta} = |d\mathbf{r} \times d\mathbf{r}_{\beta}|$ and $dA_{\alpha\beta} = |d\mathbf{R} \times d\mathbf{R}_{\beta}|$.

For reduction of a three dimensional deformable body theory to a shell theory, the displacements can be expressed in a Taylor series expanded about the displacement of the middle surface ($S^3 = 0$). The variable z is a variable in the G_3 - direction. Thus, the displacement field for the surface layer for a position **R** with $S^3 = z$ is assumed by

$$u^{I} = u_{0}^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}, t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} z^{n} \varphi_{n}^{(I)}(S^{1}, S^{2}, t),$$
(7.171)

with

$$\mathbf{R} = S^{\mathsf{I}}\mathbf{G}_{1} + S^{2}\mathbf{G}_{2} + z\mathbf{G}_{3} = X^{\mathsf{I}}(S^{\mathsf{I}}, S^{2}, z)\mathbf{I}_{\mathsf{I}},$$

$$\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{R} + \mathbf{u} = X^{\mathsf{I}}(S^{\mathsf{I}}, S^{2}, z)\mathbf{I}_{\mathsf{I}} + u^{\mathsf{I}}(S^{\mathsf{I}}, S^{2}, z)\mathbf{I}_{\mathsf{I}},$$
(7.172)

where u_0^l denotes displacements of the middle surface (or membrane surface), and $\varphi_n^{(l)}$ (n = 1, 2, ...) are rotations. With Eq.(7.157), substitution of Eq.(7.171) into Eqs.(7.161)–(7.165) and collection of like powers of *z* gives

$$\begin{aligned} \varepsilon_{\alpha} &\approx \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{\alpha}}{\partial z} \bigg|_{z=0} z + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{\alpha}}{\partial z^{2}} \bigg|_{z=0} z^{2} + \cdots \\ &= \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)} + \frac{(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I}) \varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}} (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})} z + \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{2[(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I}) \varphi_{2,\alpha}^{(I)}] + \varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)} \varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)}}{G_{\alpha\alpha} (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})} - \frac{[(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I}) \varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)}]^{2}}{G_{\alpha\alpha}^{2} [(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})]^{3}} \right\} z^{2} + \cdots, \end{aligned}$$
(7.173)

$$\varepsilon_{3} \approx \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial z} \Big|_{z=0} z + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial z^{2}} \Big|_{z=0} z^{2} + \cdots$$

$$= \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} + \frac{2(X_{,3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{2}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} z + \left\{ \frac{[2\varphi_{2}^{(I)}\varphi_{2}^{(I)} + 3(X_{,3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{3}^{(I)}]}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} - \frac{2[(X_{,3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{2}^{(I)}]^{2}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} z^{2} + \cdots;$$
(7.174)

$$\gamma_{12} \approx \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \gamma_{12}}{\partial z} \bigg|_{z=0} z + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{12}}{\partial z^2} \bigg|_{z=0} z^2 + \cdots$$

299

7 Nonlinear Webs, Membranes and Shells

$$= \gamma_{12}^{(0)} - \frac{1}{\sin \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{n}_{2})}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})\varphi_{1,2}^{(I)} + (X_{,2}^{I} + u_{0,2}^{I})\varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} - \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{n}_{2})}^{(0)} \left[\frac{(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})\varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{2}} + \frac{(X_{,2}^{I} + u_{0,2}^{I})\varphi_{1,2}^{(I)}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{2}} \right] \right\} z + \cdots,$$
(7.175)

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{\alpha 3} &\approx \gamma_{\alpha 3}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \gamma_{\alpha 3}}{\partial z} \bigg|_{z=0} z + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{\alpha 3}}{\partial z^2} \bigg|_{z=0} z^2 + \cdots \\ &= \gamma_{\alpha 3}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{\alpha 3}^{(0)}} \Biggl\{ \frac{(X_{,\alpha}^I + u_{0,\alpha}^I) \varphi_1^{(I)} + (X_{,3}^I + \varphi_1^{(I)}) \varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha \alpha}} (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)}) (1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} \\ &- \sin \gamma_{\alpha 3}^0 \Biggl[\frac{(X_{,\alpha}^I + u_{0,\alpha}^I) \varphi_{1,\alpha}^{(I)}}{G_{\alpha \alpha} (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})^2} + \frac{2(X_{,3}^I + \varphi_1^{(I)}) \varphi_2^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^2} \Biggr] \Biggr\} z + \cdots, \end{split}$$
(7.176)

where $\alpha = 1, 2$ because of

$$\frac{\partial \gamma_{\alpha\beta}}{\partial z} = \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{\alpha\beta}} \frac{\partial \sin \gamma_{\alpha\beta}}{\partial z},$$

$$\frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{\alpha\beta}}{\partial z^2} = \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{IJ}} \frac{\partial^2 \sin \gamma_{\alpha\beta}}{\partial z^2} + \left(\frac{\partial \gamma_{\alpha\beta}}{\partial z}\right)^2 \tan \gamma_{\alpha\beta}, \cdots.$$
(7.177)

Equations (7.173)-(7.176) at z = 0 gives the strains of the middle surface, i.e.,

$$\begin{aligned} \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \sqrt{(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I})} - 1, \\ \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} &= \sqrt{(X_{,3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})(X_{,3}^{(I)} + \varphi_{1}^{I})} - 1; \\ \gamma_{12}^{(0)} &= \cos^{-1} \frac{X_{,1}^{I} X_{,2}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{11} G_{22}}} - \cos^{-1} \frac{(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})(X_{,2}^{I} + u_{0,2}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{11} G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})}, \\ \gamma_{\alpha3}^{(0)} &= \frac{\pi}{2} - \cos^{-1} \frac{(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}. \end{aligned}$$
(7.178)

In Eqs.(7.173)–(7.176), prediction of strain requires specification of three constraints for determination of the three sets $\varphi_n^{(I)}$ (I = 1, 2, 3; n = 1, 2, ...).

Consider Kirchhoff's assumptions ($\varepsilon_3 = \gamma_{\alpha 3} = 0$) as an example. From Eqs.(7.161) and (7.165), these constraints become

$$(X_{,3}^{I} + u_{,3}^{I})(X_{,3}^{I} + u_{,3}^{I}) = 1,$$

$$(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,3}^{I} + u_{,3}^{I}) = 0.$$
(7.179)

Substitution of Eq.(7.171) into Eqs.(7.179), expansion of them in Taylor series in z and vanishing of the zero-order terms in z gives

$$(X_{,3}^{l} + \varphi_{1}^{(l)})(X_{,3}^{l} + \varphi_{1}^{(l)}) = 1,$$

$$(X_{,\alpha}^{l} + u_{0,\alpha}^{l})(X_{,3}^{l} + \varphi_{1}^{(l)}) = 0.$$

$$(7.180)$$

Form the foregoing equations,

$$X_{,3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)} = \pm \frac{\Delta_{I}}{\Delta} \quad (I = 1, 2, 3),$$
(7.181)

where

$$\Delta_{1} = (X_{,1}^{2} + u_{0,1}^{2})(X_{,2}^{3} + u_{0,2}^{3}) - (X_{,2}^{2} + u_{0,2}^{2})(X_{,1}^{3} + u_{0,1}^{3})$$

$$\Delta_{2} = (X_{,2}^{1} + u_{0,2}^{1})(X_{,1}^{3} + u_{0,1}^{3}) - (X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1})(X_{,2}^{3} + u_{0,2}^{3})$$

$$\Delta_{3} = (X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1})(X_{,2}^{2} + u_{0,2}^{2}) - (X_{,1}^{2} + u_{0,1}^{2})(X_{,2}^{1} + u_{0,2}^{1})$$

$$\Delta = \sqrt{\Delta_{1}^{2} + \Delta_{2}^{2} + \Delta_{3}^{2}}.$$
(7.182)

In application, only the positive (+) in Eq.(7.181) is adopted. From the Taylor series, vanishing of the first order terms in z gives three equations in $\varphi_2^{(I)}$ similar to Eqs.(7.180). The three equations plus $\varphi_1^{(I)}$ give $\varphi_2^{(I)}$; $\varphi_n^{(I)}$ for n = 3, 4, ... can be determined in a like manner. Substitution of all $\varphi_n^{(I)}$ (n = 1, 2, ...) into Eqs.(7.173) and (7.175) generates the normal and shear strains ε_{α} and γ_{12} . The membrane strains are $\varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)} \equiv \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ and $\gamma_{12}^{(0)}$.

7.3.1b Equations of motion for shells

Consider a non-deformed shell subject to the inertia force per unit area $\rho u_{I,tt}$, where $\rho = \int_{-h^-}^{h^+} \rho_0 dz$ and ρ_0 is the density of shell, body force $\mathbf{f} = f^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}$ ($\Lambda = 1, 2, 3$), surface loading { $p_{\Lambda}^+, p_{\Lambda}^-$ }, where the superscripts "+" and "-" denote the upper and lower surfaces, external moment m_0^{α} ($\alpha = 1, 2$) before deformation. From the sign convention, the external and distributed forces are expressed by

$$\mathbf{m} = m^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} = (-1)^{\beta} m^{\alpha} \mathbf{N}_{\beta} \text{ for } \alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\}, \alpha \neq \beta,$$

$$\mathbf{q} = q^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} = q^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} \text{ for } \Lambda \in \{1, 2, 3\}.$$
(7.183)

The components of distributed force and moment are

7 Nonlinear Webs, Membranes and Shells

$$q^{\Lambda} = p_{\Lambda}^{+} - p_{\Lambda}^{-} + \int_{-h^{-}}^{h^{+}} f^{\Lambda} dz \quad (\Lambda = 1, 2, 3),$$

$$m^{\alpha} = m_{0}^{\alpha} + h^{+} p_{\beta}^{+} + h^{-} p_{\beta}^{-} + \int_{-h^{-}}^{h^{+}} f^{\beta} z dz \; (\alpha, \beta \in 1, 2, \alpha \neq \beta),$$
(7.184)

where $m^3 = 0$ and $h = h^+ + h^-$. From Eq.(7.183), the following relations are obtained:

$$m^{I} = m^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = m^{\Lambda} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}, \mathbf{I}_{I})},$$

$$q^{I} = q^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = q^{\Lambda} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}, \mathbf{I}_{I})}.$$
(7.185)

In other words,

$$m^{I} = \frac{X_{,1}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}} m^{1} + \frac{X_{,2}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} m^{2},$$

$$q^{I} = \frac{X_{,1}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}} q^{1} + \frac{X_{,2}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} q^{2} + X_{,3}^{I} q^{3}.$$
(7.186)

The distributed loading after deformation becomes

$$\begin{bmatrix} q^{I*} \\ m^{I*} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{\sin \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_1, \mathbf{N}_2)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_1)(1 + \varepsilon_2)\sin \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_1, \mathbf{n}_2)}} \begin{bmatrix} q^I \\ m^I \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (7.187)

The constitutive laws give the stresses on the deformed configuration as

$$\sigma_{\alpha\beta} = f_{\alpha\beta}(\varepsilon_{MN}, t). \tag{7.188}$$

The internal forces and moments in the deformed shell are defined as

$$N_{\alpha\beta} = \int_{h^{-}}^{h^{+}} \sigma_{\alpha\beta} \left[\sqrt{G_{\alpha'\alpha'}} (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha'})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \sin \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha'},\mathbf{n}_{3})} \right] dz,$$

$$M_{\alpha\beta} = \int_{h^{-}}^{h^{+}} \sigma_{\alpha\beta} \frac{z}{1 + \varphi_{1}^{(I)} X_{,3}^{I}} \left[\sqrt{G_{\alpha'\alpha'}} (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha'})(1 + \varepsilon_{3})^{2} \sin \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha'},\mathbf{n}_{3})} \right] dz,$$

$$Q_{\alpha} = \int_{h^{-}}^{h^{+}} \sigma_{\alpha3} \left[\sqrt{G_{\alpha'\alpha'}} (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha'})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \sin \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha'},\mathbf{n}_{3})} \right] dz,$$
with $\alpha' = \operatorname{mod}(\alpha, 2) + 1,$

$$(7.189)$$

because of

$$\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{3},\mathbf{n}_{3})} = \frac{1 + X_{,3}^{I} u_{,3}^{I}}{\sqrt{1 + 2E_{33}}} \approx \frac{1 + X_{,3}^{I} \varphi_{1}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}},$$
(7.190)

where $N_{\alpha\beta}$ are membrane forces and $M_{\alpha\beta}$ are bending and twisting moments per unit length and $\alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\}$. Before the equation of motion for the shell is developed, the internal force vectors are introduced, i.e.,

302

$$\mathbf{M}_{\alpha} \equiv M_{\alpha}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} = (-1)^{\beta} M_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} + (-1)^{\alpha} M_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha},$$

$$\mathcal{N}_{\alpha} \equiv N_{\alpha}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} + N_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} + Q_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{3},$$

$$^{N} \mathbf{M}_{\alpha} \equiv ^{N} M_{\alpha}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \mathbf{g}_{\alpha} \times \mathcal{N}_{\alpha},$$
(7.191)

with out summation on $\alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\}$ and $\alpha \neq \beta$, where

$$\mathbf{g}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{d\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}}{dS^{\alpha}} = (X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})\mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ and } ^{\mathbf{N}}\mathbf{M}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{1}{dS^{\alpha}}d\mathbf{r}_{\alpha} \times \mathbf{N}_{\alpha}.$$
(7.192)

The components of the internal forces in the X^{T} -direction are

$$N_{\alpha}^{I} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} + N_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} + Q_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{3} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I}$$

$$= N_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{I})} + N_{\alpha\beta} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta},\mathbf{I}_{I})} + Q_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{3},\mathbf{I}_{I})}$$

$$= \frac{N_{\alpha}(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})} + \frac{N_{\alpha\beta}(X_{,\beta}^{I} + u_{0,\beta}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta}}(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta}^{(0)})} + \frac{Q_{\alpha}(X_{,3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}}, \qquad (7.193)$$

$$M_{\alpha}^{I} = (-1)^{\beta} M_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} + (-1)^{\alpha} M_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I}$$

$$= (-1)^{\beta} M_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta},\mathbf{I}_{I})} + (-1)^{\alpha} M_{\alpha\beta} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{I})}$$

$$= (-1)^{\beta} \frac{M_{\alpha} (X_{,\beta}^{I} + u_{0,\beta}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta}} (1 + \varepsilon_{\beta}^{(0)})} + (-1)^{\alpha} \frac{M_{\alpha\beta} (X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{0,\alpha}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}} (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})}, \qquad (7.194)$$

$${}^{N}M_{\alpha}^{I} = (\mathbf{g}_{\alpha} \times \mathcal{N}_{\alpha}) \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = (X_{,\alpha}^{J} + u_{0,\alpha}^{J})N_{\alpha}^{K} - (X_{,\alpha}^{K} + u_{0,\alpha}^{K})N_{\alpha}^{J}$$

$$= (X_{,\alpha}^{J} + u_{0,\alpha}^{J}) \left[\frac{N_{\alpha\beta}(X_{,\beta}^{K} + u_{0,\beta}^{K})}{\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta}(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta}^{(0)})}} + \frac{Q_{\alpha}(X_{,3}^{K} + \varphi_{1}^{(K)})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} \right]$$

$$- (X_{,\alpha}^{K} + u_{0,\alpha}^{K}) \left[\frac{N_{\alpha\beta}(X_{,\beta}^{J} + u_{0,\beta}^{J})}{\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta}(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta}^{(0)})}} + \frac{Q_{\alpha}(X_{,3}^{J} + \varphi_{1}^{(J)})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} \right]$$
(7.195)

for $(I, J, K \in \{1, 2, 3\}, I \neq J \neq K \neq I)$ and the indices (I, J, K) rotate clockwise. Based on the deformed middle surface in the Lagrangian coordinates, the equations of motion for the deformed shell are

$$\mathcal{N}_{\alpha,\alpha} + \mathbf{q} = (\rho \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + I_0 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt}) \sin \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_1,\mathbf{N}_2)},$$

$$\mathbf{M}_{\alpha,\alpha} + {}^{\mathbf{N}} \mathbf{M}_{\alpha} + \mathbf{m} = (I_0 \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + J_0 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt}) \sin \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_1,\mathbf{N}_2)},$$
(7.196)

or for I = 1, 2, 3 with summation on $\alpha = 1, 2,$

$$N_{\alpha,\alpha}^{I} + q^{I} = (\rho u_{0,u}^{I} + I_{3} \varphi_{1,u}^{(I)}) \sin \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{1},\mathbf{N}_{2})},$$

$$M_{\alpha,\alpha}^{I} + {}^{\mathbf{N}}M_{\alpha}^{I} + m^{I} = (I_{3}u_{0,u}^{I} + J_{3} \varphi_{(1),u}^{I}) \sin \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{1},\mathbf{N}_{2})},$$
(7.197)

where $I_3 = \int_{-h^-}^{h^+} \rho_0 z dz$, $J_3 = \int_{-h^-}^{h^+} \rho_0 z^2 dz$. If $h^+ = h^- = h/2$, one obtains $I_3 = 0$ and $J_3 = \rho_0 h^3 / 12$. The equation of motion in Eq.(7.193) is in a form of

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{N_{11}(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{N_{12}(X_{,2}^{I} + u_{0,2}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} + \frac{Q_{1}(X_{,3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} \end{bmatrix}_{,1} \\ + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{N_{21}(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{N_{22}(X_{,2}^{I} + u_{0,2}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} + \frac{Q_{2}(X_{,3}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} \end{bmatrix}_{,2} + q^{I} \\ = (\rho u_{0,tt}^{I} + I_{3}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(I)}) \sin \Theta_{(N_{1},N_{2})}, \qquad (7.198)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{M_{1}(X_{,2}^{I} + u_{0,2}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} - \frac{M_{12}(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \end{bmatrix}_{,1}$$

$$+ \begin{bmatrix} \frac{M_{12}(X_{,2}^{I} + u_{0,2}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} - \frac{M_{2}(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \end{bmatrix}_{,2}$$

$$+ (X_{,1}^{J} + u_{0,1}^{J}) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{N_{12}(X_{,2}^{K} + u_{0,2}^{K})}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} + \frac{Q_{1}(X_{,3}^{K} + \varphi_{1}^{(K)})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$- (X_{,1}^{K} + u_{0,1}^{K}) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{N_{21}(X_{,2}^{J} + u_{0,2}^{J})}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} + \frac{Q_{1}(X_{,3}^{J} + \varphi_{1}^{(J)})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$+ (X_{,2}^{J} + u_{0,2}^{J}) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{N_{12}(X_{,1}^{K} + u_{0,1}^{K})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{Q_{2}(X_{,3}^{K} + \varphi_{1}^{(K)})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$- (X_{,2}^{K} + u_{0,2}^{K}) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{N_{21}(X_{,1}^{J} + u_{0,1}^{J})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{Q_{2}(X_{,3}^{J} + \varphi_{1}^{(J)})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= (I_{3}u_{0,\mu}^{I} + J_{3}\varphi_{1,\mu}^{(I)}) \sin \Theta_{(N_{1},N_{2})}.$$
(7.199)

The balance of equilibrium for shells gives (7.192) or (7.193). They together with (7.173)–(7.178) constitute this approximate nonlinear theory for shells.

The force condition at a point $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ with $S^{\alpha} = A^{\alpha}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ ($\alpha = 1, 2$) is

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \left. \left. \mathcal{N}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \right|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \left. \left. \mathcal{N}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \right|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} + \mathbf{F}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})} = 0,$$
(7.200)

or

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \left. \left. -N_{\alpha}^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \right|_{(S^{1}, S^{2})=(\mathcal{A}_{k_{1}, k_{2}}^{1}), \mathcal{A}_{k_{1}, k_{2}}^{2})} \\ = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \left. \left. +N_{\alpha}^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \right|_{(S^{1}, S^{2})=(\mathcal{A}_{k_{1}, k_{2}}^{1}), \mathcal{A}_{k_{1}, k_{2}}^{2})} + F_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{I}.$$
(7.201)

The force boundary condition at the boundary point $\mathscr{P}_{(r_1,r_2)}$ is

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \mathcal{N}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (B^{1}_{(\eta, r_{2})}, B^{2}_{(\eta, r_{2})})} + \mathbf{F}_{(r_{1}, r_{2})} = 0,$$
(7.202)

or

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} N_{\alpha}^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (B_{(\eta, \tau_{2})}^{1}, B_{(\eta, \tau_{2})}^{2})} + F_{(\tau_{1}, \tau_{2})}^{I} = 0.$$
(7.203)

The force boundary conditions on the shell edge is for $\alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\}$ and $\alpha \neq \beta$.

$$\left(\mathcal{N}_{\alpha}(S^{1},S^{2})+\frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}}\int \mathcal{N}_{\beta}(S^{1},S^{2})dS^{\alpha}\right)\Big|_{S^{\alpha}=S^{\alpha}_{*}}+\mathbf{F}(S^{\beta})=0,$$
(7.204)

or

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}} \int N^{I}_{\beta}(S^{1}, S^{2}) dS^{\alpha} \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + N^{I}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + F^{I}(S^{\beta}) = 0.$$
(7.205)

Without shear forces, the force conditions in Eqs.(7.200)-(7.205) are identical to Eqs.(7.145)-(7.150).

If there is a concentrated moment at a point $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ with $S^{\alpha} = A^{\alpha}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ ($\alpha = 1, 2$), the corresponding moment boundary condition is

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \mathbf{M}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \mathbf{M}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} + \mathbf{M}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})},$$
(7.206)

or

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \left. -M_{\alpha}^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \right|_{(S^{1}, S^{2})=(A_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{1}, A_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{2})} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \left. +M_{\alpha}^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \right|_{(S^{1}, S^{2})=(A_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{1}, A_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{2})} + M_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{I}.$$
(7.207)

The moment boundary condition at the boundary point $\mathscr{P}_{(r_1, r_2)}$ is

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} \mathbf{M}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (B^{1}_{(\eta, \tau_{2})}, B^{2}_{(\eta, \tau_{2})})} + \mathbf{M}_{(r_{1}, r_{2})} = 0$$
(7.208)

or

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} M_{\alpha}^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2})=(B_{(\eta, r_{2})}^{1}, B_{(\eta, r_{2})}^{2})} + M_{(r_{1}, r_{2})}^{I} = 0.$$
(7.209)

The moment boundary condition on the shell edge for α , $\beta \in \{1, 2\}$ and $\alpha \neq \beta$ is

$$\left(\mathbf{M}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + \int^{\mathbf{N}} \mathbf{M}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) dS^{\alpha} \right) \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}}$$

$$+ \left(\int^{\mathbf{N}} \mathbf{M}_{\beta}(S^{1}, S^{2}) dS^{\alpha} + \frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}} \int \mathbf{M}_{\beta}(S^{1}, S^{2}) dS^{\alpha} \right) \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}}$$

$$+ \mathbf{M}(S^{\beta}) = 0,$$

$$(7.210)$$

or

$$\left. \left(M^{I}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) + \int^{N} M^{I}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) dS^{\alpha} \right) \right|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}}$$

$$+ \left(\int^{N} M^{I}_{\beta}(S^{1}, S^{2}) dS^{\alpha} + \frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}} \int M^{I}_{\beta}(S^{1}, S^{2}) dS^{\alpha} \right) \right|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}}$$

$$+ M^{I}(S^{\beta}) = 0.$$

$$(7.211)$$

The displacement continuity and boundary conditions are the same as in Eqs.(7.57) and (7.58). The theory of nonlinear shells can easily reduce to the theory of thin plates in Chapter 6 (e.g., Luo, 2000). Such a nonlinear theory is very intuitive to understand.

7.3.2. A shell theory based on the curvilinear coordinates

Consider a material particle $P(X^1, X^2, X^3)$ in an initial configuration of a shell at the initial state. The base vectors at the position **R** of the material particle are described by Eqs.(7.117)–(7.122). On the deformed configuration of the shell, a particle at point *P* moves through displacement **u** to position *p*, and the particle *Q*, infinitesimally close to $P(S^1, S^2, S^3)$, moves through $\mathbf{u} + d\mathbf{u}$ to *q* in the vicinity of $P(S^1, S^2, S^3)$, as illustrated in Fig.7.7. The strain for three-dimensional body is similar to Eqs.(7.123)–(7.135). For clarity, the similar description is given as follows. The position of point *p* is described by

$$\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{R} + \mathbf{u} = (S^{\Lambda} + u^{\Lambda})\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}, \qquad (7.212)$$

where the displacement is $\mathbf{u} = u^{\Lambda} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}$ ($\Lambda = 1, 2, 3$). The infinitesimal elements $d\mathbf{R}$ and $d\mathbf{r}$ are expressed by

$$d\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} dS^{\Lambda}, \ d\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} dS^{\Lambda} + d\mathbf{u}; \tag{7.213}$$

with the infinitesimal displacement is for Λ , $\Gamma = 1, 2, 3$,

$$d\mathbf{u} = u_{\Lambda}^{\Gamma} dS^{\Lambda} \mathbf{G}_{\Gamma} = (u_{\Lambda}^{\Gamma} + \Gamma_{\Lambda K}^{\Gamma} u^{K}) dS^{\Lambda} \mathbf{G}_{\Gamma}.$$
(7.214)

Further, the deformed infinitesimal element is

$$d\mathbf{r} = (u_{;\Lambda}^{\Gamma} \mathbf{G}_{\Gamma} + \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}) dS^{\Lambda} = dS^{\Lambda} \mathbf{g}_{\Lambda};$$

$$\mathbf{g}_{\Lambda} \equiv \frac{\partial \mathbf{r}}{\partial S^{\Lambda}} = (u_{;\Lambda}^{\Gamma} \mathbf{G}_{\Gamma} + \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}) = (u_{;\Lambda}^{\Gamma} + \delta_{\Lambda}^{\Gamma}) \mathbf{G}_{\Gamma}.$$
 (7.215)

The length change of $d\mathbf{R}$ per unit length gives

$$\varepsilon_{\Lambda} = \frac{|d\mathbf{r}| - |d\mathbf{R}|}{|d\mathbf{R}|} = \sqrt{1 + \frac{2E_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}} - 1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}} \sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda} + 2E_{\Lambda\Lambda}} - 1$$
$$= \frac{\sqrt{G_{\Gamma\Gamma}}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}} \sqrt{(\delta_{\Lambda}^{\Gamma} + u_{;\Lambda}^{\Gamma})(\delta_{\Lambda}^{\Gamma} + u_{;\Lambda}^{\Gamma})} - 1,$$
(7.216)

where the Lagrangian strain tensor $E_{\Lambda\Gamma}$ to the initial configuration is

$$E_{\Lambda\Gamma} = \frac{1}{2} (u_{\Lambda;\Gamma} + u_{\Gamma;\Lambda} + u_{;\Lambda}^{K} u_{K;\Gamma})$$

= $\frac{1}{2} [(\delta_{\Lambda}^{K} + u_{;\Lambda}^{K})(\delta_{\Gamma}^{\Sigma} + u_{;\Gamma}^{\Sigma})G_{K\Sigma} - G_{\Lambda\Gamma}].$ (7.217)

The unit vectors along $d_{\Lambda}^{\mathbf{R}}$ and $d_{\Lambda}^{\mathbf{r}}$ are written as

$$\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = \frac{\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}}{|\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}|} = \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{|\mathbf{d}_{\Lambda}|} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda},$$

$$\mathbf{n}_{\Lambda} = \frac{\mathbf{g}_{\Lambda}}{|\mathbf{g}_{\Lambda}|} = \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{|\mathbf{d}_{\Lambda}|} = \frac{\delta_{\Lambda}^{\Gamma} + u_{:\Lambda}^{\Gamma}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda} + 2E_{\Lambda\Lambda}}} \mathbf{G}_{\Gamma}$$

$$= \frac{\delta_{\Lambda}^{\Gamma} + u_{:\Lambda}^{\Gamma}}{\sqrt{G_{KK}} \sqrt{(\delta_{\Lambda}^{K} + u_{:\Lambda}^{K})(\delta_{\Lambda}^{K} + u_{:\Lambda}^{K})}} \mathbf{G}_{\Gamma} = \frac{\delta_{\Lambda}^{\Gamma} + u_{:\Lambda}^{\Gamma}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}(1 + \varepsilon_{\Lambda})} \mathbf{G}_{\Gamma}.$$

(7.218)

As similar to Eqs.(7.132)–(7.134), the shear strains can be defined in threedirections. Let $\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda},\mathbf{N}_{\Gamma})}$ and $\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\Lambda},\mathbf{n}_{\Gamma})}$ be the induced angles between \mathbf{n}_{Λ} and \mathbf{n}_{Γ} before and after deformation.

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\Lambda},\mathbf{n}_{\Gamma})} \equiv \cos(\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda},\mathbf{N}_{\Gamma})} - \gamma_{\Lambda\Gamma})$$

$$= \frac{d\mathbf{r} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{r}|| d\mathbf{r}|} = \frac{G_{\Lambda\Gamma} + 2E_{\Lambda\Gamma}}{\sqrt{(G_{\Lambda\Lambda} + 2E_{\Lambda\Lambda})(G_{\Gamma\Gamma} + 2E_{\Gamma\Gamma})}}$$

$$= \frac{(\delta_{\Lambda}^{K} + u_{;\Lambda}^{K})(\delta_{\Gamma}^{\Sigma} + u_{;\Gamma}^{\Sigma})G_{K\Sigma}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}G_{\Gamma\Gamma}(1 + \varepsilon_{\Lambda})(1 + \varepsilon_{\Gamma})},$$
(7.219a)

7 Nonlinear Webs, Membranes and Shells

$$\cos\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda},\mathbf{N}_{\Gamma})} = \frac{d\mathbf{R} \cdot d\mathbf{R}}{|d\mathbf{R}||} = \frac{G_{\Lambda\Gamma}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{\Gamma\Gamma}}}; \qquad (7.219b)$$

and the shear strain is

$$\gamma_{\Lambda\Gamma} \equiv \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda},\mathbf{N}_{\Gamma})} - \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\Lambda},\mathbf{n}_{\Gamma})}$$

$$= \cos^{-1} \frac{G_{\Lambda\Gamma}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{\Gamma\Gamma}}} - \cos^{-1} \left[\frac{G_{\Lambda\Gamma} + 2E_{\Lambda\Gamma}}{\sqrt{(G_{\Lambda\Lambda} + 2E_{\Lambda\Lambda})(G_{\Gamma\Gamma} + 2E_{\Gamma\Gamma})}} \right],$$

$$= \cos^{-1} \frac{G_{\Lambda\Gamma}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{\Gamma\Gamma}}} - \cos^{-1} \left[\frac{(\delta^{K}_{\Lambda} + u^{K}_{,\Lambda})(\delta^{\Sigma}_{\Gamma} + u^{\Sigma}_{,\Gamma})G_{K\Sigma}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{\Gamma\Gamma}}(1 + \varepsilon_{\Lambda})(1 + \varepsilon_{\Gamma})} \right].$$
(7.220)

From Eq.(7.218), the direction cosine of the rotation without summation on Λ and Γ is

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda},\mathbf{n}_{\Gamma})} = \frac{d\mathbf{R} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{R}_{\Lambda}|| d\mathbf{r}}| = \frac{G_{\Lambda\Gamma} + u_{\Lambda;\Gamma}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}\sqrt{G_{\Gamma\Gamma} + 2E_{\Gamma\Gamma}}}$$
$$= \frac{G_{\Lambda\Gamma} + u_{\Lambda;\Gamma}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{\Gamma\Gamma}}\sqrt{(\delta_{\Gamma}^{\mathsf{K}} + u_{;\Gamma}^{\mathsf{K}})(\delta_{\Gamma}^{\mathsf{K}} + u_{;\Gamma}^{\mathsf{K}})}}$$
$$= \frac{G_{\Lambda\Gamma} + u_{\Lambda;\Gamma}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{\Gamma\Gamma}}(1 + \varepsilon_{\Gamma})} = \frac{(\delta_{\Gamma}^{\mathsf{K}} + u_{;\Gamma}^{\mathsf{K}})G_{\mathsf{K}\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{\Gamma\Gamma}}(1 + \varepsilon_{\Gamma})}.$$
(7.221)

In addition, the change ratio of areas before and after deformation is

$$\frac{da}{_{\Lambda\Gamma}}_{A\Gamma} = \frac{(1+\varepsilon_{\Lambda})(1+\varepsilon_{\Gamma})\sin\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\Lambda},\mathbf{n}_{\Gamma})}}{\sin\Theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\Lambda},\mathbf{n}_{\Gamma})}},$$
(7.222)

where $da_{\Lambda\Gamma} = | d\mathbf{r} \times d\mathbf{r} |$ and $dA_{\Lambda\Gamma} = | d\mathbf{R} \times d\mathbf{R} |$.

7.3.2a Shell strains on curvilinear coordinates

Suppose the base vector \mathbf{G}_3 be normal to the plane of \mathbf{G}_1 and \mathbf{G}_2 in the curvilinear coordinates. Equations (7.166)–(7.168) can be used for the following derivatives. Again, if \mathbf{G}_1 and \mathbf{G}_2 are orthogonal, one obtains $G_{12} = 0$ and $G = \sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}$. For reduction of three dimensional strains to a two-dimensional form, displacements can be expressed in a Taylor series expansion about the displacement of the middle surface. Thus, the displacements are assumed for ($\Lambda = 1, 2, 3$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\}$) by

308

$$u^{\Lambda} = u_0^{\Lambda}(S^1, S^2, t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} z^n \varphi_n^{(\Lambda)}(S^1, S^2, t),$$
(7.223)

with

$$\mathbf{R} = S^{1}\mathbf{G}_{1} + S^{2}\mathbf{G}_{2} + z\mathbf{G}_{3} = S^{\alpha}\mathbf{G}_{\alpha} + z\mathbf{G}_{3},$$

$$\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{R} + \mathbf{u} = (S^{\alpha} + u^{\alpha})\mathbf{G}_{\alpha} + (z + u^{3})\mathbf{G}_{3};$$
(7.224)

where u_0^{Λ} denotes displacements of the middle surface, and the $\varphi_n^{(\Lambda)}$ (n = 1, 2, ...) are rotations. Substitution of Eq.(7.223) into Eqs.(7.217) and (7.220) and collection of the same powers of *z* gives

$$\begin{aligned} \varepsilon_{\alpha} &\approx \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{\alpha}}{\partial z} \bigg|_{z=0} z + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{\alpha}}{\partial z^{2}} \bigg|_{z=0} z^{2} + \cdots \\ &= \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)} + \frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})\varphi_{1;\alpha}^{(\Lambda)}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{\alpha\alpha}(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})} z \\ &+ \frac{[2(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})\varphi_{2;\alpha}^{(\Lambda)} + \varphi_{1;\alpha}^{(\Lambda)}\varphi_{1;\alpha}^{(\Lambda)}]G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{\alpha\alpha}(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})} z^{2} \\ &- \frac{[(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})\varphi_{1;\alpha}^{\Lambda}]^{2}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}^{2}}{G_{\alpha\alpha}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})^{3}} z^{2} + \cdots, \end{aligned}$$
(7.225)

$$\begin{aligned} \varepsilon_{3} &\approx \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial z} \Big|_{z=0} z + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial z^{2}} \Big|_{z=0} z^{2} + \cdots \\ &= \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} + \frac{2(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{(1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} z \\ &+ \frac{[2\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)}\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)} + 3(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{3}^{(\Lambda)}]G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} z^{2} \\ &- \frac{2[(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)}]^{2}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}^{2}}{(1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{3}} z^{2} + \cdots, \end{aligned}$$
(7.226)

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{12} &\approx \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \gamma_{12}}{\partial z} \bigg|_{z=0} z + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{12}}{\partial z^2} \bigg|_{z=0} z^2 + \cdots \\ &= \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\sin \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_1,\mathbf{n}_2)}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{(\delta_1^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda}) \varphi_{1;2}^{(\Gamma)} + (\delta_2^{\Gamma} + u_{0;2}^{\Gamma}) \varphi_{1;1}^{(\Lambda)}}{\sqrt{G_{11} G_{22}} (1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)}) (1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})} G_{\Lambda\Gamma} \\ &- \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_1,\mathbf{n}_2)}^{(0)} \left[\frac{(\delta_1^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda}) \varphi_{1;1}^{(\Lambda)} G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{11} (1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})^2} + \frac{(\delta_2^{\Lambda} + u_{0;2}^{\Lambda}) \varphi_{1;2}^{(\Lambda)} G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{22} (1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})^2} \right] \right\} z + \cdots, \quad (7.227) \end{split}$$

7 Nonlinear Webs, Membranes and Shells

$$\gamma_{\alpha3} \approx \gamma_{\alpha3}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \gamma_{\alpha3}}{\partial z} \bigg|_{z=0} z + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{\alpha3}}{\partial z^2} \bigg|_{z=0} z^2 + \cdots$$

$$= \gamma_{\alpha3}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{\alpha3}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})\varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)} + (\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{1;\alpha}^{(\Lambda)}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}} (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} G_{\Lambda\Lambda} - \sin \gamma_{\alpha3}^{(0)} \left[\frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})\varphi_{1;\alpha}^{(\Lambda)}}{G_{\alpha\alpha} (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})^{2}} + \frac{2(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{2}} \right] z + \cdots, \quad (7.228)$$

for $\alpha = 1, 2$. The strains of the middle surface following Eqs.(7.217)-(7.220) at z = 0 are

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)} = \frac{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \sqrt{(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})} - 1,$$

$$\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} = \sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}} \sqrt{(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})} - 1;$$

$$\gamma_{12}^{(0)} \equiv \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{1},\mathbf{N}_{2})}^{(0)} - \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{n}_{2})}^{(0)}, \quad \gamma_{\alpha3}^{(0)} \equiv \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{3})}^{(0)} - \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{3})}^{(0)}$$

$$(7.230)$$

where

$$\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{n}_{2})}^{(0)} = \cos^{-1} \frac{G_{12} + 2E_{12}^{(0)}}{\sqrt{(G_{11} + 2E_{11}^{(0)})(G_{22} + 2E_{22}^{(0)})}}$$
$$= \cos^{-1} \frac{(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})(\delta_{2}^{\Gamma} + u_{0;2}^{\Gamma})G_{\Lambda\Gamma}}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})},$$
(7.231)

$$\begin{aligned} \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{3})}^{(0)} &= \cos^{-1} \frac{G_{\alpha 3} + 2E_{\alpha 3}^{(0)}}{\sqrt{(G_{\alpha \alpha} + 2E_{\alpha \alpha}^{(0)})(G_{3 3} + 2E_{3 3}^{(0)})}} \\ &= \cos^{-1} \frac{2E_{\alpha 3}^{(0)}}{\sqrt{(G_{\alpha \alpha} + 2E_{\alpha \alpha}^{(0)})(1 + 2E_{3 3}^{(0)})}} \\ &= \cos^{-1} \frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})(\delta_{3}^{\Gamma} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Gamma)})G_{\Lambda\Gamma}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha \alpha}}G_{3 3}(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} \\ &= \cos^{-1} \frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})(\delta_{3}^{\Gamma} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Gamma)})G_{\Lambda\Gamma}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha \alpha}}(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}, \end{aligned}$$
(7.232)

$$\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})} = \cos^{-1} \frac{G_{\alpha\beta}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}G_{\beta\beta}}} \text{ and } \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{3})} = \frac{\pi}{2}.$$
 (7.233)

$$E_{\alpha\beta}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} (u_{0\alpha;\beta} + u_{0\beta;\alpha} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda} u_{0\Lambda;\beta})$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} [(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})(\delta_{\beta}^{\Gamma} + u_{0;\beta}^{\Gamma})G_{\Lambda\Gamma} - G_{\alpha\beta}],$$

$$E_{\alpha3}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} (u_{0\alpha;3} + u_{03;\alpha} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda}u_{0\Lambda;3})$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} [(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})(\delta_{3}^{\Gamma} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Gamma)})G_{\Lambda\Gamma} - G_{\alpha3}]$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} (\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})(\delta_{3}^{\Gamma} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Gamma)})G_{\Lambda\Gamma}.$$
(7.234)

Because **G**₃ is normal to the base vectors **G**_{α} ($\alpha = 1, 2$), $G_{\alpha 3} = 0$ and $G_{33} = 1$. In Eqs.(7.225)–(7.228), the shell strain requires specification of three constraints for determination of three sets $\varphi_{(n)}^{\Lambda}$ ($\Lambda = 1, 2, 3$; and n = 1, 2, ...) like the Kirchhoff assumptions ($\gamma_{\alpha 3} = \varepsilon_3 = 0$). From Eqs.(7.216) and (7.220), Kirchhoff's assumptions become

$$\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}} \sqrt{(\delta_3^{\Lambda} + u_{;3}^{\Lambda})(\delta_3^{\Lambda} + u_{;3}^{\Lambda})} = 1,$$

$$(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{;\alpha}^{\Lambda})(\delta_3^{\Gamma} + u_{;3}^{\Gamma})G_{\Lambda\Gamma} = 0.$$
(7.235)

Substitution of Eq.(7.223) into Eqs.(7.235), expansion of them in Taylor series in z and vanishing of the zero-order terms in z gives

$$\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}} \sqrt{(\delta_3^{\Lambda} + \varphi_1^{(\Lambda)})(\delta_3^{\Lambda} + \varphi_1^{(\Lambda)})} = 1,$$

$$(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})(\delta_3^{\Gamma} + \varphi_1^{(\Gamma)})G_{\Lambda\Gamma} = 0.$$
(7.236)

Form the foregoing equations,

$$\delta_{3}^{(\Lambda)} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)} = \pm \frac{\Delta_{\Lambda}}{\Delta} \quad (\Lambda = 1, 2, 3)$$
(7.237)

where only the positive (+) is adopted and

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{1} &= \left[(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda 2} \right] \left[(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;2}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda 3} \right] \\ &- \left[(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda 3} \right] \left[(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;2}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda 2} \right], \\ \Delta_{2} &= \left[(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda 3} \right] \left[(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;2}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda 1} \right] \\ &- \left[(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda 1} \right] \left[(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;2}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda 3} \right], \\ \Delta_{3} &= \left[(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda 1} \right] \left[(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;2}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda 2} \right] \\ &- \left[(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda 2} \right] \left[(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;2}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda 2} \right] \\ &- \left[(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda 2} \right] \left[(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;2}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda 1} \right], \\ \Delta &= \sqrt{G_{11}\Delta_{1}^{2} + G_{22}\Delta_{2}^{2} + G_{33}\Delta_{3}^{2}}. \end{split}$$
(7.238)

From the Taylor series, vanishing of the first order terms in z gives three equations

in $\varphi_2^{(\Lambda)}$ similar to Eqs.(7.236). The three equations plus $\varphi_1^{(\Lambda)}$ give $\varphi_2^{(\Lambda)}$; $\varphi_n^{(\Lambda)}$ for $n = 3, 4, \ldots$ can be determined in a like manner. Substitution of all φ_n^{Λ} ($n = 1, 2, 3, 4, \ldots$) into Eqs.(7.225) and (7.227) generates the normal and shear strains ε_{α} and γ_{12} .

7.3.2b Equations of motion on curvilinear coordinates

Consider the external and distributed forces on the curvilinear coordinates in the initial configuration as

$$\mathbf{m} = (-1)^{\beta} m^{\alpha} \mathbf{N}_{\beta} \quad \text{for } \alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\} \text{ and } \alpha \neq \beta,$$

$$\mathbf{q} = q^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} \quad \text{for } \Lambda \in \{1, 2, 3\}.$$

(7.239)

The components of distributed force and moment are defined in Eq.(7.184), and the corresponding internal forces and moments in the deformed shell are defined as in Eq.(7.189), i.e.,

$$N_{\alpha\beta} = \int_{-h^{-}}^{h^{+}} \sigma_{\alpha\beta} \left[\sqrt{G_{\alpha'\alpha'}} (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha'})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \sin \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha'}, \mathbf{n}_{3})} \right] dz,$$

$$M_{\alpha\beta} = \int_{-h^{-}}^{h^{+}} \sigma_{\alpha\beta} \frac{z}{1 + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)}} \left[\sqrt{G_{\alpha'\alpha'}} (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha'})(1 + \varepsilon_{3})^{2} \sin \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha'}, \mathbf{n}_{3})} \right] dz,$$

$$Q_{\alpha} = \int_{-h^{-}}^{h^{+}} \sigma_{\alpha3} \left[\sqrt{G_{\alpha'\alpha'}} (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha'})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \sin \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha'}, \mathbf{n}_{3})} \right] dz,$$
with $\alpha' = \operatorname{mod}(\alpha, 2) + 1,$

$$(7.240)$$

because of

$$\cos(\mathbf{N}_{3}, \mathbf{n}_{3}) = \frac{1 + u_{13}^{\Lambda}}{\sqrt{1 + 2E_{33}}} \approx \frac{1 + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}},$$
(7.241)

where $N_{\alpha\beta}$ are membrane forces and $M_{\alpha\beta}$ are bending and twisting moments per unit length and $\alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\}$. In a similar fashion, the internal force vectors are defined on the \mathbf{G}_{λ} -surface, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{M}_{\alpha} \equiv M_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = (-1)^{\beta} M_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} + (-1)^{\alpha} M_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha},$$

$$\mathcal{N}_{\alpha} \equiv N_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} + N_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} + Q_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{3},$$

(7.242)

$${}^{\mathsf{N}}\mathbf{M}_{\alpha} \equiv {}^{\mathsf{N}}M_{\alpha}^{\Lambda}\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = \mathbf{g}_{\alpha} \times \mathcal{N}_{\alpha}, \qquad (7.243)$$

where

$$\mathbf{g}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{d\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}}{dS^{\alpha}} = (\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{;\alpha}^{\Lambda})\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} \text{ and } {}^{\mathbf{N}}\mathbf{M}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{1}{dS^{\alpha}}d\mathbf{r}_{\alpha} \times \mathcal{N}_{\alpha}.$$
(7.244)

The components of the internal forces in the G_{Λ} -direction are

$$N_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} + N_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} + Q_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{3} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}$$

= $N_{\alpha} \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})} + N_{\alpha\beta} \cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})} + Q_{\alpha} \cos_{(\mathbf{n}_{3},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})}$
= $\frac{N_{\alpha}(G_{\Lambda\alpha} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{\alpha\alpha}}(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})} + \frac{N_{\alpha\beta}(G_{\Lambda\beta} + u_{0;\beta}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{\beta\beta}}(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta}^{(0)})} + \frac{Q_{\alpha}(G_{\Lambda3} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})},$ (7.245)

$$M_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} = (-1)^{\beta} M_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\beta} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} + (-1)^{\alpha} M_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}$$

$$= (-1)^{\beta} M_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\beta},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})} + (-1)^{\alpha} M_{\alpha\beta} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})}$$

$$= (-1)^{\beta} \frac{M_{\alpha} (G_{\Lambda\beta} + u_{0;\beta}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}} G_{\beta\beta}} (1 + \varepsilon_{\beta}^{(0)})} + (-1)^{\alpha} \frac{M_{\alpha\beta} (G_{\Lambda\alpha} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}} G_{\alpha\alpha}} (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha}^{(0)})}, \qquad (7.246)$$

$${}^{\mathrm{N}}M_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} = (\mathbf{g}_{\alpha} \times \mathcal{N}_{\alpha}) \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = (\delta_{\alpha}^{\Gamma} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Gamma})N_{\alpha}^{\Sigma}[\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}\mathbf{N}_{\Gamma}\mathbf{N}_{\Sigma}]$$

$$= (\delta_{\alpha}^{\Gamma} + u_{(0);\alpha}^{\Gamma})N_{\alpha}^{\Sigma} \begin{vmatrix} \frac{X_{,\Lambda}^{1}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}} & \frac{X_{,\Lambda}^{2}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}} & \frac{X_{,\Lambda}^{3}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}} \\ \frac{X_{,\Gamma}^{1}}{\sqrt{G_{\Gamma\Gamma}}} & \frac{X_{,\Gamma}^{2}}{\sqrt{G_{\Gamma\Gamma}}} & \frac{X_{,\Gamma}^{3}}{\sqrt{G_{\Gamma\Gamma}}} \\ \frac{X_{,K}^{1}}{\sqrt{G_{\Sigma\Sigma}}} & \frac{X_{,K}^{2}}{\sqrt{G_{\Sigma\Sigma}}} & \frac{X_{,K}^{3}}{\sqrt{G_{\Sigma\Sigma}}} \end{vmatrix}$$

$$= \frac{X_{,\Lambda}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{\Gamma\Gamma}G_{\Sigma\Sigma}}} (\delta_{\alpha}^{\Gamma} + u_{0;\alpha}^{\Gamma})N_{\alpha}^{\Sigma}(X_{,\Gamma}^{J}X_{,\Sigma}^{K} - X_{,\Gamma}^{K}X_{,\Sigma}^{J})$$
(7.247)

for $(I, J, K \in \{1, 2, 3\}, I \neq J \neq K \neq I)$ and the indices (I, J, K) rotate clockwise; $(\Lambda, \Gamma, \Sigma \in \{1, 2, 3\}, \Lambda \neq \Gamma \neq \Sigma \neq \Lambda)$. Based on the deformed middle surface in the Lagrangian coordinates, the equations of motion for the deformed shell are given by Eq. (7.196), i.e.,

$$\mathcal{N}_{\alpha;\alpha} + \mathbf{q} = (\rho \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + I_3 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt}) \sin \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_1, \mathbf{N}_2)},$$

$$\mathbf{M}_{\alpha;\alpha} + {}^{\mathbf{N}} \mathbf{M}_{\alpha} + \mathbf{m} = (I_3 \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + J_3 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt}) \sin \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_1, \mathbf{N}_2)},$$
(7.248)

and the scalar expressions are for $\Lambda = 1, 2, 3$,

$$N^{\Lambda}_{\alpha;\alpha} + q^{\Lambda} = (\rho u^{\Lambda}_{0,tt} + I_z \varphi^{(\Lambda)}_{1,tt}) \sin \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_1,\mathbf{N}_2)},$$

$$M^{\Lambda}_{\alpha;\alpha} + {}^{\mathbf{N}}M^{\Lambda}_{\alpha} + m^{\Lambda} = (I_z u^{\Lambda}_{0,tt} + J_3 \varphi^{(\Lambda)}_{1,tt}) \sin \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_1,\mathbf{N}_2)},$$
(7.249)

with summation on $\alpha = 1, 2$. The equation of motion in Eq.(7.249) is in a form of

7 Nonlinear Webs, Membranes and Shells

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{N_{1}(G_{\Lambda 1} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{N_{12}(G_{\Lambda2} + u_{0;2}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} + \frac{Q_{1}(G_{\Lambda3} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} \end{bmatrix}_{;1} \\ + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{N_{12}(G_{\Lambda1} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{N_{2}(G_{\Lambda2} + u_{0;2}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} + \frac{Q_{2}(G_{\Lambda3} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} \end{bmatrix}_{;2} \\ + q^{\Lambda} = (\rho u_{0,tt}^{\Lambda} + I_{z}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(\Lambda)})\sin\Theta_{(N_{1},N_{2})}, \qquad (7.250)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{M_{1}(G_{\Lambda 2} + u_{0;2}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda \Lambda}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} - \frac{M_{12}(G_{\Lambda 1} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda \Lambda}G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \end{bmatrix}_{;1} \\ + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{M_{12}(G_{\Lambda 2} + u_{0;2}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda \Lambda}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} - \frac{M_{2}(G_{\Lambda 1} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda \Lambda}G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \end{bmatrix}_{;2} \\ + \sum_{I=1}^{3} \frac{X_{,\Lambda}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda \Lambda}G_{\Gamma \Gamma}G_{\Sigma\Sigma}}} (\delta_{1}^{\Gamma} + u_{0;1}^{\Gamma})N_{1}^{\Sigma}(X_{,\Gamma}^{J}X_{,\Sigma}^{K} - X_{,\Gamma}^{K}X_{,\Sigma}^{J}) \\ + \sum_{I=1}^{3} \frac{X_{,\Lambda}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda \Lambda}G_{\Gamma \Gamma}G_{\Sigma\Sigma}}} (\delta_{2}^{\Gamma} + u_{0;2}^{\Gamma})N_{1}^{\Sigma}(X_{,\Gamma}^{J}X_{,\Sigma}^{K} - X_{,\Gamma}^{K}X_{,\Sigma}^{J}) \\ + m^{\Lambda} = (I_{z}u_{0,u}^{\Lambda} + J_{z}\varphi_{1,u}^{(\Lambda)})\sin\Theta_{(N_{1},N_{2})}.$$
(7.251)

Notice that $(I, J, K \in \{1, 2, 3\}, I \neq J \neq K \neq I)$ and the indices (I, J, K) rotate clockwise. $(\Lambda, \Gamma, \Sigma \in \{1, 2, 3\}, \Lambda \neq \Gamma \neq \Sigma \neq \Lambda)$. The balance of equilibrium for shells in Eq.(7.248) or (7.249) with (7.225)–(7.230) constitute this approximate nonlinear theory for shells.

The force condition at a point $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ with $S^{\alpha} = A^{\alpha}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ ($\alpha = 1, 2$) can be developed as in Eq.(7.200) but the scalar expression is

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} {}^{-}N_{\alpha}^{\Lambda}(S^{1}, S^{2})\Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2})=(\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} {}^{+}N_{\alpha}^{\Lambda}(S^{1}, S^{2})\Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2})=(\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} + F^{\Lambda}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}.$$
(7.252)

The force boundary condition at the boundary point $\mathscr{P}_{(r_1,r_2)}$ is as in Eq.(7.202) and the scalar expression is

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} N_{\alpha}^{\Lambda}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (B^{1}_{(\eta, \tau_{2})}, B^{2}_{(\eta, \tau_{2})})} + F^{\Lambda}_{(\tau_{1}, \tau_{2})} = 0.$$
(7.253)

The force boundary conditions on the shell edge are given in Eq.(7.204) but the scalar expression is for α , $\beta \in \{1, 2\}$ and $\alpha \neq \beta$,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}} \int N^{\Lambda}_{\beta}(S^{1}, S^{2}) dS^{\alpha} \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + N^{\Lambda}_{\alpha}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{S^{\alpha} = S^{\alpha}_{*}} + F^{\Lambda}(S^{\beta}) = 0.$$
(7.254)

Reference

If there is a concentrated moment at a point $\mathscr{P}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ with $S^{\alpha} = A^{\alpha}_{(k_1,k_2)}$ ($\alpha = 1, 2$), the corresponding moment boundary conditions are given in Eq.(7.206) but the scalar expression is

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} {}^{-}M_{\alpha}^{\Lambda}(S^{1}, S^{2})\Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2})=(\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} {}^{+}M_{\alpha}^{\Lambda}(S^{1}, S^{2})\Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2})=(\mathcal{A}^{1}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}, \mathcal{A}^{2}_{(k_{1}, k_{2})})} + M_{(k_{1}, k_{2})}^{\Lambda}.$$
(7.255)

The moment boundary condition at the boundary point $\mathscr{P}_{(r_1,r_2)}$ is given in Eq.(7.208), but the scalar expression is

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{2} M_{\alpha}^{\Lambda}(S^{1}, S^{2}) \Big|_{(S^{1}, S^{2}) = (B^{1}_{(\eta, r_{2})}, B^{2}_{(\eta, r_{2})})} + M^{\Lambda}_{(r_{1}, r_{2})} = 0.$$
(7.256)

The moment boundary conditions on the shell edge is given in Eq.(7.210), but the scalar expression is for $\alpha, \beta \in \{1, 2\}$ and $\alpha \neq \beta$.

$$\begin{split} & \left(M^{\Lambda}_{\alpha}(S^{1},S^{2}) + \int^{\mathbf{N}} M^{\Lambda}_{\alpha}(S^{1},S^{2}) dS^{\alpha}\right)\Big|_{S^{\alpha}=S^{\alpha}_{\alpha}} \\ & + \left(\int^{\mathbf{N}} M^{\Lambda}_{\beta}(S^{1},S^{2}) dS^{\alpha} + \frac{\partial}{\partial S^{\beta}} \int M^{\Lambda}_{\beta}(S^{1},S^{2}) dS^{\alpha}\right)\Big|_{S^{\alpha}=S^{\alpha}_{\alpha}} \\ & + M^{\Lambda}(S^{\beta}) = 0. \end{split}$$
(7.257)

The displacement continuity and boundary conditions are the same as in Eqs.(7.151) and (7.152).

Such a theory can easily reduce to the Kirshhoff theory (Kirchhoff, 1850a,b). The nonlinear theory of shells is different from the theories based on the Cosserat surface in E. and F. Cosserat (1896, 1909). Based on the three-dimensional deformable body, the Cosserat surface with one director was used to derive the nonlinear theory of shells (e.g., Green, Laws and Naghdi, 1968). The detailed presentation of such a shell theory can be referred to Naghdi (1972). In that theory, the general expressions of geometrical relations (or strains) were given with infinite directors, but how to determine the infinite directors was not presented. Only the existing theories can be included in such a generalized frame. However, the nonlinear theory of shells presented herein gives an intuitive and deterministic form to use. The unknown coefficients in the approximate displacement fields can be determined by the certain assumptions. Such a theory can be applied to any materials.

References

Cosserat, E. and Cosserat, F., 1896, Sur la théorie de l'élasticitié, Premier Mémoire, *Annals de la Faculté des Sciences de Toulouse*, **10**, 1-116.

Cosserat, E. and Cosserat, F., 1909, Theorie des corps deformables, Hermann, Paris.

Eringen, A.C., 1962, Nonlinear Theory of Continuous Media, McGraw-Hill, New York.

- Eringen, A.C., 1967, Mechanics of Continua, John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Green, A.E., Laws, N. and Naghdi, P.M., 1968, Rods, plates and shells, Proceedings of Cambridge Philosophical Society, 64, 895-913.
- Kirchhoff, G., 1850a, Über das Gleichgewicht und die Bewegung einer elastischen Scheibe, Journal für die reins und angewandte Mathematik, **40**, 51-88.
- Kirchhoff, G., 1850b, Ueber die Schwingungen einer kreisformigen elastischen Scheibe, *Poggendorffs Annal*, **81**, 258-264.
- Luo, A.C.J., 2000, An approximate theory for geometrically-nonlinear, thin plates, *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, **37**, 7655-7670.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Mote, C.D. Jr., 2000, Analytical solutions of equilibrium and existence for traveling, arbitrarily sagged, elastic cables, *ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics*, **67**, 148-154.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Wang, Y.F., 2002, On the rigid-body motion of Traveling, sagged cables, *Symposium on Dynamics, Acoustics and Simulations* in 2002 ASME International Mechanical Engineering Congress and Exposition, New Orleans, Louisiana, November 17-22, 2002.
- Naghdi, P.M., 1972, *The Theory of Shells and Plates*, Handbuch der physic, Volume VIa Springer, Berlin.
- Wang, Y.F. and Luo, A.C.J., 2004, Dynamics of traveling, inextensible cables, *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation*, 9, 531-542.

Chapter 8 Nonlinear Beams and Rods

In this chapter, nonlinear theories for rods and beams will be discussed in the Cartesian coordinate frame and the curvilinear frame of the initial configuration. Without torsion, the theory for in-plane beams will be presented. The traditional treatises of nonlinear rods were based on the Cosserat's theory (e.g., E. and F. Cosserat, 1896) or the Kirchhoff assumptions (e.g., Kirchhoff, 1859; Love, 1944). This chapter will extend the ideas of Galerkin (1915), and the nonlinear theory of rods and beams will be developed from the general theory of the 3-dimensional deformable body. The definitions for beams and rods are given as follows.

Definition 8.1. If a 1-D deformable body on the three directions of fibers resists internal forces, *bending* and *twisting* moments, the 1-D deformable body is called a *deformable* rod.

Definition 8.2. If a 1-D deformable body on the three directions of fibers resists internal forces and *bending* moments, the 1-D deformable body is called a *deformable* beam.

8.1. Differential geometry of curves

Consider an initial configuration of a nonlinear rod as shown in Fig.8.1. The unit vectors \mathbf{I}_{I} (I = 1, 2, 3) are the base vectors for the Cartesian coordinates and the based vectors \mathbf{G}_{α} ($\alpha = 1, 2, 3$) for the curvilinear coordinates are defined later. To present the nonlinear rod theory, it is assumed that the base vector \mathbf{G}_{1} is normal to the surface formed by the other base vectors \mathbf{G}_{2} and \mathbf{G}_{3} . The surface formed by the vectors \mathbf{G}_{2} and \mathbf{G}_{3} is called the *cross section* of the rod. The material particle on the central curves of the intersections of two neutral surfaces in the initial configuration is



Fig. 8.1 A material particle P on an initial configuration of a nonlinear rod.

$$\mathbf{R} = X^{T}(S)\mathbf{I}_{T},\tag{8.1}$$

where $S^1 = S$ and $S^2 = S^3 = 0$. From Eq.(8.1), the base vectors for the rod can be obtained. The base vector in the tangential direction of the rod is defined by

$$\mathbf{G}_{1} = \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{dS} = \frac{\partial X^{T}}{\partial S} \mathbf{I}_{I} = X_{,S}^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} \equiv G_{1}^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(8.2)

Note that $(\cdot)_{,s} = (\cdot)_{,1}$ and the metric measure is given by

$$G_{11} = \frac{\partial X^{I}}{\partial S} \frac{\partial X^{I}}{\partial S} = X_{,1}^{I} X_{,1}^{I} \equiv G_{1}^{I} G_{1}^{I} \text{ (summation on I).}$$
(8.3)

and

$$\mathbf{N}_{1} = \frac{\mathbf{G}_{1}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}} = \frac{X_{.1}^{T}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}} \mathbf{I}_{T},$$
(8.4)

while an arc length variable s is defined by

$$ds = \sqrt{G_{11}} dS, \tag{8.5}$$

$$\mathbf{N}_{1} = X_{,s}^{T} \mathbf{I}_{T} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{G}_{1} = \sqrt{G_{11}} \quad X_{,s}^{T} \mathbf{I}_{T} \equiv G_{1}^{T} \mathbf{I}_{T}, \tag{8.6}$$

with $\sqrt{X_{,s}^{l}X_{,s}^{l}} = 1$. The direction of \mathbf{G}_{1} is the tangential direction of the initial configuration of the rod curve. From differential geometry in Kreyszig (1968), the curvature vector can be determined by

8.1. Differential geometry of curves

$$\mathbf{G}_{2} \equiv G_{2}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \frac{d\mathbf{N}_{1}}{ds} = X_{,ss}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I}$$
$$= \frac{d\mathbf{N}_{1}}{dS} \frac{dS}{ds} = \frac{1}{G_{11}^{2}} \Big[X_{,11}^{I} (X_{,1}^{K} X_{,1}^{K}) - X_{,1}^{I} X_{,1}^{K} X_{,11}^{K} \Big] \mathbf{I}_{I}$$
(8.7)

and

$$G_{2}^{I} = \frac{1}{G_{11}^{2}} \Big[X_{,11}^{I} (X_{,1}^{K} X_{,1}^{K}) - X_{,1}^{I} X_{,1}^{K} X_{,11}^{K} \Big],$$

$$G_{22} \equiv G_{2}^{I} G_{2}^{I} = \frac{1}{G_{11}^{3}} \Big[(X_{,11}^{I} X_{,11}^{I}) (X_{,1}^{K} X_{,1}^{K}) - (X_{,1}^{I} X_{,11}^{I})^{2} \Big].$$
(8.8)

The curvature of the rod in the initial configuration is

$$\kappa = |\mathbf{G}_{2}| = \sqrt{G_{22}} = \sqrt{X_{,ss}^{I} X_{,ss}^{I}}$$
$$= \frac{\sqrt{(X_{,11}^{I} X_{,11}^{I})(X_{,1}^{K} X_{,1}^{K}) - (X_{,1}^{I} X_{,11}^{I})^{2}}}{G_{11}^{3/2}}.$$
(8.9)

The unit principal normal vector is given by

$$\mathbf{N}_2 = \frac{\mathbf{G}_2}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} = \frac{\mathbf{G}_2}{\kappa} = \frac{G_2'}{\kappa} \mathbf{I}_1, \ \frac{d\mathbf{N}_1}{ds} = \mathbf{G}_2 = \kappa \mathbf{N}_2.$$
(8.10)

The unit bi-normal vector is defined by

$$\mathbf{N}_3 = \mathbf{N}_1 \times \mathbf{N}_2 \tag{8.11}$$

and let

$$\mathbf{N}_{3} = G_{3}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ with } G_{3}^{I} = e_{IJK} \frac{G_{1}^{J}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}} \frac{G_{2}^{K}}{\kappa(S)},$$
(8.12)

where e_{IIK} is the Ricci symbol in Eq.(2.105). Therefore, $G_{33} = G_3^I G_3^I = 1$ (summation on I)

Consider the change rate of the unit bi-normal direction with respect to the arc length (s), which gives

$$\frac{d\mathbf{N}_3}{ds} = -\tau \mathbf{N}_2 \implies \tau = -\mathbf{N}_2 \cdot \frac{d\mathbf{N}_3}{ds}.$$
(8.13)

The *torsional curvature of the rod* (or torsion of the curve called in mathematics) is

$$\tau = \frac{1}{\kappa^2} [\mathbf{R}_{,s} \mathbf{R}_{,ss} \mathbf{R}_{,sss}]$$

$$= \frac{[\mathbf{R}_{,1}\mathbf{R}_{,11}\mathbf{R}_{,11}]}{(\mathbf{R}_{,11}\cdot\mathbf{R}_{,11})(\mathbf{R}_{,1}\cdot\mathbf{R}_{,1}) - (\mathbf{R}_{,1}\cdot\mathbf{R}_{,11})^{2}}$$

$$= \frac{e_{lJK}X_{,1}^{I}X_{,11}^{J}X_{,11}^{K}X_{,11}^{K}}{(X_{,11}^{I}X_{,11}^{I})(X_{,1}^{K}X_{,1}^{K}) - (X_{,1}^{I}X_{,11}^{I})^{2}}.$$
(8.14)

Based on the definition of unit based vector, the vector product gives

$$\mathbf{N}_2 = \mathbf{N}_3 \times \mathbf{N}_1, \ \mathbf{N}_3 = -\mathbf{N}_2 \times \mathbf{N}_1, \ \mathbf{N}_1 = -\mathbf{N}_3 \times \mathbf{N}_2.$$
(8.15)

With Eqs.(8.10) and (8.13),

$$\frac{d\mathbf{N}_2}{ds} = \frac{d\mathbf{N}_3}{ds} \times \mathbf{N}_1 + \mathbf{N}_3 \times \frac{d\mathbf{N}_1}{ds}$$
$$= -\tau \mathbf{N}_2 \times \mathbf{N}_1 + \kappa \mathbf{N}_3 \times \mathbf{N}_2$$
$$= -\kappa \mathbf{N}_1 + \tau \mathbf{N}_3.$$
(8.16)

Thus, from the formulae of Frenet (1847),

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{d\mathbf{N}_1}{ds} \\ \frac{d\mathbf{N}_2}{ds} \\ \frac{d\mathbf{N}_3}{ds} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \kappa & 0 \\ -\kappa & 0 & \tau \\ 0 & -\tau & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{N}_1 \\ \mathbf{N}_2 \\ \mathbf{N}_3 \end{bmatrix},$$
(8.17)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{d\mathbf{N}_1}{dS} \\ \frac{d\mathbf{N}_2}{dS} \\ \frac{d\mathbf{N}_3}{dS} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \sqrt{G_{11}}\kappa & 0 \\ -\sqrt{G_{11}}\kappa & 0 & \sqrt{G_{11}}\tau \\ 0 & -\sqrt{G_{11}}\tau & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{N}_1 \\ \mathbf{N}_2 \\ \mathbf{N}_3 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (8.18)

Consider a rotation vector (or the vector of Darboux)

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \boldsymbol{\tau} \mathbf{N}_1 + \boldsymbol{\kappa} \mathbf{N}_3 \tag{8.19}$$

Equations (8.17) and (8.18) become

$$\frac{d\mathbf{N}_1}{ds} = \boldsymbol{\omega} \times \mathbf{N}_1, \quad \frac{d\mathbf{N}_2}{ds} = \boldsymbol{\omega} \times \mathbf{N}_2, \quad \frac{d\mathbf{N}_3}{ds} = \boldsymbol{\omega} \times \mathbf{N}_3, \quad (8.20)$$

$$\frac{d\mathbf{N}_1}{dS} = \sqrt{G_{11}}\boldsymbol{\omega} \times \mathbf{N}_1, \quad \frac{d\mathbf{N}_2}{dS} = \sqrt{G_{11}}\boldsymbol{\omega} \times \mathbf{N}_2, \quad \frac{d\mathbf{N}_3}{dS} = \sqrt{G_{11}}\boldsymbol{\omega} \times \mathbf{N}_3.$$
(8.21)

Consider a material point \mathbf{R} on the cross section of the rod
8.2. A nonlinear theory of straight beams

$$\mathbf{R} = X^{T}(S^{1}, S^{2}, S^{2})\mathbf{I}_{T}.$$
(8.22)

Without loss of generality, S^1 , S^2 and S^3 are collinear to the directions of N_1 , N_2 and N_3 , respectively. On the cross section of N_1 , any variable can be converted on the two directions of N_2 and N_3 .

Consider a displacement vector field at the point \mathbf{R} to be

$$\mathbf{u} = u^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}, S^{3})\mathbf{I}_{I} \quad \text{or} \quad \mathbf{u} = u^{\Lambda}(S^{1}, S^{2}, S^{3})\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}.$$
(8.23)

From the previous definitions,

$$\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = \frac{\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}} = \frac{G_{\Lambda}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}} \mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(8.24)

The particle in the deformed configuration is expressed by the location and displacement vectors, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{R} + \mathbf{u} = (X^{I} + u^{I}(S^{1}, S^{2}, S^{3}))\mathbf{I}_{I}, \text{ or}$$

$$\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{R} + \mathbf{u} = (S^{\Lambda} + u^{\Lambda}(S^{1}, S^{2}, S^{3}))\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}$$
(8.25)

and the corresponding infinitesimal line element of the deformed rod is

$$d\mathbf{r} = d\mathbf{R} + d\mathbf{u} = (X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})dS^{\alpha}\mathbf{I}_{I}$$
$$= (\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{,\alpha}^{\Lambda})dS^{\alpha}\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}.$$
(8.26)

The base vector for the deformed rod becomes

$$\mathbf{g}_{\alpha} = (X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})\mathbf{I}_{I} = (\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{,\alpha}^{\Lambda})\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}$$
(8.27)

and the corresponding unit vector is

$$\mathbf{n}_{\alpha} = \frac{X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I}}{\sqrt{(X_{,\alpha}^{K} + u_{,\alpha}^{K})(X_{,\alpha}^{K} + u_{,\alpha}^{K})}} \mathbf{I}_{I}$$
$$= \frac{\delta_{\alpha}^{\Lambda} + u_{,\alpha}^{\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{\Gamma\Gamma}}\sqrt{(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Gamma} + u_{,\alpha}^{\Gamma})(\delta_{\alpha}^{\Gamma} + u_{,\alpha}^{\Gamma})}} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}.$$
(8.28)

8.2. A nonlinear theory of straight beams

Consider a *beam* in the initial configuration to be straight. This requires that the curvature and torsion should be zero ($\kappa(S) = 0$ and $\tau(S) = 0$). Thus, S' = X', $G_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ and $G_{\alpha\alpha} = 1$ ($\alpha, \beta = 1, 2, 3$).

$$d\mathbf{R} = dX^{I}\mathbf{I}_{I}, \ d\mathbf{r} = d\mathbf{R} + d\mathbf{u} = (\delta^{I}_{\alpha} + u^{I}_{,\alpha})dX^{\alpha}\mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(8.29)

The strain based on the change in length of $d\mathbf{R}$ per unit length gives

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha} = \frac{\left| \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{\alpha} \right| - \left| \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{\alpha} \right|}{\left| \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{\alpha} \right|} = \sqrt{1 + 2E_{\alpha\alpha}} - 1$$
$$= \sqrt{\left(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I}\right)\left(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I}\right)} - 1.$$
(8.30)

The Lagrangian strain tensor $E_{\alpha\beta}$ referred to the initial configuration is

$$E_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} (\delta_{\alpha}^{I} u_{,\beta}^{I} + \delta_{\beta}^{I} u_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I} u_{,\beta}^{I}).$$
(8.31)

In the similar fashion, the angles between \mathbf{n}_{α} and \mathbf{n}_{β} before and after deformation are expressed by $\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})} = \pi/2$ and $\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}$, i.e.,

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})} \equiv \cos(\Theta_{(N_{\alpha},N_{\beta})} - \gamma_{\alpha\beta})$$

$$= \frac{d\mathbf{r} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{r}||d\mathbf{r}||} = \frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{l} + u_{,\alpha}^{l})(\delta_{\beta}^{l} + u_{,\beta}^{l})}{\sqrt{(1 + 2E_{\alpha\alpha})(1 + 2E_{\beta\beta})}}$$

$$= \frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{l} + u_{,\alpha}^{l})(\delta_{\beta}^{l} + u_{,\beta}^{l})}{(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha})(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta})}$$
(8.32)

and the corresponding shear strain is defined by

$$\gamma_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})} - \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}$$

$$= \sin^{-1} \frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(\delta_{\beta}^{I} + u_{,\beta}^{I})}{\sqrt{(1 + 2E_{\alpha\alpha})(1 + 2E_{\beta\beta})}}$$

$$= \sin^{-1} \frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(\delta_{\beta}^{I} + u_{,\beta}^{I})}{(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha})(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta})}.$$
(8.33)

From Eq.(8.28), the direction cosine of the rotation is

$$\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})} = \frac{d\mathbf{R} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{R}||d\mathbf{r}|} = \frac{\delta_{\beta}^{\alpha} + u_{,\beta}^{\alpha}}{\sqrt{1 + 2E_{\beta\beta}}} = \frac{\delta_{\beta}^{\alpha} + u_{,\beta}^{\alpha}}{1 + \varepsilon_{\beta}}.$$
(8.34)

In addition, the area changes before and after deformation are given by

$$\frac{da}{\frac{\alpha\beta}{dA}} = (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha})(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta})\sin\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}, \qquad (8.35)$$

322

8.2. A nonlinear theory of straight beams

where $da_{\alpha\beta} = |d\mathbf{r} \times d\mathbf{r}|$ and $dA_{\alpha\beta} = |d\mathbf{R} \times d\mathbf{R}|$.

Consider the coordinate X^1 to be along the longitudinal direction of the beam and the other two coordinates X^2 and X^3 on the cross section of beam on the direction of X^1 . The coordinates for the deformed straight beam are (s^1, s^2, s^3) . Because the initial configuration of the beam is a straight beam, under external force, the deformed configuration of the beam does not experience any torsion ($\tau(s^1) \equiv 0$). Thus, the deformed configuration of the beam is a plane curve. Without loss of generality, the curvature direction of the deformed configuration can be assumed to be collinear to X^2 . Because the widths of beam in two directions of X^2 and X^3 are very small compared to the length of the beam in direction of X^1 , the elongation in the two directions of X^2 and X^3 should be very small, which can be neglected. From the aforementioned discussions, the following assumptions are adopted:

- (i) The deformed configuration of the beam does not experience any torsion $(\tau(s^1) \equiv 0)$.
- (ii) The curvature direction of the deformed configuration is collinear to s^2 .
- (iii) The elongations in the two directions of X^2 and X^3 are very small (i.e., $\varepsilon_2 \approx 0$ and $\varepsilon_3 = 0$).
- (iv) Under bending only, the neutral surface is not deformed (i.e., $\gamma_{12} \approx 0$ and $\gamma_{13} = 0$).

Consider an arbitrary coordinates as (X^1, Y, Z) at the *centroid* on the cross section of the beam. Under the resultant forces, the bending of beam is in the curvature direction of s^2 . The deformed curve of the beam is on the plane of (X^1, X^2) , as shown in Fig.8.2. In other words, the neutral surface of the deformed beam is on the plane of (X^1, X^3) . When the transversal forces act at a point on the cross section of the beam and if the beam will not be twisted, such a point on the cross section of the beam is called the *shear center* (*or flexural center*). From Assumption (i), no torsion exists. In addition, the transversal forces should be placed to the shear center. Because the transversal forces are applied to the beam off the shear center, the beam will be twisted and bent. To explain this case, consider external distributed forces and moments at *the shear center* on the initial configuration to be

$$\mathbf{q} = q^{T} \mathbf{I}_{T}$$
 and $\mathbf{m} = m^{T} \mathbf{I}_{T} (T = 1, 2, 3)$ (8.36)

and concentrated forces on the initial configuration at a point $X^1 = S_k$,

$${}^{k}\mathbf{F} = {}^{k}F{}^{I}\mathbf{I}_{I}$$
 and ${}^{k}\mathbf{M} = {}^{k}M{}^{I}\mathbf{I}_{I}$ (I = 1, 2, 3). (8.37)

The displacement vectors on the initial configuration are



Fig. 8.2 A straight beam with initial and deformed configuration.

$$\mathbf{R} = X^{1}\mathbf{I}_{1}, \ ^{\mathbf{S}}\mathbf{R} = S\mathbf{I}_{1} \text{ and } ^{k}\mathbf{R} = X_{k}^{1}\mathbf{I}_{1}.$$

$$(8.38)$$

The internal forces and moments for $S > X_k^1$ are

$$\mathbf{F}|_{X^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{k} \mathbf{F} + \int_{0}^{S} \mathbf{q} dX^{1},$$

$$\mathbf{M}|_{X^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{k} \mathbf{M} + \int_{0}^{S} \mathbf{m} dX^{1},$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{k} ({}^{S} \mathbf{R} - {}^{k} \mathbf{R}) \times {}^{k} \mathbf{F} + \int_{0}^{S} ({}^{S} \mathbf{R} - \mathbf{R}) \times \mathbf{q} dX^{1};$$
(8.39)

or for I = 1, 2, 3,

$$F^{I}|_{X^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{k} F^{I} + \int_{0}^{S} q^{I} dX^{1},$$

$$M^{1}|_{X^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{k} M^{1} + \int_{0}^{S} m^{1} dX^{1},$$

$$M^{2}|_{X^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{k} M^{2} + \int_{0}^{S} m^{2} dX^{1}$$

$$-\sum_{k=1}^{k} F^{3} (S - X_{k}^{1}) - \int_{0}^{S} X^{1} q^{3} dX^{1},$$

$$M^{3}|_{X^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{k} M^{3} + \int_{0}^{S} m^{3} dX^{1}$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{k} F^{2} (S - X_{k}^{1}) + \int_{0}^{S} (S - X^{1}) q^{2} dX^{1}.$$
(8.40)

From assumptions (i) and (ii), the following conditions exist:

8.2. A nonlinear theory of straight beams

$$F^{3}|_{X^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{k} F^{3} + \int_{0}^{S} q^{3} dX^{1} = 0,$$

$$M^{1}|_{X^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{k} M^{1} + \int_{0}^{S} m^{1} dX^{1} = 0,$$

$$M^{2}|_{X^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{k} M^{2} + \int_{0}^{S} m^{2} dX^{1}$$

$$-\sum_{k=1}^{k} F^{3} (S - X_{k}^{1}) - \int_{0}^{S} (S - X^{1}) q^{3} dX^{1} = 0.$$
(8.41)

For all points on the beam to satisfy Eq.(8.41),

$${}^{k}F^{3} = 0 \text{ and } q^{3} = 0,$$

 ${}^{k}M^{1} = 0 \text{ and } m^{1} = 0,$
 ${}^{k}M^{2} = 0 \text{ and } m^{2} = 0.$
(8.42)

If the external forcing exerts on the three directions of (X^1, Y, Z) , the resultant forces and moments on three directions of (X^1, X^2, X^3) should satisfy Eq.(8.42). Such projection of the forces can be done through the rotation angle between the two coordinates (X^1, Y, Z) and (X^1, X^2, X^3) .

From assumption (ii),

$$u^{I} = u_{0}^{I}(S, t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (X^{2})^{n} \varphi_{n}^{(I)}(S, t) \text{ for } I=1, 2,$$
(8.43)

where $X^2 = \sqrt{(Y)^2 + (Z)^2}$ is a distance to the neutral surface along the direction of curvature. From assumption (ii), no displacements exist in the direction of X^3 (i.e., $u^3 = 0$). From *Kirchhoff's assumptions*, under bending only, if the cross section is normal to the neutral surface before deformation, then after deformation, the deformed cross section is still normal to the deformed neutral surface. Thus, equation (8.43) becomes

$$u^{I} = u_{0}^{I}(S,t) + X^{2} \varphi^{(I)}(S,t) \quad (I = 1, 2).$$
(8.44)

From assumptions (iii) and (iv),

$$(\delta_2^I + u_2^I)(\delta_2^I + u_2^I) = 1,$$

$$(\delta_1^I + u_1^I)(\delta_2^I + u_2^I) = 0.$$

$$(8.45)$$

With $u^3 = 0$ and Eq.(8.43), the Taylor series expansion of Eq.(8.45) give for the zero-order of X^2 ,

$$\begin{aligned} (\delta_2^I + \varphi_1^{(I)})(\delta_2^I + \varphi_1^{(I)}) &= 1, \\ (\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^I)(\delta_2^I + \varphi_1^{(I)}) &= 0. \end{aligned}$$
(8.46)

From Eq.(8.46),

$$\varphi_{1}^{(1)} = \mp \frac{u_{0,1}^{2}}{\sqrt{(1+u_{0,1}^{1})^{2}+(u_{0,1}^{2})^{2}}},$$

$$\varphi_{1}^{(2)} = \pm \frac{1+u_{0,1}^{1}}{\sqrt{(1+u_{0,1}^{1})^{2}+(u_{0,1}^{2})^{2}}} - 1.$$
(8.47)

From the sign convention, the positive "+" in the second equation of Eq.(8.47) will be adopted. Following the similar fashion, one can obtain $\varphi_n^{(I)}$ (n = 1, 2, ... and I = 1, 2). Further, using the Taylor series expansion, the approximations of three strains on the cross section of the deformed beam are

$$\mathcal{E}_{2} \approx \mathcal{E}_{2}^{(0)} + \frac{d\mathcal{E}_{2}}{dX^{2}} \bigg|_{X^{2}=0} X^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{d^{2}\mathcal{E}_{2}}{d(X^{2})^{2}} \bigg|_{X^{2}=0} (X^{2})^{2} + \cdots$$

$$= \mathcal{E}_{2}^{(0)} + \frac{2(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{2}^{(I)}}{1 + \mathcal{E}_{2}^{(0)}} X^{2} + \left\{ \frac{[2\varphi_{2}^{(I)}\varphi_{2}^{(I)} + 3(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{3}^{(I)}]}{1 + \mathcal{E}_{2}^{(0)}} - \frac{2[(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{2}^{(I)}]^{2}}{(1 + \mathcal{E}_{2}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (X^{2})^{2} + \cdots;$$

$$(8.49)$$

$$\gamma_{12} \approx \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{d\gamma_{12}}{dX^2} \bigg|_{X^2=0} X^2 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{d^2 \gamma_{12}}{d(X^2)^2} \bigg|_{X^2=0} (X^2)^2 + \cdots$$

$$= \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{12}^{(0)}} \Biggl\{ \frac{2(\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^{(I)})\varphi_2^{(I)} + (\delta_2^I + \varphi_1^{(I)})\varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})} - \sin \gamma_{12}^0 \Biggl[\frac{(\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^{(I)})\varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})^2} + \frac{2(\delta_2^I + \varphi_1^{(I)})\varphi_2^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})^2} \Biggr] \Biggr\} X^2 + \cdots,$$
(8.50)

where for I = 1, 2,

$$\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} = \sqrt{(\delta_{1}^{t} + u_{0,1}^{t})(\delta_{1}^{t} + u_{0,1}^{t})} - 1$$

= $\sqrt{(1 + u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (u_{0,1}^{2})^{2}} - 1,$ (8.51)

8.2. A nonlinear theory of straight beams

$$\mathcal{E}_{2}^{(0)} = \sqrt{(\delta_{2}^{T} + \varphi_{1}^{(T)})(\delta_{2}^{T} + \varphi_{1}^{(T)})} - 1$$

= $\sqrt{(\varphi_{1}^{(1)})^{2} + (1 + \varphi_{1}^{2})^{2}} - 1,$ (8.52)

$$\gamma_{12}^{(0)} = \sin^{-1} \frac{(\delta_1^{\prime} + u_{0,1}^{\prime})(\delta_2^{\prime} + \varphi_1^{\prime})}{(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})}$$
$$= \sin^{-1} \frac{(1 + u_{0,1}^{1})\varphi_1^{(1)} + u_{0,1}^{2}(1 + \varphi_1^{(2)})}{(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})}.$$
(8.53)

The constitutive laws give the stresses on the deformed configuration as

$$\sigma_1 = f(\varepsilon_1, t) \text{ and } \sigma_{12} = g(\gamma_{12}, t).$$
(8.54)

The internal forces and moments in the deformed beam are defined as

$$N_{1} = \int_{A} \sigma_{1} \left[(1 + \varepsilon_{2})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \cos \gamma_{23} \right] dA,$$

$$M_{3} = \int_{A} \sigma_{1} \frac{X^{2}}{1 + \varphi_{1}^{(2)}} \left[(1 + \varepsilon_{3})(1 + \varepsilon_{2})^{2} \cos \gamma_{23} \right] dA,$$

$$Q_{1} = \int_{A} \sigma_{12} \left[(1 + \varepsilon_{2})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \cos \gamma_{23} \right] dA.$$

(8.55)

For convenience, the subscripts of the internal forces can be dropped. The internal force vectors can be defined as

$$\mathbf{M} \equiv M^{3} \mathbf{I}_{3} = M \mathbf{n}_{3},$$

$$\mathcal{N} \equiv N^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = N \mathbf{n}_{1} + Q \mathbf{n}_{2},$$

$$^{N} \mathbf{M} \equiv ^{N} M^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N},$$
(8.56)

where

$$\mathbf{g}_{1} \equiv \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{dS} = (\delta_{1}^{T} + u_{0,1}^{T})\mathbf{I}_{T} \text{ and } ^{\mathbf{N}}\mathbf{M} \equiv \frac{1}{dS}d\mathbf{r} \times \mathcal{N}.$$
(8.57)

The components of the internal forces in the I_I -direction are

$$N^{I} = N\mathbf{n}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} + Q\mathbf{n}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = N\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{I}_{I})} + Q\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{2},\mathbf{I}_{I})}$$
$$= \frac{N(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} + \frac{Q(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}}, \qquad (8.58)$$

$$M^{I} = M\mathbf{n}_{3} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = M \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{3},\mathbf{I}_{I})} = \frac{M(\delta_{3}^{I} + u_{0,3}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}},$$

$$^{N}M^{3} = (\mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N}) \cdot \mathbf{I}_{3} = (1 + u_{0,1}^{1})N^{2} - u_{0,1}^{2}N^{1}.$$
(8.59)

Because of $u_{0,3}^{I} = 0$ and $\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} = 0$, one obtains

^N
$$M^3 = Q(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)}), {}^{N}M^1 = {}^{N}M^2 = 0,$$

 $M^1 = M^2 = 0 \text{ and } M^3 = M.$
(8.60)

Equations of motion on the deformed beam are given by

$$\mathcal{N}_{,1} + \mathbf{q} = \rho \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + I_3 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt},$$

$$\mathbf{M}_{,1} + {}^{\mathrm{N}} \mathbf{M} + \mathbf{m} = I_3 \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + J_3 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt};$$
(8.61)

and the corresponding scalar expressions are for I = 1, 2,

$$N_{,1}^{I} + q^{I} = \rho u_{(0),tt}^{I} + I_{3} \varphi_{1,tt}^{(I)},$$

$$M_{,1}^{3} + {}^{N}M^{3} + m^{3} = I_{3}u_{(0),tt}^{I} + J_{3} \varphi_{1,tt}^{(I)};$$
(8.62)

or

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{N(1+u_{0,1}^{1})}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} - \frac{Qu_{0,1}^{2}}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} \end{bmatrix}_{,1} + q^{1} = \rho u_{0,t}^{1} + I_{3}\varphi_{1,t}^{(1)};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{Nu_{0,1}^{2}}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} + \frac{Q(1+u_{0,1}^{1})}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} \end{bmatrix}_{,1} + q^{2} = \rho u_{0,t}^{2} + I_{3}\varphi_{1,t}^{(2)};$$

$$M_{,1} + Q(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}) + m^{3} = I_{3}u_{0,t}^{1} + J_{3}\varphi_{1,t}^{(1)},$$
(8.63)

where $\rho = \int_{A} \rho_0 dA$, $I_3 = \int_{A} \rho_0 X^2 dA$ and $J_3 = \int_{A} \rho_0 (X^2)^2 dA$. The force condition at a point \mathscr{P}_k with $X^1 = X_k^1$ is

$${}^{-}\mathbf{N}(X_{k}^{1}) + {}^{+}\mathbf{N}(X_{k}^{1}) + \mathbf{F}_{k} = 0,$$

$${}^{-}N^{I}(X_{k}^{1}) = {}^{+}N^{I}(X_{k}^{1}) + F_{k}^{I} \quad (I = 1, 2).$$
(8.64)

The force boundary condition at the boundary point \mathscr{P}_r is

$$\mathbf{N}(X_r^1) + \mathbf{F}_r = 0 \text{ or } N^I(X_r^1) + F_r^I = 0 \quad (I = 1, 2).$$
 (8.65)

If there is a concentrated moment at a point \mathscr{P}_k with $X^1 = X_k^1$, the corresponding moment boundary condition is

$${}^{-}\mathbf{M}(X_{k}^{1}) + {}^{+}\mathbf{M}(X_{k}^{1}) + \mathbf{M}_{k} = 0,$$

$${}^{-}M^{3}(X_{k}^{1}) = {}^{+}M^{3}(X_{k}^{1}) + M_{k}^{3}.$$
(8.66)

The moment boundary condition at the boundary point \mathscr{P}_k is

$$\mathbf{M}(X_r^1) + \mathbf{M}_r = 0 \text{ or } M^3(X_r^1) + M_r^3 = 0.$$
 (8.67)

The displacement continuity and boundary conditions are

$$u_{k-}^{l} = u_{k+}^{l} \text{ and } u_{k-}^{l} = B_{k-}^{l}.$$
 (8.68)

The afore-developed beam theory can be reduced to the beam theory given by Reissner (1972). The nonlinear vibration and chaos of a beam were extensively investigated (e.g., Verma, 1972; Luo and Han, 1999).

8.3. Nonlinear curved beams

Consider an arbitrary coordinate system as (X^1, Y, Z) at the *centroid* on the cross section of the beam. The central curve of the deformed beam is on the plane of (X^1, X^2) , as shown in Fig.8.3. In other words, the neutral surface of the deformed beam is on the plane of (X^1, X^3) . Let the coordinate S^1 be along the longitudinal direction of beam and the other two coordinates S^2 and S^3 be on the cross section of beam with the direction of S^1 . The coordinates for the deformed, curved beam are (s^1, s^2, s^3) . Because the initial configuration of the beam is a curved beam, under external force, the deformed configuration of the beam to the initial configuration does not experience any torsion ($\tau(s^1) \equiv 0$). In other words, under the resultant forces, the bending of beam is in the plane of (S^1, S^2) . Thus, the configuration of the deformed beam is still a plane curve. Without loss of generality, the curvature direction of the deformed configuration can be assumed to be collinear to S^2 . Because the widths of beam in two directions of S^2 and S^3 are very small compared to the length of the beam in direction of S^1 , the elongation in the two directions of S^2 and S^3 should be very small, which can be neglected. Thus, as in the straight beam, the following assumptions are enforced.

- (i) The configuration of the deformed beam to the initial curved beam does not experience any torsion ($\tau(s^1) \equiv 0$).
- (ii) The curvature direction of the deformed beam is collinear to s^2 .
- (iii) The elongations in the two directions of S^2 and S^3 are very small (i.e., $\varepsilon_2 \approx 0$ and $\varepsilon_3 = 0$).
- (iv) For bending only, the neutral surface is not deformed (i.e., $\gamma_{12} \approx 0$ and $\gamma_{13} = 0$).

From Assumption (i), no torque exists, and the transversal external forces should be added at *the shear center*. Similar to Eqs.(8.36) and (8.37), the external distributed forces and moments on the initial configuration are for (I, $\Lambda = 1, 2, 3$)

$$\mathbf{q} = q^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = q^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}$$
 and $\mathbf{m} = m^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = m^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}$ (8.69)



Fig. 8.3 A curved beam with initial and deformed configuration.

and concentrated forces on the initial configuration at a point $S^1 = S_k$,

$$\mathbf{F}_{k} = F_{k}^{T} \mathbf{I}_{t} = F_{k}^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} \text{ and } \mathbf{M}_{k} = M_{k}^{T} \mathbf{I}_{t} = M_{k}^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}.$$
(8.70)

Thus,

$$F^{\Lambda}|_{S^{1}=S} = F^{I}\mathbf{I}_{I} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = F^{I}\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{I}_{I},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})},$$

$$M^{\Lambda}|_{S^{1}=S} = M^{I}\mathbf{I}_{I} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = M^{I}\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{I}_{I},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})}.$$
(8.71)

The displacement vectors on the initial configuration are

$$\mathbf{R}(S^{\mathsf{I}}) = X^{\mathsf{I}}(S^{\mathsf{I}})\mathbf{I}_{\mathsf{I}}, \mathbf{R}(S) = X^{\mathsf{I}}_{S}\mathbf{I}_{\mathsf{I}} \text{ and } \mathbf{R}_{\mathsf{k}} = X^{\mathsf{I}}_{\mathsf{k}}\mathbf{I}_{\mathsf{I}}.$$
(8.72)

The internal forces and moments for $(S^1 > S_k^1)$ are

$$\mathbf{F}|_{S^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \mathbf{F}_{k} + \int_{0}^{S} \mathbf{q} dS^{1},$$

$$\mathbf{M}|_{S^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \mathbf{M}_{k} + \int_{0}^{S} \mathbf{m} dS^{1}$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{N} (\mathbf{R}(S) - \mathbf{R}_{k}) \times {}^{k} \mathbf{F} + \int_{0}^{S} (\mathbf{R}(S) - \mathbf{R}(S^{1})) \times \mathbf{q} dS^{1};$$
(8.73)

or for I = 1, 2, 3,

$$F^{I}|_{S^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{k} F^{I} + \int_{0}^{S} q^{I} dS^{1},$$

$$M^{I}|_{S^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{k} M_{k}^{I} + \int_{0}^{S} m^{I} dS^{1}$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{k} e_{LJK} (X_{S}^{J} - X_{k}^{J}) F_{k}^{K} + \int_{0}^{S} e_{LJK} (X_{S}^{J} - X_{k}^{J}) q^{K} dS^{1}.$$
(8.74)

Assumptions (i) and (ii) requires the following conditions:

$$F^{\Lambda}|_{S^{1}=S} = 0 \text{ for } \Lambda=3 \text{ and } M^{\Lambda}|_{S^{1}=S} = 0 \text{ for } \Lambda=1, 2.$$
 (8.75)

Since the vectors I_3 and N_3 (G_3) are collinear and all points on the beam satisfy Eq.(8.75), one obtains

$${}^{k}F' = 0 \text{ and } q' = 0 \text{ for } I = 3,$$

$$M^{1}\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{I}_{1},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})} + M^{2}\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{I}_{2},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})} = 0 \text{ for } \Lambda = 1, 2.$$
(8.76)

Because

$$\begin{vmatrix} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{I}_1, \mathbf{N}_1)} & \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{I}_2, \mathbf{N}_1)} \\ \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{I}_1, \mathbf{N}_2)} & \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{I}_2, \mathbf{N}_2)} \end{vmatrix} \neq 0,$$
(8.77)

the second equation of Eq.(8.76) gives

$$M^1 = M^2 = 0. ag{8.78}$$

Thus, the external force conditions for the curved beam without twisting are given by the first equation of Eqs.(8.76) and (8.78). In other words, no external distributed and concentrated forces are in the direction of X^3 and the resultant external moments in the directions of X^1 and X^3 are zero.

8.3.1. A nonlinear theory based on the Cartesian coordinates

The strain based on the change in length of $d\mathbf{R}$ per unit length for a curved beam in the Cartesian coordinates gives

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha} = \frac{\left|\frac{d\mathbf{r}}{\alpha}\right| - \left|\frac{d\mathbf{R}}{\alpha}\right|}{\left|\frac{d\mathbf{R}}{\alpha}\right|} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}}\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha}} - 1$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}}\sqrt{(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})} - 1$$
(8.79)

in which no summation on α can be completed. The Lagrangian strain tensor $E_{\alpha\beta}$ referred to the initial configuration is

$$E_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} (X_{,\alpha}^{I} u_{,\beta}^{I} + X_{,\beta}^{I} u_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I} u_{,\beta}^{I}).$$
(8.80)

In the similar fashion, the angles between \mathbf{n}_{α} and \mathbf{n}_{β} before and after deformation are expressed by $\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})} = \pi/2$ and $\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}$, i.e.,

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})} = \frac{\frac{d\mathbf{r} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{r}||}}{|d\mathbf{r}||}$$
$$= \frac{(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,\beta}^{I} + u_{,\beta}^{I})}{\sqrt{(G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha})(G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta})}}$$
$$= \frac{(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,\beta}^{I} + u_{,\beta}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}G_{\beta\beta}(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha})(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta})}, \qquad (8.81)$$

and the corresponding shear strain is defined as

$$\gamma_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})} - \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}$$

$$= \sin^{-1} \frac{(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,\beta}^{I} + u_{,\beta}^{I})}{\sqrt{(G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha})(G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta})}}$$

$$= \sin^{-1} \frac{(X_{,\alpha}^{I} + u_{,\alpha}^{I})(X_{,\beta}^{I} + u_{,\beta}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}G_{\beta\beta}}(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha})(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta})}.$$
(8.82)

From Eqs.(8.24) and (8.28), the direction cosine of the rotation without summation on α and β is

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})} = \frac{d\mathbf{R} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{R}||d\mathbf{r}||} = \frac{X_{,\alpha}^{I}(X_{,\beta}^{I} + u_{,\beta}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta}}}$$
$$= \frac{X_{,\alpha}^{I}(X_{,\beta}^{I} + u_{,\beta}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}G_{\beta\beta}(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta})}.$$
(8.83)

Finally, the change ratio of areas before and after deformation is

$$\frac{da}{\frac{\alpha\beta}{dA}} = (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha})(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta})\sin\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}, \qquad (8.84)$$

where $da_{\alpha\beta} = | d\mathbf{r} \times d\mathbf{r} |$ and $dA_{\alpha\beta} = | d\mathbf{R} \times d\mathbf{R} |$.

From assumption (ii),

8.3. Nonlinear curved beams

$$u^{I} = u_{0}^{I}(S, t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (S^{2})^{n} \varphi_{n}^{(I)}(S, t) \text{ for } I=1, 2.$$
(8.85)

From Assumption (ii), no displacements exist in the direction of S^3 (i.e., $u^3 = 0$). From the Kirchhoff's assumptions, under bending only, if the cross section is normal to the neutral surface before deformation, then after deformation, the deformed cross section is still normal to the deformed neutral surface. Thus, equation (8.85) can be assumed as

$$u^{I} = u_{0}^{I}(S,t) + S^{2} \varphi^{(I)}(S,t) \quad (\alpha = 1, 2).$$
(8.86)

From assumptions (iii) and (iv),

$$\frac{1}{G_{22}} (X_{,2}^{l} + u_{,2}^{l})(X_{,2}^{l} + u_{,2}^{l}) = 1,$$

$$(X_{,1}^{l} + u_{,1}^{l})(X_{,2}^{l} + u_{,2}^{l}) = 0.$$
(8.87)

With $u^3 = 0$ and Eq.(8.85), the Taylor series expansion of Eq.(8.87) give for the zero-order of S^2 ,

$$\frac{1}{G_{22}} (X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)}) (X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)}) = 1,$$

$$(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I}) (X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)}) = 0,$$
(8.88)

where $X_{,2}^{I} = G_{2}^{I}$. From Eq.(8.88),

$$\varphi_{l}^{(1)} = \mp \frac{(X_{,1}^{2} + u_{0,1}^{2})\sqrt{G_{22}}}{\sqrt{(X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (X_{,1}^{2} + u_{0,1}^{2})^{2}}} - X_{,2}^{1},$$

$$\varphi_{l}^{(2)} = \pm \frac{(X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1})\sqrt{G_{22}}}{\sqrt{(X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (X_{,1}^{2} + u_{0,1}^{2})^{2}}} - X_{,2}^{2}.$$
(8.89)

Similarly, one can obtain $\varphi_n^{(I)}$ (n = 1, 2, ... and I = 1, 2). Using the Taylor series expansion gives the approximate strains, i.e.,

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon_{1} &\approx \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} + \frac{d\varepsilon_{1}}{dS^{2}} \bigg|_{S^{2}=0} S^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{d^{2} \varepsilon_{1}}{d(S^{2})^{2}} \bigg|_{S^{2}=0} (S^{2})^{2} + \cdots \\ &= \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} + \frac{(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I}) \varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} S^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \frac{[2(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I}) \varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}] + \varphi_{1,1}^{(I)} \varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} (S^{2})^{2} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \frac{[(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I}) \varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}]^{2}}{G_{11}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{3}} (S^{2})^{2} + \cdots, \end{split}$$
(8.90)

$$\varepsilon_{2} \approx \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} + \frac{d\varepsilon_{2}}{dS^{2}} \bigg|_{S^{2}=0} S^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{d^{2}\varepsilon_{2}}{d(S^{2})^{2}} \bigg|_{S^{2}=0} (S^{2})^{2} + \cdots$$

$$= \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} + \frac{2(X_{.2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{2}^{(I)}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} S^{2}$$

$$+ \frac{[2\varphi_{2}^{(I)}\varphi_{2}^{(I)} + 3(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{3}^{(I)}]}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} (S^{2})^{2}$$

$$- \frac{2[(X_{.2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{2}^{(I)}]^{2}}{G_{22}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{3}} (S^{2})^{2} + \cdots; \qquad (8.91)$$

$$\gamma_{12} \approx \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{d\gamma_{12}}{dS^2} \bigg|_{S^2 = 0} S^2 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{d^2 \gamma_{12}}{d(S^2)^2} \bigg|_{S^2 = 0} (S^2)^2 + \cdots$$

$$= \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{12}^{(0)}} \Biggl\{ \frac{2(X_{,1}^I + u_{0,1}^{(I)})\varphi_2^{(I)} + (X_{,2}^I + \varphi_1^{(I)})\varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})} - \sin \gamma_{12}^{(0)} \Biggl[\frac{(X_{,1}^I + u_{0,1}^{(I)})\varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})^2} + \frac{2(X_{,2}^I + \varphi_1^{(I)})\varphi_2^{(I)}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})^2} \Biggr] \Biggr\} S^2 + \cdots,$$
(8.92)

where for I = 1, 2

$$\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}} \sqrt{(X_{,1}^{T} + u_{0,1}^{T})(X_{,1}^{T} + u_{0,1}^{T})} - 1$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}} \sqrt{(X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (X_{,1}^{2} + u_{0,1}^{2})^{2}} - 1, \qquad (8.93)$$

$$\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} \sqrt{(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})} - 1$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} \sqrt{(X_{,2}^{1} + \varphi_{1}^{(1)})^{2} + (X_{,2}^{2} + \varphi_{1}^{(2)})^{2}} - 1, \qquad (8.94)$$

$$\gamma_{12}^{(0)} = \sin^{-1} \frac{(X_{,1}^{l} + u_{0,1}^{l})(X_{,2}^{l} + \varphi_{1}^{(l)})}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})}$$

$$= \sin^{-1} \frac{(X_{,1}^{l} + u_{,1}^{l})(X_{,2}^{l} + \varphi_{1}^{(1)}) + (X_{,1}^{2} + u_{,1}^{2})(X_{,2}^{2} + \varphi_{1}^{(2)})}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})}.$$
 (8.95)

The constitutive laws give the stresses on the deformed configuration, i.e.,

$$\sigma_1 = f(\varepsilon_1, \gamma_{12}, t) \text{ and } \sigma_{12} = g(\varepsilon_1, \gamma_{12}, t).$$
 (8.96)

The internal forces and moments in the deformed beam are defined as

8.3. Nonlinear curved beams

$$N_{1} = \int_{A} \sigma_{1} [(1 + \varepsilon_{2})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \cos \gamma_{23}] dA,$$

$$M_{3} = \int_{A} \frac{\sigma_{1} S^{2}}{1 + \varphi_{1}^{(2)}} \Big[\sqrt{G_{22}} (1 + \varepsilon_{3})(1 + \varepsilon_{2})^{2} \cos \gamma_{23} \Big] dA,$$

$$Q_{1} = \int_{A} \sigma_{12} [(1 + \varepsilon_{2})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \cos \gamma_{23}] dA.$$
(8.97)

For convenience, the subscripts of the internal forces can be dropped. The internal force vectors are defined as

$$\mathbf{M} \equiv M^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = M \mathbf{n}_{3},$$

$$\mathcal{N} \equiv N^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = N \mathbf{n}_{1} + Q \mathbf{n}_{2},$$

$$^{N} \mathbf{M} \equiv ^{N} M^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N};$$

(8.98)

$$\mathbf{g}_{1} \equiv \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{dS} = (X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})\mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ and } ^{\mathsf{N}}\mathbf{M} \equiv \frac{1}{dS}d\mathbf{r} \times \mathcal{N}.$$
(8.99)

The components of the internal forces in the I_I -direction are

$$N^{I} = N\mathbf{n}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} + Q\mathbf{n}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = N\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{I}_{I})} + Q\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{2},\mathbf{I}_{I})}$$

$$= \frac{N(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{Q(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})},$$
(8.100)

$$M^{I} = M\mathbf{n}_{3} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = M \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{3},\mathbf{I}_{I})} = \frac{M(X_{,3}^{I} + u_{(0),3}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}},$$

$$^{N}M^{1} = (\mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N}) \cdot \mathbf{I}_{1} = (X_{,1}^{2} + u_{0,1}^{2})N^{3} - (X_{,1}^{3} + u_{0,1}^{3})N^{2},$$

$$^{N}M^{2} = (\mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N}) \cdot \mathbf{I}_{2} = (X_{,1}^{3} + u_{0,1}^{3})N^{1} - (X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1})N^{3},$$

$$^{N}M^{3} = (\mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N}) \cdot \mathbf{I}_{3} = (X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1})N^{2} - (X_{,1}^{2} + u_{0,1}^{2})N^{1}.$$
(8.101)

Due to $u_{0,3}^I = 0$, $X_{,\alpha}^3 = 0$, $X_{,3}^1 = X_{,3}^2 = 0$, $u^3 = 0$ and $\varepsilon_3^{(0)} = 0$, the following equations are achieved, i.e.,

$${}^{\mathsf{N}}M^{3} = \mathcal{Q}\frac{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})}, \text{ and } {}^{\mathsf{N}}M^{1} = {}^{\mathsf{N}}M^{2} = 0.$$

$$M^{1} = M^{2} = 0 \text{ and } M^{3} = M.$$
(8.102)

Based on the deformed middle surface in the Lagrangian coordinates, the equations of motion for the deformed beam are

$$\mathcal{N}_{,1} + \mathbf{q} = \rho \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + I_3 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt},$$

$$\mathbf{M}_{,1} + {}^{\mathrm{N}} \mathbf{M} + \mathbf{m} = I_3 \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + J_3 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt};$$
(8.103)

and the scalar expressions are for I = 1, 2

$$N_{,1}^{I} + q^{I} = \rho u_{0,tt}^{I} + I_{3} \varphi_{1,tt}^{(I)},$$

$$M_{,1}^{3} + {}^{N}M^{3} + m^{3} = I_{3}u_{0,tt}^{1} + J_{3} \varphi_{1,tt}^{(I)}$$
(8.104)

where $\rho = \int_A \rho_0 dA$, $I_3 = \int_A \rho_0 X^2 dA$ and $J_3 = \int_A \rho_0 (X^2)^2 dA$. With Eqs.(8.89) and (8.100)–(8.102), the foregoing equation gives

$$\begin{bmatrix} N(X_{,1}^{1}+u_{0,1}^{1}) \\ \overline{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} - \frac{Q(X_{,1}^{2}+u_{0,1}^{2})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \end{bmatrix}_{,1} + q^{1} = \rho u_{0,tt}^{1} + I_{3}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(1)},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} N(X_{,1}^{2}+u_{0,1}^{2}) \\ \overline{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{Q(X_{,1}^{1}+u_{0,1}^{1})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \end{bmatrix}_{,1} + q^{2} = \rho u_{0,tt}^{2} + I_{3}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(2)},$$

$$M_{,1} + Q \frac{\sqrt{G_{11}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} + m^{3} = I_{3}u_{0,tt}^{1} + J_{3}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(1)}.$$
(8.105)

As in Eqs.(8.61)–(8.65), the force and displacement continuity and boundary conditions can be given as follows.

The force condition at a point \mathscr{P}_k with $S^1 = S^1_k$ is

$${}^{-}\mathbf{N}(S_{k}^{1}) + {}^{+}\mathbf{N}(S_{k}^{1}) + \mathbf{F}_{k} = 0,$$

$${}^{-}N^{I}(S_{k}^{1}) = {}^{+}N^{I}(S_{k}^{1}) + F_{k}^{I} \quad (I = 1, 2).$$
(8.107)

The force boundary condition at the boundary point \mathscr{P}_r is

$$\mathbf{N}(S_r^1) + \mathbf{F}_r = 0 \text{ or } N^I(S_r^1) + F_r^I = 0 \quad (I = 1, 2).$$
(8.108)

If there is a concentrated moment at a point \mathscr{P}_k with $S^1 = S_k$, the corresponding moment boundary condition is

$${}^{-}\mathbf{M}(S_{k}^{1}) + {}^{+}\mathbf{M}(S_{k}^{1}) + \mathbf{M}_{k} = 0,$$

$${}^{-}M^{I}(S_{k}^{1}) = {}^{+}M^{I}(S_{k}^{1}) + M_{k}^{I} \quad (I = 3).$$
(8.109)

The moment boundary condition at the boundary point \mathscr{P}_k is

$$\mathbf{M}(S_r^1) + \mathbf{M}_r = 0 \text{ or } M^I(S_r^1) + M_r^I = 0 \quad (I = 3).$$
(8.110)

The displacement continuity and boundary conditions are the same as in Eq.(8.68). From the sign convention, the positive "+" in the second equation of Eq.(8.89) was adopted.

336

8.3.2. A nonlinear theory based on the curvilinear coordinates

The strain based on the change in length of $d\mathbf{R}$ per unit length gives

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha} = \frac{|d\mathbf{r}| - |d\mathbf{R}|}{|d\mathbf{R}|} = \sqrt{1 + \frac{2E_{\alpha\alpha}}{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} - 1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha}} - 1$$
$$= \frac{\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta}}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}} \sqrt{(\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} + u_{;\alpha}^{\beta})(\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} + u_{;\alpha}^{\beta})} - 1,$$
(8.111)

where the Lagrangian strain tensor $E_{\alpha\beta}$ to the initial configuration is

$$E_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} (u_{\alpha;\beta} + u_{\alpha;\beta} + u_{;\alpha}^{\gamma} u_{\gamma;\beta})$$

= $\frac{1}{2} \Big[(\delta_{\alpha}^{\gamma} + u_{;\alpha}^{\gamma}) (\delta_{\beta}^{\delta} + u_{;\beta}^{\delta}) G_{\gamma\delta} - G_{\alpha\beta} \Big].$ (8.112)

Similarly, the angles between \mathbf{n}_{α} and \mathbf{n}_{β} before and after deformation are expressed by $\Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})} = \pi/2$ and $\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}$, i.e.,

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})} = \frac{\frac{d\mathbf{r} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{\alpha}}{|d\mathbf{r}||} = \frac{G_{\alpha\beta} + 2E_{\alpha\beta}}{\sqrt{(G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha})(G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta})}}$$
$$= \frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{\gamma} + u_{\beta}^{\gamma})(\delta_{\beta}^{\delta} + u_{\beta}^{\delta})G_{\gamma\delta}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}G_{\beta\beta}}(1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha})(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta})},$$
(8.113)

and the shear strain is

$$\gamma_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \Theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{N}_{\beta})} - \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}$$

$$= \sin^{-1} \frac{G_{\alpha\beta} + 2E_{\alpha\beta}}{\sqrt{(G_{\alpha\alpha} + 2E_{\alpha\alpha})(G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta})}},$$

$$= \sin^{-1} \frac{(\delta_{\alpha}^{\gamma} + u_{;\alpha}^{\gamma})(\delta_{\beta}^{\delta} + u_{;\beta}^{\delta})G_{\gamma\delta}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}G_{\beta\beta}}(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta})(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta})}.$$
(8.114)

The direction cosine of the rotation without summation on α and β is

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{N}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})} = \frac{d\mathbf{R} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{|d\mathbf{R}||d\mathbf{r}||} = \frac{G_{\alpha\beta} + u_{\alpha;\beta}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}\sqrt{G_{\beta\beta} + 2E_{\beta\beta}}}$$
$$= \frac{G_{\alpha\beta} + u_{\alpha;\beta}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}}G_{\gamma\gamma}}\sqrt{(\delta_{\beta}^{\gamma} + u_{\beta}^{\gamma})(\delta_{\beta}^{\gamma} + u_{\beta}^{\gamma})}$$

$$=\frac{G_{\alpha\beta}+u_{\alpha;\beta}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}G_{\beta\beta}}(1+\varepsilon_{\beta})}=\frac{(\delta_{\beta}^{\gamma}+u_{;\alpha}^{\gamma})G_{\gamma\alpha}}{\sqrt{G_{\alpha\alpha}G_{\beta\beta}}(1+\varepsilon_{\beta})}.$$
(8.115)

In addition, the change ratio of areas before and after deformation are given by

$$\frac{da}{\frac{\alpha\beta}{dA}} = (1 + \varepsilon_{\alpha})(1 + \varepsilon_{\beta})\sin\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{n}_{\beta})}$$
(8.116)

where $da_{\alpha\beta} = |d\mathbf{r} \times d\mathbf{r}|$ and $dA_{\alpha\beta} = |d\mathbf{R} \times d\mathbf{R}|$.

From assumption (ii),

$$u^{\Lambda} = u_0^{\Lambda}(S, t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (S^2)^n \varphi_n^{(\Lambda)}(S, t) \text{ for } \Lambda = 1, 2.$$
(8.117)

No displacements exist in the direction of S^3 (i.e., $u^3 = 0$). From the Kirchhoff's assumptions, under bending only, if the cross section is normal to the neutral surface before deformation, then after deformation, the deformed cross section is still normal to the deformed neutral surface. Thus, equation (8.117) becomes

$$u^{\Lambda} = u_0^{\Lambda}(S, t) + S^2 \varphi^{(\Lambda)}(S, t) \ (\alpha = 1, 2).$$
(8.118)

From Assumptions (iii) and (iv),

$$(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + u_{;2}^{\Lambda})(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + u_{;2}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda\Lambda} = G_{22}, (\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{;1}^{\Lambda})(\delta_{2}^{\Gamma} + u_{;2}^{\Gamma})G_{\Lambda\Gamma} = 0.$$
(8.119)

With $u^3 = 0$ and Eq.(8.117), the Taylor series expansion of Eq.(8.119) gives for the zero-order of S^2 :

$$G_{\Lambda\Lambda}(\delta_{2}^{(\Lambda)} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})(\delta_{2}^{(\Lambda)} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)}) = G_{22},$$

$$(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})(\delta_{2}^{\Gamma} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Gamma)})G_{\Lambda\Gamma} = 0.$$
(8.120)

Form the foregoing equations,

$$\varphi_{1}^{(1)} = \mp \frac{u_{0;1}^{2} G_{22}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} \sqrt{(1+u_{0;1}^{1})^{2} G_{11} + (u_{0;1}^{2})^{2} G_{22}}},$$

$$\varphi_{1}^{(2)} = \pm \frac{(1+u_{0;1}^{1}) \sqrt{G_{11}}}{\sqrt{(1+u_{0;1}^{1})^{2} G_{11} + (u_{0;1}^{2})^{2} G_{22}}} - 1.$$
(8.121)

From the sign convention, the positive "+" in the second equation of Eq.(8.121) will be adopted. Similarly, one obtains $\varphi_n^{(\alpha)}$ (n = 1, 2, ... and $\alpha = 1, 2$). The approximate strains for the curved beam in the curvilinear coordinates are:

338

8.3. Nonlinear curved beams

$$\begin{aligned} \varepsilon_{1} &\approx \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} + \frac{d\varepsilon_{1}}{dS^{2}} \bigg|_{S^{2}=0} S^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{d^{2} \varepsilon_{1}}{d(S^{2})^{2}} \bigg|_{S^{2}=0} (S^{2})^{2} + \cdots \\ &= \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} + \frac{(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})\varphi_{1;1}^{(\Lambda)}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} S^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{[2(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})\varphi_{2;1}^{(\Lambda)}] + \varphi_{1;1}^{(\Lambda)}\varphi_{1;1}^{(\Lambda)}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} G_{\Lambda\Lambda} \\ &- \frac{[(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})\varphi_{1;1}^{(\Lambda)}]^{2}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}^{2}}{G_{11}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (S^{2})^{2} + \cdots, \end{aligned}$$
(8.122)

$$\varepsilon_{2} \approx \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} + \frac{d\varepsilon_{2}}{dS^{2}} \bigg|_{S^{2}=0} S^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{d^{2}\varepsilon_{2}}{d(S^{2})^{2}} \bigg|_{S^{2}=0} (S^{2})^{2} + \cdots$$

$$= \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} + \frac{2(X_{.2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} S^{2}$$

$$+ \left\{ \frac{[2\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)}\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)} + 3(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{3}^{(\Lambda)}]G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} - \frac{2[(X_{.2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)}]^{2}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}^{2}}{G_{22}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (S^{2})^{2} + \cdots, \qquad (8.123)$$

$$\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} \sqrt{(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})G_{\Lambda\Lambda}} - 1$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} \sqrt{(\varphi_{1}^{(1)})^{2} G_{11} + (1 + \varphi_{1}^{(2)})^{2} G_{22}} - 1, \qquad (8.126)$$

$$\gamma_{12}^{(0)} = \sin^{-1} \frac{(\delta_1^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})(\delta_2^{\Gamma} + \varphi_1^{(\Gamma)})G_{\Lambda\Gamma}}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})}$$

= $\sin^{-1} \frac{(1 + u_{0;1}^1)\varphi_1^{(1)}G_{11} + u_{0;1}^2(1 + \varphi_1^{(2)})G_{22}}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})}.$ (8.127)

As in Eq.(8.96), the stresses on the deformed configuration can be defined by the constitutive laws, i.e.,

$$\sigma_1 = f(\varepsilon_1, \gamma_{12}, t) \text{ and } \sigma_{12} = g(\varepsilon_1, \gamma_{12}, t).$$
 (8.128)

The internal forces and moments in the deformed beam are defined as

$$N_{1} = \int_{A} \sigma_{1} \left[(1 + \varepsilon_{2})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \cos \gamma_{23} \right] dA,$$

$$M_{3} = \int_{A} \sigma_{1} \frac{S^{2}}{1 + \varphi_{1}^{(2)}} \left[(1 + \varepsilon_{3})(1 + \varepsilon_{2})^{2} \cos \gamma_{23} \right] dA,$$

$$Q_{1} = \int_{A} \sigma_{12} \left[(1 + \varepsilon_{2})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \cos \gamma_{23} \right] dA.$$
(8.129)

For convenience, the subscripts of the internal forces can be dropped again. The internal force vectors are defined as

$$\mathbf{M} \equiv M^{3} \mathbf{N}_{3} = M \mathbf{n}_{3},$$

$$\mathcal{N} \equiv N^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = N \mathbf{n}_{1} + Q \mathbf{n}_{2},$$

$$^{N} \mathbf{M} \equiv ^{N} M^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = \mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N},$$
(8.130)

where

$$\mathbf{g}_{1} \equiv \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{dS} = (\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} \text{ and } ^{\mathbf{N}}\mathbf{M} \equiv \frac{1}{dS}d\mathbf{r} \times \mathcal{N}.$$
(8.131)

The components of the internal forces in the $\,{\bf G}_{\Lambda}^{}$ -direction are

$$N^{\Lambda} = N\mathbf{n}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} + Q\mathbf{n}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = N\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})} + Q\cos\theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{2},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})}$$

$$= \frac{N(\delta_{1}^{\Gamma} + u_{0;1}^{\Gamma})G_{\Gamma\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{Q(\delta_{2}^{\Gamma} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Gamma)})G_{\Gamma\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})},$$
(8.132)

$$M_{1}^{\Lambda} = M\mathbf{n}_{3} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = M \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{3},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})} = \frac{MG_{3\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}G_{33}}},$$

$$^{\mathbf{N}}M^{1} = (\mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N}) \cdot \mathbf{N}_{1} = u_{0;1}^{2} \sqrt{G_{22}} N^{3} - u_{0;1}^{3} \sqrt{G_{33}} N^{2},$$

$$^{\mathbf{N}}M^{2} = (\mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N}) \cdot \mathbf{N}_{2} = u_{0;1}^{3} \sqrt{G_{33}} N^{1} - (1 + u_{0;1}^{1}) \sqrt{G_{11}} N^{3},$$

$$^{\mathbf{N}}M^{3} = (\mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N}) \cdot \mathbf{N}_{3} = (1 + u_{0;1}^{1}) \sqrt{G_{11}} N^{2} - u_{0;1}^{2} \sqrt{G_{22}} N^{1}.$$

$$(8.133)$$

340

8.3. Nonlinear curved beams

If $u_{(0),3}^{\Lambda} = u^3 = 0$, $\mathcal{E}_3^{(0)} = 0$, $G_{\Lambda 3} = 0$ ($\Lambda \neq 3$) and $G_{33} = 1$, then

$$M_{1}^{1} = M_{1}^{2} = 0, \quad M_{1}^{3} = M,$$

$$^{N}M^{1} = ^{N}M^{2} = 0,$$

$$^{N}M^{3} = \frac{Q}{(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} \frac{\sqrt{G_{11}}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}).$$
(8.134)

Based on the deformed middle surface in the Lagrangian coordinates, the equations of motion for the deformed beam are

$$\mathcal{N}_{,1} + \mathbf{q} = \rho \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + I_3 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt},$$

$$\mathbf{M}_{,1} + {}^{\mathrm{N}} \mathbf{M} + \mathbf{m} = I_3 \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + J_3 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt};$$
(8.135)

and for $(\Lambda = 1, 2)$,

$$N_{;1}^{\Lambda} + q^{\Lambda} = \rho u_{0,tt}^{\Lambda} + I_{3} \varphi_{1,tt}^{(\Lambda)},$$

$$M_{;1}^{3} + {}^{N}M^{3} + m^{3} = I_{3}u_{0,tt}^{1} + J_{3} \varphi_{1,tt}^{(1)},$$
(8.136)

or

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{N(1+u_{0,1}^{1})}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} + \frac{Q\varphi_{1}^{(1)}\sqrt{G_{11}}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} \end{bmatrix}_{;1} + q^{1} = \rho u_{0,tt}^{1} + I_{3}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(1)},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{Nu_{0,1}^{2}\sqrt{G_{22}}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{Q(1+\varphi_{1}^{(2)})}{1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} \end{bmatrix}_{;1} + q^{2} = \rho u_{0,tt}^{2} + I_{3}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(2)},$$

$$M_{;1} + Q\frac{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} + m^{3} = I_{3}u_{0,tt}^{1} + J_{3}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(1)},$$
(8.137)

where $\rho = \int_{A} \rho_0 dA$, $I_3 = \int_{A} \rho_0 S^2 dA$ and $J_3 = \int_{A} \rho_0 (S^2)^2 dA$.

As in Eqs.(8.106)–(8.109), the force and displacement continuity and boundary conditions can be given. The force condition at a point \mathscr{P}_k with $S^1 = S_k^1$ is

$${}^{-}\mathbf{N}(S_{k}^{1}) + {}^{+}\mathbf{N}(S_{k}^{1}) + \mathbf{F}_{k} = 0,$$

$${}^{-}N^{\Lambda}(S_{k}^{1}) = {}^{+}N^{\Lambda}(S_{k}^{1}) + F_{k}^{\Lambda} \quad (\Lambda = 1, 2).$$
(8.138)

The force boundary condition at the boundary point \mathscr{P}_r is

$$\mathbf{N}(S_r^1) + \mathbf{F}_r = 0 \text{ or } N^{\Lambda}(S_r^1) + F_r^{\Lambda} = 0 \quad (\Lambda = 1, 2).$$
(8.139)

If there is a concentrated moment at \mathscr{P}_k with $S^1 = S_k^1$, the corresponding moment boundary condition is

$${}^{-}\mathbf{M}(S_{k}^{1}) + {}^{+}\mathbf{M}(S_{k}^{1}) + \mathbf{M}_{k} = 0,$$

$${}^{-}M^{\wedge}(S_{k}^{1}) = {}^{+}M^{\wedge}(S_{k}^{1}) + M_{k}^{\wedge} \quad (\Lambda = 3).$$
(8.140)

The moment boundary condition at the boundary point \mathscr{P}_r is

$$\mathbf{M}(S_r^1) + \mathbf{M}_r = 0 \text{ or } M^{\Lambda}(S_r^1) + M_r^{\Lambda} = 0 \quad (\Lambda = 3).$$
(8.141)

The displacement continuity and boundary conditions are similar to Eq. (8.68). i.e., $u_{k-}^{\Lambda} = u_{k+}^{\Lambda}$ and $u_{r}^{\Lambda} = B_{r}^{\Lambda}$ ($\Lambda = 1, 2$).

8.4. A nonlinear theory of straight rods

Consider a nonlinear rod in the initial configuration to be straight, which requires that the initial curvature and torsion should be zero ($\kappa(S) = 0$ and $\tau(S) = 0$). Thus, let $S^{T} = X^{T}$, $G_{IJ} = 0$ and $G_{II} = 1$ (I, J = 1, 2, 3). The three dimensional displacements, strains, the directional cosine of rotation and the change rate of the area are given in Eqs.(8.29)–(8.35). It is assumed that the coordinate X^{1} is along the longitudinal direction of rod and the other two coordinates X^{2} and X^{3} are on the cross section of the rod with the direction of X^{1} . The coordinates for the deformed straight rod are (s^{1}, s^{2}, s^{3}) . As in the thin beam theory, the widths of rod in two directions of X^{2} and X^{3} are very small compared to the length of the rod in direction of X^{1} , the elongation in the two directions of X^{2} and X^{3} should be very small, which can be neglected. Based on the aforementioned reasons, the assumptions for thin rods are adopted.

- (i) The elongations in the two directions of X^2 and X^3 are very small (i.e., $\varepsilon_2 \approx 0$ and $\varepsilon_3 \approx 0$).
- (ii) Under bending only, the neutral surface is not deformed (i.e., $\gamma_{12} \approx 0$ and $\gamma_{13} \approx 0$).

Choose an arbitrary coordinate frame as (X^1, X^2, X^3) and the coordinate of X^1 goes through the *centroid* on the cross section of the rod. The centroid curve of the deformed rod is along the coordinate of s^1 in the coordinates of (s^1, s^2, s^3) , as shown in Fig.8.4. The external forces on the rod can be given as in Eqs.(8.36)–(8.40). Under the torque, the rod possesses torsion $\tau(s^1) = \tau(s)$ in the direction of s^1 . The transverse forces off the shear center produces the torques included in m^1 and ${}^kM^1$. Compared to the longitudinal length S, X^2 and X^3 on the cross section are very small. From assumption (i), three displacements $u^1 = u^1(S, X^2, X^3)$ can be expressed by the Taylor series as

8.4. A nonlinear theory of straight rods



Fig. 8.4 A straight rod with initial and deformed configuration.

$$u^{I} = u_{0}^{I}(S,t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (X^{2})^{n} \varphi_{n}^{(I)}(S,t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (X^{3})^{n} \theta_{n}^{(I)}(S,t) + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (X^{2})^{m} (X^{3})^{n} \vartheta_{mn}^{(I)}(S,t),$$
(8.142)

where

$$\varphi_{n}^{(I)} = \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\partial^{n} u^{I}}{\partial (X^{2})^{n}} \Big|_{(X^{2}, X^{3})=(0,0)},$$

$$\theta_{n}^{(I)} = \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\partial^{n} u^{I}}{\partial (X^{3})^{n}} \Big|_{(X^{2}, X^{3})=(0,0)},$$

$$\vartheta_{mn}^{(I)} = \frac{1}{m!n!} \frac{\partial^{m+n} u^{I}}{\partial (X^{2})^{m} \partial (X^{3})^{n}} \Big|_{(X^{2}, X^{3})=(0,0)}.$$
(8.143)

From Eqs.(8.30) and (8.33), the approximate six strains are

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon_{1} &\approx \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial X^{2}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3})=(0,0)} X^{2} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial X^{3}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3})=(0,0)} X^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial (X^{2})^{2}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3})=(0,0)} (X^{2})^{2} + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial (X^{3})^{2}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3})=(0,0)} (X^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial X^{2} \partial X^{3}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3})=(0,0)} X^{2} X^{3} + \cdots \\ &= \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} + \frac{(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I}) \varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} X^{2} + \frac{(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I}) \theta_{1,1}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} X^{3} \end{split}$$

$$+\frac{1}{2}\left\{\frac{\left[2(\delta_{1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I})\varphi_{2,1}^{(I)}\right]+\varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}\varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}}-\frac{\left[(\delta_{1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I})\varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}\right]^{2}}{(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{3}}\right\}(X^{2})^{2}$$

$$+\frac{1}{2}\left\{\frac{\left[2(\delta_{1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I})\theta_{2,1}^{(I)}\right]+\theta_{1,1}^{(I)}\theta_{1,1}^{(I)}}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}}-\frac{\left[(\delta_{1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I})\theta_{1,1}^{(I)}\right]^{2}}{(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{3}}\right\}(X^{3})^{2}$$

$$+\left[\frac{(\delta_{1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I})\vartheta_{1,1}^{(I)}}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}}+\frac{\varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}\theta_{1,1}^{(I)}}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}}\right]X^{2}X^{3}+\cdots,$$
(8.144)

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon_{2} &\approx \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial X^{2}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3})=(0,0)} X^{2} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial X^{3}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3})=(0,0)} X^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial (X^{2})^{2}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3})=(0,0)} (X^{2})^{2} + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial (X^{3})^{2}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3})=(0,0)} (X^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial X^{2} \partial X^{3}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3})=(0,0)} X^{2} X^{3} + \cdots \\ &= \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} + \frac{2(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{2}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} X^{2} + \frac{(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\vartheta_{11}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} X^{3} \\ &+ \left\{ \frac{\left[2\varphi_{2}^{(I)}\varphi_{2}^{(I)} + 3(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{3}^{(I)} \right]}{1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} - \frac{2\left[(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{2}^{(I)}\right]^{2}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (X^{2})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{\vartheta_{11}^{(I)}\vartheta_{11}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} - \frac{\left[(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\vartheta_{11}^{(I)}\right]^{2}}{2(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (X^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \left[\frac{4(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\vartheta_{21}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} + \frac{2\varphi_{2}^{(I)}\vartheta_{11}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} \right] X^{2} X^{3} + \cdots;$$
 (8.145)

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon_{3} &\approx \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial X^{2}} \Big|_{(X^{2}, X^{3}) = (0, 0)} X^{2} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial X^{3}} \Big|_{(X^{2}, X^{3}) = (0, 0)} X^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial (X^{2})^{2}} \Big|_{(X^{2}, X^{3}) = (0, 0)} (X^{2})^{2} + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial (X^{3})^{2}} \Big|_{(X^{2}, X^{3}) = (0, 0)} (X^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial X^{2} \partial X^{3}} \Big|_{(X^{2}, X^{3}) = (0, 0)} X^{2} X^{3} + \cdots \\ &= \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} + \frac{(\delta_{3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)}) \vartheta_{11}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} X^{2} + \frac{2(\delta_{3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)}) \theta_{2}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} X^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{\vartheta_{11}^{(I)} \vartheta_{11}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} - \frac{[(\delta_{2}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)}) \vartheta_{11}^{(I)}]^{2}}{2(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (X^{2})^{2} \end{split}$$

8.4. A nonlinear theory of straight rods

$$+ \left\{ \frac{\left[2\theta_{2}^{(I)}\theta_{2}^{(I)} + 3(\delta_{3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})\theta_{3}^{(I)} \right]}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} - \frac{2\left[(\delta_{3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})\theta_{2}^{(I)} \right]^{2}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (X^{3})^{2} \\ + \left[\frac{4(\delta_{3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})\vartheta_{1}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} + \frac{2\theta_{2}^{(I)}\vartheta_{1}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} \right] X^{2} X^{3} + \cdots;$$

$$(8.146)$$

$$\gamma_{12} \approx \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial\gamma_{12}}{\partial X^{2}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3}) = (0, 0)} X^{2} + \frac{\partial\gamma_{12}}{\partial X^{3}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3}) = (0, 0)} X^{3} \\ + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \gamma_{12}}{\partial (X^{2})^{2}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3}) = (0, 0)} (X^{2})^{2} + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \gamma_{12}}{\partial (X^{3})^{2}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3}) = (0, 0)} (X^{3})^{2} \\ + \frac{\partial^{2} \gamma_{12}}{\partial X^{2} \partial X^{3}} \bigg|_{(X^{2}, X^{3}) = (0, 0)} X^{2} X^{3} + \cdots$$

$$= \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{12}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{2(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{(I)})\varphi_{2}^{(I)} + (\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} \right] X^{2} \\ + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{12}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{(I)})\theta_{1,1}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{2}} \right] X^{2} \\ + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{12}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\theta_{1,1}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} - \sin \gamma_{12}^{(0)} \left\{ \frac{(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{(I)})\theta_{1,1}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} - \sin \gamma_{12}^{(0)} \left\{ \frac{(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{(I)})\theta_{1,1}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} \right\} X^{3} + \cdots;$$

$$(8.147)$$

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{13} &\approx \gamma_{13}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \gamma_{13}}{\partial X^2} \bigg|_{(X^2, X^3) = (0, 0)} X^2 + \frac{\partial \gamma_{12}}{\partial X^3} \bigg|_{(X^2, X^3) = (0, 0)} X^3 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{13}}{\partial (X^2)^2} \bigg|_{(X^2, X^3) = (0, 0)} (X^2)^2 + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{13}}{\partial (X^3)^2} \bigg|_{(X^2, X^3) = (0, 0)} (X^3)^2 \\ &+ \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{13}}{\partial X^2 \partial X^3} \bigg|_{(X^2, X^3) = (0, 0)} X^2 X^3 + \cdots \\ &= \gamma_{13}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{13}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{(\delta_3^I + \theta_1^{(I)}) \varphi_{1,1}^{(I)} + (\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^{(I)}) \vartheta_{11}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_3^{(0)})} \\ &- \sin \gamma_{13}^{(0)} \left[\frac{(\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^{(I)}) \varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})^2} + \frac{(\delta_3^I + \theta_1^{(I)}) \vartheta_{11}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_3^{(0)})^2} \right] \right\} X^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{13}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{2(\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^{(I)}) \theta_2^{(I)} + (\delta_3^I + \theta_1^{(I)}) \vartheta_{1,1}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_3^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_3^{(0)})} \right\} \end{split}$$

$$-\sin\gamma_{13}^{(0)}\left[\frac{(\delta_{1}^{l}+u_{0,1}^{(l)})\vartheta_{1,1}^{(l)}}{(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{2}}+\frac{2(\delta_{3}^{l}+\theta_{1}^{(l)})\theta_{2}^{(l)}}{(1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{2}}\right]\right]X^{3}+\cdots;$$
(8.148)

$$\gamma_{23} \approx \gamma_{23}^{(0)}+\frac{\partial\gamma_{23}}{\partial X^{2}}\Big|_{(X^{2},X^{3})=(0,0)}X^{2}+\frac{\partial\gamma_{23}}{\partial X^{3}}\Big|_{(X^{2},X^{3})=(0,0)}X^{3}$$

$$+\frac{1}{2!}\frac{\partial^{2}\gamma_{23}}{\partial (X^{2})^{2}}\Big|_{(X^{2},X^{3})=(0,0)}(X^{2})^{2}+\frac{1}{2!}\frac{\partial^{2}\gamma_{23}}{\partial (X^{3})^{2}}\Big|_{(X^{2},X^{3})=(0,0)}(X^{3})^{2}$$

$$+\frac{\partial^{2}\gamma_{23}}{\partial X^{2}\partial X^{3}}\Big|_{(X^{2},X^{3})=(0,0)}X^{2}X^{3}+\cdots$$

$$=\gamma_{23}^{(0)}+\frac{1}{\cos\gamma_{23}^{(0)}}\left\{\frac{2(\delta_{3}^{l}+\theta_{1}^{(l)})\varphi_{2}^{(l)}+(\delta_{2}^{l}+\varphi_{1}^{(l)})\vartheta_{11}^{(l)}}{(1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})(1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}$$

$$-\sin\gamma_{23}^{(0)}\left[\frac{2(\delta_{2}^{l}+\varphi_{1}^{(l)})\theta_{2}^{(l)}}{(1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{2}}+\frac{(\delta_{3}^{l}+\theta_{1}^{(l)})\vartheta_{11}^{(l)}}{(1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{2}}\right]\right]X^{2}$$

$$+\frac{1}{\cos\gamma_{23}^{(0)}}\left\{\frac{2(\delta_{2}^{l}+\varphi_{1}^{(l)})\theta_{2}^{(l)}+(\delta_{3}^{l}+\theta_{1}^{(l)})\vartheta_{11}^{(l)}}{(1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{2}}-\sin\gamma_{23}^{(0)}\left[\frac{(\delta_{2}^{l}+\varphi_{1}^{(l)})\vartheta_{11}^{(l)}}{(1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})(1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}\right]X^{3}+\cdots,$$
(8.149)

where

$$\begin{aligned} \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} &= \sqrt{(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})} - 1, \\ \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} &= \sqrt{(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})} - 1, \\ \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} &= \sqrt{(\delta_{3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})(\delta_{3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})} - 1, \\ \gamma_{12}^{(0)} &= \sin^{-1} \frac{(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})}{(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})}, \\ \gamma_{13}^{(0)} &= \sin^{-1} \frac{(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})(\delta_{2}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})}{(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}, \\ \gamma_{23}^{(0)} &= \sin^{-1} \frac{(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})(\delta_{3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})}{(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}. \end{aligned}$$
(8.150)

From Assumptions (i) and (ii), consider the zero order of the Taylor series of the six strains to give

$$\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} = 0, \, \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} = 0; \, \gamma_{12}^{(0)} = 0, \, \gamma_{13}^{(0)} = 0, \, \gamma_{23}^{(0)} = 0.$$
 (8.151)

The deformed rod for $X^2 = X^3 = 0$ satisfies the following relation:

$$(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})^2 = (\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^I)(\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^I).$$
(8.152)

Note that one assumed $\varepsilon_1^{(0)} = 0$, which is not adequate (e.g., Novozhilov, 1953). Equation (8.152) implies that only 1-dimensional membrane force in the rod is considered. From Eqs.(8.151) and (8.152),

$$\frac{1}{(1+\varepsilon_1^{(0)})^2} (\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^I) (\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^I) = 1,$$

$$(\delta_2^I + \varphi_1^{(I)}) (\delta_2^I + \varphi_1^{(I)}) = 1,$$

$$(\delta_3^I + \theta_1^{(I)}) (\delta_3^I + \theta_1^{(I)}) = 1;$$

$$(\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^I) (\delta_2^I + \varphi_1^{(I)}) = 0,$$

$$(\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^I) (\delta_3^I + \theta_1^{(I)}) = 0,$$

$$(\delta_2^I + \varphi_1^{(I)}) (\delta_3^I + \theta_1^{(I)}) = 0.$$
(8.153)

Using the zero order terms of X^2 and X^3 in Eq.(8.34), the direction cosine matrix $((l_{ij})_{3\times 3})$ is given by

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{I}_{I})} = l_{1I} = \frac{\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I}}{1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}},$$

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{2},\mathbf{I}_{I})} = l_{2I} = \frac{\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}},$$

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{3},\mathbf{I}_{I})} = l_{3I} = \frac{\delta_{3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)}}{1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}}.$$
(8.154)

From the geometrical relations, the nine directional cosines must satisfy the trigonometric relations without summation on $\alpha = 1, 2, 3$ as

$$l_{\alpha I} l_{\alpha I} = 1 \text{ for } I = 1, 2, 3$$
 (8.155)

and for α , $\beta = 1, 2, 3$ and $\alpha \neq \beta$,

$$l_{\alpha l} l_{\beta l} = 0. \tag{8.156}$$

As aforesaid, only the three rotations of rod are considered. Thus, the unknowns $\varphi_1^{(I)}$ and $\theta_1^{(I)}$ (I = 1, 2, 3) can be determined by the three Euler angles (Φ , Ψ and Θ). The Euler angles Φ and Ψ rotates around the axes of X^2 and X^3 , respectively, and the Euler angle Θ rotates around the axis of X^1 , as sketched in Fig.8.5. Due to bending, the first rotation around the axis of X^2 is to form $(\overline{X}^1, \overline{X}^2, \overline{X}^3)$ in Fig.8.5(a). The second rotation around the axis of \overline{X}^3 gives

 $(\overline{\overline{X}}^1, \overline{\overline{X}}^2, \overline{\overline{X}}^3)$, as shown in Fig.8.5(b). The last rotation around the axis of $\overline{\overline{X}}^1$ is because of the torsion, and the final state of the rod in the frame of $(\overline{\overline{\overline{X}}}^1, \overline{\overline{\overline{X}}}^2, \overline{\overline{\overline{X}}}^3)$ in Fig.8.5(c) gives the coordinates (s^1, s^2, s^3) for the deformed rod. The rotation deformation is the same as the rotation given by Eq.(8.153). The rotation matrices are

$$\mathbf{R}^{1} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos \Phi & 0 & -\sin \Phi \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \sin \Phi & 0 & \cos \Phi \end{bmatrix},$$
(8.157)

$$\mathbf{R}^{2} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos \Psi & \sin \Psi & 0\\ -\sin \Psi & \cos \Psi & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$
(8.158)

$$\mathbf{R}^{3} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \cos\Theta & \sin\Theta \\ 0 & -\sin\Theta & \cos\Theta \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (8.159)

From the above rotations, the directional cosine matrix ($I = (I_{ij})_{3\times 3}$) is

$$\boldsymbol{l} = \mathbf{R}^{3} \mathbf{R}^{2} \mathbf{R}^{1} = \begin{bmatrix} l_{11} & l_{21} & l_{31} \\ l_{12} & l_{22} & l_{32} \\ l_{13} & l_{23} & l_{33} \end{bmatrix},$$
(8.160)

where

$$l_{11} = \cos \Phi \cos \Psi,$$

$$l_{21} = -\cos \Phi \sin \Psi \cos \Theta + \sin \Phi \sin \Theta,$$

$$l_{31} = \cos \Phi \sin \Psi \sin \Theta + \sin \Phi \cos \Theta,$$

$$l_{12} = \sin \Psi,$$

$$l_{22} = \cos \Psi \cos \Theta,$$

$$l_{32} = -\cos \Psi \sin \Theta,$$

$$l_{33} = -\sin \Phi \sin \Psi \cos \Theta + \cos \Phi \sin \Theta,$$

$$l_{33} = -\sin \Phi \sin \Psi \sin \Theta + \cos \Phi \cos \Theta.$$
(8.161)

Compared with Eq.(8.153), equations (8.156) and (8.161) give

$$u_{0,1}^{1} = (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}) \cos \Phi \cos \Psi - 1,$$

$$\varphi_{1}^{(1)} = -\cos \Phi \sin \Psi \cos \Theta + \sin \Phi \sin \Theta,$$



(a)



(b)



(c)

Fig. 8.5 Euler angles of rod rotation caused by bending and torsion: (a) the initial (red) to first rotation (green), (b) the first to second rotation (brown), (c) from the second to the last rotation (blue). (color plot in the book end)

$$\begin{aligned} \theta_{1}^{(1)} &= \cos \Phi \sin \Psi \sin \Theta + \sin \Phi \cos \Theta, \\ u_{0,1}^{2} &= (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}) \sin \Psi, \\ \varphi_{1}^{(2)} &= \cos \Psi \cos \Theta - 1, \\ \theta_{1}^{(1)} &= -\cos \Psi \sin \Theta, \\ u_{0,1}^{3} &= -(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}) \sin \Phi \cos \Psi, \\ \varphi_{1}^{(3)} &= \sin \Phi \sin \Psi \cos \Theta + \cos \Phi \sin \Theta, \\ \theta_{1}^{(1)} &= -\sin \Phi \sin \Psi \sin \Theta + \cos \Phi \cos \Theta - 1. \end{aligned}$$

$$(8.162)$$

The first, fourth and seventh equations of the foregoing equation give

$$\cos \Psi = \pm \frac{\sqrt{(1 + u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}}}{1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}},$$

$$\sin \Psi = \frac{u_{0,1}^{2}}{1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}};$$

$$\cos \Phi = \pm \frac{1 + u_{0,1}^{1}}{\sqrt{(1 + u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}}},$$

$$\sin \Phi = \mp \frac{u_{0,1}^{3}}{\sqrt{(1 + u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}}},$$

(8.163)

and

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{1}^{(1)} &= \mp \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1+u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}}} \left[\frac{u_{0,1}^{2}(1+u_{0,1}^{1})}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} \cos \Theta + u_{0,1}^{3} \sin \Theta \right], \\ \theta_{1}^{(1)} &= \pm \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1+u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}}} \left[\frac{u_{0,1}^{2}(1+u_{0,1}^{1})}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} \sin \Theta - u_{0,1}^{3} \cos \Theta \right], \\ \varphi_{1}^{(2)} &= \pm \frac{\sqrt{(1+u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}}}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} \cos \Theta - 1, \\ \theta_{1}^{(2)} &= \mp \frac{\sqrt{(1+u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}}}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} \sin \Theta, \\ \varphi_{1}^{(3)} &= \mp \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1+u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}}} \left[\frac{u_{0,1}^{3}u_{0,1}^{2}}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} \cos \Theta - (1+u_{0,1}^{1}) \sin \Theta \right], \\ \theta_{1}^{(3)} &= \pm \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1+u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}}} \left[\frac{u_{0,1}^{3}u_{0,1}^{2}}{1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} \sin \Theta + (1+u_{0,1}^{1}) \cos \Theta \right] - 1. \end{split}$$

If $\Theta = 0$, the rotation about the longitudinal axis disappears. So only the bending rotation exists. This case reduces to the pure bending of the rod as discussed in Section 8.2.

From Eq.(8.154), the directional cosine vectors are defined as

$$\boldsymbol{I}_{\alpha} = \boldsymbol{I}_{\alpha I} \boldsymbol{I}_{I} \quad \text{for } \alpha = 1, 2, 3. \tag{8.165}$$

Thus, the change ratio of the directional cosines along the deformed rod is

$$\frac{dl_{\alpha}}{ds} = \frac{dl_{\alpha I}}{ds} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \frac{dl_{\alpha I}}{(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})dS} \mathbf{I}_{I} \quad \text{for } \alpha = 1, 2, 3$$
(8.166)

The three vectors form a instantaneous, rotational coordinate frame, and the rotation ratio vector about three axes are defined as

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \boldsymbol{\omega}_{l} \mathbf{I}_{l}. \tag{8.167}$$

From rigid-body dynamics (e.g., Goldstein et al., 2002), the change ratio of the directional cosines along the deformed rod can be computed in an analogy way, i.e.,

$$\frac{d\boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha}}{ds} = \frac{d\boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha I}}{ds} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \frac{d\boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha I}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})dS} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \boldsymbol{\omega} \times \boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha}$$
$$= \begin{vmatrix} \mathbf{I}_{1} & \mathbf{I}_{2} & \mathbf{I}_{3} \\ \boldsymbol{\omega}_{1} & \boldsymbol{\omega}_{2} & \boldsymbol{\omega}_{3} \\ \boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha 1} & \boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha 2} & \boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha 3} \end{vmatrix} = \boldsymbol{e}_{IJK} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{J} \boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha K} \mathbf{I}_{I}, \qquad (8.168)$$

for $\alpha = 1, 2, 3$ and $I, J, K \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ with $I \neq J \neq K \neq I$. From the foregoing equation, the rotation ratio components are given by

$$e_{IJK} \frac{dl_{\alpha I}}{ds} l_{\alpha K} = e_{IJK} \frac{dl_{\alpha I}}{(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)}) dS} l_{\alpha K} = \omega_J.$$
(8.169)

In other words, the foregoing equation is expressed by

$$\omega_{1} = e_{I1K} \frac{dl_{\alpha I}}{ds} l_{\alpha K} = -\frac{dl_{\alpha 2}}{ds} l_{\alpha 3} = -\frac{dl_{\alpha 2}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})dS} l_{\alpha 3},$$

$$\omega_{2} = e_{I2K} \frac{dl_{\alpha I}}{ds} l_{\alpha K} = -\frac{dl_{\alpha 3}}{ds} l_{\alpha 1} = -\frac{dl_{\alpha 3}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})dS} l_{\alpha 1},$$

$$\omega_{3} = e_{I3K} \frac{dl_{\alpha I}}{ds} l_{\alpha K} = -\frac{dl_{\alpha 1}}{ds} l_{\alpha 2} = -\frac{dl_{\alpha 1}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})dS} l_{\alpha 2}.$$
(8.170)

From Eq.(8.161), the foregoing equations gives

$$\omega_{\rm I} = \frac{1}{1 + \varepsilon_{\rm I}^{(0)}} (\sin \Phi \frac{d\Psi}{dS} + \cos \Psi \cos \Phi \frac{d\Theta}{dS}),$$

$$\omega_{2} = \frac{1}{1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} \left(\frac{d\Psi}{dS} + \sin \Psi \frac{d\Theta}{dS} \right),$$

$$\omega_{3} = \frac{1}{1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} \left(\cos \Phi \frac{d\Psi}{dS} - \sin \Phi \cos \Psi \frac{d\Theta}{dS} \right);$$
(8.171)

or

$$\omega_{1} = \sin \Phi \frac{d\Psi}{ds} + \cos \Psi \cos \Phi \frac{d\Theta}{ds},$$

$$\omega_{2} = \frac{d\Psi}{ds} + \sin \Psi \frac{d\Theta}{ds},$$

$$\omega_{3} = \cos \Phi \frac{d\Psi}{ds} - \sin \Phi \cos \Psi \frac{d\Theta}{ds}.$$
(8.172)

Notice that one often assumes dS = ds in Love (1944), which is not adequate for large deformation.

On the other hand, using Eq.(8.25), the particle location on the deformed rod is expressed by

$$\mathbf{r} = (X^{T} + u^{T})\mathbf{I}_{T}.$$
(8.173)

Because $X^1 = S$, X^2 and X^3 are independent of S. From Eq.(8.3), the base vector along the longitudinal direction of the deformed rod is given by

$$\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{1} = \tilde{g}_{1}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} = (\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{1}^{I}) \mathbf{I}_{I}, \qquad (8.174)$$

and the corresponding unit vector is

$$\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_{1} = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{1}}{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{1}|} = \frac{\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I}}{\sqrt{(\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{,1}^{K})(\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{,1}^{K})}} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \frac{\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I}}{1 + \varepsilon_{1}} \mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(8.175)

For $X^2 = X^3 = 0$,

$$\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_{1} = \frac{\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I}}{\sqrt{(\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{0,1}^{K})(\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{0,1}^{K})}} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \frac{\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I}}{1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} \mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(8.176)

Note that $\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_1 = \mathbf{n}_1$. The base vector in the principal normal direction of the deformed rod is

$$\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_2 = \frac{d\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_1}{ds} = \tilde{g}_2^T \mathbf{I}_1, \qquad (8.177)$$

where

8.4. A nonlinear theory of straight rods

$$\tilde{g}_{2}^{I} = \frac{1}{\tilde{g}_{11}^{2}} \left[u_{,11}^{I} (\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{,1}^{K}) (\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{,1}^{K}) - (\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I}) (\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{,1}^{K}) u_{,11}^{K} \right].$$
(8.178)

The unit principal normal vector is

$$\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_{2} = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{2}}{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{2}|} = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{2}}{\sqrt{\tilde{g}_{22}}} = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{2}}{\tilde{\kappa}(S)} = \frac{\tilde{g}_{2}^{T}}{\tilde{\kappa}(S)} \mathbf{I}_{1}, \qquad (8.179)$$

and from Eq.(8.9), the curvature of the deformed rod becomes

$$\tilde{\kappa}(S) = |\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{2}| = \sqrt{\tilde{g}_{22}} = \sqrt{\left(X_{,ss}^{I} + u_{,ss}^{I}\right)\left(X_{,ss}^{I} + u_{,ss}^{I}\right)} = \frac{\sqrt{\left(u_{,11}^{I}u_{,11}^{I}\right)\left(\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{,1}^{K}\right)\left(\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{,1}^{K}\right) - \left[\left(\delta_{1}^{I} + X_{,1}^{I}\right)u_{,11}^{I}\right]^{2}}}{\tilde{g}_{11}^{3/2}}.$$
(8.180)

For $X^2 = X^3 = 0$,

$$\tilde{g}_{2}^{I} = \frac{1}{\tilde{g}_{11}^{2}} \left[u_{0,11}^{I} (\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{0,1}^{K}) (\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{0,1}^{K}) - (\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I}) (\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{0,1}^{K}) u_{0,11}^{K} \right].$$
(8.181)

$$\tilde{\kappa}(S) = \frac{\sqrt{(u_{0,11}^{I}u_{0,11}^{I})(\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{0,1}^{K})(\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{0,1}^{K}) - [(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})u_{0,11}^{I}]^{2}}}{\tilde{g}_{11}^{3/2}}.$$
(8.182)

From Eq.(8.11), the unit bi-normal vector is obtained by

$$\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_3 = \tilde{\mathbf{n}}_1 \times \tilde{\mathbf{n}}_2 = \tilde{g}_3^{\,\prime} \mathbf{I}_{\,\prime}, \qquad (8.183)$$

with

$$\tilde{g}_{3}^{I} = e_{IJK} \frac{\tilde{g}_{1}^{J}}{\sqrt{g_{11}}} \frac{\tilde{g}_{2}^{K}}{\tilde{\kappa}(S)} \text{ and } \tilde{g}_{33} = 1.$$
 (8.184)

Because of the axial rotation, the rotation vector along the longitudinal arc length $s^1 = s$ of the deformed rod is

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \tilde{\kappa}(S)\mathbf{n}_3 + \tilde{\tau}(S)\mathbf{n}_1 = \boldsymbol{\omega}_I \mathbf{I}_I, \qquad (8.185)$$

where the torsion of the deformed rod is computed from Eq.(8.13), i.e.,

$$\tilde{\tau}(S) = \frac{e_{IJK}(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{1}^{I})u_{11}^{J}u_{11}^{K}}{(u_{11}^{I}u_{11}^{I})[(\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{1}^{K})(\delta_{1}^{K} + u_{1}^{K})] - [(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{1}^{I})u_{11}^{I}]^{2}}.$$
(8.186)

For $X^2 = X^3 = 0$, the foregoing equation is rewritten as

$$\tilde{\tau}(S) = \frac{e_{IJK}(\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^I)u_{0,11}^J u_{0,11}^K}{(u_{0,11}^I u_{0,11}^I)[(\delta_1^K + u_{0,1}^K)(\delta_1^K + u_{0,1}^K)] - [(\delta_1^I + u_{0,1}^I)u_{0,11}^I]^2}.$$
(8.187)

From Eq.(8.185),

$$\tilde{\kappa}(S) = \omega_I \mathbf{I}_I \cdot \tilde{\mathbf{n}}_3 = \omega_I \tilde{g}_3^I,$$

$$\tilde{\tau}(S) = \omega_I \mathbf{I}_I \cdot \tilde{\mathbf{n}}_1 = \omega_I \tilde{g}_2^I,$$
(8.188)

or

$$\omega_{I} = \tilde{\kappa}(S)\mathbf{n}_{3} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} + \tilde{\tau}(S)\mathbf{n}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = \tilde{\kappa}(S)\tilde{g}_{3}^{I} + \tilde{\tau}(S)\tilde{g}_{1}^{I}.$$
(8.189)

However, from Eq.(8.163), $d\Psi/dS$ and $d\Phi/dS$ are determined by

$$\frac{d\Psi}{dS} = \pm \frac{u_{0,11}^{2} [(1+u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}] - u_{0,1}^{2} [(1+u_{0,1}^{1})u_{0,11}^{1} + (u_{0,1}^{3})u_{0,11}^{3}]}{(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{2} \sqrt{(1+u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}}},$$

$$\frac{d\Phi}{dS} = -\frac{u_{0,11}^{3} (1+u_{0,1}^{1}) - u_{0,11}^{1}u_{0,1}^{3}}{(1+u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}};$$
(8.190)

or

$$\frac{d\Psi}{ds} = \pm \frac{u_{0,11}^2 [(1+u_{0,1}^1)^2 + (u_{0,1}^3)^2] - u_{0,1}^2 [(1+u_{0,1}^1)u_{0,11}^1 + (u_{0,1}^3)u_{0,11}^3]}{(1+\varepsilon_1^{(0)})^3 \sqrt{(1+u_{0,1}^1)^2 + (u_{0,1}^3)^2}},$$

$$\frac{d\Phi}{ds} = -\frac{u_{0,11}^3 (1+u_{0,1}^1) - u_{0,11}^1 u_{0,1}^3}{(1+\varepsilon_1^{(0)}) [(1+u_{0,1}^1)^2 + (u_{0,1}^3)^2]}.$$
(8.191)

Substitution of Eqs.(8.163) and (8.190) into Eqs.(8.171) and (8.188) gives Θ and $d\Theta/dS$ when the initial twisting about the longitudinal direction of s is zero ($\Theta_0 = 0$).

As before, the constitutive laws for deformed rods give the corresponding resultant stresses for ($\alpha = 1, 2, 3$) as

$$\sigma_{1\alpha} = f_{\alpha}(\varepsilon_1, \gamma_{12}, \gamma_{13}, t).$$
(8.192)

The internal forces and moments in the deformed rod are defined as

$$N_{1} = \int_{A} \sigma_{11} [(1+\varepsilon_{2})(1+\varepsilon_{3})\cos\gamma_{23}] dA,$$

$$Q_{2} = \int_{A} \sigma_{12} [(1+\varepsilon_{2})(1+\varepsilon_{3})\cos\gamma_{23}] dA,$$

$$Q_{3} = \int_{A} \sigma_{13} [(1+\varepsilon_{2})(1+\varepsilon_{3})\cos\gamma_{23}] dA,$$

$$M_{3} = \int_{A} \sigma_{11} \frac{X^{2}}{1+\varphi_{1}^{(2)}} [(1+\varepsilon_{3})(1+\varepsilon_{2})^{2}\cos\gamma_{23}] dA,$$

354

8.4. A nonlinear theory of straight rods

$$M_{2} = -\int_{A} \sigma_{11} \frac{X^{3}}{1 + \theta_{1}^{(3)}} \Big[(1 + \varepsilon_{3})(1 + \varepsilon_{2})^{2} \cos \gamma_{23} \Big] dA,$$

$$T_{1} = \int_{A} \Big[\sigma_{12} \frac{X^{3}(1 + \varepsilon_{3})}{1 + \theta_{1}^{(3)}} - \sigma_{13} \frac{X^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{2})}{1 + \phi_{1}^{(2)}} \Big] \Big[(1 + \varepsilon_{3})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}) \cos \gamma_{23} \Big] dA.$$
(8.193)

For convenience, the notations ($Q_2 \equiv N_2$, $Q_3 \equiv N_3$ and $T_1 \equiv M_1$) are used.

$$\mathbf{M} \equiv M^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = M_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha},$$

$$\mathcal{N} \equiv N^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha},$$

$$^{N} \mathbf{M} \equiv ^{N} M^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N},$$

(8.194)

where

$$\mathbf{g}_{1} \equiv \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{dS} = (\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})\mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ and } ^{\mathbf{N}}\mathbf{M} \equiv \frac{1}{dS}d\mathbf{r} \times \mathcal{N}.$$
(8.195)

With Eq.(8.154), the components of the internal forces in the I_1 -direction are

$$N^{I} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = N_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{I})}$$

= $\frac{N_{1}(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} + \frac{N_{2}(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} + \frac{N_{3}(\delta_{3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}},$ (8.196)

$$M^{I} = M_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = M_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{I}_{I})}$$

= $\frac{M_{1}(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0;1}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} + \frac{M_{2}(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} + \frac{M_{3}(\delta_{3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}},$ (8.197)
 $^{\mathbf{N}}M^{I} = (\mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N}) \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = e_{IJK}(\delta_{1}^{J} + u_{0,1}^{J})N^{K}.$

Using the external forces as in Eqs.(8.34)–(8.38), equations of motion on the deformed rod are given by

$$\mathcal{N}_{,1} + \mathbf{q} = \rho \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + I_3 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt} + I_2 \boldsymbol{\theta}_{1,tt},$$

$$\mathbf{M}_{,1} + {}^{\mathbf{N}} \mathbf{M} + \mathbf{m} = \mathscr{J} \boldsymbol{\Theta}_{,tt},$$
(8.198)

where

$$\mathcal{P} \mathbf{\Theta}_{,tt} = [(I_3 u_{0,tt}^3 - I_2 u_{0,tt}^2) + (J_{22} \varphi_{1,tt}^{(3)} - J_{23} \varphi_{1,tt}^{(2)}) + (J_{23} \theta_{1,tt}^{(3)} - J_{33} \theta_{1,tt}^{(2)})] \mathbf{I}_1 + (I_3 u_{0,tt}^1 + J_{23} \varphi_{1,tt}^{(1)} + J_{22} \theta_{1,tt}^{(1)}) \mathbf{I}_2 - (I_2 u_{0,tt}^1 + J_{22} \varphi_{1,tt}^{(1)} + J_{23} \theta_{1,tt}^{(1)}) \mathbf{I}_3,$$

$$\rho = \int_{\mathcal{A}} \rho_0 d\mathcal{A}, \quad I_2 = \int_{\mathcal{A}} \rho_0 X^3 d\mathcal{A}, \quad I_3 = \int_{\mathcal{A}} \rho_0 X^2 d\mathcal{A},$$
(8.199)

$$J_{22} = \int_{A} \rho_{0} (X^{3})^{2} dA,$$

$$J_{33} = \int_{A} \rho_{0} (X^{2})^{2} dA,$$

$$J_{23} = \int_{A} \rho_{0} (X^{2}) (X^{3}) dA,$$

(8.200)

and the scalar expressions are for I = 1, 2, 3,

$$N_{,1}^{I} + q^{I} = \rho u_{0,tt}^{I} + I_{3} \varphi_{1,tt}^{(I)} + I_{2} \theta_{1,tt}^{(I)},$$

$$M_{,1}^{I} + {}^{N} M^{I} + m^{I} = \mathscr{P} \Theta_{,tt} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(8.201)

or

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{N_{1}(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} + \frac{N_{2}(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} + \frac{N_{3}(\delta_{3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} \end{bmatrix}_{,1}$$

$$+q^{I} = \rho u_{0,tt}^{I} + I_{3}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(I)} + I_{2}\theta_{1,tt}^{(I)};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{M_{1}(\delta_{1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}} + \frac{M_{2}(\delta_{2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)}} + \frac{M_{3}(\delta_{3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{I})}{1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)}} \end{bmatrix}_{,1}$$

$$+e_{IJK}(\delta_{1}^{J} + u_{0,1}^{J})N^{K} + m^{I} = \mathscr{I}\Theta_{,tt} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(8.202)

The force condition at a point \mathscr{P}_k with $X^1 = X_k^1$ is

$${}^{-}\mathbf{N}(X_{k}^{1}) + {}^{+}\mathbf{N}(X_{k}^{1}) + \mathbf{F}_{k} = 0,$$

$${}^{-}N^{I}(X_{k}^{1}) = {}^{+}N^{I}(X_{k}^{1}) + F_{k}^{I} \quad (I = 1, 2, 3).$$
(8.203)

The force boundary condition at the boundary point \mathscr{P}_r is

$$\mathbf{N}(X_r^1) + \mathbf{F}_r = 0,$$

$$N^I(X_r^1) + F_r^I = 0 \quad (I = 1, 2, 3).$$
(8.204)

If there is a concentrated moment at a point \mathscr{P}_k with $X^1 = X_k^1$, the corresponding moment boundary condition is

$${}^{-}\mathbf{M}(X_{k}^{1}) + {}^{+}\mathbf{M}(X_{k}^{1}) + \mathbf{M}_{k} = 0,$$

$${}^{-}M^{I}(X_{k}^{1}) = {}^{+}M^{I}(X_{k}^{1}) + M_{k}^{I} \quad (I = 1, 2, 3).$$
(8.205)

The moment boundary condition at the boundary point \mathscr{P}_r is

$$\mathbf{M}(X_r^1) + \mathbf{M}_r = 0,$$

$$M^I(X_r^1) + M_r^I = 0 \quad (I = 1, 2, 3).$$
(8.206)

The displacement continuity and boundary conditions are

356
$$u_{k-}^{I} = u_{k+}^{I}$$
 and $u_{r}^{I} = B_{r}^{I}$ (I = 1, 2, 3). (8.207)

The rod theory can be reduced to the Cosserat theory of rods (e.g., E. and F. Cosserat, 1909; Ericksen and Truesdell, 1958; Whitman and DeSilva, 1969).

8.5. Nonlinear curved rods

Consider an arbitrary coordinates as (S^1, S^2, S^3) on the cross section of the rod. The deformed curve of the rod is shown in Fig.8.6. The coordinate S^1 is along the longitudinal direction of rod and the other two coordinates S^2 and S^3 are on the cross section of the rod. Without loss of generality, S^2 and S^3 are collinear to N_2 and N_3 for the curvature and torsion directions of the curve, respectively. The coordinates for the deformed rod are (s^1, s^2, s^3) . Since the widths of rod in two directions of S^2 and S^3 are very small compared to the length of the rod, the elongations in the two directions of S^2 and S^3 should be very small, which are ignorable. Thus, the following assumptions will be adopted.

- (i) The elongations in the two directions of S^2 and S^3 are very small (i.e., $\varepsilon_2 \approx 0$ and $\varepsilon_3 \approx 0$).
- (ii) Under bending only, the neutral surface is not deformed (i.e., $\gamma_{12} \approx 0$ and $\gamma_{13} \approx 0$).

As in Eqs.(8.69) and (8.74), consider external distributed forces and moments on the initial configuration for (I, $\Lambda = 1, 2, 3$) as

$$\mathbf{q} = q^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = q^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{m} = m^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = m^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}$$
(8.208)

and concentrated forces on the initial configuration at a point $S^1 = S_k$,

$$\mathbf{F}_{k} = F_{k}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} = F_{k}^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} \text{ and } \mathbf{M}_{k} = M_{k}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} = M_{k}^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}.$$
(8.209)

Thus, one obtains the relations, i.e.,

$$F^{\Lambda}|_{S^{1}=S} = F^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = F^{I} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{I}_{I},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})},$$

$$M^{\Lambda}|_{S^{1}=S} = M^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = M^{I} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{I}_{I},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})}.$$
(8.210)

The displacement vectors on the initial configuration are

$$\mathbf{R}(S^{1}) = X^{T}(S^{1})\mathbf{I}_{T}, \mathbf{R}(S) = X^{T}(S)\mathbf{I}_{T} \text{ and } \mathbf{R}_{k} = X^{T}_{k}\mathbf{I}_{T}.$$
(8.211)

The internal forces and moments for $(S^1 > S_k^1)$ are



Fig. 8.6 A curved rod with initial and deformed configuration.

$$\mathbf{F}|_{S^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \mathbf{F}_{k} + \int_{0}^{S} \mathbf{q} dS^{1},$$

$$\mathbf{M}|_{S^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \mathbf{M}_{k} + \int_{0}^{S} \mathbf{m} dS^{1}$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{N} (\mathbf{R}(S) - \mathbf{R}_{k}) \times {}^{k} \mathbf{F} + \int_{0}^{S} (\mathbf{R}(S) - \mathbf{R}(S^{1})) \times \mathbf{q} dS^{1};$$
(8.212)

or for I, J, K = 1, 2, 3 $(I \neq J \neq K \neq I)$,

$$F^{I}|_{S^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{k} F^{I} + \int_{0}^{S} q^{I} dS^{1},$$

$$M^{I}|_{S^{1}=S} = \sum_{k=1}^{k} M_{k}^{I} + \int_{0}^{S} m^{I} dS^{1}$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{k} e_{IJK} (X_{S}^{J} - X_{k}^{J}) F_{k}^{K} + \int_{0}^{S} e_{IJK} (X_{S}^{J} - X_{k}^{J}) q^{K} dS^{1}.$$
(8.213)

8.5.1. A curved rod theory based on the Cartesian coordinates

As in Eqs.(8.79)–(8.84) for the strains of the 3-D deformed beam, the exact strain for the 3-D deformed rods can be obtained. Similar to Eq. (8.142), the displacement field for any fiber of the deformed rod at a position \mathbf{R} is assumed by

$$u^{I} = u_{0}^{I}(S,t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (S^{2})^{n} \varphi_{n}^{(I)}(S,t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (S^{3})^{n} \theta_{n}^{(I)}(S,t) + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (S^{2})^{m} (S^{3})^{n} \vartheta_{mn}^{(I)}(S,t), \qquad (8.214)$$

where $S^1 = S$, and u_0^I is displacements of the centroid curve of the rod for $S^2 = S^3 = 0$, and $X^I = X^I(S^1)$. The coefficients of the higher order terms $\varphi_n^{(I)}$, $\theta_n^{(I)}$ and $\vartheta_{mn}^{(I)}(S)$ $(m, n = 1, 2, \cdots)$ are from the Taylor series expansion, i.e.,

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{n}^{(I)} &= \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\partial^{n} u^{I}}{\partial (S^{2})^{n}} \bigg|_{(S^{2}, S^{3}) = (0, 0)}, \\ \theta_{n}^{(I)} &= \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\partial^{n} u^{I}}{\partial (S^{3})^{n}} \bigg|_{(S^{2}, S^{3}) = (0, 0)}, \\ \vartheta_{mn}^{(I)} &= \frac{1}{m! n!} \frac{\partial^{m+n} u^{I}}{\partial (S^{2})^{m} \partial (S^{3})^{n}} \bigg|_{(S^{2}, S^{3}) = (0 = 0)}. \end{split}$$
(8.215)

Substitution of Eq.(8.214) into Eqs.(8.79)-(8.82) gives

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon_{1} &\approx \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial S^{2}} \Big|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{2} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial S^{3}} \Big|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial (S^{2})^{2}} \Big|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} (S^{2})^{2} + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial (S^{3})^{2}} \Big|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} (S^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial S^{2} \partial S^{3}} \Big|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{2} S^{3} + \cdots \\ &= \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} + \frac{(X_{.1}^{'} + u_{0.1}^{'}) \varphi_{1.1}^{(I)}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} S^{2} + \frac{(X_{.1}^{'} + u_{0.1}^{'}) \partial \beta_{1.1}^{(I)}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} S^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{\left[2(X_{.1}^{'} + u_{0.1}^{'}) \partial \varphi_{2.1}^{(I)}\right] + \varphi_{1.1}^{(I)} \varphi_{1.1}^{(I)}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} - \frac{\left[(X_{.1}^{'} + u_{0.1}^{'}) \partial \beta_{1.1}^{(I)}\right]^{2}}{G_{11}^{2}[(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})]^{3}} \right\} (S^{2})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{\left[2(X_{.1}^{'} + u_{0.1}^{'}) \partial \beta_{2.1}^{(I)}\right] + \theta_{1.1}^{(I)} \partial \beta_{1.1}^{(I)}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} - \frac{\left[(X_{.1}^{'} + u_{0.1}^{'}) \partial \beta_{1.1}^{(I)}\right]^{2}}{G_{11}^{2}[(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})]^{3}} \right\} (S^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{\left[2(X_{.1}^{'} + u_{0.1}^{'}) \partial \beta_{1.1}^{(I)}\right]}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} - \frac{\left[(X_{.1}^{'} + u_{0.1}^{'}) \partial \beta_{1.1}^{(I)}\right]^{2}}{G_{11}^{2}[(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})]^{3}} \right\} (S^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \left[\frac{\left(X_{.1}^{'} + u_{0.1}^{'}) \partial \beta_{1.1}^{(I)}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{\varphi_{1.1}^{'} \partial \beta_{1.1}^{'}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})}\right] S^{2} S^{3} + \cdots, \right]$$

$$(8.216)$$

$$\varepsilon_{2} \approx \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial S^{2}} \Big|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{2} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial S^{3}} \Big|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial (S^{2})^{2}} \Big|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{2} + \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial S^{3}} \Big|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} (S^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial (S^{2})^{2}} \Big|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{3} + \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial (S^{3})^{2}} \Big|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial (S^{2})^{2}} \Big|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{3} + \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial (S^{3})^{2}} \Big|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial (S^{2})^{2}} \Big|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial (S^{$$

$$\begin{aligned} &+ \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial S^{2} \partial S^{3}} \bigg|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{2} S^{3} + \cdots \\ &= \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} + \frac{2(X_{.2}^{l} + \varphi_{1}^{(l)})\varphi_{2}^{(l)}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} S^{2} + \frac{(X_{.2}^{l} + \varphi_{1}^{(l)})\vartheta_{11}^{(l)}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} S^{3} \\ &+ \left\{ \frac{[2\varphi_{2}^{(l)}\varphi_{2}^{(l)} + 3(X_{.2}^{l} + \varphi_{1}^{(l)})\varphi_{3}^{(l)}]}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} - \frac{2[(X_{.2}^{l} + \varphi_{1}^{(l)})\varphi_{2}^{(l)}]^{2}}{G_{22}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (S^{2})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \left\{ \frac{2\vartheta_{11}^{(l)}\vartheta_{11}^{(l)}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} - \frac{[(X_{.2}^{l} + \varphi_{1}^{(l)})\vartheta_{11}^{(l)}]^{2}}{G_{22}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (S^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \left[\frac{4(X_{.2}^{l} + \varphi_{1}^{(l)})\vartheta_{21}^{(l)}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} + \frac{2\varphi_{2}^{(l)}\vartheta_{11}^{(l)}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{3}} \right] S^{2}S^{3} + \cdots;$$

$$(8.217)$$

$$\varepsilon_{3} \approx \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial\varepsilon_{3}}{\partial S^{2}} \bigg|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{3} + \frac{\partial\varepsilon_{3}}{\partial S^{3}} \bigg|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2}\varepsilon_{3}}{\partial (S^{2})^{2}} \bigg|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{2} + \frac{2(X_{.3}^{l} + \theta_{1}^{(l)})\theta_{2}^{(l)}}{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} S^{3} \\ &+ \frac{\partial^{2}\varepsilon_{3}}{\partial S^{2}\partial S^{3}} \bigg|_{(s^{2}, s^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{2} + \frac{2(X_{.3}^{l} + \theta_{1}^{(l)})\theta_{2}^{(l)}}{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} S^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{\vartheta_{11}^{(l)}\vartheta_{11}^{(l)}}{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} - \frac{[(X_{.3}^{l} + \theta_{1}^{(l)})\vartheta_{11}^{(l)}]^{2}}{2G_{33}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (S^{2})^{2} \\ &+ \left\{ \frac{[2\vartheta_{2}^{(l)} \vartheta_{2}^{(l)} + 3(X_{.3}^{l} + \theta_{1}^{(l)})\vartheta_{1}^{(l)}]}{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} - \frac{2[(X_{.3}^{l} + \theta_{1}^{(l)})\vartheta_{2}^{(l)}]^{2}}{G_{33}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (S^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \left\{ \frac{[2\vartheta_{2}^{(l)} \vartheta_{2}^{(l)} + 3(X_{.3}^{l} + \theta_{1}^{(l)})\vartheta_{2}^{(l)}]}{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} - \frac{2[(X_{.3}^{l} + \theta_{1}^{(l)})\vartheta_{2}^{(l)}]^{2}}{G_{33}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (S^{3})^{2} \\ &= \frac{\varepsilon_{3}^{(l)}}{\varepsilon_{3}^{(l)} + \frac{\varepsilon_{3}^{(l)}}{\varepsilon_{3}^{(l)} + \frac{\varepsilon_{3}^{(l)}}{\varepsilon_{3}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} - \frac{\varepsilon_{3}^{(l)} \varepsilon_{3}^{(l)} \varepsilon_{3}^{(l)}}}{2G_{33}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (S^{3})^{2} \\ &= \frac{\varepsilon_{3}^{(l)}}{\varepsilon_{3}^{(l)} + \frac{\varepsilon_{3}^{(l)}}{\varepsilon_{3}^{(l)} + \frac{\varepsilon_{3}$$

+
$$\left[\frac{4(X_{,3}^{I}+\theta_{1}^{(I)})\vartheta_{12}^{(I)}}{G_{33}(1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}+\frac{2\theta_{2}^{(I)}\vartheta_{11}^{(I)}}{G_{33}(1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}\right]S^{2}S^{3}+\cdots;$$
 (8.218)

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{12} &\approx \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \gamma_{12}}{\partial S^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^2 + \frac{\partial \gamma_{12}}{\partial S^3} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^3 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{12}}{\partial (S^2)^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} (S^2)^2 + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{12}}{\partial (S^3)^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} (S^3)^2 \\ &+ \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{12}}{\partial S^2 \partial S^3} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^2 S^3 + \cdots \end{split}$$

 \mathcal{E}_3

$$= \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{12}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{2(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{(I)})\varphi_{2}^{(I)} + (X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} - \sin \gamma_{12}^{(0)} \left[\frac{(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{(I)})\varphi_{1,1}^{(I)}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{2}} + \frac{2(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{2}^{(I)}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{2}} \right] \right\} S^{2} \\ + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{12}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\theta_{1,1}^{(I)} + (X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{(I)})\theta_{1,1}^{(I)}}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} - \sin \gamma_{12}^{(0)} \left[\frac{(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{(I)})\theta_{1,1}^{(I)}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{2}} + \frac{(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\theta_{1,1}^{(I)}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{2}} \right] \right\} S^{3} + \cdots;$$
(8.219)

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{13} &\approx \gamma_{13}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \gamma_{13}}{\partial S^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^2 + \frac{\partial \gamma_{13}}{\partial S^3} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^3 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{13}}{\partial (S^2)^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} (S^2)^2 + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{13}}{\partial (S^3)^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} (S^3)^2 \\ &+ \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{13}}{\partial S^2 \partial S^3} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^2 S^3 + \cdots \\ &= \gamma_{13}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{13}^{(0)}} \Biggl\{ \frac{(X_{.1}^T + u_{0,1}^{(1)}) \varphi_{1,1}^{(1)} + (X_{.1}^T + u_{0,1}^{(1)}) \partial_{11}^{(1)}}{\sqrt{G_{11} G_{33}} (1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)}) (1 + \varepsilon_3^{(0)})} \\ &- \sin \gamma_{13}^{(0)} \Biggl[\frac{(X_{.1}^T + u_{0,1}^{(1)}) \varphi_{1,1}^{(1)}}{\sqrt{G_{11} G_{33}} (1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)}) (1 + \varepsilon_3^{(0)})^2}} \Biggr] \Biggr\} S^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{13}^{(0)}} \Biggl\{ \frac{2(X_{.1}^T + u_{0,1}^{(1)}) \partial_{2}^{(1)}}{\sqrt{G_{11} G_{33}} (1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)}) (1 + \varepsilon_3^{(0)})} \\ &- \sin \gamma_{13}^{(0)} \Biggl[\frac{(X_{.1}^T + u_{0,1}^{(1)}) \partial_{1,1}^{(1)}}{\sqrt{G_{11} G_{33}} (1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)}) (1 + \varepsilon_3^{(0)})} \\ &- \sin \gamma_{13}^{(0)} \Biggl[\frac{(X_{.1}^T + u_{0,1}^{(1)}) \partial_{1,1}^{(1)}}{\sqrt{G_{11} G_{33}} (1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)}) (1 + \varepsilon_3^{(0)})} \Biggr\} \Biggr\} S^3 + \cdots;$$
(8.220)

$$\gamma_{23} \approx \gamma_{23}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \gamma_{23}}{\partial S^2} \Biggr\|_{(S^2 - S^2) = (0, 0)} S^2 + \frac{\partial \gamma_{23}}{\partial S^3} \Biggr\|_{(S^2 - S^2) = (0, 0)} S^3 \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{23} &\approx \gamma_{23}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \gamma_{23}}{\partial S^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^2 + \frac{\partial \gamma_{23}}{\partial S^3} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^3 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{23}}{\partial (S^2)^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} (S^2)^2 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{23}}{\partial (S^3)^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} (S^3)^2 \\ &+ \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{23}}{\partial S^2 \partial S^3} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^2 S^3 + \cdots \end{split}$$

361

$$= \gamma_{23}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{23}^{(0)}} \Biggl\{ \frac{2(X_{,3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{2}^{(I)} + (X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\vartheta_{11}^{(I)}}{\sqrt{G_{22}G_{33}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} \\ -\sin \gamma_{23}^{(0)} \Biggl[\frac{2(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\varphi_{2}^{(I)}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{2}} + \frac{(X_{,3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})\vartheta_{11}^{(I)}}{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{2}} \Biggr] \Biggr\} S^{2} \\ + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{23}^{(0)}} \Biggl\{ \frac{2(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\theta_{2}^{(I)} + (X_{,3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})\vartheta_{11}^{(I)}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} \\ -\sin \gamma_{23}^{(0)} \Biggl[\frac{(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})\vartheta_{11}^{(I)}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{2}} + \frac{2(X_{,3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})\theta_{2}^{(I)}}{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{2}} \Biggr] \Biggr\} S^{3} + \cdots,$$
(8.221)

where

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}} \sqrt{(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})} - 1, \\ \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} \sqrt{(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})} - 1, \\ \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{33}}} \sqrt{(X_{,3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})(X_{,3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})} - 1, \\ \gamma_{12}^{(0)} &= \sin^{-1} \frac{(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})}, \\ \gamma_{13}^{(0)} &= \sin^{-1} \frac{(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})(X_{,3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{33}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}, \\ \gamma_{23}^{(0)} &= \sin^{-1} \frac{(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)})(X_{,3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)})}{\sqrt{G_{22}G_{33}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}. \end{split}$$
(8.222)

From Assumptions (i) and (ii), consider the zero order terms of the Taylor series of the five strains to give

$$\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} = 0, \, \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} = 0; \, \gamma_{12}^{(0)} = 0, \, \gamma_{13}^{(0)} = 0, \, \gamma_{23}^{(0)} = 0.$$
 (8.223)

The stretch of the deformed rod for $S^2 = S^3 = 0$ satisfies

$$(1+\varepsilon_1^{(0)})^2 = \frac{1}{G_{11}} (X_{,1}^I + u_{0,1}^I) (X_{,1}^I + u_{0,1}^I).$$
(8.224)

Equation (8.224) implies that only 1-dimenisonal stretch is considered as in the cable. Similarly, from the higher order terms of the Taylor series of the six strains, the relations for the unknowns in displacement field can be obtained. From Eqs.(8.222) and (8.223),

$$\frac{1}{G_{11}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{2}} (X_{,1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I})(X_{,1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I}) = 1,$$

$$\frac{1}{G_{22}} (X_{,2}^{I}+\varphi_{1}^{(I)})(X_{,2}^{I}+\varphi_{1}^{(I)}) = 1,$$

$$\frac{1}{G_{33}} (X_{,3}^{I}+\theta_{1}^{(I)})(X_{,3}^{I}+\theta_{1}^{(I)}) = 1;$$

$$(X_{,1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I})(X_{,2}^{I}+\varphi_{1}^{(I)}) = 0,$$

$$(X_{,1}^{I}+u_{0,1}^{I})(X_{,3}^{I}+\theta_{1}^{(I)}) = 0,$$

$$(X_{,2}^{I}+\varphi_{1}^{(I)})(X_{,3}^{I}+\theta_{1}^{(I)}) = 0.$$
(8.225)

Using the zero order terms of S^2 and S^3 in Eq.(8.83), the directional cosine matrix $((l_i)_{3\times 3})$ is

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{I}_{I})} = l_{1I} = \frac{X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})},$$

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{2},\mathbf{I}_{I})} = l_{2I} = \frac{X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{(I)}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})},$$

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{3},\mathbf{I}_{I})} = l_{3I} = \frac{X_{,3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{(I)}}{\sqrt{G_{33}}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}.$$
(8.226)

From the geometrical relations, the nine directional cosines must satisfy trigonometric relations in Eqs.(8.155) and (8.156). As in Fig.8.5, consider the initial Euler angles (Φ_0, Ψ_0 and Θ_0) rotating about the axes of X^1, X^2 and X^3 , respectively. The Euler angles of the deformed rod are (Φ, Ψ and Θ). As same as in Eq.(8.157)-(8.159) gives the direction cosine matrix ($I = (I_{ij})_{3\times3}$) in Eqs.(8.160) and (8.161) for the deformed rod. Compared with Eq.(8.235), with Eq.(8.156), equation (8.161) for the deformed rod gives

$$\frac{X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} = \cos \Phi \cos \Psi,$$

$$\frac{X_{,2}^{1} + \varphi_{1}^{(1)}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} = -\cos \Phi \sin \Psi \cos \Theta + \sin \Phi \sin \Theta,$$

$$\frac{X_{,3}^{1} + \theta_{1}^{(1)}}{\sqrt{G_{33}}} = \cos \Phi \sin \Psi \sin \Theta + \sin \Phi \cos \Theta,$$

$$\frac{X_{,1}^{2} + u_{0,1}^{2}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} = \sin \Psi,$$

$$\frac{X_{.2}^{2} + \varphi_{1}^{(2)}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} = \cos \Psi \cos \Theta,$$

$$\frac{X_{.3}^{2} + \theta_{1}^{(2)}}{\sqrt{G_{33}}} = -\cos \Psi \sin \Theta,$$

$$\frac{X_{.1}^{3} + u_{0,1}^{3}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} = -\sin \Phi \cos \Psi,$$

$$\frac{X_{.2}^{3} + \varphi_{1}^{(3)}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} = \sin \Phi \sin \Psi \cos \Theta + \cos \Phi \sin \Theta,$$

$$\frac{X_{.3}^{3} + \theta_{1}^{(3)}}{\sqrt{G_{33}}} = -\sin \Phi \sin \Psi \sin \Theta + \cos \Phi \cos \Theta.$$

(8.227)

The first, fourth and seventh equations of Eq.(8.227) give

$$\cos \Psi = \pm \frac{\sqrt{(X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (X_{,1}^{3} + u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} = \pm \frac{\Delta}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})},$$

$$\sin \Psi = \frac{X_{,1}^{2} + u_{0,1}^{2}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})};$$

$$\cos \Phi = \pm \frac{X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1}}{\sqrt{(X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (X_{,1}^{3} + u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}}} = \pm \frac{X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1}}{\Delta},$$

$$\sin \Phi = \mp \frac{X_{,1}^{3} + u_{0,1}^{3}}{\sqrt{(X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (X_{,1}^{3} + u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}}} = \mp \frac{X_{,1}^{3} + u_{0,1}^{3}}{\Delta},$$
(8.228)

and

$$\frac{X_{,2}^{1} + \varphi_{1}^{(1)}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} = \mp \frac{1}{\Delta} \left(\frac{\Delta_{12}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \cos \Theta + (X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{3}) \sin \Theta \right),$$

$$\frac{X_{,3}^{1} + \theta_{1}^{(1)}}{\sqrt{G_{33}}} = \pm \frac{1}{\Delta} \left(\frac{\Delta_{12}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \sin \Theta - (X_{,1}^{3} + u_{0,1}^{3}) \cos \Theta \right),$$

$$\frac{X_{,2}^{2} + \varphi_{1}^{(2)}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} = \pm \frac{\Delta}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \cos \Theta,$$

$$\frac{X_{,3}^{2} + \theta_{1}^{(2)}}{\sqrt{G_{33}}} = \mp \frac{\Delta}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \sin \Theta,$$

$$\frac{X_{,2}^{3} + \varphi_{1}^{(3)}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} = \mp \frac{1}{\Delta} \left(\frac{\Delta_{23}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \cos \Theta - (X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1}) \sin \Theta \right),$$

$$\frac{X_{,3}^{3} + \theta_{1}^{(3)}}{\sqrt{G_{33}}} = \pm \frac{1}{\Delta} \left(\frac{\Delta_{23}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} \left(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} \right)} \sin \Theta + (X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1}) \cos \Theta \right), \tag{8.229}$$

where

$$\Delta = \sqrt{(X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1})^{2} + (X_{,1}^{3} + u_{0,1}^{3})^{2}},$$

$$\Delta_{12} = (X_{,1}^{2} + u_{0,1}^{2})(X_{,1}^{1} + u_{0,1}^{1}),$$

$$\Delta_{23} = (X_{,1}^{3} + u_{0,1}^{3})(X_{,1}^{2} + u_{0,1}^{2}).$$

(8.230)

If $\Theta = \Theta_0$, the rotation about the longitudinal axis disappears. So only the bending rotation exists, which is the pure bending of the rod as in Section 8.3.1.

From Eq.(8.165), the change ratio of the directional cosines along the deformed rod in Eq.(8.166) becomes

$$\frac{d\boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha}}{ds} = \frac{d\boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha I}}{ds} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \frac{d\boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha I}}{\sqrt{\mathbf{G}_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})dS} \mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ for } \boldsymbol{\alpha} = 1, 2, 3.$$
(8.231)

As in Eq.(8.168), the change ratio of the directional cosines along the deformed rod can be computed by

$$\frac{dl_{\alpha}}{ds} = \varepsilon_{IJK} \omega_J l_{\alpha K} \mathbf{I}_I, \qquad (8.232)$$

where the rotation ratio components in Eq.(8.232) are

$$\omega_{J} = e_{IJK} \frac{dl_{\alpha I}}{ds} l_{\alpha K} = e_{IJK} \frac{dl_{\alpha I}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}) dS} l_{\alpha K}.$$
(8.233)

From Eq.(8.161), the foregoing equations give

$$\omega_{1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} (\sin \Phi \frac{d\Psi}{dS} + \cos \Psi \cos \Phi \frac{d\Theta}{dS}),$$

$$\omega_{2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} (\frac{d\Psi}{dS} + \sin \Psi \frac{d\Theta}{dS}),$$

$$\omega_{3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} (\cos \Phi \frac{d\Psi}{dS} - \sin \Phi \cos \Psi \frac{d\Theta}{dS});$$

(8.234)

similar to Eq.(8.171).

In an alike fashion, using Eq.(8.25), the particle location on the deformed, curved rod can be expressed by

$$\mathbf{r} = (X^I + u^I)\mathbf{I}_I. \tag{8.235}$$

The corresponding base vector of the deformed, curved rod is

8 Nonlinear Beams and Rods

$$\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{1} = \tilde{g}_{1}^{I} \mathbf{I}_{I} = (X_{,1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I}) \mathbf{I}_{I}, \qquad (8.236)$$

and the unit vector for the deformed, curved rod is

$$\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_{1} = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{1}}{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{1}|} = \frac{X_{,1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I}}{\sqrt{(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I})(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I})}} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \frac{X_{,1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1})}} \mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(8.237)

For $S^2 = S^3 = 0$,

$$\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_{1} = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{1}}{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{1}|} = \frac{X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I}}{\sqrt{(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})}} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \frac{X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(8.238)

The base vector in the principal normal direction is as in Eq.(8.177), i.e.,

$$\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_2 = \frac{d\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_1}{ds} = \tilde{g}_2^T \mathbf{I}_1, \qquad (8.239)$$

where

$$\tilde{g}_{2}^{I} = \frac{1}{g_{11}^{2}} \Big[(X_{,11}^{I} + u_{,11}^{I}) (X_{,1}^{K} + u_{,1}^{K}) (X_{,1}^{K} + u_{,1}^{K}) - (X_{,1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I}) (X_{,1}^{K} + u_{,1}^{K}) (X_{,11}^{K} + u_{,11}^{K}) \Big].$$
(8.240)

Thus, the unit principal normal vector in Eq.(8.179) can be rewritten, i.e.,

$$\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_{2} = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{2}}{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{2}|} = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{2}}{\sqrt{\tilde{g}_{22}}} = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{2}}{\tilde{\kappa}(S)} = \frac{\tilde{g}_{2}^{\ \prime}}{\tilde{\kappa}(S)} \mathbf{I}_{I}, \qquad (8.241)$$

where the curvature of the deformed rod is

$$\tilde{\kappa}(S) = |\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{2}| = \sqrt{\tilde{g}_{22}} = \sqrt{(X_{,ss}^{l} + u_{,ss}^{l})(X_{,ss}^{l} + u_{,ss}^{l})} = \frac{1}{\tilde{g}_{11}^{3/2}} \sqrt{\Xi_{1}},$$

$$\Xi_{1} = (X_{,11}^{l} + u_{,11}^{l})(X_{,11}^{l} + u_{,11}^{l})(X_{,1}^{K} + u_{,1}^{K})(X_{,1}^{K} + u_{,1}^{K})$$

$$-[(X_{,1}^{l} + X_{,1}^{l})(X_{,11}^{l} + u_{,11}^{l})]^{2}.$$
(8.242)

For $S^2 = S^3 = 0$,

$$\tilde{g}_{2}^{I} = \frac{1}{\tilde{g}_{11}^{2}} \Big[(X_{,11}^{I} + u_{0,11}^{I}) (X_{,1}^{K} + u_{0,1}^{K}) (X_{,1}^{K} + u_{0,1}^{K}) - (X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I}) (X_{,1}^{K} + u_{0,1}^{K}) (X_{,11}^{K} + u_{0,11}^{K}) \Big],$$
(8.243)

$$\Xi_{1} = (X_{,11}^{I} + u_{0,11}^{I})(X_{,11}^{I} + u_{0,11}^{I})(X_{,1}^{K} + u_{0,1}^{K})(X_{,1}^{K} + u_{0,1}^{K}) -[(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})(X_{,11}^{I} + u_{0,11}^{I})]^{2}.$$
(8.244)

366

The rotation vector of the deformed, curved rod can be expressed as in Eq.(8.185), i.e.,

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\kappa}}(S)\tilde{\boldsymbol{n}}_3 + \tilde{\boldsymbol{\tau}}(S)\tilde{\boldsymbol{n}}_1 = \boldsymbol{\omega}_I \boldsymbol{I}_I \tag{8.245}$$

where the torsion of the deformed rod is

$$\tilde{\tau}(S) = \frac{e_{IJK}(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{,1}^{I})(X_{,11}^{I} + u_{,11}^{J})(X_{,111}^{K} + u_{,111}^{K})}{\Xi_{1}}.$$
(8.246)

The foregoing equation for $S^2 = S^3 = 0$ becomes

$$\tilde{\tau}(S) = \frac{e_{IJK}(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})(X_{,11}^{I} + u_{0,11}^{J})(X_{,111}^{K} + u_{0,111}^{K})}{\Xi_{1}}.$$
(8.247)

From Eq.(8.245), equations similar to Eqs.(8.188) and (8.189) are:

$$\tilde{\kappa}(S) = \omega_I \mathbf{I}_I \cdot \mathbf{n}_3 = \omega_I \tilde{g}_3^T,$$

$$\tilde{\tau}(S) = \omega_I \mathbf{I}_I \cdot \mathbf{n}_1 = \omega_I \tilde{g}_2^T,$$
(8.248)

or

$$\omega_{I} = \tilde{\kappa}(S)\mathbf{n}_{3} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} + \tilde{\tau}(S)\mathbf{n}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I}$$

$$= \tilde{\kappa}(S)\tilde{g}_{3}^{I} + \tilde{\tau}(S)\tilde{g}_{1}^{I}.$$
(8.249)

From Eq.(8.238), $d\Psi/dS$ and $d\Phi/dS$ are determined by

$$\frac{d\Psi}{dS} = \pm \frac{(X_{,11}^2 + u_{0,11}^2)\Delta^2 - [\Delta_{12}(X_{,11}^2 + u_{0,11}^1) + \Delta_{23}(X_{,11}^3 + u_{0,11}^3)]}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})^2 \Delta},$$

$$\frac{d\Phi}{dS} = -\frac{(X_{,11}^3 + u_{0,11}^3)(X_{,1}^1 + u_{0,1}^1) - (X_{,11}^1 + u_{0,11}^1)(X_{,1}^3 + u_{0,11}^3)}{\Delta^2};$$
(8.250)

or

$$\frac{d\Psi}{ds} = \pm \frac{(X_{,11}^2 + u_{0,11}^2)\Delta^2 - [\Delta_{12}(X_{,11}^2 + u_{0,11}^1) + \Delta_{23}(X_{,11}^3 + u_{0,11}^3)]}{\left[\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})\right]^3 \Delta},$$

$$\frac{d\Phi}{ds} = -\frac{(X_{,11}^3 + u_{0,11}^3)(X_{,1}^1 + u_{0,1}^1) - (X_{,11}^1 + u_{0,11}^1)(X_{,1}^3 + u_{0,11}^3)}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})\Delta^2}.$$
(8.251)

Substitution of Eqs.(8.228) and (8.250) into Eqs.(8.234) and (8.248) gives Θ and $d\Theta/dS$.

As in Eq.(8.192), the constitutive laws for deformed rods give the corresponding resultant stresses, and the internal forces and moments in the deformed rod are in the form of Eq.(8.193), i.e.,

$$N_{1} = \int_{A} \sigma_{11} [(1 + \varepsilon_{2})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \cos \gamma_{23}] dA,$$

$$Q_{2} = \int_{A} \sigma_{12} [(1 + \varepsilon_{2})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \cos \gamma_{23}] dA,$$

$$Q_{3} = \int_{A} \sigma_{13} [(1 + \varepsilon_{2})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) \cos \gamma_{23}] dA,$$

$$M_{3} = \int_{A} \sigma_{11} \frac{S^{2} \sqrt{G_{22}}}{1 + \varphi_{1}^{(2)}} [(1 + \varepsilon_{3})(1 + \varepsilon_{2})^{2} \cos \gamma_{23}] dA,$$

$$M_{2} = -\int_{A} \sigma_{11} \frac{S^{3} \sqrt{G_{33}}}{1 + \varphi_{1}^{(3)}} [(1 + \varepsilon_{3})^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}) \cos \gamma_{23}] dA,$$

$$T_{1} = \int_{A} [\sigma_{12} \frac{S^{3}(1 + \varepsilon_{3})\sqrt{G_{33}}}{1 + \theta_{1}^{(3)}} - \sigma_{13} \frac{S^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{2})\sqrt{G_{22}}}{1 + \varphi_{1}^{(2)}}] \times [(1 + \varepsilon_{3})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}) \cos \gamma_{23}] dA.$$
(8.252)

The notations $Q_2 \equiv N_2$, $Q_3 \equiv N_3$, and $T_1 \equiv M_1$ are used again. The internal forces are expressed as in Eq.(8.194), i.e.,

$$\mathbf{M} \equiv M^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = M_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha},$$

$$\mathcal{N} \equiv N^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha},$$

$$^{N} \mathbf{M} \equiv ^{N} M^{T} \mathbf{I}_{I} = \mathbf{g}_{I} \times \mathcal{N},$$

(8.253)

where

$$\mathbf{g}_{1} \equiv \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{dS} = (X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})\mathbf{I}_{I} \text{ and } ^{\mathsf{N}}\mathbf{M} \equiv \frac{1}{ds}d\mathbf{r} \times \mathcal{N}.$$
(8.254)

With Eq.(8.225), the components of the internal forces in the I_1 -direction are

$$N^{I} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = N_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha},\mathbf{I}_{I})}$$

= $\frac{N_{1}(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{N_{2}(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} + \frac{N_{3}(X_{,3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{33}}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})},$ (8.255)

$$M^{I} = M_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = M_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{I}_{I})}$$

$$= \frac{M_{1}(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{M_{2}(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{22}} (1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} + \frac{M_{3}(X_{,3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{33}} (1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}, \qquad (8.256)$$

$$^{N}M^{I} = (\mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N}) \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I} = e_{IJK} (X_{,1}^{J} + u_{0,1}^{J}) N^{K}.$$

Using the external forces as in Eqs.(8.208)–(8.212), equations of motion on the deformed rod are given as in Eq.(8.198), i.e.,

$$\mathcal{N}_{,1} + \mathbf{q} = \rho \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + I_3 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt} + I_2 \boldsymbol{\theta}_{1,tt},$$

$$\mathbf{M}_{,1} + {}^{\mathrm{N}} \mathbf{M} + \mathbf{m} = \mathscr{J} \boldsymbol{\Theta}_{,tt},$$
(8.257)

where

$$\mathcal{P}_{,tt} = [(I_3u_{0,tt}^3 - I_2u_{0,tt}^2) + (J_{22}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(3)} - J_{23}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(2)}) + (J_{23}\theta_{1,tt}^{(3)} - J_{33}\theta_{1,tt}^{(2)})]\mathbf{I}_1 + (I_3u_{0,tt}^1 + J_{23}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(1)} + J_{22}\theta_{1,tt}^{(1)})\mathbf{I}_2 - (I_2u_{0,tt}^1 + J_{22}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(1)} + J_{23}\theta_{1,tt}^{(1)})\mathbf{I}_3,$$
(8.258)

and the scalar expressions are for I = 1, 2, 3,

$$N_{,1}^{I} + q_{I} = \rho u_{(0),tt}^{I} + I_{3} \varphi_{1,tt}^{(I)} + I_{2} \theta_{1,tt}^{(I)};$$

$$M_{,1}^{I} + {}^{N}M^{I} + m^{I} = (\mathcal{P} \Theta_{,tt}) \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(8.259)

or

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{N_{1}(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{N_{2}(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} + \frac{N_{3}(X_{,3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{33}}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} \end{bmatrix}_{,1} + q^{I} = \rho u_{(0,tt}^{I} + I_{3}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(I)} + I_{2}\theta_{1,tt}^{(I)}; \\ \begin{bmatrix} \frac{M_{1}(X_{,1}^{I} + u_{0,1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{M_{2}(X_{,2}^{I} + \varphi_{1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} + \frac{M_{3}(X_{,3}^{I} + \theta_{1}^{I})}{\sqrt{G_{33}}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} \end{bmatrix}_{,1} \\ + e_{JJK}(X_{,1}^{J} + u_{0,1}^{J})N^{K} + m^{I} = (\mathcal{J}\boldsymbol{\Theta}_{,tt}) \cdot \mathbf{I}_{I}.$$
(8.260)

From Assumption (i), one has $\varepsilon_2^{(0)} = \varepsilon_3^{(0)} = 0$. In addition, the force and moment balance conditions at any point \mathscr{P}_k , and the force boundary conditions are given in Eqs.(8.203)–(8.206), and the displacement continuity and boundary conditions are the same as in Eq.(8.207).

8.5.2. A curved rod theory based on the curvilinear coordinates

In this section, the curved rod theory on the curvilinear coordinates is discussed in an analogy way as in the Cartesian coordinates. The strains for 3-D deformed beam in Eqs.(8.110)–(8.116) can be used for the 3-D deformed rod. Similar to Eq.(8.214), the displacement field for any fiber of the deformed rod at a position **R** is assumed by

$$u^{\Lambda} = u_0^{\Lambda}(S, t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (S^2)^n \varphi_n^{(\Lambda)}(S, t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (S^3)^n \theta_n^{(\Lambda)}(S, t) + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (S^2)^m (S^3)^n \vartheta_{nm}^{(\Lambda)}(S, t),$$
(8.261)

369

where $S^1 = S$ and u_0^{Λ} ($\Lambda = 1, 2, 3$) are displacements of centroid curve of the rod for $S^2 = S^3 = 0$. The coefficients of the Taylor series expansion $\varphi_n^{(\Lambda)}$, $\theta_n^{(\Lambda)}$ and $\vartheta_{mn}^{(\Lambda)}$ ($m, n = 1, 2, \cdots$) are

$$\varphi_{n}^{(I)} = \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\partial^{n} u^{I}}{\partial (S^{2})^{n}} \bigg|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0,0)},$$

$$\theta_{n}^{(I)} = \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\partial^{n} u^{I}}{\partial (S^{3})^{n}} \bigg|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0,0)},$$

$$\vartheta_{mn}^{(I)} = \frac{1}{m!n!} \frac{\partial^{m+n} u^{I}}{\partial (S^{2})^{m} \partial (S^{3})^{n}} \bigg|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0,0)}.$$
(8.262)

Because $G_{\Lambda\Gamma} = 0$ ($\Lambda, \Gamma \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ and $\Lambda \neq \Gamma$), the Taylor series expansion of six strains are given as follows:

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon_{1} &\approx \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial S^{2}} \Big|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0,0)} S^{2} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial S^{3}} \Big|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0,0)} S^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial (S^{2})^{2}} \Big|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0,0)} (S^{2})^{2} + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial (S^{3})^{2}} \Big|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0,0)} (S^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{1}}{\partial S^{2} \partial S^{3}} \Big|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0,0)} S^{2} S^{3} + \cdots \\ &= \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} + \frac{(\delta_{1}^{A} + u_{0,1}^{A}) \varphi_{1,1}^{(A)} G_{AA}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} S^{2} + \frac{(\delta_{1}^{A} + u_{0,1}^{A}) \theta_{1,1}^{(A)} G_{AA}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} S^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{[2(\delta_{1}^{A} + u_{0,1}^{A}) \varphi_{2,1}^{(A)} + \varphi_{1,1}^{(A)} \varphi_{1,1}^{(A)}] G_{AA}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} - \frac{[(\delta_{1}^{A} + u_{0,1}^{A}) \theta_{1,1}^{(A)}]^{2} G_{AA}^{2}}{G_{11}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (S^{2})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{[2(\delta_{1}^{A} + u_{0,1}^{A}) \partial_{2,1}^{(A)} + \theta_{1,1}^{(A)} \theta_{1,1}^{(A)}] G_{AA}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} - \frac{[(\delta_{1}^{A} + u_{0,1}^{A}) \partial_{1,1}^{(A)}]^{2} G_{AA}^{2}}{G_{11}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (S^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{[2(\delta_{1}^{A} + u_{0,1}^{A}) \partial_{1,1}^{(A)} G_{AA}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} - \frac{[(\delta_{1}^{A} + u_{0,1}^{A}) \partial_{1,1}^{(A)}]^{2} G_{AA}^{2}}{G_{11}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (S^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{[2(\delta_{1}^{A} + u_{0,1}^{A}) \partial_{1,1}^{(A)} G_{AA}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} - \frac{[(\delta_{1}^{A} + u_{0,1}^{A}) \partial_{1,1}^{(A)}]^{2} G_{AA}^{2}}{G_{11}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (S^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \left[\frac{(\delta_{1}^{A} + u_{0,1}^{A}) \partial_{1,1}^{(A)} G_{AA}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} - \frac{S^{2}S^{3}}{G_{11}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{3}} \right] S^{2}S^{3} + \cdots,$$
 (8.263)
 \\ &\varepsilon_{2} \approx \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial S^{2}} \right|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{2} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial S^{3}} \right|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{3} \\ & \varepsilon_{1}^{A} - \frac{\partial^{2}\varepsilon_{2}}{\partial S^{2}} \right|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{2} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial S^{2}} \right|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{3} \\ &\varepsilon_{1}^{A} - \frac{\partial^{2}\varepsilon_{2}}{\partial S^{2}} \right|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{2} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial S^{2}} \right|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{3} \\ &\varepsilon_{1}^{A} - \frac{\partial^{2}\varepsilon_{2}}{\partial S^{2}} \right|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{

$$+\frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{2! \partial(S^{2})^{2}}\Big|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} (S^{2})^{2} + \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{2! \partial(X^{3})^{2}}\Big|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} (S^{3})^{2} + \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{2}}{\partial S^{2} \partial S^{3}}\Big|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{2} S^{3} + \cdots$$

$$= \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} + \frac{2(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} S^{2} + \frac{(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\vartheta_{11}^{(\Lambda)}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} S^{3} \\ + \left\{ \frac{\left[2\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)}\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)} + 3(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{3}^{(\Lambda)}\right]G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} - \frac{2\left[(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)}\right]^{2}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{22}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (S^{2})^{2} \\ + \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{\vartheta_{11}^{(\Lambda)}\vartheta_{11}^{(\Lambda)}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} - \frac{\left[(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\vartheta_{11}^{(\Lambda)}\right]^{2}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{2G_{22}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{3}} \right\} (S^{3})^{2} \\ + \left[\frac{4(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\vartheta_{21}^{(\Lambda)}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} + \frac{2\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)}\vartheta_{11}^{(\Lambda)}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} \right] S^{2}S^{3} + \cdots; \qquad (8.264)$$

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon_{3} &\approx \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial S^{2}} \bigg|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{2} + \frac{\partial \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial S^{3}} \bigg|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial (S^{2})^{2}} \bigg|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} (S^{2})^{2} + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial (S^{3})^{2}} \bigg|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} (S^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \frac{\partial^{2} \varepsilon_{3}}{\partial S^{2} \partial S^{3}} \bigg|_{(S^{2}, S^{3})=(0, 0)} S^{2} S^{3} + \cdots \\ &= \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} + \frac{(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)}) \vartheta_{11}^{(\Lambda)} G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} S^{2} + \frac{2(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)}) \theta_{2}^{(\Lambda)} G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} S^{3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \bigg\{ \frac{\vartheta_{11}^{(\Lambda)} \vartheta_{11}^{(\Lambda)} G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} - \frac{[(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)}) \vartheta_{11}^{(\Lambda)}]^{2} G_{\Lambda\Lambda}^{2}}{2G_{33}^{2}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{3}} \bigg\} (S^{2})^{2} \\ &+ \bigg\{ \frac{[2\theta_{2}^{(\Lambda)} \vartheta_{2}^{(\Lambda)} + 3(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)}) \vartheta_{3}^{(\Lambda)}] G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} - \frac{2[(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)}) \vartheta_{2}^{(\Lambda)}]^{2} G_{\Lambda\Lambda}^{2}}{(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{3}} \bigg\} (S^{3})^{2} \\ &+ \bigg[\frac{4(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)}) \vartheta_{12}^{(\Lambda)} G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} + \frac{2\theta_{2}^{(\Lambda)} \vartheta_{11}^{(\Lambda)} G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} \bigg] S^{2} S^{3} + \cdots;$$
(8.265)

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{12} &\approx \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \gamma_{12}}{\partial S^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^2 + \frac{\partial \gamma_{12}}{\partial S^3} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^3 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{12}}{\partial (S^2)^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} (S^2)^2 + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{12}}{\partial (S^3)^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} (S^3)^2 \\ &+ \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{12}}{\partial S^2 \partial S^3} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^2 S^3 + \cdots \\ &= \gamma_{12}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{12}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{2(\delta_1^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_2^{(\Lambda)} + (\delta_2^{\Lambda} + \varphi_1^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{1;1}^{(\Lambda)}}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)})} G_{\Lambda\Lambda} \end{split}$$

$$-\sin \gamma_{12}^{(0)} \left[\frac{(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{1;1}^{(\Lambda)}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{2}} G_{\Lambda\Lambda} + \frac{2(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{2}} G_{\Lambda\Lambda} \right] \right\} S^{2}$$

+
$$\frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{12}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\theta_{1;1}^{(\Lambda)} + (\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{(\Lambda)})\theta_{11}^{(\alpha)}}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} G_{\Lambda\Lambda}$$

-
$$\sin \gamma_{12}^{(0)} \left[\frac{(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{(\Lambda)})\theta_{1;1}^{(\Lambda)}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{2}} + \frac{(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\theta_{11}^{(\Lambda)}}{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{2}} G_{\Lambda\Lambda}} \right] \right\} S^{3} + \dots; \qquad (8.266)$$

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{13} &\approx \gamma_{13}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \gamma_{13}}{\partial S^2} \Big|_{(S^2, S^3)=(0, 0)} S^2 + \frac{\partial \gamma_{12}}{\partial S^3} \Big|_{(S^2, S^3)=(0, 0)} S^3 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{13}}{\partial (S^2)^2} \Big|_{(S^2, S^3)=(0, 0)} (S^2)^2 + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{13}}{\partial (S^3)^2} \Big|_{(S^2, S^3)=(0, 0)} (S^3)^2 \\ &+ \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{13}}{\partial S^2 \partial S^3} \Big|_{(S^2, S^3)=(0, 0)} S^2 S^3 + \cdots \\ &= \gamma_{13}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{13}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{(\delta_3^{\Lambda} + \theta_1^{(\Lambda)}) \varphi_{1;1}^{(\Lambda)} + (\delta_1^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{(\Lambda)}) \vartheta_{1;1}^{(\Lambda)}}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{33}} (1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)}) (1 + \varepsilon_3^{(0)})} G_{\Lambda\Lambda} \\ &- \sin \gamma_{13}^{(0)} \left[\frac{(\delta_1^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{(\Lambda)}) \varphi_{1;1}^{(\Lambda)}}{G_{11} (1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})^2} + \frac{(\delta_3^{\Lambda} + \theta_1^{(\Lambda)}) \vartheta_{1;1}^{(\Lambda)}}{G_{33} (1 + \varepsilon_3^{(0)})^2} \right] G_{\Lambda\Lambda} \right\} S^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{13}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{2(\delta_1^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{(\Lambda)}) \vartheta_{2}^{(\Lambda)}}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{33}} (1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)}) (1 + \varepsilon_3^{(0)})} G_{\Lambda\Lambda} \\ &- \sin \gamma_{13}^{(0)} \left[\frac{(\delta_1^{\Lambda} + u_{0,1}^{(\Lambda)}) \vartheta_{1,1}^{(\Lambda)}}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{33}} (1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)}) (1 + \varepsilon_3^{(0)})} G_{\Lambda\Lambda} \right] S^3 + \cdots;$$
(8.267)

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{23} &\approx \gamma_{23}^{(0)} + \frac{\partial \gamma_{23}}{\partial S^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^2 + \frac{\partial \gamma_{23}}{\partial S^3} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^3 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{23}}{\partial (S^2)^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} (S^2)^2 + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{23}}{\partial (S^3)^2} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} (S^3)^2 \\ &+ \frac{\partial^2 \gamma_{23}}{\partial S^2 \partial S^3} \bigg|_{(S^2, S^3) = (0, 0)} S^2 S^3 + \cdots \\ &= \gamma_{23}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{\cos \gamma_{23}^{(0)}} \left\{ \frac{2(\delta_3^{\Lambda} + \theta_1^{(\Lambda)}) \varphi_2^{(\Lambda)} + (\delta_2^{\Lambda} + \varphi_1^{(\Lambda)}) \vartheta_{11}^{(\Lambda)}}{\sqrt{G_{22}G_{33}} (1 + \varepsilon_2^{(0)}) (1 + \varepsilon_3^{(0)})} G_{\Lambda\Lambda} \end{split}$$

$$-\sin\gamma_{23}^{(0)}\left[\frac{2(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda}+\varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\varphi_{2}^{(\Lambda)}}{G_{22}(1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{2}}+\frac{(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda}+\theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\vartheta_{11}^{(\Lambda)}}{G_{33}(1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{2}}\right]G_{\Lambda\Lambda}\right]S^{2}$$

+
$$\frac{1}{\cos\gamma_{23}^{(0)}}\left\{\frac{2(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda}+\varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\theta_{2}^{(\Lambda)}+(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda}+\theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\vartheta_{11}^{(\Lambda)}}{\sqrt{G_{22}G_{33}}(1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})(1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}G_{\Lambda\Lambda}$$

-
$$\sin\gamma_{23}^{(0)}\left[\frac{(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda}+\varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\vartheta_{11}^{(\Lambda)}}{G_{22}(1+\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})^{2}}+\frac{2(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda}+\theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\theta_{2}^{(\Lambda)}}{G_{33}(1+\varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})^{2}}\right]G_{\Lambda\Lambda}\right]S^{3}+\cdots, \qquad (8.268)$$

where

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)} &= \frac{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}} \sqrt{(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})} - 1, \\ \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} &= \frac{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} \sqrt{(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})} - 1, \\ \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} &= \frac{\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}}{\sqrt{G_{33}}} \sqrt{(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)})(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)})} - 1, \\ \gamma_{12}^{(0)} &= \sin^{-1} \frac{(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})}, \\ \gamma_{13}^{(0)} &= \sin^{-1} \frac{(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)})G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{11}G_{33}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}, \\ \gamma_{23}^{(0)} &= \sin^{-1} \frac{(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)})G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{22}G_{33}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}. \end{split}$$

From Assumptions (i) and (ii), the zero order term of the Taylor series of the five strains gives

$$\varepsilon_{2}^{(0)} = 0, \, \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)} = 0; \, \gamma_{12}^{(0)} = 0, \, \gamma_{13}^{(0)} = 0, \, \gamma_{23}^{(0)} = 0.$$
 (8.270)

The stretch of the deformed rod for $S^2 = S^3 = 0$ satisfies

$$(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{2} = \frac{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{11}} (\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda}) (\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda}), \qquad (8.271)$$

From Eqs.(8.269)-(8.271),

$$\frac{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{11}(1+\mathcal{E}_{1}^{(0)})^{2}}(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda}+u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda}+u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})=1,$$
$$\frac{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{22}}(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda}+\varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda}+\varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})=1,$$

$$\frac{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}{G_{33}} (\delta_3^{\Lambda} + \theta_1^{(\Lambda)}) (\delta_3^{\Lambda} + \theta_1^{(\Lambda)}) = 1;$$

$$(\delta_1^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda}) (\delta_2^{\Lambda} + \varphi_1^{(\Lambda)}) G_{\Lambda\Lambda} = 0,$$

$$(\delta_1^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda}) (\delta_3^{\Lambda} + \theta_1^{(\Lambda)}) G_{\Lambda\Lambda} = 0,$$

$$(\delta_2^{\Lambda} + \varphi_1^{(\Lambda)}) (\delta_3^{\Lambda} + \theta_1^{(\Lambda)}) G_{\Lambda\Lambda} = 0.$$
(8.272)

Using the first order terms of S^2 and S^3 in Eq.(8.115), the direction cosine matrix $((l_{ij})_{3\times 3})$ is

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{1},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})} = l_{1\Lambda} = \frac{(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0,1}^{\Lambda})\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})},$$

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{2},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})} = l_{2\Lambda} = \frac{(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})},$$

$$\cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{3},\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})} = l_{3\Lambda} = \frac{(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)})\sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}}{\sqrt{G_{33}}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}.$$
(8.273)

As in Fig.8.5, the unknowns $\varphi_1^{(I)}$ and $\theta_1^{(I)}$ (I = 1, 2, 3) can be determined by the three Euler angles (Φ , Ψ and Θ). Similarly, the Euler angles Φ and Ψ rotates around the axes of S^2 and S^3 , respectively, and the Euler angle Θ rotates around the axis of S^1 . Due to bending, the first rotation around the axis of S^2 is to form $(\overline{S}^1, \overline{S}^2, \overline{S}^3)$. The second rotation around the axis of \overline{S}^3 gives $(\overline{\overline{S}}^1, \overline{\overline{S}}^2, \overline{\overline{S}}^3)$. The last rotation around the axis of $\overline{\overline{S}}^1$ gives a frame of $(\overline{\overline{S}}^1, \overline{\overline{S}}^2, \overline{\overline{S}}^3)$ for the final state of the rod, which is the coordinates (s^1, s^2, s^3). The direction-cosines give

$$\frac{1+u_{0;1}^{1}}{(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} = \cos \Phi \cos \Psi,$$

$$\frac{\varphi_{1}^{(1)}\sqrt{G_{11}}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} = -\cos \Phi \sin \Psi \cos \Theta + \sin \Phi \sin \Theta,$$

$$\frac{\theta_{1}^{(1)}\sqrt{G_{11}}}{\sqrt{G_{33}}} = \cos \Phi \sin \Psi \sin \Theta + \sin \Phi \cos \Theta;$$

$$\frac{u_{0;1}^{2}\sqrt{G_{22}}}{\sqrt{G_{33}}} = \sin \Psi,$$

$$\varphi_{1}^{(2)} = \cos \Psi \cos \Theta - 1,$$

$$\frac{\theta_{1}^{(2)}\sqrt{G_{22}}}{\sqrt{G_{33}}} = -\cos \Psi \sin \Theta;$$
(8.247a)

$$\frac{u_{0;1}^{3}\sqrt{G_{33}}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}\left(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)}\right)} = -\sin\Phi\cos\Psi,$$

$$\frac{\varphi_{1}^{(3)}\sqrt{G_{33}}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} = \sin\Phi\sin\Psi\cos\Theta + \cos\Phi\sin\Theta,$$

$$\theta_{1}^{(3)} = -\sin\Phi\sin\Psi\sin\Theta + \cos\Phi\cos\Theta - 1.$$
(8.274b)

The first, fourth and seventh equations in Eq.(8.274) yield

$$\cos \Psi = \pm \frac{\sqrt{(1+u_{0;1}^{1})^{2} G_{11} + (u_{0;1}^{3})^{2} G_{33}}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} = \pm \frac{\Delta}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})},$$

$$\sin \Psi = \frac{u_{0;1}^{2} \sqrt{G_{22}}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})};$$

$$\cos \Phi = \pm \frac{(1+u_{0;1}^{1}) \sqrt{G_{11}}}{\sqrt{(1+u_{0;1}^{1})^{2} G_{11} + (u_{0,1}^{3})^{2} G_{33}}} = \pm \frac{(1+u_{0;1}^{1}) \sqrt{G_{11}}}{\Delta},$$

$$\sin \Phi = \mp \frac{u_{0;1}^{3} \sqrt{G_{33}}}{\sqrt{(1+u_{0;1}^{1})^{2} G_{11} + (u_{0;1}^{3})^{2} G_{33}}} = \mp \frac{u_{0;1}^{3} \sqrt{G_{33}}}{\Delta},$$
(8.275)

and

$$\frac{\sqrt{G_{11}}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} \varphi_{1}^{(1)} = \mp \frac{1}{\Delta} \left[\frac{\Delta_{12}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \cos \Theta + u_{0;1}^{3} \sqrt{G_{33}} \sin \Theta \right],$$

$$\frac{\sqrt{G_{11}}}{\sqrt{G_{33}}} \theta_{1}^{(1)} = \pm \frac{1}{\Delta} \left[\frac{\Delta_{12}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \sin \Theta - u_{0;1}^{3} \sqrt{G_{33}} \cos \Theta \right],$$

$$\varphi_{1}^{(2)} = \pm \frac{\Delta}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \cos \Theta - 1;$$

$$\frac{\sqrt{G_{22}}}{\sqrt{G_{33}}} \theta_{1}^{(2)} = \mp \frac{\Delta}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \sin \Theta,$$

$$\frac{\sqrt{G_{33}}}{\sqrt{G_{22}}} \varphi_{1}^{(3)} = \mp \frac{1}{\Delta} \left[\frac{\Delta_{23}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \cos \Theta - (1 + u_{0;1}^{1}) \sqrt{G_{11}} \sin \Theta \right],$$

$$\theta_{1}^{(3)} = \pm \frac{1}{\Delta} \left[\frac{\Delta_{23}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \sin \Theta + (1 + u_{0;1}^{1}) \sqrt{G_{11}} \cos \Theta \right] - 1,$$
(8.276)

where

8 Nonlinear Beams and Rods

$$\Delta = \sqrt{(1 + u_{0;1}^{1})^{2} G_{11} + (u_{0;1}^{3})^{2} G_{33}},$$

$$\Delta_{12} = (u_{0;1}^{2})(1 + u_{0;1}^{1})\sqrt{G_{11}G_{22}},$$

$$\Delta_{23} = u_{0;1}^{3}u_{0;1}^{2}\sqrt{G_{22}G_{33}}.$$
(8.277)

If $\Theta = 0$, the rotation about the longitudinal axis disappears. So only the bending rotation exists, which is the pure bending of the rod as in Section 8.3.2.

From Eq.(8.165), the change ratio of the directional cosines along the deformed rod in Eq.(8.166) becomes

$$\frac{dl_{\alpha}}{ds} = \frac{d(l_{\alpha\Lambda}\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda})}{ds} = \frac{l_{\alpha\Lambda;1}}{\sqrt{\mathbf{G}_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_1^{(0)})} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} \quad \text{for } \alpha=1, 2, 3.$$
(8.278)

Similar to Eq.(8.168), the change ratio of the directional cosines along the deformed rod can be computed by

$$\frac{dl_{\alpha}}{ds} = \varepsilon_{\Lambda\Gamma K} \omega_{\Gamma} l_{\alpha K} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}, \qquad (8.279)$$

where the rotation ratio components in Eq.(8.169) are computed by

$$\omega_{\Gamma} = \varepsilon_{\Lambda\Gamma K} \frac{dl_{\alpha\Lambda;1}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})} l_{\alpha K}.$$
(8.280)

From Eq.(8.161), the foregoing equations give

$$\omega_{1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \left[\left(\frac{d\Psi}{dS} \sin \Phi + \frac{d\Theta}{dS} \cos \Psi \cos \Phi \right) - \Gamma_{13}^{2} \right],$$

$$\omega_{2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \left[\left(\frac{d\Psi}{dS} + \frac{d\Theta}{dS} \sin \Psi \right) - \Gamma_{11}^{3} \right],$$

$$\omega_{3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \left[\left(\frac{d\Psi}{dS} \cos \Phi - \frac{d\Theta}{dS} \sin \Phi \cos \Psi \right) - \Gamma_{12}^{1} \right];$$

(8.281)

similar to Eq.(8.171). Note that for the orthogonal curvilinear coordinates, one has $\Gamma_{\Lambda\Gamma}^{K} = 0$ ($\Lambda \neq \Gamma \neq K \neq \Lambda$), $\Gamma_{\Lambda\Lambda}^{\Gamma} = -G_{\Lambda\Lambda,\Gamma}/2G_{\Gamma\Gamma}$ ($\Lambda \neq \Gamma$) and $\Gamma_{\Lambda\Gamma}^{\Lambda} = G_{\Lambda\Lambda,\Gamma}/2G_{\Lambda\Lambda}$ (no summation on Λ).

In an alike fashion, using Eq.(8.25), the particle location on the deformed, curved rod can be expressed by

$$\mathbf{r} = (S^{\Lambda} + u^{\Lambda})\mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}.$$
 (8.282)

The corresponding base vector of the deformed, curved rod is

$$\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{1} = \tilde{g}_{1}^{\Lambda} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} = (\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{;1}^{\Lambda}) \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}, \qquad (8.283)$$

and the unit vector for the deformed, curved rod is

$$\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_{1} = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{1}}{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{1}|} = \frac{\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{,1}^{\Lambda}}{\sqrt{(\delta_{1}^{\Gamma} + u_{,1}^{\Gamma})(\delta_{1}^{\Gamma} + u_{,1}^{\Gamma})}} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} = \frac{\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{,1}^{\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1})} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}.$$
(8.284)

For $S^2 = S^3 = 0$,

$$\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_{1} = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{1}}{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{1}|} = \frac{\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda}}{\sqrt{(\delta_{1}^{\Gamma} + u_{0;1}^{\Gamma})(\delta_{1}^{\Gamma} + u_{0;1}^{\Gamma})}} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda} = \frac{\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})}} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}.$$
(8.285)

The base vector in the principal normal direction of the deformed, curved rod is as in Eq.(8.177), i.e.,

$$\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_2 = \frac{d\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_1}{ds} = \tilde{g}_2^{\Lambda} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}, \qquad (8.286)$$

where

$$\tilde{g}_{2}^{\Lambda} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1})} \left[\frac{\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{;1}^{\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_{1})} \right]_{;1}.$$
(8.287)

Thus, the unit principal normal vector in Eq.(8.179) can be rewritten, i.e.,

$$\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_{2} = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{2}}{|\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{2}|} = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{2}}{\sqrt{\tilde{g}_{22}}} = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{g}}_{2}}{\tilde{\kappa}(S)} = \frac{\tilde{g}_{2}^{\Lambda}}{\tilde{\kappa}(S)} \mathbf{G}_{\Lambda}, \qquad (8.288)$$

where the curvature of the deformed rod is

$$\tilde{\kappa}(S) = |\mathbf{g}_{2}| = \sqrt{\tilde{g}_{22}} = \sqrt{g_{2}^{\Lambda} g_{2}^{\Lambda}},$$

$$\tilde{g}_{22} = \frac{1}{G_{11}(1+\varepsilon_{1})^{2}} \left[\frac{\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{;1}^{\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{11}(1+\varepsilon_{1})}} \right]_{;1} \left[\frac{\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{;1}^{\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{11}(1+\varepsilon_{1})}} \right]_{;1}.$$
(8.289)

For $S^2 = S^3 = 0$,

$$\tilde{g}_{2}^{\Lambda} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \left[\frac{\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{11}} (1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} \right]_{;1}, \qquad (8.290)$$

$$\tilde{g}_{22} = \frac{1}{G_{11}(1+\varepsilon_1^{(0)})^2} \left[\frac{\delta_1^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_1^{(0)})} \right]_{,1} \left[\frac{\delta_1^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda}}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1+\varepsilon_1^{(0)})} \right]_{,1}.$$
(8.291)

The rotation vector of the deformed curved rod can be expressed as in Eq.(8.186), i.e.,

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\kappa}}(S)\mathbf{n}_3 + \tilde{\boldsymbol{\tau}}(S)\mathbf{n}_1 = \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\Lambda}\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}$$
(8.292)

8 Nonlinear Beams and Rods

where the torsion of the deformed rod is

$$\tilde{\tau}(S) = e_{IJK} \frac{(\delta_1^{\Lambda} + u_{;1}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_1)} \frac{\tilde{g}_2^{\Gamma}}{\tilde{\kappa}(S)} \left[\frac{\tilde{g}_2^{K}}{\tilde{\kappa}(S)} \right]_{;1} G_{\Lambda}^I G_{\Gamma}^J G_{K}^K.$$
(8.293)

For $S^2 = S^3 = 0$, the foregoing equation becomes

$$\tilde{\tau}(S) = e_{IJK} \frac{(\delta_1^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_1^{(0)})} \frac{\tilde{g}_2^{\Gamma}}{\tilde{\kappa}(S)} \left[\frac{\tilde{g}_2^{K}}{\tilde{\kappa}(S)} \right]_{;1} G_{\Lambda}^I G_{\Gamma}^J G_{K}^K.$$
(8.294)

From Eq.(8.292),

$$\tilde{\kappa}(S) = \omega_{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} \cdot \tilde{\mathbf{n}}_{3} = \omega_{\Lambda} \tilde{g}_{3}^{\Lambda},$$

$$\tilde{\tau}(S) = \omega_{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} \cdot \tilde{\mathbf{n}}_{1} = \omega_{\Lambda} \tilde{g}_{2}^{\Lambda},$$
(8.295)

or

$$\omega_{\Lambda} = \tilde{\kappa}(S)\mathbf{n}_{3} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} + \tilde{\tau}(S)\mathbf{n}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}$$
$$= \tilde{\kappa}(S)\tilde{g}_{3}^{\Lambda} + \tilde{\tau}(S)\tilde{g}_{1}^{\Lambda}.$$
(8.296)

From Eq.(8.275), $d\Psi/dS$ and $d\Phi/dS$ are determined by

$$\frac{d\Psi}{dS} = \pm \frac{1}{G_{11}(1+\varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})^{2}\Delta} \left\{ \Delta^{2} \frac{d}{dS} (u_{0;1}^{2}\sqrt{G_{22}}) - \Delta_{12} \frac{d}{dS} \left[(1+u_{0;1}^{1})\sqrt{G_{11}} \right] - \Delta_{23} \frac{d}{dS} (u_{0;1}^{3}\sqrt{G_{33}}) \right\},$$

$$\frac{d\Phi}{dS} = -\frac{1}{\Delta^{2}} \left\{ (1+u_{0;1}^{1})\sqrt{G_{11}} \frac{d}{dS} (u_{0;1}^{3}\sqrt{G_{33}}) - (u_{0;1}^{3}\sqrt{G_{33}}) \frac{d}{dS} \left[(1+u_{0;1}^{1})\sqrt{G_{11}} \right] \right\}.$$
(8.297)

Substitution of Eqs.(8.275) and (8.297) into Eqs.(8.281) and (8.295) gives Θ and $d\Theta/dS$.

As in Eq.(8.193), the constitutive laws for deformed rods give the corresponding resultant stresses. Similar to Eq.(8.194), the internal forces and moments in the deformed rod are defined by

$$N_{1} = \int_{A} \sigma_{11} [(1+\varepsilon_{2})(1+\varepsilon_{3})\cos\gamma_{23}] dA,$$

$$Q_{2} = \int_{A} \sigma_{12} [(1+\varepsilon_{2})(1+\varepsilon_{3})\cos\gamma_{23}] dA,$$

$$Q_{3} = \int_{A} \sigma_{13} [(1+\varepsilon_{2})(1+\varepsilon_{3})\cos\gamma_{23}] dA,$$

$$M_{3} = \int_{A} \sigma_{11} \frac{S^{2}}{1+\varphi_{1}^{(2)}} [(1+\varepsilon_{3})(1+\varepsilon_{2})^{2}\cos\gamma_{23}] dA,$$
(8.298a)

378

$$M_{2} = -\int_{A} \sigma_{11} \frac{S^{3}}{1 + \theta_{1}^{(3)}} \Big[(1 + \varepsilon_{3})^{2} (1 + \varepsilon_{2}) \cos \gamma_{23} \Big] dA,$$

$$T_{1} = \int_{A} \Big[\sigma_{12} \frac{S^{3} (1 + \varepsilon_{3})}{1 + \theta_{1}^{(3)}} - \sigma_{13} \frac{S^{2} (1 + \varepsilon_{2})}{1 + \varphi_{1}^{(2)}} \Big]$$

$$\times \Big[(1 + \varepsilon_{3}) (1 + \varepsilon_{2}) \cos \gamma_{23} \Big] dA.$$
(8.298b)

The notations $Q_2 \equiv N_2$, $Q_3 \equiv N_3$, and $T_1 \equiv M_1$ are used again. The internal forces are expressed as in Eq.(8.195), i.e.,

$$\mathbf{M} \equiv M^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = M_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha},$$

$$\mathcal{N} \equiv N^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha},$$

$$^{N} \mathbf{M} \equiv {}^{N} M^{\Lambda} \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = \mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N},$$

(8.299)

where

$$\mathbf{g}_{1} \equiv \frac{d\mathbf{r}}{dS} = (\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})G_{\Lambda\Lambda}\mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} \text{ and } ^{\mathbf{N}}\mathbf{M} \equiv \frac{1}{dS}d\mathbf{r} \times \mathcal{N}.$$
(8.300)

With Eq.(8.273), the components of the internal forces in the G_{Λ} -direction are

$$N^{\Lambda} = N_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = N_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})}$$
$$= \left[\frac{N_{1}(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})}} + \frac{N_{2}(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})}{\sqrt{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})}} + \frac{N_{3}(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)})}{\sqrt{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}} \right] \sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}, \qquad (8.301)$$

$$M^{\Lambda} = M_{\alpha} \mathbf{n}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = M_{\alpha} \cos \theta_{(\mathbf{n}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda})}$$
$$= \left[\frac{M_{1}(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{11}}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})} + \frac{M_{2}(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})}{\sqrt{G_{22}}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})} + \frac{M_{3}(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)})}{\sqrt{G_{33}}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})} \right] \sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}}, \qquad (8.302)$$
$$^{\mathrm{N}}M^{\Lambda} = (\mathbf{g}_{1} \times \mathcal{N}) \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda} = e_{\Lambda\Gamma\mathrm{K}}(\delta_{1}^{\Gamma} + u_{0;1}^{\Gamma}) \sqrt{G_{\Gamma\Gamma}} N^{\mathrm{K}}.$$

Using the external forces as in Eqs.(8.209)–(8.213), equations of motion on the deformed rod are given as in Eq.(8.267), i.e.,

$$\mathcal{N}_{,s} + \mathbf{q} = \rho \mathbf{u}_{0,tt} + I_3 \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1,tt} + I_2 \boldsymbol{\theta}_{1,tt},$$

$$\mathbf{M}_{,s} + {}^{\mathbf{N}} \mathbf{M} + \mathbf{m} = \mathcal{J} \boldsymbol{\Theta}_{,tt},$$
(8.303)

where

$$\mathcal{P}_{,tt} = [(I_3u_{0,tt}^3 - I_2u_{0,tt}^2) + (J_{22}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(3)} - J_{23}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(2)}) + (J_{23}\theta_{1,tt}^{(3)} - J_{33}\theta_{1,tt}^{(2)})]\mathbf{N}_1 + (I_3u_{0,tt}^1 + J_{23}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(1)} + J_{22}\theta_{1,tt}^{(1)})\mathbf{N}_2 - (I_2u_{0,tt}^1 + J_{22}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(1)} + J_{23}\theta_{1,tt}^{(1)})\mathbf{N}_3,$$
(8.304)

8 Nonlinear Beams and Rods

and the scalar expressions are for $\Lambda = 1, 2, 3$,

$$N_{;1}^{\Lambda} + q^{\Lambda} = \rho u_{(0),tt}^{\Lambda} + I_3 \varphi_{1,tt}^{(\Lambda)} + I_2 \theta_{1,tt}^{(\Lambda)},$$

$$M_{;1}^{\Lambda} + {}^{N}M^{\Lambda} + m^{\Lambda} = (\mathcal{J} \Theta_{,tt}) \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda},$$
(8.305)

or

$$\left\{ \left[\frac{N_{1}(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})}} + \frac{N_{2}(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})}{\sqrt{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})}} + \frac{N_{3}(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)})}{\sqrt{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}} \right] \sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}} \right\}_{;1} + q^{\Lambda} = \rho u_{0,tt}^{\Lambda} + I_{3}\varphi_{1,tt}^{(\Lambda)} + I_{2}\theta_{1,tt}^{(\Lambda)}, \\
\left\{ \left[\frac{M_{1}(\delta_{1}^{\Lambda} + u_{0;1}^{\Lambda})}{\sqrt{G_{11}(1 + \varepsilon_{1}^{(0)})}} + \frac{M_{2}(\delta_{2}^{\Lambda} + \varphi_{1}^{(\Lambda)})}{\sqrt{G_{22}(1 + \varepsilon_{2}^{(0)})}} + \frac{M_{3}(\delta_{3}^{\Lambda} + \theta_{1}^{(\Lambda)})}{\sqrt{G_{33}(1 + \varepsilon_{3}^{(0)})}} \right] \sqrt{G_{\Lambda\Lambda}} \right\}_{;1} \\
+ e_{\Lambda\Gamma K}(\delta_{1}^{\Gamma} + u_{0;1}^{\Gamma}) \sqrt{G_{\Gamma\Gamma}} N^{K} + m^{\Lambda} = (\mathcal{I} \Theta_{,tt}) \cdot \mathbf{N}_{\Lambda}. \quad (8.306)$$

The force condition at a point \mathscr{P}_k with $S^1 = S_k^1$ is

$${}^{-}\mathbf{N}(S_{k}^{1}) + {}^{+}\mathbf{N}(S_{k}^{1}) + \mathbf{F}_{k} = 0,$$

$${}^{-}N^{\Lambda}(S_{k}^{1}) = {}^{+}N^{\Lambda}(S_{k}^{1}) + F_{k}^{\Lambda} \quad (\Lambda = 1, 2, 3).$$
(8.307)

The force boundary condition at the boundary point \mathscr{P}_r is

$$\mathbf{N}(S_r^1) + \mathbf{F}_r = 0 \text{ or } N^{\Lambda}(S_r^1) + F_r^{\Lambda} = 0 \quad (\Lambda = 1, 2, 3).$$
(8.308)

If there is a concentrated moment at a point \mathscr{P}_k with $S^1 = S_k^1$, the corresponding moment boundary condition is given by

$${}^{-}\mathbf{M}(S_{k}^{1}) + {}^{+}\mathbf{M}(S_{k}^{1}) + \mathbf{M}_{k} = 0,$$

$${}^{-}M^{\Lambda}(S_{k}^{1}) = {}^{+}M^{\Lambda}(S_{k}^{1}) + M_{k}^{\Lambda} \quad (\Lambda = 1, 2, 3).$$
(8.309)

The moment boundary condition at the boundary point \mathscr{P}_r is

$$\mathbf{M}(S_r^1) + \mathbf{M}_r = 0 \text{ or } M^{\Lambda}(S_r^1) + M_r^{\Lambda} = 0 \quad (\Lambda = 1, 2, 3).$$
(8.310)

The displacement continuity and boundary conditions are similar to Eq. (8.207), i.e., $u_{k-}^{\Lambda} = u_{k+}^{\Lambda}$ and $u_{r}^{\Lambda} = B_{r}^{\Lambda}$ ($\Lambda = 1, 2, 3$).

References

Cosserat, E. and Cosserat, F., 1896, Sur la théorie de l'élasticitié. Premier Mémoire, *Annals de la Faculté des Sciences de Toulouse*, **10**, 1-116.

Cosserat, E. and Cosserat, F. 1909, Theorie des corps deformables, Hermann, Paris.

380

References

- Ericksen, J.L. and Truesdell, C., 1958, Exact theory of stress and strain in rods and shells, *Archive Rational Mechanics Anal*, **1**, 295-323.
- Frenet, F., 1847, Sur les courbes a double courbure, Thèse, Toulouse.
- Galerkin, B.G., 1915, Series solutions of some problems of elastic equilibrium of rods and plates, *Vestnik Inzhenerov*, **1**, 879-908.
- Goldstein, H., Poole, C. and Safko, J., 2002, *Classic Mechanics* (3rd edition), Addison Wesley, San Francisco.
- Kresyszig, E., 1968, Introduction to Differential Geometry and Riemannian Geometry, University of Toronto Press, Toronto.
- Kirchhoff, G., 1859, Ueberdas Gleichgewicht und die Bewegung eines unendlich dünnen elastischen Stabes, *Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik*, **56**, 285-313.
- Love, A.E.H., 1944, *A Treatise on the Mathematical Theory of Elasticity*, Dover Publications, New York.
- Luo, A.C.J. and Han, R.P.S., 1999, Analytical predictions of chaos in a nonlinear rod, *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 227, 523-544.
- Novozhilov, V.V., 1953, Foundations of the Nonlinear Theory of Elasticity, Graylock Press, Rochester, New York.
- Reissner, E., 1972, On one-dimensional finite-strain beam theory: the plane beam, *Journal of Applied Mathematics and Physics* (ZAMP), 23, 759-804.
- Verma, G.R., 1972, Nonlinear Vibrations of beam and membranes, Studies in Applied Mathematics, LII, 805-814.
- Whitman, A.B. and DeSilva, C.N., 1969, A dynamical theory of elastic directed curves, *Journal* of *Applied Mathematics and Physics* (ZAMP), **20**, 200-212.

A

Absolute contravariant	32
Absolute contravariant, and covariant	
components of a vector	32
Absolute scalar	32
Absolute tensor	31
Acceleration of the material point	105
Addition decomposition	48
Anisotropic damage theory	153
Anisotropic damage	145
Arch-fabric membrane	283
Arch-network membrane	283
Arch-reinforced web	283
Associated tensor	33
Asymmetric tensor	46

B

Base vector	79
Beam	4
Bianchi's identity	62
Blind index	22

С

Cable-arch fabric membrane	284
Cable-arch network membrane	284
Cable-arch reinforced web	284
Cable-arch-rod reinforced web	295
Cable dynamics	2
Cable-fabric web	269
Cable-network web	269
Cable-reinforced, continuum web	269
Cable-rod fabric shell	295
Cable-rod network shell	294
Cable-rod reinforced web	295
Cables	2
Cauchy couple stress tensor	121
Cauchy stress tensor	121
Cauchy's deformation tensor	80, 81, 85
Chaotic wave	232, 236

	Characteristic direction of the ten	sor 45
	Characteristic direction	44
32	Christoffel symbols of the first and	d second
	kinds	51
32	Compatibility condition	101
32	Continuously weaved web	273
31	Continuum membrane	283
05	Continuum shell	294
48	Continuum web	269
53	Contravariant vector	32
45	Contravariant base vector	25, 26, 80
283	Contravariant base vector	80
283	Contravariant component	23
.83	Contravariant metric tensor	26,80,81,85
33	Contravariant	24, 32
46	Conventional stress tensor	145
	Conventional stress vector	144
	Conventional couple stress vector	144
	Cosserat strain	139
79	Cosserat stress	139
4	Couple stress tensor	121
62	Couple stress vector	117
22	Covariant metric tensor	26,80,81,85
22	Covariant base vector	23,79
	Covariant component	26
	Covariant components of a vector	32
04	Covariant tensor	79
284	Covariant	32
284	Covariant vector	32
284	Curvature of the rod	319
295	Curvature tensor	61
2	Curved beam	329
209	Curved rod	358, 369
.09 160	Curvilinear coordinate	21

D

D'Alembert principle	132
Damaged body	144
Damage tensor	146
Damage variable vector	145
Damage variable	144
Deformable arch	167

|--|

Deformable beam	317
Deformable cable	161
Deformable membrane	283
Deformable plate	201
Deformable rod	317
Deformable shell	293
Deformable string	167
Deformable truss	167
Deformable web	265
Deformation geometry	75
Deformation gradient tensor	81
Deformation gradient	83,84
Deformation rate	111
Deformed configuration	76
Degenerate tensor	43
Differentiation of a tensor	51
Differentiation of tensor	51
Directional cosine	90
Displacement vector	76, 80
Dynamics	116

E

Eddington tensor	27, 31, 40
Eigenvector direction of the tensor	45
Effective stress tensor	145
Effective stress vector	144
Effective couple stress vector	144
Elastic perfectly-plastic material	159
Elongation	90, 91
Energy conservation	130
Engineering strain	93
Eulerian coordinates	77
Extension	91
External work	130

F

Flat space	62
Flexural center	323
Forces	116

G

Generalized Kronecker delta	39
Globally free continuum web	283
Globally free, fabric web	277
Globally knotted cable	167
Globally wrinkled continuum web	282
Globally wrinkled fabric web	277
Globally wrinkled network web	273
Gradient of the velocity vector field	108
Green and Cauchy base vectors	89

Green's deformation tensor	80, 81, 85

H

Hamilton operator	53, 81
	, .

I

Identity tensor	44
Indestructibility	76
Inextensible cable	161
Inextensible web	265
Infinitesimal area and volume	85
Infinitesimal vector	79
Initial configuration	76
Integrability condition	101
Integration of a tensor	51
Integral theorem	57
Internal energy	130
Invariance of tensor	44
Invariant differential operator	57
Isotropic damage	145

J

K

Kinematics	101
Kinetic energy theorem	133
Kinetic energy	130
Kirchhoff form of stress and	strain 139
Kirchhoff plate theory	210
Kirchhoff stress tensor	127
Kirchhoff's assumption	2, 210, 325, 333
Kronecker delta	24,39

L

Lagrange coordinate	77
Lagrangian (material) coordinate system	77
Lagrangian and Eulerian strain tensor	89
Leibniz rule	57
Linear plate theory	213
Linearly dependent	20
Linearly independent	20
Local base vector transformation	27
Local knotting of cable	162
Local wrinkling of web	266
Locally free, continuum web	283
Locally free, fabric web	277
Locally knotted cable	167
-	

Locally wrinkled continuum web	282
Locally wrinkled fabric web	277
Locally wrinkled network web	273

M

Magnitude of a vector	20
Material description	104
Material coordinate	77
Material derivative	108
Material derivative	101,103
Material strain direction	97
Material strain ellipsoid	98
Membrane	283
Membrane-web	284
Metric tensor	27,31, 31, 44,79
Mixed components of a tenso	or 32
Mixed tensor	32

Ν

Nonlinear cable	161
Non-degenerate tensor	43
Nonlinear curved rod	357
Nonlinear membrane	283
Nonlinear plate	201
Nonlinear wave	224, 247
Nonlinear web	265
Normal component of tensor	46

0

One-dimensional, continuum membrane	284
One-dimensional, continuum shell	295
One-dimensional, deformable membrane	284
One-dimensional, deformable shell.	294
Order of tensor	31
Orthogonal affine tensor	46
Orthogonal base	21
Orthogonal shear component	46
Orthogonal weaving web	278
Orthogonal	21
Outer product	33

Р

Perpendicular	21
Piola stress tensor	125
Plate	7, 9, 201
Polar decomposition	48
Post-buckled plates	226
Principal direction of tensor	47
Principal strains and directions	95

Principle of complementary strain energy	
equivalence	147
Principle of coordinate invariance	135
Principle of determinism	135
Principle of incremental complementary	
strain energy equivalence	150
Principle of material objectivity	135
Principle of neighborhood	135
Principle of strain equivalence	146
Pure torsion	157

Q

Quotient rule

R

Ratio of areas	93, 94
Ratio of volume	94
Relative contravariant	32
Relative scalar	32
Resonant wave	228, 256
Ricci symbol	39
Ricci theorem	55
Riemann-Christoffel curvature tensor	r 60
Riemann-Christoffel tensor	60
Rod	4,342
Rod-fabric shell	294
Rod-network shell	294
Rod-reinforced membrane	294
Rod-reinforced web	294
Rotating cable	118
Rotating disks	239

S

Scalar function gradient	53
Second-order tensor algebra	42
Second-order tensor	42
Shear center	323
Shear center	323
Shear component of the tensor	46
Shear strain	92
Shells	7, 9, 293
Shell strain	296, 308
Shell-membrane	294
Shell-web	294
Shifter tensor field	68
Skew weaving web	278
Soft membrane	284
Soft shell	294
Soft webs	9
Spatial coordinate	77

34

386

Spatial description	104
Spatial strain direction	97
Spatial strain ellipsoid	98
Static wave	222
Stationary wave	231, 258
Stokes formula	59
Straight beam	321
Straight rod	342
Strain energy	138
Strain rate	113
Strain	90
Stress tensor	120
Stress vector	117
Stretch	91
Switching acceleration	105
Switching velocity	102
Symmetric tensor	46
String	167

Т

Tension of cable	166
Tensor addition	33
Tensor algebra	31
Tensor asymmetry	37
Tensor calculus	51
Tensor contraction	34
Tensor cross product	36
Tensor decomposition	48
Tensor dot product	35
Tensor function gradient	50
Tensor function	50
Tensor gradient	54
Tensor index permutation	36
Tensor multiplication	33
Tensor quotient rule	37
Tensor symmetry	37
Thin plate	211
Third invariant quantity	44
Time rate of change of the tensor	107
Torsional curvature of the rod	319
Total covariant differentiation	64,66

Transport theorem	117
Transpose of the second-order tensor	42
Traveling and rotating cable	168
Traveling plates	213
Two-point tensor field	63
Truss	169

U

Undamaged body	144
Uniaxial tensional model	156
Uniaxial weaving web	278
Unit vector	20
Unit vectors of the infinitesimal vectors	90

V

Vector addition	19
Vector algebra	19
Vector cross product	21
Vector dot product	20
Vector gradient	53
Vector product	21
Vector scalar product	20
Vector	19
Velocity of the particle	101
Virtual work principle	133
von Karman plate theory	212

W

Wave in rotating disks	239
Wave in traveling plates	213
Webs	265

Z

Zero tensor	31, 44
Zero-direction of the tensor	43
Zero-order density	31

Nonlinear Physical Science

(Series Editors: Albert C.J. Luo, Nail H. Ibragimov)

Nail. H. Ibragimov/ Vladimir. F. Kovalev: Approximate and Renormgroup Symmetries

Abdul-Majid Wazwaz: Partial Differential Equations and Solitary Waves Theory

Albert C.J. Luo: Discontinuous Dynamical Systems on Time-varying Domains

Anjan Biswas/ Daniela Milovic/ Matthew Edwards: Mathematical Theory of Dispersion-Managed Optical Solitons

Meike Wiedemann/ Florian P.M. Kohn /Harald Rosner / Wolfgang R.L. Hanke : Self-organization and Pattern-formation in Neuronal Systems under Conditions of Variable Gravity

Vasily E. Tarasov: Fractional Dynamics

Vladimir V. Uchaikin: Fractional Derivatives in Physics

Albert C.J. Luo: Nonlinear Deformable-body Dynamics

Ivo Petras: Fractional Order Nonlinear Systems

Albert C.J. Luo / Valentin Afraimovich (Editors): Hamiltonian Chaos beyond the KAM Theory

Albert C.J. Luo / Valentin Afraimovich (Editors): Long-range Interaction, Stochasticity and Fractional Dynamics

Hemesick and diappointment without any achievements accmpanies my life. δ 5 Equi É. Sper 15 ~~ 0 X 124 20 <u>9</u>2 La la



Fig. 6.9 Chaotic wave motion in the resonant separatrix zone of the third order of the axially traveling, pre-buckled plate. Red and green points are center and hyperbolic equilibrium points for resonant separatrix, respectively. $(f_m^0 n = 0.5398, f_m^0 n = 18.7908, \Omega = 57.1181, Q_0 = 610 > Q_0^{\min} \approx 600, c = 15 \text{ m/s}, E = 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ N/m}^2, \rho_0 = 7.8 \times 10^3 \text{ kg/m}^3, \mu = 0.3, l = 2.0 \text{ m}, b = m, h = 2 \text{ mm}, m = n = 1, P = 200 \text{ N}, c = 15 \text{ m/s}.)$



(a)



Fig. 6.10 Chaotic wave motion in the resonant separatrix zone of the axially traveling, post-buckled plate: (a) $E_0 > 0$ ($f_{mn}^0 = 0.7376$, $f_{mn}^0 = 28.6717$, $\Omega = 60.6762$, $Q_0 = 270 > Q_0^{\min} \approx 265$) and (b) $E_0 < 0$ ($f_{mn}^0 = -0.5617$, $f_{mn}^0 = -0.3099$) in the left well and ($f_{mn}^0 = 0.3615$, $f_{mn}^0 = 0$) in the right well. ($\Omega = 25.4274$, $Q_0 = 4.5 > Q_0^{\min} \approx 3.5$. Red and green points are center and hyperbolic equilib rium points for resonant separatrix, respectively. ($E = 2 \times 10^{11}$ N/m², $\rho_0 = 7.8 \times 10^3$ kg/m³, $\mu = 0.3$, l = 2.0 m, b = 1.0 m, h = 2 mm, m = n = 1, P = 200 N, c = 35 m/s.)



(a)



(b)

Fig. 6.11 Chaotic wave motions in the homoclinic separatrix zone of the axially traveling, post-buckled plate: (a) for the resonance of the second order at $E_0 < 0$ embedded and (b) for the resonance of the third order at $E_0 > 0$ embedded. Red and green points are center and hyperbolic equilibrium points for resonant separatrix, respectively. ($Q_0 = 1.2 > Q_0^{cr} \approx 1.05, Q_0 = 3.5 > Q_0^{cr} \approx 3.2, \Omega = 20.0, f_{mn}^0 = \tilde{f}_{mn}^0 = 0, E = 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ N/m}^2, \rho = 7.8 \times 10^3 \text{ kg/m}^3, \mu = 0.3, l = 2.0 \text{ m}, b = 1.0 \text{ m}, h = 2 \text{ mm}, m = n = 1, P = 200 \text{ N}, c = 35 \text{ m/s.}$)



(a)



(b)



Fig. 8.5 Euler angles of rod rotation caused by bending and torsion: (a) the initial (red) to first rotation (green), (b) the first to second rotation (brown), (c) from the second to the last rotation (blue).